Lung Biology in Health and Disease

Executive Editor: Claude Lenfant

Inhaled Steroids in Asthma Optimizing Effects in the Airways



edited by

Robert P. Schleimer Paul M. O'Byrne Stanley J. Szefler Ralph Brattsand

ISBN: 0-8247-0585-8

This book is printed on acid-free paper.

Headquarters

Marcel Dekker, Inc. 270 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10016 tel: 212-696-9000; fax: 212-685-4540

Eastern Hemisphere Distribution

Marcel Dekker AG Hutgasse 4, Postfach 812, CH-4001 Basel, Switzerland tel: 41-61-261-8482; fax: 41-61-261-8896

World Wide Web

http://www.dekker.com

The publisher offers discounts on this book when ordered in bulk quantities. For more information, write to Special Sales/Professional Marketing at the headquarters address above.

Copyright © 2002 by Marcel Dekker, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Neither this book nor any part may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Current printing (last digit): 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

PRINTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

INTRODUCTION

Because of its subject, this monograph is unique among the more than 150 volumes that have been published in the Lung Biology in Health and Disease series. The reason is that it focuses on a single class of medications, i.e., the steroids in asthma.

Of course, appreciation of the role that glucocorticosteroids can play in the treatment of asthma is not new, but their introduction into the practice of medicine and the reception they have received from physicians has been relatively slow and cautious.

Just think! In January 1971, the Ciba Foundation convened a "Study Group on Identification of Asthma." Its aim was to "define asthma"; yet, in one of the chapters of the report on the pharmacology of asthma, one finds mention of "the need to prevent or minimize damage to cells, and this can be done by stabilizing cell membranes and reducing the activity of destructive enzymes. Such protection results from the use of glucocorticoids and some acidic anti-inflammatory drugs" (1).

Two years later, in 1973, the report of an international conference on asthma held in late 1972 was published. One of the contributors reported that "one function of steroids in phagocytic cells may be stabilization of the mem-

branes, both the plasma membrane and lysozomes themselves." He later concluded: "If inflammation in acute or chronic disease (i.e., asthma) is due to the release of mediators of inflammation from intercellular organelles or granules, then cortisone may be an effective anti-inflammatory agent" (2).

We all know that since then the field of asthma research has progressed in a remarkable manner. Scientists have shown definitively that inflammation in response to the injurious event is the culprit, and among the various therapeutic agents, steroids have emerged as a powerful and effective regimen—perhaps not in all cases, but certainly in many. Today, it is an accepted belief that asthma, albeit a serious disease, can be controlled and that very few patients, if any at all, will die of it if they are carefully monitored and treated.

Research in academia has played a great role in all these advances. However, as the editors of this volume point out, the role that the pharmaceutical industry agreed to take on has been pivotal in bringing to patients the full benefit of all the research done in academia and in its own laboratories.

This volume is a major contribution to this series. It assembles what we know today about steroids and the most common mode of administration in asthma, i.e., inhalation. Undoubtedly, it is one more step toward improving the treatment of asthma patients. The reader need only take note of the editors and authors of this monograph to be sure of the excellence and utility of this publication. As the executive editor of the Lung Biology in Health and Disease series, I am grateful to them for giving me the opportunity to present it to our readership.

Claude Lenfant, M.D. Bethesda, Maryland

References

- Brocklehurst WE. The Pharmacology of Asthma and Possible Therapeutic Developments in Identification of Asthma. Porter R, Birch J, eds. Ciba Foundation Study Group, No. 38. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, 1971:132–150.
- Weissman G. Effect of corticosteroids on the stability and fusion of biomembranes. In: Austen KF, Lichtenstein LM, eds. Asthma: Physiology, Immunology-Pharmacology and Treatment. New York: Academic Press, 1973:221–233.

PREFACE

In the era that has witnessed the sequencing of the human genome, asthma remains a debilitating and sometimes fatal disease for those unfortunate enough to suffer from the inability to breathe inflicted by this condition. Now recognized as a disease that flourishes in association with the increases in standard of living in the twentieth century, asthma continues to defy all efforts of modern science and medicine to develop a cure. Although a number of exciting new strategies to treat the disorder have emerged over the last two decades, none has yet succeeded in managing the symptoms or diminishing the profound exacerbations of asthma as effectively as glucocorticoids. While we harbor great hope that new strategies for treating asthma will succeed, we must accept for the time being that glucocorticoids remain the most effective asthma medications and acknowledge that this may be true for decades to come.

Probably the biggest advances in inhaled glucocorticoid medications have resulted from efforts to improve targeting of these drugs to the lungs. This evolved from concerted and inspired scientific investigations in both industry and academia. It is extraordinarily important for the field of asthma—as well as for any other field of medicine that endeavors to utilize pulmonary drug delivery—that the accomplishments of the numerous individuals involved in these efforts be documented, chronicled, and evaluated. The intent of this volume is to gather the available information on inhaled glucocorticoid targeting in the lungs, based on the expertise and experience of leading asthma researchers and clinician–investigators. We hope that readers of this volume find it useful as a source of ideas, as a wellspring for future studies, and as an essential reference for the scientific literature on inhaled glucocorticoids.

The production of this volume would not have occurred without the important efforts of a number of individuals. We would like to express our gratitude to Dean Phizacklea of AstraZeneca for his generous support of this project. We also acknowledge the invaluable assistance of Mrs. Nicola Heller and Dr. Syed Shahabuddin, who were instrumental in documenting the discussion sessions of the volume. We also thank Christina Max for her help with the subject index. Our thanks also go to the staff of Marcel Dekker, Inc., and to Dr. Claude Lenfant, who provided the medium for this communication. Special thanks go to Ms. Bonnie Hebden for tackling the monumental task of assembling this volume with cheerfulness and great competence.

Finally, we are pleased to note that another important goal both of the meeting from which this volume evolved and of this book has been the desire of three of us (Robert P. Schleimer, Paul M. O'Byrne, and Stanley J. Szefler) to honor our beloved coeditor and colleague, Dr. Ralph Brattsand, and to recognize his inspired and outstanding contributions to the field of inhaled glucocorticoid treatment for asthma.

> Robert P. Schleimer Paul M. O'Byrne Stanley J. Szefler Ralph Brattsand

CONTRIBUTORS

Paul H. Andersson, Ph.D. Section Leader, Discovery DMPK, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Per T. Andersson, Ph.D. Medical Affairs Manager, Marketing Communication and Services, AstraZeneca, Lund, Sweden

Bengt Axelsson, Ph.D. Department of Biosciences, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Per Bäckman, Ph.D. Pharmaceutical and Analytical Department, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Peter J. Barnes, M.A., D.M., D.Sc., F.R.C.P. Professor, Department of Thoracic Medicine, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College, London, England

Nicholas Bodor, Ph.D., D.Sc. Graduate Research Professor and Executive Director, Center for Drug Discovery, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida

Louis-Philippe Boulet, M.D., F.R.C.P.(C), F.C.C.P. Professor of Medicine, Laval University Cardiothoracic Institute, and Hôpital Laval, Sainte-Foy, Quebec, Canada

Ralph Brattsand, Ph.D. Scientific Adviser, Research and Development Operations, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Peter Buchwald, Ph.D. Postdoctoral Associate, Center for Drug Discovery, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida

William W. Busse, M.D. Professor, Section of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, Department of Medicine, University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison, Wisconsin

Judah A. Denburg, M.D., F.R.C.P.(C) Professor, Division of Clinical Immunology and Allergy, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, and St. Joseph's Hospital, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Hartmut Derendorf, Ph.D. Professor and Chairman, Department of Pharmaceutics, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida

Myrna B. Dolovich, P.Eng. Associate Clinical Professor, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Staffan Edsbäcker, Ph.D. Senior Experimental Medicine Adviser, Department of Experimental Medicine, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Gary B. Faulds, Ph.D. Department of Medical Nutrition, Karolinska Institute, and Huddinge University Hospital, Huddinge, Sweden

Gail M. Gauvreau, Ph.D. Division of Clinical Immunology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland

Nicola M. Heller, B.Sc.(Hons) Graduate Training Program in Cellular and Molecular Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, and The Johns Hopkins Asthma & Allergy Center, Baltimore, Maryland

Gunther Hochhaus, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Pharmaceutics, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida

Contributors

Mark D. Inman, M.D., Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, and St. Joseph's Hospital, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Peter K. Jeffery, M.Sc., Ph.D., D.Sc., F.R.C.Path. Professor of Lung Pathology, Department of Gene Therapy, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College, London, England

Magnus Jendbro, M.Sc. Department of Experimental Medicine, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Carl-Johan Johansson, M.B., Ph.D. Development Drug Metabolism and Bioanalysis, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

William J. Jusko, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, State University of New York at Buffalo, Buffalo, New York

Michael Karin, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Pharmacology, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, California

Sergei A. Kharitonov, M.D., Ph.D. Lecturer in Respiratory Medicine, Department of Thoracic Medicine, National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College, London, England

Sriram Krishnaswami, Ph.D. Senior Associate Scientist, Global Biopharmaceutics, Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Bridgewater, New Jersey

Johan Lidén, Ph.D. Department of Medical Nutrition, Karolinska Institute, and Huddinge University Hospital, Huddinge, Sweden

Richard J. Martin, M.D. Professor, Department of Medicine, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, Head, Pulmonary Division, and Vice-Chair, Department of Medicine, National Jewish Medical and Research Center, Denver, Colorado

Fernando D. Martinez, M.D. Swift-McNear Professor of Pediatrics and Director, Arizona Respiratory Center, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona

Helmut Möllmann, M.D. Professor, University of Bochum, and University Hospital Bergmannsheil, Bochum, Germany

Paul M. O'Byrne, M.B., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.P.(C) E. J. Moran Campbell Professor, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, and St. Joseph's Hospital, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Sam Okret, M.D., Ph.D. Professor, Department of Medical Nutrition, Karolinska Institute, and Huddinge University Hospital, Huddinge, Sweden

Romain A. Pauwels, M.D., Ph.D. Professor of Medicine, Department of Respiratory Diseases, University of Ghent, and University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium

Søren Pedersen, M.D. Professor of Pediatric Respiratory Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, University of Southern Denmark, and Department of Pediatrics, Kolding Hospital, Kolding, Denmark

Cynthia S. Rand, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland

Robert P. Schleimer, Ph.D. Professor, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, and The Johns Hopkins Asthma & Allergy Center, Baltimore, Maryland

J. Paul Seale, M.B., B.S., Ph.D., F.R.A.C.P. Professor of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Pharmacology, University of Sydney, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia

Roma Sehmi, Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Department of Medicine, McMaster University, and St. Joseph's Hospital, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Olof Selroos, M.D., Ph.D. Professor, Department of Clinical Science, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Cristiana Stellato, M.D., Ph.D. Assistant Professor of Medicine, Division of Clinical Immunology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland

Per Strandberg, M.Sc. Research Scientist, Discovery DMPK, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Nanthakumar Subramaniam, Ph.D.* Department of Medical Nutrition, Karolinska Institute, and Huddinge University Hospital, Huddinge, Sweden

Stanley J. Szefler, M.D. Professor of Pediatrics and Pharmacology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, and Helen Wohlberg and Herman Lambert Chair in Pharmacokinetics and Codirector, Clinical Research Unit, National Jewish Medical and Research Center, Denver, Colorado

James Talton, Ph.D.[†] Department of Pharmaceutics, University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida

Arne Thalén, Ph.D. Scientific Adviser, Preclinical Research and Development, Research Support, AstraZeneca Research and Development, Lund, Sweden

Dilini Vethanayagam, M.D. Research Fellow, Department of Respiratory Medicine, McMaster University, and St. Joseph's Hospital, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Kathleen Weeks Schiller, Ph.D. Senior Research Program Coordinator II, Division of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland

Lorna J. Wood, Ph.D. Clinical Project Manager, Boehringer-Ingelheim Canada Ltd., Burlington, Ontario, Canada

^{*}*Current affiliation:* Muscle Development Unit, Children's Medical Research Institute, Wentworthville, Australia.

[†]*Current affiliation:* Nanosphere Inc., Alachua, Florida.

CONTENTS

Introduction	Claude Lenfant	iii
Preface		v
Contributors		vii

Part One INTRODUCTION

1.	Drug View	Development of Inhaled Steroids: A Pharmacologist's Based on Experiences from the Budesonide Project	3
	Ralph	Brattsand	
	I.	Introduction	3
	II.	Skin Steroids: The Forerunners of IS	4
	III.	Early Failures and Successes of IS Therapy	5
	IV.	The Budesonide Project	8
	V.	The Difficulty of Forecasting a Market Potential	16
	VI.	Budesonide as a Tool for Elucidating Mechanisms Behind	
		Airways/Lung Selectivity of IS: Personal Views	17

Remaining Pharmacological Questions About IS Efficacy	
and Selectivity	23
Comments on the Animal Models Used in the	
Preclinical Selection and Documentation of BUD	23
References	27
Discussion	33
	Remaining Pharmacological Questions About IS Efficacy and Selectivity Comments on the Animal Models Used in the Preclinical Selection and Documentation of BUD References Discussion

Part Two USE OF INHALED STEROIDS

2.	How Willia	Inhaled Corticosteroids Changed Asthma Therapy m W. Busse	37
	I.	Introduction	37
	II.	Early Trials with Inhaled Corticosteroids	38
	III.	The Benefits of Inhaled Corticosteroids	
		for Asthma Complications	41
	IV.	Benefit of the Addition of Inhaled Corticosteroids	43
	V.	Inhaled Corticosteroids as Research Tools	
		for Mechanisms of Asthma	43
	VI.	Summary	46
		References	46
		Discussion	48
3.	Side I	Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids	49
	Paul I	M. O'Byrne and Dilini Vethanayagam	
	I.	Introduction	49
	II.	Inhaled Corticosteroid Preparations	50
	III.	Side Effects of Corticosteroids	50
	IV.	Conclusions	57
		References	58
		Discussion	61

Part Three MOLECULAR ASPECTS OF STEROID ACTION

4.	Mech	anisms of Gene Regulation by the Glucocorticoid Receptor	67
	Gary I	B. Faulds, Nanthakumar Subramaniam, Johan Lidén,	
	and Se	am Okret	
	I.	Introduction	67
	II.	The Nuclear Receptor Superfamily	68
	III.	The Glucocorticoid Receptor	69
	** *		

IV. Gene Regulation by Glucocorticoid Receptor 72

xiv

Con	Contents		xv
	V.	Glucocorticoid Receptor and Inflammation	80
	VI.	Summary	82
		References	83
		Discussion	92
5.	Relat	ionship of Dose- and Time-Dependent	0.5
	Corti Willia	costeroid Responses to Receptor Turnover um J. Jusko	95
	I.	Introduction	95
	II.	Dynamics of Rapid Steroid Effects	96
	III.	Role of Administration Rate	97
	IV.	Liposomal Methylprednisolone	97
	V.	Drug Interactions	99
	VI.	Dynamics of Receptor Gene-Mediated Processes	101
	VII.	Pharmacodynamic Studies	104
	VIII.	Dosage Regimen Simulations	106
		References	109
		Discussion	112
6.	Block	ade of Chemokine Production/Function as an Example	
	of Glu	acocorticoid Anti-inflammatory Actions	113
	Cristi	ana Stellato	
	I.	Overview of the Chemokine/Chemokine	
		Receptor Superfamilies	113
	II.	The Role of Chemokines in Airway Allergic	
		Inflammatory Diseases	117
	III.	Chemokine Expression as a Target	
		of Glucocorticoid Action	121
	IV.	Concluding Remarks	126
		References	126
		Discussion	134
7.	Newly	y Recognized Glucocorticoid Targets	137
	Nicol	a M. Heller and Robert P. Schleimer	
	I.	Introduction	137
	II.	Glucocorticoids and Regulation of Gene Expression	138
	III.	Regulation of Immune and Inflammatory	
		Responses by Glucocorticoids	144
	IV.	Effects of Glucocorticoids on Fluid Dynamics in the	
		Airways	147
	V.	Glucocorticoid Effects on Bone	150

VI.	Somatostatin	150
VII.	Miscellaneous Targets	151
VIII.	Conclusions	151
	References	152
	Discussion	165

Part Four DETERMINANTS OF AIRWAY-LUNG SELECTIVITY

8.	Aeros	sol Delivery Devices and Airways/Lung Deposition	169
	Myrne	a B. Dolovich	
	I.	Introduction	169
	II.	Aerosol Delivery Systems	170
	III.	Characterization of an Aerosol Dose from a	
		Delivery System	178
	IV.	Effect of Particle Size and Inspiratory Flow Rate	
		on the Emitted Dose	191
	V.	Measuring Aerosol Lung Dose and Distribution	192
	VI.	Considerations for Future Investigations	195
		References	200
		Discussion	211
9.	Untal	xe. Retention, and Biotransformation of Corticosteroids	
-	in the	Lung and Airways	213
	Staffa	n Edsbäcker	
	I.	Introduction	213
	II.	Site of Deposition	214
	III.	Rate of Dissolution and Absorption	215
	IV.	Mucociliary Clearance	216
	V.	Airway and Lung Uptake and Retention	219
	VI.	Corticosteroid Esterification	222
	VII.	Biotransformation of CSs, Other Than	
		Esterification, in Airways and Lung	227
	VIII.	Kinetics of Receptor Binding and Cellular Response	229
	IX.	Clinical Implications	232
	Χ.	Some Unanswered Questions	235
	XI.	Conclusion	236
		References	236
		Discussion	245

Con	tents		xvii
10.	Syster Hartm Gunth	nic Disposition and Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids <i>nut Derendorf, Sriram Krishnaswami,</i> <i>er Hochhaus, and Helmut Möllmann</i>	247
	I. II. III. IV.	Introduction PK/PD Properties of Inhaled Corticosteroids PK/PD Modeling of Cortisol Suppression Conclusions References Discussion	247 248 256 265 266 271
11.	Extra Judah Lorna	pulmonary Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids A. Denburg, Mark D. Inman, Roma Sehmi, J. Wood, Gail M. Gauvreau, and Paul M. O'Byrne	273
	I. II.	Introduction Evidence for a Systemic Allergic Airways	273
	III.	Inflammatory Disease Effects of IS In Vivo on Progenitors in Asthma and Rhinitis	274 274
	IV. V.	The Effects of IS In Vitro and Ex Vivo on Hemopoietic Responses Mechanisms of IS Effects on Hemopoietic Processes References Discussion	277 278 279 282
12.	Factor Gluco Dynai	rs Involved in the Pulmonary Targeting of Inhaled ocorticoids: The Use of Pharmacokinetic/ mic Simulations	283
	Gunth Helmi	er Hochhaus, Hartmut Derendorf, 11 Möllmann, and James Talton	
	I. II. III.	Introduction Assessment of Pulmonary Selectivity Conclusion References Discussion	283 284 301 301 306
13.	Rever Magni	sible Glucocorticoid Esterification us Jendbro and Carl-Johan Johansson	309
	I. II.	Introduction General Models for Lung Selectivity	309 310

xviii			Contents
	III. IV	Pharmacokinetic Modeling of BUD in the Rat	318
	1 v.	Peferences	320
		Discussion	329
Part	t Five	AIRWAY–LUNG SELECTIVITY OF CURRENT INHALED STEROIDS	
14.	Airwa	ay Selectivity of Current Inhaled Corticosteroids	
	in Pro J. Pau	operly Designed Studies Il Seale and Paul M. O'Byrne	333
	I. II.	Methodology of Well-Designed Clinical Studies Do Studies in Normal Subjects Accurately Predict	333
		Drug Behavior in Asthmatic Patients?	336
	III.	Variability in Systemic Bioavailability Between Subjects	340
	IV.	Comparative Clinical Studies	341
	V.	Systemic Unwanted Effects	342
	VI.	Summary	344
		References	345 240
		Discussion	549
15.	Child Søren	hood Asthma and Growth Pedersen	353
	I.	Introduction	353
	II.	Definitions and Study Designs	354
	III.	Growth	359
	IV.	Summary	377
		References	377
		Discussion	386
16.	Evalu Stanle	nation and Comparison of Inhaled Steroids ary J. Szefler and Richard J. Martin	389
	L	Introduction	389
	II.	Why Compare Inhaled Steroids?	391
	III.	Where Are We Now?	400
	IV.	What Would We Like to Know in Order to	
		Advance Inhaled Glucocorticoid Therapy?	402
	V.	How Do We Get the Necessary Information?	402
	VI.	The Approach of the National Heart, Lung and	
		Blood Institute's Asthma Clinical Research Network	402

	VII. VIII.	What Is the Best Way to Select Inhaled Glucocorticoids? Prospectus References Discussion	410 412 413 417
Part	Six	IN VIVO RESEARCH ON AIRWAY-LUNG SELECTIVITY	
17.	The R in Eva	ole of Direct Assessment of Airway Inflammation luating Inhaled Glucocorticosteroid Efficacy	401
	Mark	D. Inman	421
	I. II.	Introduction Direct Measurement of Airway Inflammation to	421
	III.	Assess the Efficacy of Inhaled Glucocorticosteroids Measurement of Airway Inflammation as a Guide for	422
		Treatment Decisions	427
	IV.	Summary	432
		References	433
		Discussion	436
18	Use of	Fxhaled Nitric Oxide as Readout for Inhaled	
10.	Cortic	Posteroid Efficacy	441
	Sergei	A. Kharitonov and Peter J. Barnes	
	I.	Introduction	441
	II.	General Principles of Exhaled Nitric Oxide Measurements	442
	III.	Origin of Nitric Oxide in Exhaled Air	443
	IV.	Clinical Relevances of Exhaled Nitric Oxide in Asthma	444
	V.	Future Directions	454
		References	455
		Discussion	461
19.	Mark Louis-	ers of Systemic Actions of Corticosteroids Philippe Boulet	465
	I.	Introduction	465
	II.	Pharmacokinetics of Glucocorticosteroids	467
	III.	Markers of Systemic Effects	468
	IV. V.	Which Is the Best Marker of Systemic Effects of ICS? Comparison of Systemic Effects of Different ICS:	479
		Some Methodological Aspects	480

xix

Contents

	VI.	Clinical Significance of Changes in Markers	
		of Systemic Effects	481
	VII.	How to Reduce Systemic Effects	481
	VIII.	Conclusion	482
		References	483
		Discussion	489
20.	Patie <i>Cynth</i>	nt Adherence to Inhaled Corticosteroid Therapy ia S. Rand and Kathleen Weeks Schiller	491
	I.	Inhaled Steroid Adherence and Asthma Morbidity	492
	II.	Rates of Adherence with ICS and/or Other	
		Preventive Asthma Drugs	493
	III.	Forms of Nonadherence	497
	IV.	Factors Associated with ICS/Other Adherence	499
	V.	Adherence Issues in Special Populations	504
	VI.	Intervention Strategies to Improve Patient	
		Adherence to ICS Therapy	507
	VII.	Summary and Recommendations	510
		References	510
		Discussion	515

Part Seven FUTURE CHALLENGES

Drug Development

21.	Prosp Metal Arne 2 Bengt	ects for Developing Inhaled Steroids with Extrahepatic polism: "Soft Steroids" Thalén, Paul H. Andersson, Per T. Andersson, Axelsson, Staffan Edsbäcker, and Ralph Brattsand	521
	I.	Introduction	521
	II.	Astra Soft Steroid Project	525
	III.	GlaxoWellcome Soft Steroid Project	532
	IV.	Current Status of Soft Steroids	533
		References	534
		Discussion	538
22.	Desig	n and Development of a Soft Corticosteroid,	
	Lotep	rednol Etabonate	541
	Nicholas Bodor and Peter Buchwald		
	I.	Introduction	541
	II.	Soft Drugs	543

Con	tents		xxi
	III. IV. V.	Loteprednol Etabonate Effect of Loteprednol Etabonate on Airway Activity Conclusions References	545 552 558 558
23.	Devel with Bengt and R	opment of Inhaled Steroids Based Upon Prodrugs Prolonged Intraluminal Retention Time Axelsson, Per Bäckman, Per Strandberg, alph Brattsand	565
	I. II. IV. V. VI.	Introduction Aim of Astra Project Lipid Formulation for Attaining Bioavailability of D5522 Pharmacological Testing Deposition, Luminal Spreading, and Uptake Mechanisms of D5522L Conclusion and Prospects References	565 566 567 568 570 575 575
24.	Trans for D <i>Micha</i>	scription Factors AP-1 and NF-κB as Targets evelopment of Anti-inflammatory Drugs and Karin	577
	I. II. III. IV. V.	Introduction Mechanisms of AP-1 and NF-κB Activation Involvement of AP-1 and NF-κB in Inflammatory Responses Physiological Inhibitors of Inflammation, AP-1 and NF-κB Development of AP-1 and NF-κB Inhibitors References Discussion	577 578 580 581 583 585 589
Med	lical D	ocumentation	
25.	Remo Peter	deling and the Effects of Steroids in Asthma K. Jeffery	593
	I. III. IV. V. VI. VII. VIII.	Introduction Surface Epithelium Reticular Basement Membrane Interstitial Collagen and Elastic Tissue Airway Vessels Bronchial Smooth Muscle Airway Wall Nerves Remodeling and Airflow Limitation	593 597 601 605 606 607 611 611

	IX.	Summary and Conclusion	612
		References	612
		Discussion	619
26.	Inhal Ferna	ed Corticosteroids and the Natural History of Asthma ndo D. Martinez	623
	I.	Asthma and Airway Inflammation	623
	II. III.	Challenging the Inflammatory Theory of Asthma Natural History of Asthma Symptoms During	625
		Childhood and Early Adult Life	626
	IV.	A Developmental Approach to Asthma Treatment	629
	V.	Recognizing Early Asthma	630
		References	631
27.	Comb Roma	Dination Therapies Using Inhaled Corticosteroids <i>in A. Pauwels and Olof Selroos</i>	635
	I.	Introduction	635
	II.	Inhaled Corticosteroids Plus Long-Acting	
		Inhaled β_2 -Agonists	637
	III.	Inhaled Corticosteroids Plus Theophylline	640
	IV.	Inhaled Corticosteroids Plus Leukotriene	
		Receptor Antagonists	640
	V.	Trials Comparing Combination Treatments	642
	VI.	Conclusions	643
		References	644
		Discussion	647
	Autho	r Index	649
	Subje	ct Index	705
	-		

Part One

INTRODUCTION

1

Drug Development of Inhaled Steroids

A Pharmacologist's View Based on Experiences from the Budesonide Project

RALPH BRATTSAND

AstraZeneca Research and Development Lund, Sweden

I. Introduction

The introduction of inhaled steroids (IS) has been successful for asthma therapy from the viewpoints of the patient and the medical community, as well as from the health care cost of society (see Chap. 2). The special steroids required for that development were selected and documented more by combining rational thought and functional in vivo testing than upon solid mechanistic knowledge about steroid kinetics and dynamics in airways/lung tissue. The IS budesonide (BUD) has played an important role in that development, and during the 1980s and 1990s BUD became the major tool for extending the clinical documentation of IS therapy. This introductory chapter gives me the chance to sum up some pharmacological considerations and personal thoughts after three decades of work with topical steroids. Even if these experiences are based mainly upon the BUD project, these considerations may exemplify motivations behind IS development and point out common problems for the preclinical and clinical documentation of IS. The present chapter comprises a short background of topical steroids, the structureactivity work behind budesonide, a discussion of the resulting clinical profile, mechanisms behind its airways selectivity, a list of still open pharmacological issues concerning IS therapy and, finally, comments on the animal models used during the selection and documentation of BUD.

The success of the early phases of the BUD project (on which I concentrate here) seems in retrospect to have depended on the dedication and competence of a small internal research organization, which then was cross-fertilized with complementary knowledge and resources by a company deal happening at the best time for the project. The initial qualifications of the internal organization were some knowledge about steroid synthesis (not discussed here) and animal testing, clear aims for a topical steroid project, and importantly a desire to test new medicinal chemistry, pharmacological and medical approaches forward that goal. The only mode to drive the project at that time was via empericism, based on chemistry and determination of the resulting in vivo profile. How completely that strategy contradicts the sacred drug development strategy of today! The present strategy starts from new, validated molecular mechanisms, proceeds with establishment of high through screening methods for those mechanisms, followed by the testing of huge chemical libraries, and then ideally results in a preproject with structural optimization based on in vivo animal work. For the BUD project it can be concluded in retrospect that the major pharmacological preferences of BUD would never have been detected by the present strategy, as its rapid hepatic inactivation and its effect-prolonging esterification were unraveled first nearly one and more than two decades, respectively, after the project start. However, the impact of these mechanisms directed us during the in vivo selection procedures so that the functional preferences of BUD appeared well before the kinetic background could be clarified!

II. Skin Steroids: The Forerunners of IS

Local/topical drug therapy of a delimited target area offers two theoretical advantages over systemic treatment. By such administration a much higher local drug concentration can be achieved, better exploiting upper parts of the dose-response curve of efficacy. Second, local administration reduces the total dose, diminishing the risk of adverse systemic reactions when this lower dose is distributed into the general circulation. Together these advantages increase the therapeutic ratio of a drug. However, such therapy may also shorten rather than extend the duration of local efficacy (1), as the higher local concentration enhances the diffusion gradient away from the site of action, and plasma does not reconstitute the local site with new drug over prolonged periods as is it does in systemic therapy. Topical skin therapy is a special case of local treatment, since the stratum corneum barrier strongly impairs and retards topical uptake of drugs. In this therapy a very small percentage of the applied steroid reaches the epidermal/dermal drug targets (2), and this delivery is spread over a number of hours from the reservoir formed by drug dissolution into the hornified layer. When the absorbed steroid leaves its targets via the dermal vessels and enters the systemic circulation, there is a strong dilution diminishing the plasma steroid level below the threshold level for systemic efficacy. Therefore, during normal topical therapy steroids attain selectivity for their epidermal and dermal skin targets due to this combination of low and retarded uptake followed by strong dilution in blood.

IS originate directly or indirectly from topical skin steroids; their development has been lengthy and laborious (3). Due to the above kinetic properties, a topically selective therapy for skin was available in the early 1950s, while it took 20 years more until steroids attaining a topical selectivity for airways tissue were reported. Because airways/lung mucosa lacks a barrier like the stratum corneum, lipophilic steroids are nearly fully absorbed into airway tissue and proceed then rapidly into systemic circulation. This impairs selectivity in two ways: by shortening the local anti-inflammatory efficacy and by reinforcing the unwanted systemic actions. While the steroid reservoir in the horny layer extends dermal efficacy markedly, it is not possible to achieve a similar retardation at the airway surface, as the mucociliary clearance sweeps away undissolved drug particles from central airways within a few hours. Furthermore, a large part of the inhaled dose is orally deposited and swallowed and will, if anything, just add to unwanted systemic activity.

Thus, IS need special properties to overcome these obstacles. First, they need some form of binding to airways/lung tissue to extend the local efficacy and with that reduce the number of daily inhalations. This is especially true considering that the compliance of prophylactic asthma therapy is poor (see Chap. 20). Second, IS must rapidly undergo an effective first-pass inactivation in the systemic compartment.

III. Early Failures and Successes of IS Therapy

Cortisone, hydrocortisone, and prednisolone were tested early by the inhalation route, but with a poor clinical outcome (for overview see Ref. 4) (Fig. 1). With today's knowledge we understand that topical therapy with cortisone and prednisone lacks efficacy, as they are prodrugs that gain affinity for the glucocorticoid receptor only after the liver-mediated reduction to hydrocortisone and prednisolone, respectively. When inhaled at daily doses of 7.5-18 mg, hydrocortisone and prednisolone achieved antiasthmatic efficacy only in some patients, but could still reduce urinary secretion of 17-hydroxysteroids (4). Their poor topical efficacy depends on a combination of the low receptor affinity (5) and the action of the enzyme 11β -hydroxy-steroid dehydrogenase (11β -HSD), which in lung favors their oxidation to cortisone and prednisone, respectively (6). The importance of that enzyme was confirmed by Schleimer and Kato, who in in vitro studies found that



Figure 1 Scheme for the early development of topical glucocorticosteroid therapy.

the conversion of hydrocortisone to cortisone in human lung and tracheal tissue was effectively blocked by 11 β -HSD inhibitors (7). The orally deposited part of inhaled hydrocortisone and prednisolone has more than 50% bioavailability (5), mediating systemic activity.

Dexamethasone was the first steroid to show a clear antiasthmatic and antirhinitic efficacy by inhalation (4). It was clinically introduced in the 1960s in the United States as aerosol formulations of the water-soluble dexamethasone 21-phosphate ester. However, controlled clinical trials revealed soon that inhaled dexamethasone has a very poor topical selectivity, as a similar efficacy was achieved by the oral as by the inhaled route (8-10). Its low topical selectivity depends on a poor uptake and binding to airway tissue (11), probably due to its rather low lipophilicity (12), while on the other hand the orally deposited fraction has a bioavailability of 65% or more (5). During the 1960s new skin glucocorticosteroids were gradually developed, gaining topical efficacy also on more resistant dermatoses like psoriasis and stubborn eczema. The chemical approach of that development was the introduction of lipophilic substituents at the 17α - or 16α , 17α -positions of the steroidal D-ring (Fig. 2), with the idea that this enhanced their intrinsic activity as well as their topical uptake (2). At the end of that decade the topical efficacy of a couple of these lipophilic steroids was tested on respiratory disorders. The first positive results were published in 1968 by Czech studies with betamethasone 17α -valerate (Fig. 2) on rhinitis, reporting both topical efficacy and selectivity (13,14), but this finding was not commercially developed. The asthma breakthrough came from work within the Allen & Hanbury Company with the skin steroid beclomethasone- 17α , 21-dipropionate (BDP) (Fig. 2) (for overview, see Ref. 4). The novel medical outcome was that steroidal antiasthmatic efficacy was attained without clear concomitant indices of systemic steroidal activity. The pioneering clinical trial with inhaled BDP was performed by Morrow-Brown using asthmatic subjects with eosinophilic sputa. The trials started in June 1970, and the first full publication appeared in April 1972 (15), soon followed by confirmatory reports from other groups (3). The treatment regimen was standardized to four daily inhalations of 100 µg BDP or betamethasone 17 α -valerate. Only patients with moderate to severe asthma were treated with steroids, as the symptoms of mild asthmatics were not at that time considered to be related to ongoing airway inflammation.

Very little effort had earlier been devoted to clarify the metabolic routes and rates of elimination of skin steroids (including BDP) due to the lack of sensitive analytical techniques and the perception that the very low steroid uptake made a clarification of their systemic kinetics less important. However, the positive clinical findings with inhaled BDP called for metabolic evaluation, and the first mechanistic explanation of its airway selectivity came within a couple of years when kineticists at the Allen & Hanbury Company reported an unexpected, high hepatic biotransformation rate of BDP into beclomethasone and polar metabolites with reduced glucocorticoid (GC) activity (16). They showed that this metabolism reduced the systemic impact of the large orally deposited and swallowed fraction (17,18). With that finding, one key mechanism behind airways/lung selectivity of inhaled steroids was elucidated.



Figure 2 Structure of the 16α , 17α -acetal glucocorticosteroid triamcinolone acetonide (TAC) and the two 17α -ester glucocorticosteroids beclomethasone 17α , 21-dipropionate (BDP) and betamethasone 17α -valerate (B-17V).

IV. The Budesonide Project

A. Medical and Biological Aims

Within the small Swedish pharmaceutical company Bofors Nobel-Pharma, a topical steroid project was started in the mid-1960s with the aim of enhancing the topical potency of the 16α , 17α -acetal glucocorticosteroids. The pioneering steroid of that class was triamcinolone acetonide (TAC), the first steroid having efficacy on psoriasis and stubborn eczemas (Fig. 2). After initial chemical failures the project was reorientated in 1967, chemically by the medicinal chemist Arne Thalén and pharmacologically by myself. In addition to the original medical goal-enhanced topical efficacy for skin—we decided that the project should also aim for a generally improved topical selectivity (defined as an elevated ratio between the topical and systemic potencies compared to that of current topical steroids). Due to our lack of proper bioanalytical techniques, it was decided to perform the selectivity testing in vivo and include it as part of the primary screening. For that purpose a new variant of the cotton pellet test was developed, allowing estimation of the local anti-inflammatory as well as the resulting systemic GC actions. Two small cotton pellets (weighing 6 mg each) were implanted subcutaneously (s.c.) into adrenalectomized rats, and after one week a marked granuloma formation was formed within and around the pellets. At that stage the granuloma was composed of proliferating macrophages and fibroblasts, infiltrating and walling off the pellets from surrounding tissue. The extent of this cellular inflammation was determined as the increase of dry weight of the dissected granulomas. Before implantation the pellets were loaded with steroid microcrystals, formed by injecting a small volume of an acetone solution of the steroid. By dose-response studies in comparison with negative and positive controls, the local antigranuloma potency of a steroid was estimated as its ED_{50} , ranging from one to a few µg/pellet for potent steroids. The resulting systemic potency was judged as the extent of thymus involution and reduced body weight gain over the one-week study period. Based on the ED₅₀s for granuloma inhibition and thymus involution and the ED₂₅ for reduced body weight gain, the local/systemic potency ratio was calculated as a measure of the local selectivity of the compound. These results were complemented with determination of the topical potency in rodent ear edema models and in the human skin blanching test.

B. Structure-Activity Work for Optimization of 16α , 17α -Acetal Glucocorticosteroids

By structure-activity (SA) studies it was found that the nonsymmetrical 16α , 17α acetal of triamcinolone with acetaldehyde (Fig. 3, lower panel) gave a better local potency and selectivity than for the corresponding symmetrical acetal with acetone (TAC) (Fig. 2, upper panel). From this a stepwise optimization process was



Figure 3 Overview of structural variations of 16α , 17α -acetal glucocorticosteroids tested in the budesonide project (upper panel). R₁ = H, or alkyl chain; R₂ = straight or branched alkyl chain; X and Y = H or F. The first lead on nonsymmetrical acetal is shown in the lower panel.

initiated in which the next aim was to determine the optimal size of the alkyl substituent for that improvement. Nonsymmetrical acetals substituted with straight or branched alkyl chains from 1 up to 9 carbons were synthesized on 16α hydroxyprednisolone, triamcinolone, and fluocinolone (19). The uniform conclusion (Fig. 4) was that an *n*-propyl group (3 carbons) mediated a 10-fold higher local antigranuloma potency than was reached by TAAC, while the systemic actions were less potentiated so that the local/systemic activity ratio of the new acetals was markedly improved (19). The optimal glucocorticoid potency of *n*-propyl substitution was later confirmed in molecular biological models. In reporter gene constructs for GC-induced upregulation (via GRE-triggering) and for GCinduced downregulation (inhibition of the AP-1/TRE mediated pathway), the *n*-propyl substituted acetal (Fig. 5) had the highest potency, with much lower activity observed with shorter or longer acetals (12).

A practical drawback of nonsymmetrical acetals is that two diastereoisomers are formed (Fig. 4). The R-epimers had a somewhat higher local antiinflammatory potency than the S-epimers, but in the rodent models that was also the case for their systemic activity (19-21). Accordingly, a difficult and expensive stereoselective synthesis or isomer separation was not justified. The next optimization step was to see how esterification of the 21-hydroxy group affected the improved profile of the nonsymmetrical acetals. A number of ester types were



the best local/systemic ratio.





Figure 5 Influence of acetal chain length on glucocorticosteroid potency in a homologous series of nonsymmetrical 16α , 17α -acetals. The potency was determined on reporter genes transfected into a rat fibroblast line. Filled circles, GRE-mediated upregulation of CAT (chloramphenicol acyl transferase). Open circles, inhibition of AP-1–controlled β -galactosidase. (From Ref. 12.)



Table 1Topical/Systemic Ratios in Rat, Calculated Between the Potencies^a to InhibitEar Edema (Topical Effect) and to Involute the Thymus (Systemic Effect)

^aAll potencies are calculated in relation to BUD. The table shows the importance of the 16 α ,17 α -acetal type and the extent of B-ring fluorination. The type A acetals are 6α -F = fluorisolide; 9α -F = TAC; 6α -F, 9α -F = fluorinolone acetonide.

Source: Adapted from Ref. 20.

synthesized on the new 16α , 17α -acetal compounds. In the rat models used, esterification enhanced local as well as systemic potencies, while no potentiation of the topical activity was seen in the human skin blanching tests (19,21). These equivocal results, together with potential ester stability problems in formulations, led us to concentrate on the 21-hydroxy nonesterified acetals. The final structural evaluation of the new acetals was on the impact of fluorination in the steroid skeleton, preferably in the B-ring. In our rat models, fluoro substituents at the 9α - or the 6α , 9α -positions enhanced the systemic more than the local activity (19,20), so that the nonfluorinated compounds achieved the best local/systemic activity ratio (Table 1). Based on this systematic structure-activity work performed over the period 1969-1972 and comprising a large number of structures, a patent application for novel, topical 16α , 17α -acetals was filed in Sweden in May 1972, followed one year later by international applications (22).

C. The Budesonide Inhalation Project

The budesonide project was strongly affected by two external events over 1972 and 1973. As described above, the first asthma publication on the successful use of inhaled BDP appeared in the spring of 1972 (we never noted the preceding Czech betametason 17α-valerate work on rhinitis), claiming that inhaled BDP differentiated between local and systemic actions. We thought that this "skin" steroid had neither been designed for, nor been specifically selected for, such differentiation, whereas our clear objective over the preceding years had been to synthesize and screen new steroids for an improved relation between their local and systemic actions. By this directed work we reasoned that the new nonsymmetrical acetals might reach an even better differentiation. Because systemic adverse actions are not a major problem in topical skin therapy, it was thought that the medical preferences of the new acetals would best be exploited in topical therapy of mucous membrances, e.g., on airway or bowel mucosa. The second external event affecting the project happened in spring 1973, when it was announced that the topical steroid project was going to be taken over scientifically as well as commercially by Astra, due to a strategic deal between the Astra and Bofors Groups. The key part of the Bofors preclinical steroid group agreed to go along, and these eight people moved in 1974 with the project to Lund, and merged there with the respiratory, pharmaceutical, and medical expertise of Astra Draco.

During autumn 1974, BUD (Fig. 6) was selected as the single drug candidate from the preclinical project. Its high topical potency had at that time been confirmed in further models (the rat and mouse ear edema models, and the human skin blanching test), and its profile had been compared also to the 17α -esters BDP (Fig. 2) and betamethasone 17α -valerate (Fig. 2). BUD had double the topical potency of these esters (23,24, data in files of Astra Draco). When selectivity was calculated as the topical-systemic potency ratio gained in the rodent models, BUD achieved a 10-fold higher ratio than for the esters (23, data in files of Astra Draco), as well as for the acetonides (Table 1).

The IND-work started in 1975 with documentary work on the kinetic, meta-



Figure 6 Structure of the nonsymmetrical 16α , 17α -acetal glucocorticosteroid budesonide (BUD), selected for topical treatment of inflammatory and allergic disorders.



Figure 7 Main metabolic pathways of BUD, mediated by hepatic CYP3A.

bolic, toxicological, and pharmaceutical properties of BUD. In vitro work on human tissues (liver, blood, and lung) was included as soon as we had tritiated BUD and bioanalytical methods for that work. Acute Phase I studies on the systemic tolerance were performed in collaboration with Professor Karl-Erik Andersson and Associate Professor Pavo Hedner at Lund University Hospital. These volunteer trials revealed a 3–4 times lower systemic potency of oral BUD compared to oral BDP, measured as reduction of morning plasma cortisol (24). When compared by inhalation (in CFC-based pMDI-formulations) BUD had half the cortisoldepressing potency of BDP (24).

The improved systemic tolerance of BUD was shown to depend on a rapid and extensive hepatic metabolism (25,26). The BUD biotransformation appeared to be rather stereospecific (Fig. 7). The R-diastereoisomer undergoes a splitting of the 16α , 17α -acetal (27), and this is a unique route compared to TAC and flunisolide, which have metabolically stable acetonides. Following a CYP3Acatalyzed oxygenation of the 22-carbon of the BUD-R epimer, the formed intermediary hemiortho-ester is immediately hydrolyzed to 16α -OH-prednisolone and butyric acid (Fig. 8). The BUD-S diastereoisomer is hydroxylated in 6β -position (Fig. 7), which is a well-known metabolic pathway for steroids, and it can also undergo hydroxylation of its acetal to form 23-OH-BUD (Fig. 7). These metabolites have a 50-100 times lower receptor affinity than does BUD (28), and their potency is further reduced by glucuronidation and sulfation. These transformations explain the finding that BUD is several times more rapidly metabolized than BMP (the rate-limiting step in BDP inactivation) and TAC (25,26). The bioavailability of BUD was determined in volunteers (25), and its low oral bioavailability (approximately 10%) was at that time a novel finding for IS (see Chaps. 9 and 10). With the analytical techniques used in these early studies, there were no signs of metabolic transformations of BUD within lung tissue or in blood (26).


Figure 8 Biochemical pathway for the 16α , 17α -acetal splitting of (22R)-budesonide. (Adapted from Ref. 27.)

Thus, the human pharmacological testing confirmed a profile preference for BUD over BDP, as BUD had twice the topical potency in the skin blanching test, while its cortisol-depressing potency after inhalation was just half that of inhaled BDP (24). Based on these data, asthma trials with BUD were started around 1977, using a conventional CFC pMDI aerosol.

D. Some Highlights from the Clinical Documentation of Budesonide/Pulmicort

The early clinical trials comprised dose- and time-response studies on the antiasthmatic efficacy of Pulmicort. The trials were run in collaboration with, among others, Roger Ellul-Micallef (acute effects) (29), Ronald Dahl (subacute trials on clinical asthma) (30), and studies with allergic provocation (31) and John Togood (subacute tests with various efficacy and adverse effects readouts, with or without addition of spacer) (32-34). A dose-response relationship was found in the range of 100-1600 µg/day (29,30), and the efficacy was exerted locally as oral treatment giving a similar plasma level of BUD mediated just marginal efficacy (29,34). Depressed 8 A.M. cortisol was seen first at or above 1600 µg/day. A surprisingly rapid onset (improved PEF within a few hours) was detected in the acute testing of chronic mild asthmatics (29). Other novel findings were the full blunting of the immediate allergic reaction, when Pulmicort was inhaled for one month (31), and that Pulmicort reached the same antiasthmatic efficacy as high dose oral steroids (33). In the subacute studies the inhalation frequency was found to be important for unstable but not for stable asthma (32), creating the possibility to reduce the dosing frequency in proper prophylactic therapy. Based on these and other experiences, Pulmicort got its first European marketing license in the early 1980s.

Efficacy comparisons among IS require special designs for showing meaningful differences, and the designs and results of such drug comparisons are overviewed elsewhere in this volume (see Chaps. 14 and 16).

During the 1980s and 1990s, Pulmicort became the major tool for documenting extended achievements of IS therapy, and some of these findings are listed below:

- The good safety profile of Pulmicort was exploited by giving higher doses, resulting in better disease control in patients with severe asthma and reducing the need for oral steroids (35,36). In addition to improved respiratory function and QoL, such treatment was shown to cut the total health care costs (37–39), especially for acute visits and hospitalization.
- The safety profile allowed a more variable dosing (level and frequency) depending on current asthma severity, improving the patient's involvement and compliance (40).
- Another use of the good, long-term safety data of Pulmicort was to introduce steroid inhalation therapy earlier in mild asthma. This led to a pioneering study where patients with newly detected asthma were treated for two years either with Pulmicort or Bricanyl (41). The marked improvement in patients using Pulmicort during the first months could not be reproduced by a later switch from bronchodilating to steroid therapy (42), showing that anti-inflammatory treatment has the best outcome when it is

introduced before airways remodelling has started. The results of these (41,42) and other BUD studies (43-45) have had a great impact on current guidelines for early asthma treatment.

- Pulmicort has been the pioneer of efficacious once-daily inhalation therapy of mild asthma (46-48), with the potential to enhance the poor compliance of prophylactic asthma therapy (see. Chap. 20). The reversible esterification of BUD within airways/lung tissue (see below) may contribute to this property.
- Improved inhalation devices have markedly contributed to these advances. The first steps were taken 20 years ago with extensible plastic tubes and spacers attached to the CFC-arerosols, which reduced the oral and improved the airways deposition (32). A real advance was reached in the late 1980s, when Pulmicort was introduced in the first multidose dry powder inhaler, the Turbuhaler, further improving Pulmicort's topical efficacy and selectivity by enhancing the airways/lung deposition (49) and by the ease of use of this device.
- Due to its moderate water solubility, BUD is the first IS that can be effectively delivered by nebulization to severely ill adults or infants (50,51). This is not in the same way possible with less water soluble IS (e.g., the solubility of BDP and FP is 100 times lower than that of BUD).
- Pulmicort today has a very extensive safety record, based on its estimated use over 25 million patient years. The rate of recorded severe adverse events is approximately one case per nearly 100,000 patient years (data on file at AstraZeneca), and the few cases recorded comprise primarily occasional bronchoconstriction and skin allergic reactions rather than systemic steroid actions. The safety data are excellent also in long-term trials (52). In a unique study on the final height of asthmatic children treated long-term (53) (see Chap. 15), Pedersen et al. showed minimal effects of inhaled Pulmicort. In another unique study on use during pregnancy, Pulmicort did not affect the malformation rate in a large cohort of Swedish infants (54).

V. The Difficulty of Forecasting a Market Potential

Astra's goal in the 1970s for the takeover of the BUD-project was to complement its sprouting respiratory business, based on terbutaline and a theophylline formulation, with a steroid for the more severe asthmatics. The motivation was more to get a full line for asthma therapy, than for economic revenue of the steroid project itself. Bronchodilators were at that time considered to be the cornerstone of acute as well as prophylactic asthma treatment, and based on this view and early figures from the BDP and betamethasone 17α -valerate marketing, the worldwide turnover of a BUD product for asthma was in the mid-1970s roughly estimated to be \$15 million per year. Due to the elucidation in the 1980s of airway inflammation as a central pathophysiological factor for all forms of asthma, the novel effects of IS on asthmatic hyperresponsiveness and the emerging excellent safety records, IS became the cornerstone of prophylactic asthma therapy. This therapeutic shift enhanced the market potential of IS drastically, so that the worldwide turnover of Pulmicort today is nearly 50 times higher than the first market estimation. However, it should be pointed out that the clinical success of Pulmicort and its devices has strongly contributed to that therapy shift.

VI. Budesonide as a Tool for Elucidating Mechanisms Behind Airways/Lung Selectivity of IS: Personal Views

Current IS are either steroid 16α , 17α -acetals (BUD, TAC, flunisolide) or derivatives of steroid 17α -esters (BDP,FP) (Fig. 2), and these extra substituents make IS more lipophilic than the parent steroids (12,55,56). Their enhanced lipophilicity affects several pharmacological properties (Fig. 9), and it seems to be the combination of these properties that mediates the topical efficacy and selectivity of IS. While the high receptor affinity and the extended binding to airways tissue are crucial for efficacy, their selectivity depends mainly on the airways/lung binding combined with the hepatic first-pass inactivation of systemically absorbed substance. The optimum extent of lipophilicity for each of these properties is not yet known. (For broader pharmacological overviews of IS activity and selectivity, see Chapters 9, 10, and 12.)



Figure 9 Properties conferred by introduction of lipophilic substituents in the 17α or 16α , 17α positions. +, Positive impact on the IS profile; -, negative impact.

A. Basis of High Prolonged Efficacy at Airways/Lung Target

Up to a certain level, lipophilicity correlates positively with an increased affinity for the GC-receptor (GC-R) (12,28). The high affinity of IS compensates for the dilution occurring over the vast airways/lung surface and mediates steroid efficacy to the mucosal and submucosal targets. However, due to the uniformity of the GC-R, a raised receptor affinity also potentiates the systemic activity, which means that selectivity is not improved by high affinity in the same way as for efficacy (see Chap. 12).

It seems reasonable that glucocorticoid receptors within the airways/lung compartment can be triggered by just a minute part of the inhaled dose, due to the high-affinity-low-capacity character of that binding. Based on the K_D of BUD (0.5 nmol/L) (28) and the volume of human airways/lung, just 1 µg would theoretically be sufficient for initially liganding these receptors. Animal and human kinetic data suggest that topical application of relevant doses gives initial BUD concentrations within airways/lung tissue 10- to 100-fold higher than for its K_{D} (11,57–59). This indicates that the main obstacle for achieving anti-inflammatory activity at airways/lung level is not the initial triggering, but rather the difficulty to maintain the trigger long enough, since most of the deposited steroid is rapidly absorbed into the systemic circulation. Figure 10 shows the turnover cycle of triggered GC-R. Liganded receptors have been shown in vivo to have a half-life of several hours (see Chap. 5). After the ligand dissociation, the receptor has to be phosphorylated and associated with heat-shock proteins (HSP) in order to be able to bind new GC molecules. Thus, some hours after the initial triggering there is a need for GC to remain in local tissue in order to maintain the triggering of recycled and de novo synthesized receptors and achieve anti-inflammatory efficacy.

When the mucosal uptake and retention was studied in a tracheal perfusion model, IS were found to be both better absorbed and retained than was the case for



Figure 10 Scheme of the turnover of triggered glucocorticoid receptor (GC-R).

Steroids	log P	RBA	F‰ª
Systemic steroids			
Hydrocortisone	1.56	0.01	55
Prednisolone	1.65	0.06	80
Dexamethasone	1.95	0.13	65
Inhaled steroids (IS)			
Beclomethasone dipropionate	4.40	0.3	25 (?)
Beclomethasone monopropionate	3.63	2.0	
Triamcinolone acetonide	2.53	0.5	23
Flunisolide	2.28	0.2	21
Budesonide	3.24	1 = Reference	6-13
Fluticasone propionate	4.20	2.3	<1
Momethasone furoate		2.8	<1

Table 2Lipophilicity (log P), Receptor Binding Affinity (RBA), and OralBioavailability (F%) of IS

Log p and RBA values are data on file at AstraZeneca. The RBA determinations were performed in vitro in rat thymus cytosol.

^aFrom human studies (5,59).

the less lipophilic systemic steroids (11). This enhanced and prolonged binding of IS to airways tissue is another reflection of their high lipophilicity (Fig. 9) and depends probably on enrichment of IS in lipophilic cellular compartments. Table 2 lists the lipophilicity and receptor affinitity of current IS. While they all differ from systemic steroids, there is a variation among IS contributing to their individual dose requirements, differing severalfold from, e.g., flunisolide to FP. None of these IS is inactivated within the target tissue, which means that the retained steroid pool has the propensity to extend receptor triggering as long as the tissue concentration of free IS is above a certain threshold. The neccessity of having a pool of tissue-bound, stable steroid is supported by the poor clinical outcome of soft steroids sensitive to tissue or plasma esterases (see Chap. 21). Even if such soft drugs would give the same initial receptor trigger (due to equipotent receptor affinity), they seem to be broken down within the target tissue over time, limiting their possibility to extend local receptor triggering.

During the 1990s a special kind of tissue binding was discovered for budesonide, which seems to contribute to its extended topical efficacy and high selectivity. During investigations in the tracheal superfusion model, it was revealed that budesonide stayed longer in large airways tissue than was anticipated from its own lipophilicity (11). Kinetic investigations clarified that BUD within cells can undergo a reversible esterification with fatty acids, forming very lipophilic BUDesters lacking receptor affinity, but which are gradually hydrolyzed back to active



Figure 11 Scheme of the reversible, intracellular esterification of BUD.

BUD (Fig. 11) (60). These BUD-esters have been documented in rat (11) and human airways/lung (58), as well as in the human nasal mucosa (61). These findings clarify early, poorly understood BUD results from an isolated perfused lung model, where a fraction of BUD bound so strongly to airways/lung tissue that tissue digestion was necessary to release that fraction (62). During that digestion with the multienzyme pronase, the BUD-esters were probably hydrolyzed and appeared as intact BUD, leading to the conclusion that BUD was not metabolized by airways/lung tissue.

BUD seems to be unique in undergoing this high esterification rate, as only a small ester formation was detected for TAC and none at all for BDP and FP. The reversible BUD ester formation was correlated to a long functional duration, both after topical application to the rat trachea (63) and after pulse exposure of cells in culture (64). In the latter model it could be clearly shown that when ester formation was blocked by an esterification inhibitor, BUD had a shorter duration of action (65). This, together with release experiments, support the concept that the BUD-ester pool is bioavailable both within the cell as well as for neighboring cells (11,64). This mechanism may explain why BUD—not having the top lipophilicity and receptor affinity among IS (Table 2)—can have the superior clinical documentation for once-daily efficacy in asthma.

B. Basis of Low Systemic Activity

IS are bioavailable via the airways/lung and oral routes (Fig. 12). However, due to its effective hepatic first-pass inactivation, there is just a minute oral contribution when BUD is inhaled from the Turbuhaler followed by a mouth rinsing. CYP450

3A (66) is a ubiquitous hepatic enzyme, and this together with the low inhaled dose explains why BUD very seldom provokes drug interactions.

The airways/lung deposited fraction of the BUD dose is taken up into the systemic circulation via the bronchial and pulmonary vessels and has nearly full bioavailability (25; see also Chap. 10). Of the cardiac output, one quarter has the first pass to liver (leading to steroid inactivation), while the majority of airways/lung absorbed steroid is widely distributed before finally undergoing hepatic metabolism (Fig. 12). During this systemic disposition BUD has a moderate volume of distribution ($V_D = 183 \text{ L}$) and terminal plasma half-life ($t_{1/2} = 2.8 \text{ h}$), less than for the more lipophilic FP (for comparative figures, see Chap. 10). While the high lipophilicity favors local efficacy as discussed above, the same property is a drawback (Fig. 9) when the airways/lung absorbed fraction is distributed in the body, as this elevates the body burden at steady state. Thus, the ideal profile of an IS is to have a high lipophilicity in airways/lung compartment but low during systemic distribution, as that speeds up the subsequent disposition to liver for inactivation (67).

While the BUD-ester formation favors its local efficacy, the same mechanism would be a drawback if this reaction occurs to the same extent for systemically disposed BUD. However, this does not seem to be the case. First, the human $t_{1/2}$ of BUD (2.8 h) is not compatible with a profound peripheral disposition of very lipophilic BUD-esters. Second, analytical results (68) as well as kinetic modeling (see Chap. 13) show that after BUD inhalation the highest ester concentrations are found within airways/lung tissue, while the ester concentrations of



Figure 12 Disposition of IS. GI = gastrointestinal tract. (Adapted from Ref. 12.)

	Thymus weight (% of vehicle)	Body weight gain (% of vehicle)	
vehicle			
and the second	100	100	
BUD 4 x 17.5 μg at t = 0			
A HILL	60 *	64 **	
BUD 1 x 70 μg at t = 0			
ANT - S	38 [†]	28 ^{††}	
BUD 4 x 17.5 μg consecutively			
at t = 0, 8, 24, 31 h			
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	28 *,†††	11 (*), †††	

Figure 13 Systemic efficacy of BUD as influenced by its uptake rate into systemic circulation. Rats (6 per group) were subcutaneously injected with suspensions of 70 µg BUD, leading to three different uptake rates. All groups had their own vehicle control, which did not differ among the groups. The systemic effects of all BUD groups differed significantly from the vehicle controls (significance levels not shown). The significances given are between the BUD groups. *p = 0.1; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01 in comparison to BUD $1 \times 70 \ \mu g$; †p < 0.05; ††p < 0.01; †††p < 0.001 in comparison to BUD $4 \times 17.5 \ \mu g$ at t = 0.

plasma and peripheral striated muscle are quite low. Interestingly, BUD esters are formed in airways/lung tissue after intravenous injection, and they stay longer in large airway tissue than elsewhere (see Chap. 13). This suggests that the high ester concentration recorded in airway tissue after inhalation depends both on the high local BUD concentration and on a high capacity of that tissue to esterify BUD. Thus, in this model BUD can to some extent exist in a more lipophilic form in airways/lung tissue than in the systemic compartment.

There are varying opinions on the issue of whether a slow or a rapid systemic uptake is most advantageous for reducing the systemic activity of IS. Figure 13 shows a simple test of that issue, with thymus involution and reduced body weight gain as steroid-sensitive systemic measures. The study was performed in a nonlung model, but the outcome is principally valid also for systemic uptake from airways/lung. A single subcutaneous injection of a suspension with 70 μ g BUD/rat gave strong reductions of these measures, with maximal reductions after 3 days (thymus weight) and 2 days (body weight gain), respectively. This group

was compared to other groups where the rate of systemic uptake was changed. One group received simultaneous s.c. injections at four separate sites with 17.5 µg/ each, as this speeds up the total uptake rate into the systemic circulation. Another group was s.c. injected with 17.5 µg/site, but with temporal delays for each of three remaining injections (all four given within 31 h). The clear-cut result indicates that the most rapid systemic uptake gave the least, while the slowest uptake mediated the worst systemic activity (Fig. 13). This result coincides with the common view for adverse potential of systemic steroids (69). Thus, while a prolonged deposition within airways/lung compartment potentiates the desired local activity of IS, this may at the same time worsen the systemic activity. Instead it would be advantageous if the bulk of airways/lung deposited steroid fraction, not utilized in the local binding to receptors or tissue, could be rapidly taken up into systemic circulation. This conclusion is based upon the high-affinity, low-capacity character of IS binding to the peripheral GC receptors. During a protracted systemic circulation relatively more of the steroid can be used for a prolonged receptor binding, while during a high plasma peak the binding capacity of peripheral receptors is overloaded, delivering more steroid to rapid metabolism and excretion. For reducing systemic activity by a retarded uptake, the systemic absorption rate must be so low that the resulting plasma steroid level is below the threshold for triggering GC-activity. This is further discussed in Chapter 23.

VII. Remaining Pharmacological Questions About IS Efficacy and Selectivity

As stated in the introduction, the development of current IS has been governed more by empericism than by detailed knowledge about GC kinetics and dynamics in airways/lung tissue. In fact, we still lack answers to some crucial questions about the pharmacological basis of IS therapy. One important aim of this volume is to discuss these issues. If we can find clear answers to the questions listed in Table 3, a continued improvement in IS or IS-like drugs would be more likely.

VIII. Comments on the Animal Models Used in the Preclinical Selection and Documentation of BUD

The preference of the initially used cotton pellet test was that this model, within a rather close dose interval, determined both local and systemic potencies, so that a local/systemic potency could be estimated. With this model it was possible to detect and optimize the local preferences of the nonsymmetrical 16α , 17α -acetals (22,70). However, the cotton pellet model was laborious with regard to surgical techniques and preparation of the steroid-loaded pellets. More rapid evaluation models were therefore added: the ear edema tests in rats and mice, and the human

Question	Impact of answer		
The overall profile questions			
Is there a need for a slight contributory systemic activity for gaining the full IS efficacy?	Determines the prospects of soft steroids		
What are the levels of non-protein-bound ste- roid in plasma, target, and non-target tissues?	Central for understanding the ste- roid exchange between tissues, and by that the building of proper kinetic models		
For achieving high/prolonged topical efficacy			
What is the minimum daily period of receptor triggering for achieving anti-inflammatory efficacy in airways/lung?	Will aid in design of steroid and its formulation		
What is the impact of mucociliary clearance on the local uptake of steroid in airways of mild, moderate, and severe asthmatics, respectively?	The maximal time for local uptake of intraluminally deposited ste- roid at varying asthma severity		
What are the mechanisms behind the prolonged tissue binding at airways/lung target?	Will allow exploitation of poten- tial, novel binding mechanisms		
Why do not current IS provoke connective tissue atrophy in airways/lung tissue, as they do in dermal tissue?	May reveal whether atrophic risks will appear by a further enhancement of local steroid potency and/or duration		
What are the main target cells for the anti- asthmatic action?	Will open prospects for a steroid targeting to these cells		
Does the liganded steroid need to be metaboli- cally stable over its whole liganded period?	Will aid in design of soft steroids		
For low systemic activity			
What are the critical determinants of steady-state kinetics?	Will reveal the best mode to mini- mize body burden		
Nonkinetic modes for differentiation			
Can the antiasthmatic and adverse actions be differentiated at the nuclear level?	Will open prospects for a safer oral steroid therapy		
Antiasthmatic shortcomings of IS			
What important antiflammatory/immuno- suppressive actions do IS lack?	Will determine the best comple- mentary therapy		

skin blanching test (for judging topical efficacy over an epithelial barrier) and tests for thymus involution, growth inhibition, and HPA-axis function (for judging the systemic potential after various routes of administration). BUD showed the same preferences in all these models, showing that its promising profile was not coupled to the special administration mode in the cotton pellet model. The com-

 Table 3
 Remaining Pharmacological Questions

parisons with the 17α -ester derivatives BDP and betamethasone 17α -valerate had to be done in mice, as these esters behave aberrantly in the rat (being more antagonists than agonists in that species) (71,72). Both rats and mice were acceptable species for picking up the kinetic preferences of BUD over earlier steroids, but today we know that the rat liver biotransforms BUD more slowly than the human liver does (the oral bioavailability in the rat is double that in humans). Another difference between rat and human liver metabolism—also known in retrospect regards the impact of steroid nucleus fluorination on the nonsymmetrical acetals. In the rat model (Table 1), fluorination impaired selectivity due to a potentiated systemic activity, while we now know that this fluorination speeds up the inactivation rate in human liver. Therefore, in later projects based on nonsymmetrical acetals, we have concentrated upon fluorinated structures (73; see also Chap. 23).

No appropriate rodent models of inflamed airways were available when BUD was selected. The allergic provocation models used in the 1970s were based on high-dose sensitization (giving mainly IgG antibodies), where glucocorticoids exert a poor antianaphylactic activity. However, under using an antihistamine it could be shown that BUD reduced the release of SRS-A (today known as leukotrienes) (74). In the Astra Draco laboratories, novel, low-dose sensitization methods (giving mainly IgE antibodies) were developed for guinea pigs and rats, where BUD protected strongly against antigen-induced anaphylaxis and mediator release without concomitant anti-allergic drugs (75-77) (Table 3). Furthermore, in the early 1980s we developed two GC-sensitive models mimicking the late allergic reaction by giving particulate immune triggers, Sepharose-coupled ovalbumin to sensitized guinea pigs and Sephadex particles to rats which have innate dextran hypersensitivity. Intratracheal instillation of BUD protected against the late bronchoconstriction in guinea pigs (78,79) and against pulmonary edema and eosinophil recruitment in the rats (80,81). However, in these models the lung protection was coupled to concomitant systemic activity (measured as plasma cortisol depression in guinea pigs and thymus involution in rats), indicating a poor topical selectivity of BUD. This poor selectivity for rodent lungs (verified also for other IS, including FP) may depend on the lower number of airway generations in their small lungs, resulting in more peripheral deposition and therefore rapid systemic uptake. Subsequent drug developmental work (see Chaps. 21 and 23) indicates that a topical selectivity for rodent lungs is achievable with new steroids, with a much slower absorption rate or with a soft drug design.

BUD achieves a topical selectivity when applied to restricted parts of rodent airways (Table 4). When the application and the anti-inflammatory measure were restricted to rat large airways, a topical BUD dose of 11 μ g/kg inhibited local TNF α release for more than 12 hours with just minor effects on plasma corticosterone (63). In a rat model of allergic rhinitis, topical BUD of 0.3 μ g/kg blunted the late-phase plasma leakage from the allergen-provoked nose, while systemic activity required more than a 100-fold higher topical dose (82). The topical selectivity of inhaled BUD in allergic dog and pig has been shown by another approach,

Model	Anti- inflammator efficacy	y Selectivity	Ref.
IAR and LAR in guinea pig	+	(+)	75,76,78,79
IAR in rat	+	_	77
Sephadex-induced pulmonary edema in rat	+	_	80,81
IAR and LAR in sheep	+	n.i.	87
AHR in dog	+	+	84-86
LAR in pig	+	+	83
LAR in rat nose	+ a	+	82
LPS-induced "late TNFa production"			
in rat large airways	+ a	+	63

 Table 4
 Topical Efficacy/Selectivity of BUD in Animal Airways: Lung Models In Vivo

IAR = Immediate allergic reaction; LAR = late allergic reaction.

n.i. = Not investigated.

^aUsed also for testing the duration of topical efficacy.

namely comparison of the lung protection after inhalation and intravenous infusion at doses giving the same area under the plasma level curve of BUD. In the pig, inhaled BUD (airways/lung deposited dose 10 μ g/kg), but not infused BUD, protected against the allergen-induced late airways resistance, the deterioration of blood gases and pH, and the rise in urinary late LTE₄ excretion (83). In dog trials (83,84) BUD inhalation (airways/lung deposited dose 13 μ gkg), but not infusion, ameliorated the allergen-provoked airways hyperresponsiveness (85).

Thus, contrary to the situation during early BUD development, it is now possible to judge the topical airways/lung efficacy and selectivity in animal models. However, for being optimal tools for selecting new steroids, these models need still better characterization of dose-response relationships of the local and the systemic actions, more information on the airways/lung deposition pattern, and better analysis of similarities and differences in the rates and routes of glucocorticoid biotransformation, compared to humans.

Acknowledgments

Drug development is a real multidisciplinary team work, and some of the dedicated workers in the early project group and in later mechanistic studies are listed below, with deep thanks for their key contributions:

Arne Thalén, the medicinal chemist of the project and its first project leader, for very fruitful and friendly collaboration over more than three decades.

- Lars-Inge Wickström and other synthetic chemists involved in the syntheses of derivatives and metabolites.
- Karin Roempke and Leif Källström for their dedicated work in endless biological tests.
- Eva Gruvstad for the important human skin blanching tests.
- Per Andersson, Magnus Dahlbäck, and their groups for all animal bronchial challenge tests.
- Bengt Axelsson for receptor affinity work and for fruitful pharmacological discussions.
- Staffan Edsbäcker, Paul Andersson, Lars Thorsson, together with the initial kinetics leader Åke Ryrfeldt, for their novel kinetic work.
- Sten-Åke Johansson for initiating human pharmacological and clinical studies, and Olof Selroos for contributing to novel clinical documentation.
- Anna Miller-Larsson, Elisabet Wieslander, and Anders Tunek for their keen work on the esterification mechanism.
- Many other collegues within the former Astra and Bofors organizations for their dedicated contributions to the successful search for and documentation of budesonide.

References

- Levy G. Targeted drug delivery—some pharmacokinetic considerations. Pharm Res 1987; 4:3–4.
- Robertson DB, Maibach HI. Topical glucocorticoids. In: Schleimer RP, Claman HN, Oronsky AL, eds. Anti-inflammatory Steroid Action. Basic and Clinical Aspects. San Diego: Academic Press, 1989:494–524.
- Mygind N, Clark TJH. Topical Steroid Treatment for Asthma and Rhinitis. London: Ballière Tindall, 1980.
- Brown HM. The introduction and early development of inhaled steroid treatment. In: Mygind N, Clark TJH, eds. Topical Steroid Treatment for Asthma and Rhinitis. London: Ballière Tindall, 1980:66–76.
- Edsbäcker S, Szefler S. Glucocorticoid pharmacokinetics. Principles and clinical applications. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma. Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. Marcel Dekker: New York, 1997:381–446.
- Schleimer RP, Kato M. Regulation of lung inflammation by local glucocorticoid metabolism: an hypothesis. J Asthma 1992; 29:303–317.
- Schleimer RP. Potential regulation of inflammation by local metabolism of hydrocortisone. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1991; 4:166–173.
- 8. Siegel SC, Heimlich EM, Richards W, Kelley VC. Adrenal function in allergy I. Effect of dexamethasone aerosols in asthmatic children. J Pediatr 1964; 33:245.
- 9. Linder WR. Adrenal suppression by steroid inhalation. Arch int Med 1964; 113:655.

- Toogood JH, Lefcoe NM. Dexamethasone aerosols for the treatment of steroid dependent chronic bronchial asthmatic patients. 1965; 36:321.
- Miller-Larsson A, Mattsson H, Hjertberg E, Dahlbäck M, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide. Novel mechanism for prolonged retention of topically applied steroid in airway tissue. Drug Metabol Dispos 1998; 26:623–630.
- Brattsand R. What factors determine anti-inflammatory activity and selectivity of inhaled steroids. Eur Respir Rev 1997; 7:50, 356–361.
- 13. Czarny D, Brostoff J. Effect of intranasal betamethasone-17-valerate on perennial rhinitis and adrenal function. Lancet 1968; 2(561):188–190.
- 14. Brostoff J, Czarny D. Effect of intranasal betamethasone-17-valerate on allergic rhinitis and adrenal function. J Allergy 1969; 44:77–81.
- 15. Brown HM, Storey G, George WHS. Beclomethasone dipropionate: a new steroid aerosol for the treatment of allergic asthma. Br Med J 1972; 1:585–590.
- Martin LE, Tanner RJN, Clark TJH, Cochrane GM. Absorption and metabolism of orally administered beclomethasone dipropionate. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1974; 15:267.
- 17. Harris DM, Martin LE, Harrison C, Jack D. The effect of oral and inhaled beclometassone dipropionate on adrenal function. Clin Allergy 1973; 3:243.
- Harris DM. Clinical pharmacology of beclomethasone dipropionate. In: Mygind N, Clark TJH, eds. Topical Steroid Treatment for Asthma and Rhinitis. London: Ballière Tindall, 1980:34–47.
- Thalén A, Brattsand R, Gruvstad E. Synthesis and pharmacological properties of some 16α,17α-acetals of 16α-hydroxyhydrocortisone, 16α-hydroxyprednisolone and fluorinated 16α-hydroxyprednisolones. Acta Pharm Suec 1984; 21:109–124.
- 20. Brattsand R, Thalén A, Roempke K, Källström L, Gruvstad E. Influence of 16α , 17α -acetal substitution and steroid nucleus fluorination on the topical to systemic activity ratio of glucocorticoids. J Steroid Biochem 1982; 16:779-786.
- Thalén A. Non-symmetrical pregnane cyclic 16α,17α-acetals and their C(22) epimers as anti-inflammatory agents. Ph.D. dissertation, Uppsala University, Sweden 1988. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis. Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Pharmacy 36.
- 22. Brattsand R, Thuresson af Ekenstam B, Claesson KG, Thalén A. Steroids, processes for their manufacture and preparations containing same. U.S. patent 3,929,768.
- 23. Brattsand R, Thalén A, Roempke K, Källström L, Gruvstad E. Development of new glucocorticosteroids with a very high ratio between topical and systemic activities. Eur J Respir Dis 1982: 63(suppl 122):62–73.
- 24. Johansson S-Å, Andersson K-E, Brattsand R, Gruvstad E, Hedner P. Topical and systemic glucocorticoid potencies of budesonide, beclomethasone dipropionate and prednisolone in man. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):74–82.
- 25. Ryrfeldt Å, Andersson P, Edsbäcker S, Tönnesson M, Davies D, Pauwels R. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of budesonide, a selective glucocorticoid. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl. 122):86–95.
- Andersson P, Ryrfeldt Å. Biotransformation of the topical glucocorticoids budesonide and beclomethasone 17α,21-dipropionate in human liver and lung. J Pharm Pharmacol 1984; 36:763–765.

- 27. Edsbäcker S, Andersson P, Lindberg C, Ryrfeldt Å, Thalén A. A metabolic acetal splitting of budesonide. A novel inactivation pathway for topical glucocorticoids. Drug Metab Dispos 1987; 15:412–417.
- 28. Dahlberg E, Thalén A, Brattsand R, Gustafsson J-Å, Johansson U, Roempke K, Saartok T. Correlation between chemical structure, receptor binding and biological activity of some novel, highly active 16α , 17α -substituted glucocorticoids. Mol Pharmacol 1984; 25:70-76.
- 29. Ellul-Micallef R. The acute effects of corticosteroids in bronchial asthma. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):118–125.
- Johansson S-Å. Evaluation of Budesonide—a new glucocorticosteroid for local treatment of bronchial asthma. Ph.D. Dissertation, Dept. Clinical Pharmacology, Lund University, Lund, 1983.
- Dahl R, Johansson S-Å. Importance of duration of treatment with inhaled budesonide on the immediate and late bronchial reaction. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):167–175.
- Toogood JH, Jennings B, Baskerville J, Johansson S-Å. Clinical use of spacer systems for corticosteroid inhalation therapy: a preliminary analysis. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):100–107.
- Toogood JH, Baskerville J, Jennings B, Lefcoe N, Johansson S-Å. Bioequivalent doses of budesonide and prednisone in moderate and severe asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1989; 84:688–700.
- Toogood JH, Frankish CW, Jennings BH, Baskerville JC, Borgå O, Lefcoe NM, Johansson S-Å. A study on the mechanism of the anti-asthmatic action of inhaled budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:872–880.
- Rosenhall L, Lundqvist G, Ädelroth E, Glennow C. Comparison between inhaled and oral corticosteroids in patients with chronic asthma. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):154–162.
- Busse WW, Chervinsky P, Condemi J, Lumry WR, Petty TL, Rennard S, Townley RG. Budesonide delivered by Turbuhaler is effective in a dose-dependent fashion when used in the treatment of patients with chronic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:457–463.
- 37. Ädelroth E, Thompson S. Advantages of high-dose inhaled budesonide. Lancet 1988; 1:476.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid on growth and pulmonary function in asthmatic children. Respir Med 1994; 88:373–381.
- 39. Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Cost-effectiveness of inhaled budesonide in children with chronic asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155: A351.
- 40. Foresi A, Morelli MC, Catena E. Low-dose budesonide with the addition of an increased dose during exacerbations is effective in long-term control. Chest 2000; 117:440-446.
- Haahtela T, Järvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K, Nikander K, Persson T, Reinikainen K, Selroos O, Sovijärvi A, Stenius-Aarniala B, Svahn T, Tammivaara R, Laitinen LA. Comparison of a beta₂-agonist, terbutaline, with an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, in newly detected asthma. N Engl J Med 1991; 325:388–392.

- 42. Haathela T, Järvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K, Nikander K, Persson T, Selroos O, Sovijärvi A, Stenius-Aarniala B, Svahn T, Tammivaara R, Laitinen LA. Effect of reducing or discontinuing inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:700–705.
- 43. Selroos O, Pietinalho A, Löfroos AB, Riska H. Effect of early vs. late intervention with inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Chest 1995; 108:1228–1234.
- 44. Selroos OB, Niemisto M, Löfroos A. A double-blind, randomized, dose-response study with budesonide in asthma patients with short or long duration of symptoms. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(No 3 Pt 2): A627.
- O'Byrne PM, Cuddy L, Taylor DW, Birch S, Morris J, Syrotuik J. Efficacy and cost benefit of inhaled corticosteroids in patients considered to have mild asthma in primary practice. Can Respir J 1996; 3:169–175.
- Jones AH, Langdon CG, Lee PS, Lingham SA, Nankani JP, Follows RM, Tollemar U, Richardson PD. Pulmicort Turbuhaler once daily as initial prophylactic therapy for asthma. Respir Med 1994; 88:293–299.
- Campbell LM, Gooding TN, Aitchison WR, Smith N, Powell JA. Initial loading (400 μg twice daily) versus static (400 μg nocte) dose budesonide for asthma management. Int J Clin Pract 1998; 52(6):361–370.
- 48. O'Byrne PM, ed. Once Daily Corticosteroid Therapy in Asthma: Improving Compliance with Budesonide. A Seminar in Print. Drugs Supplement 1999; 58(suppl 4).
- 49. Thorsson L, Edsbäcker S, Conradsson T-B. Lung deposition of budesonide from Turbuhaler is twice that from a pressurized meter-dose inhaler (pMDI). Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1839–1844.
- 50. Godfrey S, Avital A, Rosler A, Mandelberg A, Uwyyed K. Nebulised budesonide in severe infantile asthma. Lancet 1987; (Oct 10):851–852.
- Kemp JP, Skoner DP, Szefler SJ, Walton-Bowen K, Cruz-Rivera M, Smith JA. Oncedaily budesonide inhalation suspension for the treatment of persistant asthma in infants and young children. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999; 83:231–239.
- Pauwels R, Löfdahl CG, Laitinen LA, Schouten JP, Postma DS, Pride NB, Ohlsson SV. Long term treatment with inhaled budesonide in persons with mild chronic obstructive pulmonary disease who continue smoking. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 1948–1953.
- 53. Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 1064–1069.
- 54. Källen B, Rydhstroem H, Åberg A. Congenital malformations after the use of inhaled budesonide in early pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1999; 93:392–395.
- 55. Johnson M. Pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of inhaled glucocorticoids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97:169–176.
- Würthwein G, Rehder S, Rohdewald P. Lipophilicity and receptor affinity of glucocorticoids. Pharm Ztg Wiss 1992; 137:161–167.
- Van den Bosch JMM; Westmann CJJ, Aumann J, Edsbäcker S, Tönnesson M, Selroos O. Relationship between lung tissue and blood plasma concentrations of inhaled budesonide. Biopharm Drug Dispos 1993; 14:455–459.
- Thorsson L, Thunnisen FBJM, Korn S, Carlshaf A, Edsbäcker S, Wouters EFM. Formation of fatty acid conjugates of budesonide in human lung tissue in vivo. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(3):A404.

- 59. Barnes P, Pedersen S, Busse WW. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids. New developments. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:S1–S53.
- 60. Tunek A, Sjödin K, Hallström G. Reversible formation of fatty acid esters of budesonide, an antiasthma glucocorticoid, in human lung and liver microsomes. Drug Metab Dispos 1997; 25:1311–1317.
- 61. Petersen H, Kullberg A, Edsbäcker S, Greiff L. Nasal retention of budesonide and fluticasone propionate in man: formation of airway mucosal budesonide esters in vivo. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 51:159–163.
- 62. Ryrfeldt Å, Persson G, Nilsson E. Pulmonary disposition of the potent glucocorticoid budesonide evaluated in an isolated perfused rat lung model. Biochem Pharmacol 1989; 38:17–22.
- Miller-Larsson A, Runström A, Brattsand R. Prolonged airway activity and improved selectivity of budesonide possibly due to esterification. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:1455–1461.
- 64. Wieslander E, Delander E-L, Järkelid L, Hjertberg E, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Pharmacologic importance of the reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide studied in a rat cell line in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 19:477–484.
- 65. Wieslander E, Jerre A, Delander E-L, Brattsand R. The prolonged activity of a budesonide pulse depends on its reversible esterification. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161(3):A775.
- Jönsson G, Åström A, Andersson PH. Budesonide is metabolized by cytochrome P450 3A (CYP 3A) enzymes in human liver. Drug Metab Dispos 1995; 23:137–142.
- 67. Brattsand R. The ideal steroid. Pulm Pharmacol 1999; 12:119–122.
- Miller-Larsson A, Ivarsson R, Mattsson H, Tunek A, Brattsand R. High capacity of airway/lung tissue for budesonide esterification as compared to peripheral striated muscles. Eur Respir J 1999; 14(suppl 30):195s.
- 69. Harter JG, Reddy WJ, Thorn GW. Studies on an intermittent corticosteroid regimen. N Engl J Med 1963; 269:591–596.
- Thalén A, Brattsand R. Synthesis and anti-inflammatory properties of budesonide, a new non-halogenated glucocorticoid with high local activity. Arzneim Forsch/Drug Res 1979; 29:1687–1690.
- 71. Young JM, Wagner RA, Fisk RA. Topical betamethasone 17α-valerate is an anticorticosteroid in the rat. Br J Dermatol 1978; 99:665–673.
- Axelsson B, Brattsand R, Andersson PH, Ryrfeldt Å, Thalén A. Relationship between beclomethasone-17α,21-dipropionate (BDP), beclomethasone-17α-propionate (BMP), and beclomethasone (B) as studied in human, mouse and rat tissue. Respiration 1984; 46/S1:4.
- 73. Andersson P, Axelsson B, Brattsand R, Thalén A. Fluorinated steroids. U.S. patent 5,674,861.
- Forsberg K, Ryrfeldt Å, Sörenby L. Protective effects of budesonide on lung anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea pigs: inhibition of "IgG"-mediated anaphylaxis. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):257–259.
- 75. Andersson PT, Brattsand R. Protective effects of the glucocorticoid budesonide on lung anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea pigs: inhibition of "IgE"-but not of "IgG"-mediated anaphylaxis. Br J Pharmacol 1982; 76:139–147.
- 76. Andersson PT, Brattsand R, Brange C, Källström, Stahre G. Protective effects of

budesonide on lung anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea pigs. Inhibition of "IgE"-mediated anaphylaxis. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):260–262.

- Dahlbäck M, Brattsand R. Antigen-induced bronchial anaphylaxis in actively sensitized SD rats. Effect of local treatment with anti-asthmatic drugs. Allergy 1986; 41:594-602.
- Brattsand R, Andersson PT, Wieslander E, Linden M, Axelsson B, Paulsson I. Pathophysiological characteristics of a guinea-pig model for dual bronchial obstruction. In: Hogg JC, Ellul-Micallef E, Brattsand R, eds. Glucocorticoids, Inflammation and Bronchial Hyperreactivity. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1985:51–66.
- 79. Andersson PT, Brange C, von Kogerer B, Sonmark B, Stahre G. Effect of glucocorticosteroid treatment on ovalbumin-induced IgE-mediated immediate and late allergic response in guinea pig. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1988; 87:32–399.
- Brattsand R, Källström L, Wieslander E, Andersson P, Dahlback M, Dahl R. A model for particle-induced inflammation and edema formation in the rat lung and the antiinflammatory action of the glucocorticosteroid budesonide in this model. Eur J Respir Dis 1983; 64(suppl 126):513.
- Brattsand R, Källström L, Johansson U, Dahlbäck M. Route of administration and rapid inactivation as determinants of the lung-specific actions of glucocorticosteroids. In: Hogg JC, Ellul-Micallef E, Brattsand R, eds. Glucocorticosteroids, Inflammation and Bronchial Hyperreactivity. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1985:145–153.
- Lindkvist S, Karlin M, Persson CGA, Erjefält I. Allergen challenge-induced late phase plasma exudation in rat nasal airways. Effects of budesonide and fluticasone propionate. Eur Respir J 1998; 12(suppl 28):273s.
- Fornhem C, Dahlbäck M, Kumlin M, Lundberg JM, Alving K. Effects of local and systemic budesonide on allergen-induced airway reactions in pig. Br J Pharmacol 1996; 118:989–997.
- Woolley MJ, Wattie J, Ellis R, Lane CG, Stevens WHM, Woolley KL, Dahlback M, O'Byrne P. Effect of an inhaled corticosteroid on airway eosinophils and allergen hyperresponsiveness in dogs. J Appl Physiol 1994; 77(3):1303–1308.
- Woolley MJ, Denburg JA, Ellis R, Dahlbäck M, O'Byrne P. Allergen-induced changes in bone marrow progenitors and airway responsiveness in dogs and the effects of inhaled budesonide on these parameters. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 11:600–606.
- Inman MD, Ellis R, Wattie J, Dahlbäck M, Denburg JA, O'Byrne PM. Effects of inhaled and systemic budesonide on allergen induced airway and bone marrow responses in dogs. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:442s.
- Abraham WM, Laues S, Stevenson JS, Yerger LD. Effect of an inhaled glucocorticosteroid (budesonide) on post-antigen induced increases in airway responsiveness. Bull Eur Physiopathol Respir 1986; 22:387–392.

Discussion

- **Dr. Jeffery:** You mentioned that, initially, there was mild surprise at how efficacious steroids were in the treatment of all asthma. However, there are subgroups of asthmatics who do not respond well to inhaled corticosteroid treatment they are resistant or dependent. Is there any pharmacological explanation for the apparent failure of steroids in these subgroups?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** The poor responsiveness is seen among some moderate-severe asthmatics, and such steroid insensitivity is known also in other inflammatory diseases. In most cases the poor responsiveness is not coupled to reduced receptor number or affinity of the active α -form of the receptor (but possibly by an enhanced expression of the blocking β -form of the receptor—see discussion below). The insensitivity does not comprise all glucocorticoid actions, suggesting that only some downstream actions (e.g., cytokine inhibition) are affected. An important line of future work is to see how severely inflammation (e.g., proinflammatory kinases) affects the receptor number and function, and whether these problems occur only in individuals having reduced receptor numbers and activity before the start of disease.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** In one of your slides you suggested that 25% of the amount of drug absorbed in the lung undergoes hepatic first-pass metabolism. Wouldn't you consider pulmonary absorption equivalent to an intravenous bolus where the total amount absorbed is available for systemic availability?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** As CYP4503A has a very high capacity for budesonide inactivation, the fraction undergoing hepatic first pass will be the same for both these modes of administration. After inhalation a fraction will be retained in airways-lung compartment, but as this fraction is minor it does not seem to have a major impact on the systemic activity of budesonide.
- **Dr. Okret:** Does budesonide induce Cyp3A in the liver? Can this affect side effects?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** We have no data to suggest that budesonide induces CYP3A either in vitro or in vivo.
- **Dr. Persson:** The role of inhaled GC in identifying inflammation as a cardinal feature of asthma, even the mildest forms of the disease, must not be underestimated. We have known for a century that severe asthma is characterized by advanced eosinophilic inflammation in the airway mucosa. However, it is primarily through the discovery (during the 1970s–1980s) of exceptional efficacy of GC in mild asthma, in adults and children, that we have obtained the "facts" about the basic inflammatory nature of bronchial asthma.

Part Two

USE OF INHALED STEROIDS

How Inhaled Corticosteroids Changed Asthma Therapy

WILLIAM W. BUSSE

University of Wisconsin Medical School Madison, Wisconsin

I. Introduction

In the late 1960s and early 1970s, inhaled corticosteroids became available for clinical evaluation. The experience in these trials eventually led to their use in the treatment of asthma. This represented a major advance and has subsequently revolutionized, in my mind, the treatment of asthma. Prior to the availability of inhaled corticosteroids, asthma therapy primarily involved oral and inhaled broncho-dilators. Treatment was, in large part, directed toward rescue therapy. The regular administration of asthma medications, although common, was not the usual practice, and side effects with oral bronchodilators were common.

In patients with more severe or persistent asthma, oral corticosteroid use was necessary, but these were prescribed with reluctance. The side effects associated with these medications were known, and long-term use led to significant adverse effects including weight gain, hyperglycemia, osteoporosis, and cataracts, to name but a few. Consequently, the prescribing of systemic corticosteroids was done with reluctance and limited to patients either with severe disease or at the time of an acute asthma exacerbation.

With the advent of effective, potent, inhaled corticosteroids, the need for systemic corticosteroids diminished. Inhaled corticosteroids for the treatment of

Table 1	The Legacy	of Inhaled	Corticost	teroids
---------	------------	------------	-----------	---------

Replaced oral corticosteroids	
Provided effective, safe treatment of asthma	
Provided insight into mechanisms of asthma:	
modulate inflammation	
prevent "remodeling"	
restore lung function	

asthma emerged as the primary treatment for patients with persistent disease (1).

The legacy of inhaled corticosteroids is a milestone for long-term treatment of asthma in the annals of asthma treatment (Table 1). These medications have largely replaced the need and use of oral corticosteroids for patients with persistent asthma. In addition, inhaled corticosteroids have provided an effective, safe treatment for asthma. Along with their place in the treatment of asthma, inhaled corticosteroids have also been important in clinical research efforts to understand mechanisms of asthma, particularly those related to control of inflammation. As will be discussed below, studies with inhaled corticosteroids have provided insight into mechanisms of asthma, particularly the relationship of disease severity and markers of airway inflammation. Moreover, there is emerging evidence that early intervention with inhaled corticosteroids can prevent the loss in lung function found in some patients with asthma (2, 3). Such studies raise the possibility that airway remodeling may be modulated by early intervention with inhaled corticosteroid treatment.

To appreciate the use of inhaled corticosteroids and their eminent role in the treatment of asthma, it is important to briefly review early studies into their use in the treatment of asthma. This chapter will focus on the early use of these inhaled corticosteroids in the treatment of asthma, the inference that they have been effective in the prevention of asthma morbidity, and examples that they have provided a targeted therapeutic agent whose use has given insight into mechanisms of asthma.

II. Early Trials with Inhaled Corticosteroids

In the late 1970s, the results of a number of clinical trials were published which suggested that inhaled corticosteroids were effective in the treatment of asthma. In one of the early studies, patients with long-standing oral corticosteroid–dependent asthma were identified and admitted to hospital for the evaluation of the effectiveness of inhaled corticosteroid treatment in replacing systemic

steroids (4). All of these patients had long-standing asthma and had an average daily prednisone requirement of at least 20 mg/day or 40 mg every other day. The subjects entered the hospital and were observed over a 3-day baseline period. Their dose of oral prednisone was then reduced to 5 mg/day; the subjects were begun either on inhaled triamcinolone (300 μ g q.i.d.) or placebo. Over the following 2 weeks, they were monitored closely for deterioration or improvement in lung function as well as symptoms. In patients who received the active form of therapy, there was a gradual improvement in lung function over a 4-week period (Fig. 1). In contrast, subjects who received the placebo had a gradual deterioration in lung function (mean value = 9.9%).

This study was one of the first to show the efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids in replacing systemic steroids. In those treated with active inhaled steroids, there was an average improvement in FEV_1 of 13.5% despite the discontinuation of large doses of prednisone. Furthermore, the "switch" from systemic corticosteroids to the inhaled form was safe. Of the 13 patients treated with inhaled corticosteroids, only 2 had deterioration in their lung function and had to terminate participation in the study. Although the number of patients involved was small, these results were encouraging and indicated that inhaled corticosteroids could be substituted for the systemic form.

Earlier studies had had limited success in treating asthma patients with inhaled corticosteroids. With the advent of inhaled beclomethasone, the results of such clinical trials began to show more promise. The British Thoracic and Tuberculosis Association (5) undertook a multicenter trial to determine whether beclomethasone diproprionate or inhaled betamethasone valerate was superior to placebo in patients who were taking daily doses of prednisone to control their



Figure 1 Effect of triamcinolone treatment on FEV₁. (From Ref. 4.)

asthma. In this two-phase study, patients were identified who required approximately 10 mg/day of prednisone to control their asthma. They were then begun either on placebo or one of two doses of beclomethasone, 100 and 200 µg q.i.d., or betamethasone valerate, 200 µg q.i.d., and then monitored. During the first phase of this trial, a scheduled reduction in prednisone was followed. The enrolled patients were monitored carefully as prednisone was cautiously withdrawn. Five times as many patients were withdrawn from the study while receiving placebo when compared to the inhaled corticosteroid group (p < 0.01; Table 2).

Patients then entered phase 2 of the study, either when they came off prednisone or when the study physician had halted the reduction of prednisone. Over the next 24-week study period, a significantly greater number of patients were able to remain off prednisone if they were treated with inhaled corticosteroids versus placebo (Table 3).

A number of important observations were made in these two representative studies. First, it was possible to reduce or eliminate the need for prednisone by the use of inhaled corticosteroids. This was a major advance in the treatment of asthma, because it was possible to treat more severe asthma with a safe, inhaled dose of corticosteroids and avoid adverse effects associated with systemic corticosteroid use. Second, maintenance therapy with inhaled corticosteroids was effective in preventing asthma deterioration and the need to reinstitute systemic corticosteroid use. Third, in some patients improvement in lung function occurred despite the reduction in systemic corticosteroid use. This observation raised the possibility that the mode of action of inhaled corticosteroids may have some distinct therapeutic features.

Since these early studies, large numbers of clinical trials have shown the effectiveness of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma (6-10). Their use was associated with improvement in lung function, a reduction in symptoms, a replacement for the need of systemic corticosteroids, and even an improvement in one of the features of asthma, bronchial hyperresponsiveness. As was pointed out in an editorial in *The New England Journal of Medicine* in 1993 (11), "inhaled glucocorticoid therapy is effective in patients with asthma because a drug with high topical potency is deposited directly in the airways." The editorial went on to say, that "the chemical modifications that have given inhaled glucocorticoids their favorable

 Table 2
 Patients Withdrawn Because of Treatment Failure

Reasons	<i>p</i> -value	BDP100	BDP200	BV
Poor control	16*	3	3	1

*Compared to active treatment; p < 0.01. Source: Ref. 5.

	<i>p</i> -value	BDP100	BDP200	BV
No. completing phase 2	26	31	33	41
No. remaining off prednisone	4	15	25	23
Percentage	15	48	76	56

 Table 3
 Patients Remaining Off Prednisone During Phase 2^a

BDP, beclomethasone dipropionate.

^aActive vs. placebo, p < 0.001.

Source: Ref. 5.

ratio of topical bronchial activity to systemic activity have led to compounds that are very effective in many children and adults with asthma when given in doses that cause no systemic effects . . . " (11).

Thus, the introduction of inhaled corticosteroids dramatically and effectively changed the conventional approach to asthma therapy. First, a focus and emphasis was placed upon inhaled medication with properties that modified the inflammatory component of asthma. Second, with the institution of inhaled corticosteroids, it was possible to replace, for most patients, the need for chronic use of systemic glucocorticosteroids. The obvious benefit of this approach was a reduction in side effects, which, for some individuals, were severe and debilitating. Finally, dosing of inhaled corticosteroids was adjusted to the severity of an individual patient's asthma and their response to this form of treatment.

III. The Benefits of Inhaled Corticosteroids for Asthma Complications

Asthma exacerbations are associated with increased morbidity, the possibility of death, and increased costs of health care. A study published in 1996 evaluated the impact of inhaled corticosteroids on acute asthma hospitalizations in Sweden from 1978 to 1991 (12). To accomplish this goal, the investigators evaluated the sales of inhaled corticosteroids versus hospitalizations in Sweden. To accomplish this goal, data on regional sales of inhaled corticosteroids and use of bed-days for asthma in 14 Swedish county councils for the period 1978–1991 were used. Drug sales were measured as defined daily doses (DDD) and related to the total population within each council.

Beginning in the late 1970s and early 1980s, there was an increase in the frequency with which these medications were prescribed. By 1991, there had been nearly a 14-fold increase in sales of inhaled steroids in the Sweden areas (Fig. 2). Parallel evaluations of hospitalizations in these districts revealed a drop in the need for hospitalization (Fig. 3). Although this study did not directly evaluate the influence of inhaled corticosteroids on need for asthma hospitalizations, the



Figure 2 Sales of inhaled corticosteroids in defined daily doses per 1000 inhabitants. (From Ref. 12.)

correlative events, i.e., the rise in inhaled corticosteroid prescriptions versus the fall in hospitalizations, indicate a possible "cause-and-effect" relationship.

The authors indicate that the results of their study support their hypothesis—there is a correlation between the sales of inhaled corticosteroids and improved asthma, as measured by the number of bed days in acute inpatient facilities. As the authors also indicate, the causal relationship between these two events needs to be validated by appropriate modeling of their interactions. Nonetheless, these novel observations strongly suggested a correlation between the change in prescribing habits and one marker of asthma morbidity—need for hospitalization.

In another study, Blais et al. (13) compared first treatment choices of inhaled corticosteroid with theophylline. In a large case-controlled study, a cohort of 13,563 newly diagnosed patients were first identified. The investigators compared the first-time users of inhaled corticosteroids with first-time users of theophylline as to their ability to prevent hospitalizations for asthma. The authors were able to demonstrate that there was a 40% reduction in the need for hospitalizations in those patients who received regular use of inhaled corticosteroids versus theophylline over the first 12 months of treatment. If, in contrast, the use of inhaled steroids was irregular, there was no reduction in the need for hospitalization. Hospitalization for asthma is a well-recognized indicator of more severe asthma. As Blais et al. (13) were able to demonstrate, treatment with inhaled corticosteroids within the year of asthma recognition not only reduced a major cost of asthma hospitalization, but, as suggested by the authors, may control factors that could lead to more severe or persistent disease.



Figure 3 Number of bed-days per 1000 inhabitants in acute somatic care due to asthma. (From Ref. 12.)

IV. Benefit of the Addition of Inhaled Corticosteroids

A recent publication by Rowe and colleagues (14) evaluated the effect of the addition of inhaled budesonide, 1600 µg/day, to systemic corticosteroids for patients who had been treated for severe asthma in the emergency room. In this study, patients who were discharged from the emergency room following acute care were given 50 mg/day of prednisone for 7 days plus either placebo or budesonide (1600 μ g/day). Three weeks after discharge from the emergency room, 12.8% of those who had received budesonide had a relapse of asthma versus 24.5% on placebo (p = 0.649). The evaluation of these patients indicated that following 7 days of prednisone and either placebo or budesonide, pulmonary functions were similar. However, the need for inhaled beta agonists, asthma symptoms, and quality of life (i.e., activities) were improved in those given inhaled corticosteroids. These results indicate the added benefit of inhaled corticosteroids to a short course of systemic corticosteroids for the treatment of acute asthma. Although not a component of this study, the results of Rowe et al. (14) raise the possibility that the addition of inhaled corticosteroids can improve those factors that contribute to the instability of asthma.

V. Inhaled Corticosteroids as Research Tools for Mechanisms of Asthma

Inhaled corticosteroids can modify many aspects of the inflammatory process. Using this information, a number of investigators have evaluated effects of inhaled corticosteroids on parameters of asthma. These studies have provided insight not only into how inhaled corticosteroids may be effective in the treatment of asthma, but also into the mechanisms by which inflammation occurs and is regulated. For example, Fahy and Boushey (15) evaluated the effect of low-dose beclomethasone $(336 \mu g/day)$ on asthma control and sputum markers of inflammation. In this study, 24 subjects with mild asthma were identified and treated either with placebo or budesonide. During these treatment periods, lung function was measured and sputum was collected for analysis of inflammatory markers. As expected, inhaled corticosteroids (beclomethasone 336 μ g/day) led to an improvement in the FEV₁ (Fig. 4). The investigators also collected sputum supplies. When treated with inhaled beclomethasone, there was a decrease in sputum eosinophils (Fig. 5). These data raise the possibility that improvement in lung function with inhaled corticosteroids is associated with the suppression of the eosinophilic inflammatory response in the airway. One interpretation is that the action of inhaled corticosteroids on inflammation in asthma is the reduction of eosinophils in the airway, which then is associated with a resolution of airway inflammation and improvement in airflow obstruction.

In classical studies by Haahtela and colleagues (3,16) in Finland, the investigators evaluated the effectiveness of early treatment with budesonide (1200 μ g/ day) for newly diagnosed asthma versus inhaled beta agonist alone for over a 2-year period. The results of their initial study were published in 1991 and indicated that inhaled budesonide was more effective than beta agonist alone and led to significant improvement in lung function (16). Laitinen and colleagues (17) obtained



Figure 4 The effect of beclomethasone (336 µg/d) vs. placebo on FEV₁. *p < 0.05 from baseline, but not significantly different from corresponding change in placebo. [†]p < 0.05 from baseline and from the corresponding change in placebo group. (From Ref. 15.)



Figure 5 The effect of beclomethasone (336 μ g/d) vs. placebo on sputum eosinophils. *p < 0.05, significantly different from baseline but not significantly different from corresponding change in placebo group. [†]p < 0.05, significantly different from the corresponding change in placebo group but not significantly different from baseline. (From Ref. 15.)

biopsies prior to and following inhaled corticosteroid or beta agonist treatment. They found that terbutaline had no significant effects on mast cells and eosinophils in tissues. In contrast, patients who received $1200 \ \mu g/day$ of budesonide had a significant reduction in mucosal mast cells and eosinophils. These studies are further evidence that not only do inhaled corticosteroids improve lung function, but their use is also associated with an inhibition of cellular markers of inflammation, i.e., mast cells and eosinophils.

In an extension of the original study, Haahtela and colleagues (3) extended the initial study with the following design. First, the patients who received 1200 μ g/day of budesonide were given either a reduced dose, 400 μ g/day, or placebo. Second, those individuals who had been treated with an inhaled beta agonist alone for 2 years were begun on inhaled budesonide (1200 μ g/day).

A number of key findings emerged from this study. First, although there was a reduction in peak flow values on the lower dose of budesonide, measurements of lung function were generally stable. In those previously treated budesonide patients who were given an inhaled placebo, there was a deterioration in measurement of peak flow. Finally, the institution of budesonide at 1200 μ g/day improved lung function in those patients previously treated with terbutaline alone. However, the improvement in lung function never achieved values noted when inhaled corticosteroid had been given initially with the diagnosis of asthma.

A number of conclusions are apparent from this study. First, it is possible to reduce the inhaled corticosteroid dose in individuals whose lung functions are stable and symptom control is good; the reduction does not necessarily lead to deterioration in asthma control. In contrast, stopping inhaled corticosteroids, even after 2 years of treatment, can be associated with a fall in lung function. These

findings indicate that inhaled corticosteroids control features of asthma during use, but inhaled corticosteroids do not "cure" the patient's asthma. Finally, if there is a delay in the initiation of effective anti-inflammatory therapy, "permanent changes," or remodeling, may occur such that a loss of lung function may be a consequence. This latter finding raises the possibility that there is a "window of opportunity" during which the initiation of inhaled corticosteroids is critical to achieve optimal control.

VI. Summary

Inhaled corticosteroids have revolutionized the treatment of asthma. It is now appreciated that therapy directed toward airway inflammation is a critical component of treatment for persistent disease (1). Studies with inhaled corticosteroids have found them to be effective, safe in usual doses, and capable of modifying components of airway inflammation. We have learned a considerable amount about not only effective asthma treatment with inhaled corticosteroids but also, from a knowledge of their immunopharmacological action, how mechanisms of inflammation in asthma can be controlled. In the 25-30 years that inhaled corticosteroids have changed considerably. Our insight into these "new" concepts, e.g., inflammation, persistent disease, and airway remodeling, has been aided by observations with inhaled corticosteroids. We are still learning, and as the immunopharmacological mechanisms of corticosteroids are further understood, new knowledge about asthma will emerge. In the meantime, with the inhaled corticosteroids we have available now, an effective treatment for asthma is possible.

References

- Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma. Expert Panel Report 2. NIH Publication No. 97–4051, 1997.
- 2. Selroos O, Pietinalho A, Lofroos AB, Riska H. Effect of early vs late intervention with inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Chest 1995; 108(5):1228–1234.
- Haahtela T, Jarvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K et al. Effects of reducing or discontinuing inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:700–705.
- Kriz RJ, Chemlik F, doPico G, Reed CE. A short-term double-blind trial of aerosol triamcinolone acetonide in steroid-dependent patients with severe asthma. Chest 1976; 69:455–460.
- A controlled trial of inhaled corticosteroids in patients receiving prednisone tablets for asthma. British Thoracic and Tuberculosis Association. Br J Dis Chest 1976; 70(2):95–103.

- 6. Bel EH, Timmers MC, Zwinderman AH, Dijkman JH, Sterk PJ. The effect of inhaled corticosteroids on the maximal degree of airway narrowing to methacholine in asthmatic subjects. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143:109–113.
- Gaddie J, Reid IW, Skinner C, Petrie GR, Sinclair DJ, Palmer KN. Aerosol beclomethasone dipropionate: a dose-response study in chronic bronchial asthma. Lancet 1973; 2:280–281.
- Cayton RM, Nunn AJ. Double-blind trial comparing two dosage schedules of beclomethasone dipropionate aerosols with a placebo in chronic bronchial asthma. Br J Dis Chest 1979; 73:121–132.
- 9. Smith MJ, Hodson ME. High-dose beclomethasone inhaler in the treatment of asthma. Lancet 1983; 1:265–269.
- 10. Laursen LC, Taudorf E, Weeke B. High-dose inhaled budesonide in treatment of severe steroid-dependent asthma. Eur J Respir Dis 1986; 68:19–28.
- Utiger RD. Differences between inhaled and oral glucocorticoid therapy. N Engl J Med 1993; 329(23):1731–1733.
- Gerdtham UG, Hertzman P, Jonsson B, Boman G. Impact of inhaled corticosteroids on acute asthma hospitalization in Sweden 1978 to 1991. Med Care 1996; 34(12): 1188–1198.
- 13. Blais L, Suissa S, Boivin JF, Ernst P. First treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and the prevention of admissions to hospital for asthma. Thorax 1998; 53(12): 1025–1029.
- Rowe BH, Bota GW, Fabris L, Therrien SA, Milner RA, Jacono J. Inhaled budesonide in addition to oral corticosteroids to prevent asthma relapse following discharge from the emergency department: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1999; 281(22):2119–2126.
- 15. Fahy JV, Boushey HA. Effect of low-dose beclomethasone dipropionate on asthma control and airway inflammation. Eur J Respir Dis 1998; 11(6):1240–1247.
- Haahtela T, Jarvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K et al. Comparison of a beta₂-agonist, terbutaline, with an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, in newly detected asthma. N Engl J Med 1991; 325:388–392.
- Laitinen LA, Laitinen A, Haahtela T. A comparative study of the effects of an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, and a β₂-agonist, terbutaline, on airway inflammation in newly diagnosed asthma: a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:32–42.

Discussion

- **Dr. Szefler:** You presented an array of effects of asthma and the corresponding effect of inhaled corticosteroids. If you have one "marker" to pick in measuring the course of disease and target which one would it be?
- **Dr. Busse:** That is a difficult question. Clearly, a measure of lung function is important. However, that is not the entire story. You would like an index of airway inflammation and a measure to assess exacerbation presentation. The assessment must be multifactorial.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** One thing the use of inhaled steroids has taught us is that there is a substantial hidden morbidity in mild asthmatics. This group of patients shows marked improvements once they are treated with inhaled steroids. Their quality of life improves, and they have fewer exacerbations. So mild asthma should be taken seriously.
- **Dr. Hamid:** Do you think that the introduction of inhaled steroids has focused our research? Do you agree that other mechanisms could be important, like smooth muscle function?
- **Dr. Busse:** We have focused on inflammatory cells because they can be measured. We need to look at the other tissues, like airway smooth muscle, epithelium, and connective tissue.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** When does bronchial hyperreactivity evolve? Does it precede antigen-dependent events early in life, or is it driven by antigen exposure? In some countries, mortality has increased during the era of inhaled steroid availability. Are the patients who are dying not using ICS?
- **Dr. Busse:** Data indicate that ICS decrease asthma mortality. In the United States, ICS use is still low. Airway hyperresponsiveness is caused by many factors. It precedes antigen challenge but is increased by airway inflammation.

Side Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids

PAUL M. O'BYRNE and DILINI VETHANAYAGAM

McMaster University and St Joseph's Hospital Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

I. Introduction

Since the initial identification of corticosteroids as effective treatment for asthma (1-3), inhaled corticosteroids have evolved into the most important and useful drugs currently available to treat asthma (4-7). In addition, inhaled corticosteroids have been used to treat a variety of other pulmonary disorders including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, sarcoidosis, allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, and croup. Inhaled corticosteroids were initially developed in the 1950s, and their clinical benefits in asthma were first demonstrated by Gelfand (2). The development of topically potent inhaled corticosteroids along with their markedly superior side effect profile has led to these agents being the preferred route for the treatment of patients with asthma as well as a minority of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease who demonstrate a reversible component to their airway obstruction. Indeed, inhaled corticosteroids are now recommended as first-line therapy for persistent asthma in national and international guidelines (4–7).
II. Inhaled Corticosteroid Preparations

Beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) was introduced as a topically active, lipophilic, inhaled cortcosteroid in the early 1970s (8). Newer lipophilic glucocorticosteroids followed including budesonide (BUD), fluticasone propionate (FP), and, most recently, mometasone. Each of these had increased glucocorticoid receptor specificity and more efficient first-pass hepatic metabolism, resulting in very low oral bioavailability.

There are currently six topically active glucocorticosteroids available by the inhaled route for the treatment of asthma: BDP, triamcinalone acetonide, flunisolide, BUD, FP, and mometasone. These drugs have used chlorofluorocarbons (CFC) as propellants in pressurized metered dose inhalers (pMDIs) or dry power inhalers (DPIs) to deliver the inhaled corticosteroid to the lungs. More recently, inhaled corticosteroids have been developed that use hydrofluoroalkanes (HFA) as the propellant in pMDIs to replace the ozone-depleting CFC pMDIs that have been in use until now. Their properties are different from the previous formulations, most notably because of their more peripheral lung deposition and possibly increased systemic absorption.

III. Side Effects of Corticosteroids

Despite the wealth of evidence demonstrating the marked efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids in the treatment of asthma, which is unmatched by any other treatment, concerns about the side effects of inhaled corticosteroids have limited their prescription by many physicians and their use by many patients. This is because of concerns that the well-documented serious side effects of the regular use of even low doses of systemic corticosteroids to treat many disease, including severe asthma, may also occur with inhaled corticosteroids.

There is no doubt that inhaled corticosteroids are absorbed across the lung. Corticosteroids are not metabolized by the lungs, and, therefore, every molecule that is deposited in the lungs moves across into the systemic circulation and can exert effects beyond the lungs. In addition, a proportion of an inhaled corticosteroid dose is deposited in the oropharynx, is swallowed, and enters the portal circulation. The magnitude of the orophyrangeal deposition mainly depends on the inhaler device used, and the effects of the absorbed fraction depends on the efficiency of the first-pass hapatic metabolism of the corticosteroid, which is different for the various inhaled corticosteroids (9). This is low for BDP (approximately 40%), which means that a substantial amount of the swallowed (and clinically useless) BDP will also enter the systemic circulation. The hepatic first-pass metabolism is much better for budesonide (10%), FP (<1%), and mometasone (<0.1). The side effects of inhaled glucocorticosteroids are dose-related, with little or no evidence of clinically relevant systemic unwanted effects at doses of

 $<400 \ \mu g/day$ of beclomethasone or budesonide in children and of $<1000 \ \mu g/day$ in adults (10). These doses of inhaled corticosteroids are at the top of the efficacy dose-response curve for inhaled corticosteroids, which means that all the available inhaled corticosteroids have an excellent therapeutic ratio (the ratio between efficacy and side effects) (Fig. 1). This chapter will consider the side effects of inhaled cortcosteroids as those that are troublesome (mainly topical in the orophyranx), but which are not dangerous to patients, those that are systemic and potentially dangerous, but have been shown to have no clinical import, and finally those for which some clinical concerns remain.

A. Topical Side Effects

The most common side effects that do occur with inhaled corticosteroids are local side effects in the oropharynx.

Oral Candidiasis

Clinically obvious oral candidiasis occurs in 5-10% of adult asthmatics treated with inhaled corticosteroids (11) but is much less common in children, where it occurs in only 1% (12). However, positive oropharyngeal cultures for candida, not associated with clinical symptoms, have been demonstrated in up to 45% of



Figure 1 Schematic dose-response curves for the wanted and unwanted effects of inhaled corticosteroids. The range in which the benefit:risk ratio is favorable is that at which the wanted effects in the lungs increase steeply with dose while the unwanted systemic effects increase gradually. At higher doses, the increase in risk greatly outweighs the slight remaining increase in benefit. This relationship appears to vary for different inhaled corticosteroids. (From Ref. 9.)

children and 70% of adults using corticosteroids (11). The most usual symptoms are pain and discomfort in the mouth, which can be associated with dysphagia. The risk of clinically obvious oral candidiasis is increased by the concomitant use of antibiotics with inhaled corticosteroids and is greatly reduced by the use of a large-volume spacer or Aerochamber[®] to deliver the inhaled corticosteroid (13) and by mouth rinsing after use. Oral candidasis is easily treated with 3-4 days of treatment with nystatin swished around the mouth and swallowed twice daily.

Dysphonia

Dysphonia, a more common topical side effect of inhaled corticosteroids, has been reported to occur in up to 30% of patients (11). It is more common in patients who use their voices a lot, is usually reversible with discontinuation, and is much more troublesome in patients who are using their voice to earn their income. Dysphonia is reported to be a much less frequent topical side effect if the inhaled corticosteroid is delivered by the DPI Turbuhaler[®] (14).

B. Systemic Side Effects

There is a vast literature on the measurement of systemic side effects of inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic patients. While several different indices indicating systemic activity can be measured, their clinical consequences are much less clear. Clinically relevant systemic unwanted effects should ideally be studied within the context of controlled, long-term clinical trials, which use clinically relevant doses in patients whose disease severities and ages are similar to the groups in which the drugs would normally be prescribed. Such studies require large numbers of patients and are difficult to conduct. As a substitute, the systemic effects of the various inhaled corticosteroids are often studied in short-term, cross-over studies on healthy volunteers or patients with mild disease who will tolerate treatment with placebo for a certain period. A recent study suggested that systemic unwanted effects are higher in healthy volunteers than in asthmatics (15). Therefore, the clinical relevance of findings from such studies for patients with moderate and severe asthma is not known. Thus, while all physicians who treat asthmatics should be conscious of the potential for the development of the types of adverse effects that occur in patients who use corticosteroids to treat asthma or other diseases, the reality is that none of these have been documented, as yet, to be clinically important. For these reasons the systemic side effects of inhaled corticosteroids include those that can be measured and for which there is no evidence of clinical import and those about which some clinical concerns remain.

Effects on the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis

Evaluation of the systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids and studies of comparisons between inhaled corticosteroids have mainly focused on the effects on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Measures of HPA axis function provide the most sensitive and easily measured markers of systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. The clinical significance of small alterations in HPA axis function measured under controlled, artificial laboratory conditions is, however, doubtful. Some reduction in cortisol secretion merely reflects the normal functioning (feedback) of the HPA axis control mechanisms in response to exogenous steroid rather than a clinically significant abnormality, and the total corticosteroid exposure of the body may remain within the physiological range. Significant laboratory findings are, therefore, not predictive of important clinical effects.

The effects of corticosteroids on the HPA axis can be measured in a number of different ways, each assessing either basal levels or dynamic stimulation tests using corticotropin, corticotropin-releasing hormone, or a synthetic analog to assess adrenal cortical reserve in times of physiological stress (16). The most commonly used, easiest to obtain, but least sensitive, method has been the measurement of early morning serum cortisol levels. Much more sensitive measurements of the effects of excess glucocorticosteroids on the HPA axis are 24-hour urinary cortisol for basal levels (17) or the short tetracosactrin (ACTH) stimulation test (18) for dynamic stimulation.

All currently available inhaled corticosteroids can produce suppressive effects on the HPA axis, and the effect is dose-dependent; however, the different inhaled glucocorticosteroids are not equal with regard to their effects on the HPA axis (Fig. 2). For example, in children, a dose-dependent effect of urinary cortisols has been demonstrated with doses of BDP of 200-800 µg/day (19). By contrast, doses of BUD of 400 µg/day do not cause any effect on urinary cortisols, even when used for up to 1 year (20). In adults, many studies have examined the effects of ICS on HPA axis function, and there is no convincing evidence that doses of BDP of $<1500 \mu g/day$ and BUD of $<1600 \mu g/day$ have any measurable effect on the HPA axis (21). In addition, the effects of budesonide and fluticasone on HPA axis function depend on the inhaler devices compared and on whether the assessment is made after single or repeated dosing. The systemic potency ratio between fluticasone pMDI and budesonide pMDI on a µg for µg basis has usually been around 3:1 (i.e., three times as much budesonide is required to produce the same degree of systemic effect as fluticasone) (22,23). For the DPIs this ratio seems to be around 1.5:1 in adults (24) and around 1:1 in children (25). Also, higher doses of fluticisone demonstrated a twofold greater effect on the HPA axis when compared to higher doses of triamcinolone acetonide in adult asthmatics (26).

The measurable effects seen at higher doses clearly indicate systemic activity of the ICS but are of questionable clinical significance. There are only two case reports of clinically evident adrenal insufficiency in patients, treated with only inhaled glucocorticosteroids on withdrawal of the ICS. These were an adult who was treated with a very high dose of inhaled BUD (6400 μ g/day(27) and a child who was using much lower doses (250 μ g/day)(28).



Figure 2 Effects of increasing doses of four different inhaled corticosteroid preparations of adrenal cortisol output expressed as % supression from baseline measurements. FP: Fluticasone propionate; BDP: beclomethasone dipropionate; BUD: budesonide; TAA: triam-cinalone acetonide. (From Ref. 16.)

Bone Demineralization and Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is an important complication of the use of ingested glucocorticosteroids, particularly in high-risk patients, such as postmenopausal women (29). This occurs through an increase in bone resorption and a decrease in bone formation and results in increased risk of fractures, especially hip and spine. Inhaled corticosteroids have been demonstrated to have effects on bone metabolism, although there is little evidence that, at the conventionally used doses, they cause osteoporosis and no evidence that they cause increased risk of fractures (30).

The effects of ICS on bone metabolism have been demonstrated by measuring serum osteocalcin, which indicates changes in bone formation, and urinary hydroxyproline, measured after a 12-hour fast, which increases with increased bone resorption. Pyridium cross-links in urine are another measure of bone resorption, which has the advantage over urinary hydroxyproline of not being diet dependent; however, to date, the effects of ICS on this latter measure of bone resorption has not been reported.

The effects of BDP and BUD on serum osteocalcin and urinary hydroxyproline have been studied in adults. Both have been shown to influence serum osteocalcin levels in a dose-dependent manner (31), but only BDP increases urinary hydroxyproline excretion at doses up to 2000 μ g/day. More important than resorption or formation markers may be the interplay of the combination. In children, doses of BUD of $< 800 \,\mu\text{g/day}$ (32) and of FP of 200 $\mu\text{g/day}$ (32) have no effect on any biochemical marker of bone turnover.

Bone densitometry has been measured in several studies in adults during periods of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids for up to 3 years. In one study adult asthmatics were taking varying doses of inhaled BDP (mean dose $630 \mu g/day$)(33), while in another they were taking a mean dose of BDP or budesonide of 980 μg for 3 years. In addition in the EUROSCOP trial (34), evaluating the efficacy of inhaled budesonide in chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD), older patients (mean age 52 years) were treated with inhaled budesonide 800 $\mu g/day$ for 3 years. In none of these studies was there any evidence that these patients had increases in bone loss. Finally, bone density has been followed longitudinally in a study of children using inhaled budesonide (mean dose 500 $\mu g/day$) over a mean of 4.5 years of treatment (35). No evidence was demonstrated for loss of bone density (Fig. 3). Also, to date there are no studies that have demonstrated that these biochemical markers of bone turnover are associated with increased risk of bone fracture.



Figure 3 Individual bone mineral density measured using dual energy x-ray absorptionmetry (DEXA scan) in 157 asthmatic shildren treated continuously for 3-6 years with inhaled budesonide at a mean daily dose of 504 µg/day. For comparison, the 95% prediction interval and mean regression lines from measurements in 111 children with asthma who had never received treatment with inhaled corticosteroids are shown. Stars indicate 3 children who had received a diet with insufficient amounts of calcium. (From Ref. 35.)

Glaucoma

An increased risk of open angle glaucoma has been reported in one case-control study in patients on high doses of BDP or BUD (36). The increased odds ratio (OR 1.44) was only seen in patients who were currently taking high doses of inhaled corticosteroids of $>1600 \mu g/day$. Further prospective studies are needed to confirm this finding.

Posterior Subcapsular Cataracts

The fact that posterior subcapsular cataracts occur more frequently in patients taking ingested corticoseroids greatly complicates the issue of whether they occur with increased frequency in patients using inhaled glucocorticosteroids. All prospective studies in adults (37) and children (38) suggest that, once the confounding effect of ingested glucocorticosteroids is removed, there is no evidence that inhaled glucocorticosteroids increase the risk of developing posterior subcapsular cataracts. Two recent case-controlled studies have, however, indicated that high inhaled doses of BDP is associated with a slightly greater risk of posterior subcapsular cataracts in older patients (39,40). These studies did not, however, stratify for the known confounding risk of allergy for cataract development in these populations (41).

Growth Retardation in Children

The concern that the use of inhaled corticosteroids will cause growth retardation in children has greatly limited their use in children. The studies that have examined this issue are reviewed in another chapter of this book.

Skin Thinning and Easy Bruising

Corticosteroids applied topically to the skin cause skin thinning and atrophy. This is because the corticosteroid remains on the skin for several hours. By contrast, inhaled corticosteroids are rapidly absorbed across the airway mucosa and are unlikely to have this effect on the airway mucosa. Indeed, studies of airway biopsies of asthmatics who have been using inhaled corticosteroids for months or years have not demonstrated any evidence of airway mucosal atrophy (42), but rather repair of the epithelial damage that is a characteristic feature of asthma (43). However, skin thinning and bruising do occur as a dose-dependent systemic side effect of inhaled corticosteroid use, the latter related to increased capillary fragility. It is rare at daily doses of $<800 \mu g/day$ of BDP or its equivalent, and its incidence increases with age and duration of treatment. In one study of older patients on high doses of BDP, the prevalence of easy bruising was 47% for those on inhaled glucocorticosteroids and 22% for those who were not (44). Also, in the recently published EUROSCOPE trial, a higher incidence of skin bruising was reported in older patients using budesonide 800 $\mu g/day$ for 3 years (34).

Effects on Diabetes Mellitus Control

Systemic corticosteroids can cause loss of diabetes mellitus control and consequent diabetic coma. One case report has demonstrated mild loss of diabetic control when a patient was treated with high doses of FP (45). The loss of control did not happen when doses were reduced to $500 \mu g/day$. There have not been any reports of diabetic coma associated with the use of inhaled corticosteroids.

Risks of Lung Infection

Lung infections are not increased in patients using inhaled glucocorticosteroids. Also, inhaled glucocorticosteroids do not increase the risks of reactivation of pulmonary tuberculosis, and therefore prophylactic isoniazid treatment is not needed when inhaled glucocorticosteroids are used in patients with inactive pulmonary tuberculosis. However, it is prudent to be more observant for reactivation of pulmonary tuberculosis particularly in endemic areas of the world. There is one case report of laryngeal aspergillosis developing during use of inhaled corticosteroids (46). This suggests that careful evaluation of persistent hoarseness involve direct observation of the vocal cords.

Steroid Psychosis

Psychosis may occur in as high as 2% of patients treated with systemic corticosteroids and has been reported to occur very occasionally in patients taking inhaled corticosteroids. A total of eight patients have been reported thus far who developed symptoms within days of being treated with either inhaled BDP or budesonide (47,48). The psychosis resolved promptly after stopping the inhaled glucocorticosteroid.

IV. Conclusions

Inhaled corticosteroids are the mainstay of the treatment of persistent asthma. Their systemic unwanted effects have been the focus of extensive research since their introduction in 1972. The availability of topically potent corticosteroids, with effective first-pass metabolism in the liver, has ensured that the efficacy obtained with the doses usually needed for the optimal management of asthma is not associated with clinically relevant unwanted effects in almost all patients. The advent of CFC-free formulations in the late 1990s brings a new group of inhaled corticosteroids among us, with vastly different properties from their predecessors. Further studies of these compounds relating to their degree of systemic absorption and consequent adverse effects are awaited.

References

- 1. Carryer HM, Koelshe GA, Prickman LE, et al. The effect of cortisone on bronchial asthma and hay fever occurring in subjects sensitive to ragweed pollen. J Allergy 1950; 21:282–287.
- 2. Gelfand ML. Administration of cortisone by the aerosol method in the treatment of bronchial asthma. N Engl J Med 1951; 245:293–294.
- 3. Medical Research Council. Controlled trial of effects of cortisone acetate in status asthmaticus. Lancet 1956; 2:803-806.
- National Asthma Education and Prevention Program. Expert Panel Report 2: Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma. Publication No. 97-4051. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, 1997.
- Global Initiative for Asthma. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention. NHLBI/WHO workshop report. Publication No. 95-3659. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, 1995.
- 6. Ernst P, Fitzgerald JM, Spier S. Canadian asthma consensus conference summary of recommendations. Can Respir J 1996; 3:89-100.
- 7. British Thoracic Society. The British guidelines on asthma management 1995 review and position statement. Thorax 1997; 52 (suppl 1):S1–21.
- Morrow-Brown H. The introduction and early development of inhaled steroid therapy. In: Mygind N, Clark TJH, eds. Topical Steroid Treatment for Asthma and Rhinitis. London: Balliere Tindall, 1980:66–76.
- 9. Pedersen S, O'Byrne PM. A comparison of the efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Allergy 1997; 52 (suppl 39):1–34
- 10. Barnes PJ, Pedersen S, Busse WW. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids: new developments. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:S1–S53.
- Toogood JH, Jennings B, Greenway RW, Chuang L. Candidiasis and dysphonia complicating beclomethasone treatment of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1980; 65:145–153.
- Shaw NJ, Edmunds AT. Inhaled beclomethasone and oral candidiasis. Arch Dis Child 1986; 61:788–790.
- Toogood JH, Baskerville JC, Jennings B, Lefcoe NM, Johansson S-A. Use of spacers to facilitate inhaled corticosteroid treatment of asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984; 129:723–729.
- Selroos O, Backman R, Forsen K-O, Lofroos A-B, Niemisto M, Pietinalho A, Aikas C, Riska H. Local side effects during a 4 year treatment with inhaled corticosteroids—a comparison between pressurized metered-dose inhalers and Turbuhaler. Allergy 1994; 49:888–890.
- 15. Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Moss J, Horton J, Ventresca GP, Brown A, Field E, Harding SM, Wire P, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate inhaled from the Diskhaler[®] and the Diskus[®] after repeat doses in healthy subjects and asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:s505.
- 16. Lipworth BJ. Systemic adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159:941–955.
- 17. Boulet L-P, Cockcroft DW, Toogood J, Lacasse Y, Baskerville J, Hargreave FE. Com-

parative assessment of safety and efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids: report of a committee of the Canadian Thoracic Society. Eur Respir J 1998; 11:1194–1210.

- Brown PH, Blundell G, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Screening for hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis suppression in asthmatics taking high dose inhaled corticosteroids. Respir Med 1991; 85:511–516.
- Bisgaard H, Damkjaer Nilsen M, Andersen B. Adrenal function in children with bronchial asthma treated with beclomethasone dipropionate or budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 80:213–217.
- Lofdahl C-G, Mellstrand T, Svedmyr N. Glucocorticoids and asthma. Studies of resistance and systemic effects of glucocorticoids. Eur J Respir Dis 1984; 65:69–77.
- 21. Johansson SA, Andersson K-E, Brattsand R, Gruvstad E, Hedner P. Topical and systemic glucocorticoid potencies of budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate in man. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1982; 22:523–529.
- 22. Boorsma M, Andersson N, Larsson P, Ullman A. Assessment of the relative systematic potency of inhaled fluticasone and budesonide. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:1427–1432.
- 23. Clark D, Cargill RI, Lipworth BJ. Comparative adrenal suppression with inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate in adult asthmatic patients. Thorax 1996; 51:262–266.
- Grahnen A, Brundin RM, Ling-Andersson A, Lonnebro A, Eckernas SA. The systemic potency of fluticasone propionate from the Diskhaler vs budesonide from Turbuhaler. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: A338.
- 25. Hoffman-Streb A, L'Allemand D, Niggemann B, Buttner P, Wahn U. Adrenocortical function in children with bronchial asthma under fluticasone treatment. Monatsschr Kinderheikd 1993; 141:508–512.
- 26. Wilson AM, McFarlane LC, Lipworth BJ. Dose-response effect for adrenal supression with repeated twice daily fluticasone propionate and triamcinolone acetonide in adult asthmatics. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:1274–1277.
- 27. Wong J, Black P. Acute adrenal insufficiency associated with high dose inhaled steroids. Br Med J 1992; 304:1415–1416.
- Zwaan CM, Odink RJH, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Dankert-Roelse JE, Bokma JA. Acute adrenal insufficiency after discontinuation of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. Lancet 1992; 340:1289–1290.
- 29. Reid DM, Nicholl JJ, Smith MA, Higgins B, Tothill P, Nuki G. Corticosteroids and bone mass in asthma: comparisons with rheumatoid arthritis and polymyalgia rheumatica. Br Med J 1986; 293:1463–1466.
- Toogood JH. Side effects of inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:705–713.
- Puolijoki H, Lippo K, Salmi J, Risteli J, Tala E. Does high dose inhaled beclomethasone (BDP) affect calcium metabolism? Eur Respir J 1991; 4:483s.
- 32. Birkebaek NH, Esberg G, Andersen K, Wolthers O, Hassager C. Bone and collagen turnover during treatment with inhaled dry powder budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate. Arch Dis Child 1995; 73:524–527.
- Wolthers O, Hansen M, Juul A, Niehörster M, Nielsen H, Pedersen S. Knemometry, urine cortisol excretion, and measures of the insulin-like growth factor axis and collagen turnover in children treated with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. Pediatr Res 1997; 41:44–50.

- Pauwels RA, Lofdahl C-G, Laitinen LA, Schouen JP, Postma DS, Pride NB, Ohlssen S. Long-tern treatment with inhaled budesonide in persons with mild chronic obstuctive pulmonary disease who continue smoking. European Respiratory Society Study of Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:1948–1953.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Bone mineral density in children with asthma receiving longterm treatment with inhaled budesonide. Am J Respir Crit Care Md 1998; 157:178–183.
- 36. Garbe E, LeLorier J, Boivin J, Suissa S. Inhaled and nasal glucocorticoids and the risks of ocular hypertension or open-angle glaucoma. JAMA 1997; 277:722–727.
- 37. Toogood JH, Markov AE, Baskerville JC, Dyson C. Association of ocular cataracts with inhaled and oral steroid therapy during long-term treatment of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993; 91:571–579.
- Simons FE, Persaud MP, Gillespie CA, Cheang M, Shuckett EP. Absence of posterior subcapsular cataracts in young patients treated with inhaled corticosteroids. Lancet 1993; 342:776–778.
- 39. Cumming RG, Mitchell P, Leeder SR. Use of inhaled corticosteroids and the risk of cataracts. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:8–14
- 40. Garbe E, Suissa S, LeLorier J. Association of inhaled corticosteroid use with cataract extraction in elderly patients. JAMA 1998; 280:539–543.
- 41. Hutnik CM, Nicols BD. Cataracts in systemic diseases and syndromes. Curr Opin Opthalmol 1998; 9:14–19.
- 42. Broder I, Tarlo SM, Davies GM, Thomas P, Leznoff A, Sturgess J, Baumal R, Mintz S, Corey PN. Safety and efficacy of long-term treatment with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate in steroid-dependent asthma. Can Med Assoc J 1987; 136:129–135.
- 43. Laitinen LA, Laitinen A, Haahtela T. A comparative study of the effects of an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, and of an inhaled B₂-agonist, terbutaline, on airway inflammation in newly diagnosed asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:32–42.
- 44. Mak VHF, Melcor R, Spiro SG. Easy bruising as a side-effect of inhaled corticosteroids. Eur Resp Jr. 1992; 5:1068–1074.
- 45. Faul JL, Tormey W, Tormey V, Burke C. High dose inhaled corticosteroids and dose dependent loss of diabetic control. BMJ 1998; 317:1491.
- 46. Fairfax AJ, David V, Douce G. Laryngeal aspergillosis following high dose inhaled fluticasone therapy for asthma. Thorax 1999; 54:860–861.
- 47. Phelan MC. Beclomethasone mania. Br J Psychiatry 1989; 155:871-872.
- 48. Connett G, Lenney W. Inhaled budesonide and behavioural disturbances. Lancet 1991; 338:634.

Discussion

- **Dr. Pedersen:** It is true that often a marked reduction in hospitalizations or mortality is not seen with increasing use of inhaled steroids. However, substantial reductions in hospitalization and exacerbations are consistently seen in countries that also include the use of inhaled steroids for patients with mild persistent asthma. These countries include Finland, Sweden, Denmark, and the Netherlands. The reason for this is that in the society 60-80% of hospitalizations with asthma exacerbation are seen in patients with mild asthma.
- **Dr. Denburg:** Do we know about the long-term effects of IS given in childhood on bone mineral density in adulthood? Regarding "biochemical" adrenal suppression, what are the clinical effects of infection or surgery on induction of adrenal crises in IS-treated subjects?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** There are no studies which have specifically followed bone mineral density in adults who have been treated with IS in childhood. The studies in childhood preformed by Agertoft and Pedersen have, however, been very reassuring. There are also no reports of adrenal crisis in asthmatics only treated with IS alone during emergency surgery. However, most clinicians still treat such patients with supplemental hydrocortisone prior to surgery, just to be sure such an event does not occur.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** Many children with asthma have a different growth pattern with delayed puberty and prolonged growth. This is independent of inhaled steroids. Some healthy children have a similar growth pattern. These subjects don't achieve the same peak bone mineral density as people who do not have this growth pattern. Therefore, bone mineral density in patients with asthma should be related to the bone mineral density of healthy volunteers with great caution since possible differences might be due to differences in growth patterns. The best control group would be healthy volunteers with delayed puberty or asthmatics who never received inhaled steroids.
- **Dr. Hamid:** Is there any evidence that inhaled steroids cause thinning of bronchial epithelium? If not, what do you think are the reasons for the discrepancy between the effect on skin epithelium versus lung epithelium?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** One study has evaluated this in patients with a history of long term IS usage. There was no evidence of thinning of the epithelium (Broder I, Tarlo SM, Davies GM, Thomas P, Leznoff A, Sturgess J, Baumal R, Mintz S, Corey PN. Safety and efficacy of long-term treatment with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate in steroid-dependent asthma. Can Med Assoc J 1987; 136:129–35). By contrast, the airway epithelial abnormalities associated with asthma are corrected by IS (Laitinen L, Laitinen A, Haahtela T. A comparative study of the effects of an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, and of an

inhaled β_2 -agonist, terbutaline, on airway inflammation in newly diagnosed asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:32–42).

- **Dr. Busse:** I have been impressed by the increase in early bruisability of the skin in some older patients receiving inhaled corticosteroids. There appears to be a dose-dependency to bruisability. Do we have observations as to whether the individuals with those changes in the skin may be more susceptible to changes in other potential manifestations such as osteoporosis?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** Boulet et al. (Boulet LP, Milot J, Gagnon L, Poubelle PE, Brown J. Long-term influence of inhaled corticosteroids on bone metabolism and density. Are biological markers predictors of bone loss? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159;838–44) have found that there was a poor correlation between skin bruising and markers of bone metabolism.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** I think the local mucosal effects of steroids have not been sufficiently examined in vivo. Hence, we cannot say much about effects of GC at the organizational level (e.g., in epithelial damage repair processes and other gross physiological processes occurring in asthmatic bronchi). Although the balance of effects is beneficial, GC may have some less desirable local effects; different GC may also differ in this respect, speculatively. On this note, what is your view regarding the possibility that GC increase neutrophilia in asthmatic bronchi?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** This does not appear to have any clinically important effect in most asthmatics, who get such a great clinical benefit from IS. It does raise the interesting question, however, whether in those patients with severe asthma not responding to IS, many of whom have an airway neutrophilia, this effect may be of importance.
- **Dr. Szefler:** As we move to more aggressive therapy, there are two consequences that we must address: (1) the use of higher doses and (2) the use in younger patients. Those are two areas of weaknesses—lack of data establishing safety with high doses and use in younger children.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** The data to date with extensive exposure to conventional dosing strategies do not point to a significant concern for lingering effects.
- **Dr. Busse:** Neutrophils in the airway have been found in a number of inflammatory conditions. In acute asthma from viral infections there is an increase in neutrophils, and these cells are likely to be important to the contribution of asthma severity. However, an increase in the numbers of neutrophils in the airway of patients with severe disease is difficult to relate to disease severity or as a consequence of treatment. In severe asthma, it will be necessary to assess cell function in addition to cell number. The importance of neutrophils to airway dysfunction and response to therapy is not resolved.

- **Dr. Seale:** An additional aspect of the Cumming et al. study in the *New England Journal of Medicine* (Ref. 39) was the higher odds ratio when the total cumulative dose of inhaled steroids exceeded 2000 mg. However, this study may not have taken due account of the association between atopy and lens cataracts.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** The risk of cataract is greater in patients with atopy. The risk of having severe asthma requiring high doses of inhaled steroids is increased in patients with atopy. Therefore, conclusions about an association between long-term use of high-dose inhaled steroids and an increased occurrence of cataracts cannot be made unless adjustments are made for possible differences in occurrence of atopy between the groups that are compared.
- **Dr. Jeffery:** My comment follows those made by Drs. Busse and Persson concerning the possibility that inhaled steroids may increase the number of neutrophils. The complementary information is that severe, corticosteroid-dependent intractable asthmatics (Wenzel et al, 1997, AJRCCM 156:737–743) had relatively very few eosinophils and yet the severity of their asthma continued. I believe this highlights the dis-association between the reductive effects of steroids on eosinophilic inflammation and their lack of effect on remodeling, at least once the remodeling of the airway wall has occurred. Clearly it is important to treat early (in childhood) to prevent both inflammation and subsequent remodeling. However, once remodeling has occurred, we do not understand or know if corticosteroids have any beneficial effect on the subsequent disease process. We urgently need studies to address the role of corticosteroids in inhibiting the myofibroblast and smooth muscle response to allergen challenge and how this may be reversed.
- **Dr. Boulet:** In one of our recent studies, we found that although they were very effect to reduce airway inflammation, ICS could not significantly change some markers of remodeling in mild recently diagnosed asthma suggesting that they could possibly be used even earlier than at the symptomatic stage of asthma, at least in some instances.

I also have a comment about the clinical relevance of the mentioned side effects of ICS. One of the problems we face is that often there is a generalization of side effects of ICS, whatever the dose, while as Dr. O'Byrne showed, they may occur mostly at high doses of ICS in susceptible individuals. Changes in markers of systemic action of ICS show a dose-response effect that becomes only significant over $1000-1500 \mu g$ in most adults. In the severe patient requiring high doses of ICS, more studies should be done to determine how to identify susceptible individuals and possibly offer preventive treatment, for example, to prevent bone loss. In such studies, however, the influence of disease severity should be taken into account, as well as other counfounding factors.

Dr. O'Byrne: Another issue to consider is that we are now using inhaled GCS differently, using lower doses in association with long-acting B₂-agonists in

asthma and using inhaled GCS to treat patients with COPD much less than previously.

- **Dr. Derendorf:** I agree that we have focused too much on safety and not enough on efficacy. However, I wouldn't go so far as to say that there is no safety issue with ICS. We should try to minimize systemic exposure with ICS. Don't you believe that serum cortisol is a suitable parameter to quantify systemic exposure?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** It has been possible to measure biochemical markers of effects of higher doses of inhaled GCS on adrenals or bone; however, we also have a responsibility to understand the clinical consequences of these. To date, there is no evidence of a clinically important detrimental effect.
- **Dr. Denburg:** What is known about the effects of IS on brain and behavior (e.g., cognitive or mood disorders)?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** There are studies that show that oral steroids can be associated with behavioral changes, including steroid psychosis. There are, in addition, anecdotal reports of steroid psychosis in patients using IS, which resolved when the IS were discontinued.
- **Dr. Persson:** Further to the comment by Dr. Busse that infections are the cause of airway neutrophilia in asthma: Jonas Erjefalt has carried out in vivo experiments on processes that follow upon asthma-like, nonsanguineous shedding of airway epithelial cells. The instantaneous and speedy repair was associated with marked local neutrophilia remaining at the patchy repair sites until repair epithelium had migrated to fully cover the denuded basement membrane. Thus, I submit the possibility that increased neutrophilia in severe asthma in part reflects the increased occurrence of epithelial injury-repair processes. Interestingly, topical budesonide treatment did not reduce local neutrophilia, nor did it reduce the acute, speedy epithelial restitution.
- **Dr. Busse:** There appears to be a subject susceptibility in the development of neuropsychiatric side effects from corticosteroids. First, the development of the psychiatric side effects appears to be largely limited to systemic steroids. Second, there appears to be patient susceptibility; that is, only some people experience these side effects. Which mechanisms mediate such side effects are not clear. Finally, the development of neuropsychiatric effects with steroids is very rare, at least from clinical experience.
- **Dr. Denburg:** It may be worth studying the effects of IS on cognitive function in children (who appear to be compromised at school by their disease, but also maybe by its treatment)?

Part Three

MOLECULAR ASPECTS OF STEROID ACTION

4

Mechanisms of Gene Regulation by the Glucocorticoid Receptor

GARY B. FAULDS, NANTHAKUMAR SUBRAMANIAM,* JOHAN LIDÉN, and SAM OKRET

Karolinska Institute and Huddinge University Hospital Huddinge, Sweden

I. Introduction

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are steroid hormones whose actions influence a diverse range of functions in the mammalian system. Many effects of GCs can be observed at the level of intermediary metabolism, including increased glucose production through the promotion of gluconeogenesis, enhanced delivery of amino acids from peripheral tissues, increased deposition of glycogen through activation of glycogen synthetase, enhanced lipolysis in extremities, and promotion of protein and RNA metabolism. These hormones act to suppress the immune and inflammatory responses, and under conditions of stress the secretion rate of GCs is relatively high. Hypersecretion of cortisol, the major human glucocorticoid hormone, results in a depressed immune state. GCs are also important in fetal development, with a crucial role in fetal lung maturation. Finally, GCs are important effectors of homeostasis, necessary for the maintenance of normal blood pressure and cardiac output as well as the maintenance of normal water and electrolyte balance.

^{*}*Current affiliation*: Muscle Developmental Unit, Children's Medical Research Institute, Wentworthville, Australia.

GCs mediate their effects through the ubiquitously expressed, intracellular glucocorticoid receptor (GR) (1). GCs pass through the plasma membrane and bind to GR in the cytoplasm. The cellular uptake of glucocorticoids has long been regarded as primarily a passive diffusion of these lipophilic molecules across the lipid bilayer, but evidence is slowly accumulating to suggest that in at least some instances this uptake may be a more regulated event than previously believed (2,3)and that the availability of hormone for receptor binding may be influenced by the activity of steroid transporters (4,5). Furthermore, the activity of the hormone may be modified in a cell-specific manner by modifying enzymes. Ligand binding promotes a conformational change, heat-shock protein (hsp) dissociation, homodimerization, and activation of the receptor to a DNA-binding form. GR translocates into the nucleus upon GC binding, where it stimulates or represses transcriptional activity of target genes, either by binding to specific DNA sequences known as glucocorticoid response elements (GREs) or by interacting with other proteins. The mechanisms of action of GR are the focus of this chapter and will be discussed in greater detail below.

II. The Nuclear Receptor Superfamily

GR is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily, the largest family of metazoan transcription factors. Nuclear receptors share several common properties based on structural features, but they can be classified broadly into four subclasses (6). Class I receptors comprise receptors for GR and other steroids, such as estrogens (ER α and ER β), mineralocorticoids (MR), progestins (PR), and androgens (AR). This subclass of receptors functions through forming homodimers and binding to palindromic DNA motifs. Class II receptors heterodimerize with the retinoic acid X receptor (RXR) and characteristically bind to response elements consisting of direct repeats with different spacing. This class encompasses receptors for nonsteroidal ligands such as thyroid hormone (TR), retinoic acid (RAR), and vitamin D (VDR), together with a large number of receptors whose specific ligands have yet to be discovered; these receptors have fallen under the collective label of orphan receptors, despite a diversity of physiological functions. Class III receptors bind primarily to direct repeats as homodimers, while Class IV receptors typically bind to extended core sites as monomers.

The steroid receptors have a modular structure, with distinct domains performing different functions within the molecule (Fig. 1). Three major domains have been identified. The N-terminal domain is the least conserved and may vary greatly in length. It contains sequences responsible for activation of target genes, including the major transcriptional domain, activator function-1 (AF-1). The DNA-binding domain (DBD) is a highly conserved cysteine-rich region that forms two zinc-finger structures, which provide the receptor with the ability to interact with DNA. This domain also participates in receptor dimerization and is



Figure 1 Domain structure of GR. The receptor has a typical nuclear receptor structure, with distinct domains responsible for functions such as DNA binding and binding to the ligand. Note that the unactivated receptor is predominantly cytoplasmic, since prior to binding hormone the nuclear localization signal is masked by hsp90.

involved in translocation into the nucleus. The C-terminal domain, a less wellconserved hydrophobic region, is found in all receptors and is called the ligandbinding domain (LBD). This domain possesses the sequences important for ligand recognition (for the nuclear receptors with known ligands) and ensures specificity of the physiological response. This domain also contains regions involved in hsp binding, nuclear translocation, receptor dimerization, and ligand-dependent transactivation. Importantly, a second activator domain, activator function-2 (AF-2), is located within the LBD and appears to be the principal region involved in proteinprotein interactions with cofactors, although interactions between the N-terminal domain and these proteins have also been demonstrated (7,8). The N-terminal domain, DBD, and LBD are each capable of acting independently when fused to heterologous proteins, indicating that they contain the information necessary for their individual functions (9). As expected, given their shared structural motifs, steroid receptors share a common mechanism in their functions as transcriptional activators.

III. The Glucocorticoid Receptor

The fundamental role of GR in glucocorticoid physiology and during development has been investigated through the generation of GR-deficient mice by gene targeting (10). The majority of $GR^{-/-}$ mice died within a few hours after birth as a result of respiratory failure. Further analysis revealed reduced expression of key gluconeogenic enzymes. The $GR^{-/-}$ mice also had elevated adrenocortico-tropic hormone (ACTH) and corticosterone levels, indicative of impaired negative feedback regulation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA).

The human GR (hGR) gene is located on chromosome 5 and contains 10 exons. Two isoforms of hGR have been identified, hGR α and hGR β (777 and 742 amino acids, respectively), derived from the same gene by alternative splicing (reviewed in Ref. 11). GR α is a ~94 kDa intracellular protein predominantly present in the cytosolic fraction of the cell in the absence of hormone. In this state the receptor forms part of a multiprotein complex, which includes one molecule of the receptor, two molecules of hsp90, and one molecule each of hsp70, hsp56, and hsp26 (12). While the roles of these hsps have been well documented, another molecular chaperone associated with GR, p23, has recently been shown to affect ligand efficacies (13). Upon hormone binding GR α undergoes a conformational change, which enables it to dissociate from the hsp complex. The receptor is subsequently hyperphosphorylated and the nuclear localization signals within the LBD unmasked, allowing GR α to translocate to the nucleus. As GR β does not bind ligand, its functional role in the cell is a matter of debate (14–16) and it will not be discussed further here.

A. Binding of Hormone

The conformation GR adopts on binding ligand is dependent on whether the ligand is an agonist or antagonist (17). Upon activation GR forms a homodimer that can bind to specific DNA sequences termed glucocorticoid response elements (GREs) present in the target genes. GR can also bind to so-called negative GREs (nGREs) or to other transcription factors (see below and Ref. 18). GREs and nGREs are usually located in the promoter region of target genes, but they have also been found within the structural gene, as is the case for the human growth hormone gene (19). GR homodimers bind to GREs with much higher affinity than monomers and dimerization is required for transactivation of target genes. Induction of dimerization is thus one of the main functions of ligand binding. Crystal structures of the LBDs of other nuclear receptors in the absence of ligand and in the presence of agonist or antagonist demonstrated that nuclear receptors appear to have similar folding patterns and a common ligand-binding pocket architecture (20). These studies, in conjunction with functional investigations, have revealed that positioning of the most carboxy-terminal α-helix (H12) of the LBD plays a major role in nuclear receptor transactivation activity. The positioning of H12 depends on whether the receptor is bound by agonist or antagonist (21). In the presence of an agonist bound to the receptor, H12 adopts a conformation that generates a surface for coactivator interaction, while receptor interaction with an antagonist alters the H12 position, and receptor interactions with coregulators are thought to be modified as a consequence.

B. DNA Binding

In the nuclear receptor superfamily, the highly conserved DBD is the region essential for interaction with DNA. Comparison of a large number of naturally occurring and synthetic DNA response elements identified a conserved half-site sequence AGAACA, which is preferentially recognized by GR, MR, PR, and AR, whereas the sequences AGGTCA or AGTTCA are favored by ER, TR, RAR, VDR, and many of the orphan receptors (32). The consensus GRE is composed of two 6-base-pair half-sites arranged as an imperfect palindrome with a 3-base-pair interval, to which GR binds as a homodimer (32). One receptor of the dimer contacts DNA specifically, while the other is regarded as essential for high-affinity binding. Sequences differing from the consensus GGTACANNNTGTTCT are generally bound with lower affinity by the receptor and may serve to attenuate the magnitude of the transcriptional response to GCs. For natural genes hormonedependent activation from nonconsensus binding sites relies on cooperative interaction with adjacent or nearby transcription factors (32-36). Such interactions may serve to restrict a hormonal response to a specific cell type that expresses the appropriate set of cooperating factors (37). No consensus sequence has been described for an nGRE, and the reason why GR binding to such sites does not result in transactivation remains unclear. It is possible that these response elements either induce a slightly altered conformation of the DNA-bound receptor or may not allow efficient interaction with the GR (18). Supporting the idea that DNA binding per se is not enough to allow activation, mutation of some residues in the GR DBD not directly involved in the protein-DNA interaction inactivate or severely diminish transcriptional activation by GR. These mutations might result in an altered conformation of the DNA-bound receptor or its interaction with other proteins, affecting the transactivation function (38,39).

C. Phosphorylation of GR

Posttranslational modifications are important in regulating transcription factor function, and phosphorylation of transcription factors may be important in regulation of nuclear translocation, regulation of DNA binding, and regulation of transactivation (40). The unliganded GR is a phosphoprotein that becomes hyperphosphorylated following ligand binding, mainly on serine residues in the N-terminal domain (41). In some studies, mutation of single or multiple phosphorylation sites in the mouse or human GR had little effect on the ability of these mutants to activate transcription (42), whereas others studies suggested that hypophosphorylation of the mouse receptor decreases transactivation (43). The role of phosphorylation in GR function thus awaits further clarification.

D. Integration of the Hormone Signal on Chromatin

Induction of transcription from genomic DNA involves rearrangement of chromatin around the promoter and/or upstream segments, creating more open structures which facilitate access for the basal transcriptional complex. Examples of this are provided by studies on the mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) promoter and the rat tyrosine aminotransferase gene (44) Prior to GC induction, these genes are in a repressed state, and it has been demonstrated that the nucleosomes are structurally altered upon GC treatment (45).

In addition, the exciting progress in the identification and characterization of chromatin modifying proteins, particularly acetyltransferases and deacetylases, that associate directly or indirectly with nuclear receptors and other transcription factors has revealed roles for these cofactors/enzymes in transcriptional control. Acetylation neutralizes the positively charged lysine residues of the histone N-termini, decreasing their affinity for DNA and thus allowing the termini to be displaced from the nucleosome, thereby causing the nucleosome to unfold and facilitate access for the basal transcriptional machinery (46). GR may function at an early stage by recruiting histone acetylating factors to target gene promoters.

Steroid hormone receptors are thought to interact with several components of the basal transcription machinery. For example, the AF-1 domain of the GR was shown to interact with the TATA box binding protein, TBP. TAFs (TBP-associated factors) are required for GR activation in Hela nuclear extracts, suggesting an interaction between the receptor and these proteins (47,48). The interaction between steroid receptors and the basal transcription machinery is necessary for efficient hormone-dependent transcriptional control, but an additional set of proteins that do not bind DNA yet may modify transcriptional activity have been identified and designated as cofactors. These proteins can be further classified on a functional basis into coactivators and corepressors (49,50). The recent identification of an array of these proteins as coregulators for steroid hormone receptors and other sequence specific transcription factors, providing the means by which these factors modulate the activity of the basal transcription machinery (51,52).

IV. Gene Regulation by Glucocorticoid Receptor

No single mechanism can explain all the observed GR-mediated transcriptional events, and it appears that GR utilizes a variety of means to promote or repress target genes. Receptor activation, chromatin acetylation, and nucleosome disruption are involved in gene regulation by GR, but additional parameters are necessary for the precise transcriptional control rendered by the receptor. For example, GR-mediated gene regulation involves complex interactions of the receptor with other regulatory factors. In addition, the promoter also plays a critical role in determin-

ing receptor action through the nature and arrangement of the GREs it contains, the nonreceptor factors that bind to it, and the arrangement of binding sites for these proteins in relation to the GRE (36).

A. Activation of Transcription by GR

The classical mechanism for GR-dependent positive gene regulation entails binding of the hormonally activated receptor to one or more palindromic GRE sequences, usually located in the promoter region of glucocorticoid-responsive genes. It has been clearly established that positive gene regulation, in addition to GR binding to GREs and direct contact with the basal transcription machinery, involves complex interactions with both DNA-binding and non–DNA-binding proteins. Positive regulation also occurs in some instances in the absence of a GRE, probably through protein-protein interactions between the receptor and DNAbound transcription factors (see below). Moreover, the cofactors that associate with DNA-bound receptor and/or other proteins act as a scaffold between sequence-selective receptors and the basal machinery, stabilizing the preinitiation complex on the promoter and thus enhancing transcription by RNA polymerase II (53,54).

In addition to GCs, other factors can modulate GR transcription and expression, for instance, the orphan estrogen-related receptor 2 (22) and the neurotransmitter dopamine (23). Another factor is cyclic AMP (cAMP), which has been shown to act through the protein kinase A pathway to modulate the GC sensitivity of a target cell by enhancing the DNA-binding activity of GR (24). Functional interactions between GR and other signal transduction molecules such as the growth regulators Rb and p53 (25, 26), AP-1 (27), NF- κ B (28), and the STAT proteins (29,30) modulate GR activity and may partly account for differences in tissue sensitivity to glucocorticoids, reflecting another level of regulating receptor activity. Coregulators can also modulate glucocorticoid responsiveness, usually through modifying transcriptional activation (see below and Ref. 31).

GR Interactions with Other DNA-Bound Transcription Factors

Although GR is capable of controlling reporter gene expression from a simple GRE in vitro, transcriptional regulation in vivo and from natural promoters is more complex. The mouse mammary tumor virus long terminal repeat (MMTV-LTR) is a well-characterized DNA sequence containing GREs as well as binding sites for other transcription factors. Studies on the MMTV promoter have shown that CTF1/NF-1 and Oct-1 are required for optimal induction by either glucocorticoids or progestins (55). When activated GR binds to the LTR, the nucleosome undergoes a structural change, resulting in loss of chromatin repression and recruitment of a series of transcription factors (56,57). This is illustrated by interactions between GR and HNF3 on the tyrosine aminotransferase promoter or be-

tween GR and HNF1 on the rat insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 gene. These interactions lead to functional synergism, suggesting that maximal promoter activity in these instances requires GR association with other sequencespecific transcription factors (58,59).

A more complex example is provided by GC-induced upregulation of transcription of the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) gene (60). The glucocorticoid response unit (GRU) in this gene promoter contains two GREs and three binding sites (AF1, AF2, and AF3) for accessory factors. The maximal glucocorticoid response is observed only when all these elements are occupied by their cognate proteins (61). Hepatic nuclear factor 4 (HNF4) and chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter factor (COUP-TF) bind to AF-1 and act as accessory factors for the glucocorticoid response (62). HNF3 and members of the CCAAT-enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) family bind to AF-2 (63), while the AF3 element of this gene is also bound by HNF4 and COUP-TF, all these factors acting as modulators of the GC response (62).

The mouse proliferin gene (pIfG) contains a composite element in which a GRE overlaps with an AP-1–binding site. On this element, the crucial determinant of GR function is the ratio of the two AP-1 family subunits, c-Jun and c-Fos, in the composition of the AP-1 complex, which binds DNA. GR enhances transcription from pIfG when AP-1 is composed of Jun-Jun homodimers, whereas it represses transcription when AP-1 is composed of Fos-Jun heterodimers (64), illustrating how a single DNA element can be differentially regulated by the composition of the factors binding to it.

A DNA-bound GR may also be influenced by additional factors. For example, the DNA-binding retinoblastoma protein Rb is capable of potentiating GRmediated transcriptional activation (25), but this potentiation requires a cofactor, hBrm (a human homologue of the yeast protein SW12/SNF2).

GR-Mediated Activation of Transcription Independent of DNA Binding

Not all effects of GR on transcriptional activation result from direct binding of receptor homodimers to canonical GREs. GR can mediate transactivation from some gene promoters without binding to DNA through protein-protein interactions between the receptor and DNA-bound transcriptional activators and/or components of the basal transcription machinery (54). This is the case for AP-1–controlled target gene promoters lacking GR binding sites (e.g., collagenase A) when the AP-1 complex is composed of a Jun-Jun homodimer (64).

Other examples of GR-mediated DNA-independent activation include an interaction between the receptor and STAT5 to amplify prolactin-stimulated transcription of the β -casein gene (29) and GR potentiation of transcriptional activation by STAT3 from an IL6 response element (30). GR and NF-IL6 (C/EBP β) also appear to interact in a manner that allows each to enhance transcriptional ac-

tivation by the other from either a GRE or an NF-IL6 response element (66). It is important to note that in some of these examples (STAT3, NF-IL6) this transactivating effect is mutual. Bourk et al. reported that GR specifically potentiated the induction of transcription by C/EBP β from the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV tk) gene promoter proximal regulatory region in the absence of a GRE (67). Interestingly, these experiments suggest there is no direct contact between C/EBP β and GR and that the interaction is instead mediated by cofactors.

B. GR-Mediated Repression of Transcription

The mechanisms of transrepression of genes by GR are not as well characterized as those of the receptor's transactivating functions, and elucidation of these mechanisms has emerged as a topic for intense study (68). Repression of GC-controlled genes helps to control many aspects of differentiation, development, growth control, and homeostasis (69) and may be more important for normal development than transactivation, a notion supported by data from Reichardt and colleagues (70), who replaced the wild-type GR in mice with a mutated GR (GR^{dim/dim}), which does not bind to GREs. These mice are thus capable of transrepression but not transactivation of GC-controlled target genes (70). In contrast to GR^{-/-} mice, GR^{dim/dim} mice develop normally and are generally healthy, revealing that gene activation through GR binding to classical GREs is not necessary for development and survival in this model. GR^{dim/dim} mice are also defective in repression of at least some genes that are regulated through nGREs as they are unable to repress the proopiomelanocortin (POMC) gene; as a consequence these mice exhibit elevated expression of this hormone.

Two principal mechanisms for repression by GR have been suggested, based on whether or not it is necessary for the receptor to bind DNA to transrepress target genes (Fig. 2). Another layer of complexity affecting the repressive effects mediated by the steroid receptors, including GR, has recently been proposed, where repression arises as a result of competition for limiting amounts of common mediators such as CBP/p300 (71,72).

DNA-Dependent GR Repression of Transcription

Competition between GR and positive transcription factors for binding to an overlapping site on the promoter region of genes is one mechanism that results in transcriptional repression (reviewed in Ref. 27). Several genes repressed by GR contain nGREs, to which, at least in vitro, GR binds. Examples include the genes encoding bovine prolactin (18), human osteocalcin (73), rat POMC (74), mouse proliferin (64), human corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) (75,76), human insulin (77), human interleukin-1 β (78), and rat type 1 vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (79). The sequences of these nGREs usually differ substantially from the se-



Figure 2 Mechanisms of transcriptional repression by GR. In some cases receptor binding is required for repression of target genes by the activated receptor (upper and lower left), while in other situations direct binding of DNA is not necessary (upper and lower right).

quences of positive GREs (80). In most cases these elements overlap with other transcription factor-binding sites, suggesting a model involving competitive DNA binding.

It is unclear whether the GR bound to nGREs is functioning as a repressor molecule per se or whether it is acting as a transactivating competitor. While such competition may be considered a form of repression, low transcriptional rates are nearly always observed from these sequences, and the possibility that GR is functioning as a weak activator and simply displacing the stronger transactivators in these cases has not yet been conclusively ruled out.

The bovine prolactin promoter contains several nGREs, and one of these sites, termed PRL3nGRE, confers increased basal activity in the absence of GR via the binding of constitutive positive transcription factors. The activated GR represses this activity by displacement of these factors (81). In the case of PRL3nGRE only one GR moiety seems to contact the DNA (81,82).

In the case of the human osteocalcin gene, an nGRE overlaps the TATA box of the gene and the GR and TATA-binding protein (TBP) bind to their cognate sites in a mutually exclusive manner. Transient overexpression of TBP or a mutation in the promoter region that abrogates receptor binding prevented repression of the gene in the presence of glucocorticoids (73). The POMC nGRE may be unusual in that three GR monomers are thought to bind to it (74). However, this sequence only functions in the context of the POMC promoter and does not behave as an nGRE when fused to a heterologous promoter, implicating additional promoter-bound factors in the repression of the POMC gene (see below). Glucocorticoid-mediated repression of human corticotropin-releasing hormone gene transcription also appears to involve monomeric GR binding, in contrast to the readily formed dimeric receptor complex observed with a positively regulated GRE (75).

These results suggest that repression through some nGREs may involve GR monomer interaction with the DNA, leading to a distinct conformational change, which precludes positive regulatory activity. On the other hand, results from the study with GR^{dim/dim} mice argue against monomers being active in repression through nGREs, since with the loss of GR dimerization, negative regulation of prolactin mRNA expression was lost (70). However, in addition to losing their dimerization properties the receptors in these mice have also lost the ability to bind to DNA. It cannot, therefore, be determined whether a reported increase in PRL mRNA is due to an inability to bind DNA or a failure to dimerize.

As mentioned above, in the mouse proliferin gene GR and AP-1 bind to a composite site. On this element, the hormone-bound GR is inactive in the absence of c-Jun and inhibitory in the presence of Fos-Jun heterodimers (64). These researchers demonstrated an in vitro interaction between GR and c-Jun and, based on these observations, proposed that the GC response through this element was dependent on both protein-protein and protein-DNA interactions (64).

DNA-Independent Repression of Transcription by GR

Nuclear receptor-mediated repression of gene transcription not requiring DNA binding by the receptor is thought to principally occur through transcriptional interference mediated via protein-protein interactions. Such interactions may repress transcription in two ways. In the first case, GR interaction with a positive acting transcription factor hampers DNA binding of that protein, while in the second model, GR interaction with a DNA-bound factor inhibits its transactivating properties. The best-studied examples of the latter mode of repression are the interactions between GR and the transcription factors AP-1 and NF-kB (see below). Repression of collagenase transcription was attributed to GR-mediated interference with AP-1 binding to or activity on its cognate site (83,84). The interference was mutual in that elevated expression of AP-1 or its activation by tumor promoters, pro-inflammatory cytokines, or growth factors inhibited GRE-controlled promoters. This provided further evidence for a protein-protein interaction, which was subsequently demonstrated by immunoprecipitation experiments. In vivo footprinting analysis carried out on the endogenous collagenase promoter (85) or on the tyrosine aminotransferase gene (86) revealed no major change in the level of occupancy of the respective AP-1- and GR-binding sites under repressed conditions. This showed that DNA-binding activity of AP-1 to the collagenase promoter is not altered under repression, suggesting that GR and the AP-1 complex interact without affecting each other's DNA-binding ability.

In contrast to ligand-dependent repression, Liu et al. have provided evidence that ligand-induced conformational changes of GR are not required in transrepression of the collagenase promoter (87). Their conclusion was based on studies with a GR mutant, GRL753F, which required a 200- to 300-fold higher concentration of GC than the wild-type receptor to transactivate a MMTV-CAT reporter gene, while in a reporter gene carrying the AP-1–inducible collagenase gene promoter, the concentration of GC required for 50% transrepression was the same for mutant and wild-type receptors. Significantly, this indicates that the activation and repression functions of GR are separable.

There are several other cases of repression mediated by GR independent of DNA binding by the receptor. The serum/glucocorticoid-inducible protein kinase (*sgk*) gene promoter, for example, contains several functional p53-binding sites and is repressed by GR through interference with the transactivation activity of p53 (26). The orphan nuclear receptor Nur77 is a mediator of the CRH induction of POMC transcription, and GCs inhibit POMC induction by antagonizing the Nur77-dependent transcription (88). GR interferes with Oct-1 activity mediated via an octamer element from the immunoglobulin heavy-chain intron enhancer through protein-protein interaction involving the homeo subdomain of Oct-1 (89). Others, by contrast, found that this GR-mediated repression does not apply to Oct-1 but to the lymphocyte-specific factor Oct-2A (55,90). The reason for the discrepancy between these observations is unclear.

C. Cofactors Involved in Positive and Negative Transcriptional Regulation by GR

GR transcriptional activity is positively regulated by a number of cofactors, including SRC-1 (91), CBP/p300 (71), GRIP1/TIF2 (92), TIF1β (93), hBrm (94), and the η member of the 14-3-3 protein family (95). In addition, it was recently shown that homologs of the Ada adapter and Gen5 proteins from mammalian cells also enhanced the gene activation potential of the AF-1 domain from human GR (96). In contrast RAP46 (97) and RIP140 (98) have been shown to inhibit transcriptional activation by GR. In the latter study, RIP140 acted as an dominant negative inhibitor of all GR-mediated activities, including positive regulation through a GRE, synergy through cross-talk with AP-1, and negative regulation through an nGRE and cross-talk with NF-KB. This was mediated by a novel mechanism in the control of GR activity, with RIP140 blocking interactions between GR and coactivators to inhibit receptor-mediated transactivation (98). RIP140 appears to have a dual function within the cell, since this molecule was capable, albeit weakly, of enhancing transactivation by other nuclear receptors such as AR and, at some concentrations, ER (99). This type of dual role for cofactors has been described for NSD1, TIF1B, and recently for Zac1 (100-102). Hence, the primary role for these proteins may be to act as coregulators, fine-tuning a complex network of genes.

Importantly, the repressive activity of RIP140 did not occur when the GR was bound to the antagonist RU486. This is mirrored by data from work with other cofactors, where functional interactions with nuclear receptors occur in the presence of agonistic ligands but not antagonists (99). The majority of cofactors, including RIP140, have been shown to interact directly in a hormone-dependent manner with the AF-2 domain of steroid hormone receptors and are therefore called AF-2 cofactors (20,103). This interaction often involves one or several short conserved peptides with the amino acid sequence LXXLL (L = leucine, X = any amino acid) in the cofactor, which serves as an NR box or signature motif (104,105). Structural studies have revealed that the AF-2 domain undergoes an agonist-dependent conformational change, which facilitates coactivator interactions, whereas the binding of antagonists induces an alternative conformation in this domain, which appears to hinder coactivator binding (reviewed in Ref. 105). However, GR is also capable of functional interactions with coactivators that do not have the LXXLL motif (97).

Some coactivators (CBP/p300, SRC-1) have been shown to contain intrinsic histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activity, thus linking gene activation by receptors to histone modification and chromatin alterations (47,106). Recently, it has been shown that the largest member of the TBP-associated factors (TAFs), TAF_{II}230/250, also contains HAT activity, and furthermore, factors interacting with p300, such as P/CAF, are involved in localized chromatin remodeling and loss of chromatin repression. Transcriptional activation is thus a process that requires a number of factors, which have to be assembled in a regulated manner on the promoter to achieve an efficient response to any given signal (47,107).

Competition for Coactivators/Cofactors

The conflicting results from in vivo DNA footprinting data, showing no change in the occupancy of the DNA sequences required for binding by AP-1 and GR during transrepression (85,86), and in vitro protein-DNA interaction studies, which demonstrated a requirement for both protein-protein and protein-DNA interactions (64), have led to an alternative concept of GR-mediated transrepression. This postulates that rather than GR interfering directly with the binding of the transcription factor to DNA, the two proteins may interact through transcriptional intermediary factors (TIFs), thus allowing both positive and negative effects on transcription (108). In line with this, CBP/p300 has been implicated in mediating the transcriptional effects both of nuclear receptors and the AP-1 and NF- κ B transcription factor families (see below and Ref. 71). It was proposed that the inhibition of AP-1 activity by GR or RAR is the result of competition for limiting amounts of CBP/p300, since overexpression of CBP could relieve GR- or RARdependent AP-1 repression in transfection studies. Furthermore, data from our own laboratory demonstrate that overexpression of TIF-2 can partially rescue the RIP140 inhibition of GR-mediated activation, supporting a mode of action based on competition between corepressors and coactivators (80). In line with our observations, CBP has recently been shown to rescue GR-mediated repression of RelA-dependent reporter gene transactivation.

However, competition by GR and AP-1 for limiting amounts of cofactor does not adequately account for all situations, since Pearce et al. demonstrated that when GR- and AP-1-binding sites were placed in a *cis* position (called a paired site) separated by \geq 26 base pairs, synergy between GR and AP-1 was observed, irrespective of the composition of the AP-1 dimer (109). This may be due to the factors involved cooperating in the recruitment of CBP. Furthermore, when a site for only one of the factors was present, the other factor had an inhibitory effect (mutual inhibition) regardless of whether AP-1 was composed of Jun-Jun or Jun-Fos, suggesting that in this situation there may be competition for coactivators. However, this hypothesis does not explain the results obtained from paired sites with separations of 14–18 base pairs, since in this instance GR synergized with Jun-Jun and repressed Jun-Fos (109).

V. Glucocorticoid Receptor and Inflammation

The use of synthetic glucocorticoids in the treatment of inflammation and autoimmune disease has been widespread, often with very successful outcomes. The evidence suggests this is due to the potent anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects mediated by GR, including the downregulation of a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules (110). The majority of promoters for these genes do not contain recognizable GREs, and the mechanisms through which GR exerts its effects have been the source of intense study over recent years (reviewed in Ref. 111). The transcription factor NF- κ B functions in a diametrically opposed manner to GR in inflammatory activities of GCs is the repression of this family of transcription factors (28,112). Understanding the physiological antagonism between these molecules may thus be vital for the development off better and more sophisticated anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive glucocorticoids.

Several lines of evidence point to an analogous mode of action between AP-1 and NF- κ B repression by GR. Analagous to the situation with AP-1, GR interferes with NF- κ B activity and negatively regulates the target gene promoters of this complex without binding to DNA (Fig. 3) (113). The DBD of GR is implicated in the transrepression of both molecules, and this region is thought to directly contact c-Jun (108) and the RelA subunit of NF- κ B (114). Again as with AP-1, in vivo footprinting of the endogenous ICAM-1 promoter containing an NF- κ B-binding site also showed that the receptor did not displace the NF- κ B



Figure 3 Cross-talk between GR and NF- κ B transcription factors. Activated GR is capable of repressing genes activated by NF- κ B. This is mutual antagonism, as NF- κ B is also capable of repressing GR-mediated transcriptional activation. GR may also modify the expression pattern of the NF- κ B inhibitor molecule I- κ B (see text).

complex during GR repression (J. Lidén, I. Rafter, M. Truss, and S. Okret, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000; 14:1008–1014.). In this regard, it is important to note that several dimerization-deficient GRs that do not bind to GREs as homodimers can still repress AP-1– and NF- κ B–regulated genes (39,115). Synthetic ligands have been described for GR that are unable to induce transactivation by the receptor also retain the ability to transrepress AP-1 and NF- κ B (20). These have been termed dissociating ligands.

The Rel homology domain in the p65 subunit of NF- κ B (Rel A) was required for the physical interaction with GR in vitro. In addition, the transactivation domain was needed for functional interaction between these transcription factors (113). The DBD of GR is a further prerequisite for association between the two partners in vitro (114). Using chimeric receptors, exchanging the different functional domains of GR with domains from a nonactivating nuclear receptor, the DBD was shown to be the major domain involved in repression. This was further narrowed down to the C-terminal zinc finger, and finally it was demonstrated that two individual amino acid exchanges within this region were sufficient to abolish the majority of the repressive effect (39). However, other researchers have claimed that additional domains may contribute to the maximal repression of NF- κ B (reviewed in Ref. 116).

The interaction between GR and NF-KB leads to mutual antagonism, i.e., each factor represses the other, and their physical interaction may require an additional factor or factors. One potential candidate is CBP, which is known to interact with both proteins and could conceivably mediate their functional antagonism, possibly by altered assembly of the preinitiation complex. On the IL-6 gene promoter, for example, a strong synergism between p65 and CBP/p300 was demonstrated, and it was further shown that NF-kB-induced activation of this gene was repressed by GC treatment (117,118). Recently, Sheppard et al. showed that, as with AP-1, increased levels of CBP or SRC-1 can prevent inhibition of GC-mediated repression of NF-KB activity and NF-KB-mediated repression of GR activity (119). How this would be achieved in vivo is unclear, since a simple mechanism based on competition for limiting cofactors leads to the notion that activation of either transcription factor would ultimately downregulate any CBPrequiring promoter, which includes the majority of promoters examined to date. It may be instead that CBP alters the structural conformations of these proteins when both are bound to it, consequently modifying their transactivating potentials (119).

Two publications have shown that GR upregulates the protein levels of the NF- κ B inhibitory protein I- κ B α , resulting in repression (120,121). While this may provide an additional measure of control over the inflammatory response mediated by GR in some cells, the lack of global I- κ B α upregulation and data from work with mutant receptors argue against this being the major mechanism of NF- κ B-activated gene repression (122,123). Dimerization-deficient GR mutants and GR^{dim/dim} mice incapable of transactivation and consequently incapable of I- κ B α upregulation are still capable of transrepressing NF- κ B activity (70,122). In concordance with this, dissociating GCs also retain the ability to repress NF- κ B activity while losing their transactivation function and without inducing I- κ B α (118,124). There may still be a role for I- κ B α in GR-mediated transrepression of NF- κ B, however, as recent advances have revealed there are many other possible levels of regulation of I- κ B α (125–127).

VI. Summary

The multifunctional role of GR has continued to attract the interest of researchers over the past 30 years. The anti-inflammatory properties of GR are of great biomedical interest and importance, and the characterization of the mechanisms employed by GR to mediate those effects remains a highly competitive and topical field of study. While much attention has been devoted to the anti-inflammatory properties of GR, evidence is mounting that there may be a pivotal role for the receptor in normal immune function (discussed in Ref. 125). Recent advances, such as the development of GR^{dim/dim} mice, have greatly enhanced our understanding of the relative importance of the transactivation and transrepression activities of GR. However, much work remains to fully characterize the role of the receptor in these mice. The discovery of ligands that can dissociate between the dual roles of the receptor and target GR interaction with individual factors is another useful development. Such specific ligands may be of great medical importance, since they may be able to eliminate or minimize undesirable side effects of long-term glucocorticoid treatment. As our knowledge improves it is hoped that more selective ligands may be developed, which can further discriminate among the modes of action of GR and thus provide better tools for the treatment of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

References

- Ballard Baxter JD, Higgins SJ, Rousseau GG, Tomkins GM. General presence of glucocorticoid receptors in mammalian tissues. Endocrinology 1974; 94(4):998–1002.
- 2. Evans SJ, Moore FL, Murray TFJ. Solubilization and pharmacological characterization of a glucocorticoid membrane receptor from an amphibian brain. J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol 1998; 67:1–8.
- Orchinik M, Murray TF, Moore FL. A corticosteroid receptor in neuronal membranes. Science 1991; 252(5014):1848–1851.
- Kralli A, Yamamoto KR. An FK506-sensitive transporter selectively decreases intracellular levels and potency of steroid hormones. J Biol Chem 1996; 271(29):17152– 17156.
- Medh RD, Lay RH, Schmidt TJ. Agonist-specific modulation of glucocorticoid receptor-mediated transcription by immunosuppressants. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1998; 138:11–23.
- Mangelsdorf DJ, Thummel C, Beato M, Herrlich P, Schutz G, Umesono K, Blumberg B, Kastner P, Mark M, Chambon P. The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. Cell 1995; 83:835–839.
- Wallberg AE, Neely KE, Gustafsson JA, Workman JL, Wright AP, Grant PA. Histone acetyltransferase complexes can mediate transcriptional activation by the major glucocorticoid receptor activation domain. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 19(9):5952–5959.
- Almlof T, Wallberg AE, Gustafsson JA, Wright AP. Role of important hydrophobic amino acids in the interaction between the glucocorticoid receptor tau 1-core activation domain and target factors. Biochemistry 1998; 37(26):9586–9594.
- 9. Rusconi S, Yamamoto KR. Functional dissection of the hormone and DNA binding activities of the glucocorticoid receptor. EMBO J 1987; 6:1309–1315.
- Cole TJ, Blendy JA, Monaghan AP, Krieglstein K, Schmid W, Aguzzi A, Fantuzzi G, Hummler E, Unsicker K, Schutz G. Targeted disruption of the glucocorticoid receptor gene blocks adrenergic chromaffin cell development and severely retards lung maturation. Genes Dev 1995; 9:1608–1621.

- Bamberger CM, Schulte HM, Chrousos GP. Molecular determinants of glucocorticoid receptor function and tissue sensitivity to glucocorticoids. Endocrinol Rev 1996; 17:245–261.
- 12. Sanchez ER, Hu JL, Zhong S, Shen P, Greene MJ, Housley PR. Potentiation of glucocorticoid receptor-mediated gene expression by heat and chemical shock. Mol Endocrinol 1994; 8:408–421.
- Freeman BC, Felts SJ, Toft DO, Yamamoto KR. The p23 molecular chaperones act at a late step in intracellular receptor action to differentially affect ligand efficacies. Genes Dev 2000; 14:422–434.
- 14. Hecht K, Carlstedt-Duke J, Stierna P, Gustafsson J, Bronnegard M, Wikstrom AC. Evidence that the beta-isoform of the human glucocorticoid receptor does not act as a physiologically significant repressor. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:26659–26664.
- 15. Carlstedt-Duke J. Glucocorticoid receptor beta: view II. Trends Endocrinol Metab 1999; 10(8):339–342.
- Vottero A, Chrousos GP. Glucocorticoid Receptor beta: view I. Trends Endocrinol Metab 1999; 10(8):333–338.
- 17. Bamberger CM, Chrousos GP. The glucocorticoid receptor and RU486 in man. Ann NY Acad Sci 1995; 761:296–310.
- Sakai DD, Helms S, Carlstedt-Duke J, Gustafsson JA, Rottman FM, Yamamoto KR. Hormone-mediated repression: a negative glucocorticoid response element from the bovine prolactin gene. Genes Dev 1988; 2:1144–1154.
- Slater EP, Rabenau O, Karin M, Baxter JD, Beato M. Glucocorticoid receptor binding and activation of a heterologous promoter by dexamethasone by the first intron of the human growth hormone gene. Mol Cell Biol 1985; 5:2984–2992.
- 20. Rigon MR, Gronemeyer H. Therapeutic potential of selective modulators of nuclear receptor action. Curr Opin Chem Biol 1998; 2:501–507.
- Brzozowski AM, Pike AC, Dauter Z, Hubbard RE, Bonn T, Engstrom O, Ohman L, Greene GL, Gustafsson JA, Carlquist M. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. Nature 1997; 389:753–758.
- 22. Trapp T, Holsboer F. Nuclear orphan receptor as a repressor of glucocorticoid receptor transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem 1996; 271(17):9879–9882.
- 23. Antakly T, Mercille S, Cote JP. Tissue-specific dopaminergic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in the rat pituitary. Endocrinology 1987; 120:1558–1562.
- 24. Rangarajan PN, Umesono K, Evans RM. Modulation of glucocorticoid receptor function by protein kinase A. Mol Endocrinol 1992; 6:1451–1457.
- 25. Singh P, Coe J, Hong W. A role for retinoblastoma protein in potentiating transcriptional activation by the glucocorticoid receptor. Nature 1995; 374:562–565.
- 26. Maiyar AC, Phu PT, Huang AJ, Firestone GL. Repression of glucocorticoid receptor transactivation and DNA binding of a glucocorticoid response element within the serum/glucocorticoid- inducible protein kinase (sgk) gene promoter by the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:312–329.
- 27. Cato AC, Wade E. Molecular mechanisms of anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoids. Bioessays 1996; 18:371–378.
- 28. Karin M. The NF-kappa B activation pathway: its regulation and role in inflammation and cell survival. Cancer J Sci Am 1998; 4:S92–S99.

- 29. Stocklin E, Wissler M, Gouilleux F, Groner B. Functional interactions between Stat5 and the glucocorticoid receptor. Nature 1996; 383:726–728.
- Zhang Z, Jones S, Hagood JS, Fuentes NL, Fuller GM. STAT3 acts as a coactivator of glucocorticoid receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:30607–30610.
- Glass CK, Rose DW, Rosenfeld MG. Nuclear receptor coactivators. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997; 9:222–232.
- 32. Beato M. Gene regulation by steroid hormones. Cell 1989; 56: 335-344.
- Moens U, Subramaniam N, Johansen B, Johansen T, Traavik T. A steroid hormone response unit in the late leader of the noncoding control region of the human polyomavirus BK confers enhanced host cell permissivity. J Virol 1994; 68:2398–2408.
- Rhodes SJ, Chen R, DiMattia GE, Scully KM, Kalla KA, Lin SC, Yu VC, Rosenfeld MG. A tissue-specific enhancer confers Pit-1-dependent morphogen inducibility and autoregulation on the pit-1 gene. Genes Dev 1993; 7:913–932.
- Day RN, Koike S, Sakai M, Muramatsu M, Maurer RA. Both Pit-1 and the estrogen receptor are required for estrogen responsiveness of the rat prolactin gene. Mol Endocrinol 1990; 4:1964–1971.
- Guido EC, Delorme EO, Clemm DL, Stein RB, Rosen J, Miner JN. Determinants of promoter-specific activity by glucocorticoid receptor. Mol Endocrinol 1996; 10: 1178–1190.
- 37. Drouin J. In: Parker MG, ed. Nuclear Hormone Receptors. London: Academic Press Ltd., 1993:118–140.
- 38. Schena M, Freedman LP, Yamamoto KR. Mutations in the glucocorticoid receptor zinc finger region that distinguish interdigitated DNA binding and transcriptional enhancement activities. Genes Dev 1989; 3:1590–1601.
- Liden J, Delaunay F, Rafter I, Gustafsson J, Okret S. A new function for the C-terminal zinc finger of the glucocorticoid receptor. Repression o RelA transactivation. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:f21467–21472.
- 40. Hunter T, Karin M. The regulation of transcription by phosphorylation. Cell 1992; 70:375–387.
- 41. Orti E, Hu LM, Munck A. Kinetics of glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation in intact cells. Evidence for hormone-induced hyperphosphorylation after activation and recycling of hyperphosphorylated receptors. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:7779–7784.
- 42. Almlof T, Wright AP, Gustafsson JA. Role of acidic and phosphorylated residues in gene activation by the glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:17535–17540.
- Webster JC, Jewell CM, Bodwell JE, Munck A, Sar M, Cidlowski JA. Mouse glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation status influences multiple functions of the receptor protein. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:9287–9293.
- 44. Truss M, Bartsch J, Mows C, Chavez S, Beato M. Chromatin structure of the MMTV promoter and its changes during hormonal induction. Cell Mol Neurobiol 1996; 16:85–101.
- Perlmann T. Glucocorticoid receptor DNA-binding specificity is increased by the organization of DNA in nucleosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992; 89:3884–3888.
- 46. Struhl K. Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. Genes Dev 1998; 12:599–606.
- 47. Struhl K, Moqtaderi Z. The TAFs in the HAT. Cell 1998; 94:1-4.
- 48. Ford J, McEwan IJ, Wright AP, Gustafsson JA. Involvement of the transcription factor IID protein complex in gene activation by the N-terminal transactivation domain of the glucocorticoid receptor in vitro. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:1467–1475.
- 49. McKenna NJ, Lanz RB, O'Malley BW. Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. Endocrinol Rev 1999; 20(3):321–344.
- 50. Horwitz KB, Jackson TA, Bain DL, Richer JK, Takimoto GS, Tung L. Nuclear receptor coactivators and corepressors. Mol Endocrinol 1996; 10:1167–1177.
- 51. Wolffe AP, Khochbin S, Dimitrov S. What do linker histones do in chromatin? Bioessays 1997; 19:249–255.
- Robyr D, Wolffe AP, Wahli W. Nuclear hormone receptor coregulators in action: Diversity for shared tasks. Mol Endocrinol 2000; 14(3):329–347.
- Barlev NA, Candau R, Wang L, Darpino P, Silverman N, Berger SL. Characterization of physical interactions of the putative transcriptional adaptor, ADA2, with acidic activation domains and TATA- binding protein. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:19337–19344.
- Katzenellenbogen JA, O'Malley BW, Katzenellenbogen BS. Tripartite steroid hormone receptor pharmacology: interaction with multiple effector sites as a basis for the cell- and promoter-specific action of these hormones. Mol Endocrinol 1996; 10: 119–131.
- Prefontaine GG, Lemieux ME, Giffin W, Schild-Poulter C, Pope L, LaCasse E, Walker P, Hache RJ. Recruitment of octamer transcription factors to DNA by glucocorticoid receptor. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:3416–3430.
- Truss M, Bartsch J, Schelbert A, Hache RJ, Beato M. Hormone induces binding of receptors and transcription factors to a rearranged nucleosome on the MMTV promoter in vivo. EMBO J 1995; 14:1737–1751.
- 57. Archer TK, Lefebvre P, Wolford RG, Hager GL. Transcription factor loading on the MMTV promoter: a bimodal mechanism for promoter activation [published erratum in Science 256(5054):161]. Science 1992; 255:1573–1576.
- Rigaud G, Roux J, Pictet R, Grange T. In vivo footprinting of rat TAT gene: dynamic interplay between the glucocorticoid receptor and a liver-specific factor. Cell 1991; 67:977–986.
- 59. Suh DS, Rechler MM. Hepatocyte nuclear factor 1 and the glucocorticoid receptor synergistically activate transcription of the rat insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 gene. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:1822–1831.
- Lucas PC, M. OBR, Mitchell JA, Davis CM, Imai E, Forman BM, Samuels HH, Granner DK. A retinoic acid response element is part of a pleiotropic domain in the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991; 88:2184– 2188.
- Imai E, Miner JN, Mitchell JA, Yamamoto KR, Granner DK. Glucocorticoid receptor-cAMP response element-binding protein interaction and the response of the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene to glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 5353–5356.
- 62. Hall RK, Sladek FM, Granner DK. The orphan receptors COUP-TF and HNF-4 serve as accessory factors required for induction of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene transcription by glucocorticoids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:412–416.
- 63. Wang JC, Stromstedt PE, M. OBR, Granner DK. Hepatic nuclear factor 3 is an ac-

cessory factor required for the stimulation of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene transcription by glucocorticoids. Mol Endocrinol 1996; 10:794–800.

- 64. Diamond MI, Miner JN, Yoshinaga SK, Yamamoto KR. Transcription factor interactions: selectors of positive or negative regulation from a single DNA element. Science 1990; 249:1266–1272.
- 65. Teurich S, Angel P. The glucocorticoid receptor synergizes with Jun homodimers to activate AP-1-regulated promoters lacking GR binding sites. Chem Senses 1995; 20:251–255.
- 66. Nishio Y, Isshiki H, Kishimoto T, Akira S. A nuclear factor for interleukin-6 expression (NF-IL6) and the glucocorticoid receptor synergistically activate transcription of the rat alpha 1-acid glycoprotein gene via direct protein-protein interaction. Mol Cell Biol 1993; 13:1854–1862.
- Bourk M, Savory JG, Hache RJ. AF-2-dependent potentiation of CCAAT enhancer binding protein beta- mediated transcriptional activation by glucocorticoid receptor. Mol Endocrinol 1998; 12:1749–1763.
- Webster JC, Cidlowski JA. Mechanisms of Glucocorticoid-receptor-mediated repression of gene expression. Trends Endocrinol Metab 1999; 10(10):396–402.
- 69. Renkawitz R. Repression mechanisms of v-ERBA and other members of the steroid receptor superfamily. Ann NY Acad Sci 1993; 684:1–10.
- Reichardt HM, Kaestner KH, Tuckermann J, Kretz O, Wessely O, Bock R, Gass P, Schmid W, Herrlich P, Angel P, Schutz G. DNA binding of the glucocorticoid receptor is not essential for survival. Cell 1998; 93:531–541.
- 71. Kamei Y, Xu L, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Kurokawa R, Gloss B, Lin SC, Heyman RA, Rose DW, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. Cell 1996; 85:403– 414.
- 72. Aarnisalo P, Palvimo JJ, Janne OA. CREB-binding protein in androgen receptor-mediated signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:2122–2127.
- 73. Meyer T, Gustafsson JA, Carlstedt-Duke J. Glucocorticoid-dependent transcriptional repression of the osteocalcin gene by competitive binding at the TATA box. DNA Cell Biol 1997; 16:919–927.
- Drouin J, Sun YL, Chamberland M, Gauthier Y, De Lean A, Nemer M, Schmidt TJ. Novel glucocorticoid receptor complex with DNA element of the hormone-repressed POMC gene. EMBO J 1993; 12:145–156.
- 75. Malkoski SP, Handanos CM, Dorin RI. Localization of a negative glucocorticoid response element of the human corticotropin releasing hormone gene. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1997; 127:189–199.
- 76. Malkoski SP, Dorin RI. Composite glucocorticoid regulation at a functionally defined negative glucocorticoid response element of the human corticotropin-releasing hormone gene. Mol Endocrinol 1999; 13(10):1629–1644.
- Goodman PA, Medina-Martinez O, Fernandez-Mejia C. Identification of the human insulin negative regulatory element as a negative glucocorticoid response element. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1996; 120:139–146.
- Zhang G, Zhang L, Duff GW. A negative regulatory region containing a glucocorticosteroid response element (nGRE) in the human interleukin-1beta gene. DNA Cell Biol 1997; 16:145–152.

- Pei L. Identification of a negative glucocorticoid response element in the rat type 1 vasoactive intestinal polypeptide receptor gene. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:20879– 20884.
- Subramaniam N, Cairns W, Okret S. Glucocorticoids repress transcription from a negative glucocorticoid response element recognised by two homeodomain proteins, Pbx-1 and Oct-1. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:23567–23574.
- Cairns C, Cairns W, Okret S. Inhibition of gene expression by steroid hormone receptors via a negative glucocorticoid response element: evidence for the involvement of DNA-binding and agonistic effects of the antiglucocorticoid/antiprogestin RU486. DNA Cell Biol 1993; 12:695–702.
- Subramaniam N, Cairns W, Okret S. Studies on the mechanism of glucocorticoid-mediated repression from a negative glucocorticoid response element from the bovine prolactin gene. DNA Cell Biol 1997; 16:153–163.
- 83. Jonat C, Rahmsdorf HJ, Park KK, Cato AC, Gebel S, Ponta H, Herrlich P. Antitumor promotion and antiinflammation: down-modulation of AP-1 (Fos/Jun) activity by glucocorticoid hormone. Cell 1990; 62:1189–1204.
- Yang-Yen HF, Chambard JC, Sun YL, Smeal T, Schmidt TJ, Drouin J, Karin M. Transcriptional interference between c-Jun and the glucocorticoid receptor: mutual inhibition of DNA binding due to direct protein-protein interaction. Cell 1990; 62: 1205–1215.
- 85. Konig H, Ponta H, Rahmsdorf HJ, Herrlich P. Interference between pathway-specific transcription factors: glucocorticoids antagonize phorbol ester-induced AP-1 activity without altering AP-1 site occupation in vivo. EMBO J 1992; 11:2241–2246.
- Reik A, Stewart AF, Schutz G. Cross-talk modulation of signal transduction pathways: two mechanisms are involved in the control of tyrosine aminotransferase gene expression by phorbol esters. Mol Endocrinol 1994; 8:490–497.
- Liu W, Hillmann AG, Harmon JM. Hormone-independent repression of AP-1-inducible collagenase promoter activity by glucocorticoid receptors. Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15:1005–1013.
- Philips A, Maira M, Mullick A, Chamberland M, Lesage S, Hugo P, Drouin J. Antagonism between nur77 and glucocorticoid receptor for control of transcription. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:5952–5959.
- Kutoh E, Stromstedt PE, Poellinger L. Functional interference between the ubiquitous and constitutive octamer transcription factor 1 (OTF-1) and the glucocorticoid receptor by direct protein-protein interaction involving the homeo subdomain of OTF-1. Mol Cell Biol 1992; 12:4960–4969.
- Wieland S, Dobbeling U, Rusconi S. Interference and synergism of glucocorticoid receptor and octamer factors. EMBO J 1991; 10:2513–2521.
- Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 1995; 270:1354–1357.
- 92. Leers J, Treuter E, Gustafsson JA. Mechanistic principles in NR box-dependent interaction between nuclear hormone receptors and the coactivator TIF2. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:6001–6013.
- Chang CJ, Chen YL, Lee SC. Coactivator TIF1-beta interacts with transcription factor C/EBP-beta and glucocorticoid receptor to induce alpha-1-acid glycoprotein gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:5880–5887.

- Muchardt C, Yaniv M. A human homologue of Saccharomyces cerevisiae SNF2/SWI2 and *Drosophila* brm genes potentiates transcriptional activation by the glucocorticoid receptor. EMBO J 1993; 12:4279–4290.
- 95. Wakui H, Wright AP, Gustafsson J, Zilliacus J. Interaction of the ligand-activated glucocorticoid receptor with the 14-3-3 eta protein. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 8153-8156.
- Henriksson A, Almlof T, Ford J, McEwan IJ, Gustafsson JA, Wright AP. Role of the Ada adaptor complex in gene activation by the glucocorticoid receptor. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:3065–3073.
- Kullmann M, Schneikert J, Moll J, Heck S, Zeiner M, Gehring U, Cato ACB. Rap46 Is a negative regulator of glucocorticoid receptor action and hormone-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:14620–14625.
- Subramaniam N, Treuter E, Okret S. Receptor interacting protein 140 inhibits both positive and negative gene regulation by glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 1999; 274(25):18121–18127.
- Treuter E, Albrektsen T, Johansson L, Leers J, Gustafsson JA. A regulatory role for Rip140 in nuclear receptor activation. Mol Endocrinol 1998; 12:864–881.
- Friedman JR, Fredericks WJ, Jensen DE, Speicher DW, Huang XP, Neilson EG, Rauscher FJr. KAP-1, a novel corepressor for the highly conserved KRAB repression domain. Genes Dev 1996; 10:2067–2078.
- Feng W, Ribeiro RC, Wagner RL, Nguyen H, Apriletti JW, Fletterick RJ, Baxter JD, Kushner PJ, West BL. Hormone-dependent coactivator binding to a hydrophobic cleft on nuclear receptors. Science 1998; 280:1747–1749.
- Huang S-M, Stallcup MR. Mouse Zac1, a transcriptional coactivator and repressor for nuclear receptors Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20(5):1855–1867.
- L'Horset F, Dauvois S, Heery DM, Cavailles V, Parker MG. RIP-140 interacts with multiple nuclear receptors by means of two distinct sites. Mol Cell Biol 1996; 16:6029–6036.
- 104. Heery DM, Kalkhoven E, Hoare S, Parker MG. A signature motif in transcriptional co-activators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature 1997; 387:733–736.
- Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. The coregulator exchange in transcriptional functions of nuclear receptors. Genes Dev 2000; 14:121–141.
- 106. Grant PA, Schieltz D, Pray-Grant MG, Steger DJ, Reese JC, Yates JR, Workman JL. A subset of TAF(II)s are integral components of the SAGA complex required for nucleosome acetylation and transcriptional stimulation. Cell 1998; 94:45–53.
- 107. Giles RH. Update CBP/p300 transgenic mice. Trends Genet 1998; 14:214.
- Göttlicher M, Heck S, Herrlich P. Transcriptional cross-talk, the second mode of steroid hormone receptor action. J Mol Med 1998; 76:480–489.
- Pearce D, Matsui W, Miner JN, Yamamoto KR. Glucocorticoid receptor transcriptional activity determined by spacing of receptor and nonreceptor DNA sites. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:30081–30085.
- 110. Wiegers GJ, Reul JM. Induction of cytokine receptors by glucocorticoids: functional and pathological significance. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1998; 19(8):317–321.
- 111. Van der Burg B, Liden J, Okret S, Delaunay F, Wissink S, van der Saag PT, Gustafsson J-Å. Nuclear factor-κ B repression in antiinflammation and immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. Trends Endocrinol Metab 1997; 8(4):152–157.

- 112. Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. NF-kappa B: a pivotal role in asthma and a new target for therapy. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1997; 18:46–50.
- 113. Caldenhoven E, Liden J, Wissink S, Van de Stolpe A, Raaijmakers J, Koenderman L, Okret S, Gustafsson JA, Van der Saag PT. Negative cross-talk between RelA and the glucocorticoid receptor: a possible mechanism for the antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids. Mol Endocrinol 1995; 9:401–412.
- 114. Wissink S, van Heerde EC, Schmitz ML, Kalkhoven E, van der Burg B, Baeuerle PA, van der Saag PT. Distinct domains of the RelA NF-kappaB subunit are required for negative cross-talk and direct interaction with the glucocorticoid receptor. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:22278–22284.
- 115. Heck S, Kullmann M, Gast A, Ponta H, Rahmsdorf HJ, Herrlich P, Cato AC. A distinct modulating domain in glucocorticoid receptor monomers in the repression of activity of the transcription factor AP-1. EMBO J 1994; 13:4087–4095.
- McKay LI, Cidlowski JA. Molecular control of immune/inflammatory responses: interactions between nuclear factor-κB and steroid receptor-signaling pathways. Endocrinol Rev 1999; 20(4):435–439.
- 117. Van den Berghe W, De Bosscher K, Boone E, Plaisance S, Haegeman G. The nuclear factor-B engages CBP/p300 and histone acetyltransferase activity for transcriptional activation of the interleukin-6 gene promoter. J Biol Chem 1998; 274(45):32091–32098.
- 118. Van den Berghe W, Francesconi E, De Bosscher K, Resche-Rigon M, Haegeman G. Dissociated glucocorticoids with anti-inflammatory potential repress interleukin-6 gene expression by a nuclear factor-kappaB-dependent mechanism. Mol Pharmacol 1999; 56(4):797–806.
- Sheppard KA, Phelps KM, Williams AJ, Thanos D, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, Gerritsen ME, Collins T. Nuclear integration of glucocorticoid receptor and nuclear factor-kappaB signaling by CREB-binding protein and steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:29291–29294.
- Scheinman RI, Cogswell PC, Lofquist AK, Baldwin AS Jr. Role of transcriptional activation of I kappa B alpha in mediation of immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. Science 1995; 270(5234):283–286.
- Auphan N, DiDonato JA, Rosette C, Helmberg A, Karin M. Immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: inhibition of NF-kappa B activity through induction of I kappa B synthesis. Science 1995; 270(5234):286–290.
- Heck S, Bender K, Kullmann M, Gottlicher M, Herrlich P, Cato AC. I kappaB alpha-independent downregulation of NF-kappaB activity by glucocorticoid receptor. EMBO J 1997; 16(15):4698–4707.
- 123. Dumont A, Hehner SP, Schmitz ML, Gustafsson J-Å, Liden J, Okret S. Van der Saag, Wissink, S, van der Burg B, Herrlich P, Haegeman G, de Bosscher K, Fiers W. Cross-talk between steroids and NF-κB: What language? Trends Biol Sci 1998; 23:233–235.
- 124. Adcock IM, Nasuhara Y, Stevens DA, Barnes PJ. Ligand-induced differentiation of glucocorticoid receptor (GR) trans-repression and transactivation: preferential targetting of NF-kappaB and lack of I-kappaB involvement. Br J Pharmacol 1999; 127(4):1003–1011.

- Rodriguez MS, Thompson J, Hay RT, Dargemont C. Nuclear retention of Ikappa-Balpha protects it from signal-induced degradation and inhibits nuclear factor kappaB transcriptional activation. J Biol Chem 1999; 274(13):9108–9115.
- Johnson C, Van Antwerp D, Hope TJ. An N-terminal nuclear export signal is required for the nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of IkappaBalpha. EMBO J 1999; 18(23): 6682–6693.
- 127. Harhaj EW, Sun SC. Regulation of RelA subcellular localization by a putative nuclear export signal and p50. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 9(10):7088–7095.
- 128. Morand EF, Leech M. Glucocorticoid regulation of inflammation: the plot thickens. Inflamm Res 1999; 48:557–560.

Discussion

- **Dr. Hochhaus:** In the last years, a number of papers were published which demonstrated differences in the activities of certain GC on transrepression and transactivation. Are these differences likely to result in steroids with higher selectivity?
- **Dr. Okret:** It is difficult to evaluate the selectivity of the reported GC with regard to transrepression and transactivation. Furthermore, we know very little about the relative contribution of transactivation versus transrepression for complex in vivo responses like the anti-inflammatory, osteoporotic, or antiproliferative effects of GC. However, I believe that new discriminating GC will show a higher selectivity with fewer side effects. A GC with transrepressing activity but no transactivating activity will most likely be efficient as an anti-inflammatory drug with less diabetogenic effect, since the first activity is generally believed mainly to involve transrepression, while transactivation of gluconeogenic enzymes in the liver is thought to be important for the latter effect.
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** Do you have any comments regarding the current status and trends regarding the β -subunit of the receptor? Does it exist, is it expressed to an increased extent in patients considered as nonresponders, and does it contribute to the nonresponsiveness?
- **Dr. Okret:** We are not working with the GR β . However, in the literature the possible effect of GR β as an inhibitor of GR α activity is a matter of debate. According to my opinion, the crucial experiment, i.e., determination of the levels of endogenous GR β versus GR α in one cell, is still missing. Before this is determined, it is difficult to draw any conclusion with regard to the contribution of GR β to GC insensitivity.
- **Dr. Hamid:** We recently reported the increased expression of GR β immunoreactivity in steroid resistant asthma and in T cells in response to cytokine stimulation. We are currently using PCR to demonstrate the increased amount of GR β mRNA compared to GR α in response to cytokine stimulation in T cells.
- **Dr. Okret:** I cannot add more than that I responded to the question by Dr. Edsbäcker.
- **Dr. Karin:** How did you measure repression of NF κ B transcriptional activity through endogenous GR in U937 cells? Did you reintroduce GR mutants to receptor-negative U937 cells?
- **Dr. Okret:** We measured repression of NF_KB activity in the U937 cells by the endogenous GR by determining ICAM-1 expression. ICAM-1 expression was

repressed in these cells following GC treatment. It has previously been shown that GC-mediated repression of ICAM-1 transcription is mediated by the NF κ B site in the ICAM-1 promoter (van de Stolpe et al. Am J. Respir Cell Mol Biol 1993; 8:340–347). We don't have access to GR-negative U937 cells and are not aware that such cells exist. Thus, we have not been able to perform the experiment of reintroducing GR in GR-negative U937 cells.

- **Dr. Brattsand:** What is the turnover time of the activated GC receptor? Does it differ between the dimeric and monomeric forms? Does the ligand need to be metabolically stable all the time in the complex, or is it sufficient that the ligand just initiates the conformational changes?
- **Dr. Okret:** Many years ago we determined the turnover rate of the GR in rat hepatoma cells (H4IIE). The half-life of the GR in the absence of ligand was around 25 hours, while in the presence of dexamethasone it was 12 hours. Whether there are differences in half-lives of the GR in different cell types, we do not know. Furthermore, we do not know whether there is a difference in the half-life of dimeric versus monomeric GR. This would be very difficult to determine in the cell. With regard to the fate of the ligand following binding and induction of the conformational change in the GR, this is to my knowledge not known. It is not known whether the ligand has to sit in the ligand-binding pocket all the time to maintain the conformational change in the GR or whether it can dissociate following induction of the structural changes. However, it is known that the structural changes involve movement of helix 12 in the ligand-binding domain to become a lid over the ligand-binding pocket, creating a surface for coactivator interaction. This "embedding" of the ligand results in a lower dissociation rate of ligand from the receptor.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** There is an interesting counterregulation between GR and NF κ B. Not only does GR antagonize NF κ B by physical interaction, but it also induces I κ B. As you pointed out, NF κ B in turn can inhibit GR effects by the same interaction. To complete the symmetry, NF κ B appears to be an inducer of GR β . Over the next few years, we will be discussing the relationship between β -adrenergic agonists and steroids, as combination preparations are coming onto the market. Since the catalytic subunit of adenlyl cyclase is associated with, and necessary for, NF κ B activation, I wonder how elevations of cAMP might alter NF κ B activation and its influence on the actions of glucocorticoids? A related question is whether you have confirmed the results of Eickelman et al. showing ligand-independent activation of GR by salmeterol (or another β agonist)?
- **Dr. Karin:** If cAMP potentiates NF κ B activity, it may be more difficult to inhibit it by glucocorticoids. However, the clinical activators of NF κ B that matter most for asthma—TNF and IL-1—don't have much effect on intracellular

levels of cAMP. On the other hand, the effect of cAMP on T-cell apoptosis could also be due to modification of signaling via the T-cell receptor, which has profound and complex effects on apoptosis.

- **Dr. Brattsand:** We have studied how RU486 affects the cytokine blocking efficacy of the β_2 -agonist formoterol in a bronchial epithelial cell model. While RU fully blocks the anticytokine effects off budesonide, it does not at all counteract the cytokine-modulating activity of formeterol. This suggests that the cytokine-modulating effect of β_2 -agonists is not mediated by the GC receptor in these cells.
- **Dr. Georas:** Regarding the GR β -isoform, John Cidlowski has a recent paper showing that GR β can bind DNA, and antagonize transacting effects of GR α (Oakley RH, Jewell CM, Yudt MR, Bofetiado DM, Cidlowski JA. The dominant negative activity of the human glucocorticoid receptor beta isoform. Specificity and mechanisms of action. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:27857–27866). In the context of the GR using coactivators and possibly corepressors to regulate gene expression, what is the role of ligand binding for the GR to function? The current paradigm for many nuclear receptors is that ligand induces a conformational change favoring the association with coactivators over corepressors. How do you reconcile this with: (1) the need for nuclear translocation of the GR and (2) the observation that the GR can both activate and repress many genes?
- Dr. Okret: As you mention, it is generally believed that the ligand induces a conformational change of nuclear receptors, which favors association with coactivators over corepressors. However, in the case of the GR, no interaction with classical corepressors like N-Cor or SMRT has been demonstrated. One can speculate that the requirement for corepressor binding to the GR is less important as an additional control level of GR activation exists, namely the requirement for nuclear translocation. In contrast to most other nuclear receptors, the GR is localized in the cytoplasm in the absence of ligand, and it only translocates to the nucleus following ligand binding. The role of the corepressor seems mainly to be to keep the receptor in an inactive state rather than to be involved in negative gene regulation. In contrast, competition for coactivators has been suggested to play a role in negative gene regulation. However, several observations exist that argue against this mechanism for negative gene regulation by the GR. Furthermore, data are also available that indicate that negative gene regulation may not require the same conformational changes in the receptor as positive gene regulation.

Relationship of Dose- and Time-Dependent Corticosteroid Responses to Receptor Turnover

WILLIAM J. JUSKO

School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences State University of New York at Buffalo Buffalo, New York

I. Introduction

The initial step in producing biological responses to administered corticosteroids is the diffusion of unbound drug from plasma into cells for interaction with cytosolic receptors. Some types of cells or tissues show responses rapidly, while others have a lag phase or slow onset of effect caused by a gene-mediated mechanism of action (1). Both types of responses last considerably beyond the time course of active drug in the system. For example, methylprednisolone, a moderately lipid-soluble compound, rapidly distributes into various cells and tissues and has a pharmacokinetic $t_{1/2}$ of 2–3 hours in humans and a duration of biological effects of 18–36 hours, depending on dose. An array of pharmacokinetic/pharmaco-dynamic (PK/PD) models have been proposed to rationalize and quantitate these response patterns in both animal and human systems. This chapter describes modeling efforts based on physiological principles that produce plausible methods of quantitating and predicting the effects of corticosteroids. The role of dose and timing or duration of drug administration in actual or expected pharmacological responses from corticosteroids will be emphasized.

II. Dynamics of Rapid Steroid Effects

A family of relatively simple pharmacodynamic relationships was initially evolved (2,3) to describe the "rapid" or non–gene-mediated effects of corticosteroids on cell trafficking patterns of basophils (measured as whole blood histamine), T-helper cells, and other lymphocytes. It is assumed that corticosteroids cause an immediate change in the affinity of cells for distribution sites in an extravascular compartment. The decline in cell number, such as shown in Figure 1, is attributed to inhibition of cell movement from extravascular sites into blood (k_{in}); blood cell replenishment (k_{out}) occurs when steroid concentrations in plasma fall below the concentration (C) producing 50% inhibition (IC₅₀ value). The IC₅₀ value for methylprednisolone effects in humans is similar in magnitude to its K_D , or drug-receptor equilibrium dissociation constant. The type of equation used to quantitate indirect effects such as in Figure 1, where the drug inhibits k_{in} is:

$$\frac{\mathrm{dR}}{\mathrm{dt}} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{in}} \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{max}} \cdot \mathbf{C}}{\mathrm{IC}_{50} + \mathrm{C}} \right) - \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{out}} \cdot \mathbf{R}$$

where I_{max} represents the maximal fractional inhibition of k_{in} (3).



Figure 1 Pharmacokinetic (left) and pharmacodynamic (right) models of cell trafficking (blood basophils measured as whole blood histamine) following doses of $10 \text{ mg}(\bigcirc)$, $20 \text{ mg}(\bigcirc)$, and $40 \text{ mg}(\bigtriangleup)$ of methylprednisolone in one male subject. Equations for the suppression model (shown at the top) fitted baseline and all dose levels simultaneously. Symbols are experimental data, lines are fitted with model. (Adapted from Ref. 2.)

The models for basophil cell (4) and helper T-cell (5) trafficking have allowed for accurate quantitation of cell movement between blood and extravascular sites and permits extrapolation of effects to a wider range of steroid doses and administration methods. The helper T-cell model includes the complexity of circadian rhythm in baseline behavior of these cells. Similar equations and patterns are applicable to adrenal suppressive effects of methylprednisolone (6) and fluticasone propionate (7) with an added complication of an irregular circadian synthesis and secretion of cortisol, which governs the baseline conditions.

In considering optimal dosage regimens, the hypothesis was made that a "steroid-sparing" effect could be achieved by designing dosage regimens such that a loading dose occupies all of the receptors as they recycle following drug elimination. This was tested and confirmed in human studies (8) monitoring basophil trafficking and adrenal suppression. We studied the pharmacodynamic responses to single (40 mg) and divided (20 mg, 5 mg) bolus doses of methylprednisolone in healthy men. Divided dosing offered improved pharmacodynamic availabilities (ratio of AUC of effect) of 1.38 for whole blood histamine and 1.92 for cortisol suppression. Thus, by dosing methylprednisolone in a prolonged or divided fashion, it is possible to administer lower doses to achieve equivalent or better effects than large single doses. Unfortunately, this applies to both beneficial and adverse effects.

III. Role of Administration Rate

Gobburu and Jusko (9) performed computer simulations and a limited literature review to assess the role of drug-delivery rate on responses expected for drugs with indirect mechanisms of action. Figure 2 shows the simulated pharmaco-kinetic profiles following the administration of a moderate dose of a hypothetical drug as either an intravenous bolus or an infusion over various durations (6, 12, 24, 48, 72 h). The infusion rates varied more than eightfold, allowing the importance of rate of drug delivery on the efficiency to be assessed. This dose produced concentrations just above an IC₅₀ of 100 ng/mL for long periods of time. The pharmacodynamic profiles after bolus and infusion dosing show their expected behavior with the response being inhibited. Figure 2 depicts a marked reduction of the response from the baseline value after administration of the bolus dose. The extended delivery produced a similar maximum response with a fourfold increase in the AUC of effect. An optimum regimen will consist of a modest loading dose followed by continuous delivery to keep receptors occupied.

IV. Liposomal Methylprednisolone

A demonstration of a pronounced steroid-sparing phenomenon caused by extended delivery and local retention occurred in an evaluation of the kinetics, receptor



Figure 2 Simulated time course of plasma drug concentrations (top) and inhibitory indirect responses (bottom) during and after infusions of a moderate dose of drug for the indicated time periods. (Adapted from Ref. 9.)

binding, and immunosuppression from solution versus liposomal formulations of methylprednisolone in rats (10). The latter produced marked tissue (liver and spleen) retention of the steroid and a 12-fold increase in receptor occupancy (Fig. 3). A pharmacodynamic measure of immunosuppression, inhibition of ex vivo rat splenocyte proliferation following stimulation with a mitogen, was augmented to an even greater degree by the liposomal drug. These studies show that prolonged local steroid concentrations can enhance steroid effects and offer promise that pharmacodynamic models will provide a basis for improved rationalization of steroid dosage regimens.



Figure 3 Methylprednisolone concentrations as a function of time (upper panel) after 2 mg/kg iv dose in rat plasma (small circles) and spleen (large circles); receptor density in rat spleen (middle panel); and inhibition of splenocyte proliferation (bottom panel). Open symbols (left panels): drug solution. Closed symbols (right panels): liposomal formulation. Curves are produced by fitting of data to an appropriate pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic model. (Adapted from Ref. 10.)

V. Drug Interactions

Corticosteroids exert their immunosuppressive properties partly by binding to intracellular steroid receptors and inhibiting the activities of transcription factors such as NF- κ B (11,12). The inhibition of NF- κ B results in an increase in an

NF- κ B regulatory protein called I κ B. I κ B stabilizes NF- κ B and prevents its entry into the nucleus of the cell, resulting a reduction in production of cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-2. With this blockage in synthesis of cytokines, T-cell proliferation in response to alloantigens is reduced. The net effect is inhibition of the inductive phase of cytotoxic T cells and prevention of graft rejection.

Sirolimus is a new macrolide immunosuppressive compound acting at the mid-late G_1 phase of the cell cycle through an original mechanism blocking transductional signals produced by the fixation of cytokines (e.g., IL-1, IL-2, and IL-6) to their membrane receptors (13,14). Sirolimus differs from cyclosporin A and steroids in its mode of action because at the G_0 phase, cyclosporin A acts by inhibiting IL-2 gene transcription and steroids act by decreasing cytokine (e.g., IL-1, Iymphocyte function-associated antigen-1) gene transcription. Thus, as prednisolone and sirolimus act through different mechanisms at the cytokine gene transcription or signal transduction levels, their combination may produce additive or synergistic therapeutic effects.

Drug interactions were studied using lectin-induced proliferation of isolated cell lymphocytes and whole blood lymphocytes from men and women as well as two-way mixed-lymphocyte reaction assays (15). Drug interactions were described with isobolograms and quantitated with the universal response surface approach for estimating the interaction parameter α (Fig. 4). All compounds inhibited more than 89% of control proliferative responses. In each assay, sirolimus was of similar or higher potency than prednisolone and 1.5-fold more potent in men than women. All combinations were profoundly synergistic ($\alpha >>0$). These studies indicated that prednisolone and sirolimus synergistically interact in vitro, with



Drug concentration, nM

Figure 4 Effects of prednisolone and sirolimus on inhibition of mitogen-stimulated human lymphocyte proliferation. The isobologram shows marked synergism when the drugs are included in various combinations. (Adapted from Ref. 15.)

1

gender and assay as additional factors, and that whole blood lymphocyte proliferation cultures are useful in assessing the nature and intensity of drug interactions.

VI. Dynamics of Receptor Gene–Mediated Processes

The processes for glucocorticoid receptor (GR) regulation and receptor gene-mediated effects of corticosteroids are depicted in Figure 5 and modeled as indicated in Figure 6. With their moderate lipophilicity, free corticosteroids easily diffuse into cells of target tissues. Our modeling assumes that free drug in plasma (D) is immediately accessible to cytosolic receptors. The receptors are also controlled by their synthesis (k_{synGR}) and degradation (k_{dgrGR}) rates. These steroids quickly bind to the glucocorticoid receptor located in the cytoplasm, and the complex immediately alters its configuration. Dissociation of heat-shock proteins (hsp) from the receptor occurs, including hsp 90, hsp 70, and hsp 56 (19). Without these heatshock proteins, the steroid-receptor complex is subject to phosphorylation (20) and can translocate from the cytoplasm into the nucleus. Our models account for reversible (k_{on} , k_{re}) steroid-receptor binding and then first-order transfer (k_r) of the complex into nuclear-bound material [DR(N)].

In the nucleus, two units of the complex aggregate as a "dimer" (21). Zinc finger modules on the dimer bind to control sequences adjacent to the target gene. These control elements, which are palindromic repeats of a specific hexamer sequence, are called glucocorticoid-responsive elements (GRE) (22,23). The GRE is a transcription promotor element located 240-260 bases upstream from the starting point of transcription on the DNA template strand. With the interactions of RNA polymerase complexes, the steroid-receptor complex will activate the transcription of specific RNAs from the promoter. This is modeled with a distribution rate constant (k_N) between DR(N) and a transcription compartment (TC). In turn, a first-order transcription constant (EF_1) is used in the model to relate TC to the mRNA level of TAT. Finally, mRNA translocates to the cytoplasm (24), and it exists for a finite time governed by an elimination constant, $k_{der, TAT mRNA}$.

Expression of a specific protein occurs in the cytoplasm after the transcription of its mRNA. The mRNA is associated with ribosomal RNA (rRNA) for the translation of protein. The latter proceeds with the aid of transfer RNAs (tRNAs), which recognize the sequence codes on the mRNA template and carry specific amino acids as the materials to build the protein (25). The induced protein may be an enzyme (such as TAT) or have other regulatory functions (such as I κ B α). The production (EF₁) and loss of TAT (k_{dgr,TAT}) were modeled as first-order constants.

Downregulation of GR mRNA after treatment with glucocorticoids has been studied in several in vitro systems. Two different mechanisms have been proposed. "Nuclear run-on" transcription techniques in liver nuclei isolated from ADX rats were used (26) to study transcription rates of GR mRNA. It was



Figure 5 Receptor gene–mediated pharmacodynamic model for corticosteroids. See text for details. (Adapted from Ref. 17.)

concluded that the downregulation of GR mRNA after treatment with dexamethasone was due to a decreased transcription rate for the messenger. The activated steroid-receptor complex in the nucleus may interact with its own gene and inhibit GR mRNA transcription ($k_{syn,GRmRNA}$) by interfering with the formation of a transcription initiation complex or physically blocking RNA chain elongation.

However, activated steroid-receptor complex in cytoplasm has been shown to decrease the stability of GR mRNA in mouse AT-20 cells (27). It was postu-



Figure 6 Pharmacodynamic model of corticosteroid actions in rat liver. D, Steroid concentration at hepatic cytosol receptor site; R, free glucocorticoid receptor density; DR, steroid-receptor complex in the cytoplasm; DR(N), steroid-receptor complex in the nucleus; mRNA_{GR}, GR mRNA level; $k_{syn,GRmRNA}$, transcription rate of GR mRNA; $k_{dgr,GRmRNA}$, degradation rate of GR mRNA; $k_{syn,GR}$, translation factor for GR synthesis; $k_{dgr,GR}$, degradation rate of GR; k_{on} , association rate constant for steroid receptor binding; k_T , first-order rate constant for the translocation of steroid-receptor complex into the nucleus; k_{re} , overall turnover rate of DR(N); R_f , recycling fraction; TC, transcription compartment in which steroid-receptor complex initiates the transcription; k_N , distribution rate constant between DR(N) and TC; γ , a power term; mRNA_{TAT}, TAT mRNA level; EF₁, transcription factor for TAT mRNA induction; $k_{dgr,TATmRNA}$, degradation rate constant for TAT mRNA; TAT, TAT activity level; EF₂, translation factor for TAT induction; $k_{dgr,TAT}$, degradation rate constant for TAT.

lated that steroid-receptor complex may replace some binding proteins on GR mRNA, which are essential for the protection from RNAses (28). Steroid-receptor complex may therefore increase the degradation rate constant of the messenger ($k_{dgr,GRmRNA}$). Regardless of the mechanism of GR mRNA downregulation, the expression of new GR protein will be suppressed after glucocorticoid treatment due to downregulation of GR mRNA, which is the translation template for GR protein (16).

The fate of translocated steroid-receptor complex after the transcription of target genes is not yet well understood. Some of these complexes may return to the cytoplasm after they are dissociated from the GRE (16). This process is referred to as glucocorticoid receptor "recycling." While some of the receptors are degraded in the process [(1-R_f) k_{re}], the rest of the them may be reassembled (R_f·k_{re}) with heat-shock proteins and become active receptors. These receptors are ready to bind to steroids and reinitiate the whole process. Munck and Holbrook (29) employed this recycling theory and demonstrated rapid kinetic behavior with cyclic

models for glucocorticoid receptor complexes in rat thymus cells. Receptor recycling may play an important role in the recovery from GR downregulation, and the fraction recycled was captured as a constant, R_{f} .

VII. Pharmacodynamic Studies

Tyrosine aminotransferase (TAT) is a hepatic enzyme and commonly employed biological maker used to study the delayed responses of corticosteroids. TAT induction in rat liver was modeled as a receptor-mediated effect of prednisolone in our first- and second-generation models (30-32). Quantitative Northern hybridization methods (33) allowed us to determine GR messenger RNA (mRNA) and TAT mRNA levels at different time points after corticosteroid treatment. This resulted in a third-generation model for corticosteroid pharmacodynamics in which the roles of GR mRNA in GR downregulation and TAT mRNA in TAT induction by MPL were examined (34). Our present fourth-generation model (35-37) is shown in Figure 6. Our experimental measurements can only capture cytoplasmic events, and processes occurring in the nucleus are modeled as a "black-box" based on a transit-compartment approach (38).

The model was applied and derived from the PK/PD data shown in Figure 7. Following a 50 mg/kg IV bolus dose of methylprednisolone in a group of adrenalectomized rats, the decline in MPL plasma concentrations was biexponential with a terminal half-life of about 0.6 hour. The steroid was undetectable by 7 hours. The profile of GR mRNA concentrations declined from a baseline of 25.8 fmol/g to the trough of 47% of the initial value and slowly returned to the baseline over 24-48 hours. It appeared that the steroid-receptor complex in the nucleus was able to suppress GR transcription for up to 10 hours postdoing. The time course of free GR showed an immediate decline after dosing, indicating that after steroid-receptor binding, the dissociation of hsp and translocation must be extremely rapid steps, which could be captured with a single rate constant (k_T). The recovery showed two phases with recovery from 0 to 30% of the baseline occurring in the first 10 hours. The second phase, which was parallel to the recovery of GR mRNA, was much slower and required 72 hours.

The first phase of GR recovery was modeled as coming from the recycling of DR(N), as suggested by Oakley and Cidlowski (16). The end of the first phase shown in Figure 7 was about 30% of the GR baseline value, which is lower than the estimated R_f value (0.49), suggesting that about 40–50% of DR(N) will become a steroid-activatable form of GR again in cytoplasm. Since the first phase of GR recovery was within 10 hours after dosing, the MPL plasma concentration was still sufficient to form DR when free GR was recycled in the first few hours. These results suggest that some of the glucocorticoid receptors were involved in the entire cycle [forming DR, DR(N), initiating transcription, being recycled and reactivated in the cytoplasm] more than once before the receptor protein was degraded.



Figure 7 Time course of responses to methylprednisolone after a 50 mg/kg iv bolus dose in rats: hepatic glucocorticoid receptor messenger RNA, free glucocorticoid receptor density, TAT mRNA, and TAT activity. Data points are experimental measurements and lines are fittings to the model shown in Figure 6. (Adapted from Ref. 36.)

The literature suggests (16) that the half-life of steroid-untreated GR mRNA is about 4–5 hours. Therefore, the estimated half-life of GR mRNA (0.693/ $k_{dgr,GRmRNA}$) of 6 hours is reasonable. These results showed that assuming that activated steroid-receptor complex interferes with the transcription rate of GR mRNA is suitable for quantitating GR mRNA and GR downregulation in this analysis.

The induction of TAT mRNA in rat liver is shown in Figure 7. The TAT mRNA induction starts at about 1.5 hours, the peak appears at about 5.5 hours, and declines to baseline in 14 hours after MPL dosing. The transit compartment (TC) captures the delay through the k_T and k_N steps, while the EF₁ constant allows for a change in units as well as part of the rise in mRNA TAT concentrations. In addition, a power coefficient (γ) is used as a signal amplifier to control the sharpness of the mRNA TAT peak. A γ value of 2.4 was found.

Following a similar pattern as TAT mRNA, the induction of TAT activity has a lag time of about 2 hours. The curve rises in parallel to TAT mRNA, reaches its maximum activity at about 7 hours, and declines to the baseline by about 18 hours postdosing. The decline of TAT is parallel to that of TAT mRNA.

The present fourth-generation PK/PD model for receptor gene-mediated corticosteroid effects is parsimonious in capturing a diverse array of steps in corticosteroid action with a minimum number of parameters, but it has predictive power and greater generality than for TAT induction. The published model was used to anticipate the modulation of responses from a second dose of methyl-prednisolone when given 24 hours after the first dose. Since the GR mRNA and free receptors are not fully recovered by 24 hours after a 50 mg/kg dose, the model predicted and experimentation confirmed that the TAT mRNA and TAT responses would be reduced following a second dose (36). This is a natural type of "toler-ance" phenomenon.

Muscle tissue from the same rats used for the TAT analyses was employed to assess the effects of methylprednisolone on induction of mRNA and glutamine synthetase (GS) activity (37). It was surprising how similar the patterns of GR mRNA and free GR were in muscle and liver. The induction profile of GS mRNA and GS were also similar to that of TAT mRNA and TAT, but the former occurred over a slightly longer time frame.

VIII. Dosage Regimen Simulations

The receptor gene-mediated PK/PD model was used further to assess the role of dose and delivery rate on receptor, mRNA, and TAT responses. Figure 8 shows the predicted effects of doses ranging from 5 to 100 mg/kg of methylprednisolone using parameters generated as described above. Clear differences in most response profiles are seen between the 5 and higher doses, but little change occurs between 20 and 100 mg/kg doses. Thus the system seems to be near capacity in this region. Figure 9 depicts simulations of responses to a 100 mg/kg dose infused over 1, 4, 8, and 12 hours. Receptor occupancy, in particular, is enhanced by slower drug delivery. The TAT response is essentially doubled when the drug is infused slowly. The initial high concentrations of corticosteroid after rapid administration cause part of the dose to be wasted as receptors become fully occupied. Improved efficacy is gained by extending the exposure of drug to receptors so that additional stimulus is gained as the receptors are recycled or regenerated. This concept was verified in an earlier experiment (39) showing that receptor and TAT profiles were similar when methylprednisolone was given as three 5 mg/kg doses at 1-hour intervals versus a single bolus of 25 mg/kg.

These types of studies provide useful insights into the role of dose and timing on selected short-term responses to corticosteroids in animal systems. Studies are underway to address the effects of chronic doses (long-term infusions) on these response systems. The general framework of these studies encompasses pharmacodynamics from a systems pharmacological perspective using tools of molecular biology and PK/PD modeling to assess in vivo drug responses in a reasonably un-



Figure 8 Simulations of the PK/PD effects of dose (5–100 mg/kg) of methylprednisolone on the pharmacokinetics and indicated receptor mRNA, and TAT activities.



Figure 9 Simulations of the PK/PD effects of alterations of delivery rate of methylprednisolone with a dose of 100 mg/kg infused over the indicated durations of time.

perturbed manner. The modeling and experimental approaches used for corticosteroids for animal and human responses have provided several conceptual advances in the area of mechanism-based PK/PD modeling including use of indirect response modeling (3), dealing with circadian rhythms (7), role of drug-receptor binding (30-36), signal transduction processes (38), enzyme induction, tolerance or downregulation (32,35), and a systems-analysis approach to interconnected complex processes (35).

Acknowledgment

This work was supported in part by NIH Grant No. GM 24211.

References

- Jusko WJ, Ludwig EA. Corticosteroids. In: Evans WE, Schentag JJ, Jusko WJ, eds. Applied Pharmacokinetics: Principles of Therapeutic Drug Monitoring. Vancouver, WA: Applied Therapeutics Inc., 1994:1–34.
- Kong A-N, Ludwig EA, Slaughter RL, DiStefano PM, DeMasi J, Middleton Jr E, Jusko WJ. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic modeling of direct suppression effects of methylprednisolone on serum cortisol and blood histamine in human subjects. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1989; 46:616–628.
- Dayneka NL, Garg V, Jusko WJ. Comparison of four basic models of indirect pharmacodynamic responses. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1993; 21:457–478.
- Wald JA, Salazar DE, Cheng H, Jusko WJ. Two-compartment basophil cell trafficking model for methylprednisolone pharmacodynamics. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1991; 19:521–536.
- Fisher LE, Ludwig EA, Jusko WJ. Pharmacoimmunodynamics of methylprednisolone: trafficking of helper T lymphocytes. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1992; 20: 319–331.
- Dunn TE, Ludwig EA, Slaughter RL, Camara DS, Jusko WJ. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of methylprednisolone in obesity. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1991; 50:536–549.
- Chakraborty A, Krzyzanski W, Jusko WJ. Mathematical modeling of circadian cortisol concentrations using indirect response models: comparison of several methods. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1999; 27:23–43.
- Reiss WG, Slaughter RL, Ludwig EA, Middleton Jr E, Jusko WJ. Steroid dosesparing: pharmacodynamic responses to single versus divided doses of methylprednisolone in man. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:1058–1066.
- 9. Gobburu J, Jusko WJ. Role of dosage regimen in controlling indirect pharmacodynamic responses. Advanced Drug Del Rev 1998; 33:221–233.
- Mishina EV, Straubinger RM, Pyszczynski NA, Jusko WJ. Enhancement of tissue delivery and receptor occupancy of methylprednisolone in rats by a liposomal formulation. Pharm Res 1993; 10:1402–1410.

- Scheinman RI, Cogswell PC, Lofquist AK, Baldwin AS. Role of transcriptional activation of IκBα in mediation of immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. Science 1995; 270:283–286.
- Auphan N, Didonato JA, Rosette C, Helmberg A, Karn M. Immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: inhibition of NF-κB activity through induction of 1κB synthesis. Science 1995; 270:286–288.
- Metcalfe SM, Richards FM. Cyclosporine, FK506, and rapamycin: some effects on early activation events in serum-free, mitogen-stimulated mouse spleen cells. Transplantation 1990; 49:798–802.
- 14. Sehgal SN. Rapamune (sirolimus, rapamycin): an overview and mechanism of action. Ther Drug Monit 1995; 17:660–666.
- 15. Ferron GM, Pyszczynski NA, Jusko WJ. Gender-related assessment of cyclosporine/prednisolone/sirolimus interactions in three human lymphocyte proliferation assays. Transplantation 1998; 65:1203–1209.
- 16. Oakley RM, Cidlowski JA. Homologous down regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor: the molecular machinery. Crit Rev Eukary Gen Expr 1993; 3:63–88.
- 17. Tingley DW. Evolutions: steroid-hormone receptor signaling. J NIH Res 1996; 8:81-88.
- Vamvakopoulos NO. Tissue-specific expression of heat shock proteins 70 and 90: potential implication for differential sensitivity of tissues to glucocorticoids. Molec Cell Endocrinol 1993; 98:49–54.
- Czar MJ, Owens-Grillo JK, Dittmar KD, Hutchison KA, Zacharek AM, Leach KL, Deibel Jr MR, Pratt WB. Characterization of the protein-protein interactions determining the shock protein (hsp90.hsp70,hsp56) heterocomplex. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:11155–11161.
- 20. Orti E, Hu LM, Munck A. Kinetics of glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation in intact cells. Evidence for hormone-induced hyperphosphorylation after activation and recycling of hyperphosphorylated receptors. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:7779–7784.
- Segard-Maurel I, Rajkowski K, Jibard N, Schweizer-Groyer G, Baulieu E-E, Cadepond F. Glucocorticoid receptor dimerization investigated by analysis of receptor binding to glucocorticoid responsive elements using a monomer-dimer equilibrium model. Biochemistry 1996; 35:1634–1642.
- Cooney AJ, Tsai SY. Nuclear receptor-DNA interactions. In: Tsai M-J, O'Malley BW, eds. Mechanism of Steroid Hormone Regulation of Gene Transcription. R. G. Landes Company, 1994:25–59.
- 23. Lewin B. Regulation of transcription: factors that activate the basal apparatus. In: Genes V. Oxford University Press, 1994:879–909.
- 24. Lewin B. Control at initiation: RNA polymerase-promotor interactions. In: Genes V. Oxford University Press, 1994: 377–411.
- 25. Lewin B. The assembly line for protein synthesis. In: Genes V. Oxford University Press, 1994:163–195.
- Dong Y, Poellinger L, Gustafsson J-A, Okret S. Regulation of glucocorticoid receptor expression: evidence for transcriptional and posttranslational mechanism. Mol Endo 1988; 2:1256–1264.
- 27. Vedeckis WV, Ali M, Allen HR. Regulation of glucocorticoid receptor protein and mRNA levels. Cancer Res 1989; 49:2295s–2320s.

- Bernstein P, Peltz SW, Ross J. The poly(A)-poly(A)-binding protein complex is a major determination of mRNA stability in vitro. Molec Cell Biol 1989; 9:659–670.
- 29. Munck A, Holbrook NJ. Glucocorticoid-receptor complexes in rat thymus cells: Rapid kinetic behavior and a cyclic model. J Biol Chem 1984; 259:820–831.
- 30. Boudinot FD, D'Ambrosio R, Jusko WJ. Receptor-mediated pharmacodynamics of prednisolone in the rat. J Pharmacokin Biopharm. 1986; 14:469–493.
- Nichols AI, Boudinot FD, Jusko WJ. Second generation model for prednisolone pharmacodynamics in the rat. J Pharmacokin Biopharm. 1989; 17:209–227.
- Haughey DB, Jusko WJ. Receptor-mediated methylprednisolone pharmacodynamics in rats: steroid-induced receptor down-regulation. J Pharmacokin Biopharm 1992; 19:333–355.
- DuBois DC, Almon RR, Jusko WJ. Molar quantification of specific messenger ribonucleic acid expression in Northern hybridization using cRNA standards. Analytical Biochem 1993; 210:140–144.
- Xu Z-X, Sun Y-N, DuBois DC, Almon RR, Jusko WJ. Third-generation model for corticosteroid pharmacodynamics: roles of glucocorticoid receptor mRNA and tyrosine aminotransferase mRNA in rat liver. J Pharmacokin Biopharm 1995; 23:163– 181.
- Sun Y-N, DuBois DC, Almon RR, Jusko WJ. Fourth-generation model for corticosteroid pharmacodynamics: A model for methylprednisolone effects on receptor/genemediated glucocorticoid receptor down-regulation and tyrosine aminotransferase induction in rat liver. J Pharmacokin Biopharm 1998; 26:289–316.
- 36. Sun Y-N, DuBois DC, Almon RR, Pyszczynski NA, Jusko WJ. Dose-dependence and repeated-dose studies for receptor/gene mediated pharmacodynamics of methylprednisolone on glucocorticoid receptor down-regulation and tyrosine aminotransferase induction in rat liver. J Pharmacokin Biopharm 1998; 26:619–648.
- Sun Y-N, McKay LI, DuBois DC, Jusko WJ, Almon RR. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic models for corticosteroid receptor down-regulation and glutamine synthetase induction in rat skeletal muscle by a receptor/gene-mediated mechanism. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 288:720–728.
- Sun Y-N, Jusko WJ. Transit compartments versus gamma distribution function to model signal transduction processes in pharmacodynamics. J Pharm Sci 1998; 87: 732–737.
- Nichols AI, Jusko WJ. Receptor-mediated prednisolone pharmacodynamics in rats: model verification using a dose-sparing regimen. J Pharmacokin Biopharm 1990; 18:189–208.

Discussion

- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** Would you predict that plasma protein binding and nonspecific intracellular binding would greatly affect the predictions you can make from your MP models? As inhaled steroids generally have both a greater plasma protein binding and also a greater receptor affinity, this is of importance for the applicability of the model on the new lipophilic steroids.
- **Dr. Jusko:** Generally in pharmacodynamics, and it applies with corticosteroids, the unbound drug in plasma serves as the driving force and equilibration component for drug access to cells and tissues. This is known as the "free drug hypothesis," which can be attributed to D. Riggs. Unbound drug concentrations, in turn, are governed by the intrinsic clearance processes responsible for drug elimination. Both plasma protein binding and nonspecific tissue binding are primary determinants of the volume of distribution. A larger volume of distribution produces a longer half-life (e.g., $t_{1/2} = 0.693$ V/CL), which would produce a longer duration of drugs with similar clearances.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Would you expect a gender-related difference in cortisol suppression for a high-affinity steroid such as ICS?
- **Dr. Jusko:** We found offsetting gender differences in methylprednisolone clearance and sensitivity to cortisol suppression (Lew KH et al. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1993; 54:402), which produced similar net changes in cortisol concentrations. I am not aware of any similar findings for other corticosteroids, although the type of PK/PD modeling to uncover this is only of recent origin.
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** Regarding gender differences, we have made a meta-analysis of all in-house budesonide pharmacokinetic and cortisol supression data to look for effects of gender. No, or clinically insignificant, differences were found. In studies where oral contraceptives were allowed, a general elevation of baseline cortisol levels were found, but relative suppression by budesonide appeared similar in oral contraceptive users versus nonusers (Seidegard J, Simonsson M, Edsbäcker S. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2000; 68:13).
- **Dr. Georas:** You have presented a beautiful model of induction of gene expression by GC, but of course a relevant question in asthma is the inhibition of gene expression. In that setting, keeping the number of GR molecules in the nucleus above a threshold value might be very important.
- **Dr. Jusko:** For both gene induction and gene repression as well as a large array of other mechanisms, a common rule of thumb is that optimal pharmacological effects occur when drug concentrations are just above an IC_{50} , EC_{50} , KD, or other indicator of receptor or mediator sensitivity.

Blockade of Chemokine Production/Function as an Example of Glucocorticoid Anti-inflammatory Actions

CRISTIANA STELLATO

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Baltimore, Maryland

I. Overview of the Chemokine /Chemokine Receptor Superfamilies

Research in the field of chemokines has radically changed, over the last decade, the functional identity of this family of low molecular weight peptides. Initially identified as molecules that regulated leukocyte trafficking, their role in immunity and host defense has greatly expanded and has been found to be relevant in a variety of homeostatic and disease processes. Chemokines have now been recognized to play a role in such diverse conditions as atherosclerosis, AIDS, asthma, and in the immunopathology of tumors and transplants (1).

The relevance of members of the chemokine family as target of glucocorticoid anti-inflammatory action stems from the growing evidence on the crucial role that this class of molecules plays in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory reactions, due to their ability to act as potent chemoattractants and activators of specific subsets of leukocytes (2).

More than 40 members of this family of small, structurally related peptides as well as over 20 chemokine receptors have been identified and cloned, often through screening of expressed sequence tag databases (for extensive review, see Refs. 1–5). Chemokines are divided into four branches, or subfamilies, based upon

ProposedCurrent1. CXC chemokinesCXCL1GROα/MGSA-αCXCL2GROβ/MGSA-βCXCL3GROγ/MGSA-γCXCL4PF-4CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
I. CXC chemokinesCXCL1GRO α /MGSA- α CXCL2GRO β /MGSA- β CXCL3GRO γ /MGSA- γ CXCL4PF-4CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
CXCL1GRO α /MGSA- α CXCL2GRO β /MGSA- β CXCL3GRO γ /MGSA- γ CXCL4PF-4CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
CXCL2GRO β /MGSA- β CXCL3GRO γ /MGSA- γ CXCL4PF-4CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
CXCL3 $GRO\gamma/MGSA-\gamma$ CXCL4PF-4CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
CXCL4PF-4CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
CXCL5ENA-78CXCL6GCP-2CXCL7NAP-2CXCL8IL-8CXCL9Mig	
CXCL6 GCP-2 CXCL7 NAP-2 CXCL8 IL-8 CXCL9 Mig	
CXCL7 NAP-2 CXCL8 IL-8 CXCL9 Mig	
CXCL8 IL-8 CXCL9 Mig	
CXCL9 Mig	
ç	
CXCL10 IP-10	
CXCL11 I-TAC	
CXCL12 SDF-1 α/β	
CXCL13 BLC/BCA-1	
CXCL14 BRAK/bolekine	
2. CC chemokines	
CCL1 I-309	
CCL2 MCP1/MCAF	
CCL3 MIP-1α	
CCL4 MIP-1β	
CCL5 RANTES	
(CCL6) Unknown	
CCL7 MCP-3	

Table 1Human Chemokines: New NomenclatureProposal

the structural feature of the number and spacing of highly conserved cysteine residues present in their aminoacid sequence. These subfamilies are referred to as CC (or β), CXC (or α), C (or γ), and CX₃C and share areas of highly conserved sequences. The absence or presence of an intervening amino acid between the first two of four conserved cysteines characterizes the CC and the CXC family, respectively (6). The C (or γ) subfamily includes lymphotactin, in which only two cysteines are conserved (7). Fractalkine is the only member of the CX₃C subfamily and has unique structural features: it possesses a transmembrane domain linked to a CC-like domain via a long mucin-rich region, and it is the only membrane-bound chemokine (8). Molecules of the C-C chemokine subfamily, such as RANTES (regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted), eotaxin, eotaxin-2, eotaxin-3, monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-

Proposed	Current		
2. CC chemokines (Co	ont'd)		
(CCL9/10)	Unknown		
CCL11	Eotaxin		
(CCL12)	Unknown		
CCL13	MCP-4		
CCL14	HCC-1		
CCL15	HCC-2/Lkn-1/MIP-18		
CCL16	HCC-4/LEC		
CCL17	TARC		
CCL18	DC-K1/PARC/AMAC-1		
CCL19	MIP-3β/ELC/exodus-3		
CCL20	MIP-3a/LARC/exodus-1		
CCL21	6Ckine/SLC/exodus-2		
CCL22	MDC/STCP-1		
CCL23	MPIF-1		
CCL24	Eotaxin-2/MPIF-2		
CCL25	TECK		
CCL26	Eotaxin-3		
CCL27	CTACK/ILC		
3. C chemokines			
XCL1	Lymphotactin/SCM-1a/ATAC		
XCL2	SCM-1β		
4. CX ₃ C chemokines			
CX3CL1	Fractalkine		

Table 1	Continued
---------	-----------

Source: Ref. 1.

3, MCP-4, and monocyte-derived chemokine (MDC), are functionally characterized by potent and/or selective chemoattractant and activating properties toward eosinophils, basophils, monocytes, and T lymphocytes, while being very weak chemoattractants for neutrophils (9–18). The CXC subfamily is further subdivided according to the presence or absence of the tripeptide motif ELR (glutamic acid-leucine-arginine) in the amino terminus. ELR chemokines act as potent chemoattractants for neutrophils but not monocytes, and non-ELR chemokines, a small group constituted by IFN- γ -inducible protein (IP)-10, monokine induced by IFN- γ (MIG), platelet factor (PF)-4 and stromal cell–derived factor (SDF)-1, lack chemotactic activity on neutrophils but attract mononuclear cells. Recently, a new chemokine classification has been proposed based on the chemokine receptor nomenclature currently used (19), using the four receptor

MCP-1 MCP-2 MCP-4	۶Į	€	Heart Lung nall intestine	
CTACK	÷	9 ⁶ 8 3	Skin homing nemory T lymphs Sn	E
TECK	≽ا	€	Dendritic cells Thymocytes n Mucosal lymphs Act. macrophages	(
I-309 TARC MIP-1]5	⇒լ	〕 [₩] 2	act. T NK cell lines	
MIP-3ß	>لع	3 ² ² / ₂ →	T cells T cell lines B cell lines bendritic cells NK cells	
MIP-3α	۶Į) % >	act. T bendritic cells B lymphs Eosinophils [
RANTES MIP-1α MIP-1₿	>[ع	3) ដ្រូ >	act. T Monocytes [Macrophages Microglia	;
RANTES MIP-1α MCP-1 TARC MDC	÷ا	〕 [™]	Basophils T lymphs Thymocytes I n	l
RANTES Eotaxin Eotaxin-2 Eotaxin-3 MCP-2 MCP-3 MCP-4	۶	〕 [₩]	Eosinophils Basophils act. T way epitheliu Mast celts Thymocytes	
MCP-1 MCP-2 MCP-3 MCP-4	⇒լ		Monocytes Basophils act. T Air	1
RANTES MIP-1α MCP-1 MCP-3	⇒լ	3 ¹ / ₂ ² / ₂ ² / ₂ ² / ₂	Monocytes Basophils act. T Eosinophils	;
∢	ا ن		\odot	;

Figure 1 Human C-C chemokine receptors (B), their ligands (A), and their cellular expression (C). act. T, Activated T lymphocytes; T lymphocytes, freshly isolated $CD4^+ T$ lymphocytes.

subfamilies names—CC, CXC, XC, and C—followed by an L (as ligand) instead of an R (as receptor) and a number corresponding to that in use to designate the gene enoding each chemokine (1). Although in this chapter we have have referred to the chemokines using the current nomenclature, in Table 1 these denominations are paired with the new systematic name proposed by the new classification system.

Chemokine functions are mediated by binding to a complex network of seven transmembrane-spanning, G-protein-coupled receptors, the chemokine receptors (19), which are, for the most part, specific for the corresponding subfamily (5). The majority of the receptors for the CXC (CXCRs) and the CC (CCRs) subfamilies are shared by multiple chemokines, and many chemokines can bind to more than one receptor. For example, members of the CC chemokine family, the one mostly involved in allergic inflammation, differ in receptor usage, target cell specificity, and cellular sources (Fig. 1). RANTES can induce migration of cells expressing CCR1, CCR3, and CCR5, and MCP-4 can activate cells expressing CCR2 as well as CCR3. Eotaxin and eotaxin-2 appear to be the only CCR3selective chemokines (20). Such variations in receptor utilization, and the ability of most of eosinophil-active CC chemokines to act on other cell targets, reveal a significant heterogeneity of their biological activity, with only partially overlapping functions (i.e., induction of eosinophil migration). On the other hand, such redundancy creates a challenge in the study of their function in vivo, since the full effect of a targeted inactivation of a specific chemokine or chemokine receptor gene may be masked by alternative chemokine pathways.

II. The Role of Chemokines in Airway Allergic Inflammatory Diseases

Selective inflammatory cell recruitment is the result of a multi-step process in which chemokine-driven cell chemotaxis acts in concert with cytokine-induced selective priming of circulating leukocytes, as well as with upregulation of adhesion pathways governing leukocyte rolling, adhesion and transmigration through the endothelial layer. In a variety of chronic human inflammatory diseases, as well in animal models of inflammation, several studies have demonstrated the upregulated expression of a relatively specific subset of chemokines within the inflammatory site, which often correlated with the selective recruitment of distinct inflammatory cells types within the tissue sites (4). In the case of a chronic inflammatory allergic disease such as asthma, characterized by a predominant influx of eosinophils, as well as T lymphocytes, monocytes and basophils, the increased expression of several CC chemokines, such as MCP-1, MCP-4, RANTES, eotaxin and eotaxin-2 has been clearly established (2). In particular, expression of eotaxin



Figure 2 Differential effect of IL-4 and IFN γ on C-C chemokine production in human airway epithelial cells. Eotaxin and RANTES levels in the supernatants of BEAS-2B cells treated for 18 hours with the indicated concentrations of TNF α and IL-4 (n = 4-6) and TNF α plus IFN γ (n = 5). *p < 0.05 when compared to chemokine levels in unstimulated cells: **p < 0.05 compared to TNF α -induced chemokine release. (From Ref. 38.)

in the airways has been strongly correlated with the presence of an eosinophilic infiltrate (21-23).

Chemokines are widely expressed in many tissues, either constitutively or following activation of the immune response. Upon stimulation in vitro with proinflammatory stimuli, such as TNF α or IL-1, a wide array of cells produce proinflammatory chemokines: circulating inflammatory cells, as well as resident cells, such as mast cells, dendritic cells, fibroblasts, epithelial cells, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells (2).

However, it is important to note that examination of specimens from inflamed tissues in animal models of allergic inflammation and in human subjects with respiratory allergy revealed a more narrow spectrum of cellular sources for chemokines, indicating that, in vivo, complex mechanisms regulate chemokine production in order to control, in a dynamic fashion, the leukocyte trafficking in homeostatic as well as in disease conditions.

Epithelial cells appear to be, both in animal models of allergic inflammation and in human diseases, one of the main sources of chemokine production in the airways (24). Extensive research in the last decade has broadened the role of epithelium from a "target" cell type being damaged as a result of inflammatory events, to an "effector" cell type, able to actively participate in the inflammatory response through the synthesis of numerous proinflammatory and immunomodulatory molecules: lipid and peptide mediators, adhesion molecules, catabolic enzymes and enzyme inhibitors, and, most remarkably, a wide array of cytokines and chemokines promoting the chemotaxis, recruitment, activation, and survival of eosinophils and other inflammatory cells within tissue sites (25, 26). The presence of eosinophils and other infiltrating cells within the epithelial layer (27-29) was indeed suggestive that epithelial cells could act as a relevant source of chemoattractants. Immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization studies on CC chemokine expression confirmed that epithelium is among the most intensely staining cell types, if not the most intensely staining cell type, in biopsies of both upper and lower airways of humans and mice (21, 22, 28, 30 - 34). In addition, numerous in vitro studies have confirmed that airway epithelial cells produce substantial quantities of RANTES, eotaxin, and MCP-4 (14,35-37). Recent in vitro studies indicate that, despite the apparent redundancy of the repertoire of chemokines with overlapping functions produced by epithelial cells, there are striking differences in their specific profiles of activation. In particular, while TNFα induces RANTES, MCP-4, as well as eotaxin in human airway epithelial cells, the Th2 cytokine IL-4 leads to selective induction of eotaxin and MCP-4 expression and synergistically enhances TNFa-induced eotaxin expression. Conversely, the Th1 cytokine IFN γ potently and selectively upregulates RANTES expression induced by TNFa, but not eotaxin expression (Fig. 2) (38). Moreover, both IL-4 and IL-13 have been shown to further narrow the spectrum of epithelialderived chemokines by downregulating IL-8 production in epithelial cells stimulated with TNF α (39).

Thus, it appears that during allergic inflammatory reactions the profile of cytokines released in the microenvironment might constitute an important regulatory signal for the expression of selective chemokine patterns from epithelium. A Th2 response, in which IL-4 and IL-13 are generated, will drive epithelial chemokine expression toward eotaxin and MCP-4, while a Th1 response, and IFNy, will drive the response toward RANTES and IL-8. It can be envisioned that after antigen exposure, production of TNFa by macrophages and resident cells might induce the production of a broad, nonselective spectrum of chemoattractant signals from epithelium, leading to the recruitment of an heterogeneous leukocyte population comprising an early neutrophil component followed by lymphocytes, eosinophils, and monocytes. Once the inflammatory infiltrate includes adequate Th2 cells, the local production of IL-4 and IL-13, in coordination with release of TNF α from adjacent macrophages, might then induce the recruitment of a more selective, disease-specific inflammatory cell population by two parallel mechanisms: on one side, by downregulating the epithelial expression of some chemokines, such as IL-8 and RANTES, and at the same time potentiating the production of more eosinophilic chemokines such as eotaxin. These combined regulatory pathways would ultimately increase the selective influx of those effector cells, such as eosinophils and basophils, found in the airway mucosa in chronic allergic inflammation. In support of this hypothesis, recent studies of airway epithelium in asthmatic patients found that there is a close relationship between epithelial pro-



Figure 3 Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid-mediated transcriptional regulation of inflammatory genes. Acting as a transcription factor, the ligand-activated glucocorticoid receptor (GR) modulates gene transcription either directly (a,b) or indirectly (c,d). (a) Direct target gene activation: transcription of the gene in question is initiated by binding to the GRE within the promoter. (b) Direct target gene repression: binding to the negative glucocorticoid response element (nGRE) has a repressive effect on the promoter activity of the target. (c) Indirect target gene repression: the inhibitory effect of glucocorticoids on gene transcription is indirect, resulting from either removal of transcription-activating factors, or (d) induction of transcription factor inhibitors.

duction of eotaxin and tissue eosinophilia (21), reinforcing the new, central role of epithelial cells in the mucosal chemokine network.

III. Chemokine Expression as a Target of Glucocorticoid Action

It is now well established that the potent anti-inflammatory activity of glucocorticoids is due to a multifaceted mechanism of action, in which multiple and diverse metabolic functions are influenced by interference with a wide array of cellular and molecular pathways. The inhibition of the activation of genes involved in inflammation is now recognized as a key mechanism in glucocorticoid action, although it is not the only one; the targeted genes are involved in a great variety of functions, such as proinflammatory and immunomodulatory cytokines, enzymes, chemical mediators, plasma, and extracellular matrix components. The growing body of evidence indicating the crucial contribution of the mucosal chemokine network to the pathophysiology of airway allergic diseases makes this class of molecule an ideal target of glucocorticoid action.

After a brief overview of the molecular basis of glucocorticoid-induced gene regulation, we will evaluate some of the studies conducted so far analyzing the effect of glucocorticoids on chemokine expression.



Figure 4 Theoretical mechanism of glucocorticoid-mediated posttranscriptional gene regulation. The acceleration of the decay of the target gene mRNA by glucocorticoids may in some cases be mediated by ARE present in the 3'-UTR of the mature mRNA molecule. It is possible that destabilization may occur directly or through the synthesis of yet unidentified ARE-binding protein(s). Inhibition of kinase pathways controlling translation, also ARE-dependent, may be involved in inhibition of protein translation by glucocorticoids.
A. Molecular Mechanisms of Glucocorticoid-Mediated Gene Regulation: An Overview

Glucocorticoids can interfere at different levels in the complex pathways leading to the expression of a gene. Repression can occur as a result of interference at a transcriptional level or as a consequence of mechanisms operating at posttranscriptional and even posttranslational levels (reviewed in Refs. 40,41).

Glucocorticoid-induced transcriptional regulation was first recognized to occur through DNA-dependent mechanisms, through direct binding of the ligandactivated glucocorticoid receptor (GR) to either positive or negative DNA glucocorticoid response elements (GREs and nGREs) in the promoter region of the targeted gene (42,43), either promoting the synthesis of anti-inflammatory genes (Fig. 3a) or preventing that of pro-inflammatory genes (Fig. 3b), respectively. Subsequently, it has been established that glucocorticoids can act in a DNA-independent fashion by engaging protein-protein interactions with other transcription factors, such as NFkB, AP-1, CREB, OCT-1, NF-IL-6, and others (44-46) (for more extensive review see Refs. 47, 48). The formation of these protein complexes prevents the interaction of transcription factors with their cognate binding sites within the promoter region of inflammatory genes, interfering with their ability to activate the expression of such genes (Fig. 3c). An alternative mechanism of glucocorticoid-mediated gene repression has been recently reported in T lymphocytes, where glucocorticoids have been shown to repress gene expression also by inducing the synthesis of IkB, an inhibitor of the transcription factor NFkB. This inhibitor binds $NF\kappa B$ in the cytoplasm and blocks the nuclear translocation of this transcription factor and the subsequent NFkB-dependent activation of inflammatory genes (49,50) (Fig. 3D) (49). A rise of the IkB level in the cell would retain NFkB in the cytoplasm and cause the relocation of NFkB from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, leading to termination of NFkB-mediated gene expression. To date a GRE has not been found in the I κ B promoter. However, upregulation of I κ B by glucocorticoids does not appear to play a role in other in vitro cell systems using endothelial cells and fibroblasts (51,52).

Glucocorticoids have also been found to inhibit gene expression using posttranscriptional mechanisms, by accelerating the degradation of mRNA molecules (Fig. 4). Regulation of many genes involved in inflammatory and immune responses can be rapidly achieved by stabilization/destabilization of their mRNAs, as demonstrated for G-CSF, GM-CSF, IL-1, IL-2, IL-3, and IL-6 (see Ref. 53 for review). Posttranscriptional gene regulation occurs via multiple mechanisms, such as the presence of regulatory sequences within the mRNA, the presence of cytoplasmic proteins interacting with mRNA, as well as induced changes in the secondary structure of the mRNA (53–55). Several sequences critical for mRNA stability have been identified in the 3' end untranslated region (UTR) of mRNAs. The presence of adenylate/uridylate (AU)–rich elements (AREs) present in the 3' UTR of an mRNA species has been clearly linked to acceleration of mRNA turnover, presumably by acting as binding sites for mRNA-degrading proteins (56-60). The AREs consist of segments of 50-150 nucleotides containing multiple copies of the pentamer AUUUA and a high content of uridylate and adenylate residues. AREs have been shown to facilitate rapid deadenylation as the first step in mRNA degradation. However, other sequences structurally and functionally distinct from the ARE can also play a role in mRNA turnover (61).

Glucocorticoids have been shown to increase the degradation rate of mRNA encoding for IL-1B (60), GM-CSF (59), and IFNB (62), and evidence indicates that AREs are necessary to mediate this glucocorticoid response. In cells transiently transfected with vectors expressing IFNB, but carrying various deletions of the 3'UTR, glucocorticoids were able to inhibit IFNB mRNA expression only in cells expressing the ARE-containing mRNA species (62). Other regulatory regions may be targets of glucocorticoid regulation, as proposed in the case of stabilization of the unspliced fibronectin mRNA, where glucocorticoid-responsive regulatory elements are thought to be located in the introns (63). Since glucocorticoid effects on mRNA stability can be protein synthesis-dependent (64-66), it is possible that glucocorticoids might induce the synthesis of proteins that decrease mRNA stability or translation. A wide array of distinct proteins binding to AREs, as well as to other cis elements in mRNAs, have been characterized (67). However, the identity of the glucocorticoid-dependent RNA-binding proteins is scarcely known. Treatment of a nontransformed CD4⁺T-cell clone with dexamethasone-induced cell apoptosis in parallel with the appearance of the cytosolic binding proteins AU-A and AU-B (68). The 3' UTRs of mRNAs also function as important regulatory elements of translational regulation: the ARE region in the 3' UTR of TNFa was found to be necessary to mediate stress-activated protein kinase/c-Jun N-terminal kinase (SAPK/JNK)-mediated activation of TNFa translation in monocytes (69). Glucocorticoids can interfere with these pathways: dexamethasone was shown to inhibit TNFa translation by blocking the activity of the SAPK/JNK pathway in monocytes (70).

Glucocorticoids are able to modulate the expression of a gene even further downstream of transcriptional or posttranscriptional steps, by influencing posttranslational events. Translational processing accounts for a series of chemical modifications of gene products, such as site-specific cleavage, phosphorylation, glycosylation, or attachment of lipid components, which define the function and final location of the mature proteins. Glucocorticoids were shown to regulate the maturation of murine mammary tumor virus (MMTV) proteins in infected rat hepatoma cells by interfering with two posttranslational pathways: one controlling glycoprotein compartmentalization and processing, and a second controlling protein phosphorylation pathways (71). Posttranslational mechanisms also contributed to glucocorticoid-induced inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression in rat glomerular mesangial cells through the reduction of iNOS mRNA translation and increased degradation of iNOS protein (72).

B. Chemokine Gene Expression: A Therapeutic Target and a Research Model for the Study of Molecular Mechanisms of Glucocorticoid Action

In vitro studies using different cell sources have revealed the characteristics of the pharmacological effects of glucocorticoids on chemokine production. The degree of inhibition appears to vary greatly, ranging from no effect to complete suppression of mRNA and protein production; the inhibitory efficacy is influenced by cell type and stimulus used, once again indicating that multiple pathways and mechanisms of gene suppression are involved in glucocorticoid activity (reviewed in Ref. 41).

Several investigators have chosen human airway epithelial cells as an in vitro model to characterize glucocorticoid effects on chemokine production (13,14,35,36,73,74). Epithelial cells are very rich in glucocorticoid receptors (75), and many proinflammatory genes have been found to be glucocorticoid-sensitive in these cells (25). Most importantly, airway epithelium is a major source of chemokines and a relevant target for topical glucocorticoids, the main therapeutic modality used for respiratory allergic diseases. Therefore, the local suppression of epithelial-derived chemokines may contribute significantly to the clinical efficacy of glucocorticoids by preventing chemokine-driven leukocyte infiltration within the airway mucosa. In these cells, the inhibitory effect on chemokines appears to be concentration-dependent, glucocorticoid-specific (35), and displays a rank order of potency for different glucocorticoids that resembles their anti-inflammatory activity in vivo (76,77). Studies on the molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid activity on chemokine genes are still at an early stage but growing in number, and due to the relevance of the chemokine network in immunity they are likely to uncover novel and relevant molecular targets of glucocorticoid action.

Transcriptional inhibition by glucocorticoids has been found to occur via both DNA-dependent and -independent pathways in the case of IL-8 (78–81). With regard to eosinophil-active chemokines, the glucocorticoid budesonide inhibited eotaxin and RANTES promoter-driven reporter gene activity in a transiently transfected epithelial cell line, indicating that inhibitory mechanisms can occur at transcriptional level for these two chemokines (38). The molecular basis of such inhibitory activity is currently under investigation. A GRE is present in the promoter region of eotaxin, but its presence is not necessary for glucocorticoid inhibition. Furthermore, since both NF κ B and AP-1 are necessary for the expression of several CC chemokines, including MCP-1 (82), RANTES (83), and eotaxin (79,80), it can be hypothesized that interference with AP-1-and NF κ B-activating pathways, through protein-protein interactions of the ligand-activated GR, might play a role in the inhibitory mechanisms of glucocorticoids on the expression of chemokines from epithelium.

Recent data indicate that the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 selectively induce eotaxin expression in epithelial cells and strongly potentiate that induced by TNF α and that such induction is inhibited by cell treatment with budesonide (38). These data suggest that another potential glucocorticoid target is STAT6, a member of the STAT family of transcription factors that plays a crucial role in IL-4 and IL-13 signaling (84,85) and biological functions (86,87). In the eotaxin proximal promoter, a highly conserved binding site for STAT6 is located just 15 bp upstream of the TATA box and partially overlaps with a NF- κ B element (79,80), suggesting a role for STAT6 in IL-4-induced eotaxin expression and also implying that cooperation between STAT-6 and NF- κ B/Rel family members might mediate the synergistic effects of TNF α and IL-4 observed on eotaxin expression in BEAS-2B cells. Indeed, it has been recently shown that in BEAS-2B cells transiently transfected with an eotaxin promoter luciferase construct in which the STAT6 site is mutated, IL-4 fails to induce the reporter activity or to potentiate the induction by TNF α (88). Studies are presently undergoing to further define whether STAT-6 is a molecular target of glucocorticoid-mediated inhibition of eotaxin transcription.

Studies on the posttranscriptional regulation of chemokine mRNA half-life are still at an early stage, but they already indicate that chemokine mRNA turnover is influenced by cytokines and by glucocorticoids. Induction of IL-8 by IFN γ in monocytes, as well as its downregulation by IL-4, has been shown to occur via an increase or a decrease, respectively, in the stability of its mRNA (89,90). Induction of RANTES by respiratory syncytial virus is critically regulated at a posttrancriptional level in airway epithelial cells (91). Multiple AREs have been found in the 3' end UTR of IL-8 (92), MCP-1 (93). MIP-1 α (94), and eotaxin (37), but ARE are not present in the 3'UTR of RANTES (95) and MCP-4 (13). In the epithelial cell line BEAS-2B, budesonide induced a striking acceleration of eotaxin and MCP-4 mRNA decay while having no effect on RANTES mRNA half-life (35,38,73). Acceleration of IL-8 mRNA decay by glucocorticoids occurs in human fibroblasts (96) and appears to be the main regulatory mechanism of IL-8 suppression in human bone marrow stromal cells (97), although it did not seem to play a role in IL-8 inhibition by glucocorticoids in epithelial cells (98).

The presence of ARE in the 3'UTR may not be the only mechanism for glucocorticoid activity on posttranscriptional events. Lack of posttranscriptional effects by glucocorticoids on chemokine genes possessing ARE has been observed for MIP-1 α mRNA in monocytes (99), which has four ARE in its 3'UTR (94), and for MCP-1 in HMC-1 cells (100); furthermore, budesonide increased decay of MCP-4 mRNA in epithelial cells (38), despite the lack of ARE in the 3'UTR of the MCP-4 transcript (13). Therefore, other sequences present in the 5' or 3'UTR of chemokine mRNA species, or in intronic sequences of nuclear, immature RNA, or even in the coding region could function as binding sites of glucocorticoid-induced mRNA binding proteins.

Other pathways regulating translational activation of chemokine mRNA could be targeted by glucocorticoids. It has been recently shown that in an epithe-

lial cell line, IL-8 mRNA half-life is prolonged, after challenge with IL-1, by sequential activation of members of the p38 MAP kinase pathway, and that such stabilization is ARE dependent (101). p38 MAP kinase has also been recently recognized as important regulatory pathway for RANTES expression in airway epithelial cells (102,103). It would be of interest to ascertain if the p38 or any other tyrosine kinase-initiated signaling cascade involved in chemokine regulation could be inhibited by glucocorticoids.

IV. Concluding Remarks

Given the relevance of the chemokine network in the pathogenesis of allergic inflammation, it is understandable why it has been considered, since its initial discovery and characterization, an important target for the anti-inflammatory therapy of allergic diseases. Evaluation of the effects of glucocorticoids on chemokine expression, both in vivo and in vitro, has shown that many genes of the C-C chemokine subfamily, which is more pathogenetically relevant in allergic diseases, are sensitive to the effects of glucocorticoids. The data so far generated and discussed in this chapter indicate that it is likely that the glucocorticoid effect on chemokines is mediated by multiple inhibitory mechanisms, acting at both transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels and contributing, to different degrees, to the suppression of each chemokine. The relevance of the epithelium as a major source of chemokines in the airways increases the likelihood that downregulation of these molecules by topical glucocorticoid treatment, in which epithelial cells are the most exposed to the drug, would have a significant role in the anti-inflammatory activity of the glucocorticoid therapy. Moreover, the complexity of the regulatory pathways of chemokine production, together with their glucocorticoid sensitivity, makes the study of chemokine expression an ideal experimental system for the identification of novel targets of glucocorticoid action.

More studies will be needed to fully uncover the molecular basis of the glucocorticoid effect on chemokines; at the same time, it will be important to establish how much chemokine inhibition plays a role in reducing the tissue recruitment of inflammatory cells and to what extent it influences the clinical outcome of glucocorticoid therapy in chronic allergic diseases.

References

- Zlotnick A, Yoshie O. Chemokines: a new classification system and their role in immunity. Immunity 2000; 12:121–127.
- Nickel R, Beck LA, Stellato C, Schleimer RP. Chemokines and allergic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:723–742.
- 3. Baggiolini M. Chemokines and leukocyte traffic. Nature 1998; 392:565-568.

- Luster AD. Chemokines-chemotactic cytokines that mediate inflammation. N Engl J Med 1998; 338:436-445.
- 5. Premack BA, Schall TJ. Chemokine receptors: Gateways to inflammation and infection. Nature Med 1996; 2:1174–1178.
- 6. Wells TNC, Power CA, Proudfoot AEI. Definition, function and pathophysiological significance of chemokine receptors. TIPS 1998; 19:376–380.
- Kelner GS, Kennedy J, Bacon KB, Kleyensteuber S, Largaespada DA, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG. Bazan JF, Moore KW, Schall TJ, Zlotnik A. Lymphotactin: a cytokine that represents a new class of chemokine. Science 1994; 266:1395–1399.
- Bazan JF, Bacon KB, Hardlman G, Wang W, Soo K, Rossi D, Greaves DR, Zlotnik A, Schall TJ. A new class of membrane-bound chemokine with a CX₃C motif. Nature 1997; 385:640–644.
- Kameyoshi Y, Dorschner A, Mallet AI, Christophers E, Schroder JM. Cytokine RANTES released by thrombin-stimulated platelets is a potent attractant for human eosinophils. J Exp Med 1992; 176:587–592.
- Rot A, Krieger M, Brunner T, Bischoff SC, Schall TJ, Dahinden CA. RANTES and macrophage inflammatory protein 1α induce the migration and activation of normal human eosinophil granulocytes. J Exp Med 1992; 176:1489–1495.
- Dahinden CA, Geiser T, Brunner T, von Tscharner V, Caput D, Ferrara P, Minty A, Baggiolini M. Monocyte chemotactic protein 3 is a most effective basophil- and eosinophil-activating chemokine. J Exp Med 1994; 179:751–756.
- Rothenberg ME, Ownbey R, Mehlhop PD, Loiselle PM, van de Rijn M, Bonventre JV, Oettgen HC, Leder P, Luster AD. Eotaxin triggers eosinophil-selective chemotaxis and calcium flux via a distinct receptor and induces pulmonary eosinophilia in the presence of interleukin 5 in mice. Mol Med 1996; 2:334–348.
- Garcia-Zepeda EA, Combadiere C, Rothenberg ME, Sarafi MN, Lavigne F, Hamid Q. Murphy PM. Luster AD. Human monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-4 is a novel CC chemokine with activities on monocytes, eosinophils, and basophils induced in allergic and nonallergic inflammation that signals through the CC chemokine receptors (CCR)-2 and -3. J Immunol 1996; 157:5613–5626.
- Stellato C, Collins P, Li H, White J, Ponath PD, Newman W, Soler D, Bickel C, Liu M, Bochner B, Williams T, Schleimer R. Production of the novel C-C chemokine MCP-4 by airway cells and comparison of its biological activity to other C-C chemokines. J Clin Invest 1997; 99:926–936.
- Forssmann U, Uguccioni M, Loetscher P, Dahinden CA, Langen H, Thelen M, Baggiolini M. Eotaxin-2, a novel CC chemokine that is selective for the chemokine receptor CCR3, and acts like eotaxin on human eosinophil and basophil leukocytes. J Exp Med 1997; 185:2171–2176.
- Lee SC, Brummet ME, Woodworth TG, Leiferman KM, Gilman SC, Gladue RP, Schleimer RP. Beck LA. Cutaneous injection of human subjects with macrophage inflammatory protein-1α (MIP-1α) causes significant leukocyte recruitment. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:A821.
- Bochner BS, Bickel CA, Taylor ML, MacGlashan Jr. DW, Gray PW, Raport CJ, Rodiska R. Macrophage-derived chemokine induces human eosinophil chemotaxis in a CC chemokine receptor 3- and CC chemokine receptor 4-independent manner. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:527–532.

- Shinkai A, Yoshisue H, Koike M, Shoji E, Nakagawa S, Saito A, Takeda T, Imabeppu S, Kato Y, Hanai N, Anazawa H, Kuga T, Nishi T. A novel human C-C chemokine, eotaxin-3, which is expressed in IL-4-stimulated vascular endothelial cells, exibits potent activity towards eosinophils. J Immunol 1999; 163:1602–1610.
- Murphy PM, Baggiolini M, Charo IF, Hebert CA, Horuk R, Matsushima K, Miller MH, Oppenheim JJ, Power CA. International union of pharmacology. XXII. Nomenclature for chemokine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 2000; 52:145–176.
- 20. Mackay CR. Chemokine receptors and T cell chemotaxis. J Exp Med 1996; 184: 799-802.
- Taha RA, Minshall EM, Miotto D, Shimbara A, Luster A, Hogg JC, Hamid QA. Eotaxin and monocyte chemotactic protein-4 mRNA expression in small airways of asthmatic and nonasthmatic individuals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:476– 483.
- 22. Lamkhioued B, Renzi PM, Abi-Younes S, Garcia-Zepada EA, Allakhvberdi Z, Ghaffar O, Rothenberg MD, Luster AD, Hamid Q. Increased expression of eotaxin in bronchoalveolar lavage and airways of asthmatic contributes to the chemotaxis of eosinophils to the site of inflammation. J Immunol 1997; 159:4593–4601.
- 23. Ying S, Robinson DS, Meng Q, Rottman J, Kennedy R, Ringler DJ, Mackay CR, Daugherty BL, Springer MS, Durham SR, Williams TJ, Kay AB. Enhanced expression of eotaxin and CCR3 mRNA and protein in atopic asthma. Association with airway hyperresponsiveness and predominant co-localization of eotaxin mRNA to bronchial epithelial and endothelial cells. Eur J Immunol 1997; 27:3507–3516.
- 24. Ghaffar O, Christodoulopoulos P, Hamid Q. Cellular sources of chemokines in allergic diseases. In: Rothenberg M, ed. Chemokines in Allergic Diseases. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1999:403–424.
- 25. Schwiebert LM, Stellato C, Schleimer RP. The epithelium as a target of glucocorticoid action in the treatment of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154: S16–S20.
- 26. Polito A, Proud D. Epithelia cells as regulators of airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:714–718.
- 27. Dunnill MS. The pathology of asthma. In: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, eds. Allergy Principles and Practice II. St. Louis: C.V. Mosby, 1978:678–686.
- 28. Beck LA, Stellato C, Beall LD, Schall TJ, Leopold D, Bickel CA, Baroody F, Bochner BS, Schleimer RP. Detection of the chemokine RANTES and endothelial adhesion molecules in nasal polyps. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 98:766–780.
- 29. Laitinen LA, Laitinen A. Remodeling of asthmatic airways by glucocorticoids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97:153–158.
- Wang JH, Devalia JL, Xia C, Sapsford RJ, Davies RJ. Expression of RANTES by human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro and in vivo and the effect of corticosteroids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:27–35.
- Sousa AR, Lane SJ, Nakhosteen JA, Yoshimura T, Lee TH, Poston RN. Increased expression of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in bronchial tissue from asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 10:142–147.
- 32. Teran LM, Noso N, Carroll M, Davies DE, Holgate S, Schröder J-M. Eosinophil recruitment following allergen challenge is associated with the release of the chemokine RANTES into asthmatic airways. J Immunol 1996; 157:1806–1812.
- 33. Gonzalo J-A, Lloyd CM, Wen D, Albar JP, Wells TNC, Proudfoot A, Martinez-A C,

Dorf M, Bjerke T, Coyle AJ, Gutierrez-Ramos J-C. The coordinated action of CC chemokines in the lung orchestrates allergic inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness. J Exp Med 1998; 188:157–167.

- 34. Ying S, Meng Q, Zeibecoglou K, Robinson DS, Macfarlane A, Humbert M, Kay AB. Eosinophil chemotactic chemokines (eotaxin, eotaxin-2, RANTES, monocyte chemoattractant protein-3 (MCP-3) and MCP-4, and C-C chemokine receptor 3 expression in bronchial biopsies from atopic and nonatopic (intrinsic) asthmatics. J Immunol 1999; 163:6321–6329.
- Stellato C, Beck LA, Gorgone GA, Proud D, Schall TJ, Ono SJ, Lichtenstein LM, Schleimer RP. Expression of the chemokine RANTES by a human bronchial epithelial cell line: Modulation by cytokines and glucocorticoids. J Immunol 1995; 155:410-418.
- Lilly CM, Nakamura H, Kesselman H, Nagler-Anderson C, Asano K, Garcia-Zepeda EA, Rothenberg ME, Drazen JM, Luster AD. Expression of eotaxin by human lung epithelial cells. J Clin Invest 1997; 99:1767–1773.
- Garcia-Zepeda EA, Rothenberg ME, Ownbey RT, Celestin J, Leder P, Luster A. Human eotaxin is a specific chemoattractant for eosinophil cells and provides new mechanism to explain tissue eosinophilia. Nature Med 1996; 4:449–456.
- 38. Stellato C, Matsukura S, Fal A, White J, Beck LA, Proud D, Schleimer RP. Differential regulation of epithelial-derived C-C chemokine expression by IL-4 and the glucocorticoid budesonide. J Immunol 1999; 163:5624–5632.
- Fujisawa T, Kato Y, Atsuta J, Terada A, Iguchi K, Kamiya H, Yamada H, Nakajima T, Miyamasu M, Hirai K. Chemokine production by the BEAS-2B human bronchial epithelial cells: differential regulation of eotaxin, IL-8, and RANTES by Th2- and Th1-derived cytokines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:126–133.
- Stellato C, Schwiebert LM, Schleimer RP. Mechanisms of glucocorticosteroid action. In: Barnes PJ, Grunstein MM, Leff A, Woolcock AJ, eds. Asthma. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1997:1569–1596.
- Stellato C, Schleimer RP. Regulation of chemokines by glucocorticoids. In: Rothenberg M, ed. Chemokines in Allergic Diseases. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1999:473–507.
- 42. Tsai M-J, O'Malley BW. Molecular mechanisms of action of steroid/thyroid receptor superfamily members. Annu Rev Biochem 1994; 63:451–486.
- 43. Yamamoto KR. Steroid receptor regulated transcription of specific genes and gene networks. Annu Rev Genet 1985; 19:209–252.
- Ray A, Prefontaine KE. Physical association and functional antagonism between the p65 subunit of transaction factor NF-κB and the glucocorticoid receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994; 91:752–756.
- 45. Ponta H, Cato ACB, Herrlich P. Interference of pathway specific transcription factors. Biochim Biophys Acta Gene Struct Expression 1992; 1129:255–261.
- Schüle R, Rangarajan P, Kliewer S, Ransome LJ, Bolado J, Yang N, Verma IM, Evans RM. Functional antagonism between oncoprotein c-Jun and the glucocorticoid receptor. Cell 1990; 62:1217–1226.
- 47. Miesfeld RL, Bloom JW. Glucocorticoid receptor structure and function. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma: Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1997:3–27.
- 48. Karin M, Saatciouglu F. Negative transcriptional regulation by the glucocorticoid re-

ceptor is responsible for the antiinflammatory activity of glucocorticoids. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma: Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1997:29–52.

- Auphan N, DiDonato JA, Rosette C, Helmberg A, Karin M. Immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: inhibition of NF-κB activity through induction of IκB synthesis. Science 1995; 270:286–290.
- 50. Scheinman RI, Cogswell PC, Lofquist AK, Baldwin Jr. AS. Role of transcriptional activation of $I\kappa B\alpha$ in mediation of immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. Science 1995; 270:283–286.
- Brostjan C, Anrather J, Csizmadia V, Stroka D, Soares M, Bach F, Winkler H. Glucocorticoid-mediated repression of NFκB activity in endothelial cells does not involve induction of IkappaBalpha synthesis. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:19612–19616.
- De Bosscher K, Schmitz M, Vanden Berghe W, Plaisance S, Fiers W, Hageman G. Glucocorticoid-mediated repression of nuclear factor-κB-dependent transcription involves direct interference with transactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94:13504–13509.
- 53. Peltz SW, Brewer G, Bernstein P, Hart PA, Ross J. Regulation of mRNA turnover in eukaryotic cells. Crit Rev Eukariotic Gene Expression 1991; 2:99–126.
- 54. Ross J. mRNA stability in mammalian cells. Microbiol Rev 1995; 423-450.
- Beelman CS, Parker R. Degradation of mRNA in eukaryotes. Cell 1995; 81:179– 183.
- 56. Chen C-YA, Shyu A-B. AU-rich elements: characterization and importance in mRNA degradation. Trends Biol Sci 1995; 20:465–470.
- Caput D, Beutler B, Hartog K, Thayer R, Brown-Shimer S, Cermai A. Identification of a common nucleotide sequence in the 3'-untranslated region of mRNA molecules specifying inflammatory mediators. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83:1670–1674.
- Xu N, Chen C-YA, Shyu A-B. Modulation of the fate of cytoplasmic mRNA by AUrich elements: key sequence features controlling mRNA deadenylation and decay. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:4611–4621.
- Shaw G, Kamen R. A conserved AU sequence from the 3' untranslated region of GM-CSF mRNA mediates selective mRNA degradation. Cell 1986; 46:659–667.
- Kern JA, Lamb RJ, Reed JC, Daniele RP, Nowell PC. Dexamethasone inhibition of interleukin I beta production by human monocytes. J Clin Invest 1988; 81:237–244.
- 61. Brown CY, Lagnado CA, Goodall GJ. A cytokine mRNA-destabilizing element that is structurally and functionally distinct from A+U-rich elements. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:13721–13725.
- 62. Peppel K, Vinci JM, Baglioni C. The AU-rich sequences in the 3' untranslated region mediate the increased turnover of interferon mRNA induced by glucocorticoids. J Exp Med 1991; 173:349–355.
- 63. Ehretsmann CP, Chandler LA, Bourgeois S. A nuclear post-transcriptional mechanism mediates the induction of fibronectin by glucocorticoids. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1995; 110:185–194.
- 64. Henderson BR, Kefford RF. Dexamethasone decreases urokinase plasminogen activator mRNA stability in MAT 13762 rat mammar carcinoma cells. Br J Cancer 1993; 67:99–101.
- 65. Maroder M, Martinotti S, Vacca A, Screpanti I, Petrangeli E, Frati L, Gulino A. Post-

transcriptional control of c-myc proto-oncogene expression by glucocorticoid hormones in human T lymphoblastic leukemic cells. Nucleic Acids Res 1990; 18:1153– 1157.

- 66. Murasawa S, Matsubara H, Kizima K, Maruyama K, Mori Y, Inada M. Glucocorticoids regulate V1a vasopressin receptor expression by increasing mRNA stability in vascular smooth muscle cells. Hypertension 1995; 26:665–669.
- 67. McCarthy JEG, Kollmus H. Cytoplasmic mRNA-protein interactions in eukaryotic gene expression. Trends Biochem Sci 1995; 20:191–197.
- 68. Mondino A, Jenkins MK. Accumulation of sequence-specific RNA-binding proteins in the cytosol of activated T cells undergoing RNA degradation and apoptosis. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:26593–26601.
- 69. Kontoyiannis D, Pasparakis M, Pizarro TT, Cominelli F, Kollias G. Impaired on/off regulation of TNF biosynthesis in mice lacking TNF AU-rich elements: Implications for joint and gut-associated immunopathologies. Immunity 1999; 10:387–398.
- 70. Swantek J, Cobb MH, Geppert TD. Jun N-terminal kinase/Stress-activated protein kinase (JNK/SAPK) is required for lypopolysaccaride stimulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) translation: glucocorticoids inhibit TNF- α translation by blocking JNK/SAPK. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:6274–6282.
- 71. Firestone GL, Payvar F, Yamamoto KR. Glucocorticoid regulation of protein processing and compartmentalization. Nature 1982; 300:221–225.
- 72. Kunz D, Walker G, Eberhardt W, Pfeilschilfter J. Molecular mechanims of dexamethasone inhibition of nitric oxide synthase expression in interleukin 1b-stimulated mesangial cells: Evidence for the involvment of transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:255–259.
- Kwon OJ, Jose PJ, Robbins RA, Schall TJ, Williams TJ, Barnes PJ. Glucocorticoid inhibition of RANTES expression in human lung epithelial cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:488–496.
- Berkman N, Robichaud A, Krishnan V, Roesems G, Robbins R, Jose P, Barnes P, Chung K. Expression of RANTES in human airway epithelial cells: effect of corticosteroids and interleukin-4, -10 and -13. Immunology 1996; 87:59–603.
- Adcock IM, Gilbey T, Gelder CM, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Glucocorticoid receptor localization in normal and asthmatic lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:771–782.
- Schleimer RP, MacGlashan DW Jr., Gillespie E, Lichtenstein LM. Inhibition of basophil histamine release by anti-inflammatory steroids. II. Studies on the mechanism of action. J Immunol 1982; 129:1632–1636.
- Schleimer RP. Glucocorticosteroids: their mechanisms of action and use in allergic diseases. In: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, Adkinson, JNF, Yunginger JW, Busse W, eds. Allergy: Principles and Practice. St. Louis, MO: Mosby, 1998:638– 660.
- Mukaida N, Gussella G, Kasahara T, Ko Y, Zachariae C, Kawai T, Matsushima K. Molecular analysis of the inhibition of interleukin-8 production by dexamethasone in a human fibrosarcoma cell line. Immunology 1992; 75:674–679.
- Hein H, Schlüter C, Kulke R, Christophers E, Schröder J-M, Bartels J. Genomic organization, sequence, and transcriptional regulation of the human eotaxin gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 237:537–542.

- Garcia-Zepeda EA, Rothenberg ME, Weremowicz S, Sarafi MN, Morton CC, Luster AD. Genomic organization, complete sequence, and chromosomal location of the gene for human eotaxin (SCYA11), and eosinophil-specific CC chemokine. Genomics 1997; 41:471–476.
- Mukaida N, Morita M, Ishikawa Y, Rice N, Okamoto S-I, Kasahara T, Matsushima K. Novel mechanism of glucocorticoid-mediated gene repression. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:13289–13295.
- Martin T, Cardarelli PM, Parry GC, Felts KA, Cobb RR. Cytokine induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 gene expression in human endothelial cells depends on the cooperative action of NF-κ B and AP-1. Eur J Immunol 1997; 27:1091–1097.
- Moriuchi H, Moriuchi M, Fauci AS. Nuclear factor-κ B potently up-regulates the promoter activity of RANTES, a chemokine that blocks HIV infection. J Immunol 1997; 158:3483–3491.
- 84. Palmer-Crocker RL, Hughes CCW, Pober JS. IL-4 and IL-13 activate the JAK2 tyrosine kinase and Stat6 in cultured human vascular endothelial cells through a common pathway that does not involve the γ_c chain. J. Clin Invest 1996; 98:604–609.
- Takeda K, Tanaka T, Shi W, Matsumoto M, Minami M, Kashiwamura S-I, Nakanishi K, Yoshida N, Kishimoto T, Akira S. Essential role of Stat6 in IL-4 signalling. Nature 1996; 380:627–630.
- Shimoda K, van Deursen J, Sangster MY, Sarawar SR, Carson RT, Tripp RA, Chu C, Quelle FW. Nosaka T, Vignali DAA, Doherty PC, Grosveld G, Paul WE, Ihle JN. Lack of IL-4-induced Th2 response and IgE class switching in mice with disrupted Stat6 gene. Nature 1996; 380:630–633.
- Takeda K, Kamanaka M, Tanaka T, Kishimoto T, Akira S. Impaired IL-13-mediated functions of macrophages in STAT-6 deficient mice. J Immunol 1996; 157:3220– 3222.
- Matsukura S, Stellato C, Plitt J, Bickel C, Miura K, Georas S, Casolaro V, Schleimer R. Activation of eotaxin gene transcription by NF-κB and STAT6 in human airway epithelial cells. J Immunol 1999; 163:6876–6883.
- Bosco MC, Gusella GL, Espinoza-Delgado I, Longo DL, Varesio L. Interferon-γ upregulates interleukin-8 gene expression in human monocytic cells by a postranscriptional mechanism. Blood 1994; 83:537–542.
- Wang P, Wu P, Siegel MI, Egan RW, Billah MM. Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) activation in human monocytes. IL-10 and IL-4 supress cytokine synthesis by different mechanisms. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:9558–9563.
- Koga T, Sardina E, Tidwell RM, Pelletier M, Look DC, Holtzman MJ. Virus-inducible expression of a host chemokine gene relies on replication-linked mRNA stabilization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:5680–5685.
- 92. Matsushima K, Morishita K, Yoshimura T, Lavu S, Kobayashi Y, Lew W, Appella E, Kung HF. Leonard EJ, Oppenheim JJ. Molecular cloning of a human monocyte-derived neutrophil chemotactic factor (MDNCF) and the induction of MDNCF by interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor. J Exp Med 1988; 167:1883–1893.
- Yoshimura T, Yuhki N, Moore SK, Appela E, Lerman MI, Leonard EJ. Human monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): full-length cDNA cloning, expression in mitogen-stimulated blood mononuclear leukocytes, and sequence similarity to mouse competence gene JE. FEBS Lett 1989; 244:487–493.

- Zipfel PF, Balke J, Irving S, Kelly K, Siebenlist U. Mitogenic activation of human T cells induces two closely related genes which share structural similarities with a new family of secreted factors. J Immunol 1989; 142:1582–1590.
- Schall TJ, Jongstra J, Dyer BJ, Jorgensen J, Clayberger C, Davis MM, Krensky AM. A human T cell-specific molecule is a member of a new gene family. J Immunol 1988; 141:1018–1025.
- Tobler A, Meier R, Seitz M, Dewald B, Baggiolini M, Fey MF. Glucocorticoids downregulate gene expression of GM-CSF, NAP-1/IL-8, and IL-6, but not of M-CSF in human fibroblasts. Blood 1992; 79:45–51.
- Chaudary LR, Avioli LV. Regulation of interleukin-8 gene expression by interleukin-1β, osteotropic hormones, and protein kinase inhibitors in normal human bone marrow stromal cells. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:16591–16596.
- Kwon OJ, Jose PJ, Robbins RA, Schall TJ, Williams TJ, Barnes PJ. Dexamethasone inhibits RANTES expression in cultured human lung epithelial cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:A944.
- Berkman N, Jose PJ, Williams TJ, Schall TJ, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. Corticosteroid inhibition of macrophage inflammatory protein-1α in human monocytes and alveolar macrophages. Am J Physiol 1995; 269:L443–L452.
- Selvan RS, Butterfield JH, Krangel MS. Expression of multiple chemokine genes by a human mast cell leukemia. J Biol Chem 1994; 269:13893–13898.
- 101. Winzen R, Kracht M, Ritter B, Wilhelm A, Chen C-YA, Shyu A-B, Muller M, Gaestel M, Resch K, Holtmann H. The p38 MAP kinase pathway signals for cytokine-induced mRNA stabilization via MAP-kinase-activated protein kinase 2 and an AUrich region - targeted mechanism. EMBO J 1999; 18:4969–4980.
- Hashimoto S, Matsumoto K, Gon Y, Maruoka S, Kujime K, Hayashi S, Takeshita I, Horie T. p38 MAP kinase regulates TNF alpha-, IL-1 alpha- and PAF-induced RANTES and GM-CSF production by human bronchial epithelial cells. Clin Exp Allergy 2000; 30:48–55.
- Kujime K, Hashimoto S, Gon Y, Shimizu K, Horie T. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-jun-Nh2-terminal kinase regulate RANTES production by influenza virus-infected human bronchial epithelial cells. J Immunol 2000; 164:3222–3228.

Discussion

- **Dr. Denburg:** What are the relative contributions of transcriptional and post-transcriptional events in the regulation of chemokines by corticosteroids?
- **Dr. Stellato:** The occurrence of posttranscriptional regulation by glucocorticoids has been investigated for several chemokines, but studies exploring in detail the relative contribution of such mechanisms in comparison with those acting at trascriptional level in determining glucocorticoid's inhibitory activity are still at an early stage. Work done in this area on the effect of glucocorticoids on IL-8 production indicate that transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulatory mechanisms are affected by glucocorticoid treatment to different degrees according to the cell type: in human fibroblasts, glucocorticoids induce a significant acceleration of IL-8 mRNA decay; in human bone marrow stromal cells, posttranscriptional regulation appears to be the main mechanism of IL-8 suppression by glucocorticoids, since nuclear run-on experiments-performed in parallel with the mRNA stability assay-indicated that transcription of IL-8 was unaffected by glucocorticoids. In stark contrast, in primary epithelial cells, IL-8 inhibition by glucocorticoids was found not to be mediated by acceleration of mRNA decay; moreover, it is well known that the transcription factor NF-κB is a target of the repression of IL-8 by glucocorticoids. Such differences, in my opinion, may indicate that transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulatory processes are affecting the expression of a particular gene in a dynamic fashion, possibly according to changes in cell cycle, activation state, or other cell type-specific events, and the mechanism of glucocorticoid effect may consequently vary, affecting the regulatory event mostly driving gene expression in each particular case.
- **Dr. Hamid:** Can steroids have any harmful effect by suppressing chemokines? It is likely that chemokines play a role in normal homeostatic and normal leukocyte trafficking.
- **Dr. Stellato:** It is likely that the constitutive expression of chemokines is already under the influence of the physiological levels of endogenous steroids. It could be hypothesized that the factors regulating chemokine expression in homeostasis and in inflammatory condition may be different and that during inflammation chemokine expression is driven by glucocorticoid-sensitive mechanisms not in place in homeostatic conditions; alternatively, it is possible that during inflammation, the profile—or the levels—of molecules functioning as nuclear receptor coactivators (i.e., CREB-binding protein/p300) may change and become a major target of glucocorticoid action.
- **Dr. Busse:** These are very interesting observations. Are there data that indicate the signal transduction processes are different or distinct for RANTES and

eotaxin? Second, IFN γ has been shown to inhibit eosinophil recruitment in animals. Do your observations suggest that IFN γ inhibition of eotaxin means this chemokine is the principal chemokine in the recruitment of eosinophils? Third, what is known about the different chemokine receptors on different cells like the eosinophils?

- **Dr. Stellato:** Rothenberg's group have reported that there are differences between eotaxin and RANTES in their ability to induce internalization of CCR3 in human eosinophils, but I do not recall any reports on differences in downstream signaling events. The redundancy of the chemokine network makes the task of identifying the key player for eosinophil recruitment a difficult one. Based on the in vivo data on eotaxin expression in allergen challenge models and in diseases such as asthma, expression of eotaxin is the only one clearly showing a correlation with the eosinophil influx. Eosinophils have been reported to express CCR1 and CCR3; experiments in animal models suggest that CCR3 is the major player in governing chemokine-driven eosinophil chemotaxis. Eosinophils also express CXCR2, which binds multiple CXC chemokines.
- **Dr. Brattsand:** A popular theory today is that the adverse steroid effects are mediated over GRE-mediated upregulation via the receptor dimer, while the major anti-inflammations are mediated by repression probably via the monomeric receptor. Do you know whether the very interesting AUUUA mechanism requires protein synthesis? Can you test this in the knockouts lacking the dimeric form of GC receptor?
- **Dr. Stellato:** Although I have not tested the protein synthesis requirements of the effect of budesonide on eotaxin mRNA half-life, in the literature it is reported that the effect of glucocorticoids on mRNA decay can be protein synthesis–dependent, suggesting that glucocorticoids can induce the synthesis of proteins, that can in turn influence mRNA stability or translation.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** Does eotaxin regulate its own receptor? Does eotaxin have effects on any other cells apart from the eosinophil?
- **Dr. Stellato:** In human eosinophils, engagement of CCR3 by eotaxin or RANTES leads to prolonged receptor internalization and subsequent cellular desensitization. I do not think it is known whether CCR3 ligands are regulating the expression of CCR3 at the mRNA level, but we are planning to study this issue focusing on the CCR3 expression we found on epithelial cells. Expression of CCR3 has also been reported on human basophils, a subsets of Th2 lymphocytes, astroglial cells, and mast cells, and shown to mediate chemotaxis of these cells. The functional role of CCR3 on structural cells such as epithelial cells is still not fully understood. Expression of chemokine receptors on several other structural cells, such as endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells,

is being increasingly recognized and has been associated with cell proliferation and chemotaxis. It is possible that chemokine receptors in structural cells may participate not only in the local chemokine network during inflammatory processes, but also in mechanisms of tissue repair or act as viral cell surface receptors.

Newly Recognized Glucocorticoid Targets

NICOLA M. HELLER and ROBERT P. SCHLEIMER

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine and the Johns Hopkins Asthma & Allergy Center Baltimore, Maryland

I. Introduction

Synthetic glucocorticoids (GC) have been in use for the control of inflammatory diseases for over a half century. Although their utility has not been diminished by the lack of knowledge of their mechanism of action, insight into the mechanism(s) of GC action has steadily advanced (1-3). It has recently become clear that GC owe their efficacy to a mechanistically diverse and coordinated targeting of immune and inflammatory processes (1,2). The diversity of GC molecular targets comes in no small measure as a result of the fact that GC are endogenous hormones that regulate inflammation and have highly evolved effects. These actions of endogenous GC represent a balancing act in which excessive inflammation must be regulated without serious compromise of the protective actions of the immune and inflammatory response (4). The GC literature is now so large that is nearly impossible to comprehensively review the actions of these fascinating hormones. The purpose of this chapter is to discuss newly recognized and potentially important targets or intermediaries of the anti-inflammatory effects of GC; we have intentionally avoided discussions of the GC targets considered at length in previous reviews by us and others.

Factor	Function (Ref.)
General basal tran- scriptional ma- chinery (TFIID)	(144)
TBP	TATA-binding protein (22,145)
NF-ĸB	Inducer of inflammatory genes (146)
AP-1	Inducer of inflammatory genes (147,148)
STAT6	Inducer of Th2-associated genes; inhibition of GR-induced reporter construct in mouse T-cell line (184)
STAT5a and b	Prolactin/growth hormone responses (149)
STAT3	Response to several inflammatory cytokines (150,151)
GATA-1	Hematopoietic and inflammatory responses (152)
Egr-1	Synergism to activate phenylethanolamine-N-transferase gene (153)
AP-2	Synergism to activate phenylethanolamine-N-transferase gene (153)
HNF3	Activation of the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene (154)
Oct-1 and -2	Synergism with GR to activate MMTV promoter and many cellular genes (155,156)
NF-IL6	Synergism with GR to activate alpha ₁ -acid glycoprotein gene (157)
CREB	Interaction with GR in controlling PEPCK gene expression (158)

 Table 1
 Transcription Factors Known to Interact with the Glucocorticoid Receptor

II. Glucocorticoids and Regulation of Gene Expression

A. Overview

With the discovery that the GC receptor complex can activate gene expression, the anti-inflammatory actions of glucocorticoids were hypothesized to be due to the induction of anti-inflammatory genes (5). This prompted a widespread search for anti-inflammatory genes which are induced by GC and may act as mediators of GC action. These studies led to the discovery of some GC-induced anti-inflammatory proteins, including lipocortin, secretory leukocyte inhibitory protein, and soluble cytokine receptors (6,7) (see below). It is also clear that GC suppress the expression of a host of proinflammatory genes, notably the cytokine families (8-10). The number of proinflammatory genes that have been discovered is now enormous, including large numbers of cytokines, hematopoietic growth factors, chemokines, inflammatory enzymes, etc. An extensive list of proinflammatory proteins whose expression is inhibited by GC has been published elsewhere (10). Studies of the molecular mechanisms of GC inhibition of gene expression demonstrated that in many cases it results from direct interaction of the GC receptor complex with transcription activating factors responsible for inducing the gene in question (11). The physical interaction of GR with transcription factors can mediate both transactivation and transrepression in a case-dependent fashion. A list of the transcription factors with which the GR has been shown to associate is provided in Table 1 (see also Ref. 12). As more genes that are regulated by these factors are identified, a new wave of potential GC targets will emerge.

Recognition that GC are good inhibitors of the expression of numerous proinflammatory proteins has contributed to a widespread belief that GC action relies heavily upon inhibition of the expression of such proteins. From this grew the exciting possibility that selective GC could be developed that had these transrepressive effects (i.e., prevent expression of proinflammatory proteins), but which are devoid of transactivating effects (i.e., mediated via GC receptor binding to GRE). The value of this approach stems from the hypothesis that the undesirable side effects of GC, for example, reduced integrity of bone or skin, HPA suppression, gluconeogenic effects, etc., result from GRE-mediated effects, while the desirable anti-inflammatory effects result from transrepression. Although there remains considerable interest in this concept, the number of recognized or putative GC-induced anti-inflammatory proteins has grown (see Table 2). Based solely on the extent of this list, we can speculate that removing the gene-activating properties of GC by drug design may compromise their anti-inflammatory effects to some extent. When added to the likelihood that transrepression may be responsible for some GC side effects, the potential for success of this strategy is uncertain.

The goal of this review is to discuss newly recognized and potential glucocorticoid targets or effector molecules. The molecules to be considered include both glucocorticoid-induced and glucocorticoid-suppressed gene products. The molecular mechanisms of the influences of GC on gene expression, both positive and negative, have been reviewed in detail elsewhere (2,11,13) (see also Chap. 24).

B. Glucocorticoids and Chromatin: Histone Modifications

There is increasing evidence that glucocorticoids and other members of the nuclear receptor family can have fundamental effects on chromatin structure. An overview of chromatin structure is followed by a general discussion of glucocorticoid effects below. Nuclear chromatin is composed of DNA compacted via winding around histone proteins to form nucleosome structures. The nucleosome is made up of a core histone octamer (two copies of histones 2A, 2B, 3, and 4) and histone H1, which binds to the linker DNA between adjacent nucleosomes (see Fig. 1). Two types of chromatin can be visualized after staining nuclei with Giemsa: lightly staining transcriptionally active euchromatin and darkly staining transcriptionally silenced or repressed heterochromatin, usually found near the edges of the nucleus (14). The extent to which the DNA is complexed to the nucleosomes is dependent on posttranslational modifications of the core histone proteins, H3 and H4. Histones possess flexible N-terminal tail domains, rich in lysine residues, making them very basic and positively charged at physiological pH. The negative charge of the sugar-phosphate backbone of DNA is presumed to electrostatically interact with these lysine side chains, thus tightly compacting the DNA

	Comment (Ref.)		
1. Cell surface receptors			
CTLA-4	Dex potentiates expression in T cells (73)		
RM3/1 antigen	CD 163 (scavenger receptor) upregulated by GC on human monocytes and macrophages (62)		
IL-1R type 2	GC induce expression (159)		
IL-10R	Increased expression in response to GC in skin (160)		
Mannose receptor, CD16 and CD32	Dex upregulates expression on human dendritic cells (161)		
GITR	GC-induced TNFR-related protein in mouse which inhibits T-cell apoptosis (70,162)		
VIP receptor/VIP	High-affinity VIP-R increases in response to GC in human mononuclear leukocytes (163); VIP mRNA enhanced in GC-treated rat cerebral cortex (164)		
2. Soluble receptors/ antagonists			
IL-1R	Decoy receptor induced by GC (165)		
IL-4R	GC increase levels in children with seasonal allergic rhinitis (166)		
IL-6sR	GC induce in prostate cancer cell lines		
IL-1R antagonists	GC induce in human keratinocytes (168)		
3. Signaling/intracellular inhibitory molecules			
SOCS-2	JAK/STAT pathway inhibitor: GC potentiate expression in cultured hepatocytes (169)		
CIS	JAK/STAT pathway inhibitor: GC potentiate expression in cultured hepatocytes (169)		
GILZ	GC-induced anti-apoptotic transcription factor in thymocytes and T cells (170)		

 Table 2
 Putative Inhibitory Genes Induced by Glucocortocoids

around the nucleosomes. Acetylation of the lysine side chains by the action of histone acetyltransferases (HATs) adds a sterically bulky group to the histone tails, and neutralizes the positive charge, relaxing the DNA from the nucleosome (15) and providing access for transcription factors. Acetylation of the core histones has thus been closely linked to transcriptional activation (16–19).

HAT activity can be detected in numerous coactivator proteins as well as in the basal transcriptional machinery itself. Of particular relevance to the discussion here are p300 and CBP (CREB-binding protein), two related coactivator mole-



Figure 1 Regulation of gene expression by GR and/or other nuclear receptors and interactions with multiple coactivator and corepressor complexes. CBP/p300 potentially link GR with the core machinery to activate transcription, after chromatin remodeling by the SWI/SNF complex. [], GR can interact directly with several transcription factors (TF see text) to enhance or inhibit transcription. [2], Competition for coactivator protein complexes such as CBP/p300 between GR and TF with opposing actions may shape the outcome of gene expression. GR interactions with a variety of coactivators have been described (see text). [3], GR may also interact with TF once bound to the DNA to enhance or inhibit responses. [4], Induction of expression of HDACs or activation of HDAC or corepressor function by GR is a mechanism by which GR could mediate inhibition of gene expression. The corepressor complexes, mSIN3, N-CoR, and SMRT, are linked to unliganded GR to repress transcription in the presence of liganded GR. GR is shown as a dimer in the figure, although some effects may be mediated by monomeric receptor.

cules with intrinsic HAT activity. These coactivators are known to interact directly with the GR and are essential for nuclear receptor function (20,21). The tau-1 activation domain of GR has been shown to interact with the C-terminal region of CBP (22). The ability of ligand-bound GR to bind HATs may be important for transcription of glucocorticoid-activated genes. In addition to direct interaction with CBP, nuclear hormone receptors can bind CBP through members of the p160 and p140 coactivator family, some of which also contain HAT activity, in a ligand-dependent fashion (see Fig. 1 and Table 3). These include steroid receptor co-activator-1 (SRC-1), ACTR, (human) transcription factor intermediary factor-2

	нат	G = -		Known interac-	
Coactivator	activity	cies	Comment	GR	n Ref.
p300/CBP	Yes	Human	Integrators that mediate transcription of multiple signal transduction pathways	Yes	20,22
p/CAF	Yes	Human	p300/CBP-associated factor; required for transcription of many genes		171
p160 family					
NCoA-1		Mouse	Highly related to p/CIP		172
SRC-1	Yes	Human		Yes	22,173
GRIP-1		Mouse	Partial homology to SRC-1; also known as NCoA-2; TIF-2 (probable human ortholog)	Yes	23
p/CIP		Mouse	Complexed with CBP; required for tran- scriptional activity of nuclear recep- tors and other p300/CBP-dependent transcription factors (also known as RAC-3, AIB1, ACTR, and TRAM-1)		172
ACTR	Yes	Human	(see p/CIP above)		
TRAM-1		Human	Homologous to SRC-1/TIF-2; binds TR and other nuclear receptors; a novel co-activator that interacts with nu- clear receptors outside AF-2 region, cf. SRC-1/TIF-2		174
Other coacti	vators				
RIP140		Human	Complex effects on positive and negative gene regulation by GR	Yes	175
ASC-2		Human	Amplified in cancer; coactivator for many steroid receptors and p300/CBP; TFIIA, TBP (TATA-binding protein) and SRC-1	Yes	176
AIB1		Human	Amplified in breast and ovarian cancers; a steroid receptor coactivator		177
RAC-3		Human	Related to SRC-1/TIF-2; interacts with several liganded receptors		178
HMG-1 ar -2 prote	nd ins	Rat and cow	GR coactivator; enhances sequence- specific DNA binding of GR	Yes	179
14-3-3 eta		Human	GR coactivator; regulatory role in GR-mediated signal pathways	Yes	180
GRIP 170		Human	GR coactivator; enhances GR induction of promoter activity	Yes	181
hRPF1		Human	GR coactivator; link between activated GR and general transcription apparatus	Yes	182
RAP 46		Human	GR coactivator; identified by screening expression library with GR	Yes	183

 Table 3
 Important Coactivator Proteins That Interact with the Nuclear Receptor Family

(TIF-2), and (its mouse ortholog) glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein-1 (GRIP-1) (23). The LXXLL motif found in SRC-1, CBP, and others is necessary and sufficient to mediate binding to liganded nuclear receptors (24). While many of these coactivators are able to interact with several nuclear receptors, others such as GRIP and TRAP appear to be relatively receptor selective (25). It is also important to mention that CBP can interact with several transcription factors important in inflammation, including AP-1, NF-κB, and STAT proteins. Competition between transcription factors with opposing functions, such as NF-κB and GR, for sites on CBP might decide the final outcome of transcription in a gene-specific way (2) (see Fig. 1). Such competition can theoretically lead to reciprocal repression of glucocorticoid responses in situations where the transcription factor is overexpressed. The finding that a number of other nuclear receptors interact with transcription factors within the transcriptional machinery in a ligand-dependent fashion suggests that this may be a generalized mechanism of nuclear receptor action (26–28).

Deacetylation reverses the above phenomena and is mediated by histone deacetylases (HDACs). Deacetylated histones have been associated with transcriptionally inactive chromatin (29). Nuclear receptors can bind corepressor molecules including nuclear receptor corepressor (N-CoR) and SMRT (silencing mediator for retinoid and thyroid hormone receptors), which then recruit large repressor complexes containing mSin3 and HDACs to bring about transcriptional repression (30,31) (see Fig. 1). It is notable that N-CoR and SMRT have been shown to associate with the retinoic acid receptor and the thyroid receptor in the unliganded state. It has not yet been determined whether any of these corepressors can associate with the GR, but as more corepressors are identified and characterized, it is likely that GR-interacting corepressors will be identified (2). Interestingly, studies by Ito et al. have shown that IL-1ß induces acetylation of histones K8 and K12 and that dexamethasone inhibits this acetylation (32). They also show that GR can reduce histone acetylation both by directly inhibiting CBP-associated HAT activity as well as by recruiting HDAC2. These authors concluded that histone acetylation is an important level of control of inflammatory gene expression at which glucocorticoids act. Although the precise roles that glucocorticoids play in the recruitment of HATs and HDACs are still unclear, modification of histone structure must be considered to be an important mechanism of regulation of gene expression by glucocorticoids.

C. Glucocorticoids and Chromatin: Chromatin Remodeling Complexes

Chromatin is further subjected to remodeling by large, multiprotein, ATPdependent remodeling machines. These proteins disrupt nucleosomes in vitro and are candidates for complexes that cause chromatin decondensation during gene induction. Steroid receptors are able to interact with repressed nucleoprotein templates and to recruit the necessary proteins for such chromatin remodeling (33). The remodeling complexes first described in yeast are the SWI/SNF proteins, which couple ATP hydrolysis to nucleosomal remodeling at diverse promoters to facilitate interactions of basal transcription factors with these promoters. Unlike HATs, SWI/SNF complexes do not covalently modify histones but rather catalyze uncoupling of ionic interactions between histones and their substrate DNA. Human SWI/SNF homologs have been found to enhance the activation functions of GR, ER, and RAR (34-36). The glucocorticoid receptor can interact with the human SWI/SNF machine, which requires the presence of a GRE in the chromatinized template (37). However, how and whether glucocorticoid receptor is targeted to specific chromatinized regions of DNA in this process in living cells is still an open question.

D. GC Effect on Phosphatases

Many of the responses to inflammatory cytokines involve signal transduction pathways which are dependent on phosphorylation events for activation of those pathways. There are some studies that indicate that glucocorticoids might exert inhibitory effects on these pathways by phosphatase activation. Activation of phosphatases might occur at the transcriptional level or by activating the phosphatases directly. Glucocorticoids have been reported to regulate Ca2+-mediated pathwavs of T-cell activation by inhibition of the multifunctional Ca²⁺/calmodulin kinase (CaM kinase II) by direct interaction with the kinase and by induction of protein phosphatase 2A and/or 1 activity (38). Dexamethasone increased cellular acid phosphatase activity in antigen-induced rat leukemic cells (39). It has been proposed that glucocorticoid suppression of phospholipase A₂ (PLA2) activity stimulated by Ca²⁺ ionophores is mediated by glucocorticoid induction of Ser/Thr protein phosphatases, which inhibit PLA2 activity (40). The activity of type I protein phosphatases has been shown to be regulated by glucocorticoids (reviewed in Refs. 41 and 42). Protein dephosphorylation is an essential step for glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in T-cell hybridomas, suggesting that glucocorticoids may be inducing the expression and/or activity of protein phosphatase for cell death to occur (43). It remains to be established how important phosphatase activation is as a glucocorticoid mechanism.

III. Regulation of Immune and Inflammatory Responses by Glucocorticoids

In this section we discuss some newly recognized actions of glucocorticoids on inflammatory cells. We have omitted eosinophils, basophils, and mast cells, which have been reviewed elsewhere (1,44). Thus, this discussion focuses on monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and other antigen-presenting cells (APC) and T lym-

phocytes. B lymphocytes are generally viewed as not being particularly GC responsive, at least with regard to immunoglobulin production (in fact, GC enhance antibody responses in vitro). However, B lymphocytes also perform antigenpresenting functions, and some of the recently recognized effects of GC on APC may also apply to B cells.

A. Monocytes, Macrophages, and Dendritic Cells

New information on migratory patterns of these cells, mechanisms of antigen processing, and presentation and co-stimuli for antigen presentation is accumulating at an astounding rate (45.46). The effects of GC on several functions of dendritic cells or alveolar macrophages have been explored. For instance, the cytokine IL-12 has over the last few years been recognized to be an important product of macrophages, which induces IFN γ and profoundly regulates T-cell activation (47). Glucocorticoids have been found to be potent and effective inhibitors of IL-12 production from human dendritic cells and/or macrophages (48-51). While some effects of GC on mediators such as IL-12 or IFN have led investigators to propose that GC selectively inhibit Th1-mediated responses, it must be borne in mind that GC are also effective inhibitors of the production of cytokines which polarize T cells toward Th2, including IL-4 and IL-13 (52-54), making conclusions about whether GC favor Th1 or Th2 polarization difficult. Recognition of the existence of subsets of dendritic cells that selectively induce TH1 and TH2 cells should make possible studies to determine whether GC have polarizing actions on antigenpresenting cells (55).

Several studies have identified profound inhibitory or modulatory effects of GC on steps of terminal differentiation and activation [including expression of cytokines and cell surface molecules such as B7.1 and B7.2 (CD80 and CD86)] in mononuclear cells (56,57). In a potentially important series of studies, Brokaw et al. showed that treatment of rats with GC led to a rapid fall in Ia⁺ dendritic cells, to approximately 25-30% of the resting levels (58). Using the TUNEL assay, these investigators showed that this effect of GC was due to massive apoptosis of airway dendritic cells. Such findings may explain the observations of Burke and Poulter and collaborators several years ago showing that GC treatment of asthmatics leads to a reduction in HLA-DR⁺ cells in the airways of asthmatics (59).

Glucocorticoids also exert some stimulatory effects on phagocytic cells. A recent study has shown that GC potentiate the phagocytosis of apoptotic eosinophils and neutrophils by human monocyte-derived macrophages, a potentially important anti-inflammatory effect of GC (60). A related and previously unrecognized anti-inflammatory effect of glucocorticoids may be to promote the local recruitment and differentiation of monocytes into phagocytic macrophages. For instance, recent studies by Penton-Rol et al. have shown a selective increase of the chemokine receptor CCR2, which mediates monocyte movement in response to MCP proteins (61). Other studies have shown that GC induce RM3/1, a CD163-like scavenger receptor that may be involved in anti-inflammatory effects of recruited monocytes (62). In summary, GC have several newly recognized effects on phagocytic cells in the airways. While they may diminish the number of antigen-presenting cells such as activated macrophages or dendritic cells, as determined by expression of B7 and/or class II MHC molecules, GC may simultaneously increase the number or phagocytic activity of monocyte-derived macrophages involved in resolution of an allergic inflammatory response and initiating the wound-healing response.

B. T Lymphocytes

A number of effects of GC on T lymphocytes have been recognized recently. Past studies have shown conclusively that GC inhibit production of a host of cytokines from T lymphocytes and thereby lead to inhibition of T-cell proliferation, cytotoxic T-cell activity, and other T-cell responses (63). Endogenous glucocorticoids, which are synthesized in the thymus as well as the adrenal gland, can profoundly influence T-cell differentiation and apoptosis (63). Recently, GC have been shown to upregulate the chemokine receptor CXCR4 (64). This receptor is involved in mediating the response to SDF-1, a chemokine thought to be important for T-lymphocyte trafficking and as a costimulatory molecule (65,66). A host of chemokine/receptor pairs have been found to mediate lymphocyte trafficking to lymph nodes, germinal centers, and tissue sites (67,68). Classical studies by Haynes and Fauci demonstrated that GC differentially regulate the movement of recirculating vs. nonrecirculating lymphocytes (69). As lymphocytes become activated, they lose some chemokine receptors that mediate their trafficking to lymph nodes (e.g., CCR7) and gain a host of receptors that mediate their migration into peripheral tissue sites, such as lung, skin, etc. (67,68). It seems likely that glucocorticoids will be found to modulate expression of numerous chemokine receptors and that modulation of lymphocyte chemokine receptor expression is an important mechanism by which glucocorticoids regulate the trafficking pattern of blood lymphocytes.

Recent studies by Nocentini et al. identified a GC-induced protein referred to as GITR, a GC-induced TNF receptor family–related gene. This protein blocks T-cell receptor–induced apoptosis and may lead to prolonged survival of T cells (70). This observation has to be reconciled with numerous studies showing that GC can induce apoptosis, especially in thymocytes. It is now clear that GC effects on lymphocyte viability are influenced by the state of stimulation and differentiation of the cell (63). Other recent studies have shown that GC downregulate granzyme B (71). This is an enzyme involved in T-cell killing and may, to some extent, explain earlier observations that GC inhibit CTL function (72). Finally, an interesting recent study has shown that GC cause a dramatic potentiation of CTLA-4 expression (73). CTLA-4 contains an immunotyrosine inhibitory motif and has been hypothesized by Bluestone et al. to be centrally involved in T-cell tolerance (74,75). Induction by GC of CTLA-4 could therefore potentiate tolerogenic responses of T cells.

IV. Effects of Glucocorticoids on Fluid Dynamics in the Airways

Antigen challenge and allergic airways disease are both associated with movements of fluids into the mucosal tissue, as well as into the lumen of the airways. GC have long been known to be effective in reducing both intralumenal plasma exudation as well as secretion of mucus into the airways. Considerable progress has been made in the study of the dynamics of fluid flow across both endothelial and epithelial barriers. While it is beyond the scope of this chapter to discuss these advances in detail, several that are likely to have relevance to the therapeutic effects of GC will be mentioned.

A. Vascular Endothelial Cells

One of the hallmarks of inflammation is the exudation of plasma proteins into the extravascular space. Although GC are excellent inhibitors of vascular leak induced in vivo in humans or experimental animals by diverse stimuli such as high altitude, endotoxin, ethanol, recombinant IL-2, lipid mediators, and other stimuli, it is not known whether this effect results from a direct action on endothelial cells or is an indirect effect (76-82). GC do reduce vascular leak in the skin following challenge with mediators thought to work directly on the endothelium such as histamine or bradykinin (83). Recently, using endothelial cells from a variety of sources, a number of interesting effects of GC on endothelial cell phenotype or function have been identified, suggesting that GC have some direct effects on endothelial cells. GC have been found to increase tight junctions and decrease intracellular gaps in cultured endothelial cells associated with an increase in the junction-associated protein ZO-1 (84). Another junctional protein, PECAM-1 (CD31), may also be induced by GC, as it contains a GRE in the proximal promoter region (85). PECAM-1 is an ubiquitous adhesion molecule thought to be involved in transendothelial migration of leukocytes and maintaining junction integrity. Interestingly, PECAM-1 is an ITIM-containing transmembrane protein and thus may have some heretofore unrecognized regulatory effects in endothelial cells (86). Study of the influence of ligation of PECAM-1 on endothelial function, especially after treatment with GC, seems worthwhile.

Several other recent findings are relevant to the antipermeability effects of GC. Glucocorticoids have been found to decrease histamine receptors on vascular endothelial cells, which could, in part, explain suppression of histamine-induced vascular leak (87). Glucocorticoids have also been shown to inhibit the action of components of neurogenic vascular responses, including CGRP/substance P/

neurokinin A (88-91). Also of potential relevance to the effects of GC on vascular leak are recent studies showing that GC are potent inhibitors of the production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (92-95). VEGF was originally known as vasopermeability-inducing factor (VPF), as it is a potent inducer of vascular leak. Not only do glucocorticoids inhibit production of VEGF, but they have also been found to inhibit the activation of the kinases JNK and ERK by VEGF in endothelial cells (96). The effects of GC on VEGF production and function are summarized in Figure 2. Other targets of GC action have been identified in endothelial cells. Recent studies have shown that GC can decrease endothelial NO synthase expression (eNOS), and they increase osteopontin, which itself can cause decreased iNOS (96-98). Perhaps most important with regard to fluid dynamics in the airways are studies by King et al. showing that GC have profound effects on the expression of aquaporin 1 without any effects on aquaporin 3, 4, or 5 (99,100). The aquaporins are water channels that are often expressed in selected tissues and are felt to be extremely important in regulating fluid dynamics in a variety of tissues, including lung. Glucocorticoid induction of aquaporin 1 is found in the late gestational period and may be important for the rapid changes in fluid handling in the airways at the time of delivery of the newborn (99,100). The importance of GC modulation of aquaporins in disease or in homeostasis in adults has not vet been established. A summary of the distribution of expression of the aquaporins in the airways is presented in Figure 3.

B. Airway Epithelium

Glucocorticoids are widely perceived to be powerful suppressors of bronchorrhea and mucus production in patients during asthmatic attacks. While older in vitro studies suggested that GC can inhibit mucus secretion in airway tissue, relatively little is known about the mechanisms of these effects (101–103). Epithelial cells



Figure 2 GC inhibit both the production and action of VEGF (see text).



Figure 3 Distribution of aquaporin proteins in the airways. Note that expression of AQ1 is highly regulated by GC (see text). (From Ref. 100.)

are now known to be important targets of GC, and a variety of epithelial-expressed inflammatory proteins have been shown to be suppressed by GC, including numerous chemokines, iNOS, GM-CSF, etc. (104). Glucocorticoids inhibit fluid flux across airway epithelium in vivo and in vitro. Using mammary epithelial cells, an elegant series of studies has demonstrated that GC change the junctional organization of the cells, causing remodeling of tight and adherens junctions and changes in transepithelial electrical resistance reflecting sealing of tight junctions (105). In this process, GC induce ZO-1 expression and recruit the junctional proteins ZO-1 and β -catenin as well as F-actin to the junctional region (105). Effects of GC on components of surfactant and airway mucus are complex. Glucocorticoids selectively decrease the expression of the surfactant protein SP-A1 but not SP-A2 or SP-B (106–108). The functional consequence of selective surfactant protein regulation is not clear. Glucocorticoids also increase fatty acid synthase, which is involved in producing the lipid component of surfactant (109,110). Indeed, one of the remarkable effects of GC in premature infants is an enhancement of surfactant production sufficient to prevent the respiratory distress syndrome of neonates if the mother is treated with GC before premature delivery (111). While some of these effects may have to do with GC actions on aquaporins (see above), others are likely due to increases in surfactant production. With respect to mucus, GC have been found to decrease MUC-2 and MUC-5ac, two of the important mucoproteins produced by mucus-secreting cells in the airways (112).

V. Glucocorticoid Effects on Bone

Due to the effects of systemic GC on formation and turnover of bone, numerous groups have studied the effects of GC on the cell types involved in maintaining bone architecture. Recent findings have demonstrated both stage- and speciesspecific effects of GC on osteoclasts, osteoblasts, and their progenitors (113-117). Although administration of high doses of oral GC causes bone resorption in humans and many other species, GC actually cause increases in bone mass in rats, making interpretation of some of the literature difficult (118). Using human cells, glucocorticoids have been shown to inhibit osteoblast maturation as well as induce apoptosis of mature osteoblasts, reducing osteoblast numbers and activity (113-116). A decrease in the TGF β_1 receptors in osteoblasts by GC may contribute to these effects (119). GC have also been found to increase numbers of osteoclasts (113,117,120). They may do so in part by increasing osteoprotegerin ligand, a mediator felt by some to be the final effector in osteoclast generation (120,121). GC also decrease osteoprotegerin, the soluble form of a TNF family receptor that can neutralize the osteoclast-stimulating properties of osteoprotegerin ligand (120, 121). A similar reciprocal effect of GC on ligands and soluble binding factors has been found in the case of IGF-1 and IGFBP-rp1 (122). Glucocorticoids have been implicated in space flight-induced osteoporosis; a study performed on the space shuttle has shown a 3- to 10-fold increase in IGFbp3 in space and a 30-70% decrease in IGFbp5, associated with a 3- to 8-fold increase in GC receptor in cultured bone cells. The increase of GC receptor was proposed to mediate some of the bone remodeling observed in astronauts during prolonged space travel (123). Various reports have indicated an influence of GC on other regulators of the formation of bone, including oncostatin M (124), TIMP-3 (124), parathyroid hormone (125), galectin 3 (126), and calcitonin (127).

VI. Somatostatin

Somatostatin is a hormone that regulates inflammation as well as endocrinological functions such as growth hormone secretion (128). Glucocorticoids have been found to increase somatostatin in many tissues and cells, including brain, gastrointestinal tract, and macrophages, perhaps via a GRE in the somatostatin promoter (128-130). The well-known suppression of growth hormone release, and

growth, by GC is thought to be mediated via induction of somatostatin release (128). Along with increases in the release of somatostatin, GC also are found to increase the expression of some somatostatin receptors, e.g., SSTR2 (129). SSTR2a mediates an inhibitory effect of somatostatin on IFN γ release (131). Thus, GC may inhibit IFN γ release in part by increasing the receptor for somatostatin as well as increasing the production of somatostatin. Somatostatin receptors are also found to activate PTP phosphatases, which downregulate MAP kinase pathways (128). Thus, activation of somatostatin pathways may be another mechanism by which GC suppress inflammation (132). Evidence has been provided that somatostatin can inhibit inflammation by antidromic nerve stimulation (133).

VII. Miscellaneous Targets

As time goes by, the spectrum of molecules recognized to be important in inflammation and regulated by GC continues to grow. Glucocorticoids have been shown to inhibit or enhance stem cell factor release in a case-dependent way (134). Since stem cell factor has been shown to be involved in activation of mast cells, this may be an indirect way by which GC can regulate mast cell function. Glucocorticoids have been shown to inhibit the action and the expression of TGF β (135). Since TGF β is thought to be important in airway remodeling in asthma, some of the GC antiremodeling effects may be related to this action. It has been proposed that MIF is a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production (136). Glucocorticoids have been found to be essential for formation of the adrenal catecholamine epinephrine by virtue of a GC requirement for expression of the synthetic enzymes PNMT and secretogranin (137). Glucocorticoids have also been shown to inhibit cell surface expression of the inflammatory cytokine LIF as well as to inhibit expression of IL-4Ra chain, a receptor component known to be important in differentiation of T cells as well as mediation of allergic inflammation (138). Finally, based on the presence of GREs in putative promoter sequences, there is reason to believe that GC may regulate the function of a number of molecules, which are potentially involved in allergic inflammation, including kallikrein-binding protein (a serpin) (139), prostacyclin synthase (140), the thromboxane receptor (141), the M1 muscarinic receptor (142), and TGFB (143).

VIII. Conclusions

While this review is clearly not comprehensive, we hope we have achieved our goal of providing some information on recently recognized targets of GC action either in vitro or in vivo. We have attempted to focus attention on those likely to be important in the regulation of inflammation of the airways and look forward to

future studies that will help better delineate the relevance of these new molecular targets to the broad antiasthmatic activity of GC.

References

- Schleimer RP. Glucocorticosteroids: their mechanisms of action and use in allergic diseases. In: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, Adkinson JNF, Yunginger JW, Busse W, eds. Allergy: Principles and Practice. St. Louis, MO: Mosby, 1998:638– 660.
- McKay LI, Cidlowski JA. Molecular control of immune/inflammatory responses: interactions between nuclear factor-κ B and steroid receptor-signaling pathways. Endocr Rev 1999; 20:435–459.
- 3. Barnes PJ. Anti-inflammatory actions of glucocorticoids: molecular mechanisms. Clin Sci 1998; 94:557–572.
- 4. Chrousos GP. The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and immune-mediated inflammation. N Engl J Med 1995; 332:1351–1362.
- Tsurufuji S, Sugio K, Takemasa F, Toshizawa S. Blockade by anti-glucocorticoids, actinomycin D and cycloheximide of anti-inflammatory action of dexamethasone against bradykinin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1980; 212:225–231.
- 6. Hirata F. Lipomodulin: a possible mediator of the action of glucocorticoids. Adv Prostagland Thrombox Leukotriene Res 1983; 11:73–78.
- 7. Flower RJ. Lipocortin: What is it and what does it mean? Editorial. 1992; 506-507.
- 8. Guyre PM, Girard MT, Morganelli PM, Manganiello PD. Glucocorticoid effects on the production and actions of immune cytokines. J Ster Biochem 1988; 30:89–93.
- 9. Schleimer RP. Effects of glucocorticoids on inflammatory cells relevant to their therapeutic applications in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141:S59–S69.
- 10. Brattsand R, Selroos O. Current Drugs for Respiratory Diseases. Glucocorticosteroids. New York: Raven Press, 1994.
- Karin M, Saatciouglu F. Negative transcriptional regulation by the glucocorticoid receptor is responsible for the antiinflammatory activity of glucocorticoids. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma: Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1997:29–52.
- Stellato C, Schwiebert LM, Schleimer RP. Mechanisms of glucocorticosteroid action. In: P.J. Barnes, M.M. Grunstein, A. Leff and A.J. Woolcock, eds. Asthma Philadelphio: Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1997:1569–1596.
- Miesfeld, R.L. and J.W. Bloom. Glucocorticoid receptor structure and function. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma: Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1997:3–27.
- 14. Alberts B. In: Molecular Biology of the Cell. 1989:513.
- Hong, L., G.P. Schroth, H.R. Matthews, P. Yau and E.M. Bradbury. Studies of the DNA binding properties of histone H4 amino terminus. Thermal denaturation studies reveal that acetylation markedly reduces the binding constant of the H4 "tail" to DNA. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:305–314.
- 16. Grunstein, M. Histone acetylation in chromatin structure and transcription. Nature 1997; 389:349–352.

- Brownell, J.E. and C.D. Allis. Special HATs for special occasions: linking histone acetylation to chromatin assembly and gene activation. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1996; 6:176–184.
- 18. Wolffe, A.P. and D. Pruss. Targeting chromatin disruption: transcription regulators that acetylate histones. Cell 1996; 84:817–819.
- 19. Wolffe, A.P. and D. Pruss. Deviant nucleosomes: the functional specialization of chromatin. Trends Genet, 1996; 12:58–62.
- Kamei, Y., L. Xu, T. Heinzel, J. Torchia, R. Kurakawa, B. Gloss, S.C. Lin, R.A. Heyman, D.W. Rose, C.K. Glass and M.G. Rosenfeld. A CBP integrator complex mediates transcritional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. Cell 1996; 85:403-414.
- Kino, T., S.K. Nordeen and G.P. Chrousos. Conditional modulation of glucocorticoid receptor activities by CREB-binding protein (CBP) and p300. J Ster Biochem Mol Biol 1999; 70:15–25.
- 22. Almlof T, Wallberg AE, Gustafsson JA, Wright AP. Role of important hydrophobic amino acids in the interaction between the glucocorticoid receptor tau 1-core activation domain and target factors. Biochemistry 1998; 37:9586–9594.
- 23. Hong H, Kohli K, Garabedian MJ, Stallcup MR. GRIPI, a transcriptional coactivator for the AF-2 transactivation domain of steroid, thyroid, retinoid, and vitamin D receptors. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:2735–2744.
- 24. Heery DM, Kalkhoven E, Hoare S, Parker MG. A signature motif in transcriptional coactivators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature 1997; 387:733–736.
- 25. Glass CK, Rose DW, Rosenfeld MG. Nuclear receptor coactivators. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1997; 9:222–232.
- Fondell JD, Ge H, Roeder RG. Ligand induction of a transcriptionally active thyroid hormone receptor coactivator complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:8329– 8333.
- 27. Rachez C, Suldan Z, Ward J, Chang CP, Burakov D, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Freedman LP. A novel protein complex that interacts with the vitamin D3 receptor in a ligand-dependent manner and enhances VDR transactivation in a cell-free system. Genes Dev 1998; 12:1787–800.
- Rachez C, Lemon BD, Suldan Z, Bromleigh V, Gamble M, Naar AM, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Freedman LP. Ligand-dependent transcription activation by nuclear receptors requires the DRIP complex. Nature 1999; 398:824–828.
- 29. Wolffe AP, Wong J, Pruss D. Activators and repressors: making use of chromatin to regulate transcription. Genes Cells 1997; 2:291–302.
- Heinzel T, Lavinsky RM, Mullen TM, Soderstrom M, Laherty CD, Torchia J, Yang WM, Brard G, Ngo SD, Davie JR, Seto E, Eisenman RN, Rose DW, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression [see comments]. Nature 1997; 387:43–48.
- Nagy L, Kao HY, Chakravarti D, Lin RJ, Hassig OA, Ayer DE, Schreiber SL, Evans RM. Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell 1997; 89:373–380.
- Ito K, Barnes PJ, Adcock IM. Glucocorticoid receptor recruitment of histone deacetylase 2 inhibits interleukin-1β-induced histone H4 acetylation on lysines 8 and 12. Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20:6891–6903.

- 33. Hager GL, Smith CL, Fragoso G, Wolford R, Walker D, Barsony J, Htun H. Intranuclear trafficking and gene targeting by members of the steroid/nuclear receptor superfamily. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1998; 65:125–132.
- Muchardt C, Yaniv M. A human homologue of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* SNF2/ SWI2 and Drosophila brm genes potentiates transcriptional activation by the glucocorticoid receptor. EMBO J 1993; 12:4279–4290.
- 35. Chiba H, Muramatsu M, Nomoto A, Kato H. Two human homologues of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* SWI2/SNF2 and *Drosophila brahma* are transcriptional coactivators cooperating with the estrogen receptor and the retinoic acid receptor. Nucleic Acids Res 1994; 22:1815–1820.
- Ichinose H, Garnier JM, Chambon P, Losson R. Ligand-dependent interaction between the estrogen receptor and the human homologues of SWI2/SNF2. Gene 1997; 188:95–100.
- Ostlund Farrants AK, Blomquist P, Kwon H, Wrange O. Glucocorticoid receptorglucocorticoid response element binding stimulates nucleosome disruption by the SWI/SNF complex. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:895–905.
- Paliogianni F, Hama N, Balow JE, Valentine MA, Boumpas DT. Glucocorticoidmediated regulation of protein phosphorylation in primary human T cells. J Immunol 1995; 155:1809–1817.
- Her E, Zor U. Glucocorticoid inhibition of antigen-induced inositol phosphate formation: possible involvement of phosphatases. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol 1991; 2:217–222.
- 40. Zor U, Her E, Braquet P, Ferber E, Reiss N. A novel mechanism of glucocorticosteroid (GC) action in suppression of phospholipase A2 (PLA2) activity stimulated by Ca2+ ionophore A23187: induction of protein phosphatases. Adv Prostaglandin Thromboxane Leukot Res 1991; 265–271.
- 41. Bollen M, Stalmans W. The structure, role, and regulation of type 1 protein phosphatases. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 1992; 27:227–281.
- 42. Bailey JM. New mechanisms for effects of anti-inflammatory glucocorticoids. Biofactors 1991; 3:97–102.
- Ohoka Y, Nakai Y, Mukai M, Iwata M. Okadaic acid inhibits glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in T cell hybridomas at its late stage. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1993; 197:916–921.
- Gleich GJ, Hunt LW, Bochner BS, Schleimer RP. Glucocorticoid effects on human eosinophils. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Topical Glucocorticoids in Asthma: Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1997:279–308.
- 45. Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 2000; 18:767–811.
- 46. Moody DB, Besra GS, Wilson IA, Porcelli SA. The molecular basis of CD1-mediated presentation of lipid antigens. Immunol Rev 1999; 172:285–296.
- 47. Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12: A proinflammatory cytokine with immunoregulatory functions that bridge innate resistance and antigen-specific adaptive immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 1995; 13:251–276.
- 48. Blotta MH, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. Corticosteroids inhibit IL-12 production in

human monocytes and enhance their capacity to induce IL-4 synthesis in CD4+ lymphocytes. J Immunol 1997; 158:5589–5595.

- 49. deJong EC, Vieira PL, Kalinski P, Kapsenberg ML. Corticosteroids inhibit the production of inflammatory mediators in immature monocyte-derived DC and induce the development of tolerogenic DC3. J Leukoc Biol 1999; 66:201–204.
- Vieira PL, Kalinski P, Wierenga EA, Kapsenberg ML, de Jong EC. Glucocorticoids inhibit bioactive IL-12p70 production by in vitro-generated human dendritic cells without affecting their T cell stimulatory potential. J Immunol 1998; 161:5245– 5251.
- 51. Larsson S, Linden M. Effects of a corticosteroid, budesonide, on production of bioactive IL-12 by human monocytes. Cytokine 1998; 10:786–789.
- 52. Wu CY, Fargeas C, Nakajima T, Delespesse G. Glucocorticoids suppress the production of interleukin 4 by human lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 1991; 21:2645–2647.
- Braun CM, Huang SK, Bashian GG, Kagey-Sobotka A, Lichtenstein LM, Essayan DM. Corticosteroid modulation of human, antigen-specific Th1 and Th2 responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 100:400-407.
- 54. Richards DF, Fernandez M, Caulfield J, Hawrylowicz CM. Glucocorticoids drive human CD8(+) T cell differentiation towards a phenotype with high IL-10 and reduced IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 production. Eur J Immunol 2000; 30:2344–2354.
- Rissoan M-C, Soumelis V, Kadowaki N, Grouard G, Briere F, de Waal Malefyt R, Liu Y-J. Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation. Science 1999; 283:1183–1186.
- 56. Kitajima T, Ariizumi K, Bergstresser PR, Takashima A. A novel mechanism of glucocorticoid-induced immune suppression: the inhibition of T cell-mediated terminal maturation of a murine dendritic cell line. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:142–147.
- 57. Girndt M, Sester U, Kaul H, Hunger F, Kohler H. Glucocorticoids inhibit activationdependent expression of costimulatory molecule B7-1 in human monocytes. Transplantation 1998; 66:370–375.
- Brokaw JJ, White GW, Baluk P, Anderson GP, Umemoto EY, McDonald DM. Glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of dendritic cells in the rat tracheal mucosa. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 19:598–605.
- Burke C, Power CK, Norris A, Condez A, Schmekel B, Poulter LW. Lung function and immunopathological changes after inhaled corticosteroid therapy in asthma. Eur Respir J 1992; 5:73–79.
- 60. Liu Y, Cousin JM, Hughes J, Van Damme J, Seckl JR, Haslett C, Dransfield I, Savill J, Rossi AG. Glucocorticoids promote nonphlogistic phagocytosis of apoptotic leukocytes. J Immunol 1999; 162:3639–3646.
- Penton-Rol G, Cota M, Polentarutti N, Luini W, Bernasconi S, Borsatti A, Sica A, LaRosa GJ, Sozzani S, Poli G, Mantovani A. Up-regulation of CCR2 chemokine receptor expression and increased susceptibility to the multitropic HIV strain 89.6 in monocytes exposed to glucocorticoid hormones. J Immunol 1999; 3524–3529.
- 62. Hogger P, Dreier J, Droste A, Buck F, Sorg C. Identification of the integral membrane protein RM3/1 on human monocytes as a glucocorticoid-inducible member of the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich family (CD163). J Immunol 1998; 161:1883– 1890.

- Ashwell JD, Lu FWM, Vacchio MS. Glucocorticoids in T cell development and function. Annu Rev Immunol 2000; 18:309–345.
- 64. Wang J, Harada A, Matsushita S, Matsumi S, Zhang Y, Shioda T, Nagai Y, Matsushima K. IL-4 and a glucocorticoid up-regulate CXCR4 expression on human CD4+ T lymphocytes and enhance HIV-1 replication. J Leukoc Biol 1998; 64:642–649.
- 65. Kim CH, Broxmeyer HE. Chemokines: signal lamps for trafficking of T and B cells for development and effector function. J Leukoc Biol 1999; 65:6–15.
- 66. Nanki T, Lipsky PE. Cutting edge: stromal cell-derived factor-1 is a costimulator for CD4+ T cell activation. J Immunol 2000; 164:5010–5014.
- 67. Mackay CR. Dual personality of memory T cells. Nature 1999; 401:659-660.
- Sallusto F, Lenig D, Forster R, Lipp M, Lanzavecchia A. Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. Nature 1999; 401: 708–712.
- 69. Haynes BF, Fauci AS. The differential effect of in vivo hydrocortisone on the kinetics of subpopulations of human peripheral blood thymus-derived lymphocytes. J Clin Invest 1978; 61:703–707.
- Nocentini G, Giunchi L, Ronchetti S, Krausz LT, Bartoli A, Moraca R, Migliorati G, Riccardi C. A new member of the tumor necrosis factor/nerve growth factor receptor family inhibits T cell receptor-induced apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94: 6216–6221.
- 71. Wargnier A, Lafaurie C, Legros-Maida S, Bourge JF, Sigaux F, Sasportes M, Paul P. Down-regulation of human granzyme B expression by glucocorticoids. Dexamethasone inhibits binding to the Ikaros and AP-1 regulatory elements of the granzyme B promoter. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:35326–35331.
- 72. Schleimer RP, Jacques A, Shin HS, Lichtenstein LM, Plaut M. Inhibition of T cellmediated cytotoxicity by antiinflammatory steroids. J Immunol 1984; 132:266–271.
- 73. Xia M, Gasser J, Feige U. Dexamethasone enhances CTLA-4 expression during T cell activation. Cell Mol Life Sci 1999; 55:1649–1656.
- 74. Bluestone JA. Is CTLA-4 a master switch for peripheral T cell tolerance? J Immunol 1997; 158:1989–1993.
- 75. Lee KM, Chuang E, Griffin M, Khattri R, Hong DK, Zhang W, Straus D, Samelson LE, Thompson CB, Bluestone JA. Molecular basis of T cell inactivation by CTLA-4. Science 1998; 282:2263–2266.
- 76. Bjork J, Goldschmidt T, Smedegård G, Arfors K-E. Methylprednisolone acts at the endothelial cell level reducing inflammatory responses. Acta Physiol Scand 1985; 123: 221–223.
- 77. Boschetto P, Rogers DF, Fabbri LM, Barnes PJ. Corticosteroid inhibition of airway microvascular leakage. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143:605-609.
- 78. Inagaki N, Miura T, Nagai H, Ono Y, Koda A. Inhibition of vascular permeability increase in mice. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1988; 87:254–259.
- 79. Rosenstein M, Ettinghausen SE, Rosenberg SA. Extravasation of intravascular fluid mediated by the systemic administration of recombinant interleukin 2. J Immunol 1986; 137:1735–1742.
- Stelzner TJ, O'Brien RF, Sato K, Weil JV. Hypoxia-induced increases in pulmonary transvascular protein escape in rats: modulation by glucocorticoids. J Clin Invest 1988; 82:1840–1847.

- Kelley DM, Lichtenstein A, Wang J, Taylor AN, Dubinett SM. Corticotropin-releasing factor reduces lipopolysaccharide-induced pulmonary vascular leak. Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol 1994; 16:139–148.
- Yi ES, Remick DG, Lim Y, Tang W, Nadzienko CE, Bedoya A, Yin S, Ulich TR. The intratracheal administration of endotoxin: X. Dexamethasone downregulates neutrophil emigration and cytokine expression in vivo. Inflammation 1996; 20:165– 175.
- Svensjö E, Roempke K. Time-dependent inhibition of bradykinin and histamineinduced increase in microvascular permeability by local glucocorticosteroid treatment. In: Hogg JC, Ellul-Micallef R, Brattsand R, eds. Glucocorticosteroids Inflammation and Bronchial Hyperreactivity. Excerpta Medica, 1985:136–144.
- Underwood JL, Murphy CG, Chen J, Franse-Carman L, Wood I, Epstein DL, Alvarado JA. Glucocorticoids regulate transendothelial fluid flow resistance and formation of intercellular junctions. Am J Physiol 1999; 277:C330–C342.
- Almendro N, Bellon T, Rius C, Lastres P, Langa C, Corbi A, Bernabeu C. Cloning of the human platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 promoter and its tissuespecific expression. Structural and functional characterization. J Immunol 1996; 157: 5411–5421.
- 86. Newman PJ. Switched at birth: a new family for PECAM-1. J Clin Invest 1999; 103:5–9.
- Karlstedt K, Sallmen T, Eriksson KS, Lintunen M, Couraud PO, Joo F, Panula P. Lack of histamine synthesis and down-regulation of H1 and H2 receptor mRNA levels by dexamethasone in cerebral endothelial cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 1999; 19: 321–330.
- Ihara H, Nakanishi S. Selective inhibition of expression of the substance P receptor mRNA in pancreatic acinar AR42J cells by glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 22441–22445.
- Tafler R, Herbert MK, Schmidt RF, Weis KH. Small reduction of capsaicin-induced neurogenic inflammation in human forearm skin by the glucocorticoid prednicarbate. Agents Actions 1993; 38:C31–C34.
- Supowit SC, Christensen MD, Westlund KN, Hallman DM, DiPette DJ. Dexamethasone and activators of the protein kinase A and C signal transduction pathways regulate neuronal calcitonin gene-related peptide expression and release. Brain Res 1995; 686:77–86.
- Nohr D, Schafer MK, Persson S, Romeo H, Nyberg F, Post C, Ekstrom G, Weihe E. Calcitonin gene-related peptide gene expression in collagen-induced arthritis is differentially regulated in primary afferents and motoneuroons: influence of glucocorticoids. Neuroscience 1999; 93:759–773.
- 92. Nauck M, Karakiulakis G, Perruchoud AP, Papakonstantinou E, Roth M. Corticosteroids inhibit the expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor gene in human vascular smooth muscle cells. Eur J Pharmacol 1998; 341:309–315.
- 93. Machein MR, Kullmer J, Ronicke V, Machein U, Krieg M, Damert A, Breier G, Risau W, Plate KH. Differential downregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by dexamethasone in normoxic and hypoxic rat glioma cells. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 1999; 25:104–112.
- 94. Palacio S, Schmitt D, Viac J. Contact allergens and sodium lauryl sulphate upregulate
vascular endothelial growth factor in normal keratinocytes. Br J Dermatol 1997; 137:540-544.

- 95. Heiss JD, Papavassiliou E, Merrill MJ, Nieman L, Knightly JJ, Walbridge S, Edwards NA, Oldfield EH. Mechanism of dexamethasone suppression of brain tumor-associated vascular permeability in rats. Involvement of the glucocorticoid receptor and vascular permeability factor. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:1400–1408.
- 96. Gonzalez MV, Gonzalez-Sancho JM, Caelles C, Munoz A, Jimenez B. Hormone-activated nuclear receptors inhibit the stimulation of the JNK and ERK signalling pathways in endothelial cells. FEBS Lett 1999; 459:272–276.
- de Matteo R, May CN. Inhibition of prostaglandin and nitric oxide synthesis prevents cortisol-induced renal vasodilatation in sheep. Am J Physiol 1999; 276:R1125– R1131.
- Wallerath T, Witte K, Schafer SC, Schwarz PM, Prellwitz W, Wohlfart P, Kleinert H, Lehr HA, Lemmer B, Forstermann U. Down-regulation of the expression of endothelial NO synthase is likely to contribute to glucocorticoid-mediated hypertension. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:13357–13362.
- King LS, Nielsen S, Agre P. Aquaporin-1 water channel protein in lung: ontogeny, steroid-induced expression, and distribution in rat. J Clin Invest 1996; 97:2183– 2191.
- Nielsen S, King LS, Christensen BM, Agre P. Aquaporins in complex tissues. II. Subcellular distribution in respiratory and glandular tissues of rat. Am J Physiol 1997; 273:C1549–C1561.
- Lundgren JD, Hirata F, Marom Z, Logun C, Steel L, Kaliner M, Shelhamer J. Dexamethasone inhibits respiratory glycoconjugate secretion from feline airways in vitro by the induction of lipocortin (lipomodulin) synthesis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:353–357.
- Marom Z, Shelhamer J, Alling D, Kaliner M. The effects of corticosteroids on mucous glycoprotein secretion from human airways in vitro. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984; 129:62–65.
- 103. Shimura S, Sasaki T, Ikeda K, Yamauchi K, Sasaki H, Takishima T. Direct inhibitory action of glucorticoid on glycoconjugate secretion from airway submucosal glands. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141:1044–1049.
- Schwiebert LM, Stellato C, Schleimer RP. The epithelium as a target of glucocorticoid action in the treatment of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:S16 – S20.
- 105. Woo PL, Ching D, Guan Y, Firestone GL. Requirement for Ras and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling uncouples the glucocorticoid-induced junctional organization and transpithelial electrical resistance in mammary tumor cells. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 32818–32828.
- 106. Kumar AR, Snyder JM. Differential regulation of SP-A1 and SP-A2 genes by cAMP, glucocorticoids, and insulin. Am J Physiol 1998; 274:L177–L185.
- George TN, Miakotina OL, Goss KL, Snyder JM. Mechanism of all trans-retinoic acid and glucocorticoid regulation of surfactant protein mRNA. Am J Physiol 1998; 274:L560–L566.
- Hoover RR, Floros J. SP-A 3'-UTR is involved in the glucocorticoid inhibition of human SP-A gene expression. Am J Physiol 1999; 276:L917–L924.

- Wagle S, Bui A, Ballard PL, Shuman H, Gonzales J, Gonzales LW. Hormonal regulation and cellular localization of fatty acid synthase in human fetal lung. Am J Physiol 1999; 277:L381–L390.
- 110. Xu ZX, Rooney SA. Glucocorticoids increase fatty-acid synthase mRNA stability in fetal rat lung. Am J Physiol 1997; 272:860–864.
- Ballard PL, Ballard RA. Glucocorticoids in prevention of respiratory distress syndrome. Hosp Pract 1980; 15:81–87.
- 112. Kai H, Yoshitake K, Hisatsune A, Kido T, Isohama Y, Takahama K, Miyata T. Dexamethasone suppresses mucus production and MUC-2 and MUC-5AC gene expression by NCI-H292 cells. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:L484–L488.
- Plotkin LI, Weinstein RS, Parfitt AM, Roberson PK, Manolagas SC, Bellido T. Prevention of osteocyte and osteoblast apoptosis by bisphosphonates and calcitonin. J Clin Invest 1999; 104:1363–1374.
- Weinstein RS, Jilka RL, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC. Inhibition of osteoblastogenesis and promotion of apoptosis of osteoblasts and osteocytes by glucocorticoids. Potential mechanisms of their deleterious effects on bone. J Clin Invest 1998; 102:274– 282.
- 115. Hulley PA, Gordon F, Hough FS. Inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase activity and proliferation of an early osteoblast cell line (MBA 15.4) by dexamethasone: role of protein phosphatases. Endocrinology 1998; 139:2423–2431.
- 116. Shalhoub V, Aslam F, Breen E, van Wijnen A, Bortell R, Stein GS, Stein JL, Lian JB. Multiple levels of steroid hormone-dependent control of osteocalcin during osteoblast differentiation: glucocorticoid regulation of basal and vitamin D stimulated gene expression. J Cell Biochem 1998; 69:154–168.
- 117. Kaji H, Sugimoto T, Kanatani M, Nishiyama K, Chihara K. Dexamethasone stimulates osteoclast-like cell formation by directly acting on hemopoietic blast cells and enhances osteoclast-like cell formation stimulated by parathyroid hormone and prostglandin E2. J Bone Miner Res 1997; 12:734–741.
- Dempster DW, Moonga BS, Stein LS, Horbert WR, Antakly T. Glucocorticoids inhibit bone resorption by isolated rat osteoclasts by enhancing apoptosis. J Endocrinol 1997; 154:397–496.
- Chang DJ, Ji C, Kim KK, Casinghino S, McCarthy TL, Centrella M. Reduction in transforming growth factor beta receptor I expression and transcription factor CBFa1 on bone cells by glucocorticoid. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:4892–4896.
- Hofbauer LC, Gori F, Riggs BL, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Spelsberg TC, Khosla S. Stimulation of osteoprotegerin ligand and inhibition of osteoprotegerin production by glucocorticoids in human osteoblastic lineage cells: potential paracrine mechanisms of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis [see comments]. Endocrinology 1999; 140:4382–4389.
- Vidal NO, Brandstrom H, Jonsson KB, Ohlsson C. Osteoprotegerin mRNA is expresed in primary human osteoblast-like cells: down-regulation by glucocorticoids. J Endocrinol 1998; 159:191–195.
- Pereira RC, Blanquaert F, Canalis E. Cortisol enhances the expression of mac25/ insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-related protein-1 in cultured osteoblasts. Endocrinology 1999; 140:228–232.
- 123. Kumei Y, Shimokawa H, Katano H, Akiyama H, Hirano M, Mukai C, Nagaoka S,

Whitson PA, Sams CF. Spaceflight modulates insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and glucocorticoid receptor in osteoblasts. J Appl Physiol 1998; 85:139–147.

- 124. Li WQ, Zafarullah M. Oncostatin M up-regulates tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 gene expression in articular chondrocytes via de novo transcription, protein synthesis, and tyrosine kinase- and mitogen-activated protein kinase- dependent mechanisms. J Immunol 1998; 161:5000–5007.
- 125. Yaghoobian J, Drueke TB. Regulation of the transcription of parathyroid-hormone/ parathyroid- hormone-related peptide receptor mRNA by dexamethasone in ROS 17/2.8 osteosarcoma cells. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998; 13:580–586.
- Aubin JE, Gupta AK, Bhargava U, Turksen K. Expression and regulation of galectin 3 in rat osteoblastic cells. J Cell Physiol 1996; 169:468–480.
- 127. Wada S, Udagawa N, Akatsu T, Nagata N, Martin TJ, Findlay DM. Regulation by calcitonin and glucocorticoids of calcitonin receptor gene expression in mouse osteoclasts. Endocrinology 1997; 138:521–529.
- 128. Patel YC. Somatostatin and its receptor family. Front Neuroendocrinol 1999; 20: 157–198.
- Fife SK, Brogan RS, Giustina A, Wehrenberg WB. Immunocytochemical and molecular analysis of the effects of glucocorticoid treatment on the hypothalamic-somatotropic axis in the rat. Neuroendocrinology 1996; 64:131–138.
- 130. Kraus J, Woltje M, Hollt V. Regulation of mouse somatostain receptor type 2 gene expression by glucocorticoids. FEBS Lett 1999; 459:200–204.
- Elliott DE, Li J, Blum AM, Metwali A, Patel YC, Weinstock JV. SSTR2A is the dominant somatostatin receptor subtype expressed by inflammatory cells, is widely expressed and directly regulates T cell IFN-gamma release. Eur J Immunol 1999; 29:2454–2463.
- Karalis K, Mastorakos G, Sano H, Wilder RL, Chrousos GP. Somatostain may participate in the antiinflammatory actions of glucocorticoids. Endocrinology 1995; 136:4133–4138.
- 133. Szolcsanyi J, Helyes Z, Oroszi G, Nemeth J, Pinter E. Release of somatostain and its role in the mediation of the anti-inflammatory effect induced by antidromic stimulation of sensory fibres of rat sciatic nerve. Br J Pharmacol 1998; 123:936–942.
- 134. Kassel O, Schmidlin F, Duvernelle C, de Blay F, Frossard N. Up- and downregulation by glucocorticoids of the constitutive expression of the mast cell growth factor by human lung fibroblasts in culture. Mol Pharmacol 1998; 54:1073–1079.
- 135. Song CZ, Tian X, Gelehrter TD. Glucocorticoid receptor inhibits transforming growth factor-β signaling by directly targeting the transcriptional activation function of Smad3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:11776–11781.
- Calandra T, Bernhagen J, Metz CN, Spiegel LA, Bacher M, Donnelly T, Cerami A, Bucala R. MIF as a glucocorticoid-induced modulator of cytokine production. Nature 1995; 377:68–71.
- 137. Finotto S, Krieglstein K, Schober A, Deimling F, Lindner K, Bruhl B, Beier K, Metz J, Garcia-Arraras JE, Roig-Lopez JL, Monaghan P, Schmid W, Cole TJ, Kellendonk C, Tronche F, Schutz G, Unsicker K. Analysis of mice carrying targeted mutations of the glucocorticoid receptor gene argues against an essential role of glucocorti-

coid signalling for generating adrenal chromaffin cells. Development 1999; 126: 2935-2944.

- Mozo L, Gayo A, Suarez Z, Rivas D, Zamorano J, Gutierrez C. Glucocorticoids inhibit IL-4 and mitogen-induced IL-4R alpha chain expression by different posttranscriptional mechanisms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:968–976.
- Ma JX, Chao J, Chao L. Identification and characterization of two promoters of rat kallikrein-binding protein gene. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1307:285–293.
- Yokoyama C, Yabuki T, Inoue H, Tone Y, Hara S, Hatae T, Nagata M, Takahashi EI, Tanabe T. Human gene encoding prostacyclin synthase (PTGIS): genomic organization, chromosomal localization, and promoter activity. Genomics 1996; 36:296– 304.
- 141. Takahashi N, Takeuchi K, Sugawara A, Taniyama Y, Kato T, Wilcox CS, Abe K, Ito S. Structure and transcriptional function of the 5'-flanking region of rat thromboxane receptor gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998; 244:489–493.
- 142. Klett CP, Bonner TI. Identification and characterization of the rat M1 muscarinic receptor promoter. J Neurochem 1999; 72:900–909.
- 143. Parrelli JM, Meisler N, Cutroneo KR. Identification of a glucocorticoid response element in the human transforming growth factor beta I gene promoter. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1998; 30:623–627.
- 144. McEwan IJ, Wright AP, Dahlman-Wright K, Carlstedt-Duke J, Gustafsson JA. Direct interaction of the tau 1 transactivation domain of the human glucocorticoid receptor with the basal transcriptional machinery. Mol Cell Biol 1993; 13:399–407.
- 145. Ford J, McEwan IJ, Wright AP, Gustafsson JA. Involvement of the transcription factor IID protein complex in gene activation by the N-terminal transactivation domain of the glucocorticoid receptor in vitro. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:1467–1475.
- Scheinman RI, Gualberto A, Jewell CM, Cidlowski JA, Baldwin Jr. AS. Characterization of mechanisms involved in transrepression of NF-κ B by activated glucocorticoid receptors. Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15:943–953.
- 147. Yang-Yen H-F, Chambard J-C, Sun Y-L, Smeal T, Schmidt TJ, Drouin J, Karin M. Transcriptional interference between c-Jun and the glucocorticoid receptor: Mutual inhibition of DNA binding due to direct protein-protein interaction. Cell 1990; 62: 1205–1215.
- 148. Northrop JP, Crabtree GR, Mattila PS. Negative regulation of interleukin-2 transcription by the glucocorticoid receptor. J Exp Med 1992; 175:1235–1245.
- Wyszomierski SL, Yeh J, Rosen JM. Glucocorticoid receptor/signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 (STAT5) interactions enhance STAT5 activation by prolonging STAT5 DNA binding and tyrosine phosphorylation. Mol Endocrinol 1999; 13:330–343.
- 150. Zhang Z, Jones S, Hagood JS, Fuentes NL, Fuller GM. STAT3 acts as a co-activator of glucocorticoid receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:30607–30610.
- 151. Kasutani K, Itoh N, Kanekiyo M, Muto N, Tanaka K. Requirement for cooperative interaction of interleukin-6 responsive element type 2 and glucocorticoid responsive element in the synergistic activation of mouse metallothionein-I gene by interleukin-6 and glucocorticoid. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1998; 151:143–151.
- 152. Chang T-J, Scher BM, Waxman S, Scher W. Inhibition of mouse GATA-1 function

by the glucocorticoid receptor: possible mechanism of steroid inhibition of erythroleukemia cell differentiation. Mol Endocrin 1993; 7:528–542.

- 153. Wong DL, Siddall BJ, Ebert SN, Bell RA, Her S. Phenylethanolamine N-methyltransferase gene expression: synergistic activation by Egr-1, AP-2 and the glucocorticoid receptor. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1998; 61:154–161.
- 154. Sugiyama T, Scott DK, Wang JC, Granner DK. Structural requirements of the glucocorticoid and retinoic acid response units in the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene promoter. Mol Endocrinol 1998; 12:1487–1498.
- Prefontaine GG, Lemieux ME, Giffin W, Schild-Poulter C, Pope L, LaCasse E, Walker P, Hache RJ. Recruitment of octamer transcription factors to DNA by glucocorticoid receptor. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:3416–3430.
- 156. Kutoh E, Stromstedt PE, Poellinger L. Functional interference between the ubiquitous and constitutive octamer transcription factor 1 (OTF-1) and the glucocorticoid receptor by direct protein-protein interaction involving the homeo subdomain of OTF-1. Mol Cell Biol 1992; 12:4960–4969.
- 157. Nishio Y, Isshiki H, Kishimoto T, Akira S. A nuclear factor for interleukin-6 expression (NF-IL6) and the glucocorticoid receptor synergistically activate transcription of the rat α 1-acid glycoprotein gene via direct protein-protein interaction. Mol Cell Biol 1993; 13:1854–1862.
- Imai E, Miner JN, Mitchell JA, Yamamoto KR, Granner DK. Glucocorticoid receptor-cAMP response element-binding protein interaction and the response of the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene to glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:5353–5356.
- Lukiw WJ, Martinez J, Pelaez RP, Bazan NG. The interleukin-1 type 2 receptor gene displays immediate early gene responsiveness in glucocorticoid-stimulated human epidermal keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:8630–8638.
- 160. Michel G, Mirmohammadsadegh A, Olasz E, Jarzebska-Deussen B, Muschen A, Kemeny L, Abts HF, Ruzicka T. Demonstration and functional analysis of IL-10 recptors in human epidermal cells: decreased expression in psoriatic skin, downmodulation by IL-8, and up-regulation by an antipsoriatic glucocorticosteroid in normal cultured keratinocytes. J Immunol 1997; 159:6291–6297.
- Piemonti L, Monti P, Allavena P, Leone BE, Caputo A, Di Carlo V. Glucocorticoids increase the endocytic activity of human dendritic cells. Int Immunol 1999; 11: 1519–1526.
- 162. Gurney AL, Marsters SA, Huang RM, Pitti RM, Mark DT, Baldwin DT, Gray AM, Dowd AD, Brush AD, Heldens AD, Schow AD, Goddard AD, Wood WI, Baker KP, Godowski PJ, Ashkenazi A. Identification of a new member of the tumor necrosis factor family and its receptor, a human ortholog of mouse GITR. Curr Biol 1999; 9:215–218.
- Wiik P. Glucocorticoids upregulate the high affinity receptors for vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) on human mononuclear leucocytes in vitro. 1991; 35:19–30.
- Lam KS, Srivastava G, Tam SP. Divergent effects of glucocorticoid on the gene expression of vasoactive intestinal peptide in the rat cerebral cortex and pituitary. Neuroendocrinology 1992; 56:32–37.
- Colotta F, Mantovani A. Induction of the interleukin-1 decoy receptor by glucocorticoids. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1994; 15:138–139.

- Benson M, Strannegard IL, Wennergren G, Strannegard O. Cytokines in nasal fluids from school children with seasonal allergic rhinitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1997; 8:143–149.
- Mori S, Murakami-Mori K, Bonavida B. Dexamethasone enhances expression of membrane and soluble IL-6 receptors by prostate carcinoma cell lines. Anticancer Res 1998; 18:4403–4408.
- Stosic-Grujicic S, Lukic ML. Glucocorticoid-induced keratinocyte-derived interleukin-1 receptor antagonist(s). Immunology 1992; 75:293–298.
- Tollet-Egnell P, Flores-Morales A, Stavreus-Evers A, Sahlin L, Norstedt G. Growth hormone regulation of SOCS-2, SOCS-3, and CIS messenger ribonucleic acid expression in the rat. Endocrinology 1999; 140:3693–3704.
- 170. D'Adamio F, Zollo O, Moraca R, Ayroldi E, Bruscoli S, Bartoli A, Cannarile L, Migliorati G, Riccardi C. A new dexamethasone-induced gene of the leucine zipper family protects T lymphocytes from TCR /CD3-activated cell death. Immunity 1997; 7:803–812.
- 171. Blanco JC, Minucci S, Lu J, Yang XJ, Walker KK, Chen H, Evans RM, Nakatani Y, Ozato K. The histone acetylase PCAF is a nuclear receptor coactivator. Genes Dev 1998; 12:1638–1651.
- 172. Torchia J, Rose DW, Inostroza J, Kamei Y, Westin S, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. The transcriptional co-activator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function [see comments]. Nature 1997; 387:677–684.
- 173. Needham M, Raines S, McPheat J, Stacey C, Ellston J, Hoare S, Parker M. Differential interaction of steroid hormone receptors with LXXLL motifs in SRC-1a depends on residues flanking the motif. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2000; 72:35–46.
- 174. Takeshita A, Cardona GR, Koibuchi N, Suen CS, Chin WW. TRAM-1, A novel 160kDa thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule, exhibits distinct properties from steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:27629–27634.
- Subramaniam N, Treuter E, Okret S. Receptor interacting protein RIP140 inhibits both positive and negative gene regulation by glucocorticoids. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:18121–18127.
- 176. Lee SK, Anzick SL, Choi JE, Bubendorf L, Guan XY, Jung YK, Kallioniemi OP, Kononen J, Trent JM, Azorsa D, Jhun BH, Cheong JH, Lee YC, Meltzer PS, Lee JW. A nuclear factor, ASC-2, as a cancer-amplified transcriptional coactivator essential for ligand-dependent transactivation by nuclear receptors in vivo. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:34283–34293.
- 177. Anzick SL, Kononen J, Walker RL, Azorsa DO, Tanner MM, Guan XY, Sauter G, Kallioniemi OP, Trent JM, Meltzer PS. AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast and ovarian cancer. Science 1997; 277:965–968.
- 178. Li H, Gomes PJ, Chen JD. RAC3, a steroid/nuclear receptor-associated coactivator that is related to SRC-1 and TIF2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94:8479–8484.
- 179. Boonyaratanakornkit V, Melvin V, Prendergast P, Altmann M, Ronfani L, Bianchi ME, Taraseviciene L, Nordeen SK, Allegretto EA, Edwards DP. High-mobility group chromatin proteins 1 and 2 functionally interact with steroid hormone receptors to enhance their DNA binding in vitro and transcriptional activity in mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:4471–4487.
- 180. Wakui H, Wright AP, Gustafsson J, Zilliacus J. Interaction of the ligand-activated

glucocorticoid receptor with the 14- 3-3 eta protein. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 8153-8156.

- Eggert M, Mows CC, Tripier D, Arnold R, Michel J, Nickel J, Schmidt S, Beato M, Renkawitz R. A fraction enriched in a novel glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein stimulates receptor-dependent transcription in vitro. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 30755–30759.
- 182. Imhof MO, McDonnell DP. Yeast RSP5 and its human homolog hRPF1 potentiate hormone-dependent activation of transcription by human progesterone and glucocorticoid receptors. Mol Cell Biol 1996; 16:2594–2605.
- Zeiner M, Gehring U. A protein that interacts with members of the nuclear hormone receptor family: identification and cDNA cloning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92:11465–11469.
- 184. Biola A, Andréau K, David M, Sturm M, Haake M, Bertoglio J, Pallardy M. The glucocorticoid receptor and STAT6 physically and functionally interact in T-lymphocytes. FEBS Letters 2000; 487:229–233.

Discussion

- **Dr. Seale:** You mentioned lipocortin almost as a "throwaway" line at the end. Is that the appropriate perspective?
- **Dr. Schleimer:** Although lipocortin was once thought to be a mediator or transducer of steroid effects, it is now not widely believed to play such a role.
- **Dr. Inman:** Does the effect of GC that increases monocyte recruitment also affect the balance between macrophages and dendritic cells in terms of antigen presentation?
- **Dr. Schleimer:** This is an interesting question, which I can't answer well. Glucocorticoids decrease dendritic cell numbers in the lungs; alveolar macrophage numbers are not changed. Since dendritic cells are far superior as antigen-presenting cells, the effect on dendritic cell numbers may be of particular relevance.
- **Dr. Georas:** Another recently identified GC-induced gene with direct relevance to asthma is the M2 muscarinic receptor. David Jacoby at Hopkins has unpublished data that this receptor, which inhibits acetylcholine release and thus has a bronchoprotective effect, is increased by steroids in cultured parasympathetic neurons (Jacoby DB, Yost BL, Kumaravel B, Chan-Li Y, Xiao HQ, Kawashima K, Fryer AD. Glucocorticoid treatment increases inhibitory m(2) muscarinic receptor expression and function in the airways. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2001; 24(4):485–491).
- **Dr. Szefler:** Are there different patterns of chemokines related to allergic and nonallergic features of asthma?
- **Dr. Schleimer:** I don't know of studies comparing chemokine patterns in atopic versus nonatopic asthmatics. Pathology studies indicate that the cell recruitment pattern is similar, however.
- **Dr. Stellato:** I thought that endothelial cells were unresponsive to GC, since the expression of many inflammatory genes (adhesion molecules, chemokines) was not suppressed in vitro by GC treatment. You showed that many genes are indeed inhibited in endothelial cells by GC. Could you comment on that?
- **Dr. Schleimer:** As you know, cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells respond to inflammatory stimuli by expressing adhesion molecules and releasing cytokines and mediators. In many laboratories, GC have failed to inhibit these responses. Since there are numerous reports showing inhibitory effects of GC on similar responses of endothelial cells from animals or from other tissue locations in humans, this may be explained by the low numbers of glucocorticoid receptors in umbilical vein endothelial cells. More studies are clearly needed in this area.

- Dr. Persson: As you describe so well, steroid targets are exceedingly and increasingly complex; this information affects drug research. If complexity is required (for efficacy), current drug discovery work (i.e., technologies focusing on single targets) will fail to produce "efficacious" drugs (indeed, due to the nonspecificity the steroid drugs could not have been "discovered" today). Actions/targets included in the list of steroid mechanisms may, inferentially, not be worth pursuing as single targets for innovative drugs. This is especially so for those steroid effects that are potently induced in vivo. What is the use of novel antidendritic drugs if in inhaled steroid-treated airways dendritic cells have already been abolished? In fact, target validation seems to be poorly developed compared to the rate of appearance of novel proposed targets; for example, steroids clearly induce eosinophil apoptosis in vitro, and this mechanism has received major attention and acceptance. However, this action has not been seen in vivo in airway tissues. (Indeed, apoptotic eosinophils are conspicuously absent in the blood or in perfused asthmatic or rhinitic airway tissues.) Finally, it would be interesting to learn about your current priorities among actions/targets? For example, if VEGF inhibition is an important aspect, then we should perhaps not delay in examining VEGF antagonists in asthma.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** You raise an important and disturbing point. Of the targets under development now, several are known to be blocked by steroids, including IL-4, IL-5, CCR3 agonists (eotaxins, MCPs, etc.), and IL-13. Steroids don't significantly reduce IgE levels, though. In most cases, the steroid effect is incomplete, however, and a single target inhibitor that ablates the pathway could exceed the steroid effect on that particular target. Since the global allergic response may require several elements, it is not unreasonable to hope that blocking a single element can block the overall response. As you well know, eosinophil apoptosis in vivo is a point of controversy in the field, which needs to be resolved. There are no compelling data to suggest that VEGF is a particularly attractive target in asthma, although recent studies from Australia indicate that angiogenesis may be increased in asthma.

Part Four

DETERMINANTS OF AIRWAY-LUNG SELECTIVITY

8

Aerosol Delivery Devices and Airways/Lung Deposition

MYRNA B. DOLOVICH

McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

I. Introduction

Sufficient local concentration of drug can be achieved on airway surfaces throughout the lung by using the inhaled route. A number of factors determine the dose of drug deposited on airway/lung surfaces drug and the overall therapeutic effect (1-5). These are the physical characteristics of the aerosol produced, the patient inhalation variables, and the extent of their airways/lung disease. Additional factors are the distribution of target sites in the lung and local pharmacokinetics for the particular drug. Knowing the actual dose inhaled from a delivery system for an observed response is extremely useful information. It allows a comparison of different drugs within the same category by measuring their relative potency using a more accurate estimate of dose deposited than label claim (6,7). Additionally, a more precise assessment of the relative performance of delivery systems used for a specific drug therapy can be made (8–10), providing information to guide the physician in choosing a delivery system.

A recent review from Selroos et al. (11) described in vitro doses and lung deposition values measured from pressurized metered dose inhalers (pMDIs) with or without spacers, dry powder inhalers (DPIs), and nebulizers. These were compared with in vivo responses, not necessarily in the same subjects who participated

in the deposition studies, but with a variety of radiotracer, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic studies using the same or different drugs. This overview highlights key features of several delivery devices used to provide aerosol therapy and discusses how to define the dose available for inhalation from each system in order to more accurately predict and compare clinical outcomes.

Issues that are important when discussing aerosol drug delivery but that will not be discussed in detail in this chapter are patient compliance or adherence with taking medications, ergonomics, and economics. Ease of use of the various inhaler systems is an important consideration when designing an inhaler. If patients are not able to load doses easily, prepare the inhaler quickly, or take their doses with certainty, it is likely that adherence to their therapy will be poor. Having to follow a complex treatment schedule or deal with instructions that the patient or caregiver cannot readily follow will further compromise the therapy. Other considerations may be the costs associated with delivering inhaled medications to patients both in-hospital and out-of-hospital. These costs will vary with the setting, the options available, and the type of drug prescribed.

II. Aerosol Delivery Systems

The choice of systems producing therapeutic aerosols is currently limited to three main classes: 1) pneumatic (jet) and ultrasonic nebulization for providing continuous or intermittent aerosols of liquid solutions or suspensions, 2) pMDIs with or without an attached spacer (S) or holding chamber (HC), and 3) DPIs. The latter two systems are used for dispensing metered drug doses, although metered doses of drugs in liquid form are provided from some of the newer inhalers (12). Within these three categories there are a variety of devices that provide aerosols with mostly similar, but sometimes very different characteristics and, hence, different amounts of useful aerosol provided to the patient for inhalation (13-15). It is known that the variable efficiency of production of aerosol among inhalers within the same device category may require the prescription of different doses of a drug (11,16,17).

Some inhaler devices have been in use for 50 years or more. Other hardware, such as spacers and valved holding chambers, have been used as add-on devices for pMDIs for approximately the last 25 years. New designs and improvements upon existing designs have occurred in all of the above three categories and particularly in the last decade with the recognition that aerosols can be used to carry medication into the deep lung. While the aerosol route is the preferred method for treating airways/lung disease, the technology has recently been applied to the treatment of some systemic diseases, such as diabetes (18). One outcome of this development is the number of innovative inhalers available for generating respirable aerosols (19). Treatment with aerosols of proteins, peptides, and anal-

gesics requires highly efficient delivery of small particles, as for these therapies to be effective, the drugs need to be deposited in the very peripheral airways for rapid absorption into the circulation. Ease of use, portability, and patient compliance considerations, such as dose counters and integrated electronic management systems to track treatments and treatment schedules, are being incorporated into some new inhaler designs. As systems become more sophisticated, with better control over aerosol generation, one should expect the dose of therapy delivered to the lung to be more precise and the aerosol to have the size characteristics for optimal lower respiratory tract deposition. Despite improved technology, the varying breathing patterns and the differences in oropharyngeal and airway geometries cause variations in the inhaled dose between infants, children, adults, and elderly patients (20-22), which will continue to lead to altered clinical responses between patient populations.

A. Nebulizers and MDLIs

Over the last 8-10 years, major innovations have occurred in the delivery of wet aerosols. The most sophisticated of these systems are designs for metered dose liquid inhalers (MDLIs) (12) that mimic the action of pMDIs in that a reproducible, unit dose of drug is released with one to two actuations. The main features of these systems include self-generation of aerosol (23-25), production of low-velocity aerosols (24,25), breath actuation (25-27), and electronic management of delivered doses and treatment schedules (26,27). Lung deposition has been shown to range from 31 to 70%, greater than from most current inhalers (12, 24,26,28-30). Other improvements upon jet nebulizers—e.g., increasing drug output by air entrainment through rather than across the nebulizer, controlling the dose inhaled (31), and decreasing drug wastage by reducing or eliminating aerosol generation during the patient's expiratory phase (32,33)—have produced a number of devices with increased efficiencies for delivering therapy.

However, the standard and likely most commonly used jet nebulizer is the constant output design, run by compressed air or oxygen with supplemental air drawn in across the top of the nebulizer, diluting the solution or suspension aerosol produced within the nebulizer as it exits towards the patient and thereby decreasing the inhaled dose (34). The patient can synchronize inhalation with actuation to avoid wastage of drug aerosolized during expiration by placing a thumb-control orifice in the compressed air line. Treatment times are, however, lengthened to completely aerosolize the reservoir contents and the dose inhaled is increased. These systems can also become breath-actuated (breath-synchronized systems) by pulsing the airflow to the jet orifice with a dosimeter. The length of time the aerosol is delivered during inspiration significantly influences the dose inhaled in children (34,35). Using breath synchronization to provide budesonide suspension aerosol over the full inspiratory breath proved to be a more successful delivery

technique than generating the aerosol continuously over the entire breath cycle. Breath-enhanced nebulizers direct supplemental air through the nebulizer across the venturi, sweeping out more of the available aerosol and providing an increased output of drug (36). With use of internal valves, the output of these nebulizers can be reduced to the jet flow output, thus decreasing drug wastage during exhalation as with breath-synchronization nebulizer circuits (37).

The median particle size of most jet nebulizer aerosols ranges from 2 to $6 \mu m$ (2,13). The particle size can be further reduced by placing baffles within the nebulizer, using one-way valves in the mouthpiece or increasing the length of tubing between the nebulizer and the patient (38). However, these additions result in drug loss within the circuit, reducing the amount of aerosol available to the patient. The losses are variable, and therefore, it is not possible to deliver precise doses to patients.

During operation of a jet nebulizer, solvent evaporates, resulting in a decrease in the temperature of the reservoir solution and a progressive increase in the concentration of drug in the reservoir and in the aerosol droplets produced (39,40). The rate at which the solution undergoes increased concentration is affected by the jet flow rate. A noticeable reduction in drug output and an increase in the size of the aerosol droplets produced occur if the changes in concentration are marked (40). Other factors affecting aerosol output and particle size are the driving pressure or the flow rate of compressed air applied to the jet. The higher the pressure or flow rate, the greater the output over time in terms of total solution aerosolized (13,14,40-43).

Unit doses loaded into nebulizers are five- to sixfold greater than doses per actuation for pMDIs. These high doses are required for equivalent efficacy (44), although local side effects may be greater (45). In vitro measurements of total drug available from a nebulizer will be greater because of the starting dose (46), but when deposition is expressed as a percentage of the reservoir dose, the lower de-livery efficiency will be obvious. Standard jet nebulizers deposit from 2 to 12% of the reservoir contents in the lung (47); breath-enhanced nebulizers are more efficient and can double the deposition efficiency of the older designs. As shown in Figure 1, much greater deposition has been measured for some MDLIs, with values up to 78% recorded by imaging the lung. These are encouraging results for using the aerosol route with therapies such as insulin.

B. pMDIs

Doses released from pMDIs contain active drug in micronized powder form or in solution, plus surfactant, co-solvents, and propellants (48). There may be other excipients in the formulation such as flavoring agents. The characteristics of an aerosol produced from a pMDI spray in terms of particle size characteristics and spray pattern are influenced mainly by the vapor pressure of the canister, deter-



Figure 1 Relationship between the aerosol mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD) and deposition to the lung and oropharynx for metered dose liquid inhalers (MDLI). The finer the aerosol, the more deposition to the lower respiratory tract with less deposited in the mouth and throat. AERx (Aradigm, Hayward, CA); AeroDose (AeroGen, Sunnyvale, CA); AERx prototype (Aradigm, Hayward, CA); Halolite (Aradigm, Hayward, CA); flunisolide Respimat[®] (Boehringer Ingelheim, Germany); fenoterol Respimat[®] (Boehringer Ingelheim, Germany); fenoterol Respimat[®]

mined by the propellant mix (49). The propellants provide the energy source to disperse drugs into a small size aerosol capable of penetrating to the target tissue. The size and velocity of the pressurized aerosol affect the deposition of these drugs in the lung (50-52).

The dose reproducibility and the amount of drug released per actuation over the life of the canister are also a function of the design of the metering valve (53). With chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) products, storage conditions, valve orientation during long-term and short-term storage, as well as ambient temperature have all been shown to result in in vitro dose variability (54). With replacement propellant hydrofluorocarbon (HFC) products, dose reproducibility has been shown to be high throughout the life of the canister, and moreover, the emitted dose appears to be unaffected by storage, temperature, or valve orientation (52). The volume of the metering valve, which varies from 30 to 100 μ L, determines the amount of drug released per actuation of the pMDI. Increasing the metering volume will cause increased loss of drug on the actuator mouthpiece because of the lower rate of evaporation of the greater amount of propellent released (48,55).

Atomization of the liquid stream released from a pMDI on actuation begins instantly as the propellants "flash" or vaporize and proceeds through continued evaporation of the propellants (50,56); aerosol production takes approximately 20 ms. The velocity of the liquid spray on ejection from the CFC pMDI is about 15 m/s, rapidly decreasing to approximately 7 m/s within 0.1 s as the spray cloud

forms, decelerates, and moves away from actuator orifice (57). This high-velocity jet causes approximately 80% of the dose to impact in the oropharynx, particularly when the canister is fired with the actuator mouthpiece inside the mouth. This impaction is reduced with some HFA formulations due to their lower spray velocity (58). The local deposition from steroids can lead to local irritation such as hoarseness and sore throat, but the incidence is low (59-62). Other side effects reported in small numbers of patients have been a reduction in FEV₁ due to the lubricant or surfactant present in the formulation (62) and candidiasis (61,62). Holding the canister outside the wide open mouth provides a space for the spray to deccelerate as the propellants, both CFC and HFA, evaporate, enhancing the capacity to entrain the aerosol into the inspiratory airstream. An advantage of the open-mouth technique is that less propellant is inhaled and the aerosol is finer. Using the openmouth method for inhaling the spray, coupled with a low inspiratory flow rate, can result in a doubling of the dose delivered to the lower respiratory tract in adults from approximately 7% to 14% (63). However, the open-mouth technique is difficult for many patients to master, particularly children. Furthermore, drug continually deposited on the face or in the eyes can result in additional problems over time and particularly with inhalation of high doses of steroids and anticholinergic drugs. As discussed below, spacers are the preferred alternative for inhaling these drugs. In comparison, the deposition of OVAR, the solution beclomethasone dipropionate pMDI, resulting from reformulating this steroid in HFA134a has been measured in four independent laboratories and found to be approximately 52% of the emitted dose (ex-actuator) for both healthy volunteers and patients with asthma (64-67). This represents a 2.5-fold increase compared to the CFC suspension product (65) and correlates well with clinical outcomes measured in a number of studies (68,69).

C. Spacers

An important function of spacers is the selective removal of nonrespirable particles of the pMDI spray through impaction of the fast-moving spray on spacer walls and valves. In general, the particle size of a pMDI suspension aerosol exiting a spacer is decreased by approximately 25% while the fraction containing particles less than 5 μ m in diameter is increased (70). With valved holding chambers (HC), this fraction can be augmented by further evaporation of propellant from the aerosol in the finite time between actuation and inhalation; the increase in this fraction appears to depend on the pMDI formulation (71). While the dose of a drug available at a spacer exit can vary for different spacers (72), a result of formulation factors, design differences, and spacer volume which can range from 15 to 750 mL, the particle size distribution is similar (2,73). In vitro measurements of emitted dose have shown that not all drugs can be used with all spacers (74), requiring measurements of the doses available to ensure sufficient drug is available to the user. Static charge on plastic spacer walls reduces the dose available for inhalation (75,76). The loss can be recovered by washing with a mild detergent or priming the spacer before use with several doses of drug (77). Like the detergent, this reduces the electrostatic charge by leaving a thin layer of surfactant on the walls. Emitted doses have been shown to be higher with antistatic treatment of plastic spacers and lung deposition greater (77,78) and comparable to metal spacers, which do not carry a electrostatic charge. Despite these findings, it has recently been demonstrated in a crossover study in children that clinical effects are not markedly improved when using static-free spacers. Salbutamol was inhaled from plastic spacers holding an electrostic charge and then from the same spacers with their charge removed. A further comparison was made to the Nebuchamber, the metal spacer from AstraZeneca (AstraZeneca, Sweden). No significant difference in peak flow was noted between static and static-free spacers or the metal spacer (79,80).

An advantage of valved spacers is that patients can easily inhale the aerosol using a low inspiratory flow rate. This, coupled with the finer aerosol available from the spacer, helps promote deposition in the lung and enhanced clinical response (81). Using gamma scintigraphy (82,83) and pharmacokinetic studies (84, 85), lung deposition from pMDIs with spacers has been shown to be the same or greater than from the pMDI alone, between 5 and 35%, with oropharyngeal deposition markedly reduced to approximately 4-15%. Using a spacer with beclomethasone dipropionate decreased systemic absorption of the drug and produced fewer side effects compared to inhaling the drug from a dry powder inhaler (86). While there may be a greater amount of drug deposited in the lung with some larger spacer devices (83), clinically there appears to be little advantage to using spacer devices greater than 150 mL in volume (70). Open-tube (OT) spacers and reverse-flow (RF) designs, devices in which the pMDI is positioned close to the mouth and fired in the direction away from the patient, require the patient to synchronize inhalation with actuation. Failure to coordinate these two maneuvers will reduce the drug deposited in the lung compared to using a valved holding chamber (87). Similarly, too rapid an inhalation from an OT spacer has been shown to decrease deposition by approximately 30% (88), resulting in a reduced clinical effect (89).

Face masks with and without expiratory valves and coupled to valved holding chambers are widely used to deliver pMDI aerosols to children. The resistance of both valves needs to be sufficiently low to allow them to open and close with their low tidal volumes and flow rates (90,91). The face mask must provide a proper seal to the child's face to avoid loss of dose, an important consideration whether they are inhaling pMDI aerosols (92) or aerosols from nebulizers (35). The tidal volume:spacer volume ratio should also be considered when using spacers with young children, particularly infants. Drug is less concentrated in a large-volume spacer and decreasing with time due to sedimentation to spacer walls. This may mean that only a small amount of aerosol is inhaled, even allowing for 30 s of tidal breathing through the device (93).

D. DPIs

In contrast to pMDIs, DPIs do not require propellants; they are breath-actuated, thus eliminating the need for synchronization of inhalation with actuation. DPIs may allow greater formulation flexibility and do not require the same physical and chemical stability of drug, compared with suspension- or solution-based pMDIs (48). They can be classified according to their means of storing and providing the drug, i.e., as single capsules, in a bulk reservoir, or as multi–single unit dose devices (MUSD) (Table 1). The latter can take the form of blisters, blister tape, capsules, or multichambered cassettes (94,95). With all types of DPIs, some drug remains in the storage medium following dosing. The amount of drug available per actuation should account for this loss and be sufficient to achieve a clinical response. With the exception of budesonide and terbutaline sulfate in the Turbuhaler (AstraZeneca, Sweden), most powder devices require a lactose carrier to allow the powder dose to flow out of the inhaler (95).

DPIs that rely on the patient's inspiratory effort to dispense the dose are often referred to as passive or patient-driven devices as opposed to power-assisted or active DPIs. The advantage of passive devices are that they are breath-actuated and do not require an energy source to generate the aerosol, such as propellants in the pMDI, electrical energy, or compressed air. However, because they are dependent on the patient's inspiratory flow rate to dispense the drug powder, there can be differences in lung delivery efficiencies within and between DPIs and, ultimately, clinical response. Active or powered devices designed to be independent of patient effort require a holding chamber to contain the powder released from the device, and, as with pMDI spacers/holding chambers (S/HC), this results in some drug being lost in the chamber. The Spiros DPI (Dura Pharmaceuticals, San Diego, CA) is an exception, combining both passive and active design features. While electrically driven, it is also a breath-actuated DPI, dispensing powder with the initiation of inhalation.

Further differentiation between DPIs is based on the specific resistance of the device (96), determined by its geometry, and which, in turn, governs the maximal inspiratory flow rate (IFR) that can be drawn through the device and hence the optimal delivery of powder aerosol to the lung. The range of specific resistance values for current designs is approximately 0.02-0.2 (cmH₂O/L.s⁻¹)^{1/2}. High resistance decreases the ability to draw air through the inhaler, but use at the optimal IFR for the inhaler will deliver more drug (17,97). For the DPIs shown in Table 1, there is a threefold variation in lung deposition between DPIs, from 12–37% of the emitted dose. Deposition appears to be lower for DPIs with lower

DPI	Dose storage	Specific ^a resistance	Optimal inspiratory flow rate (L/min)	Drug	Subjects	Lung deposition (mean % emitted dose)
Spiros® (3,154) Dura Pharmaceuticals, San Diego, CA	MUSD Cassette	High	15	Salbutamol Beclomethasone dipropionate	10 normals 10 normals	37.4 41.0
Pulvinal (155) Chiesi, Parma, Italy	Reservoir	Medium	09	Salbutamol	10 normals	15.1
Easyhaler® (156) Orion Farmos, Kuopio, Finland	Reservoir	High	60	Salbutamol	10 normals	28.9
Turbuhaler® (82,158) AstraZeneca, Lund, Sweden	Reservoir	High	60 73	Salbutamol Budesonide	8 normals 8 asthmatics 8 normals	23.2 26.1
Clickhaler [®] (157,158) ML Laboratories, St. Albans, UK	Reservoir	High	57 73	Beclomethasone dipropionate Budesonide	8 normals 8 normals	29.8 26.8
Diskus (159,160) GlaxoSmithKline, UK	MUSD Tape	Medium	60	Fluticasone propionate	n/a normals n/a asthmatics	16.6 ^b 11.9 ^b
Taifun (161) Leiras OY, Turku, Finland	Reservoir		30	Budesonide	10 normals	34.3
Ultrahaler® (162) Fisons, Loughborough, UK	Reservoir	Low	75	Nedocromil	12 normals	13.3

Table 1Lung Deposition from Various DPIs at the Optimal Operating IFR

n/a, not available.

^aHigh = >0.1; medium = 0.05 - 0.01; low = <0.05 (cm H₂O/L.s⁻¹)^{1/2}. ^bAssessed by pharmacokinetic measurement.

177

Aerosol Delivery Devices and Airways/Lung Deposition

specific resistances, and the values are much lower than for the MDLIs described earlier. DPI oropharyngeal doses are approximately 60% for all designs.

III. Characterization of an Aerosol Dose from a Delivery System

A. Nominal/Emitted Dose

The aerosolized dose of drug available at the exit or mouthpiece of a nebulizer or inhaler, either the pMDI or DPI, is defined as the emitted dose (ED) (Fig. 2), and reflects the loss of drug on the actuator mouthpiece or in the inhaler or spacer. This value is less than the package unit drug dose, termed the nominal dose or label claim (LC). In the United States the label claim is the emitted dose, while in Canada and Europe the LC is the unit dose loaded into the inhaler, also termed the metered dose. The emitted aerosol can be fractionated into fine (<4.7 μ m diameter) particles. The doses of drug carried by these particles are termed the fine particle dose and coarse particle dose. The inhaled dose is equal to the emitted dose, provided nothing is inserted between the inhaler exit and the mouth to capture some of the aerosol. Part of the inhaled dose deposits



Figure 2 Categorization of doses of an aerosol from a delivery system and the possible discrimination of these doses in the lung.

in the oropharynx, and the balance is distributed in the lung on airway surfaces. Some of the deposited dose is absorbed through the airways/lung, part is cleared by mucociliary action, and part may be retained in the lung. Each of these doses contributes in part to the clinical efficacy but also to any adverse effects experienced by the patient.

The difference between the nominal dose and the emitted dose reflects losses on system hardware, for example, nebulizer walls, tubing and mouthpieces, plastic parts of DPIs, blister packaging surfaces, metering valves, pMDI actuator mouthpieces, and spacers. The extent of these losses can be measured using chemical assays and can, in some systems, substantially reduce the nominal dose by up to 70%, when, for example, a spacer is used with a pMDI. Mouthpiece actuator losses vary from 5 to 20%. The quantity of drug used to fill the inhaler reservoir, a term that applies to nebulizers, metered dose inhalers, or dry powder inhalers, is the total amount of drug available for inhalation from the inhaler. Again, a portion of this total dose is unavailable for aerosolization and thus inhalation. The term "dead volume" is often applied to that portion of drug not nebulized from jet or ultrasonic nebulizers, often representing 20% or more of the total (43). With pMDIs and DPIs, there is usually an 10-20% overfill in the amount of drug loaded into the bulk reservoir to guarantee that the total number of doses specified on the package are available to the patient. To normalize delivery performance between inhalers dispensing different formulations of the same drug, a change in the nominal unit dose can be made by the pharmaceutical company. This would occur during development as changes to an already marketed formulation would require, as a minimum, confirming bridging studies for reapproval. This circumvents inherent differences between systems without compromising treatment as patients are switched from one type of delivery system to another (Table 2) (17). Thus, while the dose of drug provided from one inhaler system may be greater or less than that from an alternative device, the clinical responses can still be the same.

B. Aerosol Characteristics/Particle Properties

Therapeutic aerosols are heterodisperse, either spherical in shape if produced from a pure solution or nonspherical if a suspension, and with a range of physical diameters and shapes (98). Large particles (>10 m) deposit ex-lung, unless particle density and/or inspiratory flow rates are manipulated to circumvent the physical size constraints (99,100). Particles <10 μ m deposit in the mouth, trachea, and airways throughout the lung. Site of deposition is mainly a function of particle size, but the distribution of the deposited aerosol is also dependent on air flow rate or air velocity and airway caliber (101–103). The physics of particle deposition and the influence on deposition seen with inhalation of therapeutic aerosols under various conditions are well described in the literature (104–107).

	Nominal	FPF	FPD	FPF	FPD
	dose	$(\% LC < 4.7 \mu m$	$(\mu g < 4.7 \ \mu m)$	$(\% LC < 4.7 \mu m$	$(g < 4.7 \mu m$
	(hg/	at 28.3 Lpm),	at 28.3 Lpm),	at 60 Lpm),	at 60 Lpm),
Inhaler	actuation)	mean(SD)	mean(SD)	mean(SD)	mean(SD)
pMDI	100	47.7(4.7)	47.7(4.7)	49.6(4.3)	49.6(4.3)
PMDI + Volumatic	100	68.9(12.2)	68.9(12.2)	58.8(6.6)	58.8(6.6)
Diskus	200	23.3(0.9)	46.6(1.8)	31.6(0.9)	63.2(1.8)
Diskhaler	200	20.4(8.6)	40.8(17.2)	26.9(5.7)	53.8(11.4)
Turbuhaler	100	13.3(1.6)	13.3(1.6)	27.6(8.0)	27.6(8.0)
Turbuhaler	50	9.7(3.2)	4.9(1.6)	23.3(3.0)	11.7(1.5)
FPF = Fine particle fraction	n; FPD = fine particle	to dose; LC = label claim.			
Source: Data trom Ret. 1/.					

180



Figure 3 Cumulative mass distributions for pMDI aerosols of Beclazone 50, QVAR, and Beclovent. Curves are shown for the emitted dose ex-actuator (CI + inlet total) and the dose that is only deposited in the impactor (CI total). The mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD) of the aerosols deposited in the impactor is read from the CI curves at 50% of the cumulative mass and is 0.99 μ m for Beclazone 50 (Baker-Waterford, Ireland), 1.0 μ m for QVAR (3M Pharmaceuticals, St. Paul, MN), and 3.3 μ m for Beclovent (Allen and Hanbury, Research Triangle Park, NC). The fine particle fraction (% < 4.7 μ m) of the emitted dose is read from the CI + Inlet total curves and used to calculate the values shown in Table 3.

Defining an aerosol in terms of its Stokes equivalent diameter corrects for differences in size and shape within the aerosol. By further normalizing this diameter to that of a water droplet ($\varrho = 1.0 \text{ g/cc}$) with the same settling velocity (aerodynamic equivalent diameter), a comparison of the behavior in the lung of different aerosol products with different densities can be made, independent of the type of drug aerosolized or inhaler used (98). The mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD) of the aerosol is a statistic from the size (frequency) distribution data characterizing the aerosol under kinetic conditions in terms of its mass (Fig. 3). The MMAD means that 50% of the mass of the aerosol resides in particles less than the MMAD and 50% in particles greater than the MMAD. Both the MMAD and its (geometric) standard deviation (GSD), a measure of the het-



Figure 4 Histogram illustrating the % of the emitted dose deposited on the individual cascade impactor (CI) stages, jet and throat (inlet) for QVAR (3M Pharmaceuticals, St. Paul, MN) and Beclovent (Allen and Hanbury, Research Triangle Park, NC). The height of the bars indicates the differences in amounts on the stages.

erogeneity of the aerosol, are predictors for the site of deposition in the lung as well as indicating the dose or collective amount of drug (mass) carried by the aerosol. Size classification of the aerosol in terms of its aerodynamic behavior is performed using cascade impactors, multistage liquid impingers, and optical systems, with chemical assay of the drug a major advantage of the impactor/impinger techniques. While time-consuming and labor-intensive compared to the laser techniques, the ability to quantify the amount of drug carried by aerosol particles of a specific size is useful for interpreting the resulting lung deposition patterns and clinical effects of the inhaled dose (Fig. 4). Sizing data from light scattering instruments gives the median diameter of the aerosol, with the assumption that all particles in the aerosol being tested are spherical and of unit density. This information predicts the site of deposition of aerosol in the lung but says nothing of its drug content (108). The accuracy in determining these in vitro doses is increased if the impactor/impinger flow rates used to sample the aerosol are matched to the

optimal performance of the inhaler and the patient's IFR (97). As shown in Table 2 (17), the fine particle fraction [FPF ($\% < 4.7 \,\mu$ m)] measured for the Turbuhaler at 28.3 Lpm was less than that measured at 60 Lpm, the manufacturer's recommended flow rate for optimal in vitro performance and patient use. As with a number of DPIs, deposition is flow dependent (12,109): a lower inhalation flow rate delivers a lower dose of drug to the lung. Decreased plasma levels of terbutaline were measured when this bronchodilator was inhaled at 34 Lpm from the Turbuhaler, in line with the decreased fine particle dose (110).

Air flow patterns within the lung additionally affect movement and behavior of inhaled aerosol particles or droplets. In the normal lung, laminar flow occurs in distal, peripheral airways, at approximately the sixth generation of airway (111). Airway narrowing due to constriction, edema, and/or secretions causes airstream velocities to increase resulting in turbulent flow and augmented deposition of larger particles, mainly at airway bifurcations (101,111). Thus, in airways disease, as resistance to airflow increases, deposition of particles becomes more proximal with less of the inhaled drug dose available to the distal lung for therapy. Similar effects are seen if the patient hyperventilates, with drug impaction increased in the oropharynx and on large airways.

C. Partitioning of an Aerosol: Fine and Coarse Particle Fractions, Fine and Coarse Particle Drug:Mass Ratios

In addition to the MMAD and geometric standard deviation (GSD), a third parameter, the fine particle fraction (FPF), or the percentage of particles within the aerosol that are $<5 \mu m (4.7 \mu m)$ or $6 \mu m (5.8 \mu m)$ in diameter, is being used more frequently to describe the quality of an aerosol and its potential usefulness for targeting and delivering sufficient quantities of drug to the peripheral airways. The 4.7 µm cut-off diameter to define the FPF is accepted as the standard, although 5.8 µm has also been used for a number of years as these particles do deposit in the lung, but on larger, more proximal airways. The fine particle dose (FPD) is calculated as the fine particle fraction multiplied by the emitted dose (ED) of drug available at the inhaler exit (FPD = $FPF_{\% < 4.7 \text{um}} \times ED \times 100\%$). The counterpart is the coarse particle fraction (CPF = $CPF_{\%>4.7um}$) and resulting coarse particle dose (CPD = $CPF_{\%>4.7um} \times ED \times 100\%$), or that quantity of the aerosol contained in particles $> 4.7 \mu m$, which would preferentially deposit in the mouth and throat and on large central airways. In general, the percentage of particles with increasing likelihood for depositing in the distal lung increases as the FPF increases, also indicating that the aerosol has a smaller mass median aerodynamic diameter. While more drug is carried in larger droplets or particles, the probability of particles larger than 6 µm depositing in the lower respiratory tract decreases with an increasing CPF. Submicrometer droplets, <1 µm in diameter and present in increasing numbers in ethanolic pressurized steroid formulations, such as HFA134a BDP (QVAR, 3M Pharmaceuticals, St. Paul, MN), are retained less in the lung but, due to their size and the vast number of submicrometer droplets in the aerosol, can penetrate into the pulmonary regions, even in the presence of airflow obstruction (83,83a). An extrafine particle fraction (EFPF) and dose (EFPD) has been defined for those aerosols whose distributions contain a majority of particles <1 μ m in diameter. Approximately 20% of these extrafine pMDI aerosols will be exhaled, as aerosols of this diameter behave as a gas and, indeed, are widely used to measure lung ventilation in patients suspected of having a pulmonary embolism (112).

D. Use of Dose Ratios to Compare Inhaler Performance Delivering the Same Drug

To calculate the FPDs for the inhalers shown in Table 2, a measurement of the emitted dose is required. With the results of the FPD calculation, one can compare delivery efficiencies and estimate the amount of drug deposited in the lung for the various aerosol systems. As mentioned above, the ED is the dose available at the mouth and is less than the nominal dose strength due to losses in the system; the label claim (LC) is the amount of drug available ex-actuator and would be the same dose as the nominal strength provided there is no other hardware inserted between the inhaler actuator and the mouth. In Table 2, the values for the FPFs for the pMDI + Volumatic spacer are expressed as %LC of the pMDI dose available ex-spacer. Due to impaction of large particles on spacer walls and valves and evaporation of the propellant, an increase in FPF of the aerosol ex-spacer occurs compared to the pMDI alone (17,70). To calculate the FPD ex-spacer, a value for the ED ex-spacer needs to be provided or the FPF given is for the aerosol ex-spacer. For example, if losses in the Volumatic are of the order of 50% of the nominal dose, the ED available at the mouth would be approximately 50 µg and the FPD approximately 30 µg. It can be seen that at the higher sampling flow rate of 60 Lpm, the FPF for the pMDI aerosol available from the spacer decreased, reflecting a loss of fines resulting from increased impaction of aerosol on the spacer valve and walls.

Further support for understanding inhaler performance and drug delivery to the lung has been demonstrated by Wilson et al. (10). They compared systemic effects from fluticasone propionate (FP) inhaled as a powder from the Diskus (Glaxo-SmithKline, United Kingdom) and as a pressurized aerosol using the Volumatic large-volume spacer. Each system administered the same nominal dose of FP. Indicators of adrenal suppression (overnight and early morning urinary cortisol/ creatinine excretion, 8 a.m. serum cortisol levels) as measures of lung bioavailability showed significantly greater systemic activity for the pMDI + spacer than for the DPI, suggesting greater absorption of drug from the peripheral lung when the pMDI was given via the spacer. For reasons mentioned earlier in this chapter and well documented in the literature, the particle size of an aerosol exiting a spacer is typically finer than from pMDIs used without a spacer or from DPIs. A direct result of this decrease in particle size is an increase in aerosol deposited in the peripheral lung, potentially giving rise to greater systemic absorption—the outcome documented by Wilson in his comparison of inhalers. Additionally and depending upon the type of spacer or DPI used, overall deposition efficiencies may or may not be comparable. The results from Wilson can easily be explained by the combined differences in aerosol quality, namely, a lower fine particle dose and lower in vivo deposition efficiency for the Diskus compared to the pMDI and Volumatic. Combining these two factors, namely, aerosol size of the drug with inhaler deposition efficiency, makes possible a more accurate estimate of absolute doses deposited (regional or total) and a prediction of differences in the kinetics and overall response to the drug. Wilson and colleagues concluded that an understanding of delivery system performance is important to the physician when considering switching a patient from one inhaler to another. Similarly, in a study in stable but symptomatic asthmatics, Chapman and colleagues demonstrated that equivalent responses to salbutamol inhaled via the Turbuhaler could be obtained at one-half the dose prescribed via the pMDI, explained by the different dosing efficiencies of the inhaler systems (113). By combining the in vitro estimate of FPD with the known in vivo deposition efficiencies for the two delivery systems, a similar fine-particle drug dose will be deposited in the lung and, not surprisingly, give rise to the same clinical response. This result is similar to the one obtained in children treated with budesonide inhaled via the pMDI with the Nebuhaler or from the Turbuhaler at half the dose. The results showed that their asthma was well controlled when treated with the lower dose of budesonide through the Turbuhaler (114). A twofold difference in deposition has been measured for budesonide via the Turbuhaler compared to the pMDI alone in healthy adults (9), while in adult asthmatics the addition of the Nebuhaler to budesonide pMDI increased lung deposition by approximately 45% compared to the Turbuhaler (82). It is possible that the clinical observations made in children in the above study (114) would be different in the adult.

E. Use of Dose Ratios to Compare Different Formulations of Salbutamol

An example of how the aerosol size fractions can differentiate between formulations that give the same clinical outcome at prescribed doses can be illustrated with a comparison of the reformulated salbutamol pMDI, Airomir (3M Pharmaceuticals, St. Paul, MN) to its counterpart CFC Ventolin. The particle size distribution of Airomir versus Ventolin has been shown to be the same (58,115), with the mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD) of Airomir measured by cascade impaction as 2.69 μ m versus 2.62 μ m for Ventolin. The emitted doses ex-



Figure 5 Data from normal subjects showing plasma salbutamol levels (C_{max}) obtained after inhalation of salbutamol aerosol from a variety of inhalers (A–L). Values for HFA salbutamol (Airomir, 3M Pharmaceuticals, UK) without (B) and with spacers (H–K) are significantly greater than from inhalation of CFC pMDI aerosol (A). (Data from Ref. 116.)

actuator were found to be less for Airomir than Ventolin (85.3 \pm 5.4µg vs. $96.9 \pm 6.9 \,\mu\text{g}; p < 0.05$), but the FPF of the emitted dose ex-actuator, defined as the percentage contained in particles less than 5.8 µm in diameter, was greater for Airomir (65.5% vs. 41.4%; p < 0.05) (115). Because the FPF is greater for Airomir, the fine particle dose is 54.2 μ g compared to 40.3 μ g for Ventolin. The increased serum levels for Airomir, measured by Lipworth and colleagues in healthy volunteers and compared to those following inhalation of Ventolin, can be seen in Figure 5 (116). In a separate in vitro filter study, emitted doses and particle sizing were measured for Airomir used with several spacers of different volumes (115). The fine particle dose was increased compared to that for Ventolin through the spacers and was comparable between the three spacers: approximately 70 µg of Airomir was measured at the mouthpiece of the 145 mL Aerochamber (Trudell Medical International, Canada), the 330 mL Babyhaler (GlaxoSmithKline, UK), and the metal 280 mL Nebuchamber (Astra Zeneca, Sweden) (115). The in vitro data shown in Figure 6 (115) for Airomir + AC and + NES are also reflected in the pharmacokinetic (pk) results of Lipworth in Figure 5 (116), supporting greater total deposition in the lung compared to Airomir alone. Clinically, there appears to be no difference in either short-term or long-term effects on pulmonary function between Airomir and Ventolin (117–120). However, studies comparing doses below the minimum nominal dose of 100 µg should be undertaken to differentiate the bronchodilator response to these two aerosols, avoiding the plateau of the dose-response curve where responses are likely to be muted.

Not surprisingly, and as shown by these few examples, the fine particle con-



Figure 6 Data showing emitted doses ($\mu g/puff$) and fine particle doses ($\mu g < 4.7 \ \mu m$ /puff) of salbutamol from (open bars) Airomir (3M Pharmaceuticals, St. Paul, MN) and (hatched bars) Ventoline pMDI (GlaxoSmithKline, France) alone and through three valved spacers: Aerochamber (AC)(TMI, Canada), BabyHaler (BBH) (GlaxoSmithKline, UK), and Nebuchamber (NES) (AstraZeneca, Sweden) (*t*-test or Mann-Whitney rank sum test; *n* = 30). With the exception of the ED from the pMDIs alone, the EDs and FPDs through the three spacers are greater for HFA Airomir compared to CFC Ventoline. The higher doses may lead to a greater clinical effect when the HFA formulation is inhaled. (Data from Ref. 115.)

tent of a therapeutic aerosol greatly influences the systemic uptake of a drug, perhaps more so than the overall response to the drug. The presence of inflammatory cells in the distal lung in airways <2 mm(121) strongly suggests that fine particle steroid aerosols should be targeted to this area of the lung, despite the potential for increased side effects. The distribution of particles to the distal lung, that is, beyond the seventh generation of airway, increases as particle size decreases (4), but shifts to more proximal airways will occur with increased turbulence due to airway narrowing (105). As aerosols are heterodisperse, deposition on more central airways is unavoidable and may be preferred as therapy is then applied throughout the lung.

Although the potential for absorption of drug from the peripheral airways is greater due to the larger surface area, the rate of absorption will also be determined by other factors such as the molecular weight of the drug, the depth of the mucus layer, ciliary function, and the integrity of the airways (121a). Not discussed here

a uru-bur"			
F-ratio ^b	QVAR/BV50	BZ50/QVAR	BZ50/BV50
$FPD-ratio = F_{f}$	$17.62 \mu g/12.61 \mu g = 1.40$	$25.85 \mu g/17.62 \mu g = 1.47$	$25.85 \mu g/12.61 \mu g = 2.05$
CPD-ratio = F_c	$23.39 \mu g/33.91 \mu g = 0.69$	$15.29 \mu g/23.39 \mu g = 0.65$	$15.29 \mu g/33.91 \mu g = 0.45$
$I = F_f/F_c$	1.40/0.69 = 2.03	1.47/0.65 = 2.24	2.05/0.45 = 4.55
FPD = Fine particle dos	e; CPD = coarse particle dose; I = Index o	of Aerosol Quality; $BZ50 = Beclazone 50$ (F	Baker-Waterford, Ireland).

 Table 3
 Comparison of Fine Particle Dose and Coarse Particle Dose Ratios for 2 HFA-BDPs (QVAR, BZ50) and

*The nominal strength for all three pMDIs is 50 µg/actuation. Beclovent from GlaxoSmithKline, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada; Beclovent from Allen and Hanbury, Research Triangle Park, NC.

^bCalculated from Anderson Cascade Impactor (ACI) data.

Source: Refs. 122,126.



Figure 7 Comparison of doses for two strengths of the same drug: Becloforte (250 g/ puff) and Beclovent (50 μ g/puff). While the fivefold difference in concentration of weight is seen in the metered and emitted doses, Becloforte has a greater coarse particle dose and a lower fine particle dose compared to Beclovent. Thus the distribution in the lung of Becloforte aerosol may be more proximal than for Beclovent. (Data from Ref. 122.)

is the role of the bronchial circulation in providing drug, absorbed from large particles deposited on more proximal sites in the lung, to airways <2 mm in diameter. Whether the small airway response to therapy would be enhanced if the lung was loaded with a large-particle steroid aerosol is not known.

F. Use of Dose Ratios to Compare Different Formulations of Beclomethasone Diproprionate

FPFs and FPDs are given in Table 3 for QVAR and Beclovent (BV), two 50 μ g/ puff inhalers of the same drug but formulated in different propellants (122,123, 126). The latter is a CFC suspension and the former is a HFA134a solution of beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP). The F-ratios are an indication of the in vitro equivalence or lack of equivalence of the aerosols for depositing in the lung (F_f) and the oropharynx (F_c). The Index of Aerosol Quality (I) is the combined effect of the two F-ratios and represents the overall extent of the in vitro differences between the formulations. It is useful to compare the FPD and CPD values for these two drugs as the ratios show the difference in quality of the aerosol following reformulation. Overall, a twofold change in the fine and coarse aerosol content was effected, as can be seen in the ratios of the FPD and CPD values ($F_f = 1.40$ and $F_c = 0.69$), favoring the fine component of the HFA aerosol. The values indicate that the mass contained in fine droplets is 40% greater for QVAR compared to BV, while the mass of coarse droplets decreased by 31%. Overall, there is a twofold difference in the aerosol quality of QVAR compared to BV as seen in the I value and a slightly greater (3-fold) difference for the MMADs (Fig. 3). In adult asthmatics, lung deposition with QVAR has been shown to be two- to threefold greater compared to BV (65), with parallel changes in clinical response (68).

These ratios can also be used to compare different dose strengths, but one should not expect a linear increase in deposited dose for a higher strength of the same drug. Figure 7 shows the dose ratios for Becloforte (BF, GlaxoSmithKline, Ware, UK), 250 μ g/puff pMDI of BDP, compared to Beclovent (BV). It can be seen that while the ED and metered dose (ex-valve) values are approximately 5:1, the CPD ratio is greater and the FPD ratio smaller (122). The increase in MMAD for BF is a direct consequence of these changes to the aerosol, and while patients



Figure 8 Illustration of the doses for three pMDI formulations with a nominal dose of 50 μ g of beclomethasone dipropionate/puff. Beclazone 50 and QVAR are HFA solution aerosols, with a finer MMAD compared to Beclovent, the CFC pMDI. While the EDs are similar, differences in the CPDs and FPDs were measured between all three inhalers. Deposition following inhalation of Beclazone 50 would be predicted to be more peripheral than from the other two formulations. (Data from Ref. 123.)

will inhale an aerosol with five times the weight of drug per actuation, the site of deposition in the lung may be more proximal than for BV.

G. Use of Dose Ratios to Compare a Generic Inhaler (Beclazone) to the Innovator (QVAR)

A second example for the use of these dose ratios is in the in vitro comparison of two BDP solution HFA pMDIs, QVAR and Beclazone 50 (BZ50, Baker-Waterford, Ireland) (123). The ratios of the EDs, FPFs, and CPFs and the corresponding doses are shown in Table 3. The EDs are the same for both formulations, but BZ50 has almost 50% more aerosol-containing drug in the fine particle range. In the United Kingdom, QVAR has been approved on a 1:2.5 dose ratio to Beclovent; in Ireland has BZ50 been approved on a 1:1 ratio. From the in vitro doses shown in Table 3 and plotted in Figure 8, it appears that these two HFA BDP formulations are different and that inhalation of BZ50 may give a greater dose of BDP to the lungs compared to QVAR. Thus a 1:1 substitution of BZ50 for CFC-BDP may not be appropriate. Two published clinical trials have compared CFCfree Beclazone to a CFC BDP product, also from Norton Healthcare Ltd, United Kingdom, and showed equivalence between the two aerosols (124,125). It could be argued that the study designs, subjects enrolled, and doses tested were such that differences in response would be difficult to discern. Needless to say, there is some confusion on the part of physicians as to how to transition these two HFA aerosols.

IV. Effect of Particle Size and Inspiratory Flow Rate on the Emitted Dose

The most advantageous size for a therapeutic aerosol is one with a MMAD between 1 and 5 μ m, and most of the currently marketed inhalers produce aerosols within this range. Attempts have been made to tailor clinical aerosols, making them more uniform in size and hence targeted to specific airways. Trials testing inhalation of equivalent inhaled doses of monodisperse albuterol aerosols in moderate to severe asthmatic patients resulted in maximum changes in lung function with particles of 2.8 μ m MMAD compared to those 1.5 and 5.0 μ m in diameter (127,128). However, not surprisingly, no difference could be seen in bronchodilator response when compared with the heterodisperse pMDI CFC aerosol, perhaps because the airway surface dose of drug achieved was the same for both aerosols and sufficient drug was deposited at specific receptor sites with both systems to effect a similar bronchodilatation (129).

Increasing the air flow rate used to inhale an aerosol can increase the dose dispensed from an inhaler (130), but it also can reduce the drug dose inhaled into the lower respiratory tract, preferentially depositing drug onto central airways (63,131,132). Responses may change with this altered deposition pattern (8,11).

However, it is difficult to differentiate the influence of the topographical distribution of aerosolized drug on the clinical response from the effect due to the amount of drug inhaled, particularly when sufficient drug is prescribed as a single dose and the plateau of the dose-response curve is readily achieved with this dose. A number of studies in both children and adults have measured the effect of IFR on lung deposition and clinical response from pMDIs and DPIs; in general, results indicate a flow dependency in both deposition and response (107).

The in vitro measurements of emitted dose, FPF, CPF, and EFPF of the dispensed aerosol are all affected by the air drawn through the inhaler (133). The air flow acts to disperse the dose and additionally, if a powder, to fluidize and deaggregate the powder aliquot. As seen in Table 2, the above fractions will increase or decrease, depending on the in vitro test flow rate or the in vivo IFR used during a patient inhalation manoeuvre. For passive DPIs, the critical step in dispensing the dose is the process of deaggregating the powder. These types of DPI rely on the effort extended by the patient via the inspiratory breath to dispense the powder from the device (134). Too poor an effort (low IFR) will not fully aerosolize the powder, resulting in a large particle aerosol with a higher CPF (and lower FPF). As shown by the data in Table 2 for the Turbuhaler, not using the optimal flow rate translates into a lower dispensed dose and FPD, less drug inhaled into the lung, and potentially, a reduced response (135).

The higher IFR used for pMDI delivery of budesonide, coupled with the larger MMAD and CPF of the pMDI aerosol, may explain the reduced lung deposition compared to inhaling the pMDI dose from a valved holding chamber, the Nebuhaler (AstraZeneca, Sweden), using a lower IFR (82). In an attempt to discriminate responses based on site of deposition, effected by manipulating both the inspiratory flow rate and particle size, Ruffin and coworkers performed a series of experiments delivering radiolabeled agonist and antagonist aerosols, targeted to central or peripheral regions of the lung in asthmatic patients (136,137). Delivering histamine predominantly to the central airways required 10- to 15-fold less drug to cause a 15% fall in FEV₁ compared to peripherally deposited histamine. These results illustrated that sufficient surface concentration of drug was obtained centrally for histamine using a much lower dose, but enough to trigger the required response. However, the effects on FEV₁ delivering isoprenaline to central or peripheral airways pretreated with either peripherally or centrally deposited propranolol were mixed (137), perhaps because the deposition patterns for the aerosol were not sufficiently discriminatory in all the subjects studied.

V. Measuring Aerosol Lung Dose and Distribution

There are a number of ways to measure deposition of particles or droplets in the lung. The information obtained can be used to estimate the dose of drug deposited

in the lung and, with radiotracers and imaging, the dose at particular (airway) sites in the lung. Theoretical calculations or empirical models provide guidance as to what may occur in vivo, although it is difficult to accurately model the many conditions affecting delivery, deposition, retention and absorption of aerosol in the lung and, additionally, have the results fully predict outcomes in human subjects with or without lung disease. Experimental data obtained using in vitro and in vivo animal models, in vivo radioisotope studies, and pharmacokinetic studies (116, 138,139) provide a good indication as to where drug is deposited in the lung. However, airway geometry, patterns of breathing, and lung function vary between subjects and over age groups, as do the methods used to obtain and analyze deposition data. As a result, the deposition data obtained from different laboratories may vary for the same drug due to the combination of using different methods for preparing the radiolabeled drug, varying inclusion criteria for the subjects, different standardization practices for the delivery of the aerosol, and various imaging techniques and data analysis.

Methods to detect the distribution of an inhaled radiolabeled aerosol consist of both nonimaging and imaging techniques, the latter being either twodimensional (2D planar) or three-dimensional (3D) [single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) or positron emission tomography (PET)]. Much of the above deposition data has also been generated by pharmacokinetic investigations, which, when combined with charcoal blocking of the intestinal uptake and with parallel intravenous studies, give a good estimation of total airways/lung uptake. (The design and results of these types of studies are reported in Chapters 9, 10, and 12, respectively, in this text.) Several human studies have been designed to investigate the correlation of deposition outcomes measured with imaging and pharmacokinetic samples collected at the same time in the same subject exposed to radiolabeled budesonide fom the Turbuhaler. The data from Borgström (110a) showed that the two methods gave similar results for total deposition. The advantage of scintigraphy is that it provides a detailed visual image of where drug deposits in the lung and that regional information can be obtained. Drug delivery to the lung has also been assessed using indirect pharmacokinetic methods. This approach involves measuring drug levels in urine (84) or plasma (85) 30 minutes after inhalation, before significant quantities have been absorbed from the GI tract. The results are dependent on the sensitivity of the drug assay and often require inhalation of large doses of drug for reliable sampling. Blocking with charcoal is viewed as not necessary and would, in any case, not be representative of what would occur in the clinical setting. The results provide only an indirect rather than an absolute measure of lung dose. However, these types of studies have been used extensively to compare devices or inhalation techniques.

Two-dimensional imaging is used by a number of laboratories to measure the distribution of deposited dose and calculate the inhaled dose from a variety of inhalers and drugs. The lung however, is a three-dimensional structure and with
two-dimensional planar imaging, the distribution of the radiotracer can only be viewed in two dimensions. The contribution from overlapping small airways in the hilar region has been shown to be considerable, resulting in an overestimation of both "central" airway and peripheral deposition (140). Using three-dimensional techniques such as SPECT and PET can reduce this error, as they allow a more accurate measurement of the dose deposited within the lung (141–143). Other issues in imaging a three-dimensional object in two dimensions that impact on the measurement of deposited dose are the system resolution (4-6 mm for PET and 6-12 mm for SPECT and two-dimensional planar cameras) and the correction for attenuation of the deposited radioactivity in the lung by the chest wall or in the oropharynx and larynx by bone, cartilage, and tissue (144). The former reduction in signal is nonlinear, particularly if the aerosol deposition is nonuniform, as would occur in disease (145). Several methods have been used for estimating attenuation factors employing both internal and external sources of radioactivity (146–149). While a universal factor can be applied to all in vivo data, it is truly specific to the subject being imaged. Additionally, it is a function of the parameters of the imaging system, that is, the combined camera/collimator resolution and sensitivity. Not correcting the imaging (emission) data for tissue attenuation underestimates the absolute dose measured (149). Tomography, both PET and SPECT, overcomes these issues. With PET in particular, the acquisition of a transmission scan immediately following the PET scan and with the subject still under the scanner provides an accurate geometric outline of each lung slice. The correction for tissue attenuation of radioactivity can then be applied specifically to each voxel of each emission slice. To define regions of interest, e.g., central and peripheral lung regions, on either PET or SPECT images, the transmission slice is overlayed onto the emission slice enabling the peripheral or outer lung border for that individual slice to be delineated, providing the boundary of the lung from which the peripheral region of interest is drawn (150). The process is repeated for each lung slice and the radioactive counts within each slice summed to give either the total and regional doses deposited or the dose per slice versus distance through the lung (144).

Tomography with inhaled SPECT and PET tracers are increasingly being used as investigative tools to measure lung dose and distribution from nebulizers, pMDIs, and DPIs as these imaging techniques provide greater accuracy in measuring drug distribution in the lung (144,151). The PET scans in Figure 9 show the projection views and an image of one slice of lung from each of the three planes (coronal, transaxial, and sagittal) in a normal subject (A) and a subject with cystic fibrosis (B) following inhalation of 4.5 and 1.5 μ m¹⁸FDG aerosols generated from a Pari LC Star (Pari, Germany) and an Ultravent (Mallinckrodt, St. Louis, MO) jet nebulizer, respectively (152). The projection view (Figs. 9, 10) is the summation of all slices in the coronal plane and would be equivalent to what would be acquired with the two-dimensional gamma camera. It can be seen that the deposi-

tion detail provided in the single coronal slice is diluted in the projection view. With two-dimensional imaging, the calculation of total and regional deposited dose is made using the data essentially contained in the "projection" view, whereas with PET and SPECT there is the additional ability to "peel off" lung and calculate doses per slice of lung tissue. In the selected transaxial slices from the apical, middle, and basal regions shown in Figure 11 from this CF subject, it can be seen that while there is considerable impaction of the $1.5 \,\mu m$ fine aerosol in the lung, the very anterior and posterior areas of the right midlung are well ventilated and could receive drug. This information would not be readily seen in two dimensions. In rotating the projection view (Fig. 11), one can see that what appears to be central deposition of radioactivity in the right lung is, in fact, located in the posterior and basal regions. Better discrimination of the sites of impaction are also seen in the left lung. This three-dimensional visualization and quantification of how much of a drug is deposited and where can help the physician see whether a sufficient amount of an inhaled therapy would be able to successfully target specific areas in the lung. Furthermore, regional analysis of deposition from a PET or SPECT scan can be calculated for each slice and plotted versus distance through the lung, a feature not possible with two-dimensional imaging. Of added interest with this imaging technique is the option to label a drug directly with a PET emitter (143,151,153). The data will then give a picture of where the drug is in the lung, the total and regional dose deposited, and the drug's fate over time.

VI. Considerations for Future Investigations

What determines the dose of a drug inhaled into the airways/lung? Some of the factors are obvious—inhaler design, formulation, quality of the aerosol produced from the inhaler, inhalation techniques, and airway/lung disease status. As shown in Figure 1, the aerosol available at the mouth for inhalation, the emitted dose exdelivery system, can be divided into two main components—coarse and fine. The divisions, based on theoretical calculations and experimental models of deposition and particle size, can be finer, but given the available clinical measurement tools, suit the purpose for relating deposition to efficacy.

What is the ideal size distribution for a corticosteroid aerosol? The distribution of particle sizes from an inhaler needs to be such that the doses delivered provide maximal efficacy with few or no side effects. The aerosol must be fine enough to achieve the target, that is, sufficient mass of drug deposited at sites of inflammation, but not so fine that the particles are not retained in the lung—a balance between physics, physiology, and formulation. Clearly, with the physical and clinical observations to date we have not attained this goal. To provide this information, perhaps the starting point for deposition studies investigating the influence of particle size on response should be to use the minimum dose that



196

(a)



(q)

Figure 9 Selected slices from PET images acquired in a normal subject (a) and a subject with cystic fibrosis (b) following inhalation of a 1.5 µm aerosol of ¹⁸FDG from the Ultravent jet nebulizer in comparison to a 4.5 µm aerosol from the PARI LC Star jet nebulizer. Deposition is similar for the two aerosols in the three planes (coronal, transaxial, and sagittal) in both subjects, but more hot spots are evident with the larger aerosol. Information in the projection view is not as detailed as that available from the individual slices.

START



Figure 10 Projection view from a PET scan for one subject with cystic fibrosis. Rotation of the projection view, shown on the right, indicates that the location of aerosol deposited in both the right and left lung is posterior and basal, with some impaction of aerosol in the anterior of the left lung. This information is not apparent in the "head-on" projection view shown on the left. (From Ref. 152.)

achieves some measure of clinical effect. Added doses may enable deposition changes initiated by the previous (lower) dose to be factored into the observations and help better differentiate the response.

What is the distribution of the emitted dose in the lung? The airways filter the inhaled aerosol, depositing particles on airway surfaces according to droplet/particle size, airflow dynamics, and airway size. The dose carried by large particles is greater than that carried by smaller particles, but large particles deposit on large, proximal airways unless the air flow pattern is markedly altered—not a realistic exercise for clinical applications. Aerosol size can be reduced using spacers, usually providing the same or an increased fine particle dose compared to the original aerosol. While calculations for this type of application were not fully provided in this chapter, use of the equations is straightforward. Unfortunately, the inhalers presently available preclude creating an aerosol with the right "mix" of particles to target specific sites in the lung, but future possibilities exist for these types of developments. A balance also needs to be made between steroid efficacy and side effects, the latter mainly due to systemic absorption of the fine aerosol dose.

Can we define the relationship between inflammatory changes in the lung, changes in lung function, and the various dose fractions of an inhaled drug? The latter are provided by in vitro measurements and these have certain limitations. With imaging, an in vivo estimate of large airway/small airway dose can be made. Can differences be detected in in vivo responses to the fine particle dose versus the coarse particle dose? Are the clinical data sufficiently exact to provide good correlations between dose distribution in the lung and response? Perhaps the use of the fine and coarse dose values should define the dose in the dose-response curves



Figure 11 Examples of deposition in three (of a possible 80) slices from the transaxial plane for a subject with cystic fibrosis after inhaling aerosols of two different particle sizes, 4.5 µm and 1.5 µm. The images show the detail that is obtained with three-dimensional imaging and indicates the differences in deposition within the lung, information not possible to obtain with planar two-dimensional imaging.

obtained in pharmacodynamic studies, rather than using nominal doses, as this may provide a more accurate comparison of the assessment of bioequivalence or relative potency between inhaled drugs from different delivery systems. The results presented here seem to suggest that links can be made to clinical observations, and further investigations should be encouraged and supported.

However, study designs need to combine deposition measurements with response, in the same subject, made when the test aerosol is given. Patient status varies from day to day, and we do not yet have the clinical tools to precisely measure the effects of small changes in airway caliber on pulmonary function to allow a separation of these measurements in time. In addition, better control of the delivery of the test aerosols needs to be built into study protocols to minimize the inherent variability in breathing patterns. While not realistic clinically as yet, results from controlled studies give more accurate results.

Can conditions be set now for the development of aerosols that can be directed more precisely to the disease target—the "magic bullet" theory? Or are the inhaled steroids/delivery systems currently available for treating asthma broad enough in their coverage of the lung that more than adequate treatment is readily achieved? The findings discussed in this chapter suggest otherwise. We need to broaden our knowledge of aerosol delivery, not only for inhaled steroids, but for all drugs used to treat asthma and other lung diseases using the inhaled route.

References

- Lippmann M. Regional deposition of particles in the human respiratory tract. In: Lee DHK, Falk HL, Murphy, SD, eds. Handbook of Physiology, Section 9, Reaction to Environmental Agents. Bethesda, MD: American Physiological Society, 1977:213– 232.
- 2. Dolovich M. Aerosols. In: Barnes PJ, Grunstein MM, Leff AR, Woolcock AJ eds. Asthma. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1997:1349–1366.
- 3. Dolovich M. Influence of inspiratory flow rate, particle size and airway caliber on aerosolized drug delivery to the lung. Respir Care 2000; 45(6):597–608.
- 4. Dolovich M, Ryan G, Newhouse MT. Aerosol penetration into the lung; influence on airway responses. Chest 1981; 80(6 suppl):834-836.
- Newman SP, Pavia D, Garland N, Clarke SW. Effects of various inhalation modes on the deposition of radioactive pressurized aerosols. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 1982; 119: 57–65.
- Parameswaran K. Concepts of establishing clinical bioequivalence of chlorofluorocarbon and hydrofluororcarbon-agonists. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:S243– 245.
- Stewart BA, Ahrens RC, Carrier S, Frosolono M, Lux C, Han SH, Milavetz G. Demonstration of in vivo bioequivalence of a generic albuterol metered-dose inhaler to Ventolin. Chest 2000; 117:714–721.
- Borgström L. The pharmacokinetics of inhaled hydrofluoroalkane formulations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:S246–249.

- Thorsson L, Edsbäcker S, Conradson TB. Lung deposition of budesonide from Turbuhaler is twice that from a pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI). Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1839–1844.
- Wilson AM, Dempsey OJ, Coutie WJ, Sims EJ, Lipworth BJ. Importance of drugdevice interaction in determining systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids [letter]. Lancet 1999; 353(9170):2128.
- 11. Selroos O, Pietinalho A, Riska H. Delivery devices for inhaled asthma medication. Clin Immunother 1996; 6:273–299.
- Dolovich M. New propellant-free technologies under investigation. J Aerosol Med 1999; 12 (suppl 1):S9–17.
- 13. Hess DR. Nebulizers: principles and practice. Respir Care 2000; 45:609-622.
- 14. Nerbrink, O., Dahlback M, Hansson HC. Why do medical nebulizers differ in their output and particle size characteristics? J Aerosol Med 1994; 7:259–276.
- 15. Dunbar CA, Hickey AJ, Holzner P. Dispersion and characterization of pharmaceutical dry powder aerosols. KONA 1998; (16):7–44.
- Edsbäcker S. Pharmacological factors that influence the choice of inhaled corticosteroids. Drugs 1999; 58 (suppl 4):7–16.
- Prime D, Grant AC, Slater AL, Woodhouse RN. A critical comparison of the dose delivery characteristics of four alternative inhalation devices delivering salbutamol: pressurized metered dose inhaler, Diskus inhaler, Diskhaler inhaler, and Turbuhaler inhaler. J Aerosol Med 1999; 12(2):75–84.
- Laube BL, Georgopoulos A, Adams GK III: Preliminary study of efficacy of insulin aerosol delivered by oral inhalation in diabetic patients. JAMA 1993; 269:2106– 2109.
- Hess DR., Fisher D. Williams P, Pooler S, Kacmarek RM. Medication nebulizer performance: effects of diluent volume, nebulizer flow and nebulizer brand. Chest 1996; 110:498–505.
- 20. Fok TF, Monkman S, Dolovich M, Gray S, Coates G, Paes B, et al. Efficiency of aerosol medication delivery from a metered dose inhaler versus jet nebulizer in infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Pediatr Pulmonol 1996; 21(5):301–309.
- Thorsson L, Bisgaard H. Lung deposition of inhaled drugs increases with age. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:1819–1822.
- 22. Kim CS, Hu SC. Regional deposition of inhaled particles in human lungs: comparison between men and women. J Appl Physiol 1998; 84:1834–1844.
- 23. Schuster J, Rubsamen R, Lloyd P, Lloyd J. The AERx aerosol delivery system. Pharm Res 1997; 14:354–357.
- De Young LR, Chambers F, Narayan S, Wu C. The AeroDose multidose inhaler device design and delivery characteristics. In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SV, eds. Proceedings Respiratory Drug Delivery VI. Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, 1998: 91–95.
- Zierenberg B, Eicher J, Dunne S, Freund B. Boehringer Ingelheim nebulizer BINEB[®] a new approach to inhalation therapy. In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings Respiratory Drug Delivery V. Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, Inc, 1996:187–193.
- 26. Denyer J, Dyche A, Nikander K, Newman S, Richards J, Wilkes B, Dean A. Halolite: a novel liquid drug aerosol delivery system. Thorax 1997; 52(suppl 6):P208.
- 27. Farr SJ, Schuster JA, Lloyd P, Lloyd LJ, Okikawa JK, Rubsalmen RN. AERx-

development of a novel liquid aerosol delivery system: concept to clinic. In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings Respiratory Drug Delivery V. Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, Inc., 1996: 175–185.

- Smaldone GC, Agosti J, Castillo R, Cipolla D, Blanchard J. Deposition of radiolabelled protein from AERx[™] in patients with asthma (abstr). J Aerosol Med 1999; 12:98.
- 29. Newman SP, Brown J, Steed KP, Reader SJ, Kladders H. Lung deposition of fenoterol and flunisolide delivered using a novel device for inhaled medicines: comparison of RESPIMAT with conventional metered-dose inhalers with and without spacer devices. Chest 1998; 113:957–963.
- De Young LR, Chambers F, Narayan S, Wu C. Albuterol sulphate delivery from the AeroDose liquid inhaler. In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings Respiratory Drug Delivery VI. Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, Inc., 1998:315–318.
- 31. Denyer J. Adaptive aerosol delivery in practice. Eur Respir Rev 1997; 7:388–389.
- 32. Nikander K, Bisgaard H. Impact of constant and breath-synchronized nebulization on inhaled mass of nebulized budesonide in infants and children. Pediatr Pulmonol 1999; 28(3):187–193.
- Mitchell JP, Nagel MW, Archer A. The delivery of budesonide suspension via small volume nebulizers: a comparative in vitro assessment. Chest 1998; 114(suppl 4S): 295.
- 34. Nikander K, Turpeinen M, Wollmer P. Evaluation of pulsed and breath-synchronized nebulization of budesonide as a means of reducing nebulizer wastage of drug. Pediatr Pulmonol 2000; 29:120–126.
- 35. Nikander K, Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Breath-synchronized nebulization diminishes the impact of patient-device interfaces (face mask or mouthpiece) on the inhaled mass of nebulized budesonide. J Asthma 2000; 37:451–459.
- 36. Newnham DM, Lipworth BJ. Nebuliser performance, pharmacokinetics, airways and systemic effects of salbutamol given via a novel nebuliser delivery system ("Vent-stream"). Thorax 1994; 49:762–770.
- 37. Nikander K, Turpeinen M, Wollmer P. Evaluation of pulsed and breath-synchronized nebulization of budesonide as a means of reducing nebulizer wastage of drug. Pediatr Pulmonol 2000; 29:120–126.
- 38. Watterberg KL, Clark AR, Kelly HW, Murphy S. Delivery of aerosolized medication to intubated babies. Pediatr Pulmonol 1991; 10(2):136–141.
- 39. Clay MM, Pavia D, Newman SP, Clarke SW. Factors influencing the size distribution of aerosols from jet nebulizers. Thorax 1983; 38:755–759.
- 40. Phipps PR, Gonda I. Droplets produced by medical nebulizers. Some factors affecting their size and solute concentration. Chest 1990; 97:1327–1332.
- Clay M, Pavia D, Newman SP, Lennard-Jones T, Clarke SW. Assessment of jet nebulizers for lung delivery. Lancet 1983; i:592–594.
- 42. Ryan G, Dolovich M, Obminski G, Cockcroft D, Juniper E, Hargreave F, Newhouse M. Standardization of inhalation provocation tests: influence of nebulizer output, particle size and method of inhalation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1981; 67(2):156–161.
- 43. Kradjan WA, Lakshminarayan S. Efficiency of air compressor-driven nebulizers. Chest 1985; 87:512–516.
- 44. Rubin BK, Nakanishi A, Smith E, Lamb B. Salbutamol by metered dose inhaler plus

holding chamber is more effective than salbutamol by jet nebulizer for the treatment of acute childhood asthma. Eur Respir J 1995; 8(suppl 19):13s.

- 45. Chou KJ, Cunningham SJ, Crain EF. Metered-dose inhalers with spacers vs nebulizers for pediatric asthma. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1995; 149:201–205.
- 46. Wildhaber JH, Dore ND, Wilson JM, Devadason SG, LeSouef PN. Inhalation therapy in asthma: nebulizer or pressurized metered-dose inhaler with holding chamber? In vivo comparison of lung deposition in children. J Pediatr 1999; 135:28–33.
- 47. Hardy JG, Newman SP, Knoch M. Lung deposition from four nebulizers. Respir Med 1993; 87:461–465.
- Morén F. Aerosol Dosage forms and formulation. In: Morén F, Dolovich MB, Newhouse MT, Newman SP eds. Aerosols in Medicine: Principles, Diagnosis and Therapy. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1993:321–350.
- 49. Sanders P. Handbook of Aerosol Technology. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1979.
- 50. Clark AR. MDIs: physics of aerosol formulation. J Aerosol Med 1996; 9(suppl 1): S19–S26.
- 51. June D, Carlson S, Ross D. The effect of temperature on drug delivery characteristics of chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) and hydrofluoroalkane (HFA) metered dose inhalers (MDIs). In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings Respir Drug Delivery V, Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, Inc. 1996; 354–356.
- Leach O. Enhanced drug delivery through reformulating MDIs with HFA propellants-drug deposition and its effect on preclinical and clinical programs. In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings Respir Drug Del V, Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, Inc. 1996; 133–144.
- Schultz RK. Drug delivery characteristics of metered-dose inhalers. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 96:284–287.
- 54. Cyr TD, Graham SR, Li KYR, Lovering EG. Low first-spray drug content in albuterol metered-dose inhalers. Pharm Res 1991; 8:658–660.
- 55. Kim CS, Trujillo D, Sackner MA. Size aspects of metered dose inhalers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1985; 32:137–142.
- 56. Wiener MV. How to formulate aerosols to obtain the desired spray pattern. Soc Cos Chem 1958; 9:289–297.
- Dhand R, Malik SK, Balakrishnan M, Verma SR. High speed photographic analysis of aerosols produced by metered dose inhalers. J Pharm Pharmacol 1988; 40:429– 430.
- 58. Everard M, Dolovich M. In Vivo Measurements of Lung Dose. In: Bisgaard H, O'Callaghan C, Smaldone G, eds. New York: Marcel Dekker, 2001. In press.
- Campbell LM. Once-daily inhaled corticosteroids in mild to moderate asthma: improving acceptance of treatment. Drugs 1999; 58 (suppl 4):25–33.
- Crompton GK, Sanderson R, Dewar MH, Matusiewicz SP, Ning AC, Jamieson AH, McLean A, Greening AP. Comparison of Pulmicort pMDI plus Nebuhaler and Pulmicort Turbuhaler in asthmatic patients with dysphonia. Respir Med 2000; 94:448– 453.
- 61. Salzman GA, Pyszczynski DR. Oropharyngeal candidiasis in patients treated with beclomethasone dipropionate delivered by metered-dose inhaler alone and with Aero-chamber. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 88:424–428.

- Selroos O, Backman R, Forsen K-O, Lofroos A-B, Niemisto M, Pietinalho, Aikas C, Riska H. Local side-effects during 4-year treatment with inhaled corticosteoids—a comparison between pressurized metered-dose inhalers and Turbuhaler[™]. Allergy 1994; 49:888–890.
- 63. Dolovich M, Ruffin RE, Roberts R, Newhouse MT. Optimal delivery of aerosols from metered dose inhalers. Chest 1981; 80(6 suppl):911–915.
- 64. Leach CL, Davidson PJ, Boudreau RJ. Improved airway targeting with the CFC-free HFA-beclomethasone metered-dose inhaler compared with CFC-beclomethasone. Eur Respir J 1998; 12(6):1346–1353.
- 65. Dolovich MB, Rhem R, Gerrard L, Coates G. Lung deposition of coarse CFC vs fine HFA pMDI aerosols of beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161(4 Part 2):A62.
- Conway JH, Walker P, Perkins G, Fleming JS, Holgate ST. Imaging of QVAR lung deposition and distribution in patients with asthma. Eur Respir J 1999; 14(suppl 30): 196S, P1360.
- Devadason SG, Huang T, Turner SW, Walker SL, Troedson R, Le Souef PN. Distribution of ^{99m}Tc-labelled HFA-BDP inhaled via Autohaler in children. Eur Respir J 2000; 16(suppl 31):540S (Abstract 3809).
- Busse WW, Brazinsky S, Jacobson K, Stricker W, Schmitt K, Vanden Burgt J, Donnell D, Hannon S, Colice GL Efficacy response of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate in asthma is proportional to dose and is improved by formulation with a new propellant. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104(6):1215–1222.
- 69. Gross G, Thompson PJ, Chervinsky P, Vanden Burgt J, and the Study Group. Hydrofluoroalkane-134a beclomethasone dipropionate, 400 μg, is as effective as chlorofluorocarbon beclomethasone dipropionate, 800 μg, for the treatment of moderate asthma. Chest 1999; 115:343–351.
- 70. Dolovich M. Lung dose, distribution and clinical response to therapeutic aerosols. Aerosol Sci Technol 1993; 18:230–240.
- 71. Dolovich M. Characterization of medical aerosols: physical and clinical requirements for new inhalers. Aerosol Sci Technol 1995; 22:392–399.
- 72. Barry P, O'Callaghan C. Inhalational drug delivery from seven different spacer devices. Thorax 1996; 96:835–840.
- 73. Dubus JC, Dolovich M. Emitted doses of salbutamol pressurized metered-dose inhaler from five different plastic spacer devices. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 2000; 14:219–224.
- Ahrens R, Lux C, Bahl T, Han S-H. Choosing the metered-dose inhaler spacer or holding chamber that matches the patient's need: evidence that the specific drug being delivered is an important consideration. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 96:288– 294.
- Barry PW, O'Callaghan C. The effect of delay, multiple actuations and spacer charge on the in vitro delivery of budesonide from the Nebuhaler. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 40:76–78.
- Kenyon CJ, Thorsson, Borgström L, Newman SP. The effects of static charge in spacer devices on glucocorticosteroid aerosol deposition in asthmatic patients. Eur Respir J 1998; 11:606-610.
- 77. Pierart F, Wildhaber JH, Vrancken I, Devadason SG, Le Souef PN. Washing plastic

spacers in household detergent reduces electrostatic charge and greatly improves delivery. Eur Respir J 1999; 13:673–678.

- 78. Clark DJ, Lipworth BJ. Bioavailability of salbutamol from spacers: effect of multiple actuations, delay, charge reduction on spacer walls. Thorax 1996; 51:981–984.
- 79. Wildhaber JH, Devadason SG, Hayden MJ, James R, Dufty AP, Fox RA, Summers QA, LeSouef PN. Electrostatic charge on a plastic spacer device influences the delivery of salbutamol. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:1943–1946.
- Dompeling E, Oudesluys-Murphy AM, Janssens HM, Hop W, Brinkman JG, Sukhai RN, de Jongste JC. Randomised controlled study of clinical efficacy of spacer therapy in asthma with regard to electrostatic charge. Arch Dis Child 2001; 84:178– 182.
- Dickens GR, Wermeling DP, Matheny CJ, John W, Abramowitz W, Sista SM, Foster T, Choudhury S. Pharmacokinetics of flunisolide administered via metered dose inhaler with and without a spacer device and following oral administration. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000; 84:528–532.
- Thorsson L, Kenyon C, Newman SP, Borgstrom L. Lung deposition of budesonide in asthmatics: a comparison of different formulations. Int J Pharm 1998; 168:119–121.
- Newman SP, Millar AB, Lennard-Jones TR, Moren F, Clarke SW. Improvement of pressurized aerosol deposition with Nebuhaler spacer device. Thorax 1984; 39:935–941.
- Hindle M, Chrystyn H. Relative bioavailability of salbutamol to the lung following inhalation using metered dose inhalation methods and spacer devices. Thorax 1994; 49:549–553.
- 85. Lipworth BJ. Airway and systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma: dose response relationship. Pulm Pharmacol 1996; 9:19–27.
- Trescoli C, Ward MJ. Systemic activity of inhaled and swallowed beclomethasone dipropionate and the effect of different inhaler devices. Postgrad Med J 1998; 74: 675–677.
- Newman SP, Weisz AW, Talaee N, Clarke SW. Improvement of drug delivery with a breath actuated pressurised aerosol for patients with poor inhaler technique. Thorax 1991; 46:712–716.
- Newman SP, Clark AR, Talaee N, Clarke SW. Pressurised aerosol deposition in the human lung with and without an "open" spacer device. Thorax 1989; 44:706–710.
- 89. Pedersen S. Optimal use of tube spacer aerosols in asthmatic children. Clin Allergy 1985; 15:473–478.
- Sennhauser FH, Sly PD. Pressure flow characteristics of the valve in spacer devices. Arch Dis Child 1989; 64:1305–1307.
- 91. Buchdahl R, Ward S, Summerfield A. Letter to the editor: spacer devices in asthma. Thorax 2000; 55:1070.
- Janssens HM, Heijnen EMEW, de Jong VM, Hop WCJ, Holland WPJ, de Jongste JC, Tiddens HAWM. Aerosol delivery from spacers in wheezy infants: a daily life study. Eur Respir J 2000; 16:850–856.
- Dolovich M, Fok TF, Monkman S, Gray S, Rashid F, Paes B, Newhouse M, Kirpalani H. Relationship between infant weight and lung deposition of aerosol. Eur Respir J 1995; 8(suppl 19): 201S.

- 94. Clark AR. Medical aerosol inhalers: past, present and future. Aerosol Sci Technol 1996; 22:374–391.
- 95. Ganderton D, Kassem NM. Dry powder inhalers. In: Advances in Pharmaceutical Sciences. London: Academic Press, 1992:165–191.
- Clark AR, Hollingworth A. The relationship between powder inhaler resistance and peak inspiratory conditions in healthy volunteers-implications for in vitro testing. J Aerosol Med 1993; 6:99–110.
- 97. Hindle M, Byron PR. Dose emissions from marketed dry powder inhalers. Int J Pharm 1995; 116:169–177.
- Hinds WC. Aerosol Technology: Properties, Behavior, and Measurement of Airborne Particles. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1982.
- Vanbever R, Mintzes JD, Wang J, Nice J, Chen D, Batycky R, Langer R, Edwards DA. Formulation and physical characterization of large porous particles for inhalation. Pharm Res 1999; 16(11):1735–1742.
- Anderson M, Philipson K, Svartengren M, Camner P. Human deposition and clearance of 6 μm particles inhaled with an extremely low flow rate. Exp Lung Res 1995; 21:187–195.
- Martonen T, Musante CJ, Segal RA, Schroeter JD, Hwang D, Dolovich M, Burton R, Spencer RM, Fleming J. Lung models: strengths and limitations. Respir Care 2000; 45(6):712–736.
- 102. Dolovich M, Sanchis J, Rossman C, Newhouse MT. Aerosol penetrance: a sensitive index of peripheral airways obstruction. J Appl Physiol 1976; 40:468–471.
- Newman SP, Pavia D, Garland N, Clarke SW. Effects of various inhalation modes on the deposition of radioactive pressurized aerosols. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 1982; 119:57–65.
- Heyder J, Gebbart J, Rudolf G, Stahlhofen W. Physical factors determining particle deposition in the human respiratory tract. J Aerosol Sci 1980; 11:505–515.
- Gerrity T. Pathophysiological and disease constraints on aerosol delivery. In: Byron PR, ed. Respiratory Drug Delivery. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, Inc., 1990:1–38.
- 106. Goldin JG, Tashkin DP, Kleerup EC, Greaser LE, Haywood UM, Sayre JW, Simmons MD, Suttorp M, Colice GL, Vanden Burgt JA, Aberle DR. Comparative effects of hydrofluoroalkane and chlorofluorocarbon beclomethasone dipropionate inhalation on small airways: assessment with functional helical thin-section computed tomography. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:S258–S267.
- Dolovich M. Inhalation technique and inhalation devices. In: Pauwels R, Lofdahl CG, O'Byrne P, eds. Beta2-Agonists in Asthma Treatment. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1997:229–255.
- Dolovich M. Measurement of particle size characteristics of metered dose inhaler (MDI) aerosols. J Aerosol Med 1991; 4:251–264.
- Borgström L, Bondesson E, Morén F, Trofast E, Newman SP. Lung deposition of budesonide inhaled via the Turbuhaler: a comparison with terbutaline sulphate in normal subjects. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:69–73.
- Engel T, Scharling B, Skovsted B, Heinig JH. Effects, side effects and plasma concentrations of terbutaline in adult asthmatics after inhaling from a dry powder inhaler device at different inhalation flows and volumes. Br J Clin Pharmac 1992; 33:439–444.

- 110a. Borgström L, Newman S, Weisz AF, Morén F. Pulmonary deposition of inhaled terbutaline: comparison of scanning gamma camera and urinary excretion methods. J Pharm Sci 1992; 81:753–755.
- 111. Chang HK, Menon AS. Airflow dynamics in the human airways. In: Morén F, Dolovich MB, Newhouse MT, Newman SP, eds. Aerosols in Medicine: Principles, Diagnosis and Therapy. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1993:85–116.
- Coates G, Dolovich MB, Chamberlain MJ, Biello DR, Lavender JP. The use of radioactive aerosols in the diagnosis of lung disease. Ann CRMCC 1985; 18: 344 – 346.
- Chapman KR, Friberg K, Balter MS, Hyland RH, Alexander M, Abboud RT, Peters S, Jennings BH. Albuterol via Turbuhaler versus albuterol via pressurized metereddose inhaler in asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1997; 78:59–63.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Importance of the inhalation device on the effect of budesonide. Arch Dis Child 1993; 69:130–133.
- 115. Dubus JC, Rhem R, Dolovich M. In vitro characterization of salbutamol generic MDIs: delivery via small spacers (abstr). Eur Respir J 1998; 12:65S.
- 116. Fowler SJ, Lipworth BJ. Therapeutic equivalence of inhaled salbutamol (letter). Thorax 2000; 55:347–348.
- 117. Kleerup EC, Tashkin DP, Cline AC, Ekholm BP. Cumulative dose-response study of non-CFC propellant HFA 134a salbutamol sulfate metered-dose inhaler in patients with asthma. Chest 1996; 109:702–707.
- 118. Bleecker ER, Tinkelman DG, Ramsdell J, Ekholm BP, Klinger NM, Colice GL, et al. Proventil HFA provides bronchodilation comparable to Ventolin over 12 weeks of regular use in asthmatics. Chest 1998; 113:283–289.
- Tinkelman DG, Bleecker ER, Ramsdell J, Ekholm BP, Klinger NM, Colice GL, et al. Proventil HFA and Ventolin have similar safety profiles during regular use. Chest 1998; 113:290–296.
- Dockhorn RJ, Wagner DE, Burgess GL, Hafner KB, Letourneau K, Colice GL, et al. Proventil HFA provides protection from exercise-induced bronchoconstriction comparable to Proventil and Ventolin. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1997; 79: 85–88.
- Hamid Q, Song Y, Kotsimbos TC, Minshall E, Bai T, Hegele RG, Hogg JC. Inflammation of small airways in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 100:44–51.
- 121a. Rinderknecht J, Shapiro L, Krauthammer M, Taplin G, Wasserman K, Uszler JM, Effros RM. Accelerated clearance of small solutes from the lungs in interstitial lung disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1980; 121:105–117.
- Dolovich M, Rhem R. In vitro comparison of a BDP HFA pMDI with CFC BecloventTM. ERJ 1999; 14(suppl 30):197S, P1364.
- Dolovich M, Rhem R. In vitro characterization of two BDP HFA pMDIs (abstr). J Aerosol Med 1999; 12(2):112.
- 124. Milanowski J, Qualtrough J, Perrin VL. Inhaled beclomethasone (BDP) with non-CFC propellant (HFA 134a) is equivalent to BDP-CFC for the treatment of asthma [see comments]. Respir Med 1999; 93:245–251.
- 125. Farmer IS, Middle M, Savic J, Perrin VL, Herdman MJ. Therapeutic equivalence of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate with CFC and non-CFC (HFA 134a) propellants both delivered via the Easibreathe inhaler for the treatment of paediatric asthma. Respir Med 2000; 94:57–63.

- Dolovich M, Rhem R. In vitro comparison of 2 strengths of Beclazone, a beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) HFA 134 pMDI, with CFC Beclovent and Becloforte. AJRCCM 2000; 161(3 Part 2):A33.
- 127. Zanen P, Go LT, Lammers J-WJ. The optimal particle size for parasympathicolytic aerosols in mild asthmatics. Int J Pharmaceut 1995; 114(1):111–115.
- Zanen P, Go LT, Lammers JW. Optimal particle size for beta 2 agonist and anticholinergic aerosols in patients with severe airflow obstruction [see comments]. Thorax 1996; 51(10):977–980.
- 129. Zanen P, Go LT, Lammers JW. The efficacy of a low-dose, monodisperse parasympathicolytic aerosol compared with a standard aerosol from a metered-dose inhaler. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 54(1):27–30.
- Kim CS, Garcia L. Delivery characteristics of albuterol powder aerosol by Rotahaler. J Aerosol Med 1993; 6:199–211.
- 131. Pitcairn G, Lunghetti G, Ventura P, Newman S. A comparison of the lung deposition of salbutamol inhaled from a new dry powder inhaler at two inhaled flow rates. Int J Pharm 1994; 102:11–18.
- 132. Dolovich M, Rhem R, Rashid F, Bowen B, Coates G, Hill M. Lung deposition of albuterol sulphate from the Dura Dryhaler on normal adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:A62.
- Olsson B, Asking L. Critical aspects of the function of inspiratory flow driven inhalers. J Aerosol Med 1994; 7(suppl 1):S43–S47.
- 134. Chew NY, Chan HK. Influence of particle size, air flow, and inhaler device on the dispersion of mannitol powders as aerosols. Pharm Res 1999; 16:1098–1103.
- Dolovich M, Vanzieleghem M, Hidinger KG, Newhouse MT. Influence of inspiratory flow rate on the response to terbutaline sulphate inhaled by the Turbuhaler. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988; 137:433.
- Ruffin RE, Dolovich MB, Wolff RK, Newhouse MT. The effect of preferential deposition of histamine in the human airway. Am Rev Respir Dis 1978; 117:485–592.
- 137. Ruffin R, Dolovich M, Oldenburg, Jr. FA, Newhouse M. Preferential deposition of inhaled isoproterenal and propranolol in asthmatic patients. Chest 1981; 80S:904–907.
- 138. Hindle M, Newton DA, Chrystyn H. Investigations of an optimal inhaler technique with the use of urinary salbutamol excretion as a measure of relative bioavailability to the lung. Thorax 1993; 48(6):607–610.
- Lipworth BJ, Clark DJ. Early lung absorption profile of non-CFC salbutamol via small and large volume plastic spacer devices. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 46:45–48.
- 140. Martonen TB, Yang Y, Dolovich M. Definition of airway composition within gamma camera images. J Thorac Imaging 1994; 9(3):188–197.
- Phipps PR, Gonda I, Bailey DL, Borham P, Bautovich G, Anderson SD. Comparisons of planar and tomographic gamma scintigraphy to measure the penetration index of inhaled aerosols. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 139(6):1516–1523.
- 142. Fleming JS, Hashish AH, Conway JH, Nassim MA, Holgate ST, Halson P et al. Assessment of deposition of inhaled aerosol in the respiratory tract of man using threedimensional multimodality imaging and mathematical modeling. J Aerosol Med 1996; 9(3):317–327.
- 143. Rhodes CG, Hughes JMB. Pulmonary studies using positron emission tomography. Eur Respir J 1995; 8:1011–1017.
- 144. Dolovich M, Nahmias C, Coates G. Unleashing the PET: 3D imaging of the lung.

In: Byron P, Dalby R, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings of Respiratory Drug Delivery VII. Raleigh, NC: Serentec Press, 2000:215–230.

- Smaldone GS. Factors in measurement of dose by gamma scintigraphy. J Aerosol Med 1996; 9:S69–S76.
- 146. Langenback EG, Foster WM, Bergofsky EH. Calculating concentration of inhaled radiolabelled particles from external gamma counting: external counting efficiency and attenuation coefficient of thorax. J Toxicol Environ Health 1989; 26:139–152.
- 147. Cross CD, Hornof WJ, Koblik PH, Fisher PE. Aerosol deposition: practical considerations of methodology for the direct measurement of aerosol delivery to the lung bronchiolar-alveolar surfaces. J Aerosol Med 1993; 5:39–45.
- Fok TF, Al-Essa M, Kirpalani H, Monkman S, Bowen B, Coates G, Dolovich M. Estimation of pulmonary deposition of aerosol using gamma scintigraphy. J Aerosol Med 1999; 12:9–15.
- Dolovich MB, Rhem R, Coates G. Defining and quantitating peripheral lung deposition using radiolabelled tracers and 2D imaging. Eur Respir J 2000; 16(suppl 31): 62S, P560.
- Fleming JS, Halson P, Conway J, Moore E, Nassim MA, Hashish AH, et al. Threedimensional description of pulmonary deposition of inhaled aerosol using data from multimodality imaging. J Nucl Med 1996; 37(5):873–877.
- 151. Berridge MS, Heald DL. In vivo characterization of inhaled pharmaceuticals using quantitative positron emission tomography. J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 39:25S–29S.
- Dolovich M, Nahmias C, Thompson M, Yuki S, Frietag A, Coates G. Positron emission tomographic PET) imaging of the lung in cystic fibrosis: 3D assessment of the distribution of inhaled therapy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(Part 2):A687.
- 153. Bergstrom M, Cass LM, Valind S, Westerberg G, Lundberg EL, Gray S, Bye A, Langstrom B. Deposition and disposition of [¹¹C]zanamivir following administration as an intranasal spray. Evaluation with positron emission tomography. Clin Pharmacokinet 1999; 36(suppl 1):33–39.
- 154. Warren SW, Taylor G, Godfrey C, Cote G, Hill M. Gamma scintigraphic evaluation of dry powder beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) from an investigational Spiros Inhaler: effect of inspiratory flow profile on pulmonary drug deposition. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(Part 2):118.
- 155. Pitcairn G, Lunghetti G, Ventura P, Newman S. A comparison of the lung deposition of salbutamol inhaled from a new dry powder inhaler, at two inhaled flow rates. Int J Pharm 1994; 102:11–18.
- 156. Vidgren M, Arppe J, Vidgren P, Vainio P, Silvasti M, Tukiainen H. Pulmonary deposition of 99mTc-labelled salbutamol particles in healthy volunteers after inhalation from a metered-dose inhaler and from a novel multiple-dose inhaler. STP Pharm Sci 1994; 4:29–32.
- 157. Warren SJ, Taylor G. Effect of inhalation flow profiles on the deposition of radiolabelled BDP from a novel dry powder inhaler (DPI, Clickhaler[™]), a conventional metered dose inhaler (MDI) and MDI plus spacer In: Dalby RN, Byron PR, Farr SJ, eds. Proceedings Respiratory Drug Delivery VI. Buffalo Grove, IL: Interpharm Press, Inc., 1998:453–455.
- 158. Warren SJ, Taylor G. Gamma scintigraphic evaluation of a novel budesonide dry powder inhaler (Clickhaler[™]) (abstr). AAPS Pharm Sci 1999; 1:2243.
- 159. Mackie AE, Moss J, McDowall JE, Moss J, Ventresca GP, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics

of fluticasone propionate inhaler from the DiskhalerTM and DiskusTM powder devices in healthy volunteers (abstr). Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:540–541P.

- 160. Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Horton J, Ventresca GP, Brown A, Field E, Harding SM, Wire P, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate inhaled from the Diskhaler[™] and the Diskus[™] powder devices in asthmatic patients (abstr). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99 (suppl):S505.
- 161. Pitcairn GR, Lankinen T Seppala OP, Newman SP. Pulmonary drug delivery from the Taifun dry powder inhaler is relatively independent of the patient's inspiratory effort. J Aerosol Med 2000; 13:97–104.
- Pitcairn G, Lim J, Hollingworth A, Newman SP. Scintigraphic assessment of drug delivery from the Ultrahaler[™] dry powder inhaler. J Aerosol Med 1997; 10:295– 306.

Discussion

- **Dr. Jeffery:** Your results are exciting for many reasons, but I particularly like your demonstration of the marked differences in deposition pattern of particles in the normal and the asthmatic. Does your experience of differing sites of particle deposition provide us with clues as to which airway sites—large, central, or peripheral airways—and alveoli are most important in producing the clinical expression of asthma? Do we really need to target small airways, or is central deposition sufficient (particularly as alveolar deposition will give rise to unwanted systemic absorption)?
- **Prof. Dolovich:** We are only just beginning to look at site of deposition and response using three-dimensional imaging. There is some clinical evidence for inhaled β-agonists showing a greater response with a finer aerosol but no information for steroids measuring deposition and clinical outcomes in parallel in the same subjects in the same trial. Given the weight of evidence that inflammation is present in "small" airways, it would seem prudent to treat the small airways with topical steroid, that is, with steroid aerosol inhaled and deposited at the site of inflammation. Given the locale of 2 mm airways, i.e., distal to the seventh generation of airway, fine aerosols $< 5 \,\mu m$ MMAD should target these airways successfully. The location of the maximal deposition for a particular size of aerosol shifts distally into the lung as the aerosol becomes finer, but there will always be particles deposited on airway surfaces on either side of this peak. So the central airways, while perhaps not being specifically targeted with the particular size of aerosol used to treat the small airway, will nonetheless be exposed to the therapy in varying amounts. There is some evidence to suggest that aerosol deposited in central airways is transported to the small airways by the bronchial circulation. If the inhaled steroid was deposited only in the central airways, thereby treating the small airway indirectly, there could be an increased systemic exposure, and this may give rise to greater side effects.
- **Dr. Hamid:** I just want to follow on Dr. Jeffery's question, as the slides you showed are from our study. We in fact demonstrated that there is marked inflammation in small airways in those patients. There were more eosinophils in small airways compared to larger airways. Although these patients were on inhaled steroids, it suggests that we need to deliver the drug more peripherally to achieve a maximum effect. A number of studies have confirmed these observations using transbronchial biopsies of postmortem tissue.
- Dr. Hargreave: Is the total dose the same or different with airflow obstruction?
- **Prof. Dolovich:** For metered doses of drug, the total dose inhaled will be similar, but the distribution of that dose in the lung would be different, being concentrated at points of airway narrowing due either to increased mucus secretion

or airway edema. For DPIs, though, if the pressure drop across the inhaler is increased, there could be a greater amount of drug decanted from the inhaler.

- **Dr. Hochhaus:** Your results are very exciting, demonstrating the need for further evaluating how regional deposition affects pulmonary selectivity. I would like to add that in addition to the these effects, other biopharmaceutical factors should also be considered. There has been a development towards solution-based inhalation delivery systems. Despite higher deposition efficiency, these devices might be less beneficial, as the pulmonary residence time of drug given as solution might be too short to induce distinct pulmonary selectivity. I will talk tommorrow about some of these findings.
- **Dr. Jeffery:** If P450 activity has the potential to inactivate steroid, then the airway site of deposition in man is of importance. The cellular make-up of the lining epithelium differs markedly depending upon airway generation. In the large airways, there are secretory (goblet) cells, whereas in the terminal bronchioli there is, normally, a scarcity of goblet cells and a predominance of Clara cells, which I believe have marked P450 activity. There is a similar difference in the rat used experimentally and in the mouse. Nearly all nonciliated cells of the peripheral airways are Clara in type. I would predict that small airways may deactivate steroid moreso than large ones.

9

Uptake, Retention, and Biotransformation of Corticosteroids in the Lung and Airways

STAFFAN EDSBÄCKER

AstraZeneca Research and Development Lund, Sweden

I. Introduction

Inhaled corticosteroids (iCSs) are the basis of modern asthma treatment, and most of the commercially available corticosteroid (CS) formulations are highly efficient, while causing no clinically important systemic side effects in a majority of patients. Although there is evidence of some extrapulmonary antiinflammatory action of iCSs (see Chap. 11), the primary therapeutic effect of topically applied CSs in the airways originates from a local antiinflammatory action (1-3). Therefore, the combination of delivery system and CS will determine the therapeutic outcome and usefulness of the treatment: the site, extent, and distribution of the deposited dose are factors primarily governed by the performance of the inhaler; the dissolution, clearance and uptake from the airways, the affinity to the corticosteroid receptor, the residence time in the vicinity of the receptors, the local metabolism, and the systemic absorption are factors governed by the intrinsic physicochemical and pharmacological properties of the CS itself. The choice of corticosteroid formulation for a certain asthma patient should be based on knowledge of both the drug and the inhaler, combined with an understanding of individual patient factors such as inhalation technique, age, disease severity, preference, and expected compliance.

The purpose of this chapter is to highlight the pharmacokinetic factors determining the local therapeutic effect of inhaled steroids, focusing on (1) site of deposition, (2) rate and extent of uptake, (3) airway and pulmonary retention, including interactions with the corticosteroid receptor, and (4) local biotransformation. If not optimum, these factors, alone or in combination, can sometimes be overcome by an increase in dose, albeit at the expense of reduced airway selectivity. To put airway selectivity into a clinical context, the review will finally discuss the consequences of these local pharmacokinetic properties on overall benefit versus risk ratios of inhaled steroid formulations.

II. Site of Deposition

The therapeutic effect of an inhaled antiasthma drug formulation is linked to the amount taken up by the target organ, which in turn is dependent on the amount actually deposited there. This has been clearly shown for both β -agonists (4,5) and ipratropium (6). For iCSs, the relationship between therapeutic effect and airway deposition is not as clear-cut as for β -agonists, probably because of a more complex mode of action and a substantial lag time between dosing and effect. That a relationship exists has, however, been suggested in studies with budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate (7,8).

Drug delivery to the airways is critically dependent upon the inhaled fine particle dose, and a particle size of 5 μ m is considered to be the maximum for appropriate airway delivery of particles having a unit density. For isoproterenol, greater improvement in lung function was achieved when inhaling monodisperse 2.5 μ m particles than after inhaling the same total dose of 5 μ m particles (9). Terbutaline sulphate particles larger than 5 μ m did not improve lung function in asthmatics (10). Interestingly, Zanen et al. reported that the response to β -agonists is also reduced when the particles get even smaller: Monodisperse 2.8 μ m salbutamol particles improved lung function more than did 1.5 and 5 μ m particles in patients with mild (11) and severe (12) asthma. Probably, the intermediate size particles result in greatest deposition at β -receptor-dense sites at affected parts of the airways.

Airway deposition of inhaled corticosteroid products varies greatly, as discussed in the previous chapter. Depending on the asthma severity, inflammation may involve both central and peripheral airways as well as the lung parenchyma (13,14). Hence, it is difficult to determine which level of deposition within the lung is the most important when considering iCS treatment. In asthmatics who were well trained in their inhalation technique, administration of budesonide as a chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) suspension via a pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI) resulted in similar (without spacer) or greater (with Nebuhaler[®] spacer) peripheral deposition than administration via Turbuhaler[®] (15). The total lung deposition for Turbuhaler was, however, about twice that for a pMDI without spacer and about the same as for a pMDI with spacer. The more peripheral deposition from a pMDI was,

however, not translated into a greater therapeutic effect. On the contrary, in a study using a downtitration design, budesonide via Turbuhaler was as effective as twice the dose given via a pMDI with Nebuhaler in asthmatic children (7). Interestingly, it appears that airway deposition of budesonide via Turbuhaler is much more peripheral in healthy subjects (16) than in patients with asthma (15).

BDP delivered via a pMDI hydrofluoroalkane (HFA) solution resulted in considerably greater total lung deposition than via the pMDI CFC suspension formulation (17). In addition, the fraction of the lung dose that was deposited in the peripheral airways appeared to be greater with HFA than with CFC. This was true for patients with asthma as well as for healthy subjects (17). The improved BDP delivery resulted in improved lung function, and the potency ratio of improvement in FEV₁ was 2.6 (8). Small airways tended to improve to a greater extent with the HFA than the CFC formulation, as the potency ratio for FEF₂₅₋₇₅, which is indicative of peripheral airway function, was slightly greater (3.2) than the FEV₁ ratio. In addition, when assessing peripheral air trapping by high-resolution computer tomography, it appeared that the HFA had a greater effect than the CFC formulation (18).

The use of nebulized corticosteroids is increasing and is considered to be a convenient alternative in severely ill patients and for young children, patient groups in which the inhalation technique may be suboptimal and the peripheral dose penetration may be less efficient. For many of the new high-performance nebulizers, the generation of very small particles ($<2 \mu m$) is more efficient than for the dry powder inhalers (DPIs) and pMDIs. Also, with the new "intelligent" nebulizers, with which aerosol can be generated during any part of the respiratory cycle, and the new breath-actuated inhalers, particles may be directed towards specific parts of the bronchial tree (19).

More studies are needed to clarify the relationship between regional deposition of inhaled corticosteroids and therapeutic outcome. Although studies have shown a correlation between central airway recruitment of inflammatory cells and bronchial hyperreactivity in mild asthma (20), it appears that alveolar influx of inflammatory cells is a prominent feature when lung function is more severely compromised (14). Hence, while patients with mild asthma may benefit just by local treatment of hyperreactive and narrowed central airways, the more severely ill patient may need total exposure of the lungs by the corticosteroid to achieve the maximum therapeutic effect. The most convenient alternative in severe asthma may be inhaled corticosteroid preceded or combined with a bronchodilatating β -agonist: airway deposition of budesonide in patients with asthma improved significantly following pretreatment with terbutaline (21).

III. Rate of Dissolution and Absorption

Water solubility differs between different inhaled steroids (Table 1). While a clinically relevant dose (200 μ g) of fluticasone propionate (FP) or beclomethasone

Water solubility (µg/mL)	Dissolution time (human bronchial fluid in vitro)
140	<2 min
21	Not determined
16	6 min
15.5	Not determined
0.14	>8 h
0.13	>5 h
	Water solubility (µg/mL) 140 21 16 15.5 0.14 0.13

Table 1 Water Solubility of Corticosteroids at 37°C and DissolutionTime in Human Bronchial Fluid In Vitro

Source: Adapted from Ref. 102.

dipropionate (BDP) requires at least 2 L of water to dissolve, the same amount of the less hydrophobic steroid flunisolide would need only 1.5 mL. Water solubility is reflected in the different dissolution times in human bronchial fluid in vitro.

Pharmacokinetic studies in humans have shown that budesonide is rapidly absorbed after oral inhalation: T_{max} after oral inhalation via Turbuhaler is about 20 minutes; mean absorption time about 40 minutes (22). FP has a slower rate of absorption: T_{max} after oral inhalation via Accuhaler[®] or pMDI is about 2 hours; mean absorption time is 6–8 hours (22), probably as a result of the protracted dissolution. This may be advantageous, because drug retention at the target site is an important determinant of airway selectivity (23). However, high water solubility will limit the impact of mucociliary clearance (see below) and by that increase the rate and extent of pulmonary uptake. This will increase intracellular accessibility and cytosolic receptor site concentrations. High water solubility is also generally associated with a smaller volume of body distribution and less peripheral tissue retention. This in turn should reduce the risk of accumulation and systemic effects. Hence, therapeutic efficacy cannot easily be predicted from lipophilicity alone.

IV. Mucociliary Clearance

The nose and airways act as a primary defense against foreign particles and aerosolized pollutants. In healthy subjects, most of the inhaled foreign particles will be transported to the pharynx via mucociliary clearance (MCC), normally within 6 and certainly within 24 hours. Inhaled drugs encounter the same fate and will, if not readily dissolved, be cleared from ciliated airways. As the therapeutic aim of inhaled drugs is topical, the mucosal exposure and pharmacological effect will hereby be reduced.

Mucus is produced in submucosal glands and goblet and Clara cells, and the normal mucus film in ciliated airways is about $5-10 \,\mu$ m thick. The mucus blanket

moves upward at about 1 mm/min in small peripheral airways but as quickly as 2 cm/min in the trachea (24). Eventually, particles deposited in the mucus reach the pharynx, where they are swallowed. In asthma, MCC is generally reduced. In acutely ill patients requiring hospitalization, MCC was strongly inhibited, but was normalized at discharge (25). In patients with stable asthma, several studies have demonstrated only subtle mucociliary impairment relative to healthy subjects (26,27). In mild asthma and asthma in remission, reductions in MCC of about 25% have been noted. The inhibitory effect of some inflammatory mediators, such as leukotriene D_4 (26), may contribute to the reduced clearance. Smooth muscle hyperplasia, evidenced in bronchial biopsies, correlates to a reduction in MCC (28). Sleep reduces MCC by two thirds to three quarters (29). Inhaled terbutaline appeared to normalize MCC in mild asthmatics (30), as did high doses of oral prednisolone in stable asthmatics (31). Inhaled CSs have not been shown to affect MCC, although some preservatives in nasal CS formulations have been suggested to have a mild ciliotoxic effect (32).

The lipophilic CSs appear to be more affected by MCC than the more rapidly dissolved CSs. Following 14 days of treatment with BDP, which is highly lipophilic, in a CFC suspension pMDI, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) concentrations of the primary metabolite beclomethasone-17\beta-monopropionate (BMP) at 90-120 minutes after the last dose were significantly higher than following treatment with BDP in an HFA solution pPMDI (33). These findings were initially unexpected, given the high lung deposition of the BDP HFA solution, but were explained in terms of much more prompt dissolution in lung fluid and less central deposition following the HFA formulation. This led to a more rapid absorption and less MCC than for the CFC formulation. Similarly, the systemic exposure to BDP was almost 10 times greater after inhalation via Spiros®, a DPI with improved airway delivery characteristics, than after inhalation via a conventional CFC pMDI (34). The difference in airway deposition between the two inhalers appeared to be no greater than fivefold. Again, a more central deposition of BDP via the pMDI would lead to a greater loss by MCC, in this way further increasing the difference between the two formulations in pulmonary uptake.

Mucociliary clearance also appears to significantly reduce pulmonary uptake of fluticasone propionate (FP) in patients with moderate to severe asthma. Lung deposition, approximated by the systemic availability, following inhalation via pMDI was on average 10% in moderate to severe asthmatics versus 21% in healthy subjects (35). Intravenous kinetics were virtually identical in the two populations, implying that there was no difference in basic pharmacokinetic properties. A reduction in systemic availability by about half in patients versus healthy subjects was also suggested for the dry powder formulations of FP (36). In patients with asthma treated with a single dose of FP (37), a close correlation between cortisol suppression and pretreatment lung function was observed (Fig. 1), implying that pulmonary uptake of FP increases with decreasing disease severity.



Figure 1 Correlation between FEV_1 just before inhalation of FP and the fall in cortisol production after a single 500 µg dose of FP via Diskhaler in patients with asthma. (Data from Ref. 37.)

When comparing mild steroid-naïve asthmatics and healthy subjects, there were no differences between the two groups in either plasma concentrations or cortisol suppression following administration of FP via Accuhaler or budesonide via Turbuhaler (22). Interestingly, the difference in cortisol suppression for FP given by Accuhaler between moderate asthmatics and healthy subjects was confirmed in a study by Harrison and Tattersfield, but could not be shown for budesonide via Turbuhaler (Fig. 2) (38). Taken together, these data suggest that FP, but not budesonide, is subject to substantial MCC. For a drug with an extended dissolution time in mucus, this will affect overall lung uptake. When disease is more severe, deposition will become more central, resulting in even greater MC transport and, thus, an even lower total lung uptake.

In this context, it may be of interest to point out that the systemic uptake of intranasal CSs is probably even more limited by MCC than orally inhaled CSs. Although nasal MCC appears to be slightly reduced in rhinitic patients compared with healthy subjects because of differences in mucus rheology, the transport from proximal parts of the nose to the pharynx takes only about 10 minutes (39). The watersoluble CSs with high rates of mucosal dissolution, such as flunisolide, show substantial nasal uptake—systemic availability after administration of a nasal aqueous suspension was 49% (40). The nasal uptake of the more lipophilic CS FP is very much lower, and systemic availabilities of 2% or less were reported (41,42). Similar low uptake was suggested for mometasone furoate (MF) nasal spray (42,43).



Figure 2 Individual and total cortisol metabolites after 7-day treatment with FP 1500 μ g/day or budesonide 1600 μ g/day in 30 asthmatics (mean FEV₁ 2.0 L, 60% predicted) and 45 healthy controls. (Adapted from Ref. 38.)

V. Airway and Lung Uptake and Retention

There is no evidence to suggest that the mode of CS action differs between endogenous CSs and exogenously supplied CSs. Neither does the mode of antiinflammatory action of systemically utilized synthetic CSs appear to differ from that of the more potent iCSs used for local action. However, receptor kinetics (see Sec. VII) and cellular uptake and retention differ considerably between CSs. This will have an impact on the onset, duration, and magnitude of clinical effect and may also affect the selectivity between the airway and the systemic effects.

In contrast to the systemic steroids, the topically potent CSs used for inhalation treatment show a substantial uptake in the airways (Fig. 3). Peak tracheal concentrations of tritium-labeled budesonide, FP, and BDP were almost 100-fold greater than those after hydrocortisone and dexamethasone after a 10-minute tracheal superfusion in rats (44).

Measured peak levels were obtained in the first sample (10 min after stopping perfusion). The subsequent retention of radioactivity was substantially greater for budesonide and FP than for the systemic steroids. Radioactivity corresponding to BDP declined at a rate resembling that of dexamethasone (DEX) and hydrocortisone (HC), which may be explained by the extensive biotransformation to the much less lipophilic monopropionate and the free alcohol (see below) occurring in the airways. Lipophilicity as an important factor in the retention was suggested by Rohdewald et al. (45) and Esmailpour et al. (46). They showed that the uptake





Figure 3 Tissue radioactivity in perfused sections of trachea after 10-minute perfusion with ³H-corticosteroid solutions, followed by saline perfusion between 10–120 minute. Values are geometric means, with 95% confidence intervals (N = 3-5), for each GCS and time point. The percentage values express the ratio of tissue radioactivity at 120 minute to that at 20 minute. (Data from Ref. 44.)

of CSs from buffer into human lung or nasal tissue in vitro reached equilibrium in 5-20 minutes and was greatest for FP followed by BDP > BMP > budesonide > flunisolide > hydrocortisone, which essentially reflects the relative lipophilicity of these agents. Following reequilibration of the CS-containing lung samples with plasma, the same order of retention was found as for tissue uptake. The relative uptake of CSs was assessed by analysis of remaining amounts in buffer and plasma. The fact that budesonide was relatively little taken up by the tissue in vitro stands in contrast to the in vivo findings discussed below. Confounding factors in the in vitro experiments may include nonspecific adsorption of dissolved steroid to incubation flasks and lack of cofactors for esterification (budesonide forms fatty acid esters; see Sec. VI).

The uptake in lung tissue of systemic CSs is generally comparable to that in other well-perfused organs, such as heart, liver, and kidney (47). After intravenous

dosing in the rabbit, the ratio between tissue and unbound plasma concentrations (i.e., the partition coefficient) of prednisolone in the lung, liver, and kidney was about three in each organ. Neither do the pharmacokinetics in airway fluids appear to differ substantially from those in plasma after systemic dosing. Following intravenous administration of hydrocortisone in humans, Braude and Rebuck (48) showed a strong correlation and an approximate 1:1 ratio between levels in plasma and in lung epithelial lining fluid. After intravenous injection of various water-soluble CSs in healthy subjects, the bronchoalveolar lavage/plasma pseudo-equilibrium was reached at 10 minute and ranged between 0.4 and 1.3 for methyl-prednisolone, prednisolone, dexamethasone, and triamcinolone, being highest for prednisolone and lowest for triamcinolone (49).

The cellular localization of the tissue-bound CS fraction has been little studied in the lung. For ³H-dexamethasone incubated in vitro with mouse lung tissue samples, radioactivity was chiefly localized to alveolar type II cells, bronchiolar and arteriolar smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells of the pulmonary vasculature (50).

The multidrug resistance (MDR) gene-encoded proteins phosphoglycoprotein (P-gp) and multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP) represent a family of drug efflux proteins that convey multidrug resistance to cells in which they are expressed. Many cells express these proteins, and although lung cells have been relatively little studied in this respect, both P-gp and MRP are present in human alveolar epithelial cells (A549). MRP is also found in human airway epithelial cells (Calu-1) (51). Some of the systemically active steroids are substrates and can also act as antagonists towards P-gp-mediated efflux. For example, dexamethasone levels in the brain relative to the blood are five times higher in P-gp knockout mice than in controls (52). In cells expressing P-gp, the accumulation of dexamethasone and cortisol was reduced by as much as 50% compared with corresponding cells not expressing this efflux protein (53). It has been suggested that the more hydrophilic (systemic) steroids are better transported and are poorer antagonists of these efflux proteins than the more hydrophobic (topical) steroids (53). The P-gp ligands cyclosporin A and FK 506 potentiated dexamethasone-induced chloramphenicol acyl transferase reporter gene transcription in mouse fibroblasts to a greater extent than the more lipophilic topical CS triamcinolone acetonide (54). Also, verapamile affected dexamethasone but not triamcinolone acetonideinduced transcription in the same in vitro system. Recently, budesonide was shown to inhibit P-gp and MRP in human alveolar epithelial (A549) cells, but only at extreme concentrations (1-100 mM) (51). Interestingly RU-486, a potent corticosteroid receptor antagonist, is a strong inhibitor of P-gp activity (55).

Hence, systemically utilized CSs appear to equilibrate rapidly with lung parenchyma and airways and show no greater affinity for the respiratory organs than for other well-perfused organs. It is likely that P-gp, which is present in most cells, limits the cellular uptake of systemic CSs, particularly the more hydrophilic ones. The lipophilic CSs, on the other hand, seem to be much less affected by these efflux proteins.

VI. Corticosteroid Esterification

Fatty acid esters of steroids, discovered in the mid-1970s (56), represented a new and unique class of conjugates, distinctly separate from the classical polar sulfate and glucuronide conjugates. Esterification of cholesterol, estrogens, and mineralo- and glucocorticoids has subsequently been discovered (57) and shown to serve as a hormone-storing process (58) and to prolong hormonal response (59). Esterification is an important part of the cellular uptake, transport, and storage of cholesterol destined for steroid hormone synthesis, where cholesteryl esters are internalized via lipoprotein receptors and stored in the Golgi apparatus as lipid droplets (60). P-gp plays a central role, being required for esterification of low density lipoprotein–derived cholesterol (61). Only corticosterone and 5-dihydro-corticosterone among the natural and none among the synthetic corticosterone, which is abundant in many tissues of the rat, does not appear to form esters. These data suggest that the CS esterification mechanism is relatively stereoselective.

A. Identification and Biochemistry of Fatty Acid Esters of Budesonide

The rapid pulmonary uptake of budesonide combined with a significant retention within the airways and lung parenchyma, shown in the mid and late 1980s (62), remained unexplained for about 10 years. From relatively recent kinetical and biochemical studies, it became clear that a significant portion of budesonide, and to a much lesser extent triamcinolone acetonide, are intracellularly esterified (44, 63,64). After 6-hour incubation of normal human bronchial epithelial cells with ³H-budesonide, 93% of the total cellular budesonide was in the form of fatty acid esters (64). Fatty acid esterification of budesonide was also demonstrated in other biological systems, including liver and lung microsomes from the rat, human blood monocytes, human colonic carcinoma (CACO-2) cells, and rat fibroblasts (R-1 cells) (63). Hydrocortisone appears to follow the same biotransformation pathway, but here hydrolysis is much more prompt and little ester is therefore detected in tissue samples (A. Tunek, personal communication). FP, BDP, and probably other CSs lacking the C-21-hydroxy group do not form fatty acid esters (63).

Several fatty acid esters of budesonide have been identified. Budesonide is esterified in the 21-position, predominantly with oleic acid, but also with palmitoleic, palmitic, linoleic, and arachidonic acids (Fig. 4).

The formation of the esters is dependent on CoA and ATP, and by adding various fatty acids to cell incubates, the relative amount of each fatty acid ester can



Figure 4 Formation and hydrolysis of budesonide-21-fatty acid esters. (From Ref. 63.)

be changed. The acyl-cholesterol CoA transferase (ACAT) inhibitor cyclandelate significantly reduced the intracellular content of esterified budesonide (by about 80% in a rat fibroblast cell system), suggesting that ACAT is an important esterification enzyme for budesonide. Esters could be hydrolyzed back to intact budesonide by porcine pancreatic lipase and bovine pancreatic cholesterol esterase.

The reversible esterification process appears to promote an inactive intracellular storing pool of intact budesonide. Blocking of budesonide binding to the corticosteroid receptor by the corticosteroid antagonist mifepristone (RU-486) resulted in a relative increase in intracellular budesonide esters (65,66). Blocking of ACAT reduced the cellular content of intact budesonide much less than that of esterified drug. These data suggest that corticosteroid receptor binding is little affected by esterification. Unlike budesonide, the budesonide esters have little affinity for the GCS receptor and are between 500 and 10,000 times more lipophilic than budesonide itself (44).

In the airways, budesonide esterification is prompt and extensive. Only 20 minutes after inhalation or intratracheal instillation of tritium-labeled budesonide in rats, radioactivity bound to the trachea and main bronchi expressed to about 80% fatty acid conjugates of budesonide (44). After tracheal perfusion with tritium-labeled budesonide, the maximum radioactivity was localized to the mucosal and serosal compartments of the trachea (44). Much less esterification occurs in striated muscle, even after local injection of budesonide into an adjacent muscle. Twenty minutes after intramuscular injection, only 12% of muscle radio-activity originated from budesonide esters, while at the same time there was considerably greater proportion in the lung and trachea (approximately a 1:1 ratio of budesonide/budesonide ester) (67). These experiments indicate that budesonide is considerably more prone to forming esters in the trachea and lung than in striated muscle.

An inflammatory response does not appear to affect the fatty acid esterification of budesonide: lipopolysaccaride-evoked lung inflammation did not affect the



7 hours post-CS treatment



Figure 5 Inhibition of bronchoalveolar lavage content of TNF by intratracheal budesonide and fluticasone vs. control (saline). Rats were treated with single doses of 25 nmol/kg corticosteroid suspension by instillation followed by lipopolysacharide (LPS), 100 μ g (50 μ L) in solution, 1 or 6 hours later. Six hours after LPS instillation, bronchoalveolar concentrations of TNF were determined by ELISA. (a) Effects of budesonide and fluticasone at 7 hours. (b) Effects of budesonide and fluticasone at 12 hours. (Data from Ref. 71.) propensity of the airways to form budesonide esters in vivo (68). In addition, pretreatment of normal human bronchial epithelial cells with TNF- α did not affect the relative proportion of fatty acid esters (69).

B. Duration of Action of Budesonide

Fatty acid esterification of budesonide prolongs anti-inflammatory action by increasing the dwell time within the airways. The anti-inflammatory effects of budesonide and FP were investigated in a steroid-sensitive, transcription factor AP-1 mediated in vitro model, using transfected rat fibroblasts with β -galactosidase activity as readout (64). Experiments were performed either during continuous 24-hour incubation or during pulse exposure followed by extensive washing and further incubation without CS up to 24 hours. The latter experiment was performed to mimic the clinically more relevant situation of intermittent airway exposure. Using a 30-minute CS pulse, washing, and continued incubation without CS for 24 hours, pretreatment of cells with the ACAT inhibitor cyclandelate significantly reduced (by more than half) the budesonide-induced downregulation of the AP-1-mediated effect (70). The total levels of budesonide esters were simultaneously reduced by 80% compared with the same experiment performed without cyclandelate. Cyclandelate did not affect the cellular content of FP in this model (65). Budesonide was significantly less potent than FP during continuous 24-hour exposure over a wide concentration range. However, following a 6-hour CS pulse, washing, and subsequent incubation without CS for 18 hours, FP lost most of its downregulating effect, while that of budesonide remained almost intact (64). Taken together, the long effect duration following a pulse of budesonide in this cell model may be explained in terms of prompt formation of esters, which are retained in the cell, and from which intact budesonide is slowly regained.

A similar prolongation of anti-inflammatory effect for budesonide relative to FP has been shown to occur in rat airways in vivo (71). Budesonide or FP at a dose of 25 nmol/kg b.wt. (11–13 µg/kg b.wt.) or vehicle (100 µL saline) was intratracheally instilled in rats, followed 1 or 6 hours later by lipopolysaccaride (LPS). LPS induces an inflammatory reaction, where TNF- α (and other proinflammatory cytokines) are released. At 6 hours after LPS instillation, the trachea and main bronchi were lavaged ex vivo with buffer and TNF- α was measured (by ELISA). While budesonide and FP were equally effective at 7 hours, at 12 hours budesonide was significantly more effective than FP in reducing the release of TNF- α (Fig. 5) (71).

C. Human Pharmacology

The extensive uptake of budesonide and FP in airway cells in vitro and in animal airways and lungs in vivo has been confirmed in humans. Drug concentrations



Figure 6 Nasal biopsy concentrations of budesonide, budesonide esters (oleate + palmitate), and fluticasone propionate after administration of single nasal doses of budesonide nasal spray (two puffs per nostril, total dose 256 μ g) and fluticasone nasal spray (two puffs per nostril, total dose 200 μ g) to 24 healthy subjects. Biopsies were taken from each subject at two time points, just before dosing and at 2, 6, or 24 hours postdose, in a randomized fashion, giving a total af 12 samples per time point. No analyte was above limit of quantification in samples obtained before dosing. All data points that were above limit of quantitation are depicted in the figure. (Data from Ref. 73.)

were found to be severalfold higher in airways than in plasma after oral inhalation and nasal administration of budesonide and FP (46,72,73). The presence of fatty acid esters has been shown in vivo in human lung and nasal samples (73,74). Central and peripheral lung tissue was obtained from seven patients undergoing lung resection surgery. All patients received a single 1600 μ g dose of budesonide via Turbuhaler at varying time points (3.5–14.8 h) preoperatively. Budesonide and budesonide fatty acid esters, predominantly oleate, were found in lung tissue samples from all patients. The concentrations were about the same for the sum of budesonide fatty acid esters (range 0.9–17.2 pmol/g wet tissue) as for budesonide itself (range 0.7–19.3 pmol/g wet tissue). The ratio between budesonide and budesonide oleate concentrations was similar in central and peripheral lung samples.

In nasal biopsy samples, budesonide esters were present in substantial amounts after single 256 μ g doses in 24 healthy subjects (Fig. 6) (73). Again, at the time points studied (2, 6, and 24 hours after a single dose), budesonide oleate

was the dominating ester (>90% of total esters), with a concentration corresponding to about half that of intact budesonide. The variability in budesonide-oleate concentrations was less than that of unesterified budesonide at all time points, suggesting that ester formation is relatively stable among individuals.

This study also revealed that intact budesonide was present in significantly higher amounts and was retained longer than FP in the nose: the dose-corrected ratio between intact budesonide and FP was 3.5 at 2 hours and 13.7 at 6 hours. At 24 hours, budesonide and FP were detected in 67 and 25% of the biopsies, respectively. It may thus be concluded from this study that tissue retention is not a simple reflexion of the lipophilicity of the intact steroid.

VII. Biotransformation of CSs, Other Than Esterification, in Airways and Lung

All current iCSs are inactivated mainly by biotransformation in the liver, most commonly by oxidative metabolism via CYP3A4. Recent data suggest that the gut mucosa also contributes to this oxidative metabolism (75). The expression of CYP3A in the lungs is low. The only cells containing any substantial amounts of CYPs are the nonciliated bronchiolar epithelial cells (Clara cells) and the alveolar type II cells. Alveolar macrophages appear devoid of CYP activity (76,77). The constitutive levels are much lower in lung than in liver, and indeed much lower in humans than in other species: human lung contains only about 1% as much constitutive CYP as rabbit lung, and this low level comprises CYPs with other substrate specificities: CYP1A1 (which metabolizes polyaromatic hydrocarbons), CYP2E1 (substrate chlorzoxazone and ethanol), CYP2F1 (skatole), CYP3A (many xenobiotics), CYP4B (fatty acids), and CYP5 (thromboxane synthase) (78). Among the CYP3As, CYP3A5 is the predominant CYP3A in the lung, and 3A4 is expressed in about 20% of individuals in lung tissues (bronchial and alveolar epithelium and alveolar macrophages) (79,80). In primary human bronchial epithelial cells, gene expression for CYPs 1A1, 1B1, 2B7, 2E1, 4B1 but not 3A4 was found (77).

Budesonide is not metabolized in the human lung 9000 \times g supernatant fraction in vitro (81), and the same holds true for FP, flunisolide, and triamcinolone acetonide (P. Andersson, personal communication). Neither does budesonide appear to be oxidatively metabolized in the nose (82). The metabolism of inhaled MF remains to be studied. The very low systemic availability claimed after both oral inhalation (0.96% via DPI, less via MDI) and nasal administration could imply that MF undergoes local metabolism. Indeed, a large number of minor tritium-labeled metabolites were separated after inhalation of ³H-MF via a DPI (83). None were identified, and it remains to be shown whether any of the tentative metabolites have pharmacological activity, as suggested by Isogai et al. (84).

Incubation media	Half-lives (mean [SD])	
	BDP	17-BMP
Liver $(n = 5)$ Lung Plasma $(n = 6)$ Blood $(n = 5)$	2.6 [0.2] min 35 [2] min ($n = 35$) 10.9 [0.02] h 3.3 [0.06] h	3.7 [0.2] h 3.5 [0.2] h (n = 60) 3.3 [0.04] h 27 [0.5] h

Table 2In Vitro Metabolism of Beclomethasone Dipropionate andBeclomethasone Monopropionate in Human Liver and Lung Homogenatesas Well as in Human Plasma and Blood

Source: Data from Ref. 86.

At present, data are also lacking regarding any local metabolism of the investigational CSs ciclesonide and loteprednole etabonate in the airways.

Some conjugation enzymes, such as glutathione transferases and sulfotransferases, but not glucuronosyl transferases, are present in human bronchial epithelial cells and alveolar macrophage cells (77). In vitro, budesonide is biotransformed by liver and lung sulfotransferases (85). There was a significant gender difference in hepatic sulfation of budesonide, with testosterone being a potent inhibitor of this biotransformation pathway. In lung, budesonide sulfotransferase activity was one-fifth that in liver and was similar in smokers and nonsmokers. The extent of hepatic and lung sulfation in vivo remains to be shown but is probably limited, as there is no apparent gender difference in either the pharmacokinetics or systemic pharmacodynamics of budesonide (AstraZeneca, data on file).

Esterase enzymes show high activity in the lung, and BDP is hydrolyzed to beclomethasone-17 β -monopropionate (BMP) in homogenates of human lung at a relatively high rate (see Table 2) (81,86). As BDP has low but BMP a very high receptor affinity, this hydrolysis represents an activation step. In addition, solubility is much increased by the hydrolysis, which may affect the rate of pulmonary uptake and circumvent MCC. Interestingly, in vitro BMP is further metabolized to beclomethasone alcohol at a similar rate in the lung, plasma, and liver but substantially slower in the blood (Table 2). The slow metabolism of 17 β -BMP in the blood compared with in plasma may be a result of cellular uptake and intracellular "protection" from plasma esterases.

In the human lung in vitro, hydrocortisone is relatively readily metabolized to cortisone by 11- β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (11 β -HSD). The potent 11 β -HSD inhibitors glycyrrhetinic acid and glycyrrhizin have anti-inflammatory properties, possibly due to the local inhibition of this hydrocortisone-to-cortisone in-

activation step (87). Synthetic CSs are, however, not known to be metabolized via this pathway.

VIII. Kinetics of Receptor Binding and Cellular Response

The current understanding of corticosteroid action includes extracellular transport via binding proteins in blood (albumin and transcortin), free diffusion over the lipid bilayers of cell membranes, and subsequent binding to cytoplasmatic corticosteroid receptors (88). There is some evidence to suggest that CS entry into cells involves specific membrane-associated receptors distinct from the classical intracellular CS receptors (89), but this has hitherto been described primarily in neuronal tissues (90,91). The corticosteroid-receptor complex becomes activated by relatively poorly understood mechanisms, including conformational changes, dissociation from heat-shock proteins, and hyperphosphorylation. Activated receptors then translocate into the nucleus and bind as homodimers to specific DNA sequences. Two forms of the human corticosteroid receptor are known to exist, $hGR\alpha$ and $hGR\beta$ (92), where the former appears to be localized to the cell nucleus independent of the presence of any ligand. The role of hGR α is currently under debate (93), and it has been speculated that it acts as a negative regulator of hGR β transactivation, and that the tissue- and cell-specific balance between the two receptor forms may modulate the responsiveness of tissues to CSs (94). However, the hGR α seems to be much less expressed than the hGR β form (95).

Following exposure of human lung tissue samples to a CS at 20°C, receptor association starts quickly and is complete after 40–60 minutes, irrespective of the steroid tested (96). As dissociation is much slower, the half–life of the receptor complex is substantial, about 10 hours for FP, 5 hours for budesonide, and less for the weaker CSs (Table 3). However, these half-lives have been estimated under nonphysiological conditions in vitro and cannot be translated into corresponding in vivo half-lives. The subsequent steps of corticosteroid-receptor complex activation and nuclear binding have also been timed and are rapid: under physiological conditions in rat thymus cells at 37°C, the half-lives of activation and nuclear binding were 30–60 and 10 s, respectively (97). Transcription and posttranscriptional events are generally the rate-limiting factors, and the final, receptor-mediated, genomic corticosteroid effects generally take 6–12 hours to reach a maximum (98). The rapid effects of CSs (89) cannot be explained by these pathways, but whether they are of any major therapeutic importance remains to be shown.

Corticosteroid receptors are relatively evenly distributed throughout the human lung, with no apparent difference between healthy subjects and asthmatics. The amount of CS receptor-binding sites in human bronchial epithelial cells is approximately 30 fmol/mg protein $(2.6 \times 10^4 \text{ sites/cell})$ (99) and appears to
	k_1	k_{-1}	IZ.	
Corticosteroid	$(L/[nmol \times min]) \times 10^5$	$\times 10^{-4}$	\mathbf{K}_{d} (nmol/L)	$t_{1/2}$ (h)
Dexamethasone	4.8	88	18.3	1.3
	12.5	117	9.4	1.0
	9.6	109	11.3	1.0
Methylprednisolone	5.5	236	42.9	0.5
Triamcinolone acetonide	4.9	30	6.1	3.9
Fluticasone propionate	23.9	12	0.49	10.1
	27.4	15	0.55	7.7
Budesonide	18.9	25	1.3	4.6

Table 3 Kinetic Constants of Corticosteroid-Receptor Complexes in CytosolicPreparations of Human Lung Tissue at 20°C

 k_1 = Association rate constant; k_{-1} = dissociation rate constant; K_d = equilibrium dissociation constant; $t_{1/2}$ = half-life of the receptor complex.

Source: Adapted from Ref. 102.

be slightly higher in the alveolar walls and vascular endothelium of the lung (100). From these data, assuming a similar distribution of receptors throughout the lung and that about one third of lung tissue consists of protein, the receptor concentration can be estimated at 10-20 nmol/L. CSs bind with high affinity to the corticosteroid receptor, and equilibrium dissociation constants (K_d) have been estimated to range from about 0.5 nmol/L for FP to about 10 nmol/L for dexamethasone (Table 3). For MF, the K_d may be even lower (101). The K_d can be directly translated into the concentration of free (non-tissue-bound) CS needed to saturate the receptor by 50%. Hence, at equilibrium with 50% saturated receptors, about 1 nmol of a CS with a K_d of 1 nmol/L is unbound and 5-10 nmol bound to the receptor per liter of lung tissue (assuming a receptor concentration of 10-20 nmol/L). So, theoretically, relatively little (5-10 μ g/L in the above calculations) of the drug reaching the airways is needed to saturate the receptor. Any surplus will then either be retained unspecifically in the tissues, unchanged or as biotransformation products (e.g., budesonide oleate), or be absorbed into the systemic circulation. However, if a highly potent CS is given at a sufficiently low dose, a substantial fraction of the given dose will occupy airway/ lung CS receptors. This will leave less to be promptly absorbed, which may lead to systemic "spill-over" concentrations that are below the linear, steep part of the concentration-time curve for systemic effects. This will improve airway selectivity, as illustrated in Figure 7.

Anti-inflammatory effects appear to be related to receptor affinity in most cell systems in vitro (102), although there is seldom a strict correlation. In activated human airway epithelial cells, FP was 10 times more potent than budesonide



Figure 7 Airway selectivity as a function of receptor affinity (K_d) and dose. Pharmacokinetic compartment model adopted from Hochhaus (23), with the following assumptions: two corticosteroid concentration [CS] compartments (lung and systemic); inhalation of CS powder twice daily at steady state (after 40 doses) with lung deposition = 30%; rapid rate of dissolution (T_{1/2diss} = 18 min) and systemic absorption from lung (T_{1/2abs} = 4 min); mucociliary clearance, T_{1/2muc} = 4.2 h; oral availability = 10%; clearance from systemic compartment only = 60 L/h; V_{lung} = 2 L; V_{syst} = 150 L. Pharmacodynamic model based on receptor binding in lung and systemic compartments, where binding to the CS receptor over 12 hours equals effect, and airway selectivity equals the difference between 12-hour integrated effects in the lung and the systemic receptor compartments at steady state. Total corticosteroid receptor concentration ([R]+[CSR]) throughout the body = 15 nM; V_{lung} = 2 L for corticosteroid and receptor; V_{syst} = 70 L for receptor; K_d = k₋₁/k₁ (according to Table 3 above); k₋₁ = 1 × 10⁻⁴ [min⁻¹]; rate of receptor binding = k₋₁[CS][R]; rate of receptor unbinding = k₋₁[SR]. Simulations were made in MATLAB[®].

at inhibiting cytokine release (103), but equally potent at inhibiting eicosanoid output (104). The difference between FP and dexamethasone at inhibiting AP-1 binding to DNA (a 15-fold difference) was similar to the difference in their relative receptor binding affinity (about 18-fold) (105). Differences between the two CSs at inhibiting binding to NF- κ B and inhibiting the release of GM-CSF was,

however, much greater—about 200-fold. Different cell systems also show different sensitivity to CS treatment: human monocytes, for example, are much more sensitive than human alveolar macrophages (106). Possible reasons for the divergence in results include differences in experimental set-up and readouts between studies, differences in solubilities, cellular uptake, and biotransformation between CSs, and differences in the presence of critical cofactors. In vitro pulse experiments should better reflect the clinical situation of intermittent dosing, uptake, retention, and elimination. Results from such studies tend to give results very different from those obtained with the continuous incubations used in the great majority of in vitro studies (64).

Taken together, the actual binding of the CS to the receptor and the subsequent nuclear translocation are rapid processes, the transcription and receptor dissociation slower. Whether any of these processes affect the overall retention of the CS within the tissue in vivo remains to be shown, although after inhalation only a minor portion of the dose deposited in the airways interacts with the receptor at any given time. This explains why unspecific binding via lipophilic interactions rather than receptor affinity is so important for total tissue uptake and by that its retention. A low receptor affinity can generally be compensated for by increasing the dose (23), and therapeutic efficacy hereby remains unaffected. However, for extremely potent CSs at low absolute doses, an improvement in airway selectivity may be gained by the receptors acting as a "sink," subtracting a substantial portion of drug, which otherwise would have been promptly absorbed into the systemic circulation. A necessary prerequisite for this to occur is that other pharmacokinetic properties, such as distribution volume and clearance, remain unchanged, which is seldom the case when comparing the receptor kinetics of different CS formulations.

IX. Clinical Implications

Therapeutic efficacy (i.e., maximum possible therapeutic effect, irrespective of dose) appears to be similar or identical for the commercially available inhaled CS formulations: no well-controlled double-blind clinical study has to date convincingly shown better efficacy of one CS formulation over another at maximum tolerable doses, in spite of large differences between different inhaled CS formulations regarding their receptor affinity and their uptake, retention, and bio-transformation in the lung and airways. Hence, it appears that differences in local pharmacokinetic properties between different CS formulations can, at least to some extent, be compensated for by adjusting the dose and/or dosing frequency. The development of improved iCSs within the pharmaceutical industry has been very much focused on increasing potency, and indeed the two most recent iCSs on the market, FP and MF, have the hitherto highest affinities for the corticosteroid

receptor. Although there is some evidence that a higher receptor affinity per se can be translated into a higher therapeutic potency, many other local pharmacokinetic factors will also affect this relationship and probably to a greater extent: lung deposition, MCC, airway retention, and local biotransformation are some that have been discussed above. In addition, optimizing these factors may improve *airway selectivity*, as the overall dose needed to achieve a certain therapeutic effect will be reduced, which in turn will reduce systemic spillover and side effects. Added to this is the cumulation risk at steady state, which is more pronounced for the lipophilic CSs. Hence, improved airway selectivity is probably the most important consequence of both the recent and also the forthcoming pharmaceutical and pharmacological efforts in iCS development.

Mucociliary clearance appears to affect the uptake of slowly dissolving CSs. The clinical implication of this finding is that the time available for absorption of the bulk of drug deposited in the large airways is restricted and that the relatively small fraction deposited peripherally will be absorbed at more central sites. Hence, as the inflammatory events associated with asthma afflict both central and peripheral airways (13), a more rapid absorption could be advantageous from an airway exposure point of view. In addition, as patients improve following iCS treatment, deposition appears to become more peripheral because of normalization of the large airways. For lipophilic CSs, this will increase the systemic burden to levels normally encountered in healthy subjects, a factor that needs to be taken into consideration when titrating iCS doses following disease improvement. Thus, for the most lipophilic CSs, systemic effects may not be reduced in proportion to the dose reduction in patients improving from severe airway obstruction. The adverse effects of MCC on lipophilic CS uptake could be reduced by evening dosing, as MCC is strongly reduced during the night (29). Combination treatment with β -agonists probably improves deposition in the small airways, but will also normalize a pathologically reduced MCC (30). The impact of central versus peripheral airway deposition and diurnal, pathological, and pharmacological changes in MCC on the therapeutic outcome of iCSs largely remains to be investigated.

No local biotransformation in the lung, except esterification and ester hydrolysis, appears to have any clinical significance for the currently available inhaled CS formulations. BDP is relatively rapidly hydrolyzed in both the lung and liver to the pharmacologically active BMP and more slowly to the less active beclomethasone alcohol (B). It is likely that the balance between esterase activities in lung and blood, with processes of activation (i.e., hydrolysis of BDP to BMP) and deactivation (further hydrolysis of BMP to B), as well as changes in rate of uptake due to the differences in lipophilicity between BDP, BMP, and B, may affect the therapeutic outcome and systemic absorption in the individual patient. In addition, it is not known whether esterase activity is affected by inflammation. If the inactivation step (i.e., BMP hydrolysis or oxidation) occurs at the same rate in the lung as in the liver and plasma in vivo as it does in vitro (Table 2), BMP exposure in the systemic circulation will be independent of route of absorption, whether it is the lungs or the gut (the latter derived from the swallowed fraction of an inhaled dose). The clinical consequence of this finding is that, for BDP/BMP, airway selectivity is not affected per se by liver first-pass metabolism. This is in contrast to most other iCSs, where liver first-pass metabolism of the swallowed fraction *reduces* the overall systemic exposure and the risk of systemic side effects. Systemic availability data to confirm these in vitro findings are essentially lacking, although a recent study in children with asthma by Agertoft et al. (107) indicated that the oral availability of BMP was almost 70%, which is considerably higher than previously suggested (108).

The latency time of CSs can be short, as lung function improves in chronic stable asthmatics already within a few hours after a single dose of oral or inhaled corticosteroids (109,110). The maximum effect was achieved within 12 hours but appeared 1-3 hours earlier following inhalation. The slower rate of uptake after oral dosing may explain these findings. Although bronchial hyperreactivity generally takes several weeks of antiasthmatic treatment to improve dramatically, already 6 hours after a single dose in patients with asthma there was a small improvement in PC_{20} (111). The onset of effects on inflammatory markers can also be detected soon after a single dose: a single high dose of nebulized budesonide significantly reduced exhaled NO at 6 hours in patients with asthma (112). Hence, inhibition of inflammatory cell activation can be shown after a single dose of an iCS, but slower events such as tissue repair and normalization in tissues of leukocyte content and distribution may require much longer treatment time. Hence, for full anti-inflammatory effect, particularly in severe asthma, several weeks of regular treatment are needed. No data on onset of antiasthmatic action are yet available regarding the highly lipophilic, slowly dissolving CSs, but it is likely that, if anything, onset will be slower because of later mucosal access. Similarly, there is no evidence of any clinically relevant differences between different iCS formulations regarding the time needed to induce the complete array of anti-inflammatory actions.

Airway uptake and retention are required for sufficient duration of clinical action. As noncompliance probably is the most important single reason for treatment failure (113), extended duration of pharmacological action is an important property, which counteracts any negative consequences of lost doses and/or allow once-daily dosing. In rhinitis, most topical CSs are used once daily, but only budesonide is as yet approved in mild to moderate asthma as a once-daily regimen (114,115). Budesonide's extended duration of anti-inflammatory action is most probably a result of its unique fatty acid esterification. Human PK/PD modeling has also suggested that the formation of budesonide esters is a mechanism by which not only the duration of action, but also the topical selectivity of budesonides.

nide may be increased (116). The high initial concentrations of budesonide in airways and lung lead to initial corticosteroid receptor saturation, but also to prompt formation of a large "first-pass" budesonide ester pool in the airways. The preclinical data clearly showed that this increases duration of action as compared to a situation in which ester formation is inhibited. However, the esterification is reversible, and budesonide is released into the systemic circulation in its moderately lipophilic and readily cleared intact form. This will limit a general tissue retention of active drug. Different tissues have varying ability to esterify—airways/lung high and striated muscle low capacity (67). Together these features contribute to the favorable benefit vs. risk ratio of budesonide in the clinical setting.

The pharmacokinetics of the most lipophilic iCSs, with their slow uptake and a tendency for accumulation, would suggest an extended duration of action. This seems to be the case for MF, which given once daily in the morning at a daily dose of 400 μ g was as efficacious as 200 μ g twice daily in patients with moderate persistent asthma (117). For FP, at a daily dose of 100 μ g there was an equal effect in children with stable mild to moderate asthma with a once- or twice-daily regimen (118). However, with FP 200 μ g daily in adults with symptomatic mild to moderate asthma, a once-daily regimen was not as efficient as a twice-daily regimen (119), which is surprising given the high lipophilicity and long MAT for this drug. The differences in systemic pharmacokinetic properties between different iCSs and its influence on the systemic pharmacodynamic effects will be discussed in other chapters of this book.

X. Some Unanswered Questions

Relatively much is known about lipophilicity, rate of dissolution, affinity to the CS receptor, intracellular dwell time, biotransformation, and elimination of available iCS formulations. Much less is known about trans- and intracellular trafficking and storage. It is likely that several unspecific cellular binding sites exist having different capacities, as well as affinities, in, e.g., the cell membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, lysosomes, and Golgi apparatus. In this context, reversible fatty acid esterification is a newly discovered mode of intracellular storage of iCSs. Also, it should be borne in mind that in the steady-state treatment situation a true equilibrium is never reached, but rather a series of drug concentration gradients, which are dependent on absolute doses and dosing frequencies. Free drug will thus continuously flow between different intracellular compartments and between intracellular sites. Here, a critical aspect is whether the intracellular availability of the steroid is primarily governed by cytosolic free concentrations or whether the drug can flow directly from lipid-rich sites to interact with effector/receptor loci—this occurs for cholesterol and is not an unlikely

mechanism also for CSs. Finally, most of above issues may be relevant also in the rest of the body, and it is important to understand the balance between different pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties in the airways and lungs versus the rest of the body to exploit the full potential of treatment for the individual asthma patient.

XI. Conclusion

Optimization of the pharmacokinetics of inhaled corticosteroids has led to a highly efficacious and safe treatment of most asthmatic patients. The physicochemical properties and the delivery characteristics will together affect the overall performance of the individual iCS formulation. Pharmacokinetic factors of importance for maximum topical activity of the iCSs (apart from dose) include its exposure at the airway and lung targets, its intrinsic activity, its local biotransformation, and its intracellular retention at the target site. Retention is improved by binding to high-capacity intracellular sites in addition to the high-affinity but low-capacity receptor sites. Prolonged intraluminal deposition may also help, but at least in the more central airways this contributes to tissue uptake for only a few hours due to mucociliary clearance. Lung and airway biotransformation occurs to a relatively limited extent for the currently available iCSs and is primarily confined to ester formation and hydrolysis. Reversible esterification is a newly discovered intracellular pathway for budesonide, which prolongs retention and duration of therapeutic action. Much is known about the binding of the CS to the CS receptor and the initial events following binding and activation of the CSreceptor complex. Less is, however, currently known about the subsequent events leading to the cascade of anti-inflammatory effects, and, particularly, the intracellular trafficking and storage of iCSs at site of action and at extrapulmonary sites.

Acknowledgments

My sincere thanks to Magnus Jendbro, who contributed significantly to this chapter by performing the pharmacokinetic simulations, and to Ingrid Roman, who assisted in the typing.

References

- Toogood JH, Frankish CW, Jennings BH, Baskerville JC, Borga O, Lefcoe NM, Johansson S-A. A study of the mechanism of the antiasthmatic action of inhaled budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:872–880.
- Lawrence M, Wolfe J, Webb DR, Chervinsky P, Kellerman D, Schaumberg JP, Shah T. Efficacy of inhaled fluticasone propionate in asthma: results from topical and not from systemic activity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:744–751.

- Lindqvist N, Andersson M, Bende M, Löth S, Pipkorn U. The clinical efficacy of budesonide in hay fever treatment is dependent on topical nasal application. Clin Exp Allergy 1989; 19:71–76.
- 4. Löfdahl CG, Arvidsson P, Bondesson E, et al., Higher potency of salbutamol when given via Turbuhaler than via a pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI). Allergy Clin Immunol News 1994; 6(suppl 2):383.
- Borgström L, Derom E, Ståhl E, et al. The inhalation device influences lung deposition and bronchodilating effect of terbutaline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: 1636–1640.
- 6. Möllert FG, Matusiewicz, SP, Dewar M. Brown G, McLean A, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Comparative efficacy of ipratropium bromide via Turbohaler and MDI in patients with reversible airflow obstruction. Thorax 1995; 50:469P.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Importance of inhalation device on the effect of budesonide. Arch Dis Child 1993; 69:130–133.
- Busse W, Colice G, Donnell D, Hannon S. A dose response-comparison of HFA-BDP and CFC-BDP based on FEV1 and FEF₂₅₋₇₅. Eur Respir J 1998; 12(suppl 28): 61s.
- 9. Patel-P, Mukai-D, Wilson-AF. Dose-response effects of two sizes of monodisperse isoproterenol in mild asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141(2):357–360.
- 10. Rees PJ, Clark TJ, Moren F. The importance of particle size in response to inhaled bronchodilators. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 119):73–78.
- 11. Zanen P, Go LT, Lammers JWJ. The optimal particle size for beta-adrenergic aerosols in mild asthmatics. Int J Pharm 1994; 107:211–217.
- Zanen P, Go LT, Lammers JW. Optimal particle size for beta-2-agonist and anticholinergic aerosols in patients with severe airflow obstruction. Thorax 1996; 51:977– 980.
- Hamid Q, Song Y, Kotsimbos TC, Minshall E, Bai TR, Hegelete RG, Hogg JC. Respiratory pathophysiological responses: inflammation of small airways in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 100:44–51.
- 14. Kraft M, Martin RJ, Wilson S, Djukanovic R, Holgate ST. Lymphocyte and eosinophil influx into alveolar tissue in nocturnal asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(1):228–234.
- Thorsson L, Kenyon C, Newman SP, Borgström L. Lung deposition of budesonide in asthmatics: a comparison of different formulations. Int J Pharmaceut 1998; 168:119– 127.
- Borgström L, Bondesson E, Morén F, Trofast E, Newman SP. Lung deposition of budesonide inhaled via Turbuhaler: a comparison with terbutaline sulphate in normal subjects. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:69–73.
- Leach CL. Improved delivery of inhaled steroids to the large and small airways. Respir Med 1998; 92(suppl A): 3–8.
- Goldin JG, Kleerup EC, Colice GL, Sayre JW, Suttorp M, Simmons M, Greaser LE, Hayward UM, Vanden Burgt J, Aberle DR, Tashkin DP. Functional computed tomography comparison of HFA-134a beclomethasone and CFC-beclomethasone in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(No 3 Pt 2):A878.
- Bisgaard H. Future options for aerosol delivery to children. Allergy 1999; 54 (suppl 49):97–103.

- 20. Wardlaw AJ, Dunnette S, Gleich GJ, Collins JV and Kay AB. Eosinophils and mast cells in bronchoalveolar lavage in subjects with mild asthma: relationship to bronchial hyperreactivity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 88:935–42.
- Santolicandro A, Di Mauro M, Storti S, Buzzigoli G, Morelli C, Borgström L, Giuntini C. Lung deposition of budesonide inhaled through Turbuhaler in asthmatic patients before and after bronchodilation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149[4 (2)]: A220.
- 22. Thorsson L, Edsbäcker S. Lung uptake of budesonide via Turbuhaler is greater than that of fluticasone propionate via Diskus or pMDI. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001. Submitted.
- 23. Hochhaus G, Möllman H, Derendorf H, Gonzalez-Rothi RJ. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic aspects of aerosol therapy using glucocorticoids as a model. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37:881–892.
- 24. West JB. Pulmonary Pathophysiology, The Essentials, 4th ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1992:137.
- Messina MS, O'Riordan TG, Smaldone GC. Changes in mucociliary clearance during acute exacerbations in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143:993–997.
- Wanner A, Salathe M, O'Riordan TG. Mucociliary clearance in the airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:1868–1902.
- Pavia D, Agnew JE, Clarke SW. Physiological, pathological and drug induced alterations in tracheobronchial mucociliary clearance. In: Isles AF, Von Wichert P, eds. Sustained Release Theophylline and Nocturnal Asthma International Workshop, Buergenstock, Switzerland. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1985:44–59.
- 28. Saint Georges F, Fetissof F, Diot E, Valat C, Anthonioz P, Dequin PF, Boissinot E, Lemarie E, Diot P. Changes in mucociliary clearance reflect bronchial inflammation in asthma. J Aerosol Med 1999; 12(2):91.
- 29. Hasani A, Agnew JE, Pavia D, Vora H, Clarke SW. Effect of oral bronchodilators on lung mucociliary clearance during sleep in patients with asthma. Thorax 1993; 48: 287–289.
- Pavia D, Agnew JE, Sutton PP, Lopez-Vidriero MT, Clay MM, Killip M, Clarke SW. Effect of terbutaline administered from metered dose inhaler (2 mg) and subcutaneously (0.25 mg) on tracheobronchial clearance in mild asthma. Br J Dis Chest 1987; 81:361–370.
- Agnew JE, Bateman JR, Pavia D, Clarke SW. Peripheral airways mucus clearance in stable asthma is improved by oral corticosteroid therapy. Bull Eur Physiopathol Respir 1984; 20:295–301.
- 32. Steinsvåg SK, Bjerknes R, Berg ÖH. Effects of topical steroids on human respiratory mucosa and human granulocytes in vitro. Acta Otolaryngol 1996; 116:868–875.
- Marshall BG, Wangoo A, Wagner C, Harrisson LI, Shaw RJ. Concentration of beclomethasone monoproprionate in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid differed following two inhaled preparations of beclomethasone dipropionate. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(no 3 pt 2):A116.
- 34. Hochhaus G, Scranton S, Vaughan LM, Hill M. A physiological pharmacokinetic (PK) model for beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) delivered via conventional metered dose inhaler (MDI) and Spiros, an investigational dry powder inhaler (DPI). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103(no 1 pt 2):S134.
- 35. Brutsche MH, Brutsche CI, Munavvar M, Langley S, Masterson C, Daley-Yates PT,

Brown R, Woodcock A. Comparison of pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate in patients with asthma and healthy volunteers: a randomised crossover study. Lancet 2000; 356:556–561.

- Daley-Yates PT, Tournant J, Kunka RL. Comparison of the systemic availability of fluticasone propionate in healthy volunteers and patients with asthma. Clin Pharmacokin 2000; 39 (Suppl 7):39–45.
- Weiner P, Berar-Yanay N, Davidovich A, Magadle R. Nocturnal cortisol secretion in asthmatic patients after inhalation of fluticasone propionate. Chest 1999; 116;4:931– 934.
- 38. Harrison TW, Wisniewski A, Honour JW, Tattersfield AE. Comparison of the systemic effects of fluticasone propionate and budesonide given by dry powder inhaler in healthy and asthmatic subjects. Thorax 2001; 56:186–191.
- 39. Schuhl JF. Nasal mucociliary clearance in perennial rhinitis. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1995; 5:333–336.
- Chaplin MD, Cooper WC, Segre EJ, Oren J, Jones RE, Nerenberg C. Correlation of flunisolide plasma levels to eosinopenic response in humans. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1980; 65:445–453.
- 41. McDowall JE Mackie AE, Ventresca GP, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of intranasal fluticasone in humans. Clin Drug Invest 1997; 14(1):44–52.
- 42. Daley-Yates PT, Kunka RL, Shen YY, Andrews SM, Callejas S, Ng C. The relative systemic exposure to fluticasone propionate and mometasone furoate adminstered as aqueous nasal sprays in healthy subjects. Academy of Asthma, Allergy and Clinical Immunology meeting, San Diego, March 2000, Poster No. 603.
- 43. Onrust SV, Lamb HM. Mometasone furoate: a review of its intranasal use in allergic rhinitis. Drugs 1998; 56:725–745.
- Miller-Larsson A, Mattsson H, Hjerberg E, Dahlbäck M, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide: novel mechanism for prolonged retention of topically applied steroid in airway tissue. Drug Metab Dispos 1998; 26(7): 623–630.
- 45. Rohdewald P, Bonsmann U, Högger P. Die Bindung inhalativer Glukokorticoide an menschliches Lungengewebe in vitro. In: Leupold W, Nolte D, eds. Neue Aspekte der inhalativen Glukokorticoid-Therapie des Asthma Bronchiale. Munich: Industri Verlag, 1995:14–27.
- 46. Esmailpour N, Högger P, Rabe KF, Heitmann U, Nakashima M, Rohdewald P. Distribution of inhaled fluticasone propionate between human lung tissue and serum in vivo. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1496–1499.
- 47. Khalafallah N, Jusko WJ. Tissue distribution of prednisolone in the rabbit. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1984; 229:719–725.
- 48. Braude AC, Rebuck AS. Pulmonary disposition of cortisol. Ann Intern Med 1982; 97:59–60.
- 49. Barth J, Möllman H, Schmidt EW, Rehder J, Rhodewald P. Concentration of glucocorticoids in serum and broncheoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid. Atemwegs Lungenkrankh 1986; 12:89–92.
- 50. Beer DG, Chuna GR, Malkinson AM, Autoradiographic demonstration of the specific binding and nuclear localisation of 3H-dexamethasone in adult mouse lung. Lab Invest 1983; 49:725–734.
- 51. Bandi N, Kompella UB. P-gp and MRP in the respiratory tract: expression and effects

of budesonide, an anti-asthma corticosteroid. American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists, Annual Meeting, Nov. 1999, New Orleans; abstract No. 2608.

- Meijer OC, de-Lange EC, Breimer DD, de-Boer AG, Woorkel JO, de-Klooet ER. Penetration of dexamethasone into brain glucocorticoid targets is enhanced in mdr1A P-glycoprotein knockout mice. Endocrinology 1998; 139(4):1789–1793.
- 53. Barnes KM, Dickstein B, Cutler Jr GB, Fojo T, Bates S. Steroid treatment, accumulation and antagonism of P-glycoprotein in multi-drug-resistant cells. Biochemistry 1996; 35:4820–4827.
- Marsaud V, Mercier-Bodard C, Fortin D, Le-Bihan S, Renoir JM. Dexamethasone and triamcinolone acetonide accumulation in mouse fibroblasts is differently modulated by the immunosuppressant cyclosporin A, FK506, rapamycin and their analogues, as well as by other P-glycoprotein ligands. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1998; 66:11–25.
- 55. Gruol DJ, Zee MC, Trotter J, Borgeois S. Reversal of multidrug resistance by RU 486. Cancer Res 1994; 54(12):3088–3091.
- Hochberg RB, Bandy L, Ponticorvo L, Lieberman S. Detection in bovine adrenal cortex of a lipoidal substance that yields pregnenolone upon treatment with alkali. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1977; 74:941–945.
- 57. Pahuja SL, Hochberg RB. A comparison of the fatty acid esters of estradiol and corticosterone synthesized by tissues of the rat. J Biol Chem 1989; 264(6):3216–3222.
- 58. Hochberg RB, Pahuja SL, Zielinski JE, et al. Steroidal fatty acid esters. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1991; 40:577–585.
- Larner JM, McLusky NJ, Hochberg RB. The naturally occurring C-17 fatty acid esters of estradiol are long-acting estrogens. J Steroid Biochem 1985; 22:407–413.
- Sviridov D. Intracellular cholesterol trafficking. Histol Histopathol 1999; 14:305– 319.
- 61. Ikonen E. Molecular mechanisms of intracellular cholesterol transport. Curr Opin Lipidol 1997; 8:60–64.
- 62. Ryrfeldt Å, Persson G, Nilsson E. Pulmonary disposition of the potent glucocorticoid budesonide evaluated in an isolated perfused rat lung model. Biochem Pharmacol 1989; 38:17–22.
- 63. Tunek A, Sjödin K, Hallström G. Reversible formation of fatty esters of budesonide, an antiasthma glucocorticoid, in human lung and liver microsomes. Drug Metab Dispos 1997; 11:1311–1317.
- 64. Wieslander EI, Delander EL, Järkelid L, Hjertberg E, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Pharmacological importance of the reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide studied in a rat cell line in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 19:477–484.
- 65. Wieslander EI, Delander EL, Mattsson H, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Modulation of fatty acid esterification of budesonide by the GR antagonist RU486 and the ACATinhibitor cyklandelate in vitro. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(no 3 Pt 2): A114.
- 66. Miller-Larsson A, Ivarsson R, Mattson H, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Glucocorticoid receptor occupancy modulates the formation of budesonide fatty acid esters in vivo. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(no 3 pt 2):A628.
- 67. Miller-Larsson A, Ivarsson R, Matsson H, et al. High capacity of airway/lung tissue for budesonide esterification as compared to peripheral striated muscle. Eur Respir Soc, Madrid 1999.

- 68. Miller-Larsson A, Hjertberg E, Sjödin K, et al. Inflammation does not affect the extent of fatty acid conjugation and retention of budesonide in airway and lung tissue. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(3):A402.
- 69. Wieslander E, Delander E-L, Sjödin K, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Fatty acid conjugation of budesonide in normal human bronchial epithelial cells. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(3):A402.
- Wieslander E, Jerre A, Delander E-L, Brattsand R. The prolonged activity of a budesonide pulse depends on its reversible intracellular esterification—studied in vitro. ATS 2000, Toronto, Canada.
- 71. Miller-Larsson A, Jansson P, Runström A, et al. Prolonged airway activity and improved selectivity of budesonide possibly due to esterification. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:1455–1461.
- Van den Bosch JM, Westermann CJ, Aumann J, Edsbäcker S, Tönnesson M, Selroos O. Relationship between lung tissue and blood plasma concentrations of inhaled budesonide. Biopharm Drug Dispos 1993; 14:455–459.
- 73. Petersen H, Kullberg A, Edsbäcker S, Greiff L. Fatty acid formation appears to increase and prolong the retention of budesonide, in human nasal mucosa in vivo as compared with fluticasone propionate. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 51(2):159–163.
- Thorsson L, Thunnisen FBJM, Korn S, Carlshaf A, Edsbäcker S, Wouters EFM. Formation of fatty acid conjugates of budesonide in human lung tissue in vivo. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:A404.
- 75. Kolars JC, Lown KS, Schmiedlin-Ren P, Ghosh M, Fang C, Wrighton SA, Merion RM, Watkins PB. CYP3A gene expression in human gut epithelium. Pharmacogenetics 1994; 4:247–259.
- 76. Bend JR, Serabijt-Singh CJ, Philpot RM. The pulmonary uptake, accumulation, and metabolism of xenobiotics. Ann Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1985; 25:97–125.
- 77. Willey JC, Coy E, Brolly C, Utell MJ, Frampton MW, Hammersley J, Thilly WG, Olson D, Cairns K. Xenobiotic metabolism enzyme gene expression in human bronchial epithelial and alveolar macrophage cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:262–271.
- Raunio H, Pasanen M, Mäenpää J, Hakkola J, Pelkonen O. Expression of extrahepatic cytochrome P450 in humans. In: Pacifici GM, Fracchia GN, eds. Advances in Drug Metabolism. European Commission, 1995.
- 79. Anttila S, Hukkanen J, Hakkola J, Stjernvall T, Beaune P, Edwards RJ, Boobis AR, Pelkonen O, Raunio H. Expression and localization of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in human lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; 16(3):242–249.
- Raunio H, Hakkola J, Hukkanen J, Pelkonen O, Edwards O, Edwards R, Boobis A, Anttila S. Expression of xenobiotic-metabolising p450s in human pulmonary tissues. Arch Toxicol Suppl 1998; 20:465–469.
- Andersson P, Ryrfeldt Å. Biotransformation of the topical glucocorticoids budesonide and beclomethasone 17β,21-dipropionate in human liver and lung homogenate. J Pharm Pharmacol 1984; 36:763–765.
- Edsbäcker S, Andersson KE, Ryrfeldt Å. Nasal bioavailability and systemic effects of the glucocorticoid budesonide in children with asthma. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1985; 29:477–481.
- 83. Affrime MB, Cuss F, Padhi D, Wirth M, Pai S, et. al. Bioavailability and metabolism of momethasone furoate (MF) following administration by dry powder inhaler (DPI)

and metered dose inhaler (MDI) in healthy human volunteers. J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 40(11):1227–1236.

- Isogai M, Shimizu H, Esumi Y, Terasawa T, Okada T, Sugeno K. Binding affinities of mometasone furoate and related compounds including its metabolites for the glucocorticoid receptor of rat skin tissue. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1993; 44(2):141– 145.
- 85. Pacifici GM, Ferroni MA, Temellini A, Gucci A, Morelli MC, Giuliani L. Human liver budesonide sulphotransferase is inhibited by testosterone and correlates with testosterone sulphotransferase. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 46:49–54.
- 86. Foe K, Brown K, Seale JP. Metabolism kinetics of beclomethasone propionate esters in the homogenates of human lung and liver, whole blood and plasma in vitro. Ann Scientific Meeting at the Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand, Canberra, 1999.
- 87. Schleimer RP. Potential regulation of inflammation in the lung by local metabolism of hydrocortisone. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1991; 4(2):166–173.
- McKay LI, Cidlowski JA. Molecular control of immune/inflammatory responses: interactions between NF-xB and steroid receptor-signaling pathways. Endocrine Rev 1999; 20(4):435–459.
- 89. Brann DW, Hendry LB, Mahesh VB. Emerging diversities in the mechanism of action of steroid hormones. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1995; 52:113–133.
- Orchinik M, Murray TF, Moore FL. A corticosteroid receptor in neuronal membranes. Science 1991; 252:1848–1851.
- Iwasaki Y, Aoki Y, Katahira M, Oiso Y, Saito H. Non-genomic mechanisms of glucocorticoid inhibition of adrenocorticotropin secretion: possible involvement of GTP-binding protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 235:295–299.
- Korn SH, Engel GEJ, Koerts-de Lang E, Arends JW, Wouters EF, Thunnissen FBJM. Alpha and beta glucocorticoid receptor mRNA expression in skeletal muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motility 1998; 19:757–765.
- 93. Hecht K, Carlstedt-Duke J, Stjerna P, Gustafsson J, Brönnegård M, Wikström AC. Evidence that the β-isoform of the human glucocortiocoid receptor does not act as a physiologically significant repressor. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:26659–26664.
- Oakley RH, Sar M, Cidlowski JA. The human glucocorticoid receptor β-isoform. Expression, biochemical properties, and putative function. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:9550–9559.
- Pujols L, Mullol J, Juan M, Fuentes M, Xaubet A, Picado C. Regulation of both glucocorticoid receptor isoforms (GRα, GRβ) in a human bronchial epithelial cell line. European Respiratory Society Meeting, Madrid, October 1999.
- 96. Esmailpour N, Högger P, Rohdewald P. Binding kinetics of budesonide to the human glucocorticoid receptor. Eur J Pharmaceut Sci 1998; 6:219–223.
- 97. Munck A, Holbrook NJ. Glucocorticoid receptor complexes in rat thymus cell. Rapid kinetic behavior and a cyclic model. J Biol Chem 1984; 259:820-831.
- Sun Y-N, DuBois DC, Almon RR, Jusko WJ. Fourth-generation model for corticosteroid pharmacodynamics: a model for methylprednisolone effects on receptor/ gene-mediated glucocorticoid receptor down-regulation and tyrosine aminotransferase induction in rat liver. J Pharmacokin Biopharm 1998; 26(3):289–316.
- 99. LeVan TD, Babin EA, Yamamura HI, Bloom JW. Pharmacological characterization

of glucocorticoid receptors in human bronchial epithelial cells. Biochem Pharmacol 1999; 57:1003–1009.

- Adcock IM, Gilbey T, Gelder CM, Chung KF, Barnes P. Glucocorticoid receptor localization in normal and asthmatic lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:771– 782.
- Smith CL, Kreutner W. In vitro glucocorticoid receptor binding and transcriptional activation by topically active glucocorticoids. Arzneimittelforschung 1998; 48(9): 956–960.
- Högger P, Rohdewald P. Glucocorticoid receptors and fluticasone propionate. Rev Contemp Pharmacother 1998; 9(8):501–522.
- Ek A, Larsson K, Siljerud S, Palmberg L. Fluticasone and budesonide inhibit cytokine release in human lung epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages. Allergy 1999; 54:691–699.
- Aksoy MO, Li X, Borenstein M, Yi Y, Kelsen SG. Effects of topical corticosteroids on inflammatory mediator-induced eicosanoid release by human airway epithelial cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:1081–1091.
- 105. Adcock IM, Barnes PJ. Ligand-induced differentiation of glucocorticoid receptor (GR) trans-repression and transactivation. Biochem Soc Trans 1996; 24:267S.
- 106. Brattsand R, Linden M. Cytokine modulation by glucocorticoids: mechanisms and actions in cellular studies. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1996; 10(suppl 2):81–90.
- 107. Agertoft L, Pedersen S, Harrison L. Lung deposition and basic pharmacokinetic parameters of beclomethasone dipropionate in asthmatic children after inhalation from a HFA-pMDI (Autohaler) and a CFC-pMDI with spacer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(no 3 pt 2):A120.
- Seale JP, Harrison LI. Effect of changing the fine particle mass of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate on intrapulmonary deposition and pharmacokinetics. Respir Med 1998; 92(suppl A):9–15.
- Ellul-Micallef R. The acute effects of corticosteroids in bronchial asthma. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 8):46.
- 110. Engel T, Dirksen A, Heinig JH, Nielsen NH, Weeke B, Johansson SÅ. Single-dose inhaled budesonide in subjects with chronic asthma. Allergy 1991; 46:547–553.
- Vathenen AS, Knox AJ, Wisniewski A, Tattersfield AE. Time course of change in bronchial reactivity with an inhaled corticosteroid in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143:1317–1321.
- 112. Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ, O'Connor BJ. Reduction in exhaled nitric oxide after a single dose of nebulized budesonide in patients with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153(4):A799.
- Hyland ME. Rationale for once-daily therapy in asthma. Compliance issues. Drugs 1999; 58(suppl 4):1–6.
- 114. Jones AH, Langdon CG, Lee PS, et al. Pulmicort Turbuhaler once daily as initial prophylactic therapy for asthma. Respir Med 1994; 88:293–299.
- 115. Venables TL, Addlestone MB, Smithers AJ, et al. A comparison of the efficacy and patient acceptability of once daily budesonide via Turbuhaler and twice daily fluticasone propionate via disc-inhaler at an equal daily dose of 400 μg in adult asthmatics. Br J Clin Res 1996; 7:15–32.
- 116. Edsbäcker S, Jendbro M. Modes to achieve topical selectivity of inhaled glucocorti-

costeroids—focus on budesonide, 1998 Conference book. Proceedings of Respiratory Drug Delivery VI, South Carolina, May 3–7, 1998, pp. 71–82.

- 117. Noonan M, Bronsky EA, Ramsdell JW, Bensch GW, Lutsky BN et al. Once-daily momethasone furoate (MF) improves FEV1 and AM PEFR to the same extent as twice-daily MF in patients with moderate persistent asthma. Eur Respir Soc, Madrid, October 1999.
- 118. Hodges I, Netherway T. Once daily inhaled fluticasone propionate is as effective as twice daily in children with stable mild to moderate asthma. Thorax 1998; 53 (suppl 4):55.
- Johansson L-O. A comparison of once daily regimen of fluticasone propionate 200 μg and budesonide 400 μg and twice daily regimen of fluticasone propionate 100 μg. Eur Respir J 1998; 12(suppl 28):38.

Discussion

- **Dr. Jeffery:** If P450 activity has the potential to inactivate steroid, then the airway site of deposition in man is of importance. The cellular make-up of the lining epithelium differs markedly depending upon airway generation. In the large airways, there are secretory (goblet) cells, whereas in the terminal bronchioli there is, normally, a scarcity of goblet cells and a predominance of Clara cells, which I believe have marked P450 activity. There is a similar difference in the rat used experimentally and in the mouse. Nearly all nonciliated cells are Clara in type. I would predict that small airways may deactivate steroid more so than large. Is there any evidence to support or refute this?
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** In investigations in vitro or ex vivo with budesonide, we found no metabolites from oxidative metabolism in peripheral lung tissue. As far as I know, there is no evidence that differences exist in the metabolic pathways or extent of metabolism in central or peripheral lung tissue for any of the available inhaled steroids, including BDP.
- **Prof. Dolovich:** If you could deliver steroid only in peripheral airways ($\sim 2 \text{ mm}$ in diameter), would you expect a different rate of absorption from these airways compared to larger, more proximal ones such as you have shown in the trachea?
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** Yes, you would expect systemic absorption to be more rapid in the periphery for several reasons: first, to reach the periphery, particles need to be smaller, and the smaller the particles the more rapid is the rate of dissolution. Second, there is less mucus and a thinner and more vascularized epithelium to penetrate in the periphery. Mucociliary clearance, which is significant in the central airways, will also hinder a rapid absorption of lipophilic steroids. Finally, the intracellular retention of budesonide via esterification is particularly pronounced in the airways, which will hinder part of the delivered dose to be promptly absorbed. This of course only applies to steroids forming such esters.
- **Question (unknown):** Can changes in the physicochemical properties of bronchial mucus secondary to inflammatory or infectious processes affect significantly the absorption and airway biotransformation of corticosteroids?
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** There is little evidence to suggest that this is the case. The paper by Weiner I referred to in my presentation suggests that the more severe the disease, the less is the systemic uptake of fluticasone. It is likely that a major explanation of this finding is differences in regional deposition, so that the more severe your asthma is, the more central deposition will become. A central deposition, in turn, will make the steroid more susceptible for mucociliary clearance (MCC), particularly the more lipophilic and by that more slowly absorbed steroids. Impairment of MCC is relatively subtle in asthmatics and will likely have

little effect per se on the uptake. Whether other pathological changes in the mucus have any significant influence on uptake remains to be investigated.

- **Dr. Newman:** Both budesonide and flunisolide have been shown to be as effective when dosed once a day as opposed to twice a day. On the other hand, fluticasone is not as effective when dosed once a day as twice. Is this consistent with the esterification pattern for these three inhaled steroids?
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** I think that the esterification of budesonide in airways and lung contributes to its relatively long duration of action and efficacy as a once-daily treatment regimen in mild to moderate asthma. There has been some reports on a once daily efficacy also for flunisolide, but whether this is a result of esterification remains to be shown. As we have shown some esterification to occur for triamcinolone acetonide, I would assume that some esterification may occur also for flunisolide having a similar molecular structure as triamcinolone acetonide. The extent of this formation is unknown, but appears less than for budesonide. Fluticasone, for sure, does not form esters, but here its high lipophilicity probably contributes to some prolongation of effect duration. However, the clinical data supporting a once daily treatment regimen for fluticasone are weak.
- **Dr. Denburg:** What are the relative contributions of nonepithelial cells (e.g., eosinophils) to airways tissue uptake, retention, and metabolism of ICSs?
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** This evidently depends on the relative infiltration of these inflammatory cells, which in turn is linked to disease severity. Interestingly, there appear to be differences between various white blood cells in their esterification capacity, in that monocytes form more and granulocytes form less esters, but overall there is no reason to believe that the nonepithelial cells in any marked way should differ from epithelial cells regarding steroid uptake and retention.

10

Systemic Disposition and Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids

HARTMUT DERENDORF and GUNTHER HOCHHAUS

SRIRAM KRISHNASWAMI

University of Florida Gainesville, Florida Aventis Pharmaceuticals Bridgewater, New Jersey

HELMUT MÖLLMANN

University of Bochum and University Hospital Bergmannsheil Bochum, Germany

I. Introduction

With the introduction of modern corticosteroids with improved therapeutic ratios, the treatment of asthma has been significantly improved. The improvement can be mainly attributed to optimized pharmacokinetic properties. It is the goal of inhaled corticosteroid therapy to produce long-lasting therapeutic effects at the pulmonary target site with minimized oral bioavailability and minimized systemic side effects by rapid clearance of absorbed drug (1). Unless stated otherwise, the pulmonary target site refers to the central and peripheral areas of the lung including the tracheobronchial region.

Immediately following inhalation, 10-40% of the dose is deposited in the lung, while the majority (up to 90%) impacts on the oropharyngeal region and is swallowed (Fig.1). Following absorption from the gastrointestinal tract, the drug passes through the liver before entry into the systemic circulation. All commonly used inhaled corticosteroids, particularly budesonide and fluticasone propionate, are metabolized during their first pass through the liver and thus, following oral absorption, enter the systemic circulation mostly as inactive metabolites. Drugs that are not efficiently inactivated during first-pass metabolism are able to enter the systemic circulation unchanged, resulting in extrapulmonary effects (most of



Figure 1 Input pharmacokinetics of corticosteroids after inhaled administration. The majority of administered drug is deposited in mouth and pharynx and subsequently swallowed. After absorption from the gastrointestinal tract, the drug is inactivated by first-pass metabolism in the liver, and the amount reaching the systemic circulation is determined by the oral bioavailability. Only the drug deposited in the lung exerts the desired local activity. However, drug deposited in the lung is completely absorbed and contributes to the drug concentration in the systemic circulation.

which are unwanted). It is important to note that the fraction of the dose delivered to the lung will also be absorbed into the systemic circulation. Only dissolved drug is able to reach the intracellular steroid receptors in the lung, following which the absorption is rapid (2).

At present there are five compounds used to varying degrees in different countries for corticosteroid inhalation treatment: triamcinolone acetonide (TAA), flunisolide (FLU), beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP), budesonide (BUD), and fluticasone propionate (FP) (Fig. 2). The physicochemical modifications of the basic steroid structure from one compound to another confer differences in pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties that produce clinically significant difference (3). The objective of this chapter was to compare and contrast the pharmacokinetic (PK) and pharmacodynamic (PD) properties of these compounds and to assess the predictability of their systemic bioactivity using a PK/PD modeling approach.

II. PK/PD Properties of Inhaled Corticosteroids

Table 1 lists the PK/PD properties of the currently used inhaled steroids.





A. Relative Receptor Affinity

Most inhaled steroids are used in their pharmacologically active form, with BDP being a notable exception. BDP is a prodrug that first needs to be activated by hydrolysis. The active form of BDP is the respective monoester, beclomethasone-17-monopropionate (17-BMP). Unlike other corticosteroids, 17-BMP also forms an active metabolite, beclomethasone (B) (4). With respect to their receptor affinity relative to dexamethasone (RRA = 100), FP has the highest affinity (RRA = 1800) among the currently used inhaled steroids followed by 17-BMP (RRA = 1022), BUD (RRA = 935), TAA (RRA = 233), FLU (RRA = 190), and B (RRA = 73) (1,5). In practical terms, this means that a 10-fold higher unbound concentration of FLU at the receptor site is needed to produce the same degree of receptor occupancy as FP. This fact also makes clear why inhaled corticosteroids should never be compared on the basis of equal weight doses, but only in terms of their equipotent doses.

B. Plasma Protein Binding

Because only the free, unbound drug is able to interact with the corticosteroid receptor, it is important to convert measured plasma or serum concentrations to the respective unbound concentrations. All inhaled corticosteroids show moderate to

Table 1 Pharmacok	cinetic and Pharm	acodynamic Paramete	ers of Inhaled Corticoste	eroids		
Drug	FLU	TAA	BUD	BDP	17-BMP	FP
Oral F (%)	7–20	23	$6 - 11^{a}$	15 - 20	72 ^b	\sim
Inh F (%)	39 (MDI)	22-25 (MDI)	26 (MDI),	25 (CFC)	27 (CFC)	26 (MDI),
			38 (TBH)		70 (HFA)	12-17 (DPI)
f_u (%)	20	29	12	13	NA	10
CL (L/h)	58	37	84, 67 (22S),	230	54°	69
			117 (22R)			
Vd _{ss} (L)	96	103	183, 245 (22S),	NA	84°	318
			425 (22R)			
IV t _{1/2} (h)	1.6	2.0	2.8, 2.7 (22S),	0.1 - 0.5	0.6 - 1.7	7-13
			2.7 (22R)			
Inh $t_{1/2}$ (h)	1.6	3.6	3.0	0.1	1.5 - 6.5	11 - 14.4
MRT-IV (h)	1.7^{d}	2.7	2.2	NA	1.6	4.9
MAT (h)	$\overline{\lor}$	2.9	0.3-1.8 (TBH),	NA	NA	5 - 9
			0.8-2.6 (MDI)			
RRA (Dex = 100)	190	233	935	NA	1022	1800
Ref.	1, 7, 11, 13,	1,6,12,17	1, 8, 18, 25,	1, 3, 13, 14,	1, 3, 5, 13,	1,10,15,16,
	19,28		38,40	21,26,27,	14, 21, 26,	20, 24, 29,
				32,34	27,32,34	30,31
A hhreviations: FI II = fl	unisolide: TAA = 11	iamcinolone acetonide.	RIID = hudesonide. RDP	= heclomethasone di	pronionate: 17-BMP	= heclomethasone-

17-monopropionate; FP = fluticasone propionate; $Oral F = oral bioavailability; Inh F = overall systemic bioavailability after inhalation; <math>f_u = fraction$ unbound; CL = clearance; Vd_{ss} = volume of distribution at steady state; IV $t_{1/2}$ = elimination half-life; Inh $t_{1/2}$ = terminal half-life after inhalation; MRT-IV = mean residence time after intravenous administration; MAT = mean absorption time after inhalation; RRA = relative receptor affinity (Dex = dexamethasone); MDI = metered dose inhaler; DPI = dry powder inhaler; TBH = Turbuhaler; CFC = chlorofluorocarbon propellant-based MDI; HFA = - h - - h - -acelonide; BUD hydrofluoroalkane-134a propellant-based MDI; NA = not available. International TAA -^a Radiolabeled budesonide. AUDICVIALIOUS, L'LU

⁵ In rats.

^cAssuming complete conversion after intravenous administration of BDP.

^dCalculated from Vd_{ss} and CL after intravenous administration.

high levels of protein binding. TAA has the lowest plasma protein binding (71%) (6) followed by FLU (80%) (7), BUD (88%) (8), and FP (91%) (Glaxo Wellcome Inc., 1996). BDP has been reported to be 87% bound to plasma protein (9), but no data are available for 17-BMP.

C. Oral Bioavailability

Inhaled corticosteroids are intended to provide localized therapy with immediate drug activity at the site of delivery in the lungs. However, it is well known that the greater part of an inhaled dose is swallowed and therefore available for undesired oral absorption, resulting in unwanted systemic effects. Hence, an ideal inhaled corticosteroid should have minimum oral bioavailability. This goal has been achieved in the case of FP, which has an oral bioavailability of less than 1% (10). The absorbed fraction of the other inhaled corticosteroids after oral intake is greater: 6-11% for BUD (8,11), 7-20% for FLU (12,13), 23\% for TAA (14), and 15-20% for BDP (15). No data are available for 17-BMP in humans, but a 72% oral bioavailability has been reported in rats (16).

D. Pulmonary Bioavailability

In general, corticosteroids are absorbed well from the lungs. Indeed, it can be assumed that all drug available at the receptor site in the lungs will be absorbed. Corticosteroids administered by inhalation can therefore be detected in the blood, although the blood corticosteroid concentration represents the sum of pulmonary and orally absorbed fractions. For this reason it is difficult to separately assess the pulmonary bioavailability of those inhaled corticosteroids that also undergo significant oral absorption. Oral absorption of FP is negligible, and hence its pulmonary bioavailability can be calculated with greater confidence. Indeed the pulmonary bioavailability can be calculated to range between 10 and 30% for FP, depending on the inhalation device (17,18). The overall systemic availabilities after inhalation in healthy subjects are reported to be 22-25% for TAA (14,19) delivered via a metered dose inhaler (MDI), 26% via MDI and 38% via Turbuhaler for BUD (20), 39% via MDI for FLU (21), 26% via MDI and 12-17% via the dry powder inhalers for FP (17), and 25% via MDI for BDP (3). With the global phasing out of chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) propellant-based MDIs, hydrofluoroalkane-134a (HFA)-based formulations have been recently developed for corticosteroids. For FP, it has been reported that lung deposition is similar with the HFA and the CFC formulations, whereas for BDP, the HFA-based product QvarTM is reported to provide a significantly higher respirable fraction (60%) compared to the CFC-based MDI (22,23). The use of integrated spacer devices such as in the Azmacort® formulation for TAA has been shown to provide respirable fractions exceeding 60% (24). Recently, the deposition of FLU has been reported to be significantly improved (39% respirable fraction compared to 10% with conventional MDIs) with the use of a novel, mechanically driven, liquid droplet inhaler device RESPIMAT (25).

E. Systemic Clearance

One of the most important properties of inhaled corticosteroids is their clearance after absorption, which minimizes the systemic side effects. In theory, the faster the systemic clearance, the higher the therapeutic index (1). All of the currently used inhaled corticosteroids show rapid systemic clearance that is of similar magnitude: 84 L/h for BUD (8), 69 L/h for FP (26), 58 L/h for FLU (12), and 37 L/h for TAA (14). Budesonide is a 1:1 mixture of the epimers 22 S and 22 R, which are reported to have different clearance rates, 67 and 117 L/h, respectively (27). Nevertheless, these values are approximately the same as the rate of hepatic blood flow, which would be the maximum clearance rate possible for hepatically metabolized drugs. Indeed even with an increased hepatic extraction efficiency, this value could not be increased because the maximum clearance rate would be achieved when all of the drug supplied by liver blood flow was removed. In this scenario, these so-called high-extraction drugs are removed by the liver at a rate that is equivalent to liver blood flow. Only BDP has been reported to have a systemic clearance greater than hepatic blood flow (230 L/h), indicating extrahepatic metabolism (28). However, in this case the metabolic reaction does not result in the formation of an inactive metabolite and therefore termination of systemic activity, but in the formation of the extremely potent metabolite 17-BMP. The clearance rate of 17-BMP, assuming complete conversion after intravenous administration of BDP, is reported to be 54 L/h (29).

F. Volume of Distribution

The volume of distribution is a pharmacokinetic parameter that allows quantification of tissue distribution. The larger its value, the greater the amount of drug located inside the peripheral body compartments. However, a large volume of distribution does not necessarily indicate greater pharmacological activity in the peripheral body compartments because most of the drug is present in its pharmacologically inactive, bound form. The active, unbound drug concentration at steady state is independent of volume and depends only on clearance and degree of protein binding. Since there are different ways of calculating volume of distribution, comparison of literature values must be done with great care. The volume of distribution at steady state (Vd_{ss}) for FP was reported to be 318 L (26) quite in agreement with its high lipophilicity. Vd_{ss} was reported to be 183 L for BUD (20), 103 L for TAA (14) 96 L for FLU (7), and 84 L for 17-BMP (29). The epimers of BUD also exhibit significantly different distribution patterns with reported Vd_{area} (terminal phase apparent volume of distribution) values of 245 and 425L for the 22S and 22R epimers, respectively (27).

G. Elimination Half-life

The elimination half-life of any drug is a secondary pharmacokinetic parameter that is dependent on the rate of systemic clearance and the volume of distribution. The elimination half-life quantifies how rapidly the plasma concentration changes but does not indicate the magnitude of this concentration. As a result of its large volume of distribution, FP has the longest elimination half-life of 7–13 hours, as measured after intravenous administration (26,30,31). The elimination half-lives of BUD, TAA, and FLU are reported to be 2.8 (8), 2.0 (14), and 1.6 h (21,32), and those of BDP and 17-BMP after intravenous administration of BDP were recently reported to be 0.1-0.5 and 0.6-1.7 h (15,28,29), respectively. The epimers of BUD have identical elimination half-lives (2.7 h), even though they exhibit different distribution and clearance characteristics (27).

H. Terminal Half-life After Inhalation

The terminal half-life after inhalation can differ from the true elimination half-life after intravenous administration if absorption is slow and if it is the overall ratelimiting step ("flip-flop pharmacokinetics"). Hence a slower terminal elimination half-life after inhalation than after intravenous administration indicates slow absorption. This may be the case for TAA since the terminal half-life after inhalation of 3.6 hours was found to be longer than that after intravenous administration (2.0 h) (14). In the case of 17-BMP, the evidence is rather inconclusive. A 0.1-hour terminal half-life has been reported for BDP, whereas values ranging between 1.5 and 6.5 hours have been reported for 17-BMP (15,29,33). In a recent study with subjects receiving BDP by intravenous as well as by inhaled administration, the mean terminal half-life of 17-BMP after inhalation of BDP was found to be longer (2.7 h, range: 2.2-3.7) than after intravenous administration (1.7 h), indicating a possibility of slow absorption (29). For the other drugs, the terminal half-lives after intravenous and inhaled administrations have been found to be similar: 10-14 hours for FP (30,31,34), 3 hours for BUD (20), and 1.6 hour for FLU (32). In such cases, a parameter such as the mean absorption time is a better indicator of the absorption rate than the terminal half-life. Moreover, accurate determination of the terminal half-life depends on the sensitivity of measurement of blood drug concentrations. Thus, low levels of drug in the lung may remain undetected, resulting in apparently low residence and absorption times.

I. Pulmonary Residence Time

One of the predominant factors responsible for achieving pulmonary selectivity is the pulmonary residence time. Pulmonary residence time is determined by the release rate of the inhaled particle from an inhaled solid (powder) or an alternative delivery system such as liposomes, the absorption rate of dissolved drug across pulmonary membranes, and the mucociliary clearance, which removes drug particles from the upper portions of the lung (1). The absorption across membranes is a rapid process for lipophilic glucocorticoids, and hence the dissolution rate of a glucocorticoid powder is the main determinant for controlling the pulmonary residence time (2). One parameter that is useful in estimating the duration of pulmonary retention of inhaled steroids is the mean absorption time (MAT), which denotes the average time it takes for a molecule of the drug to get absorbed into the systemic circulation. The longer the MAT, the greater the pulmonary residence. The reported MATs (calculated as the difference between the mean residence times after inhaled and intravenous administrations) are 5-9 hours for FP (18,31,34), 2.9 hours for TAA (14), and 0.3–1.8 hour for BUD (20). No data are available for FLU, BDP, or 17-BMP. The prolonged pulmonary residence of FP as indicated by the relatively long mean absorption time is consistent with its very low aqueous solubility ($0.04 \ \mu g.mL^{-1}$) compared to other inhaled corticosteroids (28). As with Vd, residence time in the lung is not necessarily indicative of pharmacological activity, as the latter depends on whether or not the drug is in the unbound form. However, a long residence time in the lung most likely indicates a longer availability for topical release and hence activity.

Recent studies have shown that the formation of esters that act as a depot for the active corticosteroid in the lung may be an alternative mechanism for prolonging the pulmonary residence. For example, the formation of several fatty acid conjugates of BUD in the lung has been shown in vivo (35). This topic is addressed in more detail in this book in Chapter 21.

J. Accumulation

Accumulation is the term used to describe the increase in plasma drug concentration that may occur during multiple-dose administration until a steady state is reached. The accumulation time is a function of the terminal elimination half-life of the drug. As a general rule, it takes approximately four to five half-lives to reach steady state. In the case of FP, this is equivalent to about 2 days (31,34). Steady state is reached in about half a day in the case of BUD and TAA, within 8 hours for FLU, and in about a day for BDP and its metabolites (i.e., after the first dose) (36,37). The magnitude of the steady-state plasma concentration, however, is independent of the half-life and is only a function of systemic clearance. For instance, it will take longer to reach steady state for FP than for BUD. However, for equal amounts of drug absorbed, the resulting average steady-state concentrations will be quite similar. Because of the shorter half-life, BUD plasma concentrations will exhibit greater fluctuation.

K. Pharmacokinetics in Asthmatics

Most studies evaluating the clinical pharmacokinetics of inhaled steroids have been performed in healthy volunteers. Differences in drug exposure, especially lung deposition due to altered airway caliber, between asthmatics and healthy volunteers have been characterized primarily using dose titration studies involving asthma control as the primary outcome. Thus, pharmacokinetic information in the target group, patients with varying degree of respiratory disease, is scarce.

In a study with 13 patients with mild to moderate asthma (FEV₁ 50-80%predicted), 500 µg FP b.i.d. was inhaled from DiskhalerTM and DiskusTM dry powder devices, respectively. In both groups, comparable FP plasma concentration profiles were obtained after 4 weeks of treatment with no statistically significant differences between the devices, evaluated by comparison of Cmax and AUC values (38). However, AUC and C_{max} were lower in the asthmatic patients than in healthy subjects, probably due to impaired inhalation and deposition of the administered dose in the lung. Falcoz and coworkers reported a geometric mean for C_{max} and AUC during multiple dosing therapy from DiskhalerTM of 0.190 ng/mL and 1.124 ng/mL.h for healthy subjects, and of 0.120 ng/mL and 0.412 ng/mL.h for asthmatics, respectively, when normalized for a common dose of 500 µg FP b.i.d. (17,39). In a second study, including 10 patients with mild-to-moderate asthma dosed with 100 and 500 µg FP b.i.d. from DiskhalerTM over 4 weeks, FP plasma concentrations were also lower than in healthy subjects (39). Jusko and Harding investigated FP in 118 asthmatics (FEV₁ \ge 50% predicted) receiving either 250, 500, 750, or 1000 ug FP for 28 days, inhaled from pMDI (40). Plasma concentration time courses showed considerable variability, but the mean AUC was proportional to the administered dose.

In a 4-week study involving 33 mild asthmatics (FEV₁ \ge 65% predicted), the dose proportionality of three different doses of BUD (400, 800, and 1600 µg twice daily) inhaled via Turbuhaler[®] was evaluated (41). BUD was found to exhibit linear pharmacokinetics, both within and up to twice the maximum of the clinically recommended dose range. The dose-normalized AUC and C_{max} values obtained in the study were similar to those obtained in 24 healthy volunteers receiving 800 µg doses via Turbuhaler[®], suggesting that mild asthmatics have similar kinetics as in the healthy (41,42). These results are consistent with studies that have reported comparable lung deposition in asthmatics (50 < FEV₁: <92% predicted) as well as in healthy subjects after inhalation via the MDI and Turbuhaler formulations (20,43). In a study with six asthmatic children aged 10–13 years (FEV₁ \ge 75% predicted), the clearance of BUD (after adjustment in body surface areas) was found to be 50% higher than that found in adults (44).

The single and steady-state pharmacokinetics of BDP delivered via CFC and HFA pressurized metered dose inhalers was investigated in 43 steroid-naïve asthmatic patients (FEV₁ 60% predicted) over 14 days (37). No clinically meaningful difference was observed in total becomethasone pharmacokinetics (representing the sum of BDP, 17-BMP, becomethasone, and other metabolites) between single and multiple doses over 14 days.

Zaborny and coworkers investigated the pharmacokinetics of TAA in

moderately severe asthmatics and found it to be linear over a dose range of 400–1600 µg when inhaled via the Azmacort[®] MDI device (45). The reported AUC and C_{max} values were consistent with those obtained in another study involving 12 healthy volunteers receiving 2 mg via the Azmacort[®] inhaler (14,45). Steady-state pharmacokinetic data for TAA and FLU in asthmatics are not available in the literature.

III. PK/PD Modeling of Cortisol Suppression

A. Cortisol Suppression as a Surrogate Marker for Systemic Activity of Inhaled Steroids

Since inhaled steroids are absorbed into the systemic circulation after topical administration, they exert systemic effects. The most significant systemic adverse effects of inhaled steroids include growth suppression, reduction in bone density, and cataracts. Unfortunately, measures of these effects would need monitoring a large number of patients for a relatively long period of time (i.e., years). Endogenous cortisol suppression, although not shown to directly correlate with clinical effect, has been shown in a number of studies to be a reliable surrogate marker for estimating the systemic activity of inhaled steroids. The hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis is exquisitely sensitive to the presence of exogenous corticosteroids, is relatively easy to assess, and therefore has proven to be a convenient target for assessing the systemic activity of inhaled steroids.

There are a number of methods available for assessing adrenal function. They can be categorized into either basal hormone measurements or stimulation tests. Test procedures for basal cortisol release include measurements of morning cortisol plasma concentrations, integrated plasma cortisol concentrations (ICC), and urinary free cortisol excretion. Stimulation tests include the ACTH stimulation test, the CRH test, the insulin (tolerance) stress test, and the metyrapone test (46). Single measurements of morning cortisol are an insensitive method for the assessment of HPA activity due to the circadian rhythm of cortisol release and great intraindividual variations in cortisol levels during the phase of daily peak concentrations in the early morning. The more accurate and sensitive measurements of HPA axis function are the integrated cortisol levels (cortisol AUC) by multiple blood sampling at frequent intervals over up to 24 hours and the ACTH stimulation test (46,47).

Under clinical settings, the degree of endogenous cortisol suppression (CCS), when using the ICC method, is usually reported as the difference in the areas under the curve (calculated using the trapezoidal rule) between the placebo and the drug-treated groups over a 24-hour time period. This approach, however, is only a descriptive method and has no predictive value. In other words, extrapolations of systemic drug effect to other clinical situations would require informa-

tion from a large number of clinical studies because there are significant differences in cortisol suppression depending on the dose, inhaler device, patient population, duration, frequency, timing, route of administration, and relative potency of the administered corticosteroid. To address this issue, a PK/PD modeling approach that is both descriptive as well as predictive has been developed.

B. PK/PD Modeling Approach

Endogenous cortisol concentrations in plasma follow a circadian rhythm. Peak concentrations are reached in the morning between 6 and 10 a.m., through concentrations at night between 8 p.m. and 2 a.m. (48–50). Several PK/PD-modeling approaches have been launched to describe the daily rhythm in the plasma concentration time course of endogenous cortisol and its suppression after administration of exogenous corticosteroids (6,51–56). A clinically valuable, integrated, E_{max} -based PK/PD model has been developed to describe the cumulative suppression of endogenous cortisol release (CCS) caused by exogenous corticosteroids (57).

The model describes the daily cortisol release (R_c in concentration/time) at baseline situation with two straight lines. For the time between the maximum cortisol release (t_{max}) and the minimum cortisol release (t_{min}), R_c decreases in a linear fashion from the maximum release rate (R_{max} in amount/time) at time t_{max} to approximately 0 at time t_{min} :

$$R_{C} = \frac{R_{max}}{Vd^{Cort} \cdot (t_{max} - t_{min} - 24)} \cdot t - \frac{R_{max} \cdot t_{min}}{Vd^{Cort} \cdot (t_{max} - t_{min} - 24)}$$
(1)

where Vd^{Cort} is the volume of distribution of cortisol and t is the time after cortisol monitoring was initiated (t₀ = 8 a.m.).

For the time between t_{min} and t_{max} , R_C increases according to:

$$R_{\rm C} = \frac{R_{\rm max}}{\rm Vd^{\rm Cort} \cdot (t_{\rm max} - t_{\rm min})} \cdot t - \frac{R_{\rm max} \cdot t_{\rm min}}{\rm Vd^{\rm Cort} \cdot (t_{\rm max} - t_{\rm min})}$$
(2)

The resulting change in cortisol plasma concentrations (C_{Cort}) at baseline situation is then described by Eq. (3), where k_e^{Cort} is the first-order elimination rate constant for cortisol.

$$\frac{dC_{Cort}}{dt} = R_{C} - k_{e}^{Cort} \cdot C_{Cort}$$
(3)

Based on Eq. (3), an indirect response model is then formulated to characterize the suppression of endogenous cortisol concentrations during exogenous corticosteroid therapy, thereby relating the corticosteroid concentrations to the effect on cortisol release according to:

$$\frac{\mathrm{dC}_{\mathrm{Cort}}}{\mathrm{dt}} = \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{C}} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\mathbf{E}_{\mathrm{max}} \cdot \mathbf{C}}{\mathrm{EC}_{50} + \mathrm{C}}\right) - \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{e}}^{\mathrm{Cort}} \cdot \mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{Cort}} \tag{4}$$

where E_{max} is the maximum suppressive effect, EC_{50} is the corticosteroid plasma concentration that produces half of E_{max} , and C is the unbound plasma concentration of the exogenous corticosteroid whose systemic disposition could be described using either a one-compartment (TAA) or two-compartment (FLU, BUD, and FP) body model with first-order absorption. Since the maximum possible effect is complete suppression of cortisol release, E_{max} is fixed at 1. The effect of exogenous corticosteroids on endogenous cortisol suppression is then quantified according to:

$$%CCS = \frac{AUC^{Base,24} - AUC^{Therapy,24}}{AUC^{Base,24}}$$
(5)

where %CCS is the difference between the areas under the curve between the placebo and the drug-treated groups, AUC^{Base,24} is the area under the cortisol plasma concentration time curve over a 24-hour interval for the placebo group and AUC^{Therapy,24} is the area under the curve over the same time period for the drug-treated group. A graphical representation of the calculation of %CCS after single and multiple dosing is shown in Figure 3.

C. Predictive Power of the PK/PD Model

It has been mathematically shown that the estimation of CCS with the trapezoidal rule as well as with the PK/PD model will theoretically result in the same values for %CCS, thereby allowing comparisons between %CCS values measured in clinical studies and those simulated using the PK/PD procedure (57). However, the PK/PD-based approach provides the advantage that it is not limited to clinically determined data, but allows predictions beyond the existing data set for other dosing regimens. The model has been used to simulate different clinical situations involving different drugs (FP, BUD, TAA, and FLU), doses, and devices (MDI, DPI, etc.) and has been shown to predict cumulative cortisol suppression reported in several published clinical studies with good accuracy (58). BDP was not included in the study due to lack of information on 17-BMP. Figure 4 shows the correlation between model-predicted CCS and measured CCS values for the four drugs after inhalation (r = 0.84). The predictions correlate fairly well with the measured data for all four drugs irrespective of the inhaler device or dose.

After single doses, CCS increased with increasing dose for all four corticosteroids. Equal administered amounts of the four drugs, however, produced different degrees of CCS according to their pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties in the order TAA < FLU < BUD < FP (59). The described model was able to adequately quantify the differences in cumulative suppressive effects when

258



Figure 3 Area (shaded) between the plasma concentration-time profiles of endogenous cortisol at baseline (---) and after exogenous corticosteroid administration (---) that corresponds to the amount of suppressed cortisol within 24 hours after (a) single dose given at 8 a.m. (\checkmark) and (b) steady-state b.i.d. doses given at 8 a.m. and 8 p.m.

inhaled via different inhalers. For example, the model-predicted values of 40% and 25% CCS after a single dose of 1 mg FP inhaled via MDI and DiskhalerTM, respectively, were consistent with the reported values (54,60,61). Similar differences between Turbuhaler and MDI were also accounted for by the model, but in



Figure 4 Correlation between cumulative cortisol suppression (CCS) measured in clinical studies and predicted by simulation of the respective situation for FP (\diamond), BUD (\square), FLU (\blacktriangle) and TAA (\times) with the PK/PD approach (r = 0.84). The dotted line describes the ideal situation, where measured and predicted CCS would be identical.

this case the suppression was slightly higher for Turbuhaler[®] after a single dose of BUD than for MDI (60,62–64).

Using simulations, it has been previously shown for FP and FLU that dose timing, especially for a single dose, is a pivotal influential factor that determines the extent of cortisol suppression (65). The approach was also extended for TAA and BUD for both single dose (i.e., the first dose of the treatment) as well as steady-state situations (i.e., twice-daily administration during steady state) in order to evaluate the diurnal variation in CCS. Figure 5 shows the relationship between administration time and CCS after inhalation of single doses of 500 and 1000 μ g of TAA, BUD, and FLU and 250 and 500 μ g of FP. A circadian pattern in CCS was observed with maximum CCS when the drugs were administered in the early morning around 3–4 a.m. and minimum CCS when administered in the afternoon hours between 4 and 7 p.m. This pattern is a result of the temporal arrangement of the systemic drug activity in relation to endogenous cortisol release. On the one hand, CCS reaches its maximum if the time of maximum cortisol



Figure 5 Relationship between daily administration time and cumulative cortisol suppression (CCS%) compared with baseline within 24 hours after inhalation of single doses of 500 μ g (gray) and 1000 μ g (black) of TAA, FLU, and BUD and 250 μ g (gray) and 500 μ g (black) of FP.

release in the early morning falls within the period of high systemic activity. Conversely, CCS is minimized if the period of high systemic activity is located around the time of minimum cortisol release in the late evening, several hours before the release maximum. Because the period of systemic activity is modulated by the

corticosteroid's terminal half-life, it is shorter for corticosteroids with shorter terminal half-lives, such as FLU (1.6 h), BUD (3.0 h), and TAA (3.6 h), and longer for long terminal half-life drugs such as FP (11.7 h). Hence, in order to minimize systemic activity during the period of increased endogenous cortisol release (i.e., in the early morning), the optimum administration time was slightly shifted from late afternoon around 7 p.m. for FLU to early afternoon at 4 p.m. for FP. Despite exhibiting similar diurnal rhythms, the degree of fluctuation of CCS, however, was much less pronounced for FP compared to the other drugs. This is readily observed in Figure 6, which relates the administration time with CCS after administration of equipotent doses of FP, FLU, TAA, and BUD, determined by calculating the dose delivered from an MDI, using literature values of overall systemic bioavailability, that caused 25% CCS when administered at 8 a.m. CCS caused by a single dose of BUD or FLU is minimized twofold or more if administered at 8 p.m. instead of 8 a.m., whereas the change in CCS after a FP dose at 8 p.m. is relatively insignificant (approximately 10%) compared to the 8 a.m. dose. These observations might have a profound effect on the comparability of clinical studies regarding the systemic activity of these steroids. For example, inhalation of single doses of 500 µg FP and 1000 µg FLU causes similar CCS (26.3% vs. 26.6%) when administered at 8 a.m. However, when given at 8 p.m., CCS remains similar after



Figure 6 Relationship between administration time and cumulative cortisol suppression (CCS%) after inhalation of single doses of FP ($400 \mu g$), TAA ($1350 \mu g$), BUD ($1150 \mu g$), and FLU ($850 \mu g$) via their respective MDIs. These doses are equipotent when administered at 8 a.m. (black) but show significant differences in CCS when administered at 8 p.m. (gray).

the FP dose (23.7%) but is more than halved after the FLU dose (10.8%). Hence, without considering the administration time, one might conclude that the HPA suppression of both drugs at the given dose level is either equivalent or in a 2:1 ratio.

Since multiple rather than single dosing regimens are more commonly used for inhaled steroids, results derived at steady-state conditions are more clinically relevant than those obtained from single dose studies. A similar approach as for single dosing was used to assess the time dependency of CCS during multiple dosing at steady state with the dosing regimen following a circadian periodicity, i.e., doses and dosing times identical for each day (e.g., 500 µg given at 8 a.m. and at 8 p.m.). Simulations were performed for 500 and 1000 µg steady-state b.i.d. doses of BUD, TAA, and FLU and 250 and 500 µg doses for FP inhaled at various combinations of times (e.g., 8 a.m. and 8 p.m., 9 a.m. and 9 p.m., etc.). The results indicate that the systemic activity of inhaled steroids during multiple b.i.d. dosing is most likely not influenced by the times of administration (Fig. 7). However, for studies that evaluate CCS after the last dose of a multiple dosing regimen, this inference would no longer be valid. For example, given a multiple-dose study, different degrees of CCS may be observed for the same dose of the drug depending on whether the time of the last dose falls in the morning or in the evening. This in turn could lead to inconsistent conclusions similar to single dose studies discussed earlier. It has to be mentioned that the simulations in this study assume no diurnal variation of drug-specific PK/PD parameters and no changes with time.

Figure 8 shows the dose-response (%CCS) relationships for the four steroids when inhaled via their respective MDIs during a twice-daily steady-state regimen. It is interesting to note that in spite of the identical mechanism of action, the slopes of the respective dose-response curves are not identical for the four steroids. This is due to the fact that a dose-response curve integrates both the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of the investigated compound. Whereas the slopes of the concentration-response curves are identical for the four steroids, their pharmacokinetic parameters differ. This results in the observed differences in the slopes of their dose-response curves.

Since the therapeutic safety of inhaled steroids is predominantly governed by the magnitude of their systemic activity, the method also allows assessing the benefit-to-risk ratio of inhaled corticosteroids if additional data on efficacy are considered. Special attention must be given to the delivery devices whenever these dose-response relationships are evaluated. These predictive capabilities may be used to optimize dosing regimens as well as to compare different corticosteroids with regard to cumulative systemic activity without or with a reduced number of clinical trials.

The clinical relevance of subnormal HPA-axis function in asthmatics using inhaled corticosteroids is not clear. Moderate reduction of cortisol release merely reflects the physiological feedback inhibition, and therefore the normal response mechanism of the HPA axis towards corticosteroid exposure, rather than a clinically significant change in body functioning. Furthermore, due to the presence of



Figure 7 Relationship between daily administration times of a b.i.d. regimen and cumulative cortisol suppression compared with baseline during inhalation of steady-state doses of $500 \ \mu g$ (gray) and $1000 \ \mu g$ (black) of TAA, FLU, and BUD and $250 \ \mu g$ (gray) and $500 \ \mu g$ (black) of FP.



Figure 8 Dose-response (%CCS) relationships for FP ($-\bullet-$), TAA ($-\times-$), FLU ($-\bullet-$), and BUD ($-\bullet-$) during a steady-state twice-daily regimen, delivered via MDI. The dotted lines highlight the difference in the ED₅₀ values (dose administered every 12 hours that caused 50% CCS) between the drugs when delivered via their respective commercial MDI devices.

the exogenous steroid, total corticosteroid activity in the body may still remain within the physiological range. Thus, changes in HPA-axis function based on laboratory findings are not necessarily predictive of clinically significant events on skin, bone, eye, adrenal gland, growth, etc. and should rather be interpreted as markers for total systemic activity.

IV. Conclusions

A comparison of the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of inhaled corticosteroids currently used in medical practice clearly reveals significant differences between these compounds. Although all of these agents show rapid systemic clearance after absorption, there are differences in oral bioavailability and absorption rate after inhalation. Absorption rate is probably more relevant because it reflects pulmonary residence time after inhalation and therefore duration of availability in the lungs. Initial attempts at mathematical deconvolution to
estimate pulmonary residence time have resulted in significant differences between agents. Long residence times have been calculated for FP and TAA, but BUD and FLU appear to disappear rapidly. More studies are needed to evaluate the pulmonary residence of BDP and 17-BMP. These properties appear to be related to pulmonary solubility, which appears to be the rate-limiting step in pulmonary absorption. However, more detailed studies are needed to further elucidate the exact local events at the various pulmonary levels that follow inhaled corticosteroid administration.

There is little doubt that the use of inhaled corticosteroids has vastly improved the benefit-risk ratio for the preventive treatment of asthma. However, the trend toward the earlier use of inhaled corticosteroids, particularly in children, makes it even more important to critically appraise their potential for producing systemic adverse effects during long-term administration.

References

- Hochhaus G, Mollmann H, Derendorf H, Gonzalez-Rothi RJ. Pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic aspects of aerosol therapy using glucocorticoids as a model. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37:881–892.
- 2. Burton JA, Schanker LS. Absorption of corticosteroids from the rat lung. Steroids 1974; 23:617–624.
- Kelly HW. Establishing a therapeutic index for the inhaled corticosteroids: part I. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic comparison of the inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:S36–51.
- Wurthwein G, Rohdewald P. Activation of beclomethasone dipropionate by hydrolysis to beclomethasone-17-monopropionate. Biopharm Drug Dispos 1990; 11:381– 394.
- 5. Wuerthwein G, Rehder S, Rohdewald P. Lipophilicity and receptor affinity of glucocorticoids. Pharm Ztg Wiss 1992; 137:161–167.
- Rohatagi S, Hochhaus G, Mollmann H, Barth J, Galia E, Erdmann M, Sourgens H, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluation of triamcinolone acetonide after intravenous, oral, and inhaled administration. J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 35:1187–1193.
- Tomlinson RV, Runkel R, Chaplin MD, Bowen L, Kanagy J, Chu N. In vitro studies on the binding of cloprednol to human plasma proteins. J Steroid Biochem 1982; 16: 75–80.
- Ryrfeldt A, Andersson P, Edsbacker S, Tonnesson M, Davies D, Pauwels R. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of budesonide, a selective glucocorticoid. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 1982; 122:86–95.
- 9. Martin LE, Harrison C, Tanner RJ. Metabolism of beclomethasone dipropionate by animals and man. Postgrad Med J 1975; 51:11–20.
- Falcoz C, Mackie A, McDowall J, McRae J, Yogendran L, Ventresca G, Bye A. Oral bioavailability of fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 41:459P-460P.

- 11. Dahlstroem K, Edsbacker S, Kaellen A. Rectal pharmacokinetics of budesonide. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 49:293–298.
- Chaplin MD, Rooks Wd, Swenson EW, Cooper WC, Nerenberg C, Chu NI. Flunisolide metabolism and dynamics of a metabolite. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1980; 27: 402–413.
- Dickens GR, Wermeling DP, Matheny CJ, John W, Abramowitz W, Sista SM, Foster T, Choudhury S. Pharmacokinetics of flunisolide administered via metered dose inhaler with and without a spacer device and following oral administration. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000; 84:528–532.
- Derendorf H, Hochhaus G, Rohatagi S, Mollmann H, Barth J, Sourgens H, Erdmann M. Pharmacokinetics of triamcinolone acetonide after intravenous, oral, and inhaled administration. J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 35:302–305.
- 15. Falcoz C, Kirby S, Smith J, Olsson P, Ventresca G. Pharmacokinetics and systemic exposure of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:162s.
- 16. Chanoine F, Grenot C, Heidmann P, Junien JL. Pharmacokinetics of butixocort 21propionate, budesonide, and beclomethasone dipropionate in the rat after intratracheal, intravenous, and oral treatments. Drug Metab Dispos 1991; 19:546–553.
- Mackie A, Falcoz C, McDowall J, Moss J, Ventresca G, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate inhaled from diskhaler and diskus powder devices in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:540P–541P.
- Mollmann H, Wagner M, Meibohm B, Hochhaus G, Barth J, Stockmann R, Krieg M, Weisser H, Falcoz C, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluation of fluticasone propionate after inhaled administration. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 53:459–467.
- 19. Argenti D, Shah B, Heald D. A pharmacokinetic study to evaluate the absolute bioavailability of triamcinolone acetonide following inhalation administration. J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 39:695–702.
- 20. Thorsson L, Edsbacker S, Conradson TB. Lung deposition of budesonide from Turbuhaler is twice that from a pressurized metered-dose inhaler P-MDI. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1839–1844.
- Chaplin MD, Cooper WC, Segre EJ, Oren J, Jones RE, Nerenberg C. Correlation of flunisolide plasma levels to eosinopenic response in humans. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1980; 65:445–453.
- 22. Johnson M. Fluticasone propionate: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic implications of different aerosol delivery systems. Respir Drug Del 1998:61–70.
- 23. Leach CL. Improved delivery of inhaled steroids to the large and small airways. Respir Med 1998; 92 Suppl A:3–8.
- 24. Wilson AM, Lipworth BJ. 24 hour and fractionated profiles of adrenocortical activity in asthmatic patients receiving inhaled and intranasal corticosteroids. Thorax 1999; 54:20–26.
- 25. Newman SP, Brown J, Steed KP, Reader SJ, Kladders H. Lung deposition of fenoterol and flunisolide delivered using a novel device for inhaled medicines: comparison of RESPIMAT with conventional metered-dose inhalers with and without spacer devices. Chest 1998; 113:957–963.
- 26. Mackie AE, Ventresca GP, Fuller RW, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics of intravenous fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 41:539–542.

- 27. Ryrfeldt A, Edsbacker S, Pauwels R. Kinetics of the epimeric glucocorticoid budesonide. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1984; 35:525–530.
- Jenner WN, Kirkham DJ. Immunoassay of beclomethasone 17,21-diproprionate and metabolites. In: E Reid, J D Robinson, I Wilson. Bioanalysis of Drugs and Metabolites. New York: Plenum, 1988.
- 29. Agertoft L, Pedersen S, Harrison L. Lung deposition and basic pharmacokinetic parameters of beclomethasone dipropionate in asthmatic children after inhalation from a HFA-pMDI (Autohaler) and CFC-pMDI with spacer. Am Thoracic Soc, Stockholm (Poster) 1999.
- 30. Kaellen A, Thorsson L. The elimination rate of fluticasone propionate is not affected by route of administration. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 159:A118.
- Thorsson L, Dahlstroem K, Edsbacker S, Kaellen A, Paulson J, Wiren J. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:155–161.
- Mollmann H, Derendorf H, Barth J, Meibohm B, Wagner M, Krieg M, Weisser H, Knoller J, Mollmann A, Hochhaus G. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic evaluation of systemic effects of flunisolide after inhalation. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37:893– 903.
- Rohdewald P, Rehder S. Plasma levels of beclomethasone dipropionate and its 17monopropionate metabolite (17-BMP) following BDP inhalation. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:382s.
- 34. Krishnaswami S, Mollmann H, Hochhaus G, Wagner M, Stockmann R, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate after single and multiple inhalations, 14th Annual meeting of the American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists, New Orleans, 1999. Vol. Issue 4, #3167. Pharm Sci.
- 35. Thorsson L, Thunnisen F, Korn S. Formation of fatty acid conjugates of budesonide in human lung tissue in vivo [abstract]. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:A404.
- Argenti D, Shah B, Heald D. A study comparing the clinical pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and tolerability of triamcinolone acetonide HFA-134a metereddose inhaler and budesonide dry-powder inhaler following inhalation administration. J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 40:516–526.
- Harrison LI, Colice GL, Donnell D, Soria I, Dockhorn R. Adrenal effects and pharmacokinetics of CFC-free beclomethasone dipropionate: a 14-day dose-response study. J Pharm Pharmacol 1999; 51:263–269.
- Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Moss J, Horton J, Ventresca GP, Brown A, Field E, Harding S, Wire P, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate inhaled from the Diskhaler and Diskus after repeat doses in healthy subjects and asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:S505.
- Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Horton J, Brown A, Field E, Harding SM, Wire P, Ventresca GP. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate inhaled from the Diskhaler and Diskus powder devices in asthmatic patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:541P–542P.
- 40. Jusko W, Harding S. Pharmacokinetics and effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate on adrenal function in comparison with oral prednisone. Am Soc Clin Pharmacol Ther, San Diego, 1997.
- 41. Kaiser H, Aaronson D, Dockhorn R, Edsbacker S, Korenblat P, Kallen A. Dose-

proportional pharmacokinetics of budesonide inhaled via Turbuhaler. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 48:309–316.

- 42. Andersson P, Ryrfeldt A. Biotransformation of the topical glucocorticoids budesonide and beclomethasone 17 alpha,21-dipropionate in human liver and lung homogenate. J Pharm Pharmacol 1984; 36:763–765.
- 43. Thorsson L, Kenyon C, Newman SP, Borgstrom L. Lung deposition of budesonide in asthmatics: a comparison of different formulations. Int J Pharmaceut 1998; 168:119–127.
- 44. Pedersen S, Steffensen G, Ekman I, Tonnesson M, Borga O. Pharmacokinetics of budesonide in children with asthma. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1987; 31:579–582.
- 45. Zaborny BA, Lukacsko P, Barinov-Colligon I, Ziemniak JA. Inhaled corticosteroids in asthma: a dose-proportionality study with triamcinolone acetonide aerosol. J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 32:463–469.
- 46. Chrousos GP, Harris AG. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis suppression and inhaled corticosteroid therapy. 2. Review of the literature. Neuroimmunomodulation 1998; 5:288–308.
- 47. Chrousos GP, Harris AG. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis suppression and inhaled corticosteroid therapy. 1. General principles. Neuroimmunomodulation 1998; 5:277–287.
- Honour JW. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Respir Med 1994; 88 (suppl A): 9–13; discussion 13–15.
- 49. Sherman B, Wysham C, Pfohl B. Age-related changes in the circadian rhythm of plasma cortisol in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1985; 61:439–443.
- 50. Weitzman ED, Fukushima D, Nogeire C, Roffwarg H, Gallagher TF, Hellman L. Twenty-four hour pattern of the episodic secretion of cortisol in normal subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1971; 33:14–22.
- Chakraborty A, Krzyzanski W, Jusko WJ. Mathematical modeling of circadian cortisol concentrations using indirect response models: comparison of several methods. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1999; 27:23–43.
- Koopmans RP, Braat MC, Oosterhuis B, van Boxtel CJ. Time-dependent effects of dexamethasone administration on the suppression of plasma hydrocortisone, assessed with a pharmacokinetic model. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1992; 262:503–508.
- 53. Kong AN, Ludwig EA, Slaughter RL, DiStefano PM, DeMasi J, Middleton E, Jr., Jusko WJ. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic modeling of direct suppression effects of methylprednisolone on serum cortisol and blood histamine in human subjects. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1989; 46:616–628.
- Rohatagi S, Bye A, Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Meibohm B, Mollmann H, Derendorf H. Dynamic modeling of cortisol reduction after inhaled administration of fluticasone propionate. J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 36:938–941.
- 55. Rohatagi S, Tauber U, Richter K, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modeling of cortisol suppression after oral administration of fluocortolone. J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 36:311–314.
- 56. Rohatagi S, Bye A, Mackie A, Derendorf H. Mathematical modeling of cortisol circadian rhythm and cortisol suppression. Eur J Pharm Sci 1996; 4:341–350.
- 57. Meibohm B, Hochhaus G, Mollmann H, Barth J, Wagner M, Krieg M, Stockmann R,

Derendorf H. A pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic approach to predict the cumulative cortisol suppression of inhaled corticosteroids. J Pharmacokinet Biopharm 1999; 27:127–147.

- 58. Derendorf H, Hochhaus G, Krishnaswami S, Meibohm B, Mollmann H. Optimized therapeutic ratio of inhaled corticosteroids using retrometabolism. Pharmazie 2000; 55:223–227.
- 59. Lipworth BJ. Systemic adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159:941–955.
- 60. Corren J, Rachelefsky G, Hochhaus G. A five-way parallel randomized study to compare the safety profile of beclomethasone dipropionate, budesonide, flunisolide, fluticasone propionate, and triamcinolone acetonide in healthy male volunteers. Chest 1996; 110:83S.
- Grahnen A, Eckernas SA, Brundin RM, Ling-Andersson A. An assessment of the systemic activity of single doses of inhaled fluticasone propionate in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 38:521–525.
- Grahnen A, Brundin R, Ling-Andersson A, Lonnebo A, Eckernas S. Systemic potency of fluticasone propionate vs budesonide, from dry powder inhalers. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:164S.
- Lonnebo A, Grahnen A, Jansson B, Brundin RM, Ling-Andersson A, Eckernas SA. An assessment of the systemic effects of single and repeated doses of inhaled fluticasone propionate and inhaled budesonide in healthy volunteers. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 49:459–463.
- 64. Brus R. Effects of high-dose inhaled corticosteroids on plasma cortisol concentrations in healthy adults. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159:1903–1908.
- Meibohm B, Hochhaus G, Rohatagi S, Mollmann H, Barth J, Wagner M, Krieg M, Stockmann R, Derendorf H. Dependency of cortisol suppression on the administration time of inhaled corticosteroids [published erratum appears in J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37(11):1000]. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37:704–710.

Discussion

- Dr. Edsbäcker: Thank you for a nice and clear presentation. There are, however, a few remarks I want to make, based on your data: 1) First of all, you claim that fluticasone shows flip-flop kinetics after inhalation, based on data from different studies. However, all studies where the kinetics of inhaled and i.v. fluticasone have been compared in the same study suggest that systemic distribution rather than rate of uptake from the lungs is the rate limiting step in the elimination of inhaled drug (Thorsson L, Dahlström K, Edsbäcker S, Källen A, Paulson J, Wiren JE. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:155-61; Källèn A, Thorsson L. The elimination rate of fluticasone propionate is not governed by uptake rate from the airways. Eur Respir J 1999; 14 (suppl 30):197s). 2) Your cortisol suppression model predicts elegantly the suppression which can be expected after various steroid treatment regimens. However, most of these simulations were made following single doses, in spite of the fact that several of the more lipophilic steroids clearly accumulate at steady state, and by that would affect HPA more than after a single dose. 3) When you presented both your experimental as well as your modeling data on different steroids, the cortisol suppressive effect were compared using different doses: hence, half the dose of fluticasone was compared with a full dose of budesonide, flunisolide, and triamcinolone acetonide. What was the logic behind this?
- **Dr. Derendorf:** 1) The half-life of fluticasone propionate after inhalation has been reported in some studies to be longer than reported i.v. half-lives. However, in the studies you mentioned there was no difference in the terminal halflives. So, I am not sure if there really is flip-flop in this case or not. However, this is not really a critical issue. In any case, all studies have shown a long mean absorption time of fluticasone propionate after inhalation. This noncompartmental parameter (MAT) is a much more robust number and safer to interpret than the meaning of terminal half-lives. 2) We have applied our model to a number of single and multiple dose cases. It could be shown that the model was able to give reasonable predictions in either case. We have recently published an interactive spreadsheet that allows the user to enter the steroid, device, dose, and time of dosing to predict cortisol effects after both single and multiple dosing (AAPS Pharmsci. at http://www.pharmsci.org, 2(3), article 22, 2000). 3) The model allows one to calculate cortisol effects for any dose you want. The data I presented were from an experimental study where we compared half the dose of FP with the full dose of budesonide. Our studies with flunisolide and triamcinolone acetonide were performed on even higher doses. The doses for budesonide and fluticasone propionate were chosen based on clinical and laboratory findings that on a microgram-to-microgram basis. Fluticasone propionate is

approximately twice as potent as budesonide in the treatment of asthma (Barnes et al., Respir Med 1998; 92:95–104).

- **Dr. O'Byrne:** Are the effects of inhaled glucocorticoids on adrenal suppression measured at steady state at 5 days the same when measured at steady state at 6 months or less?
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Unfortunately, detailed long-term studies that have looked at 24-hour serum cortisol after 6 months of treatment are not available.
- **Dr. Seale:** There is a threefold difference in the percentage of unbound drug between the steroids, which you have discussed. How important is the free drug concentration in terms of systemic effects of these different steroids?
- **Dr. Derendorf:** For inhaled corticosteroids these differences are important since they directly translate into the resulting unbound concentrations. The more protein binding, the lower the unbound concentrations. Clearance is not affected by protein binding since inhaled corticosteroids represent flow-limited high extraction drugs.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** There seems to be a discrepancy between the rapid appearance of BUD in the blood in the pharmacokinetic studies and the lung retention data presented by Dr. Edsbäcker. How do you explain that? Is it because the fraction which is retained in the lung is so low that it is not detected by the pharmacokinetic method?
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Our calculations have shown that the largest part of the absorbed budesonide dose enters the bloodstream very quickly. We cannot exclude that a very small fraction of the dose is retained in the lung for a longer time, but we also do not have any evidence from our data that this is the case.

Extrapulmonary Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids

JUDAH A. DENBURG, MARK D. INMAN, ROMA SEHMI, and PAUL M. O'BYRNE

LORNA J. WOOD

Boehringer-Ingelheim Canada Ltd. Burlington, Ontario, Canada

McMaster University and St. Joseph's Hospital Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

GAIL M. GAUVREAU

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Baltimore, Maryland

I. Introduction

While inhaled corticosteroids (IS) have been developed and designed in order to minimize or eliminate systemic effects, this has not to date been fully achievable. As outlined in several chapters in this volume, IS, even those with the lowest systemic bioavailability, still exert effects outside of the airways. Recent understanding of the process of allergic inflammation in the airways has generated the notion that upper and lower airway allergic disease, such as rhinitis and asthma, are expressions of a systemic inflammatory process. Given this, some of the systemic actions of IS may in fact be desirable and beneficial, especially if these target systemic processes involved in the development of rhinitis and asthma. This chapter will highlight the evidence that asthma is part of a systemic disease process and review the evidence for the extrapulmonary beneficial effects of IS in this process.

II. Evidence for a Systemic Allergic Airways Inflammatory Disease

Rhinitis and asthma are linked closely epidemiologically, as has been known for quite some time and emphasized in recent surveys (ISAAC study) (1). Patients with seasonal allergic rhinitis without asthma symptoms can, as a group, be shown to have increased bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR) (2-5). During the course of seasonal allergen exposure, patients with allergic rhinitis can be shown to have increased numbers of inflammatory cells (eosinophils and mast cells) in the lower airways, even without symptoms of lower airway disease (6,7). Longstanding observations from our laboratory have indicated fluctuations of eosinophil/basophil (Eo/B) progenitors in the peripheral blood in patients with seasonal allergic rhinitis (8,9), parallelling changes that are recognized in mature eosinophils and basophils in circulation. The finding of Eo/B progenitor decreases during the height of seasonal allergen exposure led us to hypothesize the concept of "in situ hemopoiesis" to explain a process of systemic activation of hemopoietic mechanisms, in which communication among bone marrow peripheral blood and airway tissue compartments contributed to the allergic inflammatory process at a systemic level (10-12). Indeed, allergen challenge to the lower airways in atopic asthmatics elicits an immediate rise in Eo/B progenitors, especially in subjects with late phase responses (13,14). These original observations have been buttressed by a series of investigations demonstrating conclusively that: exacerbations of asthma are attended by increases in peripheral blood Eo/B progenitors (14); allergen challenge to dogs or mice with allergic airways inflammation elicits bone marrow progenitor responses (15-17), with trafficking of bone marrow cells to the airway either in pure upper or lower airway disease (18); and allergen challenge to atopic asthmatics upregulates the high affinity receptor for IL-5 on bone marrow progenitors (IL-5R α) (19), beginning a process of eosinophil differentiation that is likely driven by the release of a serum hemopoietic factor-as we have found in the canine model (16)—which acts on the bone marrow and initiates a series of systemic events. It is these events that IS may target in a beneficial manner in asthma.

III. Effects of IS In Vivo on Progenitors in Asthma and Rhinitis

There are several animal and human studies now indicating that IS may exert extrapulmonary effects on hemopoietic mechanisms initiated in the bone marrow, which contribute to disease pathogenesis. First, controlled, stepwise withdrawal of IS in asthmatic subjects, sufficient to provoke a mild exacerbation, leads to an immediate rise in Eo/B progenitors in the peripheral blood (14,20); this rise can be suppressed with progenitor levels restored to normal in circulation by reintroduction of IS at therapeutic doses that treat the exacerbation (14,20). IS given to patients with chronic cough and eosinophilic bronchitis likewise suppress the ambiently elevated levels of Eo/B progenitors in blood, in parallel with a beneficial effect on the cough symptom (21). Second, in canine studies that utilize an Ascaris suum-induced bronchial hyperresponsiveness as a model of allergic airways inflammation and asthma, IS in doses sufficient to achieve remission of airways inflammation and physiological changes suppress the allergen-induced upregulation of bone marrow myeloid progenitors (15); this is seen in conjunction with suppression in vitro of a serum hemopoietic activity released after allergen inhalation (16) and at doses of IS that can be shown to achieve plasma and bone marrow levels of corticosteroid at concentrations expected to exert effects on inflammatory cells and their progenitors (M. Inman et al., unpublished) (Table 1).

In this latter model, studies of the effects of serum containing hemopoietic activity have revealed a synergy between upregulation of the marrow and the increased release of hemopoietins into circulation (M. Inman et al., unpublished), both of which are targeted by IS. Intravenous administration of corticosteroids to achieve the same levels in blood and marrow that are achieved with IS can be shown to suppress both the systemic (progenitor) and tissue (airways) response (M. Inman et al., unpublished). Similar studies by Toogood et al. (22) comparing oral corticosteroids to IS have concluded that the topical route is the one that optimally controls symptoms; however such studies, done with several corticosteroid preparations (22,23), have not measured systemic inflammatory responses such as bone marrow or peripheral blood progenitors.

Other in vivo studies we have recently completed may shed further light on the effects of IS on a systemic, bone marrow-related process in asthma and

Suppress Eo/B progenitor rise in asthma exacerbations
Suppress Eo/B progenitors in eosinophilic bronchitis and chronic cough
Prevent allergen-induced increases in peripheral blood Eo/B progenitors in atopic asthmatics
Suppress GM-CSF localization in developing peripheral blood Eo/B progenitors
Prevent allergen-induced increases in canine bone marrow myeloid progenitors in a model of bronchial hyperresponsiveness
Suppress the systemic release of a serum hemopoietic activity acting on canine myeloid progenitors
Decrease baseline levels of bone marrow Eo/B progenitors and IL-5R α^+ cells in atopic asthmatics

 Table 1
 Effects of Inhaled Steroids on Progenitors In Vivo

Do not prevent (1 week treatment) the upregulation of IL-5R α^+ on bone marrow allergeninduced progenitors in atopic asthmatics

rhinitis. Allergen challenge in human atopic asthmatic subjects can be shown to upregulate IL-5R α on increased numbers of CD34⁺ pluripotent bone marrow progenitors within 24 hours (19,24); this is attended by an increased IL-5 sensitivity of Eo/B progenitors in the bone marrow in those who develop a dual response to allergen provocation (25). At the same time, Eo/B colony-forming units (CFU), a functional readout of a later stage progenitor than the CD34⁺ population, are also increased following allergen challenge (19). Both Eo/B-CFU and CD34⁺IL-5 R α ⁺ cell increases after allergen are not suppressed by pretreatment for a week with budesonide 400 µg bid (25); however, baseline levels of CD34⁺IL-3R α ⁺ as well as CD34⁺ and IL-5R α ⁺ cells are decreased on treatment with IS (25). Very recent observations have revealed, in consonant with our previous studies, that peripheral blood Eo/B-CFU fall on treatment with IS at these doses (Fig. 1) and that the cytokine profile induced in developing Eo/B-CFU is also suppressed by IS (G.M. Gauvreau et al., unpublished). These studies indicate that different com-



Figure 1 Effect of placebo or budesonide (200 μ g b.i.d. for 1 week) on allergen-induced Eo/B colony-forming cells. A significant (p < 0.05) suppression was observed after treatment with IS.

partments of the systemic hemopoietic response to airway allergen provocation respond differentially to IS. Whether this is a reflection of the dose of IS, length of therapy, or other properties of the cells and the different compartments remains to be examined. Nonetheless, these studies emphasize that IS do exert effects on even subtle molecular changes in eosinophil differentiation that are relevant to the development of asthma and rhinitis. We have recently also found that in a murine model of ovalbumin-induced airway inflammation, marked by increases in bone marrow eosinophil progenitors that parallel the development of airway physiological changes (17), IS exert suppressive effects on the hemopoietic response that are limited to a certain time period following allergen provocation (H. Shen et al., unpublished).

IV. The Effects of IS In Vitro and Ex Vivo on Hemopoietic Responses

Studies of the effects of corticosteroids ex vivo and in vitro on hemopoietic responses (Table 2) have revealed that certain progenitor populations are exquisitely sensitive to IS concentrations achieved systemically in vivo. For example, the myeloid progenitor cell line, HL-60, is inducible to Eo/B lineage differentiation (26); this can be suppressed by 10^{-7} - 10^{-8} M budesonide. Similarly at 10^{-7} - 10^{-9} M budesonide in vitro, peripheral blood Eo/B-CFU are decreased or abolished (27). However, in parallel with in vivo observations related to differential effects of IS on bone marrow and peripheral blood compartments, recent evidence we have obtained revealed an upregulation of IL-5-dependent Eo/B-CFU in vitro in the presence of budesonide at 10^{-7} - 10^{-8} M(28). Moreover, bone marrow obtained from atopic asthmatics, showing upregulation of CD34⁺IL-5R α ⁺ cells, exhibits increased sensitivity to IL-5 ex vivo when taken after treatment with budesonide rather than placebo (R. Sehmi et al., unpublished). These studies indicate: (1) that the bone marrow progenitor compartment responds differently from the peripheral blood compartment to IS; and (2) increased IL-5 responsiveness of bone marrow progenitors may require a more prolonged treatment with IS in vivo to be fully suppressed.

 Table 2
 Effects of Inhaled Steroids on Progenitors Ex Vivo and In Vitro

Suppress canine myeloid differentiation in vitro Suppress eosinophil differentiation of the myeloid cell line, HL-60 Suppress peripheral blood Eo/B progenitor differentiation in vitro Enhance IL-5-mediated bone marrow Eo/B progenitor differentiation in vitro

V. Mechanisms of IS Effects on Hemopoietic Processes

Recent studies by J. Tavernier et al. (unpublished) indicate that IL-5 itself, rather than IL-3 or GM-CSF, regulates the expression of its own high affinity receptor, IL-5R α , on differentiated eosinophils from cord blood CD34⁺ progenitors. We have demonstrated that IL-5 can upregulate IL-5R α on CD34⁺ cells themselves in 24-hour in vitro cultures (R. Sehmi et al., unpublished). It is not clear whether or how IS, given at doses aimed to achieve the physiological concentrations that can exert effects on progenitors, regulate IL-5R α on progenitors. It would be important to investigate this process more fully, since the extrapulmonary beneficial effects of IS may target this interaction, and this may be important in the long-term downregulation of the eosinophilic inflammatory response that appears to emanate, at least in part, from bone marrow–derived mechanisms.

Further, the question of mobilization of Eo/B progenitors from the marrow, their movement through the circulation, and arrival and presence in the tissue compartment needs to be more fully delineated in relation to the beneficial effects of IS systemically. We and others now have evidence that CD34⁺ progenitors reside in upper (29) and lower airways tissue, with IL-5R α upregulation on these cells in the bronchial mucosa (30); an inverse relationship between IL-5R α and FEV₁ has been demonstrated, suggesting that this is an important mechanism to be targeted by IS (30). Intranasal corticosteroids appear to upregulate the numbers of CD34⁺ cells in nasal polyps, implying a block in differentiation (29), but whether or not changes in IL-5R α occur on these cells after topical steroid treatment to the airway needs to be further studied both in the upper and lower compartments.

Finally, the cooperation between IL-5 and eotaxin in mobilizing bone marrow eosinophils and their progenitors into the circulation and in localizing eosinophil responses in the airways (31,32) needs to be examined further in relation to the effects of IS. It would be important to determine whether progenitors responsive to eotaxin bearing the receptor CCR3 specific for this chemokine are affected by IS systemically. Recent evidence we have obtained suggests the acquisition of CCR3 on bone marrow progenitors in kinetically relevant fashion after allergen provocation (33), indicating that this may also be a target for extrapulmonary effects of IS. Most likely, both IL-5–dependent and eotaxin-dependent mechanisms eliciting hemopoietic responses need to be targeted by IS in order to achieve remission of symptoms and long-term therapeutic benefits.

Finally, the question of chronic versus acute therapy with IS in relation to the extrapulmonary effects needs to be studied further. How much IS, and for how long, is required to fully suppress the upregulation of $CD34^+$ IL-5R α^+ cells in the bone marrow is a question that can be addressed in long-term studies. Data from our mouse model of eosinophilic airways inflammation indicate that there are prolonged effects of the initial eosinophilic response on airway physiology (unpub-

lished); presumably insufficient doses of IS, with chronic upregulation of IL-5Ra and CCR3 on bone marrow progenitors, would allow for continued eosinophil differentiation and ingress into tissues as both mature and immature cells, leading to further airway changes and possibly remodeling. It is conceivable, therefore, that newer generations of IS need to be reexamined for their systemic bioavailability and potency profiles, with the aim of achieving some beneficial extrapulmonary effects and not only tissue-specific anti-inflammatory effects. In vivo dose-response studies in which levels of steroid achieved in plasma and in tissue can be related to biological effects in vitro could be of help in future studies. More importantly, studies of the effects (if any) of "soft" steroids of varying metabolic action and stability on hemopoietic mechanisms need to be considered. It is quite possible that the combination of direct tissue (airways) effects and systemic (bone marrow) actions of inhaled corticosteroids is what is necessary to achieve the full clinical benefit of these medications. A corollary of this is that combination therapy of IS with cytokine or leukotriene antagonists may be more capable of exerting effects on hemopoietic processes than IS alone.

References

- 1. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee. Worldwide variation in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and atopic eczema: ISAAC. Lancet 1998; 351:1225–1232.
- Corren J, Adinoff AD, Buchmeier AD, Irvin CG. Nasal beclomethasone prevents the seasonal increase in bronchial responsiveness in patients with allergic rhinitis and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:250–256.
- Gutierrez V, Prieto L, Torres V, Morales C, Gonzalez E. Peak flow variability and sputum eosinophilia in allergic rhinitis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1998; 81:143– 150.
- Watson WT, Becker AB, Simons FE. Treatment of allergic rhinitis with intranasal corticosteroids in patients with mild asthma: effect on lower airway responsiveness. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993; 91:97–101.
- Di Lorenzo G, Mansueto P, Melluso M, Morici G, Norrito F, Esposito Pellitteri M, Di Salvo A, Colombo A, Candore G, Caruso C. Non-specific airway hyperresponsiveness in mono-sensitive Sicilian patients with allergic rhinitis. Its relationship to total serum IgE levels and blood eosinophils during and out of the pollen season. Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27:1052–1059.
- Rak S, Jacobson MR, Sudderick RM, Masuyama K, Juliusson S, Kay AB, Hamid Q, Lowhagen O, Durham SR. Influence of prolonged treatment with topical corticosteroid (fluticasone propionate) on early and late phase nasal responses and cellular infiltration in the nasal mucosa after allergen challenge. Clin Exp Allergy 1994; 24:930–939.
- 7. Ying S, Durham SR, Jacobson MR, Rak S, Masuyama K, Lowhagen O, Kay AB, Hamid QA. T lymphocytes and mast cells express messenger RNA for interleukin-4 in the nasal mucosa in allergen-induced rhinitis. Immunology 1994; 82:200–206.

- Otsuka H, Dolovich J, Befus AD, Telizyn S, Bienenstock J, Denburg JA. Basophilic cell progenitors, nasal metachromatic cells, and peripheral blood basophils in ragweed-allergic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986; 78:365–371.
- Otsuka H, Dolovich J, Befus AD, Bienenstock J, Denburg JA. Peripheral blood basophils, basophil progenitors, and nasal metachromatic cells in allergic rhinitis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986; 133:757–762.
- 10. Denburg JA. Bone marrow in atopy and asthma: hematopoietic mechanisms in allergic inflammation. Immunol Today 1999; 20:111–113.
- 11. Denburg JA. The origins of basophils and eosinophils in allergic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:S74–S76.
- 12. Denburg JA. Hemopoietic progenitors and cytokines in allergic inflammation. Allergy 1998; 53 (suppl 45):22–26.
- Gibson PG, Manning PJ, O'Byrne PM, Girgis-Gabardo A, Dolovich J, Denburg JA, Hargreave FE. Allergen-induced asthmatic responses: relationship between increases in airway responsiveness and increases in circulating eosinophils, basophils, and their progenitors. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143:331–335.
- Gibson PG, Dolovich J, Girgis-Gabardo A, Morris MM, Anderson M, Hargreave FE, Denburg JA. The inflammatory response in asthma exacerbation: changes in circulating eosinophils, basophils and their progenitors. Clin Exp Allergy 1990; 20:661– 668.
- Woolley MJ, Denburg JA, Ellis R, Dahlback M, O'Byrne PM. Allergen-induced changes in bone marrow progenitors and airway responsiveness in dogs and the effect of inhaled budesonide on these parameters. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1994; 11: 600–606.
- 16. Inman MD, Denburg JA, Ellis R, Dahlback M, O'Byrne PM. Allergen-induced increase in bone marrow progenitors in airway hyperresponsive dogs: regulation by a serum hemopoietic factor. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 15:305–311.
- 17. Inman MD, Ellis R, Wattie J, Denburg JA, O'Byrne PM. Allergen-induced increase in airway responsiveness, airway eosinophilia and bone-marrow eosinophil progenitors in mice. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 21:473–479.
- Wood LJ, Inman MD, Denburg JA, O'Byrne PM. Allergen challenge increases cell traffic between bone marrow and lung. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 18:759– 767.
- Sehmi R, Wood LJ, Watson R, Foley R, Hamid Q, O'Byrne PM, Denburg JA. Allergen-induced increases in IL-5 receptor α-subunit expression on bone marrowderived CD34⁺ cells from asthmatic subjects. A novel marker of progenitor cell commitment toward eosinophilic differentiation. J Clin Invest 1997; 100:2466–2475.
- Gibson PG, Wong BJ, Hepperle MJ, Kline PA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Guyatt G, Dolovich J, Denburg JA, Ramsdale EH, Hargreave FE. A research method to induce and examine a mild exacerbation of asthma by withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroid. Clin Exp Allergy 1992; 22:525–532.
- 21. Gibson PG, Dolovich J, Denburg J, Ramsdale EH, Hargreave FE. Chronic cough: eosinophilic bronchitis without asthma. Lancet 1989; I:1346–1348.
- 22. Toogood JH, Frankish CW, Jennings BH, Baskerville JC, Borga O, Lefcoe NM, Johansson S-A. A study of the mechanism of the antiasthmatic action of inhaled budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:872–880.

- 23. Lawrence M, Wolfe J, Webb DR, Chervinsky P, Kellerman D, Schaumberg JP, Shah T. Efficacy of inhaled fluticasone propionate in asthma: results from topical and not from systemic activity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:744–751.
- 24. Sehmi R, Howie K, Sutherland DR, Schragge W, O'Byrne PM, Denburg JA. Increased levels of CD34⁺ hemopoietic progenitor cells in atopic subjects. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 15:645–654.
- Wood LJ, Sehmi R, Gauvreau GM, Watson RM, Foley R, Denburg JA, O'Byrne PM. An inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, reduces baseline but not allergen-induced increases in bone marrow inflammatory cell progenitors in asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1457–1463.
- 26. Hutt-Taylor SR, Harnish D, Richardson M, Ishizaka T, Denburg JA. Sodium butyrate and a T lymphocyte cell line-derived differentiation factor induce basophilic differentiation of the human promyelocytic leukemia cell line HL-60. Blood 1988; 71: 209–215.
- 27. Linden M, Svensson C, Andersson M, Greiff L, Andersson E, Denburg JA, Persson CGA. Circulating eosinophil/basophil progenitors and nasal mucosal cytokines in seasonal allergic rhinitis. Allergy 1999; 54:212–219.
- 28. Dorman S, O'Byrne PM, Wood LJ, Watson RM, Wassi P, Foley R, Denburg JA. Glucocorticoid enhancement of IL-5-induced bone marrow eosinophil progenitor colony formation *in vitro* (abstr). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:S74.
- Kim YK, Uno M, Hamilos DL, Beck L, Bockner B, Schleimer R, Denburg JA. Immunolocalization of CD34 in nasal polyposis. Effect of topical corticosteroids. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 20:388–397.
- Robinson DS, Damia R, Zeibecoglou K, Molet S, North J, Yamada T, Barry KA, Hamid Q. CD34⁺/interleukin-5Rα messenger RNA⁺ cells in the bronchial mucosa in asthma: potential airway eosinophil progenitors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 20:9–13.
- Palframan RT, Collins PD, Williams TJ, Rankin SM. Eotaxin induces a rapid release of eosinophils and their progenitors from the bone marrow. Blood 1998; 91:2240 – 2248.
- 32. Collins PD, Marleau S, Griffiths-Johnson DA, Jose PJ, Williams TJ. Cooperation between interleukin-5 and the chemokine eotaxin to induce eosinophil accumulation in vivo. J Exp Med 1995; 182:1169–1174.
- Sehmi R, Howie K, Rerecich T, Watson RM, Foley R, O'Byrne PM, Denburg JA. Increased numbers of eosinophil progenitor cells (CD34⁺IL5Rα⁺) in the bone marrow of atopic asthmatic subjects (abstr). J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105:S172.

Discussion

- **Dr. O'Byrne:** Is the lack of efficacy of the soft (esterase-sensitive) steroids due to inability to reach the airway cell?
- **Dr. Denburg:** I would speculate that, in order to have a sustained effect on chronic eosinophilic inflammation, direct or indirect effects on the bone marrow are necessary. Soft steroids will lack these effects.
- **Dr. Busse:** To try to determine the effect of inhaled steroids on local (airway) versus systemic (circulating) cells, we evaluated IL-5 generation from airway cells after antigen challenge. Airway, but not circulating, cells had increased IL-5 generation. This response was blocked by inhaled steroids; there was no effect in circulating cells. Do you think that this represents differences of progenitor CD34 cells versus mature cells?
- **Dr. Denburg:** It is quite possible that differences between mature eosinophils and their progenitors exist with regard to IL-5 receptor regulation by IL-5. Tavernier has, however, also shown that IL-5 upregulates IL-5R on maturing eosinophils.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** It's worth noting that Minshall et al. have shown that airway exposure to allergen increases IL-5–expressing T cells in the bone marrow, suggesting that the communication between lung and bone marrow can occur via cells as well as mediators.
- **Dr. Hamid:** Do you think that the effect of inhibitory steroids is particularly due to its effect on local eosinophil differentiation for the proposed cell in the lung?
- **Dr. Denburg:** It is likely that an effect on progenitors in tissues also occurs. We have seen an increase in CD34⁺ cells in nasal polyps after intranasal steroids, implying a block in differentiation (Kim et al., Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1999; 20:388–397).

12

Factors Involved in the Pulmonary Targeting of Inhaled Glucocorticoids

The Use of Pharmacokinetic/Dynamic Simulations

GUNTHER HOCHHAUS, HARTMUT DERENDORF, and JAMES TALTON*

University of Florida Gainesville, Florida

HELMUT MÖLLMANN

University of Bochum and University Hospital Bergmannsheil Bochum, Germany

I. Introduction

Despite the development of new antiasthmatic drugs, inhaled glucocorticoids remain important in the therapy of asthma. Beclomethasone dipropionate, the prototype of the first generation of inhaled glucocorticoids, was successfully introduced without taking into consideration major targeting strategies. The second and third generations of inhaled glucocorticoids, with budesonide and fluticasone propionate as the main representatives, incorporated a number of rationale design features into the drug development process that significantly improved pulmonary selectivity (in the following, the term "pulmonary" is used synonymously for describing central and peripheral areas of the lung including the tracheobronchial region, unless stated otherwise). It is undisputed that further improvements in pulmonary selectivity of glucocorticoids will be difficult and will not occur in quantum leaps but in discrete steps. Therefore, if further improvements in pulmonary selectivity are to be realized, it is necessary to fully comprehend the requirements for pulmonary targeting, while at the same time, suitable methods to monitor the

^{*}Current affiliation: Nanosphere Inc., Alachua, Florida.

local and systemic effects are needed to assess these properties on a quantitative level.

II. Assessment of Pulmonary Selectivity

From a clinical pharmacologist's point of view it would be desirable to assess pulmonary selectivity of glucocorticoids in asthmatics by monitoring simultaneously both the pulmonary effects and systemic side effects. This assessment has been successful for β_2 -adrenergic drugs due to the availability of strong surrogate markers for systemic and pulmonary effects (1). However, such studies are more difficult for inhaled glucocorticoids. Although there are strong surrogate markers available for the quantification of systemic effects, such as the suppression of blood lymphocytes and plasma cortisol, descriptors of pulmonary effects are relatively weak, as indicated by the absence of dose-response relationships often observed in such studies. This combination of hard systemic markers and soft local markers makes clinical studies assessing pulmonary selectivity contingent on the design of the study. It will be of particular interest to note the results of more carefully designed clinical studies, such as the NHLBI Asthma Clinical Research Network Initiative, which uses optimized respiratory endpoints [e.g., effects on exercise-induced asthma (2)] in conjunction with controlled assessment of systemic effects.

A. Pharmacokinetic Models

Because of the above-mentioned challenges, several theoretical approaches have been considered to assess the significance of various drug properties on respiratory selectivity in early drug development. Independently, Byron and Gonda developed the first detailed pharmacokinetic models for the fate of an inhaled glucocorticoid in the lung (3-5). These simulations were based on the understanding that respiratory selectivity of an inhaled glucocorticoid will depend on respiratory pharmacokinetic drug properties. Gonda's and Byron's pioneering work focussed attention on the desired properties of optimized delivery forms. In particular, Gonda stressed the importance of pulmonary pharmacokinetics on the "duration of effective drug levels" and the toxicological potential of accumulation of slowrelease drug delivery systems. While both models were able to simulate and predict the pharmacodynamically relevant drug levels in the central and peripheral parts of the lung, they were not suitable to describe the degree of pulmonary targeting as they were lacking the systemic component of drug action.

Building on Byron's and Gonda's work by incorporating pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic relationships, as well as a descriptor of systemic side effects, new models of pulmonary targeting were developed that related the pharmacologically relevant descriptors of an inhaled glucocorticoid to its pulmonary selectivity (6). This was done by predicting the degree of receptor occupancies with time in the lung and the systemic circulation, using the difference between the two



Scheme 1 Diagram describing the PK/PD model used within simulations of pulmonary targeting.

curves as the marker for pulmonary targeting. The model (Scheme 1) considered pulmonary related factors such as the efficiency of pulmonary drug deposition, mucociliary transport rate in the central regions of the lung, pulmonary drug release and absorption rates, and the interaction of the steroid with pulmonary receptors. The factors responsible for the degree of the systemic effects (as expressed in the degree of occupancy of systemic receptors) include the amount of swallowed drug, oral bioavailability, the systemic drug levels available from pulmonary absorption, systemic clearance, protein binding, volume of distribution, and receptor affinity (Scheme 1; Table 1). Currently, such models are unable to predict actual pulmonary selectivity of clinically relevant inhaled glucocorticoid because some lung-related parameters such as local tissue binding and drug concentration gradients are unknown. However, current models have been very helpful in as-

Pulmonary components	Systemic components
Pulmonary deposition efficiency	Oral bioavailability
Location of pulmonary deposition	Clearance
Pulmonary residence time	Volume of distribution
(dissolution rate and other factors)	
Pulmonary absorption rate	Plasma protein binding
Lung tissue binding	Tissue binding
Pulmonary pharmacodynamic drug characteristics	Systemic pharmacodynamic drug characteristics

 Table 1
 Important Pulmonary Targeting Factors

sessing the relevance of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties on pulmonary targeting. These relevant factors (Table 1) will be discussed in the following sections based on the PK/PD model of Scheme 1 (simulations are presented for b.i.d. dosing at steady state).

B. Affinity to the Glucocorticoid Receptor

Other chapters in this book summarize recent progress in understanding the complex mode of action of inhaled glucocorticoids. A significant body of literature suggests that the receptor-binding affinity of a glucocorticoid correlates with its activity at the site of action. Good correlations between the receptor-binding affinity and the activity in tests systems not affected by pharmacokinetic properties have been found for a number of pharmacological parameters. These include topical anti-inflammatory properties (7-9), activity in skin blanching (10), and modulation of the activity of enzymatic systems in cell culture, such as tyrosine aminotransferase (11). Thus, the receptor-binding affinity of glucocorticoids and the degree of receptor occupancy has been used as a predictor for its pharmacological activity at the site of action (12). Glucocorticoids are highly conserved in the body, and local antiasthmatic effects and unwanted side effects are mediated through the same receptor (13). Despite this observation, a high receptor affinity was previously seen beneficial for improved selectivity of inhaled glucocorticoids (13). More recent models show that differences in receptor affinity can be overcome by selecting the appropriate dose (6). This is shown in Figure 1a and b. where identical pulmonary and systemic receptor occupancies are observed when a drug with a three times lower receptor affinity is given at three times the dose. This suggests that the receptor affinity is not important for determining the pulmonary selectivity as long as the necessary dose can be inhaled. Hence, pharmacokinetic properties are more important than the pharmacodynamic potency for achieving pulmonary selectivity (6). This bold statement might have to be revisited if the reported dissociation between the activity for specific genomic and



Figure 1 Effect of receptor affinity on pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies. Simulations are shown for the situation that receptor affinities are identical for lung and systemic organs. (a and b) Differences in receptor binding affinity can be overcome by adjusting the dose. There are no differences in selectivity between situations a and b. (c and d) In the case that systemic side effects are mediated via less sensitive mechanisms (d), pulmonary selectivity can be achieved on the pharmacodynamic level (compare c and d).

nongenomic effects [transactivation and AP-1 transrepression (14)] leads to the development of new glucocorticoids with increased effect/risk ratio. In this case, respiratory selectivity may be improved by identifying glucocorticoids with a higher intrinsic activity towards desired antiasthmatic pathways but low activity for nonasthmatic systemic side effects (Fig. 1c and d), although the development of such drugs will be challenging.

C. Oral Bioavailability

The systemic load of an inhaled formulation is related to the combined effect of the drug absorbed via the pulmonary and the oral routes. Considering the high degree of orally impacted and swallowed drug (commonly >70% of the dose), a significant amount of the delivered dose is available for oral absorption. Ultimately, this portion of the drug, if entering the systemic circulation, will reduce



Figure 2 Effect of oral bioavailability on pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies. Simulations are shown for 100, 30, 10, and 1% oral bioavailability.

the pulmonary selectivity due to the related systemic effects. Thus, an optimal drug candidate should show the lowest possible oral bioavailability (Fig. 2). It should be stressed that, even in this case, systemic effects will still be observed (Fig. 2) because drug absorbed from the lung will also induce systemic side effects. Although this is rather obvious, publications and marketing departments often improperly relate "zero" oral bioavailability to "zero" systemic side effects. While hepatic clearance values of most inhaled glucocorticoids are close to the liver blood flow, oral bioavailabilities of most commercially available glucocorticoids are low. Fluticasone propionate (15,16) shows the lowest oral bioavailability (<1%), not only because of its high intrinsic clearance, but also due to poor absorption from the gastrointestinal tract (15,16). Bioavailabilities of approximately 1% have also been reported for the newer glucocorticoids mometasone furoate and loteprednol etabonate (17) while higher values have been reported for budesonide [6-11% (18)], flunisolide [7-20% (19,20)], and triamcinolone acetonide [23% (21)]. The only major exception with substantial oral bioavailability is beclomethasone dipropionate, whose active metabolite beclomethasone monopropionate shows oral bioavailabilities of 70% in rats (22). Within this context, it has



Figure 3 Effect of pulmonary deposition efficiency on pulmonary selectivity (difference between cumulative pulmonary and systemic receptor occupancies). Simulations are shown for 30, 10, and 1% pulmonary deposition for a drug with 30% oral bioavailability F (a) and 0% oral bioavailability F (b). Note that the dose reaching the lung was set to be the same in all cases.

been stated that oral bioavailabilities of 25% or less should not induce clinically relevant systemic side effects, as long as the pulmonary deposition is large (23). Under these conditions the amount of drug reaching the systemic circulation through oral absorption is relatively small compared to the fraction of drug reaching the systemic circulation through pulmonary absorption. New drugs in development, however, will have to meet the requirement of close to zero oral bioavailabilities in order to be competitive in the market.

D. Delivery Systems, Deposition Ratio, and Regional Lung Deposition

The delivery device determines not only how much drug and in what region of the lung (central or peripheral) it is deposited, but also the amount available for absorption in the gastrointestinal tract. While for a long time the pulmonary deposition efficiency of metered-dose and dry-powder inhalers were in the range of 10-30%, newer devices have shown improvements in pulmonary deposition up to 40% (24–30).

From a drug-targeting point of view, high pulmonary deposition is important for a drug with high oral bioavailability because the amount of drug entering the systemic circulation through oral absorption will be responsible for distinct systemic side effects (Fig. 3). In contrast, the pulmonary selectivity of a drug with low oral bioavailability will not be significantly affected by the pulmonary deposition efficiency of the device because the orally deposited drug will not be absorbed. Thus, pulmonary selectivity is mainly independent of the pulmonary deposition efficiency. In this case, however, increased pulmonary deposition will allow a dose reduction and a potential cost-saving.

The possibility of targeting central and alveolar lung regions has increased the potential to further improve targeting by delivering the drug to relevant regions of the airway. However, future studies need to focus on the geographical aspects of glucocorticoid lung effects in order to identify the regions important for glucocorticoid asthma therapy.

As stated previously, pulmonary deposition efficiency is not crucial for local targeting of drugs with close to zero oral bioavailabilities. However, further improved deposition efficiencies of new inhalation devices are needed for the pulmonary delivery of highly active drugs for systemic use. The use of such devices for glucocorticoid inhalation therapy might decrease the high variability of deposition generally observed for glucocorticoids with the older devices.

E. Systemic Pharmacokinetic Parameters

Once a glucocorticoid molecule reaches the systemic circulation, through absorption via either the lung or the GI tract, it is able to induce systemic side effects through interaction with the systemic glucocorticoid receptors. The systemic pharmacokinetic parameters potentially affecting pulmonary selectivity are clearance, volume of distribution, and fraction unbound in plasma (f_u) and fraction unbound in tissue (f_{uT}).

Clearance

Clearance determines the overall systemic elimination rate or cumulative drug concentration with time in the body and, most notably, regulates the systemic drug exposure (AUC). Figure 4 depicts the relationships between clearance and the degree of pulmonary targeting (see also Fig. 7a). Not surprisingly, these simulations reveal that an increase in systemic clearance enhances the pulmonary selectivity, thereby supporting the statements that inhaled glucocorticoids possess the highest clearance possible (13). Budesonide, fluticasone propionate, and other inhaled glucocorticoids are highly metabolized in the liver. The clearance of such high extraction drugs is independent of the plasma protein binding and close to the liver blood flow. Therefore, further efforts to develop new steroids with increased intrinsic hepatic clearance is unnecessary, as such steroids will not be cleared more efficiently. PK/PD simulations support the development of new drugs with extrahepatic elimination (22,31). In this case, the challenge for such developments is to identify enzymatic systems that rapidly inactivate the drug in blood but not in the lung. Figure 5 simulates this situation by describing scenarios in which three glucocorticoids differ in their lung stability. While drug A, the steroid with the highest lung stability and distinct systemic clearance of 300 L/h, shows distinct targeting, targeting gets lost for drugs with the same high systemic clearance but



Figure 4 Effect of systemic clearance on pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies. Simulations are shown for clearance values of 10, 30, 90, and 300 L/h.

decreased lung stability (drugs B and C, lung half-life of 1 or 0.1 h). Thus, glucocorticoid soft drugs with a high extrahepatic clearance in the blood need to be stable in the lung tissue. So far the identification of enzyme systems in the blood that are not in the lung has been a challenge. A new glucocorticoid lactone, metabolized by the serum enzyme paraoxonase, appeared to meet this requirement of high pulmonary stability (32) in in vitro studies, but also failed in clinical studies.

Volume of Distribution/Distribution Processes

The second parameter determining the half-life of a drug is the volume of distribution. The volume of distribution (V_d) is the parameter indicating the extent of tissue distribution. For lipophilic drugs, which are able to enter most of the tissue compartments (with a volume of the tissues being defined as V_T), the volume of distribution V_d is determined by the drug's plasma protein (f_u) and tissue binding (f_{uT}) by the equation:

$$V_{d} = V_{p} + V_{T} \cdot \frac{f_{u}}{f_{uT}}$$



Figure 5 Effect of pulmonary metabolism on pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies. Simulations are shown for a systemic clearance of 300 L/h. Pulmonary stability differs in simulation a-c. The bar graph in d summarizes the results.

where V_p is the volume of plasma. Thus, a drug that shows a stronger tissue binding than plasma protein binding will have a larger volume of distribution.

Current inhaled glucocorticoids exhibit pronounced plasma protein binding [budesonide 88% (18), fluticasone propionate 90–99% (33,34), flunisolide 80% (35), and triamcinolone acetonide 71% (36)]. Using this information, the calculated overall fraction of free drug in the body can be calculated from the V_d . This parameter ranges for inhaled glucocorticoids from 12% for triamcinolone acetonide to 1.3% for fluticasone propionate (assuming $f_u = 0.1$). This indicates that only a small fraction of the overall drug is available to interact with systemic and local receptor sites and that this fraction varies greatly among inhaled glucocorticoids.

It was of interest to evaluate the importance of the volume of distribution to lung selectivity. As in all simulations, data were simulated for the steady-state situation. If two drugs have the same clearance (high extraction drug, no effect of f_u on clearance) but differ in the V_d due to differences in tissue binding, plasma levels directly after dosing will be higher for the drug with the smaller V_d (less pronounced tissue binding; Fig. 6a, b). However, the half-life of the drug with the larger V_d will be longer, because most of the drug will be in the tissues and cannot be metabolized in the liver. Consequently, plasma levels at later time points



Figure 6 Effect of volume of distribution on pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies. Plasma concentration time profiles are shown for a volume of distribution of 200 L (a) and 500 L (b). Corresponding pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies are shown in c and d.

will be higher for the larger V_d drug (Fig. 6a, b). Assuming plasma levels are related to the systemic effects and that f_u is the same for the two hypothetical drugs, one can predict that the systemic effects of these two drugs will not differ significantly (Fig. 6c, d). This is because at early time points the drug with the larger V_d will show a lower degree of systemic effects sustained for a longer time period. However, it is the opposite for the drug with the lower V_d such that just after dosing systemic effects will more pronounced but disappear faster. Overall, though, pulmonary selectivity after inhalation will be similar for the two drugs, whose half-lives differ only because of differences in their V_d (Fig. 6c, d, assuming similar plasma protein binding). Figure 7 compares the differences between the effects of clearance and V_d on pulmonary selectivity. Figures 7a and 7b show simulations where the half-life of a drug was modulated by changing either clearance or V_d . These simulations show that a drug with a long half-life because of a large V_d is not necessarily a bad candidate for inhalation therapy, as long as the drug shows high systemic clearance.

The volume of distribution of a lipophilic drug is determined by its f_u/f_{uT} ratio. This means that two glucocorticoids that differ in their plasma protein



Figure 7 Effect of clearance and volume of distribution on pulmonary selectivity. Clearance and volume of distribution was changed to result in the same half-lives (a: CL = 90 L/h; b: $V_d = 500 L$).

binding can have the same volume of distribution if the f_u/f_{uT} ratio stays the same. Considering that only free, pharmacologically active, not total drug concentrations are relevant for drug effects, it was of interest to test in the second series of simulations, again for the steady-state situation, how lung selectivity changes when f_u and f_{uT} change to the same degree (f_u/f_{uT} and V_d stays constant). Figure 8 shows such simulations for two hypothetical high extraction drugs that have the same V_d, but differ in their plasma and tissue protein binding. It is obvious that the drug with the more pronounced plasma protein and tissue binding shows reduced local, as well as, systemic effects when administered at the same dose (Fig. 8a vs. d). However, the differences in binding can be overcome by adjusting the dose (Fig. 8a vs. c, b vs. d), suggesting no pulmonary selectivity advantage is achieved for drugs differing in overall plasma and tissue binding. It is, however, important to realize that drugs with high plasma protein and tissue binding will show decreased pulmonary and systemic effects. Considering the lack of strong pulmonary surrogate markers in clinical studies, clinical studies for these higher binding drugs might suggest high "safety" because of the lower systemic activity on a µg basis.

Recently, the pronounced binding of fluticasone propionate to lung tissue has been suggested to be beneficial for pulmonary selectivity (37). The above simulations have shown that increased tissue binding, however, does not necessarily increase lung selectivity. This is true because only free drug levels are pharmacodynamically relevant and only a slow release from binding components, such as cell membranes, or the slow activation from intracellular "prodrug" pools (see below) will increase pulmonary residence time and, consequently, lung selectivity (6). Nonspecific tissue binding, however, is characterized by a high-capacity, low-affinity binding phenomenon, where generally dissociation is very fast under



Figure 8 Effect of plasma and tissue binding on pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies. Simulations are shown for two hypothetical glucocorticoids given at certain doses twice a day at steady state. The drugs show the same clearance and volume of distribution, but differ in plasma and tissue binding (f_u/f_{uT} is constant). Note that doses differ in situation a versus b, and c versus d.

sink conditions and should not improve lung targeting, as it does not increase the pulmonary residence time.

Receptor, plasma protein, and tissue binding seem to correlate roughly with the lipophilicity of the drug. Since an increase in tissue or plasma protein binding decreases the fraction of drug able to interact with the receptors, an increase in receptor binding because of an increase in lipophilicity might be buffered pharmacologically by a decrease in free drug levels. The activity at the site of action (and also in the systemic circulation), observed for more lipophilic drugs, might actually be lower than the difference in receptor-binding affinity would suggest. This will have an effect on the actual dose necessary for inhalation therapy but will not have any effect on the pulmonary selectivity.

Using the volume of distribution as a parameter that describes the extent of tissue distribution, we assumed that only passive diffusion processes are present. There is, however, increased evidence that active transport mechanisms are involved in the specific tissue distribution of glucocorticoids. Sergeev and coworkers

identified membrane-binding components that appear to be involved in the uptake of corticosteroids into thymocytes. Glucocorticoids have also been shown to be substrates for the *p*-glycoprotein transporter (38,39), as increased penetration of dexamethasone to the brain has been observed in mdr1A P-glycoprotein knockout mice (39,40). These results suggest that dexamethasone is being pumped out of the blood-brain barrier endothelial cells of wild-type mice.

It is likely that such efflux pumps are responsible for the significantly lower brain receptor occupancies after pulmonary and i.v. administration of the inhaled glucocorticoids triamcinolone acetonide, budesonide, and fluticasone propionate (41-43). A better understanding of the glucocorticoid transport mechanism might lead to improved lung selectivity by identifying glucocorticoids with optimized lung versus systemic tissue distributions.

F. Inhaled Dose

The relationship between dose and pulmonary targeting is shown in Figure 9. Increasing the dose also increases the difference between pulmonary and systemic



Figure 9 Effect of dose on pulmonary selectivity. Pulmonary selectivities [areas between pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies] observed in a-c are summarized in d. Additional doses are also shown in d.

receptor occupancies until a maximum is reached. Further increases in the dose will result in more pronounced receptor occupancies in both lung and systemic tissues, but pulmonary selectivity is lost. These simulations (6) suggest that there is an optimal dose that shows a most pronounced pulmonary selectivity. Thus, patients who need high doses of inhaled glucocorticoids to control their asthma might not benefit from inhalation therapy because of a lack of targeting. Support for these theoretical considerations has been shown in previously reported rat experiments by our group (44). Different doses of liposomal encapsulated triamcinolone acetonide were administered, and the receptor occupancies in the lung and liver were monitored for the assessment of pulmonary selectivity. These results strongly resembled those shown in Figure 9, supporting the hypothesis that pulmonary selectivity is lost at high doses. The PK/PD model was also used to probe how pulmonary selectivity is affected by dose and dosing frequency in multiple dosing regimens. Figure 10 depicts a pulmonary selectivity pattern when the same daily dose of 400 μ g was given once (1 × 400 μ g), twice (2 × 200 μ g), and four times ($4 \times 100 \,\mu$ g). These simulations suggest that higher frequency dosing during



Figure 10 Effect of the dosing regimen at steady state on pulmonary selectivity. The daily dose of 400 μ g was given as one single dose (a), 200 μ g b.i.d. (b), or as 100 μ g q.i.d. (c). Pulmonary selectivities (areas between pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies) observed in a-c are summarized in d.

the day will significantly increase pulmonary selectivity. These results are in close agreement with those of Toogood, who detected clinically an increase in antiasthmatic efficacy when smaller doses were given more frequently (45). Since patient compliance is reduced with more frequent dosing regimens, an alternative strategy of improving pulmonary selectivity is the use of inhalation formulations with sustained release characteristics (see below).

G. Pulmonary Release and Absorption

A glucocorticoid inhaled as a liquid suspension or dry powder aerosol has to (1) come in contact with the inside surface of the airways, (2) dissolve into the fluid lining (suspension and dry powders only), (3) diffuse into the cells, and then (4) interact with the glucocorticoid receptor. Using the integrated PK/PD model of pulmonary targeting, it was of interest to investigate what effect biopharmaceutical factors such as the dissolution/release rate might have on pulmonary selectivity. These simulations assume that the dissolved drug is readily absorbed into the airway cells and no other interaction to pulmonary tissue would modulate the pulmonary residence time. Figure 11 shows a simulation for deposition only into the upper part of the lung, where the mucociliary transporter is able to remove solids from the lung. These simulations indicate that glucocorticoids that dissolve immediately (or are immediately released from the formulation or are given as a solution) do not show any pulmonary selectivity. When the dissolution/release rate is slowed, pulmonary and systemic receptor occupancies dissociate/separate and pulmonary selectivity increases. If the dissolution rate is too slow, therapeutically effective concentrations are not maintained and pulmonary targeting disappears. Thus, an optimal release rate (e.g., dissolution rate or release rate from a carrier) exists for which an optimal pulmonary targeting is observed (6). Very fast pulmonary release, such as that observed for a glucocorticoid in solution, does not result in any pulmonary targeting because the drug is immediately absorbed from the lung into the systemic circulation (46,47). As a result, the free drug levels in both the systemic circulation and the lung are identical. Delivery systems with a prolonged pulmonary release rate result in free pulmonary drug levels that are higher over an extended period of time than those in the systemic circulation, leading to pronounced lung selectivity. If the dissolution/release rate is too slow, therapeutically effective concentrations are not achieved and the mucociliary transporter of the upper respiratory tract may remove the solid drug before it is able to dissolve into the lung and induce pulmonary effects. This portion of the pulmonary-deposited dose can be absorbed orally to induce systemic side effects (assuming a certain oral bioavailability). Thus, theoretically, an optimal pulmonary dissolution or release rate exists for the upper respiratory tract (6), which ensures a prolonged pulmonary residence time. It will be of interest to see how newer liquid-aerosol drug-delivery devices will perform due to the fact that glucocorticoids in solution are absorbed so rapidly from the alveolar region of the lung.



Figure 11 Effect of the pulmonary dissolution rate on pulmonary selectivity. The dose of 300 μ g was allowed to dissolve immediately (a), with a half-life of 4 hours (b), or with a half-life of 24 hours (c). Pulmonary selectivities [areas between pulmonary (lower line) and systemic (upper line) receptor occupancies] observed in a-c are summarized in d. The dose was given twice a day at steady state.

Noncompartmental analysis of inhaled glucocorticoids after intravenous injection and inhalation resulted in relatively long pulmonary residence times for fluticasone propionate [5 h (48)] and triamcinolone acetonide [2.9 h (21)], while that of budesonide was relatively short [0.75-1.55 h (49)]. Interestingly, these absorption times in humans correlated roughly with pulmonary selectivities determined in a rat model (utilizing lung without tracheobronchial sections) (41–43), suggesting the importance of the lung pharmacokinetics for lung selectivity.

Overall, the following mechanisms might be employed to prolong pulmonary residence time:

- 1. Use of drug particles with slow dissolution rate (e.g., drug lipophilicity or crystal structure)
- 2. Slow release from drug delivery systems (e.g., liposomes or microspheres/microcapsules)
- 3. Initiation of a cellular interaction resulting in prolonged residence times in the airways/lung (e.g., ester-formation or "capturing" in membrane structures)

To illustrate the effect of different formulations of the same drug, an animal model (rat) showed that various biopharmaceutical forms of triamcinolone acetonide (TA) exhibited drastically differing levels of pulmonary targeting when delivered intratracheally. Pulmonary and systemic receptor occupancies after intratracheal administration of a TA solution, a micronized TA dry powder, and a TA crystal suspension used for the treatment of arthritis, all at the same dose, were assessed. The comparison showed that the degree of pulmonary targeting (difference between pulmonary and systemic receptor occupancy) for TA increases from solutions to micronized powders to crystal suspension, which is in agreement with its anticipated dissolution behavior. Hill and coworkers demonstrated that BDP given as a dry powder showed much slower absorption profiles than beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) given as MDI (29). This indicates that biopharmaceutical factors can affect the pulmonary fate of an inhaled drug. These examples indicate that the biopharmaceutical/formulation properties of inhaled glucocorticoids are important determinants of pulmonary selectivity (6).

Over the last 10 years, liposomal drug formulations have been investigated as an alternative way of controlling the pulmonary residence time of inhaled glucocorticoids (13,50). Different liposomal formulations of triamcinolone acetonide phosphate (TAP) showed that pulmonary targeting was directly related to the extended release rate of the formulation (44,50). Similarly, slow-release budesonidepalmitate liposomes were reported to increase selectivity in the peripheral region of the lung (13).

Alternative approaches for increasing pulmonary residence time, such as the use of novel excipient derived from oligomeric lactic acid (51), the use of nanofunctional drug coatings (52), or incorporation of drug into low-density microspheres (53,54), have been reported. As an example, ultra-thin coatings on budesonide powders resulted in a significant improvement of pulmonary selectivity (52). The implication of utilizing these various methods to improve pulmonary selectivity looks promising, but the therapeutic efficacy, as well as industrial scalability, remains to be seen.

Another mechanism for prolonging pulmonary residence time has been proposed, based on the fact that budesonide and other glucocorticoids form ester conjugates as depots intracellularly (55-57). These conjugates are unable to cross pulmonary membranes and are consequently trapped in the airways/lung as inactive "prodrugs." Sustained cleavage of these esters back to free drug by esterases provides a slow release of active species intracellularly, which will result in a prolongation of the pulmonary effects and potentially in an increase in pulmonary targeting (if a substantial fraction of the dose is retained by this mechanism). Although the potential benefits of the ester formation in the lung is intriguing, clinical studies need to demonstrate its therapeutic relevance.

Finally, it should be noted that the peripheral part of the lung lacks the mucociliary clearance mechanism. Applying the PK/PD model to drug deposition

deeper in the lung showed similar relationships for dose, dosing regimen, and pulmonary deposition to those seen for more central deposition. The only difference was that lung pulmonary selectivity increases with decreasing release rate of the drug.

III. Conclusion

Identifying extrahepatic metabolic pathways with sufficient pulmonary stability (although a challenge after previous negative clinical studies with such drugs) and optimizing the pulmonary residence time of an inhaled glucocorticoid 1) via control of the intraluminal residence time (e.g., via control of the dissolution rate, use of liposomes or other drug delivery systems), 2) by exploiting rate-limiting interactions of the drug molecule with membranes or other cell structures, or 3) via optimizing formation of pulmonary depots through ester formations should be the main research areas for further improving pulmonary selectivity. More information is also necessary for assessing the regional differences in targeting observed for the tracheobronchial, central, and peripheral segments of the lung/airways and learning which segments are most important for controlling asthma of different severity. It is also of interest to study the critical effects of the mucociliary clearance in mild, moderate, and severe asthmatics.

References

- Hochhaus G, Moellmann H. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic characteristics of the beta-2-agonists terbutaline, salbutamol and fenoterol. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther Toxicol 1992; 30:342–362.
- 2. Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children: a dose-response study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 95:29–33.
- Byron P, Phillips EM. Absoption, Clearance, and Dissolution in the Lung. Respiratory Drug Delivery. Boca Raton, FL: 1990.
- 4. Byron P. Prediction of drug residence times in regions of the human respiratory tract following aerosol inhalation. J Pharm Sci 1986; 75:433–438.
- 5. Gonda I. Drug administration directly into the respiratory tract: Modeling of the duration of effective drug levels. J Pharm Sci 1987; 77:340–346.
- 6. Hochhaus G, Moellmann H, Derendorf H, Gonzalez-Rothi R. Pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic aspects of aerosol therapy using glucocorticoids as a model. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37:881–892.
- Dahlberg E, Thalen A, Brattsand R, Gustafsson J-A, Johansson U, Roemke K, Saartrok T. Correlation between chemical structure, receptor binding, and biological activity of some novel, highly active, 16a,17a- acetal- substituted-glucocorticoids. Mol Pharmacol 1984; 25:70–78.
- Hochhaus G, Rohdewald P, Moellmann H, Grechuchna D. Identification of glucocorticoid receptors in normal and neoplastic human lungs. Respir Exp Med 1983; 182:71–78.
- 9. Rohdewald P, Moellmann H, Hochhaus G. Affinities of glucocorticoids for glucocorticoid receptors in the human lung. Agents Action 1985; 17:290–291.
- Druzgala P, Hochhaus G, Bodor N. Soft drugs 10: blanching activity and receptor binding affinity of a new type of glucocorticoid: loteprednol etabonate. J Steroid Biochem 1991; 38:149–154.
- Beato M, Rousseau GG, Feigelson P. Correlation between glucocorticoid binding to specific liver cytosol receptors and enzyme induction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1972; 47:1464–1472.
- Derendorf H, Hochhaus G, Moellmann H, Barth J, Krieg M, Tunn S, Moellmann C. Receptor-based pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic analysis of corticosteroids. J Clin Pharmacol 1993; 33:115–123.
- Brattsand R, Axelsson BI. Basis of airway selelctivity of inhaled glucocorticoids. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1997:351–379.
- Vayssiere BM, Dupont S, Choquart A, Petit F, Garcia T, Marchandeau C, Gronemeyer H, Resche-Rigon M. Synthetic glucocorticoids that dissociate transactivation and AP-1 transrepression exhibit antiinflammatory activity in vivo. Mol Endocrinol 1997; 11:1245–1255.
- 15. Ventresca G, Mackie A, Moss J, McDowall J, Bye A. Absorption of oral fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:A214.
- Falcoz C, Mackie A, McDowall J, McRae J, Yogendran L, Ventresca G, Bye A. Oral bioavailability of fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 41:459P–460P.
- 17. Hochhaus G, Chen LS, Ratka A, Druzgala P, Howes J, Bodor N, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic characterization and tissue distribution of the new glucocorticoid soft drug loteprednol etabonate in rats and dogs. J Pharm Sci 1992; 81:1210–1215.
- Ryrfeldt A, Andersson P, Edsbaecker S, Tonnesson M, Davies D, Pauwels R. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of budesonide, a selective glucocorticoid. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):86–95.
- Chaplin MD, Rooks Wd, Swenson EW, Cooper WC, Nerenberg C, Chu NI. Flunisolide metabolism and dynamics of a metabolite. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1980; 27:402– 413.
- Dickens G, Wermeling D, Matheney C, John W, Abramowitz W, Sista S, Foster T, S. C. Flunisolide administered via metered dose inhaler with and without spacer and following oral administration. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:S132.
- 21. Derendorf H, Hochhaus G, Rohatagi S, Moellmann H, Barth J, Sourgens H, Erdmann M. Pharmacokinetics of triamcinolone acetonide after intravenous, oral, and inhaled administration. J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 35:302–305.
- 22. Chanoine F, Grenot C, Heidmann P, Junien JL. Pharmacokinetics of butixocort 21propionate, budesonide, and beclomethasone dipropionate in the rat after intratracheal, intravenous, and oral treatments. Drug Metab Dispos 1991; 19:546–553.
- 23. Rohatagi S, Rhodes GR, Chaikin P. Absolute oral versus inhaled bioavailability: significance for inhaled drugs with special reference to inhaled glucocorticoids. J Clin

Pharmacol 1999; 39:661-663.

- 24. Newman S, Steed K, Reader S, Hooper G, Zierenberg B. Efficient delivery to the lungs of flunisolide aerosol from a new portable hand-held multidose nebulizer. J Pharm Sci 1997; 85:960–964.
- 25. Newman SP, Brown J, Steed KP, Reader SJ, Kladders H. Lung deposition of fenoterol and flunisolide delivered using a novel device for inhaled medicines: comparison of RESPIMAT with conventional metered-dose inhalers with and without spacer devices. Chest 1998; 113:957–963.
- 26. Leach C. Targeting inhaled steroids. Int J Clin Pract Suppl 1998; 96:23-27.
- 27. Leach CL, Davidson PJ, Boudreau RJ. Improved airway targeting with the CFC-free HFA-beclomethasone metered-dose inhaler compared with CFC-beclomethasone. Eur Respir J 1998; 12:1346–1353.
- 28. Newman SP, Steed KP, Hooper G, Jones JI, Upchurch FC. Improved targeting of beclomethasone diproprionate (250 micrograms metered dose inhaler) to the lungs of asthmatics with the Spacehaler. Respir Med 1999; 93:424–431.
- 29. Hill M. Effect of delivery mode on pharmacokinetics of inhaled drugs: experience with beclomethasone. In: Dalby R, Byron P, Farr SJ, eds. Respiratory Drug Delivery VI. Hilton Head, NC: Interpharm Press, 1998:53–60.
- 30. Hill LS, Slater AL. A comparison of the performance of two modern multidose dry powder asthma inhalers. Respir Med 1998; 92:105–110.
- 31. Burge PS, Efthimiou J, Turner-Warwick M, Nelmes PT. Double-blind trials of inhaled beclomethasone diproprionate and fluocortin butyl ester in allergen-induced immediate and late asthmatic reactions. Clin Allergy 1982; 12:523–531.
- 32. Biggadike K, Angell RM, Burgess CM, Farrell RM, Hancock AP, Harker AJ, Irving WR, Ioannou C, Procopiou PA, Shaw RE, Solanke YE, Singh OMP, Snowden MA, Stubbs RJ. Selective plasma hydrolysis of glucocorticoid-lactones and cyclic carbonates by the enzyme paraoxonase: an ideal plasma inactivation mechanism. J Med Chem 2000; 43:19–21.
- Edsbaecker S, Szefler SJ. Glucocorticoid pharmacokinetics principles and clinical applications. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1997:381–445.
- Rohatagi S, Bye A, Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Meibohm B, Moellmann H, Derendorf H. Dynamic modeling of cortisol reduction after inhaled administration of fluticasone propionate. J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 36:938–941.
- Tomlinson RV, Runkel R, Chaplin M, Bowen L, Kanagy J, Chu N. In vitro studies on the binding of cloprednol to human plasma proteins. J Steroid Biochem 1982; 16:75– 80.
- Rohatagi S, Hochhaus G, Moellmann H, Barth J, Galia E, Erdmann M, Sourgens H, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluation of triamcinolone acetonide after intravenous, oral and inhaled administration. J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 35:1187–1193.
- Esmailpour N, Hogger P, Rabe KF, Heitmann U, Nakashima M, Rohdewald P. Distribution of inhaled fluticasone propionate between human lung tissue and serum in vivo. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1496–1499.
- Nelson EJ, Hinkle PM. Characterization of multidrug-resistant pituitary tumor cells. Endocrinology 1992; 130:3246–3256.

- 39. Meijer OC, de Lange EC, Breimer DD, de Boer AG, Workel JO, de Kloet ER. Penetration of dexamethasone into brain glucocorticoid targets is enhanced in mdr1A P-glycoprotein knockout mice. Endocrinology 1998; 139:1789–1793.
- Schinkel AH, Wagenaar E, van Deemter L, Mol CA, Borst P. Absence of the mdr1a P-Glycoprotein in mice affects tissue distribution and pharmacokinetics of dexamethasone, digoxin, and cyclosporin A. J Clin Invest 1995; 96:1698–1705.
- 41. Talton JD, Suarez S, Gonzales-Rothi R, Hochhaus G. Pulmonary targeting of intratracheal triamcinolone acetonide dry-powder using an ex-vivo receptor binding assay. AAPS Annual Meeting, San Francisco, CA, 1998.
- 42. Talton JD, Suarez S, Gonzales-Rothi R, Hochhaus G. Pulmonary targeting of intratracheal fluticasone propionate dry-powder vs. intravenous solution using an ex-vivo receptor binding assay. AAPS Annual Meeting, San Francisco, CA, 1998.
- 43. Talton JD, Hochhaus G. Plasma concentrations and pulmonary targeting of budesonide after intravenous and intratracheal administration in rats. AAPS Annual Meeting, New Orleans, LA, 1999.
- 44. Suarez S, Gonzalez-Rothi R, Schreier H, Hochhaus G. The effect of dose and release rate on pulmonary targeting of liposomal triamcinolone acetonide phosphate. Pharm Res 1998; 15:461–465.
- 45. Toogood JH. An appraisal of the influence of dose frequency on the antiasthmatic activity of inhaled corticosteroids. Ann Allergy 1985; 55:2–4.
- 46. Brown RA, Jr., Schanker LS. Absorption of aerosolized drugs from the rat lung. Drug Metab Dispos 1983; 11:355–360.
- 47. Burton JA, Schanker LS. Absorption of corticosteroids from the rat lung. Steroids 1974; 23:617–624.
- Moellmann H, Wagner M, Meibohm B, Hochhaus G, Barth J, Stockmann R, Krieg M, Weisser H, Falcoz C, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic evaluation of fluticasone propionate after inhaled administration. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 53:459–467.
- 49. Astra-USA. Clinical pharmacology and biopharmaceutics review. NDA 20-441 1998.
- 50. Gonzales-Rothi R, Suarez S, Hochhaus G, Schreier H, Lukyanov A, Derendorf H, Dalla Costa T. Pulmonary targeting of liposomal triamcinolone acetonide phosphate. Pharm Res 1996; 13:1699–1703.
- 51. Stefely JS, Hameister WM, Myrdal PB, Leach CL. Pulmonary sustained release of a novel steroid delivered by CFC-free metered dose inhaler in the dog. 14th Annual Meeting of the American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists, New Orleans, 1999.
- 52. Talton J, Hochhaus G, Fitz-Gerald J, Singh R. Pulsed laser deposited polymer films onto pulmonary dry powders for improved drug delivery. MRS 1998 Fall Meeting, Boston, 1998.
- Edwards DA, Hanes J, Caponetti G, Hrkach J, Ben-Jebria A, Eskew ML, Mintzes J, Deaver D, Lotan N, Langer R. Large porous particles for pulmonary drug delivery. Science 1997; 276:1868–1871.
- 54. Edwards DA, Ben-Jebria A, Langer R. Recent advances in pulmonary drug delivery using large, porous inhaled particles. J Appl Physiol 1998; 85:379–385.
- 55. Tunek A, Sjodin K, Hallstrom G. Reversible formation of fatty acid esters of budesonide, an antiasthma glucocorticoid, in human lung and liver microsomes. Drug Metab

Dispos 1997; 25:1311-1317.

- Miller-Larsson A, Mattsson H, Hjertberg E, Dahlback M, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide. Novel mechanism for prolonged retention of topically applied steroid in airway tissue. Drug Metab Dispos 1998; 26:623–630.
- 57. Wieslander E, Delander EL, Jarkelid L, Hjertberg E, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Pharmacologic importance of the reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide studied in a rat cell line in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 19:477–484.

Discussion

- Dr. Seale: How do you measure percent receptor binding in your experiments?
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** These studies use standard ex vivo receptor binding techniques, in which the rat is dosed intratracheally with unlabeled drug. Rats are killed after defined time points, tissues are removed, homogenized, unbound steroid is removed by charcoal, cytosol is prepared by ultracentrifugation, and the number of free receptors is determined by pulse-labeling with high concentration of radioactive triamcinolone acetonide.
- **Dr. Brattsand:** These novel studies are based on lung tissue. Because the target tissue in asthma is the airways, we look forward to data on receptor occupancy at the airway level. For budesonide, prolonged tissue deposition by the esterification mechanism is seen much more at the airway than at the lung level.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** You pointed out that at a certain dose lung selectivity would be lost when the circulating steroid levels become too high. John Toogood reported that selectivity was retained at doses of budesonide up to 2-3 mg. At what dose for commonly used steroids would you predict that pulmonary selectivity would be lost?
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** These studies have been performed either by computer simulation or in rat experiments. It is very difficult to accurately predict from this work the dose in humans at which targeting is lost. It might well be that a dose of 2-3 mg budesonide will still be in the dose range which will induce targeting.
- **Dr. Rohdewald:** Which dose should be given considering receptor occupancy? Is it possible to calculate the amount of drug which is needed for 100% occupancy of receptor sites?
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** So far we are not fully able to predict in humans the dose which is necessary to achieve a certain receptor occupancy, mainly because we don't know exactly the degree of tissue binding observed for inhaled glucocorticoids in the human lung. This is necessary to calculate this key parameter.
- **Prof. Dolovich:** What effect does the formulation have on the absorption rate of the drug in the lung? Specifically, are there differences in absorption between the solution HFA, suspension CFC, or HPA PMDI compared to powder formulation?
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** The formulation is one of the key factors affecting pulmonary selectivity as it determines the pulmonary residence time of the glucocorticoid. We have shown in animal experiments that pulmonary selectivity depends on the physiocochemical state of a given glucocorticoid. We could

show for triamcinolone acetonide that pulmonary selectivity is lost for a triamcinolone acetonide solution while triamcinolone acetonide suspension showed distinct targeting because of the increased pulmonary residence time. It is therefore likely that there are differences in the pulmonary selectivity whether a drug is given as a solution in a MDI or a powder in a DPI. These differences need to be addressed.

Reversible Glucocorticoid Esterification

MAGNUS JENDBRO and CARL-JOHAN JOHANSSON

AstraZeneca Research and Development Lund, Sweden

I. Introduction

Glucocorticosteroids (GCSs) have a multitude of endocrinological effects and at higher doses also clinically important anti-inflammatory effects. Because GCS effects are primarily mediated via intracellular receptors, and because receptors are abundant in all cells, one fundamental problem has been to differentiate between wanted pharmacological effects and unwanted side effects. The primary pathway that industry has chosen to pursue to obtain maximum local anti-inflammatory effect in lung and minimum systemic effects (i.e., optimum airway selectivity) has been by pharmacokinetic means.

For an inhaled glucocorticosteroid to show an airway selectivity at any given moment, the free concentrations in the airway GCS receptor biophase must be higher than the corresponding concentration in the rest of the body, assuming similar receptor affinity and intrinsic response throughout the body. This will lead to higher receptor occupancy in the airway compartment than in the systemic compartments and thus give higher beneficial effects than unwanted effects. It has been suggested by PK/PD simulations (1) (see Chap.12) that the most important pharmacokinetic parameters for achieving high airway selectivity are the fraction of dose deposited in the airways, dissolution rate of drug in the airways, systemic absorption rate from the lungs, oral bioavailability, and systemic clearance. High systemic clearance and low oral bioavailability both contribute to decreased systemic effects, while a high fraction of dose deposited in lung, slow airway dissolution rates, and slow systemic absorption from the lungs contribute to both a prolonged effect duration and an increased airway selectivity. The systemic absorption rate for glucocorticosteroids is generally rapid (2,3) due to the fast movement across cell membranes and the high airway perfusion rate. Thus, one of the most obvious ways to enhance airway retention of an inhaled steroid is to decrease the release rate by having a slowly dissolving drug formulation.

Budesonide (BUD) has been shown to be a fast-dissolving steroid (4) with rapid absorption from the lung in both humans and animals, and was therefore not expected to show a prolonged duration of action. Contrary to what could be expected from early pharmacokinetic documentation, BUD is effective during oncedaily treatment in patients with asthma, rhinitis, and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (5–7). As reviewed in Chapter 9, BUD has been shown to be retained in airway tissue to a greater extent than more lipophilic GCSs. The explanation for this tissue retention was subsequently shown to be the intracellularly formed and retained BUD fatty acid esters. These esters, which are produced in a variety of tissues in both animals and humans, are pharmacologically inactive and are rapidly formed intracellularly by enzymatic pathways. The BUD-esters are slowly hydrolyzed back to intact BUD by lipases. There is preclinical evidence that the intracellular ester depot increases the duration of the effect.

PK/PD simulations offer a unique way to study complex biological systems in a well-controlled manner, varying only one or a few basic parameters at a time, which is impossible in a real-life experiment. Experience has shown that compartmental models often give a good description of the pharmacokinetics and that a simple E_{max} model can well describe receptor-mediated pharmacological effects.

Two issues are addressed in the present chapter: Can the BUD esterification mechanism theoretically improve lung selectivity, even though the fatty acid esters are formed both in the lung and in peripheral tissues? What are the pharmacokinetics of BUD and BUD fatty acid esters in selected rat tissues after administration by local and systemic routes?

II. General Models for Lung Selectivity

A theoretical compartment model consisting of six compartments (Fig. 1) was used to study the impact of steroid ester formation (8). The model is an extension of previously presented models used to study lung selectivity (1). The model consists of two deposition compartments where steroid is deposited after inhalation— one for the lung-deposited fraction and one for the swallowed and gut-absorbed fraction of the drug. The lung deposition compartment has an additional outflow,

representing the mucociliary clearance of lung-deposited drug. Two compartments represent intact steroid in the body: one in lung and one in the system (i.e, body except lung). The steroid esters are represented by two compartments: one describing ester formed in the lung and one describing ester formed in rest of the body.

Steroid receptor occupancy was calculated in the compartments representing intact steroid in the lung and in the system by using a simple E_{max} model:

$$Effect = \frac{E_{\text{max}} \cdot C_{\text{steroid}}}{EC_{50} + C_{\text{steroid}}}$$
(1)

The cumulative receptor occupancy during one dosing interval at steady state (after once-daily doses) was calculated as the area under the curve (AUC) for the 24-hour effect-time curve, both in the lung and in the rest of the body. Lung



Figure 1 Compartment model used to simulate the steroid concentrations in lung and system after inhalation. Dotted line indicates summation when calculating effect in the lung.

Dose (µg)	100	Oral bioavailability (%)	10
Lung volume (L)	1.9	Volume of distribution for unesterfied drug (L)	150
Lung deposition (%)	30	Clearance (L/h)	60
Lung dissolution $t_{1/2}$ (h)	0.3	Esterification $t_{1/2}(h)$	0.07
Systemic absorption (h) from the lung $t_{1/2}$	0.07	Ester hydrolysis $t_{1/2}(h)$	2
Oral absorption $t_{1/2}(h)$	0.07	EC ₅₀ (ng/mL) E _{max} (%)	0.24 100

Table 1 Parameters Used in Simulations (if Not Otherwise Specified)

selectivity was defined as the ratio between these two AUCs. When calculating the lung effect, the concentration in the lung was calculated as the sum of the concentration in the body and the concentration in the lung of drug dissolved, but not yet absorbed into the system, describing the fact that there is a fast redistribution of drug from the body to the lung. The theoretical steroid used in the simulations was assumed to have a high clearance (60 L/h), fast lung dissolution ($t_{1/2}$ = 18 min), fast systemic absorption ($t_{1/2} = 4 \text{ min}$), high lung deposition (30%), low oral bioavailability (10%), medium volume of distribution (150 L), and high receptor potency (EC₅₀ = 0.24 ng/ml, equal to 0.48 nM if assuming a molecular weight of 500 g/mol). If not stated otherwise, the parameters given in Table 1 were used in the simulations. The parameters were either taken from Ref. 1 (clearance, lung dissolution, systemic absorption, volume of distribution, and receptor potency) or based on experience with BUD given via Turbuhaler® (lung deposition and oral bioavailability). The lung selectivity obtained by the model including ester formation was compared to a model without ester formation, keeping all other parameters the same.

A. Rate of Ester Formation and Hydrolysis

As illustrated in Figures 2–7, the rates of ester formation and hydrolysis may have a considerable effect on the lung selectivity of a GCS. If there is no ester formation, selectivity is low, only 1.1. Rapid formation of ester improves selectivity up to 1.8 at an ester formation half-life of 0.035 hour both in the lung and the system (Fig. 2) or only in the lung (Fig. 3). If ester formation rate were held constant in the lung ($t_{1/2} = 0.07$ h), changes in the systemic formation rate would have only a minor influence on selectivity (Fig. 4). Thus, the very fact that ester is formed in the lung will influence the duration of the drug effect in the airways and hence selectivity, even though ester is also formed in the systemic compartment.

The opposite is true for ester hydrolysis: fast hydrolysis in the lung reduces selectivity (Figs. 5, 6), and changes in systemic hydrolysis rate at constant rate in the lung ($t_{1/2} = 2$ h) has no effect (Fig. 7).



Figure 2 Lung selectivity when esterification rate is changed in both lung and systemic compartments.



Figure 3 Lung selectivity when esterification rate is changed in lung compartment.



Figure 4 Lung selectivity when esterification rate is changed in systemic compartment.



Figure 5 Lung selectivity when hydrolysis rate is changed in both lung and systemic compartments.



Figure 6 Lung selectivity when hydrolysis rate is changed in lung compartment.





Figure 7 Lung selectivity when hydrolysis rate is changed in systemic compartment.

Cl (L/h)	t _{1/2} diss (h)	F _{lung} (%)	F _{oral} (%)	V (L)	SEL
10					1.1
↓ 00					↓ 20
90 10					1.0 ^a
v 90					1.2
				30 ↓	1.6 ↓
				500	1.6
				30 ↓	1.1^{a} \downarrow
				500	1.1
	0.3				1.6
	↓ 8				× 2.0
	0.3 ↓				1.1ª ↓
	8				1.8
		5 ↓			1.1 ↓
		50			1.9 ^b
		5 ↓			$^{1.0^{a}}$ \downarrow
		50			1.3 ^b
			25		1.3°
			5		2.1
			25		1.1 ^{a,c}
			\downarrow		\downarrow
			5		1.2

Table 2Simulated Airway Selectivity (SEL) in Model with (nonshadowed rows) andWithout (shadowed rows) Ester Formation

^aModel without ester formation.

^bLung deposited dose held constant at 30 µg.

 $^{c}\mbox{Total}$ dose was 100 $\mu\mbox{g}.$

 $\label{eq:clearance} \begin{array}{l} Cl = Clearance; V = volume of distribution for unesterified drug; t_{1/2} diss = dissolution half-life in lung; \\ F_{lung} = deposited fraction in lung; \\ F_{oral} = oral bioavailability. Parameters not given in the table were fixed at the values given in Table 1. \end{array}$

B. Other Kinetic Parameters

As seen in Table 2, systemic clearance combined with ester formation in the lung increases selectivity up to 2.0 at 90 L/h, whereas less effect is seen without ester. Prolonged dissolution rate in the airways retards uptake, and selectivity is hereby improved, but moreso without than with ester formation. A high fraction deposited in the lung favors selectivity both with and without ester formation. Conversely, a high oral bioavailability is associated with a low selectivity. Volume of distribution of unesterified drug has no influence on selectivity.

C. Discussion

The AUC for the concentration-time curve at steady state in the lung and central compartments in the compartmental system described does not change when the half-lives for ester formation and hydrolysis change. On the other hand, the AUC for the effect-time curve in the lung and central compartment do change (Table 3). Also, the AUC for the effect-time curve in the lung increases more than the AUC in the systemic compartment, leading to an increase in lung selectivity even when esters are present in both the lung and central compartments. As can be seen in Figure 8, the time profile of the effect changes to a more prolonged shape when ester formation is included, and thus the esterification leads to an increased effect duration as well as an increased lung selectivity.

Hence, the beneficial effects of the esterification mechanism are evident after repeated bolus doses. However, the advantage of esterification for selectivity will decrease with more frequent dosing. If the extreme of frequent dosing, a hypothetical continuous lung administration, is simulated, the effect in the lung and in the rest of the body in the presence of ester formation approaches the values obtained without ester formation (Fig. 9). Evidently, equilibrium is eventually reached where exactly the same effect will be reached with or without ester formation. For a rapidly absorbed drug (such as BUD), strict equilibrium will never be reached, and a beneficial effect of the esterification is therefore achieved.

To summarize, in the model described, fast formation and slow hydrolysis of esters improve airway selectivity. If this is combined with a high systemic clearance, selectivity increases further. Other factors that increase the time or amount

	Lu	ing	Sys	tem
	Without ester	With esters	Without ester	With esters
Concentration (AUC μ g · h/L)	8.3	8.3	2.3	2.3
Effect (AUC % · h)	460	1100	420	690

Table 3 AUC_{0-24h} at Steady State (after once-daily doses) for the Concentration-TimeCurve and the Effect-Time Curve



Figure 8 Effect-time curves for one dose-interval at steady state. The graph shows the effect both in lung (light gray line) and in systemic compartment (dark lines) with (solid lines) and without (dotted lines) esters.

of drug in the lungs, such as a high lung deposition and slow dissolution in the airways, are also beneficial. Airway dissolution rate has less impact, however, for a drug that forms esters than for one that does not.

III. Pharmacokinetic Modeling of BUD in the Rat

To characterize the pharmacokinetics of BUD and BUD fatty acid esters in tissue and in plasma, two animal studies were conducted (9). In one study, the pharmacokinetics of tritiated BUD and BUD-esters in lung, trachea, soleus muscle, and plasma were evaluated after intravenous administration. In another study, the pharmacokinetics of BUD and BUD-esters in lung, trachea, and plasma were evaluated after inhalation.

The resulting data were analyzed both by conventional noncompartmental analysis and by compartmental analysis. The compartment model used was a semi-



Figure 9 Effect-time curves during a continuous lung input. Lung effect shown as light gray lines and systemic effect shown as dark lines. Model with esters shown as solid lines and model without esters shown as dotted lines.

physiological compartmental model, taking into account distribution between tissues as well as the enzymatic formation and hydrolysis of BUD-esters.

A. Methods

Intravenous Study

A dose of 16 nmol/kg ³H-BUD dissolved in an aqueous ethanol solution was injected intravenously in the tail of male Sprague-Dawley rats. The animals were sacrificed by heart puncture after having been anesthetized with pentobarbital. Three rats at each time point were sacrificed at 5, 15, 30, and 45 minutes and 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 8, 12, and 24 hours after drug administration.

Blood was collected from each rat, plasma separated by centrifugation and frozen at -70° C. Trachea, lung, and soleus muscle were removed from each rat, weighed, and frozen at -70° C.

BUD and BUD-esters were extracted from lung and soleus muscle by homogenization in ethanol followed by microwave extraction of the ethanolic

homogenate at 90°C and separation by centrifugation. For trachea there was no homogenization step, and the cut trachea was directly extracted by microwave extraction.

The tissue extracts were fractionated by HPLC. The BUD fraction and the fraction of combined BUD-esters were collected. Radioactivity was measured in a liquid scintillation counter. The plasma samples were pretreated by an automated solid phase extraction, followed by on-line liquid chromatography enrichment. The enriched samples were collected in scintillation tubes.

Inhalation Study

A calculated dose of 220 nmol/kg micronized BUD powder was inhaled by nose exposure by male Sprague-Dawley rats during 10 minutes in a Batelle flow past inhalation chamber. The animals were sacrified by heart puncture after having been anesthetized with pentobarbital. Blood, trachea, and lung were sampled and treated as described above, except that no 5-minute sample was obtained. The lung and trachea extracts were fractionated using a separate LC system. BUD and BUD-esters in the fractions were subsequently quantitated with a different LC-MS-MS system.

BUD and BUD-esters in the plasma samples were analyzed by two different methods comprising solid phase extraction and APCI LC-MS-MS detection.

Modeling

A semi-physiological compartment model (Fig. 10) was fitted to mean plasma and tissue concentrations of BUD and BUD-esters using the computer program NONMEM. The lung was described by three compartments representing solid BUD (deposition compartment), dissolved BUD, and BUD-ester; the trachea was described by four compartments representing solid BUD (deposition compartment), dissolved BUD, and BUD-ester (two compartments were needed to describe the nonlinear kinetics of BUD-ester in trachea); soleus muscle was described by two compartments representing BUD and BUD-esters; plasma was described by two compartments representing BUD and BUD-esters; the gut was described by one compartment; and one extra peripheral compartment accounted for BUD outside the characterized organs. The model was implemented as a set of differential equations with Michaelis-Menten functions to describe the rate of formation and rate of hydrolysis of BUD-esters and first-order rate constants to describe the rates of all remaining processes. The fraction of inhaled dose deposited in lung and trachea was fixed at 30% during the fitting procedure. The distribution between lung (94%) and trachea (6%), the oral bioavailability, and the half-life for gut absorption were all based on experimental data and were fixed during the fitting procedure (data on file). The volumes of the lung, trachea, muscle, and central compartment were fixed (lung = 1 mL, trachea = 0.5 mL, muscle = 200 mL, plasma compartment = 50 mL) (10).



Figure 10 Compartment model used to model the kinetics of BUD and BUD-esters in rat after inhalation and intravenous administration. Dotted arrows represent Michaelis-Menten kinetics and solid arrows represent first-order processes. Dark compartments represent BUD-ester compartments. (Redrawn from Ref. 9.)

The k_m for the Michaelis-Menten formation and hydrolysis processes, respectively, was assumed to be the same in all tissues except in the second BUD-ester compartment in trachea.

The V_{max} for the Michaelis-Menten processes describing the formation and hydrolysis of BUD esters was unique for each tissue. The parameters were the same after both intravenous administration and inhalation, except in trachea and lung, where different V_{max} values for the ester formation were used.

B. Results

BUD concentrations were measurable in all tissues up to 24 hours except in plasma after inhalation (up to 12 h) and in muscle after i.v. (up to 12 h). BUD-ester concentrations were measurable in all tissues up to 24 hours except in muscle after i.v. (up to 8 h). The longest terminal disappearance half-life of BUD-esters was found in trachea and the shortest in muscle, about a 10-fold difference. The mean concentrations of BUD-ester were at later time points higher than the mean concentrations of BUD in trachea and lung, while they were lower in muscle and plasma (Fig. 11). AUC was much greater in the trachea than in other tissue (Fig. 12).

The compartmental model described the experimental concentrations of BUD and BUD-esters well in all tissues (Fig. 13) after both i.v. administration and inhalation. Parameters, obtained by fitting the model to the experimental data, are given in Table 4.



Figure 11 (a) Intravenous administration (4 nmol BUD/rat): Experimental BUD and BUD-ester concentrations in rat soleus muscle and plasma. (b) Intravenous administration (4 nmol BUD/rat): experimental BUD and BUD-ester concentrations in rat lung and trachea. (c) Inhalation (55 nmol BUD/rat): experimental BUD and BUD-ester concentrations in rat. (Redrawn from Ref. 9.)



Figure 12 AUC_{0- ∞ h} for BUD-esters in different tissues, normalized to AUC_{0- ∞ h} for BUD in plasma.



Figure 13 (a) Model-predicted (solid lines) and experimental concentrations (means connected with dotted lines) after intravenous administration of 4 nmol BUD/rat. (b) Model-predicted (solid lines) and experimental concentrations (means connected with dotted lines) after inhalation of 55 nmol BUD/rat. (Redrawn from Ref. 9.)

Rat Data								
	Ester		BUD	BUD	Ester	Ester	Ester	Ester
	terminal		absorption ^b	reabsorption ^c	synthesis	hydrolysis	synthesis	hydrolysis
	disappearance	Ester AUC ^a	\mathbf{K}_{m}	$t_{1/2}$	V_{max}	V_{max}	K	\mathbf{K}_{m}
	t _{1/2} (h)	(nM*h)	(min)	(min)	(nmol/h)	(nmol/h)	(MN)	(MN)
Trachea	i.v. 20	31			i.v. 26			
	inh.18	662	14	216	inh 220	328	30	230
Trachea 2nd ester					i.v. 0.26			
compartment					inh 0.60	0.020	2600	710
Lung	i.v. 5.6	9			i.v. 97			
	inh 6.6	16	2.6	13	inh 280	951	30	230
Muscle	i.v. 2.5	0.4	10	0.5	794	$56\cdot 10^3$	30	230
Other tissue			150	2.6			30	230
Plasma	i.v. 5.4	0.4			0.201	4.4	30	230

Table 4Parameters of BUD and BUD-Esters Found by Noncompartmental Analysis and by Fitting the Multicompartmental Model to ExperimentalRat Data

^aNormalized to BUD plasma AUC.

^bTo plasma. ^c From plasma.

The dissolution of drug was rapid both in trachea and lung. Absorption and reabsorption between the tissues and plasma were rapid processes, except for reabsorption to trachea and absorption from the "other tissue" compartment to plasma. Based on the model fitting, we may conclude that all tissues except plasma and the second trachea compartment appear to have a high synthetic capacity for BUD-esters as judged from the estimated V_{max} values. Hydrolysis was most effective in muscle.

C. Discussion

The two presented animal kinetic studies show that BUD-esters are formed in a variety of tissues. It is further shown that the airways, especially trachea, possess a high capacity to form esters and that the esters are retained for a prolonged time.

The presented semi-physiological compartment model describes well experimental data from two different studies with two different administration routes. The model offers an explanation and parameterization of both the distribution of BUD and the tissue-specific formation and hydrolysis of BUD-esters after intravenous and inhalation administration in rat.

A possible explanation for the need for different V_{max} for the formation of BUD-esters in lung and trachea after the i.v. versus the inhalation routes of administration might be an asymmetric cellular distribution of the enzymes responsible for the esterification of BUD, such that a higher enzyme concentration is found at the luminal than at the endothelial side of the airways. This could explain why more BUD-esters are formed after inhalation, compared to intravenous administration. The differences in V_{max} among the different tissues are probably an indication of different amounts or activity of the enzymes responsible for the formation and hydrolysis of BUD-esters. BUD-esters in trachea seem to behave more nonlinearly than BUD-esters in the other tissues, and a sum of two compartments with different Michaelis-Menten kinetics (both k_m and V_{max}) was needed to describe the kinetics of BUD-esters in trachea. Again, one can only speculate about the reason for this finding, but it might be a different distribution of the enzymes involved in the synthesis and hydrolysis of the BUD-esters. Further animal studies are needed to measure tissue-specific V_{max} and k_m values.

IV. Concluding Remarks

This chapter has discussed the novel intracellular esterification mechanism that the glucocorticoid BUD possesses and has confirmed the presence of esters in the tissues analyzed in the present study (lung, trachea, plasma, and muscle). It has further been shown, on a theoretical basis, that the esterification mechanism might lead to *both* a prolonged effect duration and an increased lung selectivity of an inhaled steroid. A detailed description of the tissue and plasma kinetics of both BUD and BUD-esters has been obtained through two rat studies using the intravenous and inhaled routes of administration. The experimental data obtained from the rat studies have been parameterized in a compartment model, and some fundamental insight in the behavior of BUD and BUD-esters has hereby been obtained.

The presented pharmacokinetic model may, apart from increasing the understanding of BUD and BUD-ester kinetics, be used to predict the concentration profiles of BUD and BUD-esters following other dosing regimens; the effect of coadministration of local esterification inhibitors on the duration of action and airway selectivity; and the effect of changing the dissolution profile of the BUD formulation.

In humans, further work is needed to model and fully characterize the pharmacokinetics of BUD and BUD-esters in a way similar to the above presented. Since it is impossible to obtain the same richness in experimental data in humans, the presented rat model could be used to guide the modeling efforts in humans. The rat model might also be used for interspecies scaling.

The esterification mechanism appears to offer a novel mode of improving the local pharmacokinetics of new chemical entities. In preclinical drug discovery projects, molecular structure could be optimized towards affinity to the enzymes responsible for esterification and hydrolysis and towards the affinity to the receptor concerned, thus offering a novel way of altering tissue retention and improving duration of action and local targeting.

Acknowledgments

We thank Per Strandberg for performing the inhalation study, Hanna Falk Nilsson for performing the intravenous study, and Staffan Edsbäcker for valuable discussions and comments on the manuscript.

References

- Hochhaus G, Möllmann H, Derendorf H, Gonzalez-Rothi RJ. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic aspects of aerosol therapy using glucocorticoids as a model. J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 37(10):881–892.
- Ryrfeldt Å, Persson G, Nilsson E. Pulmonary disposition of the potent glucocorticoid budesonide, evaluated in an isolated perfused rat lung model. Biochem Pharmacol 1989; 38:17–22.
- 3. Burton J, Schanker L. Absorption of corticosteroids from the rat lung. Steroids 1974; 23:617–624.
- 4. Högger P, Rawert I, Rohdewald P. Dissolution, tissue binding and kinetics of receptor binding of inhaled glucocorticoids. Eur Respir J 1993; 6(suppl 17):584s.

- 5. O'Byrne PM. Inhaled corticosteroid therapy in newly detected mild asthma. Drugs 1999; 58(suppl 4):17–24.
- Creticos P, Fireman P, Settipane G, Bernstein D, Casale T, Schwartz H, Safadi R, Goldin E, Coscas E, Fireman Z, Keter D, Liethman G, Maor Y, Naftali T, Kasem G, Jacobson W, Morali G, Zilberman S, Halpern Z, Shirin C, Wardi Y. Intranasal budesonide aqueous pump spray (Rhinocort Aqua) for the treatment of seasonal allergic rhinitis. Allergy Asthma Proc 1998; 19(5):285–294.
- Bianchi Porro G, Prantera C, Campieri M, Petrillo M, Campanini MC, Gionchetti P, Grandinetti G, Mangiarotti R, Brunetti G, Ranzi T. Comparative trial of methylprednisolone and budesonide enemas in active distal ulcerative colitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1994; 6:125–130.
- Edsbäcker S, Jendbro M. Modes to achieve topical selectivity of inhaled glucocorticosteroids—focus on budesonide. Proceedings of Respiratory Drug Delivery VI, South Carolina, May 3–7, 1998, pp. 71–82.
- 9. Jendbro M, Johansson C-J, Strandberg P, Falk-Nilsson H, Edsbäcker S. Pharmacokinetics of budesonide and its major ester metabolite after inhalation and intravenous administration of budesonide in the rat. Drug Metab Disp 2001; 29:769–776.
- 10. Davies B, Morris T. Physiological parameters in laboratory animals and in humans. Pharmaceut Res 1993; 10(7):1093–1095.

Discussion

- **Dr. Schleimer:** It is interesting that there appear to be two compartments for the budesonide esters in the lung. Is this due to separate locations for the esterification step and the actual storage site in the lungs? Do you know the location of either the acyltransferase or the deacylase?
- **Mr. Jendbro:** The need for two BUD-ester compartments, with first-order kinetics, in the lung in the presented preliminary model probably reflects the nonlinear behavior of the esterification process. These two ester compartments have been substituted with one compartment, utilizing nonlinear Michaelis-Menten kinetics instead of first-order kinetics, in the refined model presented in this chapter. The location of the enzymes involved in the esterification and hydrolysis processes are presently not known, but, interestingly, the rat model suggests that at least the tracheal acyltransferases are differentially exposed to budesonide entering from the airways relative to drug entering from the systemic circulation.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** In some of your simulations, the terminal half-life in plasma is shorter than in tissue. Is this kinetically possible?
- **Mr. Jendbro:** According to the present model, a longer half-life in airway tissues is possible, the reason being that strict equilibrium between tissues and plasma never is reached. First, different tissues have different capabilities to generate reversible depots of budesonide esters. Notably the esters are retained intracellularly within the respective tissue, and there is no indication of any redistribution of nonhydrolyzed budesonide esters in the body. Second, from a mass balance point of view, the airway tissues contain only a small fraction of drug in the body, and plasma kinetics of budesonide is governed by more rapid processes seen as a rather short half-life of budesonide. Of course, the vast majority of drug in plasma (and rapidly equilibrating tissues) is also distributed into airway tissues. So in these airway tissues there will be a mixture of budesonide coming from systemic circulation and from intracellular depots, where budesonide esters are slowly hydrolyzed to intact budesonide. Thus, the observed half-life in plasma will be shorter than that in tissue.
- **Dr. Seale:** In your rat experiments, after delivering budesonide via the inhaled route, your graphs revealed some difficulty detecting esterified budesonide in muscle tissue, whereas it was detected in muscle following i.v. administration of budesonide. What is the explanation for this difficulty after inhaled administration?
- **Mr. Jendbro:** This is correct. As tritium-labeled drug was used in the i.v. experiments and nonlabeled in the inhalation experiments, limits of quantitation

differed, and we were not able to systematically quantitate nonlabeled drug in muscle following inhalation. However, the scarce samples where quantitation was possible did not point towards any difference in muscle tissue in ester formation or hydrolysis depending on route of administration, which the model also predicts.

- **Prof. Dolovich:** Can these models simulate clinical factors such as mucus layer, bronchoconstriction, and hyperreactivity and determine the effects on the selective absorption and dissociation site of inhaled steroids?
- **Mr. Jendbro:** The general model presented treats the airways as one, homogeneous tissue, and thus no distinction can be made regarding local subcompartments. The effect and airway selectivity simulated in the first part of my presentation refers to glucocorticoid receptor occupancy. The rationale behind simulating receptor occupancy is that a majority of glucocorticosteroid-induced effects are receptor triggered. Of course, bronchoconstriction changing regional deposition can be built into the model taking mucociliary clearance in different regions into consideration, but this would make life much more complicated and does not address the basic question I tried to address—that of esterification and its effect on airway selectivity.
- **Dr. Seale:** It would be hard to build bronchoconstriction into the rat model because the agents that would be used to induce bronchoconstriction may increase permeability (and hence absorption of drug).
- **Dr. Schleimer:** I am wondering if you have had the chance to determine the rate of acylation in some of the tissues susceptible to side effects such as adrenal gland, skin, or bone?
- **Mr. Jendbro:** Skin and bone were sampled during the study but have not been analyzed due to analytical difficulties.
- **Dr. Brattsand:** The clinical efficacy of budesonide, FP, and mometasone furoate in rhinitis correlate largely with their nasal bioavailability, which in turn depends on their dissolution rate/water solubility.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Important for the efficacy is the unbound concentration at the site of action. This is governed by clearance and protein binding. Changes in volume of distribution will change the half-life, but not the average steady-state concentration.

Part Five

AIRWAY-LUNG SELECTIVITY OF CURRENT INHALED STEROIDS

14

Airway Selectivity of Current Inhaled Corticosteroids in Properly Designed Studies

J. PAUL SEALE

PAUL M. O'BYRNE

University of Sydney Sydney, New South Wales, Australia McMaster University and St. Joseph's Hospital Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

I. Methodology of Well-Designed Clinical Studies

Countless studies, involving either normal volunteers or asthmatic patients, have investigated some aspects of systemic activity, or efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids (ICS), but only a minority have been well designed. For obtaining useful clinical data about new drugs the most informative studies are those that (1) explore several doses from which a dose-response can be derived, (2) are placebo controlled and blinded, (3) allocate treatments by a random method, and (4) investigate both efficacy and toxicity. For ICS, it is difficult to design such studies, particularly for efficacy, as the time course for response extends over days and weeks. Some studies of systemic absorption of ICS in normal volunteers (1-3) and asthmatics (4,5) have incorporated some of these design features.

Crossover designs tend to be used in normal volunteers, whereas parallel group designs are more common in patient studies that tend to be conducted over a longer period of time than normal volunteer studies. Similarly, placebo controls are more often used in normal volunteer studies than for patient studies, as it may be unethical to offer placebo instead of ICS to patients with asthma, particularly if the duration of the treatment period is weeks or months. Most studies have investigated only one dose of drug, so there are very few studies that fulfill the ideal criteria of a randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled multiple-dose trial. A recent meta-analysis of efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids reviewed 14 trials, each of which involved a fixed dose of fluticasone compared to at least twice the dose of budesonide or beclomethasone (6).

A. Quantitating Drug Delivery

Few studies pay much attention to this aspect of drug design, which is taken for granted if drugs are given orally or intravenously. The respirable fraction, which is highly dependent upon particle size (7), the characteristics of the delivery device, and the inspiratory effort of the subject will determine the extent of intrapulmonary deposition and thus the systemic availability of the inhaled drug. The use of large-volume spacer devices usually increases the respirable dose and decreases the amount of drug deposited in the oropharynx (8). Thus, spacer devices minimize the contribution of swallowed drug to systemic activity.

The contribution of absorption from the gut varies inversely to the extent of hepatic first-pass metabolism, which is high for fluticasone (99%), moderate for budesonide (90%), and less for beclomethasone (\sim 70%). Thus, for budesonide 20–25% of systemic activity may come from gut absorption rather than direct absorption across the lung.

Drug-specific dry powder devices such as the Diskhaler and Turbuhaler have quite different characteristics, such as particle size and flow characteristics, resulting in considerable differences in intrapulmonary deposition (9).

All these variables mean that comparisons between inhaled corticosteroids, based on the nominal dose (ex-device), will necessarily be relatively crude estimates.

B. Measuring Systemic Absorption

In the past plasma cortisol concentrations were the only measurements used to investigate systemic absorption of ICS. This is an indirect method because it depends upon a complex biological system comprising the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis with its inherent variability. On the other hand, it does reflect the biological activity of the systemically absorbed drug, which provides more information than drug concentrations in isolation (10). The extent to which the systemic activity of inhaled corticosteroids on the HPA axis correlates with clinically important effects, such as easy bruising (11) and alterations in markers of bone metabolism (12), is uncertain. Further carefully planned long-term studies will be required to determine whether there are consistent correlations.

Plasma Cortisols

Morning plasma cortisols (usually taken between 8 and 10 a.m.) are extremely variable and therefore insensitive indices of suppression of HPA axis (10). A more sensitive measure is the 24-hour integrated plasma cortisol levels (AUC_{24})

or urinary free cortisol excretion. AUC_{24} cortisol, measurements which require repeated blood collections, are conducted in closely supervised laboratory studies. On the other hand, fractionated overnight and early morning urinary cortisol collections, corrected for creatinine excretion, are suitable for less intensively monitored clinical studies. This test is more sensitive than single morning cortisol levels, and it therefore is more reliable in detecting systemic activity of inhaled corticosteroids.

A third test sometimes carried out is the cosyntropin stimulation test in which this synthetic ACTH is injected to assess whether there is any impairment of adrenal cortisol reserve. It is not known whether this is any more sensitive in detecting HPA axis dysfunction than overnight urinary cortisols or 24-hour AUCs, although one study has suggested that this may be the case (12).

Studies that rely merely upon measuring plasma cortisol in single morning samples will underestimate the degree of systemic absorption of inhaled cortico-steroids.

Direct Measurements of Plasma Concentrations

With the development of sensitive assays it is now possible to measure the relatively low concentrations of corticosteroids that enter the systemic circulation following inhaled drug delivery (13,14). In general, there is rapid absorption following inhaled drug delivery so sampling times should be early after taking the dose. Studies in which drug concentrations have been measured have been carried out almost exclusively in normal volunteers.

Consideration should be given to whether the true characteristics of the systemic kinetics of the drug can be obtained from single-dose studies or steady-state studies. For drugs such as fluticasone with a terminal phase half-life of approximately 14 hours, single-dose studies may not reflect the situation following repeated dosing. Thus, with repeated twice-daily dosing of inhaled fluticasone, the average plasma concentration was approximately 1.7 times greater than after a single inhaled dose (14).

In summary, there are many factors, in addition to dose and drug, that may influence the clinical effect of inhaled corticosteroids. These factors should always be considered in papers describing comparative trials of inhaled corticosteroids to allow full interpretation of the study and comparison of the drugs. Some of the more important factors are:

- Trials should be of a randomized, double-blind, and preferably placebocontrolled design. However, the use of different inhaler devices and the need to maintain asthma control may make such trials almost impossible, especially in patients with severe asthma.
- Precise details of the devices and inhalation technique used to administer the corticosteroid are essential.

The unit dose delivered by the inhaler may influence delivered dose. The

amount of drug substance delivered to the lungs by five puffs of 50 μ g of a corticosteroid from a pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI) may, for example, be greater than that delivered by one puff of 250 μ g from an inhaler of the same type.

- The time interval between actuation of the pMDI and inhalation should be standardized and specified when polycarbonate spacer devices are used as part of the delivery system. The cleaning and washing recommendations given to the trial participants should also be described, as the condition of the spacer device influences its electrostatic charge and thus its delivery characteristics.
- Patients must receive full instruction in the correct use of all inhaler devices included in trials. Without this, results may be confounded by differences in efficacy or ease of use of the inhalers, especially if a familiar inhaler is compared with an unfamiliar inhaler.
- Patient compliance with different forms of inhaled therapy may vary, so some measure of patient compliance should be included and documented.

Each of these factors could influence the measured effect of an inhaled corticosteroid by at least the same extent as doubling or halving the administered dose. The value of comparative studies of inhaled corticosteroids that ignore these factors in therefore doubtful. The optimal design of a comparative trial of corticosteroids is not yet established, but true differences between corticosteroids are most likely to be detected in well-designed trials that control for these factors.

II. DO STUDIES IN NORMAL SUBJECTS ACCURATELY PREDICT DRUG BEHAVIOR IN ASTHMATIC PATIENTS?

Studies are frequently carried out on normal subjects as part of the clinical development program for new drugs. For inhaled drugs, there are theoretical reasons to expect that the intrapulmonary deposition and systemic bioavailability may differ between asthmatic subjects and normal subjects. First, the airways obstruction of asthma may limit the distribution of inhaled drug to peripheral sites from which systemic absorption can readily occur. Second, increased permeability of the airways, which is a feature of asthma, may enhance drug absorption (15). There are three types of studies that have compared systemic drug bioavailability in asthmatics and normal subjects.

A. Studies That Compare a Given Drug in Normal and Asthmatic Subjects

Several studies have addressed this question. Lipworth and Clark (16) administered nebulized salbutamol ($40 \mu g/kg$) to three groups (each of 10 individuals),

comprising normal subjects, mild asthmatics, and patients with severe asthma. The concentration of salbutamol was measured in blood samples taken at 5, 10, 20, and 30 minutes after completion of the inhaled dose, and systemic responses were assessed by changes in finger tremor, heart rate, and serum potassium. For the patients with severe asthma (FEV₁ 49.2% of predicted normal), the salbutamol C_{max} and C_{av} were less than the values recorded in normal subjects and those with mild asthma. Furthermore, the increases in heart rate and finger tremor were less in the severe asthmatics than in the normal subjects and mild asthmatics. Serum potassium was not significantly different in any of the groups. Thus, both these pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic measurements showed that the systemic absorption of salbutamol was less in the patients with severe asthma. It is probable that the airways obstruction in the asthmatic subjects reduced peripheral distribution of the drug, thereby limiting its systemic absorption.

The findings in studies of intrapulmonary deposition of inhaled salbutamol are consistent with the results of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies. A group of asthmatics (mean FEV₁ 1.45 L) were compared with normals after inhaling 200 µg of technetium-labeled salbutamol (17). While the intrapulmonary deposition, assessed by dual-headed gamma camera, did not differ between the two groups, the percentage of the intrapulmonary dose distributed to the periphery was 30.4% in the asthmatic subjects compared with 44% in the normal subjects (p < 0.05).

For sodium cromoglycate, urinary excretion can be used as an index of systemic bioavailability because less than 2% of drug is absorbed after oral administration and after intravenous administration the drug is excreted unmetabolized in the urine. In an early study (18) it was found that the urinary excretion of cromoglycate was reduced in patients with chronic bronchitis compared with normal controls, but it was not reduced in asthmatic subjects. In a more recent study it was found that the lung bioavailability of cromoglycate (administered via a Spinhaler) was reduced in asthmatics compared with normal subjects, reflected by reduced plasma C_{max} and AUC, together with reduced urinary excretion of cromglycate (19).

After inhaling nedocromil 4 mg from a pMDI, the calculated bioavailability was 9.2% of the nominal dose in normal subjects and 5.7% in asthmatic subjects. The asthmatic subjects had a delayed T_{max} and lower values for C_{max} and AUC compared with the normal controls (20).

Comparisons between asthmatics and normal subjects can be made from two studies, each of which used the same drug doses and delivery devices for 7 days of treatment (3,5). In 20 normal subjects, the mean suppression of integrated AUC for plasma cortisol was 86% after fluticasone 200 μ g (via Diskhaler) daily and 47% after budesonide 1600 μ g (via Turbuhaler), whereas the values in 23 subjects with asthma (mean FEV₁ 80% predicted) were 34% and 16%, respectively. In a well-designed crossover study the pharmacokinetics of fluticasone were
determined in normal volunteers (n = 13) and asthmatic subjects (n = 10; mean FEV₁ 54% predicted) after the administration of i.v. and inhaled fluticasone 1000 µg (21). The systemic availability was significantly less in asthmatic subjects than in normals (10.1% vs. 21.4%; p < 0.001) and the suppression of cortisol was less in asthmatics. The systemic availability of fluticasone correlated with diffusing capacity but not FEV₁.

In contrast, a study of normal subjects and patients with mild asthma (morning PEF 67–113% predicted) reported no significant differences in plasma fluticasone AUC between asthmatics and normals after inhaling fluticasone 1000 μ g (22). In another recent study, it was found that the systemic bioavailability of fluticasone 1500 μ g (via Accuhaler) was less in a group of asthmatics (mean FEV₁ 60% predicted) than in 46 normal subjects, whereas the systemic bioavailability of budesonide (1600 μ g via Turbuhaler) was not significantly different (23).

Thus, the evidence indicates that the systemic bioavailability of several classes of drugs (such as bronchodilators, cromoglycate, and inhaled corticosteroids) is reduced in asthmatic subjects compared with normal controls, presumably because the airways obstruction in asthmatic subjects limits the delivery of the drug to the major absorption sites in the periphery of the lung. The reason why reduced bioavailability in asthmatics should occur with fluticasone but not with budesonide may relate to differences in physicochemical properties of these steroids.

B. Studies That Compare Different Drugs in Normal Subjects

Comparative studies of this kind have been confined to ICS and relevant studies to consider are those that have explored several doses of ICS. Three such studies (1-3) have shown the ratio of systemic activity (on a mg-for-mg basis) for fluticasone to budesonide ranged from 3.7 to 1.7. These studies have used one of the more sensitive indices of systemic activity, the integrated 24-hour plasma cortisol level. In the study with the lowest value (3), fluticasone and budesonide were administered via their dry powder devices (Diskhaler and Turbuhaler, respectively). Since Turbuhaler has a relatively high intrapulmonary deposition compared with other delivery devices (24), this study may have underestimated the systemic activity of fluticasone.

C. Studies That Compare Different Drugs in Asthmatic Subjects

Several studies have compared different ICS in asthmatic subjects. Since most of these studies have used low doses, which did not affect plasma cortisol (25), they do not permit potency ratios to be calculated for the ICS. Only two published studies have compared repeated administration of fluticasone and budesonide, in doses sufficiently high to cause some cortisol suppression (4,5). These were doubleblind, randomized crossover studies in which the drugs were taken twice daily for 4 and 7 days (Table 1). Measures of integrated cortisol secretion (10 h overnight

		Daily Dose, µ	tg ^a (Device)	Duration	F:B po	tency ratio
Study (Ref.)	Design	Н	В	(days)	AUC_{0-24}	a.m. cortisol
Normals						
Boorsma et al., 1996 (1)	Crossover	400, 750	400, 800	4	3.7	5.2
	placebo-controlled	2000	2000			
	(n = 21)	(MDI)	(MDI)			
Grahnén et al., 1997 (3)	Parallel group	100, 200	100, 200	L	1.74	2.3
	(n = 20)	500, 1000	400, 800			
		(DH)	(TBH)			
Donnelly et al., 1997 (2)	Crossover	750, 1500	800, 1600	S	2.9	3.1
	placebo-controlled	2000	3200			
	(n = 28)	(MDI)	(IMDI)			
Asthmatics						
Clark and Lipworth, 1997 (4)	Double-blind	500, 1000	500, 1000	4	$>1^{b}$	3.5
	crossover	2000	2000			
	(n = 12)	(MDI)	(MDI)			
Derom et al., 1999 (5)	Double-blind	400	400	L	$> 1^{c}$	\geq 1
	Crossover	2000	1600			
	(n = 23)	(DH)	(TBH)			
^a Given in 2 divided doses.						

 Table 1
 Comparative Multiple-Dose Studies

^b10 h overnight urinary cortisol. $^{\circ}AUC_{0-20} 0-20 h$ postdose.

n = Number of subjects; AUC = area under plasma cortisol curve; MDI = metered dose inhaler; F = fluticasone; B = budesonide; DH = Diskhaler;TBH = Turbuhaler. urinary cortisol and AUC₀₋₂₀h plasma cortisol) and morning plasma cortisol revealed that fluticasone had a greater systemic activity than budesonide. The ratios could not be quantitated by conventional criteria (e.g., ED_{50}) because neither drug in either study consistently produced greater than 50% inhibition. Log linear interpolation of 8 a.m. plasma cortisols revealed a F:B potency ratio of approximately 3:1 (4). Since dry powder devices (Diskhaler and Turbuhaler) were used in the Derom study (5), it may have underestimated the systemic activity of fluticasone, given relatively high intrapulmonary deposition of budesonide from the Turbuhaler at approximately 30% of dose (24) compared with a lower percent from Diskhalers (17).

In summary, it has been possible to accurately determine the potency ratios for systemic activity of ICS in normal subjects, using multiple doses to derive dose-response curves, and the estimated potency ratio for the newer ICS (fluticasone and budesonide, F & B) ranges of 2-3:1 (see Table 1). There are less accurate determinations of ICS potency ratios in asthmatic subjects because there is less systemic absorption, making quantitation of any effect imprecise. Nevertheless, the small number of studies that have used reliable methodology have indicated that fluticasone appears to be more potent than budesonide per μ g nominal dose (26).

III. Variability in Systemic Bioavailability Between Subjects

A. Drug Absorption

Following inhalation the plasma pharmacokinetics of ICS vary considerably between individuals. In normal subjects, there were wide standard deviations in C_{max} , T_{max} , and AUC following inhalation (14) and intravenous (27) doses of fluticasone, suggesting that there are considerable differences between individuals' pharmacokinetics. Similar variability was observed with inhaled budesonide in normal subjects (28) and with fluticasone in asthmatic subjects (21). On the available evidence there is no reason to think that the variability between subjects is any greater in asthmatics than in normal subjects.

B. Systemic Activity

Since there is considerable variability between individuals in drug absorption following inhaled administration of ICS, a similar and possibly greater variability might be expected in biological activity, which depends on the end result of plasma concentration, receptor sensitivity, and postreceptor translation. Measurements of AUC plasma cortisols have shown wide variation in the extent of inhibition for any chosen inhaled ICS among normal subjects (1,2,28). Although studies in asthmatics have not been as comprehensive as in normal volunteers, the available data suggest that there are considerable differences in susceptibility to cortisol suppression between individual asthmatic subjects (4).

IV. Comparative Clinical Studies

To draw comparisons between different inhaled doses of the same corticosteroid or between different corticosteroids, some general aspects of the dose-response relationships of inhaled corticosteroids need to be considered. For a given drug or inhaler, there will always be a dose below which no effect can be detected, no matter which investigative method is used. There will also be a dose range within which an effect is measurable for one or more outcomes. Within a certain dose range, there will be a linear (or log linear) relationship between the magnitude of the effect and the dose of drug. At a certain dose, the dose-response curve flattens out. Increasing the dose beyond that point is associated with only small changes in the outcome measurement. This means that the most important information that needs to be obtained to accurately compare the various drugs includes:

The lowest dose level at which an effect can be detected

- The dose required to produce a certain effect (i.e., 50% of maximum), which is important for an accurate potency comparison
- The slope of the dose-response curve, which is important for an accurate potency comparison and for assessment of the risk of overdosing; the steeper the slope, the higher the risk
- The dose at which the dose-response curve starts to flatten out, which is important to assess the appropriateness of dosing in comparative trials

A number of dose-response studies (29-32) have provided useful information about different corticosteroids or inhalers. They all report marked improvements in the outcome variables that are most often measured in clinical asthma studies, that is, symptoms and lung function, at low daily doses $(100-200 \,\mu\text{g/day})$ of inhaled steroids in the type of patients—with mild or moderate asthma—that are most often studied in these clinical trials. The additional improvement achieved in these parameters by increasing the doses is small, often taking an additional fourfold increase in dose to produce further statistically significant effects. This means that, as low doses are clinically so effective, even very large, well-conducted studies usually fail to show any statistically significant or clinically relevant additional effect on symptoms and lung function between two adjacent and doubling doses on the dose-response curve (29,31,32). This has important implications when trying to draw conclusions from comparative trials of the clinical effect of different inhaled corticosteroids, when often halving or doubling doses are compared and no significant differences are found in effect between the test drugs.

Another factor that complicates the interpretation of clinical studies with inhaled corticosteroids is that differences in the measured response to treatment are influenced by the duration of treatment and monitoring in the study. This is because symptoms of asthma usually show a beneficial response within days, while maximal improvement in lung function may not occur for several weeks (33), and maximal improvement in airway hyperresponsiveness takes months to years of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids (34). Most dose-response studies of inhaled corticosteroids have been of short duration, so potential differences between the effects of different drugs or doses may not have become apparent for some outcome variables.

Though a substantial number of comparative studies have been performed, it has been difficult to draw firm conclusions about the comparative efficacy of different inhaled corticosteroids, for all of the reasons discussed above. However, these studies have suggested that budesonide administered by Turbuhaler and fluticasone administered by Diskhaler are approximately equipotent in efficacy, and these treatment modalities both seem to be more potent (on a nominal dose basis) than beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) administered by pMDI or Rotahaler or budesonide administered by pMDI. Moreover, fluticasone by Diskhaler seems clinically more potent on a μ g-for- μ g basis than triamcinolone pMDI (35). Further well-designed comparisons are, however, required to confirm these suggestions.

V. Systemic Unwanted Effects

The established inhaled corticosteroids have an excellent clinical safety profile, when used in doses needed by most patients to achieve symptom control, even with long-term use. However, concern exists about the long-term use of higher doses of inhaled corticosteroids leading to significant systemic unwanted effects, including adrenal suppression (36,37), bone demineralization (38), and, in children, impairment of growth (39,40). Therefore, it is important also to assess and compare the risk of systemic unwanted effects from various inhaled corticosteroids. This information is also required to accurately assess the therapeutic index.

Clinically relevant systemic unwanted effects should ideally be studied within the context of controlled, long-term clinical trials, which use clinically relevant doses in patients whose disease severities and ages are similar to the groups in which the drugs would normally be prescribed. Such studies require large numbers of patients and are difficult to conduct. As a substitute, the systemic effects of the various inhaled corticosteroids are often studied in short-term, crossover studies on healthy volunteers or patients with mild disease, who will tolerate treatment with placebo for a certain period. A recent study suggested that systemic effects are more likely in healthy volunteers than in asthmatic subjects (21). Therefore, the clinical relevance of findings from such studies for patients with moderate and severe asthma is not known.

A. Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis

Comparisons of the systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids have mainly focused on the effects upon the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Measures of HPA axis function provides the most sensitive and easily measured markers of systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. Effects can be demonstrated with very short duration of dosing, and therefore this measurement is often used to compare and contrast different inhaled corticosteroid preparations. The clinical significance of small alterations in HPA axis function measured under controlled, artificial laboratory conditions is, however, doubtful. Some reduction in cortisol secretion merely reflects the normal functioning (feedback) of the HPA axis–control mechanisms in response to exogenous steroid rather than a clinically significant abnormality, and the total corticosteroid exposure of the body may remain within the physiological range. Significant laboratory findings are, therefore, not necessarily predictive of important clinical effects.

Despite these limitations, the systemic effect studies conducted so far do allow some conclusions:

- All the currently available inhaled corticosteroids can produce suppressive effects on the HPA axis, and the effect is dose-dependent (1,5,41–43).
- Overall, the systemic potency ratio of budesonide to fluticasone depends upon the inhaler devices compared and on whether the assessment is after single or repeated dosing. The systemic potency ratio between fluticasone pMDI and budesonide pMDI on a μ g-for- μ g basis has usually been around 3:1, i.e., three times as much budesonide is required to produce the same degree of systemic effect as fluticasone (1,44,45). For the DPIs this ratio seems to be around 1.5:1 in adults (5) and around 1:1 in children (46).
- The risk of HPA axis effects with BDP pMDI is somewhat higher than that with budesonide pMDI (47), but there is inadequate information to calculate an accurate systemic effect ratio for BDP versus budesonide or fluticasone.
- Higher doses of fluticasone demonstrated a twofold greater effect on the HPA axis when compared to higher doses of triamcinolone acetonide in adult asthmatics (48).

B. Bone Density

Osteoporosis is an important complication of the use of ingested corticosteroids, particularly in high-risk patients, such as postmenopausal women (49). This occurs through an increase in bone resorption and a decrease in bone formation, and results in increased risk of fractures, especially hip and spine. Inhaled corticosteroids have been demonstrated to have effects on bone metabolism, although there is little evidence that, at the conventionally used doses, they cause osteoporosis, and no evidence that they cause increased risk of fractures.

The effects of inhaled glucocorticosteroids on bone metabolism have been demonstrated by measuring serum osteocalcin, which indicates changes in bone formation, and urinary hydroxyproline, measured after a 12-hour fast, which is increased with increased bone resorption. Pyridium cross-links in urine is another measure of bone resorption, which has the advantage over urinary hydroxyproline of not being dietary dependent; however, to date the effects of inhaled glucocorticosteroids on this measure of bone resorption have not been reported.

The effects of BDP and budesonide on serum osteocalcin and urinary hydroxyproline have been studied in adults. Both have been shown to influence serum osteocalcin levels in a dose-dependent manner (50), but only BDP increases urinary hydroxyproline excretion at doses up to $2000 \,\mu g/day$. In children, doses of budesonide of less than $800 \,\mu g/day$ (51) and of fluticasone of $200 \,\mu g/day$ (52) have no effect on any biochemical marker of bone turnover.

Several studies have measured bone densitometry in adult asthmatics taking inhaled corticosteroids. In one study, adult patients were taking a mean dose of inhaled BDP 630 μ g/day over 2 years (53), while in another a mean dose of BDP or budesonide of 980 μ g was given for 3 years. In addition in the EUROSCOP trial, evaluating the efficacy of inhaled budesonide in chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD), older patients (mean age 52 years) were treated with inhaled budesonide 800 μ g/day for 3 years (54). In none of these studies was there any evidence that these patients had increases in bone loss. Also, to date no studies have demonstrated that these biochemical markers of bone turnover are associated with increased risk of bone fracture.

C. Posterior Subcapsular Cataracts

These occur more frequently in patients taking ingested corticosteroids, and this greatly complicates the issue of whether they occur with greater frequency in patients using inhaled glucocorticosteroids. Most studies in adults (55) and children (56) suggest that, once the confounding effect of ingested glucocorticosteroids is removed, there is no evidence that inhaled glucocorticosteroids increase the risk of developing posterior subcapsular cataracts. One recent study has, however, indicated that high inhaled doses of BDP is associated with a slightly greater risk of posterior subcapsular cataracts (57) in older patients. This study did not, however, stratify for the known risk of cataract formation associated with atopy (58).

VI. Summary

The most rigorously designed studies of airway selectivity of the currently available ICS have been carried out in normal volunteers during short-term administration. These studies have shown that all of the ICS are absorbed via the lungs if sufficiently high doses are given. In general, the rank order of putative potency for anti-inflammatory activity is maintained with respect to systemic biological activity. The few well-designed studies in asthmatic subjects have indicated that the systemic bioavailability of ICS is less than in normal subjects, presumably because of the airways obstruction and the decreased surface area for drug absorption. Preliminary data suggest that there may be differences in systemic bioavailability between different ICS, possibly related to their physicochemical characteristics.

References

- 1. Boorsma M, Andersson N, Larsson P, Ullman A. Assessment of the relative systemic potency of inhaled fluticasone and budesonide. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:1427–1432.
- Donnelly R, Williams KM, Baker AB, Badcock CA, Day RO, Seale JP. Effects of budesonide and fluticasone on 24 hour plasma cortisol: a dose response study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:1746–1751.
- Grahnén A, Jansson B, Brundin RM, Ling-Andersson A, Lonnebo A, Johnasson M, Eckernas SA. A dose-response study comparing suppression of plasma cortisol induced by fluticasone propionate from Diskhaler and budesonide from Turbuhaler. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 52:261–267.
- Clark DJ, Lipworth BJ. Adrenal suppression with chronic dosing of fluticasone propionate compared with budesonide in adult asthmatic patients. Thorax 1997; 52: 55–58.
- Derom E, Van Shoor J, Verhaeghe W, Vincken W, Pauwels R. Systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate and budesonide in adult patients with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:157–161.
- Barnes NC, Hallett C, Harris TAJ. Clinical experience with fluticasone propionate in asthma: a meta-analysis of efficacy and systemic activity compared with budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate at half the microgram dose or less. Respir Med 1998; 92:95–104.
- Seale JP, Harrison LI. Effect of changing the fine particle mass of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate on intrapulmonary deposition and pharmacokinetics. Respir Med 1998; (suppl A):9–15.
- Toogood JH, Baskerville J, Jennings B, Lefcoe NM, Johannsson SA. Use of spacers to facilitate inhaled corticosteroid treatment of asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1983; 129:723–729.
- 9. Olsson B. Aerosol particle generation from dry powder inhalers: can they equal pressurized metered dose inhalers? J Aerosol Med 1995; 8:S13–S19.
- 10. Lipworth BJ, Seckl JR. Measures for detecting systemic bioactivity with inhaled and intranasal corticosteroids. Thorax 1997; 52:476–482.
- Capewell S, Reynold S, Shuttleworth D, Edwards C, Finlay AY. Purpura and dermal thinning associated with high doses of inhaled corticosteroids. Br Med J 1990; 300:1548–1551.
- Malo JL, Cartier A, Ghezzo H, Mark S, Brown J, Laviolette M, Boulet LP. Skin bruising, adrenal function and markers of bone metabolism in asthmatics using inhaled beclomethasone and fluticasone. Eur Respir J 1999; 13:993–998.
- 13. Edsbacker S, Andersson KE, Ryrfeldt A. Nasal bioavailablity and systemic effects of the glucocorticoid budesonide in man. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1995; 29:477–481.

- Thorsson L, Dahlstrom K, Edsbacker S, Kallén A, Paulson J, Wirén J-E. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:155–161.
- 15. Richards R, Fowler C, Simpson S. Renwick AG, Holgate ST. Inhaled histamine increases the rate of absorption of sodium cromoglycate from the lung. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1992; 33:337–341.
- Lipworth BJ, Clark DJ. Effects of airway calibre on lung delivery of nebulised salbutamol. Thorax 1997; 52:1036–1039.
- 17. Melchor R, Biddiscome MF, Mak VHF, Short MD, Spiro SG. Lung deposition patterns of directly labelled salbutamol in normal subjects and in patients with reversible airflow obstruction. Thorax 1993; 48:506-511.
- Benson MK, Curry SH, Mills GGD, Hughes DTD. Uptake of disodium cromoglycate in obstructive airways disease. Clin Allergy 1973; 3:389–394.
- Auty RM, Brown K, Neale MG, Snashawl PD. Respiratory tract deposition of sodium cromoglycate is highly dependent upon technique of inhalation using the spinhaler. Br J Dis Chest 1987; 81:371–380.
- Neale MG, Brown K, Foulds RA, Lal S, Morris DA, Thomas D. The pharmacokinetics of nedocromil sodium a new drug for the treatment of reversible obstructive airways disease in human volunteers and patients with reversible obstructive airways disease. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1987; 24:493–501.
- 21. Brutsche MH, Brutsche IC, Munavvar M, Langley SJ, Masterson CM, Daley-Yates PT, Brown R, Custovic A, Woodcock A. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone proprionate are different in asthmatics and normal volunteers. Eur Respir J 1999; 14:345S.
- 22. Lofdahl C-G, Thorsson L. No difference between asthmatic patients and healthy subjects in lung uptake of fluticasone propionate. Eur Respir J 1999; 14:466S
- 23. Harrison TW, Wisniewski A, Honour JW, Tattersfield AE. Systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone proprionate and budesonide in subjects with and without asthma. Eur Respir J 1999; 14:466S.
- 24. Thorsson L, Edsbacker S, Conradson T-B. Lung deposition of budesonide from Turbuhaler is twice that from a pressurized metered-dose inhaler P-MDI. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1839–1844.
- 25. Hallett C. Corticosteroid treatment of asthma: now at the crossroads. Respir Med 1999; 93:292–294.
- 26. Lipworth BJ. Systemic adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159:941–955.
- 27. Mackie AE, Ventresca GP, Fuller RW, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of intravenous fluticasone in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 41: 539–542.
- Minto C, Li B, Tattum B, Brown KF, Seale JP, Donnelly R. Pharmacokinetics of epimeric budesonide and fluticasone propionate after repeat dose inhalation—intersubject variability in systemic absorption from the lung. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 50:116–124.
- 29. Dahl R, Lundback B, Malo J, Mazza JA, Nieminen MM, Saarelainen P, Barnacle H. A dose-ranging study of fluticasone propionate in adult patients with moderate asthma. Chest 1998; 104:352–358.

- 30. Ellul-Micallef R, Johansson SA. Acute dose-response studies in bronchial asthma with a new corticosteroid, budesonide. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1983; 15:419–422.
- 31. Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children: a dose-response study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 95:29–33.
- Busse WW, Chervinsky P, Condemi J, Lumry WR, Petty TL, Rennard S, Townley RG. Budesonide delivered by Turbuhaler is effective in a dose-dependent fashion when used in the treatment of adult patients with chronic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:457–63.
- 33. O'Byrne PM, Cuddy L, Taylor DW, Birch S, Morris J, Syrotiuk J. The clinical efficacy and cost benefit of inhaled corticosteroids as therapy in patients with mild asthma in primary care practice. Can Respir J 1996; 3:169–175.
- 34. van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn KF. Effect of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta2-agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness and symptoms in patients with asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:547–554.
- 35. Condemi JJ, Chervinsky P, Goldstein MF, Ford LB, Berger WE, Ayars GH, Rogenes PR, Edwards L, Pepsin PJ. Fluticasone propionate powder administered through Diskhaler versus triamcinalone acetonide aerosol administered through metered-dose inhaled in patients with persisting asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 100:467–474.
- Brown PH, Blundell G, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Screening for hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis suppression in asthmatics taking high dose inhaled corticosteroids. Respir Med 1991; 85:511–516.
- Wong J, Black P. Acute adrenal insufficiency associated with high dose inhaled steroids. Br Med J 1992; 304:1415–1415.
- 38. Toogood JH, Sorva R, Puolijoki H. Review of the effects of inhaled steroids therapy on bone. Int J Risk Saf Med 1994; 5:1–14.
- Tinkelman DG, Reed CE, Nelson HS, Offord KP. Aerosol beclomethasone dipropionate compared to theophylline as primary treatment of chronic, mild to moderately severe asthma in children. Pediatrics 1993; 92:64–77.
- 40. Doull I, Freezer N, Holgate ST. Growth of prepubertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:1715–1719.
- 41. Pedersen S, Fuglsang G. Urinary cortisol excretion in children treated with high doses of inhaled corticosteroids: a comparison of budesonide and beclomethasone. Eur Respir J 1988; 1:433–435.
- 42. Bisgaard H, Damkjaer- Nilsen M, Andersen B. Adrenal function in children with bronchial asthma treated with beclomethasone dipropionate or budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 80:213–217.
- Grove A, Allam C, McFarlane LC, McPhate G, Lipworth BJ. A comparison of the systemic bioactivity of inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate in normal subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 38:527–532.
- 44. Clark D, Cargill RI, Lipworth BJ. Comparative adrenal supression with inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate in adult asthmatic patients. Thorax 1996; 51:262–266.

- 45. Clark D, Clark RA, Lipworth BJ. Comparative systemic bioactivity of inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate in asthmatic children. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 42:264.
- Hoffman-Streb A, L'Allemand D, Niggemann B, Buttner P, Wahn U. Adrenocortical function in children with bronchial asthma under fluticasone treatment. Monatsschr Kinderheilkd 1993; 141:508–512.
- 47. Johansson SA, Andersson K-E, Brattsand R, Gruvstad E, Hedner P. Topical and systemic glucocorticoid potencies of budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate in man. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1982; 22:523–529.
- 48. Wilson AM, McFarlane LC, Lipworth BJ. Dose-response effect for adrenal supression with repeated twice daily fluticasone propionate and triamcinolone acetonide in adult asthmatics. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:1274–1277.
- 49. Reid DM, Nicholl JJ, Smith MA, Higgins B, Tothill P, Nuki G. Corticosteroids and bone mass in asthma: comparisons with rheumatoid arthritis and polymyalgia rheumatica. Br Med J 1986; 293:1463–1466.
- 50. Puolijoki H, Liippo K, Salmi J, Risteli J, Tala E. Does high dose inhaled beclomethasone (BDP) effect calcium metabolism? Eur Respir J 1991; 4:483s.
- 51. Birkebaek NH, Esberg G, Andersen K, Wolthers O, Hassager C. Bone and collagen turnover during treatment with inhaled dry powder budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate. Arch Dis Child 1995; 73:524–527.
- Wolthers O, Hansen M, Juul A, Niehörster M, Nielsen H, Pedersen S. Knemometry, urine cortisol excretion, and measures of the insulin-like growth factor axis and collagen turnover in children treated with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. Pediatr Res 1997; 41:44–50.
- 53. Boulet LP, Milot J, Gagnon L, Poubelle PE, Brown J. Long-term influence of inhaled corticosteroids on bone metabolism and density. Are biological markers predictors of bone loss? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(3):838–844.
- Pauwels RA, Lofdahl CG, Laitinen LA, Schouten JP, Postma DS, Pride NB, Ohlsson SV. Long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide in persons with mild chronic obstructive pulmonary disease who continue smoking. European Respiratory Society Study on Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(25): 1948–1953.
- 55. Toogood JH, Markov AE, Baskerville JC, Dyson C. Association of ocular cataracts with inhaled and oral steroid therapy during long-term treatment of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993; 91:571–579.
- Simons FE, Persaud MP, Gillespie CA, Cheang M, Shuckett EP. Absence of posterior subcapsular cataracts in young patients treated with inhaled corticosteroids. Lancet 1993; 342:776–778.
- 57. Cumming RG, Mitchell P, Leeder SR. Use of inhaled corticosteroids and the risk of cataracts. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:8–14.
- 58. Hutnik CM, Nichols BD. Cataracts in systemic diseases and syndromes. Curr Opin Ophthalmol 1988; 9:14–19.

Discussion

- **Dr. Brattsand:** My comment goes back to the difference in plasma cortisol diurnal variation between normals and patients with Cushing's disease, where the major difference is that these patients lack the afternoon and early night drop of plasma cortisol. Obviously the more prolonged trigger period mediates the adverse steroid actions seen in these patients. This suggests that such adverse actions are induced first when the receptor-triggering period surpasses a critical length, as a probable physiological adaptation to prolonged stress. Thus, the duration of a steroid peak in plasma may be at least as important as its initial height (see Chapter 14). Therefore, to minimize the adverse steroid actions after inhalation, the receptor triggering in the systemic compartment should ideally not last much longer than happens during normal diurnal cortisol variation.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Continuous administration of steroids will produce more cumulative effect than multiple dosing of the same dose.
- **Dr. Seale:** Dr. Hochhaus, what assumptions are made about percent of receptor occupancy for efficacy in your computer modeling?
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** We assume a direct relationship between receptor occupancy and efficacy; thus, maximum efficacy will be observed when 100% of receptors are occupied in the lung. Whether an asthmatic will feel a difference between a 50% or 70% receptor occupancy, I don't know.
- **Dr. Rohdewald:** We not only have to look for percent of receptors occupied in the target tissue producing the wanted clinical effect, we should also know how many receptors have to be occupied at the peripheral sites to produce the unwanted effects. Presence of drug only, irrespective of the concentration, is not a sound reason for concerns.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** The possibility that dividing doses of oral steroids, or using alternate daily doses, leads to maintained efficacy with reduced side effects has been thoroughly debated. I believe there are studies showing reduction of HPA suppression with alternate daily doses. It is my impression, however, that the cognoscenti believe that it is the cumulative dose that is most relevant with respect to osteoporosis.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** It is a general concept of pharmacology that the unbound concentration at the response site is responsible for activity. One experimental way to measure unbound concentrations in the tissues is microdialysis.
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** What if the diffusion into tissues is not homogeneous in all tissue because of transporters? We have shown the involvement of transporters in

the brain and distribution of glucocortcoids, which resulted in lower free glucocorticoid levels in the brain than in other tissues.

- **Dr. Derendorf:** For FP, the amount of drug appearing in the blood mirrors the disappearance of the drug in the lungs, since there is little oral absorption.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** Budesonide seems to be clinically more effective in the nose than other novel lipophilic steroids. Presumably this is due to budesonide being better absorbed because of its lower lipophilicity. To what extent does the same mechanism play a role in the airways? Does a lower fraction of the deposited drug become absorbed if the steroid is more lipophilic?
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** I believe that it is not necessarily the lipophilicity affecting the uptake into the tissues, but the lipophilicity will affect the residence time in the lung or nose and consequently how fast the drug is leaving the lung. We have shown that there is an optimal release rate in the upper part of the lung and that there is a the need to design drugs that slow this release or dissolution pattern.
- **Dr. Persson:** Topical airway steroids must dissolve in hydrophilic mucosal surface lipids before being absorbed across the lipophilic mucosal membranes. The importance of a good balance between hydrophilicity and lipophilicity with airway steroids may be seen especially in treatment of rhinitis where highly lipophilic nonabsorbed drugs in part may be lost through a runny nose (or through mucociliary clearance). The physical properties of budesonide leading to an efficient entry into mucosal tissues may explain why this drug is clinically more potent than highly lipophilic nasal steroids that are more potent than budesonide at the receptor level.
- Dr. O'Byrne: Is the systemic absorption higher in mild vs. severe asthmatics?
- **Dr. Seale:** There was no difference between healthy subjects and patients with mild asthma in cortisol suppression or plasma drug concentration following one week's treatment with FP via Diskhaler (Lofdahl et al. 1999). Taking these together with the Brutsche et al. data and Harrison et al. data from ERS 99, it appears that for the lipophilic steroids there is a difference in systemic exposure correlating with disease severity but that this difference does not appear to exist for budesonide. In addition, in the October issue of *Chest*, Weiner et al. showed a very clear correlation between lung function parameters and effect on HPA axis, so that the more normal the lung function, the greater the cortisol suppression. One factor contributing to these findings is the more central airway drug deposition seen in patients, which results in a greater mucociliary elimination, particularly for the slowly dissolving steroids.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** Perhaps we should stop doing these sorts of comparisons using adrenal output as the marker of systemic activity, as the results in normal subjects do not reflect what is happening in asthmatics and it has not been possible

to demonstrate meaningful differences when asthmatics are studied, even using excellent study designs.

- **Dr. Busse:** There has been considerable interest in the genetic basis of drug responses to leukotriene metabolism. What information do we have about the genetic variants or genotypes in relationship to the response to corticosteroids?
- Dr. Seale: I am not aware of any studies addressing this question.
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** We have performed studies in human lung which showed that human lung differs in the B_{max} and K_d values of glucocorticoid receptor interaction and not only in the pharmacokinetic behavior. As an example, we measured 10-fold differences in the K_d values in these samples. I would like to ask whether there have been sufficient studies performed that looked at pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability in patient populations?
- **Dr. Busse:** There is no information available. We need to know about the different metabolic pathways for each steroid as well as racial/ethnic differences and polymorphisms. The disease process has been studied to some extent in terms of efficacy but not drug metabolism.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** Dr. Hochhaus, is the variability that you have seen at the level of receptor number or receptor affinity or both?
- Dr. Hochhaus: There have been differences in receptor number and affinity.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** It is the pulmonary absorption that is decreased in asthmatics, not the gastrointestinal absorption. That may explain why the difference between normal subjects and asthmatics is most pronounced for fluticasone where there is no gastrointestinal absorption.
- **Prof. Dolovich:** Deposition measurements have shown that intraindividual variability is greater than interindividual variability, which parallels clinical response data to some degree. Control of inhalation parameters for delivery of the test aerosolized drug/formulation should be part of any clinical trial protocol to try and reduce this variability.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** The reasons for the differences between normal subjects and asthmatics in systemic absorption must relate in some way to where the drug is going, possibly because of airway narrowing, mucus plugging, etc.
- **Dr. Szefler:** Are you saying that we should no longer do studies of inhaled steroids in normal subjects?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** I think that the differences in the sensitivity of the adrenal suppression with IS between normal subjects and asthmatics makes it difficult to defend the use of normal subjects in comparing and contrasting the systemic effects of different IS, and then extrapolating these results to effects in asthmatics.

- **Dr. Rand:** How might decreased adherence with ICS over time in clinical trials have influenced growth retardation results? Particularly, the marked differences between year 1 retardation and later years?
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** This may potentially confound the results obtained. However, in the long-term studies conducted by Soren Pedersen, the clinical benefit of IS persisted, suggesting that adherence was reasonable, but the slowing of growth did not.

Childhood Asthma and Growth

SØREN PEDERSEN

University of Southern Denmark and Kolding Hospital Kolding, Denmark

I. Introduction

Twenty years ago, the majority of children with asthma received only intermittent anti-asthma treatment in association with exacerbations of the disease. Evolution of treatment since that time has included the use of continuous treatment with theophylline, β_2 -agonists, or sodium cromoglycate for children with moderate or severe, persistent asthma; some patients with very severe disease were also given daily or alternate-day prednisolone or inhaled corticosteroids. During the last decade, asthma therapy has included early introduction of anti-inflammatory medications, especially inhaled corticosteroids. This means that at many clinics inhaled corticosteroids are now given to patients with mild and moderate asthma severity, rather than reserving this therapy for the most severe cases. This change in treatment strategy, together with new knowledge about the pathophysiology of the disease, has provided useful information supporting a more aggressive introduction of inhaled corticosteroids into the treatment regimens of both children and adults. While this change in therapy seems justified both upon pathophysiological findings and efficacy data, it is often questioned whether it is also justified from a safety point of view. Thus, many pediatricians are still concerned about potential adverse effects of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids, particularly on growth.

The widespread use of inhaled corticosteroids for all disease severities has also made treatment with inhaled corticosteroids more complex. Thus it seems that conclusions obtained in trials in patients with a certain age and asthma severity may not always be valid for patients of a different age or disease severity. Clinical trials have repeatedly found that the vast majority of school children with mild asthma are very well controlled on a daily dose of 100-200 µg inhaled corticosteroid and that such therapy is as effective as or more effective than other antiasthma therapy in the majority of such patients (1). Several studies have also suggested that the systemic effects of a certain inhaled corticosteroid are more pronounced in patients with mild asthma than in patients with more severe disease (2-4). This means that the clinical relevance of the findings in studies using daily doses of inhaled corticosteroid \geq 400 µg per day in patients with mild asthma should be questioned since such doses are rarely needed in patients with this disease severity. Clinical use of inhaled corticosteroids must be based upon the knowledge about beneficial and adverse effects obtained in controlled clinical dose-response trials in patients with a similar age and disease severity as the group in which the drug is going to be used.

The systemic effect potential of therapy with inhaled corticosteroids is still an issue of concern, and great efforts have been made to develop new inhaled steroids and inhalers with even less systemic activity for a given clinical effect. Although it seems that some inhaled steroids or inhalers have a higher clinical potency and/or a lower potential for systemic effects than others, there is still much debate about the long-term clinical importance of this since only few good, prospective, controlled trials have been designed to assess this. Until such trials exist, transferral of conclusions from one drug-inhaler combination to another drug-inhaler combination should be made with great caution.

In the following review, the influence of the asthma disease itself and the use of inhaled corticosteroids on growth will be discussed in some detail since this issue often causes great concern among prescribing pediatricians, patients, and their parents. Furthermore, some factors important for the assessment of the clinical relevance and general applicability of the findings of growth studies will also be briefly summarized.

II. Definitions and Study Designs

The safety and occurrence of systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids in children have been extensively studied over the past 20 years without a clear definition of the various terms used to describe these issues. Often no distinction is made between a *measurable systemic effect* and a *clinically relevant systemic side* effect. This may lead to unwarranted and unnecessary fear among physicians and patients. Whether a systemic effect is measurable or not depends entirely upon the sensitivity of the method used for the measurement: when more sensitive methods are utilized, more systemic effects become measurable. Thus, for a given drug or inhaler, there will always be a dose below which no systemic effects can be detected no matter which method is used. As the dose increases, there will be a dose range within which systemic effects are measurable in one or more systemic effect models. However, more often than not, these measurable effects merely reflect small changes within the normal range of the normal biological feedback system, or they may be chance findings without clinical relevance (small changes in plasma cortisol levels frequently sampled under artificial laboratory conditions). With regard to growth there are several examples of detectable systemic effects the clinical relevance of that must be questioned: sodium cromoglycate treatment has been found to be associated with significant effects upon the excretion of growth hormone in the urine (5) and markers of bone metabolism (6). Treatment with inhaled β_2 -agonists has also been found to adversely affect the secretion of growth hormone (7,8). Although statistically significant, these findings are probably not clinically relevant, though thorough clinical studies have not yet assessed this.

Another potential pitfall in studies of measurable systemic effects is that such studies are normally short-term or single-dose, standardized, crossover studies on healthy volunteers or patients with very mild disease, who will tolerate treatment with placebo for a certain period. The clinical relevance of findings from such studies to patients with more severe asthma is not known. Recent studies suggest that significant differences may exist between findings in patients and healthy volunteers (4), the systemic effects being markedly higher in healthy volunteers than patients. Similar differences may be seen between patients with mild and more severe disease (2,3).

Our knowledge about the dose level at which measurable systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids are seen in short-term controlled laboratory studies in healthy volunteers or patients with mild disease is quite good. It varies with different steroid/inhaler combinations (9,10), and conclusions from one drug/inhaler combination cannot be extrapolated to other drug/inhaler combinations. Though the clinical relevance of the finding in such studies may be questioned, it can probably be assumed that doses of an inhaled corticosteroid not associated with any measurable systemic effects in sensitive laboratory test systems are also clinically safe.

Clinically relevant systemic side effects should be studied in controlled, long-term clinical trials, using clinically relevant doses in groups of patients with a disease severity and age similar to the groups in which the drugs would normally be prescribed. Such studies require large numbers of patients and are difficult to conduct.

A. Delivery Device

A clinically very effective inhaler with high intrapulmonary deposition of drug will be expected to have a higher systemic effect than a clinically less effective inhaler. However, lower doses can be used if the inhaler is very effective, emphasizing the importance of dose titration. On the other hand, if the bioavailability after oral dosing is not zero, the contribution of the orally deposited drug to the systemic effect will be higher for an inhaler with a low intrapulmonary and high oral drug deposition than for an inhaler with a lower oral drug deposition and the same or higher intrapulmonary drug deposition. This may be clinically important since differences in inhaler characteristics may result in a threefold difference in therapeutic index for some inhaled corticosteroids (Fig. 1).

The clinical implication of this is that for inhaled corticosteroids with a high gastrointestinal availability of drug, the risk of unwanted systemic effects can be reduced without loss of efficacy by choosing an inhaler/drug combination with a high therapeutic index and tailoring the dose to the severity of the disease. Some recent controlled clinical trials on growth have not undertaken such measures (11–14). They found that longitudinal statural growth was retarded in children



Figure 1 (Left) Systemically available drug after inhalation of 100 μ g of different corticosteroids from different inhalers. Black = Absorption from the lungs; gray = absorption from the gastrointestinal tract. (Right) Amount of drug that becomes systemically available if the patient inhales an amount of drug that would result in deposition of 30 μ g of drug in the intrapulmonary airways. FP = Fluticasone propionate; BUD = budesonide; BDP = beclomethasone dipropionate; MDI = CFC metered dose inhaler; Turbu = Turbuhaler; HFA = Hydro Fluro Alkan.

treated with a fixed (no dose tailoring) daily dose of 400 µg beclomethasone dipropionate. Moreover, all used a pMDI or dry powder device for delivery. These devices deposit >85% of the dose in the oropharynx in children. This fraction of drug is extensively systemically absorbed due to a low first metabolism of beclomethasone dipropionate (15–17). Therefore, the therapeutic index of the treatment in these trials would have been better if a spacer device had been used for the delivery, since a spacer reduces oropharyngeal deposition of drug (15). Hence the clinical effect: systemic effect ratio would have been improved and the adverse effect upon growth probably reduced or even abolished if a spacer device and dose tailoring had been used (Fig. 1).

It is beyond the scope of this chapter to discuss in detail how the delivery characteristics of various inhalers influence the therapeutic index and the risk of clinically important systemic side effects. It is, however, important to realize that due to marked differences between the various products, conclusions from one inhaler/ drug combination may not be transferable to other drug/inhaler combinations.

B. Dosing Regimen

Once-daily dosing of inhaled corticosteroids is becoming more widely used in patients with mild disease severity. Although more studies are needed, preliminary evidence suggests that once-daily administration of budesonide may be associated with less effect on short-term lower leg growth rate and markers of collagen and bone turnover than the same budesonide dose divided into twice-daily dosing (18–20). Furthermore, little is known about the effect of once-daily dosing on the therapeutic index of the various inhaled corticosteroids.

C. Pharmacodynamics

The clinical effects of inhaled corticosteroids are best evaluated in dose-response trials. A number of such studies have been performed in adults (10), but only a few have been done in children. The findings in such studies are important for our understanding of the clinically relevant doses of inhaled corticosteroid to use in growth trials in various patient groups. Therefore, the published dose-response trials conducted in children will be briefly presented.

Budesonide

A placebo-controlled study of 404 children with moderate asthma severity (21) assessed the dose-response relationships for lung function and other clinical outcomes with budesonide delivered through the multiple-dose dry powder inhaler, Turbuhaler in daily doses of 100, 200, and 400 μ g. All doses produced statistically significant effects. The difference between placebo and low-dose budesonide was much greater than the difference between low-dose and high-dose budesonide, the lowest dose producing a near maximum effect on most outcomes with little additional benefit being obtained by the increase in dose. Moreover, the differences in clinical effect between individual dose steps were not statistically significant.

A double-blind crossover study of 19 schoolchildren with moderate to severe asthma compared the effects of 100, 200, and 400 μ g/day budesonide given by pMDI + large-volume plastic spacer (22). Morning PEF values and FEV₁ for all three doses were significantly better than for placebo. There was no dose-response effect in PEF values measured at home or diary recordings of symptoms and rescue β_2 -agonists, indicating that the top of the dose-response curve had been reached at the lowest dose for these outcomes. However, a dose-response effect with significant differences between the effects of individual doses was seen in the FEV₁ values measured at the clinic. Moreover, the fall in FEV₁ or FEF_{25-75%} after exercise proved to be a sensitive marker of dose-response with significant differences detected between adjacent doses.

Fluticasone Propionate

The effect of 100 and 200 μ g/day fluticasone propionate Diskhaler[®] was compared with that of placebo among 169 asthmatic children (23). Both doses of fluticasone propionate led to significant improvements in PEF, lung functions, asthma symptom scores, and exacerbations over 6 and 12 weeks, but as in the other dose-response studies, no significant difference was seen between the effects of the two doses of fluticasone propionate.

Finally, a double-blind, dose-reduction trial in 216 children with moderate asthma found that the minimal effective daily dose of inhaled corticosteroid required to maintain optimal lung function and clinical control and prevent exercise induced asthma was 188 μ g budesonide from Turbuhaler[®] and 180 μ g fluticasone propionate from Diskhaler (24).

All these studies share some common features. They all demonstrate marked and rapid clinical improvements and changes in symptoms and lung function at very low daily doses (around 100 μ g) of inhaled steroids in most children with mild, moderate, and even severe asthma (10,22,25,26). Additional improvement in these parameters with increasing doses is rather small, often taking an additional fourfold increase in dose to produce further significant effect. Low doses are clinically so effective that even very large, well-conducted studies normally fail to show any statistically significant or clinically relevant additional effect on symptoms and lung function when the dose is increased beyond 100 μ g per day (10). In agreement with this, a large number of studies have found that the beneficial effects of low doses of inhaled steroid (200 μ g/day) in children are normally more pronounced than for any other antiasthma drug to which they have been compared. (12–14,27–37).

III. Growth

It is clear from efficacy studies in pediatric patients that $100-200 \ \mu g$ of inhaled steroid per day is more effective than any other treatment in the majority of patients and that these doses control the disease satisfactorily in the majority of patients with mild and moderate disease. Therefore, it is mainly relevant to assess the risk of clinically important systemic effects of such doses of inhaled steroids when comparing the clinical effect: side effect ratio with other drugs. When reviewing the literature about the safety of inhaled steroids in that dose range, it becomes clear that at present, no controlled studies have reported any clinically relevant systemic side effects with daily doses of $100-200 \ \mu g$ of orally inhaled corticosteroid (10,38–40).

Measurement of clinically important systemic effects of higher doses (>200 µg/day) of inhaled corticosteroids is mainly relevant for comparisons of different steroids or inhalers in order to define a therapeutic index. Knowledge obtained in such studies may also be of help in deciding whether a child whose asthma is not optimally controlled on a certain dose of inhaled corticosteroid should have this dose increased or additional therapy, such as a long-acting β_2 -agonist. Findings in such studies are generally not relevant for decisions about choice of therapy between inhaled corticosteroids and other asthma drugs since doses of inhaled corticosteroids that are equi-effective with other asthma drugs are normally lower.

For inhaled steroids, the vast majority of safety data, including data on growth, has been obtained in school children with mild asthma who have not required the doses of inhaled corticosteroid under investigation to be optimally controlled. Furthermore, many studies have been conducted under conditions very different from the actual conditions occurring during day-to-day treatment. As mentioned earlier, conclusions from such studies should be applied with great caution to the day-to-day treatment of patients with mild or moderate asthma severity or treatment of patients with more severe disease, who may actually require the doses used in these studies to control their disease. Clinically relevant safety data should be obtained in clinical trials, which tailor the dose of inhaled steroid to the severity of the disease. Often the findings in such "dose-tailored" studies are different from the conclusions of studies carried out in the laboratory or from studies in which patients are overtreated due to a fixed (often high-dose) dosing regimen that does not allow for dose adjustments as indicated by the individual's clinical picture.

When the effects of steroids on growth in children are assessed, it is important to appreciate that growth may be divided into three distinct age-related components (41):

1. The rapid, rapidly decelerating, growth of the first 2–3 years of life. This phase is probably controlled by the same factors that are important for fetal growth, the main one being nutrition.

- 2. Childhood growth, which occurs from approximately, age 3–11 years. This phase mainly represents the contribution of the endocrine system, particularly growth hormone.
- 3. Pubertal growth, which depends largely on a combination of growth hormone and sex steroids.

Since the importance of the various factors that affect growth seems to differ between these three phases, studies should preferably be performed in all three age groups separately. Even though our knowledge about this area is still quite sparse, the importance of age for the growth-retarding effect of inhaled corticosteroids is supported by the findings in two recent studies, which found that the growthretarding effect of an inhaled corticosteroid administered for one year was more marked in prepubertal than pubertal school-age children (12,42). This lends further support to the view that conclusions drawn from results obtained in one age group should be applied to other age groups with great caution.

A. Influence of Disease

Most chronic diseases of childhood have been shown to adversely affect the normal growth pattern of a child. The most commonly observed influence of the asthmatic condition on growth is a reduction in growth rate, most often seen towards the end of the first decade of life (Fig. 2) (43-50). This reduced growth rate continues into the mid-teens and is associated with a delay in the onset of puberty. The prepubertal deceleration of growth velocity resembles growth retardation. However, the delay in pubertal growth is also associated with a delay in skeletal maturation so that the bone age of the child corresponds to the height. Ultimately, there is no decreased final height, although it is reached at a later than normal age (43-50). This difference in growth patterns seems to be unrelated to the use of inhaled corticosteroids, but it seems to be more pronounced in the children with the most severe asthma.

The deviant growth pattern seen in many children with asthma complicates the interpretation of results from cross-sectional studies comparing the heights of asthmatic children treated with inhaled corticosteroids with the heights of normal children or children with asthma who are not treated with inhaled corticosteroids. The results of Littlewood (51) illustrate this problem: a group of asthmatic children (mean age = 10.9 years) treated with inhaled beclomethasone had lower height standard deviations scores than a group of children never treated with inhaled corticosteroids (mean age = 6.6 years). The results of other studies (43–50) suggest that this difference might as well be due to differences in age as to differences in treatment between the two groups.

Recent studies suggest that a poorly controlled asthma may in itself adversely affect growth in populations of children who have never received inhaled corticosteroids. Thus, height standard deviation scores before treatment with in-



Figure 2 The most commonly observed influence of the asthmatic condition on growth is a reduction in growth rate, which is most often seen toward the end of the first decade of life. The reduced growth rate continues into the midteens and is associated with a delay in the onset of puberty. This prepubertal deceleration of growth velocity resembles growth retardation. However, the delay in growth is also associated with a delay in skeletal maturation so that the bone age of the child corresponds to the height and, ultimately, there is no reduction in final height, which is reached at a later-than-normal age. This difference in growth pattern seems to be unrelated to the use of inhaled corticosteroids, but it seems to be more pronounced in children with the most severe asthma.

haled steroids were found to correlate significantly with lung functions (32,42) and degree of asthma control (52,53): the lower the lung function or poorer the asthma control, the lower the height standard deviation score. Furthermore, severe asthma was suggested to adversely affect expected final height in a retrospective study on a cohort of children with different degrees of asthma (54) and statural height in a large population based study on more than 3000 children with asthma (55). Exactly which mechanisms operate in poorly controlled asthma that can adversely affect growth is unclear. However, they may share some features with the factors operating in groups of children living under poor socioeconomic conditions, which have been shown to have an effect upon growth that is more pronounced than the effect of high-dose inhaled corticosteroids (55). These observations are

very important for our understanding of the various factors that should be considered and adjusted for when the general applicability of the findings of various controlled growth studies is assessed.

B. Effects of Exogenous Steroids

When the effect of exogenous corticosteroids on growth is evaluated, the various studies can be arbitrarily but conveniently divided into:

Growth marker studies, which measure steroid-induced changes in various serum markers thought to reflect bone and collagen formation/degradation or growth

Short-term studies, which assess growth during periods of 6 months or less *Intermediate-term studies*, which evaluate growth during periods longer than 6 months but do not assess final adult height

Long-term studies, which assess growth for many years and also include final adult height in relation to predicted adult height

This distinction is important to remember when the findings of a clinical trial are assessed.

Several studies have demonstrated poor correlations between short-term height velocity and annual height velocity (56-60) and between steroid-induced changes in short-term lower leg growth rate and statural growth during the subsequent year. One month lower leg length velocity explains virtually nothing of the variation in annual statural height velocity (59,60). In addition, the correlation between two consecutive annual height velocity values for normal prepubertal children is also very poor. A low gain in one year is not necessarily followed by a low gain the next year, and vice versa (59). The correlation between 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4year values are only partially correlated with one another (59), and height velocity computed over a period of 3 or 4 years in childhood only explains 34% and 38%, respectively, of the variation in final height, respectively. Therefore, the clinically most important outcome measure of human growth is the final height in relation to expected final height, allowing for gender and mid-parental height differences. When the results from growth studies are evaluated, it is important to realize that a change in growth markers or an effect upon growth found in shortor intermediate-term studies is not necessarily equivalent to an effect upon longterm growth or final adult height.

C. Markers of Bone Formation and Resorption

When the influence of various inhaled corticosteroids on growth is assessed, levels of various biological markers of bone and collagen formation and degradation or growth hormone concentrations and activity have been the most popular surrogate markers of statural growth studied.

Levels of all the markers of bone and collagen formation and resorption are usually measurable, as normal bone and collagen are in a constant state of turnover, maintaining a balance between resorption and formation. In simple terms, an elevation of all markers could occur when there is increased bone turnover without net loss or gain in bone mass, while a reduction of all markers, normally seen with low doses of oral steroids or high doses of inhaled corticosteroids, could signify a reduction in bone turnover with a constant bone mass. Therefore, it is probably most clinically relevant to consider the net effect of bone formation and bone resorption (61). If, for instance, formation and resorption decrease to the same extent, the changes may not be important since the net effect may be zero. An elevation of markers of bone resorption alone supposedly suggests net bone loss, whereas an elevation of markers of bone formation alone suggests net bone formation. However, no isolated marker can be considered a reliable guide to the extent of bone formation or resorption; moreover, the significance of some markers is not clear and the relevance of changes reported from short-term studies to long-term clinical outcomes remains to be demonstrated (62). However, evidence suggests that small but statistically significant changes in such markers are rarely of any clinical relevance.

D. Inhaled Corticosteroids and Bone Markers

Reduced osteocalcin levels have been reported in children with asthma independent of whether or not the child received steroids (63), emphasizing that results from steroid-treated children with asthma should be compared with findings in children with asthma who are not receiving any exogenous steroids. Several studies have assessed markers of bone and collagen resorption and formation in such designs. They all found that only high daily doses of inhaled steroids (>400 μ g budesonide) may have a detectable effect on some of these markers in children, suggesting a reduction in both bone formation and degradation at this dose. Daily doses of 400 μ g or less of budesonide or fluticasone propionate had no effect in any of the studies (6,18,63–70). All studies were short term and involved patients with quite mild disease. In contrast, studies of children receiving low doses (2.5–5 mg) of oral prednisolone found significant reductions in serum levels of osteocalcin, PICP, and ICTP and in hydroxyproline excretion in the urine (67,71).

No adverse effects on markers of bone formation and degradation have been reported at standard pediatric doses of inhaled corticosteroids, whereas higher doses may cause significant changes, which suggest a reduced bone turnover rate. The importance of this finding has yet to be elucidated. Recent studies found no correlation between the levels of various markers and bone mineral density or between changes in levels of the various markers and changes in bone mineral density over 1 and 2 years (40).

E. Growth Markers

During recent years the blood levels of various biochemical markers, such as growth hormone, somatomedin-1 (IGF-1), IGF-binding protein-3 (IGFBP-3), carboxyterminal propeptide of type-1 procollagen (PICP), and the amino terminal propeptide of type III procollagen (PIIINP), have been found to correlate to some extent with growth rate of lower leg growth velocity (72,73). However, the predictive value of drug-induced changes in the levels of these markers is not known. Thus, a recent controlled, prospective study found no correlation between the levels of various markers of bone and collagen formation and degradation or steroidinduced changes in these markers and growth during 1 and 2 years of budesonide treatment (40), indicating that the predictive value of steroid-induced changes in these markers is low and that assessment of changes is not clinically useful. This is in good agreement with the observation that growth markers have been found to correlate poorly with growth rate in healthy children (74) and the findings in a study that assessed the clinical usefulness of the various markers in children suspected of steroid-induced growth retardation and children with normal growth during treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. No clinically useful differences were found in growth hormone secretion, serum cortisol, ostecalcin, and IGF-1 levels or bone mineral density between the two groups (75).

Treatments with even low doses of prednisolone (2.5-5 mg/day) are associated with significant reductions in the levels of some of these markers, while daily doses of inhaled corticosteroids $\leq 400 \ \mu g$ are not (64,65,67,68,71). Furthermore, daily doses of beclomethasone and budesonide around $400 \ \mu g$ (range $200-1200 \ \mu g$) do not adversely affect the output of urine growth hormone (76,77). The clinical relevance of findings of treatment-induced changes in growth markers remains unknown. Treatment with sodium cromoglycate has been found to be associated with significant effects upon the excretion of growth hormone in the urine (5) and markers of bone metabolism (6). Treatment with inhaled β_2 -agonists has also been found to adversely affect the secretion of growth hormone (7,8,78). Although statistically significant, these findings are probably not clinically relevant, although thorough clinical studies have not yet assessed this.

Leptin is a recently discovered hormone that is believed to play an important role in regulation of body weight and perhaps also growth. Systemic steroids increase serum leptin levels, but daily doses of 800 μ g budesonide from a pMDI with a spacer had no effect on this marker (79).

F. Short-Term Studies

Knemometry measures changes in short-term linear growth of the lower leg within weeks. This may be a valuable adjunct/alternative to traditional growth studies since knemometry allows very controlled designs. However, the clinical implication of knemometry findings still needs further study since 1-month lower leg growth velocity or steroid-induced changes in short-term in lower leg growth rate explains virtually nothing of the variation in annual statural height velocity (59,60). Furthermore, daily treatment with 2.5 or 5 mg prednisolone totally stopped lower leg growth (80,81). This indicates that knemometry is too sensitive and probably amplifies or exaggerates the growth-stunting effects of exogenous steroids. On the other hand, it also means that if an exogenous steroid has no adverse effect on lower leg growth in a properly performed knemometry study, it is most unlikely that such treatment will be associated with any growth suppression during long-term treatment. Thus, at present, no statural growth studies have found any adverse effects on statural growth of doses of inhaled corticosteroid, which in well-designed knemometry studies have been found not to adversely affect lower leg growth.

Several knemometry studies have evaluated the influence of inhaled budesonide delivered from a pMDI and a spacer (Nebuhaler) on short-term lower leg growth in school children (82–85). These studies, and a later meta-analysis, concluded that daily doses of budesonide $\leq 400 \,\mu g$ from pMDI and Nebuhaler did not adversely affect growth. In contrast, 800 μg budesonide per day from Nebuhaler or 400 $\mu g/day$ from the dry powder inhaler Turbuhaler significantly reduced lower leg growth rate in the three studies evaluating these drug-inhaler combinations (82–84,86). Daily doses of 200 μg budesonide delivered from Turbuhaler or fluticasone propionate from Diskhaler did not adversely affect growth in the studies evaluating this dose (81,86,87). All children participating in these studies were mild asthmatics not requiring inhaled corticosteroids.

In preschool children, 200 μ g budesonide per day from a Nebuhaler did not affect short-term lower leg linear growth in children aged 13–36 months (88), whereas 800 μ g per day was associated with a significant reduction.

Beclomethasone dipropionate delivered from the dry powder inhaler Diskhaler has been assessed in two knemometry studies of different designs (89,90). In both studies, treatment with a daily dose of 400 μ g was associated with significant growth suppression of lower leg growth. This growth suppressive effect of beclomethasone was significantly higher than that observed during treatment with 200 μ g fluticasone propionate per day (89).

Budesonide from a Turbuhaler and fluticasone from a Diskhaler have been compared in a recent dose-response study (86). It was found that, μg for μg , the two drug-delivery combinations had similar effects. Doses of 200 $\mu g/day$ did not adversely affect lower leg growth rate, whereas treatment with 400 $\mu g/day$ was associated with a slight reduction in lower leg growth, which was significant for budesonide when compared to placebo but not when compared to fluticasone. No other inhaled corticosteroids have been compared with placebo in knemometry studies.

Short-term knemometry studies and long-term studies have found that treatment with oral steroids retards growth and induces changes in blood levels of biochemical markers of growth (50,71,91–98), even at doses as low as 2.5 and 5 mg prednisolone per day (71,91,93,96). These effects have been consistently greater than the effects of $400-800 \ \mu g$ of inhaled corticosteroid.

G. Statural Growth

It is well known that systemic steroids may adversely affect growth in children. The suppressive effect seems to depend upon the duration of treatment, dose, and frequency (94,95), and when treatment is stopped catch-up growth may occur (97,98). However, growth retardation caused by daily and alternate day administration of large doses of systemic corticosteroids for extended periods of time may be permanent (50,91).

Over the years the influence of inhaled corticosteroids on growth of asthmatic children has been studied extensively. There have been flaws in the designs of most studies. Several have been retrospective or uncontrolled. Others have been conducted under artificial conditions, which are very different from the day-to-day treatment situation. This makes it difficult for the clinician to draw firm, unequivocal conclusions about the clinical relevance of the findings. A brief summary of the findings and the conclusions is given below.

H. Intermediate-Term Studies

A large number of intermediate-term studies have evaluated the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on statural growth (11,14,32,43,44,52,99-122). Until 1993, none included a control group. The vast majority have been in school-age children. Some have been historical follow-up studies, while others have been prospective, more or less controlled studies. A metered dose inhaler or a Diskhaler was used for the administration of beclomethasone and a Nebuhaler for budesonide administration. None of these studies, comprising more than 2000 children treated for mean periods of 1-13 years, found any adverse effect of the inhaled corticosteroid upon growth. In agreement with this, a meta-analysis of 21 studies representing 810 patients to some extent corroborated the findings in these studies. The analysis compared attained height with expected height of children with asthma treated with inhaled or oral steroids (123). Significant weak growth impairment was found in children receiving oral steroids, whereas children treated with inhaled steroids attained normal height. Furthermore, there was no statistical evidence of inhaled steroid therapy being associated with growth impairment either at higher doses or during extended therapy.

A recent follow-up of a cohort of 3347 children with asthma from general practices corroborated these findings, but in addition shed further light on the complexity of the growth process. The study found that the vast majority of children had normal growth rates. Only children receiving daily doses of inhaled cor-

ticosteroids of \geq 400 µg showed growth impairment. However, this effect on growth was smaller than the effect of poor socioeconomic status or severe asthma (55). This study illustrates how important confounders may be in growth studies. Such confounders must be accounted for in the analysis of the data.

In contrast to these findings several studies of parallel group design conducted over the last few years have found significant growth retardation in children with mild asthma treated continuously for 9–12 months with a fixed daily dose of beclomethasone of \geq 400 µg (11–14,39). This dose is markedly higher than the dose required to control mild asthma. Furthermore, a dry powder inhaler or a pMDI was used for the administration of beclomethasone. These devices deposit a large amount of drug in the oropharynx, which is extensively absorbed into the systemic circulation through the gastrointestinal tract, resulting in a subsequent increase in systemic effect. Therefore, the therapeutic index would have been better if a spacer device had been used for the delivery instead of a pMDI or a dry powder inhaler.

Tinkelman et al. (14) compared 400 µg beclomethasone with sustained-release theophylline in 195 asthmatic children 6–16 years of age. The observed mean growth rate for all children who had their first and last measurement greater than 100 days apart was 4.2 cm per year for the beclomethasone-treated children and 5.5 cm per year for the theophylline-treated children (p < 0.005). The growthretarding effect was mainly observed in boys, and there was no significant difference between the two groups when the girls were studied separately.

Doull et al. (11) assessed the effect of daily doses of $400 \,\mu g$ beclomethasone on viral-induced wheezing episodes in 7- to 9- year-old children who, between episodes (around 5 per year), had no asthma symptoms requiring continuous inhaled corticosteroid treatment. Ninety-four children completed the study, the duration of which was 31 weeks. Growth rate during beclomethasone treatment was significantly lower than during placebo treatment, so that the placebo children grew on average 1 cm more during the 31 weeks of study. No catch-up growth was seen during the washout period.

Verberne et al. (12) found that the annual growth rate was significantly slower (4.7 cm/yr) in 35 children treated with 400 μ g beclomethasone propionate per day than the growth rate in 32 children treated with salmeterol (6.1 cm/yr). A subgroup analysis revealed that the growth-retarding effect was only significant for prepubertal children. Pubertal children grew normally during beclomethasone treatment.

Similar findings were reported by Simons (13), who treated 241 children with mild asthma with either 400 μ g beclomethasone dipropionate per day, placebo, or salmeterol for one year. Significant differences were observed in baseline height between the three groups at study entry. The annual growth rate was significantly lower in children treated with beclomethasone propionate (3.96 cm/yr) as compared with the growth rates in the other two groups (5.04 cm/yr) for placebo

and 5.40 cm/yr for salmeterol). The difference in growth rate between the three groups was due to a markedly lower growth rate in the beclomethasone-treated children during the first 3 months of the study. After this, the growth rate was similar in the three groups.

Somewhat different findings have been reported with budesonide and fluticasone propionate. A controlled, prospective study (32) measured growth in 216 children with asthma during long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide and 62 asthmatic children not treated with corticosteroids. The children were followed at 6-month intervals for 1-2 years without inhaled budesonide and then for 3-6years on inhaled budesonide. During the period of budesonide therapy, the mean daily dose decreased from 710 to 430 ug. A pMDI or Turbuhaler was used for the administration of budesonide. No statistically significant differences were seen between the two groups in measured height or height SDS during run-in or the 3-6 years of treatment. Over the whole period the annual increase in height was 5.62 cm (controls) and 5.48 cm (budesonide). Because the dose of budesonide varied in each individual child during the treatment period, the influence of budesonide dose upon growth could not be accurately assessed. However, when high doses were used (>400 μ g/day), both growth rate and lung functions were lower than during run-in and during treatment with 400 µg/day, indicating that either high doses or poor asthma control (or both) adversely affected growth. After 5 years of continuous treatment with a mean daily dose of 500 µg budesonide, statural height was still not significantly different between the two groups (124). A more recent analysis of these data confirmed the observation that growth rate was lower just before puberty (42). Moreover, an age-dependent effect was found on the growth-retarding effect of budesonide during the first year of treatment, the growth rate of young children (ages 5-10) being more reduced than the growth rate of pubertal children.

The prospective investigation of Merkus et al. (122) corroborated these findings. These investigators studied 40 asthmatic children who were randomized to treatment with 600 µg/day budesonide pMDI or placebo for 2 years. In addition, growth in these two groups was compared with the growth of 80 matched, healthy control subjects. The mean difference in growth rates between patients treated with placebo and their controls was -0.70cm/yr; that between children treated with budesonide and their controls was -0.44cm/yr. The observed mean (SEM) case-control difference between treatment groups was +0.27 (0.58) in favor of budesonide treatment. The authors concluded that asthmatic children (especially boys) have a prepubertal growth delay and that budesonide in a daily dose of 600 µg administered by a pMDI does not adversely affect growth over a 2-year period.

Finally, a recent prospective, double-blind, randomized, controlled study on 6 to 10-year-old children with mild asthma compared the growth rates of 46 children treated with budesonide Turbuhaler 100 μ g b.i.d. and 45 children with ne-

docromil sodium with the growth of 45 healthy children during 9 months (40). No statistically significant differences were found in growth rates between the three groups. In contrast, growth rate was significantly reduced in the children in the budesonide group when they received treatment with 400 μ g budesonide per day for a 3-month period. This study confirmed the safety of clinically effective low doses of budesonide in children with mild asthma (200 μ g budesonide per day was clinically significantly more effective than treatment with nedocromil sodium). The double-blind period was followed by a one-year open label treatment with budesonide 400 μ g per day for 3 months followed by 200 μ g per day for 9 months. Even if this regimen was exactly similar to the regimen used during the first year of treatment, suggesting that the growth-retarding effect of budesonide was reduced with continued treatment.

Two prospective, controlled studies assessed growth during fluticasone propionate treatment of children with mild asthma. Both found that fluticasone in daily doses of 100 and 200 μ g did not adversely affect growth during one year's treatment (29,125).

Price et al. (29) measured growth during one year in 60 children treated with either 100 μ g fluticasone per day or sodium cromoglycate 80 mg/day. No statistically significant differences were found between the two groups. The average growth rates in the two groups were 6.0 cm/yr (fluticasone) and 6.5 cm/yr (sodium cromoglycate), respectively.

Allen et al. (125) assessed the growth rate of 300 children treated with either placebo or 100 or 200 μ g fluticasone per day for one year in a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. No statistically significant differences were found in growth rates between the three groups. The average growth rates were 6.15 cm/yr (placebo), 5.94 cm/yr (fluticasone 100), and 5.73 cm/yr (fluticasone 200), respectively. The authors concluded that prepubescent children treated with daily doses of 100–200 μ g fluticasone propionate for one year grew at rates similar to placebo-treated children and at rates equal to expected growth velocity for age.

The effect of other inhaled corticosteroids upon growth has not been thoroughly assessed, although a retrospective study did not find any adverse effects upon growth during one-year treatment with triamcinolone (113).

Preschool Children

The influence of inhaled corticosteroids on growth in preschool children is less well studied. Preschool children treated with $200-300 \ \mu g$ budesonide per day from a pMDI with a spacer were reported to grow normally during 3-5 years of continuous treatment (115). However, the conclusions of the study are weakened by the lack of a control group not receiving inhaled corticosteroids.

Skoner et al. (126,127) studied asthma patients recruited from three randomized, 12-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies with budesonide inhalation suspension (BIS). A total of 670 children were enrolled in three 52-week, randomized, open-label, controlled, parallel-group studies, comparing the growth rate during treatment with BIS and control treatment (which for some children included inhaled corticosteroids). BIS was initially administered at a dose of 0.5 mg once (studies A and C) or twice daily (study B), with attempts made at each clinical visit to gradually reduce the dose to the minimum effective dose. 223 subjects received control treatment and 447 budesonide inhalation suspension. Mean age at entry was around 5 years. Median total daily doses of BIS ranged from 0.5 to 1.0 mg. Changes in height SD scores differed significantly between the BIS and controls in study A, in which the controls did not receive inhaled corticosteroids, and there was a statistically significant decrease in growth velocity (-0.8 cm/yr in)the BIS-treated group compared with the controls). No statistically significant differences were observed between BIS and controls in changes in height SD scores or in growth velocities in studies B and C in which some of the control children also used inhaled corticosteroids.

Comparison Between the Effect of Inhaled Corticosteroids

A study compared the annual growth rate during treatment with fluticasone propionate $400 \ \mu g/day$ with the growth rate in children receiving $400 \ \mu g$ beclomethasone propionate per day (128). Both groups were prepubertal. Growth rate was significantly higher during fluticasone treatment (4.99 cm/yr) than during beclomethasone treatment (4.09 cm/yr). This observation emphasizes that conclusions from studies with one inhaled corticosteroid should not be transferred to other inhaled corticosteroids. Each drug/inhaler combination must be studied separately.

The findings in these growth studies emphasize some important issues:

- 1. Important differences seem to exist between the growth retarding effects of various inhaled corticosteroids and inhalers (10).
- 2. Growth retardation may be seen with all inhaled corticosteroids when a sufficiently high dose is administered for long periods without any dose adjustment for disease severity.
- 3. Different age groups seem to differ in susceptibility to the growth-retarding effects of inhaled corticosteroids, children aged 4–10 years being more susceptible than pubertal children (12,42).

Furthermore, the findings in several of these studies suggest that the growth-retarding effect of an inhaled corticosteroid treatment may be more marked in the beginning of the treatment and in some way becomes attenuated with continued



Figure 3 Expected effect that a treatment would have on attained adult height if the growth retardation measured in each individual study persisted during 10 years of continued treatment. The data have been constructed upon the findings in randomized controlled trials published as full-length papers. Findings in short-term studies seem to suggest a much more marked effect upon attained adult height than studies of longer duration. These calculations should be assessed in light of the fact that all studies conducted so far (a total of six) have found that long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids has no adverse effect on attained adult height.

treatment (13,42,129,130). A time-dependent effect would also explain the marked steroid-induced reductions in lower leg growth rate observed in knemometry studies (80,82,83,89,131,132) compared with the smaller reduction in statural height in studies of longer duration. In an attempt to assess the possibility of a time-dependent, growth-retarding effect of inhaled corticosteroids, the data from various randomized controlled growth studies of different durations have been used to calculate the expected effect a treatment would have on attained adult height if the growth retardation measured in each individual study persisted during 10 years of continued treatment (Fig. 3). Although this analysis does not allow any firm conclusion about the possibility of a time-dependent effect upon growth, it does call for further studies to assess this question.

I. Long-Term Studies and Studies on Final Adult Height

At present only few prospective long-term studies or studies on attained final adult height have been conducted.

Norjavaara (133) compared the recorded adult heights of all pregnant women (n = 287.750) born in Sweden between 1960 and 1974 with the heights of all pregnant women with asthma (n = 2.738) from the same period. Use of inhaled corticosteroids was very low in the study population since inhaled corticosteroids were reserved for the more severe cases during this period. It was found that the adult height of women with asthma was significantly lower than the adult height of women without a diagnosis of asthma and that patients who had been hospitalized with asthma early in life tended to be shorter than patients who had been hospitalized later in life. These data suggest that the asthma disease may in itself adversely affect adult height and that this effect may be more marked if the asthma is severe. This is in good agreement with the findings in other studies on children with asthma (42,54) and the observations in children with other chronic diseases (134,135) but in contrast to the findings in children with atopic dermatitis who, like children with asthma, may also have a prepubertal growth delay but apparently no adverse effect on adult height (136,137), probably because atopic dermatitis is a less severe disease.

Balfour-Lynn (43,44) followed 66 children for an average of 13.1 years. No difference was found in overall growth rate between children who received beclomethasone dipropionate and those who did not. Final heights were reported to be within the expected range in the children treated with beclomethasone dipropionate. No data on predicted height estimated from parental height were given (43,44). Similar results were reported in a retrospective study, which assessed the longitudinal growth of 97 children treated with beclomethasone dipropionate in daily doses of $300-800 \mu g$ for more than 8 years (138). Adult heights were within the expected range, but no predicted adult heights were given.

Other retrospective studies (54,139) have compared measured adult heights of the steroid treated children with their target adult heights. Silverstein found that adult height of patients with asthma was not significantly different from the adult height of nonasthmatic subjects; the overall difference, adjusted for mid-parental height, was -0.20 cm (95% C.I. from -0.27 to 1.64). Moreover, the adult height of asthmatic children treated with glucocorticoids was not significantly different from the adult height of patients with asthma not treated with glucocorticoids; the difference after adjusting for mid-parental height was -0.2 cm (95% C.I. from -0.1 to 0.6) (139).

Van Bever et al. (54) found that mean attained adult height was the same in subjects who took inhaled corticosteroids during childhood as compared to those who had never received this treatment. However, steroid-treated patients showed significantly lower values of adult height minus target height than in those who never took inhaled corticosteroids. Furthermore, patients who had ever been hospitalized for asthma showed a lower value for adult height minus target height than those who were never hospitalized, indicating that asthma severity negatively influenced attained adult height.

Larsson et al. (140) compared measured adult heights of 97 children treated with inhaled corticosteroids during childhood with the adult heights of 70 non-steroid-treated asthma patients and 136 healthy controls. Survey reported parental heights were used to calculate the target heights of the study population. It was found that inhaled corticosteroids did not adversely affect adult height; mean measured adult height/target height for the three groups were 2.6 cm (steroid-treated asthma), 2.6 cm (non-steroid-treated asthma), and 2.1 cm (healthy controls).

Recently, the findings of all these studies were confirmed in a controlled, prospective, long-term study in which asthmatic children were treated with inhaled budesonide for several years in doses tailored to disease severity (42). Sixtytwo children who only received nonsteroid asthma treatment served as controls. One hundred and forty-two children attained adult height after a mean of 9.2 years of budesonide treatment at a mean daily dose of 412 µg (range 110-877 µg). Mean accumulated budesonide dose was 1.35 µg (range 0.41-3.99 µg). Eighteen of the controls and 51 healthy siblings were also followed until adult height had been attained. Mean differences between measured and target adult heights was +0.3 cm (95% C.I.: -0.6; +1.2) for budesonide patients, -0.13 cm (95% C.I.: -2.4; +2.1) for controls, and +0.9 cm (95% C.I.: -0.4; +2.2) for healthy siblings (Fig. 4). Height standard deviation scores (SDS) correlated positively with



Measured - target height (cm)

Figure 4 Distribution of differences between measured adult height and target adult height in 142 children treated with inhaled budesonide for 3-13 years (left) and 47 healthy siblings +18 asthmatic children who had never received inhaled corticosteroids (right). Mean attained adult height in the budesonide group was 173.2 cm and mean target adult height was 172.9 cm.
percent predicted FEV_1 before asthma treatment, and the difference between measured and target adult height depended significantly upon height SDS before budesonide treatment. Growth rates were significantly reduced during the first years of budesonide treatment, but the reduction in annual growth rate did not persist and the changes in growth rate during this period showed no relation to the differences between measured and target adult height. Long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide did not adversely affect adult height, whereas poorly controlled asthma seemed to do so. Furthermore, changes in growth rate during the first year of budesonide treatment were not useful in predicting adult height.

Although prospective studies of several years' duration and retrospective analyses may always be criticized for being less controlled than prospective, short-term studies, some conclusions about the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on final height seem to be justified based upon the data from these studies, especially because a controlled, double-blind, randomized study of 15 years' duration is unlikely to be conducted in the foreseeable future.

The conclusions from the various studies addressing the question of attained adult height have been consistent in many areas:

- Children with asthma treated with inhaled steroids have consistently been found to attain normal final adult height (six studies).
- Uncontrolled or severe asthma seems to adversely affects growth and attained adult height (three studies).
- Corticosteroid-induced changes in growth rate during the first year of treatment do not predict adult height (the only long-term prospective study designed to answer that question).

The reason for the apparent discrepancy between the findings of some intermediate-term studies and the conclusions of final height studies is not clear. Studies with beclomethasone have found a growth retardation of 1.5 cm per year. An annual growth retardation of 1.5 cm, if persistent, would be expected to result in a cumulative mean reduction in measured adult height of 15 cm were the treatment given continuously for 10 years. Such marked effects would be difficult to miss in the day-to-day clinic or in long-term prospective studies. Some possible explanations for the discrepancy are as follows.

- The correlation between two consecutive annual height velocity values for normal prepubertal children is poor. A low gain in one year is not necessarily followed by a low gain the next year, and vice versa (59). The correlation between 1-, 2-, 3-, and 4-year growth velocities are only partially correlated with one another (59), and growth rate computed over a period of 3 or 4 years in childhood only explains 34% and 38% of the variation in final height, respectively.
- It seems as if the growth-retarding effect of exogenous steroids is most pronounced during the first year of treatment (13,42,129,130). Therefore,

conclusions from rather short-term studies of one year should be extrapolated to the long-term situation with caution.

- Steroids also seem to retard bone maturation. If this occurs to the same extent as the retardation of growth, then final height is not expected to be adversely affected (since bone age will correspond to height age). Such children will grow for a longer period than their peers and eventually attain normal final height.
- The results obtained in prepubertal schoolchildren may not be valid in other age groups because prepubertal children may be more sensitive to the growth-retarding effect of inhaled corticosteroids (12,42). If the pubertal growth spurt is not adversely affected, the effect on final height may be rather small.
- In a real-life situation, children with mild asthma are not treated continuously with a rather high, fixed dose of inhaled corticosteroid: the dose is adjusted to the severity of the disease. Only children with moderate or severe asthma would require continuous treatment with daily doses of $400 \,\mu\text{g}$ or more. The systemic effects in these children may be lower than in children with mild disease (2–4). Many clinics would use spacers for inhaled corticosteroids with low first-pass metabolism. Compliance may be lower during long-term real-life treatment than during a controlled trial with several visits to the clinic. More prospective studies are needed to assess the relative importance of these possibilities.

J. Problems in Growth Assessment—Individual Sensitivity to Steroids?

Case reports sometimes suggest that growth inhibition in individual children may be seen (141). When such reports are evaluated, it must be remembered that growth is a very complex process that may be affected by a host of factors, including disease severity, psychological factors, growth factors, receptor affinity, nutrition, body composition, age, puberty, genetic factors, and treatment. Children show spontaneous fluctuations in growth velocity often with seasonal variations—most children growing faster in the summer than in the winter (56). More recently it has also become clear that in some children fluctuations are not purely seasonal, but cycles of growth may span 2 or more years (Fig. 5) (57). This leads to a very poor correlation between the growth velocity in one year and that in the next year (58). These variations, in combination with a standard error of the height measurement, which for trained observers is around 0.2-0.3 cm, and the abnormal growth pattern seen in many asthmatic children unrelated to the use of inhaled steroids, mean that case reports of apparently reduced growth in association with an asthma treatment should be interpreted with caution. No firm conclusions about cause-and-effect relationships should be made without the support of further controlled studies.



Figure 5 Individual growth-velocity curve in a normal child. Marked variations are seen in annual growth rate. If a steroid treatment had been started at age 7 and stopped at age 9.5, it would probably have been concluded that the treatment caused growth stunting, particularly because an "apparent catch-up growth" is seen from age 9.5 to 10.5.

K. Conclusions

In general, the literature reporting the effects of inhaled corticosteroids on growth has been reassuring, considering that the majority of children with mild and moderate asthma only require low doses of inhaled corticosteroids around $100-200 \mu g/day$ to achieve optimal control. Such doses do not adversely affect growth. Furthermore, final height does not appear to be adversely affected by long-term treatment with somewhat higher doses of inhaled corticosteroids even if such doses may retard growth rate in short-term trials. In contrast, the growth-retarding effect caused by uncontrolled asthma may be persistent, so uncontrolled asthma may also adversely affect final adult height.

Since the occurrence of measurable systemic effects and risk of clinical side effects increases with dose, the lowest dose of inhaled corticosteroid able to control the disease should always be used. Furthermore, inhaler-steroid combinations with a high clinical efficacy: systemic effect ratio should be used.

The possibility of increased sensitivity to the growth-retarding effect of inhaled steroids by susceptible individuals is complex and requires further study. Some data suggest that an increased sensitivity exists within a population at a certain unknown frequency. However, normal fluctuations in growth rate and deviant growth pattern of asthmatic patients not receiving inhaled steroids complicate the interpretation of individual growth data.

Finally, although results from short-term studies reflect systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids, they do not predict intermediate- or long-term growth. Similarly, results from intermediate-term studies are poor predictors of attained adult height.

IV. Summary

Inhaled steroids have been used for the treatment of asthma in children for more than 20 years. During this time, a substantial number of studies have been performed evaluating the safety and efficacy of this therapy. Generally, the results have been reassuring. Inhaled corticosteroids have a marked effect on both immediate- and long-term aims of asthma therapy. In patients with mild and moderate asthma, low daily doses of around $100-200 \mu g/day$ of inhaled steroid produce a clinical effect that, in most trials, is better than the effect of any other treatment to which it has been compared. No adverse effects on growth have been associated with treatment in this dose range, and idiosyncratic adverse reactions are rare. Higher doses of inhaled corticosteroids may reduce growth rate during the first years of treatment. However, even if this is the case, attained adult height is not adversely affected, even if such doses are used for several years.

Since the occurrence of measurable systemic effects and risk of clinical side effects increases with dose, the lowest dose that controls the disease should always be used. Furthermore, inhaler-steroid combinations with a high clinical efficacy:systemic effect ratio should be used. If a child is not sufficiently controlled on a low dose of inhaled steroid, it might be better to add another drug to the lowdose inhaled steroid treatment rather than to increase the steroid dose. Further studies are needed to assess at which dose this should be done for individual steroid/inhaler combinations.

References

- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S, Busse W. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids: New developments. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(3):1–53.
- 2. Weiner P, Berar-Yanay N, Davidovich A, Magadle R. Nocturnal cortisol secretion in asthmatic patients after inhalation of fluticasone propionate. Chest 1999; 116:931–934.
- 3. Lipworth BJ, Clark DJ. Effects of airway calibre on lung delivery of nebulised salbutamol. Thorax 1997; 52(12):1036–1039.
- 4. Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Moss J, Horton J, Ventresca GP, Brown A, Field E, Harding SM, Wire P, Bye A. Pharmacokinetics of fluticasone propionate inhaled from the

Diskhaler® and the Diskus® after repeat doses in healthy subjects and asthmatic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99(no 1 pt 2): \$505.

- Soferman R, Sapir N, Spirer Z, Golander A. Effects of inhaled steroids and inhaled cromolyn sodium on urinary growth hormone excretion in asthmatic children. Pediatr Pulmonol 1998; 26:339–343.
- Martinati LC, Sette L, Chiocca E, Zaninotto M, Plebani M, Boner A. Effect of beclomethasone dipropionate nasal aerosol on serum markers of bone metabolism in children with seasonal allergic rhinitis. Clin Exp Allergy 1993; 23:986–991.
- Ghigo E, Valetto MR, Gaggero L, Visca A, Valente F, et al. Therapeutic doses of salbutamol inhibit the somatotropic responsiveness to growth hormone-releasing hormone in asthmatic children. J Endocrin Invest 1993; 16:271–275.
- Zeitlin S, Wood P, Evans A, Radford M. Overnight urine growth hormone, cortisol and adenosine-3'5'-cyclic monophosphate excretion in children with chronic asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Respir Med 1993; 87:445–448.
- Pedersen S. Inhalers and nebulizers, which to choose and why. Respir Med 1996; 90: 69–77.
- 10. Pedersen S, O'Byrne P. A comparison of the efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Allergy 1997; 52(suppl 39):1–34.
- Doull IJ, Freezer NJ, Holgate S. Growth of prepubertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:1715–1719.
- Verberne AAPH, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H, Kerrebijn K. One year treatment with salmeterol, compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:688–695.
- 13. Simons FE. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. N Engl J Med 1997; 337(10):1659–1665.
- 14. Tinkelman DG, Reed CE, Nelson HS, Offord KP. Aerosol beclomethasone dipropionate compared with theophylline as primary treatment of chronic, mild to moderately severe asthma in children [see comments]. Pediatrics 1993; 92:64–77.
- Trescoli C, Ward. Systemic activity of inhaled and swallowed beclomethasone dipropionate and the effect of different inhaler devices. Postgrad Med J 1998; 74(877): 675–677.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S, Harrison L. Lung deposition and basic pharmacokinetic parameters of beclomethasone dipropionate in asthmatic children after inhalation from a HFA-pMDI (Autohaler) and a CFC-pMDI with spacer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(no 3 pt 2):A120.
- 17. Daley-Yates PT, Price AC, Pereira A, Richards DH. Absolute bioavailability of beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) administered via the inhaled, intranasal and oral route in man. Allergy 2000. In press.
- Heuck C, Wolthers OD, Kollerup G, Hansen M, Teisner B. Adverse effects of inhaled budesonide (800 micrograms) on growth and collagen turnover in children with asthma: a double-blind comparison of once-daily versus twice-daily administration [see comments]. J Pediatr 1998; 133(5):608–612.
- Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Knemometric assessment of systemic activity of once daily intranasal dry-powder budesonide in children. Allergy 1994; 49:96–99.

- 20. Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Short-term growth in children with allergic rhinitis treated with oral antihistamine, depot and intranasal glucocorticosteroids. Acta Paediatr 1993; 82:635-640.
- 21. Shapiro GG. Double-blind, randomized trial of three doses of inhaled budesonide vs placebo in children with steroid-dependent asthma (abstr). Proceedings Am Acad Pediatrics, Dallas, 1994, p. A35.
- 22. Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children. A dose response study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 1:29–33.
- 23. Katz Y, Lebas FX, Medley HV. Double-blind placebo controlled parallel group study to compare the efficacy and safety of fluticasone propionate at two doses delivered via a Diskhaler inhaler in children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153 (no 4 pt 2):A75.
- 24. Agertoft L, Pedersen S. A randomized, double-blind dose reduction study to compare the minimal effective dose of budesonide Turbuhaler and fluticasone propionate Diskhaler. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99(no 6 pt 1):773–780.
- 25. Larsen JS, De Boisblanc BP, Schaberg A, Herie N, Baker K, Szymeczek J, Kellerman D. Magnitude of improvement in FEV1 with fluticasone propionate. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:A214.
- 26. MacKenzie CA, Weinberg EG, Tabachnik E, Taylor M, Havnen J, Crescenzi K. A placebo controlled trial of fluticasone propionate in asthmatic children. Eur J Pediatr 1993; 152:856–860.
- 27. Youngchaiyud P, Permpikul C, Suthamsmai T, Wong E. A double-blind comparison of inhaled budesonide, a long-acting theophylline and their combination in the treatment of nocturnal asthma. Allergy 1995; 50:28–33.
- 28. Gonzalez Perez-Yarza E, Garmendia Iglesias A, Mintegui Aramburu J, Callen Blecua M, Albisu Andrade Y, Rubio Calvo E. Prolonged treatment of mild asthma with inhaled anti-inflammatory therapy: An Esp Pediatr 1994; 41:102–106.
- 29. Price J, Russell G, Hindmarsh P, Weller P, Heaf D, Williams J. Growth during one of treatment with fluticasone propionate or sodium cromoglycate in children with asthma. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997; 24:178–186.
- 30. Meltzer EO, Orgel HA, Ellis E, Eigen H, Hemstreet MP. Long-term comparison of three combinations of albuterol, theophylline, and beclomethasone in children with chronic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:2–11.
- 31. Price J, Weller P. Comparison of fluticasone propionate and sodium cromoglycate for the treatment of childhood asthma. Respir Med 1995; 89:363–368.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid on growth and pulmonary function in asthmatic children. Respir Med 1994; 88:373– 381.
- 33. van Essen-Zandvliet E, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman E, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn K. Effects of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta-2agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness and symptoms in children with asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:547–554.
- Edmunds AT, Goldberg RS, Duper B, Devichand P, Follows RM. A comparison of budesonide 800 micrograms and 400 micrograms via Turbohaler with disodium cromoglycate via Spinhaler for asthma prophylaxis in children. Br J Clin Res 1994; 5:11–23.

- 35. Østergaard P, Pedersen S. Godfrey S, eds. The effect of inhaled disodium cromoglycate and budesonide on bronchial responsiveness to histamine and exercise in asthmatic children: a clinical comparison. In: Glucocorticosteroids in Childhood Asthma. 1987:55–65.
- 36. Østergaard P, Pedersen S. Oseid S, Edwards AM, Bronchial hyperreactivity in children with perennial extrinsic asthma. In: The Asthmatic Child in Play and Sport. London: Pitman Books Limited, 1982:326–331.
- 37. Agertoft L, Friberg M, Pedersen S. One year treatment of mild asthma in children with budesonide or nedocromil. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105(No 1, Pt 2): S260.
- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:1–26.
- Pedersen S, Schleimer R, Busse W, O'Byrne P, eds. In: Topical Glucocorticoids in Asthma—Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1996:551– 560.
- 40. Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Long-term growth in children treated with inhaled budesonide or nedocromil. Eur Respir J 2000; 16(suppl 31):553S.
- 41. Karlberg J, Engström I, Karlberg P, Fryer JG. Analysis of linear growth using a mathematical model. 1. From birth to three years. Acta Paediatr Scand 1987; 76:478–488.
- 42. Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. N Engl J Med 2000; 343(15):1064–1069.
- 43. Balfour-Lynn L. Effect of asthma on growth and puberty. Pediatrician 1987; 14:237–241.
- 44. Balfour-Lynn L. Growth and childhood asthma. Arch Dis Child 1986; 61:1049–1055.
- 45. Armenio L, Baldini G, Bardare M, Boner A, Burgio R, Cavagni G, La Rosa M, Marcucci F, Miraglia del Giudice M, Pulejo MR, et al. Double blind, placebo controlled study of nedocromil sodium in asthma. Arch Dis Child 1993; 68:193–197.
- 46. Fergusson AC, Murray AB, Tze WJ. Short stature and delayed skeletal maturation in children with allergic diesease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982; 69:461–465.
- Sprock A. Growth pattern in 200 children with asthma. Ann Allergy 1965; 23:608– 611.
- 48. Hauspie R, Susanne C, Alexander F. A mixed longitudinal study of the growth in height and weight in asthmatic children. Human Biol 1976; 48:271–276.
- 49. Hauspie R, Susanne C, Alexander F. Maturational delay and temporal growth retardation in asthmatic boys. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977; 59:200–206.
- Martin AJ, Landau L, Phelan PD. The effect on growth of childhood asthma. Acta Pediatr Scand 1981; 70:683–688.
- 51. Littlewood JM, Johnson AW, Edwards PA, Littlewood AE. Growth retardation in asthmatic children treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate [letter]. Lancet 1988; 1:115–116.
- 52. Ninan T, Russell G. Asthma, inhaled corticosteroid treatment, and growth. Arch Dis Child 1992; 67:703–705.
- 53. Russel G, Ninan T, Carter P, et al. Effects of inhaled corticosteroids on HPA function and growth in children. Res Clin Forums 1989; 3(11):77–86.
- 54. Van Bever HP, Desager KN, Lijssens N, Weyler JJ, Du Caju MV. Does treatment of

asthmatic children with inhaled corticosteroids affect their adult height? Pediatr Pulmonol 1999; 27:369–375.

- 55. McCowan C, Neville RG, Thomas GE, Crombie IK, Clark RA, Ricketts IW, Cairns AY, Warner FC, Greene SA, White E. Effect of asthma and its treatment on growth: four year follow up of cohort of children from general practices in Tayside, Scotland. Br Med J 1998; 316:668–672.
- 56. Marshall W. Evaluation of growth rate in height over periods of less than one year. Arch Dis Child 1971; 46:414–420.
- 57. Butler GE, McKie M, Ratcliffe SG. The cyclical nature of prepubertal growth. Ann Hum Biol 1990; 17:177–198.
- Voss LD, Wilkin TJ, Balley BJR, Betts PR. The reliability of height and height velocity in the assessment of growth (the Wessex Growth Study). Arch Dis Child 1991; 66:833–837.
- 59. Karlberg J, Gelander L, Albertsson-Wikland K. Distinctions between short- and long-term human growth studies. Acta Paediatr 1993; 82:631–634.
- 60. Karlberg J, Low L, Yeung CY. On the dynamics of the growth process. Acta Paediatr 1994; 83:777–778.
- 61. Turpeinen M, Sorva R. Net production of type I collagen in children with asthma inhaling budesonide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:A149.
- 62. Reid I, Veale AG, France JT. Glucocorticoid osteoporosis. J Asthma 1994; 31:7–18.
- 63. König P, Hillman G, Cervantes C, et al. Bone metabolism in children with asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. J Pediatr 1993; 122:219–226.
- 64. Wolthers O, Juul A, Hansen M, Müller J, Pedersen S. The insulin-like growth factor axis and collagen turnover in asthmatic children treated with inhaled budesonide. Acta Paediatr 1995; 84:393–397.
- 65. Wolthers O, Kaspersen Nielsen H, Pedersen S. Bone Turnover in Asthmatic Children Treated with Dry Powder Inhaled Fluticasone Propionate and Beclomethasone Dipropionate. OSLO: European Paediatric Respiratory Society, 1993; 86.
- 66. Pedersen S. Safety of inhaled glucocorticosteroids. Excerp Med 1989; 40-51.
- 67. Wolthers O, Juel Riis B, Pedersen S. Bone turnover in asthmatic children treated with oral prednisolone or inhaled budesonide. Pediatr Pulmonol 1993; 16:341–346.
- Wolthers O, Juul A, Hansen M, Müller J, Pedersen S. Growth factors and collagen markers in asthmatic children treated with inhaled budesonide. Eur Respir J 1993; 6(suppl 17):261.
- Sorva R, Turpeinen M, Juntunen-Backman K, Karonen SL, Sorva A. Effects of inhaled budesonide on serum markers of bone metabolism in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:808–815.
- 70. Birkebaek NH, Esberg G, Andersen K, Wolthers O, Hassager C. Bone and collagen turnover during treatment with inhaled dry powder budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate. Arch Dis Child 1995; 73:524–527.
- Wolthers O, Juul A, Hansen M, Müller J, Pedersen S. The insulin-like growth factor axis and collagen turnover during prednisolone treatment. Arch Dis Child 1994; 71: 409–413.
- 72. Crowley S, Trivedi P, Risteli L, Risteli J, Hindmarsh PC, Brook CG. Collagen metabolism and growth in prepubertal children with asthma treated with inhaled steroids [see comments]. J Pediatr 1998; 132(3 pt 1):409–413.

- 73. Heuck C, Wolthers OD, Hansen M, Kollerup G. Short-term growth and collagen turnover in asthmatic adolescents treated with the inhaled glucocorticoid budesonide. Steroids 1997; 62(10):659–664.
- 74. Tillmann V, Gill MS, Thalange NK, Birkinshaw G, Price DA, Fraser WD, Clayton PE. Short-term changes in growth and urinary growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor-I and markers of bone turnover excretion in healthy prepubertal children. Growth Horm IGF Res 2000; 10(1):28–36.
- 75. Hedlin G, Ingemansson M, Brönnegaard M, Marcus C, Stierna P. A study of children with asthma treated with inhaled corticoid steroids (ICS) with or without growth retardation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101(no 1 pt 2):S13.
- 76. Zeitlin S, Wood P, Evans A, Radford M. Overnight urine growth hormone, cortisol and adenosine 3'5' cyclic monophosphate excretion in children with chronic asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Respir Med 1993; 87:445–448.
- Nicolaizik WH, Marchant JL, Preece MA, Warner J. Endocrine and lung function in asthmatic children on inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150: 624–628.
- 78. Lanes R, Duran Z, Aguirre J, Espina L, Alvarez W, Villaroel O, Zdanowicz M. Shortand long-term effect of oral salbutamol on growth hormone secretion in prepubertal asthmatic children. Metab Clin Exp 1995; 44:149–151.
- 79. Heuck C, Wolthers OD. Serum leptin in children with asthma treated with inhaled budesonide. Respir Med 1999; 93(4):268–271.
- 80. Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Short term linear growth in asthmatic children during treatment with prednisolone. Br Med J 1990; 301:145–148.
- 81. Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Short term lower leg growth rate in asthmatic children during treatment with inhaled budesonide and oral prednisolone. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(no 3 pt 2): A909.
- 82. Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Growth of asthmatic children during treatment with budesonide: a double blind trial [see comments]. Br Med J 1991; 303:163–165.
- 83. Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Controlled study of linear growth in asthmatic children during treatment with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. Pediatrics 1992; 89:839–842.
- Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Growth in asthmatic children during treatment with budesonide. Pediatrics 1992; 91:517–518.
- 85. Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Inappropriate statistics. Pediatrics 1993; 91:517–518.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Short term lower leg growth in children during treatment with fluticasone propionate and budesonide. A dose response study. Eur Respir J 1997; 10 (7):1507–1512.
- Visser MJ, van Aalderen WM, Elliott BM, Odink RJ, Brand PL. Short-term growth in asthmatic children using fluticasone propionate. Chest 1998; 113(3):584–586.
- Bisgaard H. Systemic activity from inhaled topical steroid in toddlers studied by knemometry. Acta Pædiatr Scand 1993; 82:1066–1071.
- 89. Wolthers O, Pedersen S. Short-term growth during treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate and beclomethasone diproprionate. Arch Dis Child 1993; 68:673–676.
- 90. McKenzie CA, Wales JK. Growth in asthmatic children. Br Med J 1991; 303:416.
- Oberger E, Engström I, Karlberg J. Long-term treatment with glucocorticoids/ ACTH in asthmatic children. Acta Paediatr Scand 1990; 79:77–83.

- Falliers CJ, Tan LS, Szentivanyi J, Jorgensen JR, Bukrantz SC. Childhood asthma and steroid therapy as influences on growth. Am J Dis Child 1963; 105:127–137.
- Byron MA, Jackson J, Ansell BM. Effect of different corticosteroid regimens on hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis and growth in juvenile chronic arthritis. J R Soc Med 1983; 76:452–457.
- 94. Morris HG. Growth and skeletal maturation in asthmatic children: effect of corticosteroid treatment. Pediatr Res 1975; 9:579–583.
- 95. Chang KC, Miklich DR, Barwise G, Chai H, Miles-Lawrence R. Linear growth of chronic asthmatic children: the effect of the disease and various forms of steroid therapy. Clin Allergy 1982; 12:369–378.
- 96. Kerrebijn K, De Kroon PM. Effect on height of corticosteroid therapy in asthmatic children. Arch Dis Child 1968; 43:556–561.
- Blodgett FM, Burgin L, Iezzoni D, Gribetz D, Talbot NB. Effects of prolonged cortisone therapy on the statural growth, skeletal maturation and metabolic status of children. N Engl J Med 1956; 254:636–641.
- Van Metre TE, Pinkerton HL. Growth suppression in asthmatic children receiving prolonged therapy with prednisone and methylprednisolone. J Allergy 1959; 30: 103–113.
- 99. Ribeiro LB. Budesonide: safety and efficacy aspects of its long-term use in children. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1993; 4:73–78.
- 100. Kerrebijn K. Beclomethasone dipropionate in long-term treatment of asthma in children. J Pediatr 1976; 89:821–826.
- 101. Varsano I, Volovitz B, Malik H, et al. Safety of 1 year of treatment with budesonide in young children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:914–920.
- 102. Ruiz RG, Price J. Growth and adrenal responsiveness with budesonide in young asthmatics. Respir Med 1994; 88:17–20.
- Varsano I, Volovitz B, Malik H, Amir Y. Safety of 1 year of treatment with budesonide in young children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:914–920.
- Ruiz RG, Price J. Growth and adrenal responsiveness in young asthmatic children on inhaled corticosteroids. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141:A625.
- Delacourt C, Chomienne F, DeBile J. Preservation of growth velocity in asthmatic children treated with high doses of beclomethasone dipropionate. Eur Respir J 1991; 4(suppl 14):593s.
- Godfrey S, Balfour-Lynn L, Tooley M. A three to five year follow-up of the use of aerosol steroid, beclomethasone dipropionate; in childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1978; 62:335–339.
- 107. Godfrey S, König P. Treatment of childhood asthma for 13 months and longer with beclomethasone dipropionate aerosol. Arch Dis Child 1974; 49:591–595.
- Nassif E, Weinberger M, Sherman B, Brown K. Extrapulmonary effects of maintenance corticosteroids therapy with alternate-day prednisone and inhaled beclomethasone in children with chronic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1987; 80:518– 529.
- Graff-Lonnevig V, Kraepelien S. Long term treatment with beclomethasone dipropionate aerosol in asthmatic children, with special reference to growth. Allergy 1979; 34:57–61.

- 110. Lee-Hong E, Collins-Williams C. The long term use of beclomethasone dipropionate for the control of asthma in children. Ann Allergy 1977; 38:242–244.
- 111. Francis RS. Long-term beclomethasone dipropionate aerosol therapy in juvenile asthma. Thorax 1976; 31:309–314.
- 112. Gilliam GL, McNicol KN, Willams HE. Chest deformity, residual airways obstruction and hyperinflammation, and growth in children with asthma. Arch Dis Child 1970; 45:789–799.
- Brown DCP, Savacool AM, Letizia CM. A retrospective review of the effects of one year of triamcinolone acetonide aerosol treatment of the growth patterns of asthmatic children. Ann Allergy 1989; 63:47–51.
- 114. Ribeiro LB. A 12 month tolerance study with budesonide in asthmatic children. Excerpta Med 1987; 95–108.
- Volovitz B, Amir J, Malik H, Kauschansky A, Varsano I. Growth and pituitaryadrenal function in children with severe asthma treated with inhaled budesonide. N Engl J Med 1993; 329:1703–1733.
- Hiller EJ, Groggins RC, Lenney W, Stokes M, Milner AD. Beclomethasone dipropionate powder inhalation treatment in chronic childhood asthma. Prog Respir Res 1981; 17:285–289.
- Clay M, Pavia D, Newman S, Lennard-Jones T, Clarke SW. Assessment of jet nebulisers for lung aerosol therapy. Lancet 1983; 2:592–594.
- 118. Brown HB, Bhowmik M, Jackson FA, Thantrey N. Beclomethasone dipropionate aerosols in the treatment of asthma in childhood. Practitioner 1980; 224:847–851.
- Verini M, Verotti A, D'Arcangelo A, Misticoni G, Chiarelli F, Morgese G. Longterm therapy in childhood asthma: clinical and auxological aspects. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 1990; 12:169–173.
- Phillip M, Aviram M, Leiberman E, et al. Integrated plasma cortisol concentration in children with asthma receiving long-term inhaled corticosteroids. Pediatr Pulmonol 1992; 12:84–89.
- 121. Morrow Brown H, Storey G. Beclomethasone dipropionate steroid aerosol in treatment of perennial allergic asthma in children. Br Med J 1973; 3:161–164.
- 122. Merkus P, van Essen-Zandvliet E, Duiverman E, van Houwelingen H, Kerrebijn K, Quanjer P. Long-term effect of inhaled corticosteroids on growth rate in adolescents with asthma. Pediatrics 1993; 91:1121–1126.
- 123. Allen D, Mullen M, Mullen B. A meta-analysis of the effect of oral and inhaled corticosteroids on growth. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994; 93:967–976.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Bone mineral density in children with asthma receiving long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:1–6.
- 125. Allen D, Bronsky E, LaForce C, Nathan RA, Tinkelman DG, Vandewalker ML, König P. Growth in asthmatic children treated with inhaled fluticasone propionate. J Pediatr 1998; 132 (3):472–477.
- Skoner DP, Szefler SJ, Welch M, Walton-Bowen K, Cruz-Rivera M, Smith JA. Longitudinal growth in infants and young children treated with budesonide inhalation suspension for persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 105(2 pt 1):259– 268.
- 127. Scott MB, Skoner DP. Short-term and long-term safety of budesonide inhalation

suspension in infants and young children with persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104(4 pt 2):200–209.

- 128. de Benedictis FM, Medley HV, Williams L. Long-term study to compare safety and efficacy of fluticasone propionate (FP) with beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) in asthmatic children. Eur Respir J 1998; 12(28):142s.
- 129. Saha MT, Laippala P, Lenko HL. Growth of asthmatic children is slower during than before treatment with inhaled glucocorticoids. Acta Paediatr 1997; 18:138–142.
- 130. Doull IJ, Campbell MJ, Holgate ST. Duration of growth suppressive effects of regular inhaled corticosteroids. Arch Dis Child 1998; 78(2):172–173.
- Heuck C, Ternowitz T, Herlin T, Wolthers OD. Knemometry in children with atopic dermatitis treated with topical glucocorticoids. Pediatr Dermatol 1998; 15(1):7–11.
- Gibson AT, Pearse RG, Wales JK. Growth retardation after dexamethasone administration: assessment by knemometry. Arch Dis Child 1993; 69(5 spec no):505– 509.
- Norjavaara E, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Lindmark B. Asthma and adult registered height during maternity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161(No 3, Pt 2): A774.
- 134. Brown M, Ahmed ML, Clayton KL, Dunger DB. Growth during childhood and final height in type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med 1994; 11(2):182–187.
- 135. Rees L, Ward G, Rigden SP. Growth over 10 years following a 1-year trial of growth hormone therapy. Pediatr Nephrol 2000; 14(4):309–314.
- 136. Patel L, Clayton PE, Addison GM, Price DA, David TJ. Linear growth in prepubertal children with atopic dermatitis. Arch Dis Child 1998; 79(2):169–172.
- 137. Patel L, Clayton PE, Jenney ME, Ferguson JE, David TJ. Adult height in patients with childhood onset atopic dermatitis. Arch Dis Child 1997; 76(6):505–508.
- Inoue T, Doi S, Takamatsu I, Murayama N, Kameda M, Toyoshima K. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate on growth of asthmatic children. J Asthma 1999; 36(2):159–164.
- Silverstein MD, Yunginger JW, Reed CE, Petterson T, Zimmerman D, Li JT, O Fallon WM. Attained adult height after childhood asthma: effect of glucocorticoid therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99(4):466–474.
- 140. Larsson L, Norjavaara E, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Lindmark B. Asthma, steroids and adult height. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161(No 3, Pt 2): A774.
- Thomas BC, Stanhope R, Grant DB. Impaired growth in children with asthma during treatment with conventional doses of inhaled corticosteroids. Acta Paediatr 1994; 83:196–199.

Discussion

- **Dr. Boulet:** You showed in previous studies the powerful effect of oral steroids on growth suppression. Have any studies been done looking at the benefit of reducing the need for oral steroids for exacerbations from inhaled steroid treatment in the more severe child asthmatic population in regard to growth?
- Dr. Pedersen: Not to my knowledge.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** Do oral steroids show the same pattern—early suppression, with delayed puberty and "catch-up," or is there a qualitative difference, with a reduction of ultimate statural height with oral steroids?
- **Dr. Pedersen:** This has not been so extensively studied. However, it seems as if the same pattern is seen when low doses of oral steroids are used. However at higher doses (>5 mg/day), adult height may also be adversely affected.
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** Added to your convincing final height data following budesonide treatment, there have been two relatively recent Swedish compilations of final height data, one from the Swedish birth register involving almost 290,000 mothers born from 1960 to 1974, where 2,700 had been hospitalized for asthma; one group at ages 0–8, one group at 9–15. Final height in both of these groups of asthmatics did not differ from the control mothers. Also, the Swedish conscript registry data involving 164,000 healthy controls and 8,500 asthmatics showed that asthma per se is associated with a reduced final height by 0.7 cm, but that this was unrelated to steroid therapy.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** Interesting. Our data also show that uncontrolled asthma may adversely affect growth and adult height.
- **Prof. Dolovich:** Have you expressed the dose of ICS given as the microgram quantities contained in the drug available at the mouth from the delivery system, that is, as the emitted dose and also as the fine particle component of the emitted dose? This might correct for differences in growth suppression noted between inhalers.
- **Dr. Pedersen:** We use the actual prescribed doses. It seems that the systemically available dose of an inhaled corticosteroid varies with age, being lower in young children (when a corticosteroid with high first-pass metabolism is used). Therefore, the plasma levels are quite similar over a wide age range when the same dose is inhaled.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Do you think that we are likely to see an effect on growth if there is no effect on serum cortisol?
- **Dr. Pedersen:** Some believe that this may be the case. I am not convinced that this may be the case. More data are needed.

- **Dr. Denburg:** What is the biological explanation for the growth pattern observed? Has this phenomenon been studied in vitro? Is there a relationship between growth suppression and efficacy of therapy?
- **Dr. Pedersen:** We don't know, but it does not seem to be the case. The biological explanation is not known. However, the phenomenon is also seen in other chronic diseases. It is as if the body in some way adjusts to maintain the situation before the exogenous influence was there.

Evaluation and Comparison of Inhaled Steroids

STANLEY J. SZEFLER and RICHARD J. MARTIN

University of Colorado Health Sciences Center and National Jewish Medical and Research Center Denver, Colorado

I. Introduction

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disorder of the airways (1,2). Airway inflammation contributes to airway hyperresponsiveness, airflow limitation, respiratory symptoms, and disease chronicity. Considering asthma as an inflammatory disorder has implications for its diagnosis, prevention, and management. Recently, asthma has also been recognized as a cause of rapid loss of pulmonary function over time in some patients (3-6). The loss in pulmonary function may be incompletely reversible or irreversible (7). Thus, the consequences of poorly controlled asthma can include not only clinical symptoms and variability in pulmonary function, but also progressively worsening airflow obstruction (Table 1).

Numerous studies have clearly demonstrated that inhaled glucocorticoids alleviate clinical symptoms, improve pulmonary function, and reduce airway inflammation; there is some evidence that they alter disease progression (8-10). Current guidelines identify inhaled glucocorticoids as the "preferred" long-term controller asthma medication, especially for moderate and severe persistent asthma (1,2). Recent observations suggest that the response to inhaled glucocorticoids is highly dependent on the time of intervention: the earlier they are used,

Table 1 Asthma Control Indicators

Clinical measures
Mortality
Hospitalizations
Acute exacerbations:
Emergency department visits
Courses of prednisone or high-dose inhaled steroids
Nocturnal symptoms
Breakthrough symptoms
β-Agonist use for symptom relief
Wheezing or symptomatic (including chest tightness, cough, shortness of breath)
episodes affecting activity
Pulmonary measures
Peak expiratory flow
Pulmonary function—spirometry
FEV ₁ % predicted
FEV ₁ /FVC or RV/TLC
Total lung volume
Bronchial hyperresponsiveness to exercise, methacholine, or histamine
Markers of inflammation
Bronchoalveolar lavage—cytology and mediators
Induced sputum—cytology, especially eosinophils, or mediators
Blood-total eosinophils, activated eosinophils
Plasma—eosinophilic cationic protein
Exhaled nitric oxide
Progression
Increasing medication requirements
Decline in pulmonary function
Increasing airways hyperresponsiveness
Serial biopsy—limited application at the present time
Cytology — eosinophils, mast cells, lymphocytes, and neutrophils
Features of airway remodeling-collagen, elastin, tenascin tissue deposition

the more efficacious they are (7,11-13). Inhaled glucocorticoids are effective only as long as the medication is continued, with loss of beneficial effect occurring as early as days or weeks after the medication is discontinued (11). This has implications for the importance of continuing therapy for effective asthma control. Guidelines recommend doses for inhaled glucocorticoids based on severity of disease (Table 2). In general, the more severe the asthma, the higher the dose recommended (1,2). A body of literature has now been assembled reporting effects of inhaled glucocorticoids on growth velocity, cataracts, ocular hypertension, and bone loss in susceptible patient populations (14). An obvious question is whether

391

there are differences among the various inhaled steroids and delivery systems that could indicate a "preferred" product and delivery device for inhaled steroid therapy.

II. Why Compare Inhaled Steroids?

Following the introduction of inhaled steroid therapy in the early 1970s, questions were raised regarding the dose dependency of their effects and about methods to limit the potential for adverse effects. At that time, the standard dose of an inhaled steroid, specifically beclomethasone dipropionate, was 400 µg per day and rarely exceeded 1000 ug per day. In a series of elegant studies, Toogood and associates demonstrated the dose-response relationship of beclomethasone dipropionate on an array of clinical and pulmonary function parameters (15). Using the asthma attack frequency as a primary outcome measure, they demonstrated that in oral steroid-dependent asthmatics, 200 µg of BDP per day reduced the frequency of attacks by 12%. Increasing the dose to 1600 µg per day would reduce the attack rate by 22%. The reduction in attack frequency came at the cost of a dose-related increase in cortisol suppression. Figure 1 summarizes the log dose-response relationships for clinical and pulmonary function parameters for beclomethasone dipropionate. A correlation analysis of the dose-response study failed to identify clinical parameters that would predict a steroid response, but it did identify fixed obstructive lung disease to predict a poor response (16).

This group of investigators then turned their attention to evaluating the dose-response relationship of another inhaled steroid, budesonide, on asthma control, pulmonary function, and laboratory measures in comparison to oral prednisone in prednisone-dependent and nondependent asthma patients (17). This model consisted of a 2-week placebo period followed by graduated increases in the dose of the steroid medication. Each of the three doses was administered for a period of 2 weeks, and clinical, pulmonary function, and laboratory measures were obtained after the second week of treatment. The first dosing series of the steroid medication was followed by a 4-week washout period. Then the same sequence was started with the alternate steroid medication.

Dose-response relationships were demonstrated for both medications. Using this model, equivalencies were established for various efficacy and systemic effect measures. The investigators concluded that the dose required to eliminate recurrently disabling asthma relapses was about 2.0 mg of budesonide per day or >40 mg of prednisone per day. They also concluded that the doses causing similar systemic effects based on the measures of 8 a.m. serum cortisol and blood eosinophil counts that were equivalent to ≥ 15 mg of prednisone per day were budesonide doses ≥ 1.84 mg/day/70 kg adult or 26.3 µg/kg/day. This dose of prednisone is known to be associated with steroid-induced adverse effects, such as osteoporosis. Of great interest was their observation that the level of systemic

S		
Low dose	Medium dose	High dose
168–504 µg	540-840 μg	>840 µg
(4–12 puffs—42 μg)	(12-20 puffs—84 μg)	(>20 puffs—42 μg)
$(2-6 \text{ puffs} - 84 \mu \text{g})$	$(6-10 \text{ puffs} - 84 \mu\text{g})$	(>10 puffs—84 μg)
200-400 μg	400-600 μg	>600 µg
(2-4 puffs)	(4-8 puffs)	(>8 puffs)
500–1000 µg	$1000 - 2000 \mu g$	>2000 µg
(2-4 puffs)	(4-8 puffs)	(>8 puffs)
88-264 μg	264–660 µg	>660 µg
$(2-6 \text{ puffs} - 44 \mu \text{g}) \text{ or}$	(2-6 puffs—110 μg)	(>6 inh—100 µg)
(2 puffs—110 µg)		$(>3 \text{ puffs}-220 \mu\text{g})$
$(2-6 \text{ inhalations} -50 \mu\text{g})$	$(3-6 \text{ inh} - 100 \mu \text{g})$	$(>6 \text{ inh}-100 \mu\text{g}) \text{ or}$
		$(>2 \text{ inhalations} -250 \mu\text{g})$
400–1000 µg	1000-2000 µg	>2000 µg
(4–10 puffs)	(10-20 puffs)	(>20 puffs)
	Low dose 168–504 μg (4–12 puffs—42 μg) (2–6 puffs—84 μg) 200–400 μg (2–4 puffs) 500–1000 μg (2–4 puffs) 88–264 μg (2–6 puffs—44 μg) or (2–6 puffs—110 μg) (2–6 inhalations—50 μg) (2–6 inhalations—50 μg) (400–1000 μg (4–10 puffs)	Low dose Medium dose 168-504 μg 540-840 μg 168-504 μg 540-840 μg (4-12 puffs-44 μg) (6-10 puffs-84 μg) (2-6 puffs) 840 μg (2-6 puffs) 840 μg (2-4 puffs) (12-20 puffs-84 μg) (2-4 puffs) (6-10 puffs-84 μg) 500-400 μg (40-600 μg (2-4 puffs) 1000-2000 μg (2-4 puffs) 1000-2000 μg (2-4 puffs) 264-660 μg (2-6 puffs) 264-660 μg (2-6 puffs) 264-660 μg (2-6 puffs) 264-660 μg (2-6 puffs) 3-660 μg (2-6 puffs) 3-6 inh-100 μg (2-6 puffs) 3-6 inh-100 μg (4-10 puffs) 3-6 inh-100 μg

 Table 2
 Dosage Guidelines Presented in the National Asthma Education Program Expert Panel Report II:
 rative Daily Decared Estimated Comp

Children			
Beclomethasone dipropionate	84–336 μg	336–672 μg	>672 μg
42 μg/puff	(2-8 puffs - 42 µg)	$(8-16 \text{ puffs} - 42 \mu g)$	(>16 puffs—42 μg)
84 μg/puff	$(1-4 \text{ puffs} - 84 \mu g)$	$(4-8 \text{ puffs} - 84 \mu \text{g})$	(>8 puffs—84 μg)
Budesonide Turbuhaler	100-200 µg	200–400 μg	>400 µg
200 μg/dose		$(1-2 \text{ inhalations} -200 \mu\text{g})$	$(>2 \text{ inhalations} -200 \mu\text{g})$
Flunisolide	500–750 µg	$1000 - 1250 \mu g$	>1250 µg
250 μg/dose	(2-3 puffs)	(4-5 puffs)	(>5 puffs)
Fluticasone propionate	88–176 µg	176–440 µg	>440 µg
MDI: 44, 110,	$(2-4 \text{ puffs} - 44 \mu \text{g})$	$(4-10 \text{ puffs} - 44 \mu\text{g}) \text{ or}$	(>4 puffs—110 μg)
220 μg/puff		(2-4 puffs - 110 µg)	(>2 puffs—220 μg)
DPI: 50, 100,	$(2-4 \text{ inhalations} -50 \mu\text{g})$	$(2-4 \text{ inhalations} -100 \mu\text{g})$	$(>4 \text{ inhalations} -100 \mu\text{g})$
250 μg/dose			(>2 puffs—250 μg)
Triamcinolone	400-800 µg	800-1200 µg	>1200 µg
acetonide 100 μg/puff	(4-8 puffs)	(8-12 puffs)	(>12 puffs)

ů, à *Source*: National Asthma Education and Prevention Program Expert Panel Report 2: Gu Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, Publ. No. 97-4051, 1997.



Figure 1 The group mean change in asthma attack frequency per 2 weeks during beclomethasone aerosol (BA) treatment is plotted against log dose BA. Targets indicate values significantly improved compared with the pre-BA "baseline" values (p < 0.05 or better). The I bars illustrate the variability among these patients in their response to the drug at each dose tested. (From Ref. 16.)

glucocorticoid activity was much lower than that produced by the dose of prednisone needed to achieve an equivalent level of antiasthmatic response. They therefore concluded that the use of high-dose inhaled budesonide is reasonable in patients with severe asthma who would ordinarily require continued prednisone therapy.

The first attempt to compare one inhaled steroid to another was reported by McCubbin et al. (18). These investigators measured the effects of treatment on the immediate response to an allergen challenge in sensitized patients and on 24-hour urinary free cortisol and constructed a three-point dose-response curve for beclomethasone dipropionate (50 µg/inhalation), triamcinolone acetonide (100 µg/ inhalation), and flunisolide (250 µg/inhalation). They studied 25 subjects in a randomized, parallel, single-blind study. Dosing began at the lowest dose (one inhalation four times per day for flunisolide and two inhalations four times per day for the others) and continued for one week and then was doubled sequentially until the third dose was completed. The investigators derived relative potencies for the three study preparations and concluded that they were approximately equivalent for both topical and systemic effects when the dose was expressed in micrograms. This model was proposed as a method to compare relative topical and systemic effects, but it has not been widely applied, possibly because their efficacy endpoint, partial suppression of the immediate response to an allergen challenge, is not regarded as clinically meaningful.

With growth in information about the efficacy of inhaled steroids and the recognition of chronic inflammation as a component of asthma, inhaled steroids rose to the forefront of asthma care in the early 1990s. Expert panels concluded that because inhaled steroids improved asthma control, reduced hospitalizations, increased pulmonary function, and reduced airway inflammation, they should be the cornerstone in the management of persistent asthma, especially moderate and severe forms. Consequently, a series of steroids characterized by increasing topical potency and suitability for aerosol administration were developed. As of June 2001, five inhaled steroids were available in the United States for asthma therapy: beclomethasone dipropionate, triamcinolone acetonide, flunisolide, budesonide, and fluticasone propionate. It is likely that a sixth inhaled steroid, mometasone, will be available soon. In addition, the recognition of the ozone-depleting properties of the chlorofluorocarbons (CFC) prompted the move to an alternate propellant, such as a hydrofluoroalkane, or a dry powder, breath-actuated delivery system. The simple change to these alternate delivery systems can affect particle size, however, and possibly influence the proportion of the actuated dose delivered to the lung (19,20).

Until recently, expert panels considered the inhaled steroids equivalent on a μ g-per- μ g basis (1). With the introduction of fluticasone propionate, it was recognized that its higher potency resulted in significantly greater cortisol suppression at doses exceeding 1500 μ g than had been previously recognized with the other inhaled steroids (Fig. 2) (21). It should be noted that both steroids were evaluated with pressurized metered dose delivery (pMDI) systems. Observations related to differences in cortisol suppression with comparable doses of inhaled steroids (21) prompted the NHLBI Expert Panel to evaluate the relative potencies of the various inhaled steroids (2,22). Based on receptor-binding properties and limited



Figure 2 AUC_{24h} values for each treatment expressed as a percentage relative to AUC_{24h} (placebo). (From Ref. 21.)

comparison studies of beneficial and systemic effects, the NHLBI Expert Panel developed a potency scale for the various inhaled steroids along with dosage guidelines for older children and adults as well as young children (Table 2).

Potency was defined by assay systems, such as the skin blanching technique, and by glucocorticoid receptor-binding studies that have not been verified as standards for asthma clinical response. Even to estimate the true potency of a medication requires a miminum of three carefully selected doses, and five doses are necessary to describe the dose-response curve from absence of effect through the dose-related increases in effect to plateau effect (Fig. 3). Defining a dose-response curve for a clinical endpoint thus appears cumbersome and difficult. Unfortunately, no long-term, placebo-controlled, randomized, prospective studies have been done to substantiate the inferences drawn from short-term studies of safety of inhaled steroids.

The amount of published information on dose-response for safety and efficacy of various available inhaled steroids differs markedly; some have been studied extensively, and others have been studied hardly at all. In general, doses under 400 μ g per day seem unlikely to cause clinically significant systemic effects. Interestingly, several studies have indicated that small changes in growth velocity can be observed with doses as low as 400 μ g per day administered to children for periods of one year or less (23-27). Very little information is available for any inhaled glucocorticoid at doses exceeding 2000 µg per day. One marker, cortisol suppression, is very sensitive and shows a dose-related effect. Cortisol suppression has been noted with relatively low doses of some inhaled steroids and is noted with all available inhaled glucocorticoids given in doses of 1500 µg per day (28). What is not clear is how the endpoint measured, cortisol suppression, is related to the risks of adrenal withdrawal syndrome or with clinically significant systemic adverse effects. Until recently, systemic effects, such as significant reduction in bone density (associated with a risk of fracture), cataracts, hypertension, and growth impairment, were thought not to occur with conventional doses of inhaled glucocorticoids. However, several studies, although retrospective and uncontrolled, have raised concern about the effects of long-term use of inhaled glucocorticoids, especially high doses, on glaucoma and cataracts (29–32). It is not clear whether individual steroids can vary in their effect on the different target organs.

At a meeting of the Pulmonary and Allergy Drug Advisory Panel, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) raised concerns about the effect of inhaled steroids on growth velocity in children. They also concluded that more informa-



Figure 3 Simulated dose-response curve showing minimal effect, increasing effect with dose, and plateau or maximum effect.

tion is needed about safe dosage schedules in children less than 5 years of age for all asthma medications, especially inhaled steroids, now that early recognition, early intervention, and long-term use are advocated (33). Dose-response studies are available defining the degree of cortisol suppression for a few inhaled steroids (14,18,21,28,34). Similar studies are needed to define dose-response relationships for efficacy. Excellent summaries have defined the adverse effects of inhaled glucocorticoids (14,35). In general, more information is needed for the safe use of these medications in patients at potential risk for adverse glucocorticoid effects (elderly, postmenopausal women, young children) for all inhaled glucocorticoids at various dosage ranges, especially high-dose inhaled steroids used for moderate to severe asthma (36,37).

The recent attention to risk for adverse effects has prompted a movement to limit doses to the low to medium range. Of interest, a recent study by Sont et al. (37) evaluated the level of asthma control resulting from inhaled steroid dose adjustments using airway hyperresponsiveness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. This study used the approach of adjusting inhaled steroid dosage according to levels of clinical symptoms, bronchodilator use, peak expiratory flow variability, and FEV_1 in one group (reference group) and according to the same criteria plus the addition of another, airway responsiveness, in another (AHR strategy group) (Table 3). Based on the score determined at 3-month interval evaluations, the dose could be adjusted to no inhaled steroid or low-, medium-, or high-dose inhaled steroid.

After a 2-year follow-up, the investigators made several interesting observations. First, they observed greater improvements in asthma control and pulmonary function with the AHR strategy. Second, biopsy samples obtained before and after 2 years of treatment showed significant reductions in reticular layer thickness and reduced eosinophil inflitration only in the AHR strategy group. Finally, they observed that a higher proportion of patients in the AHR strategy group required high and moderate-dose inhaled steroid therapy (Fig. 4). These observations suggest that patients with persistent asthma would receive better control and better resolution of inflammation, and the consequences of chronic inflammation, such as airway remodeling, if treatment were based on periodic measures of airway hyperresponsiveness. However, this strategy would result in treatment with higher doses of inhaled steroids, at least temporarily. On a cautionary note, clinical experience and available literature suggest that aggressive therapy rarely normalizes AHR, usually changing the provocative dose of methacholine and histamine by no more than two fold. Therefore, attempting to normalize AHR could result in protracted therapy and incur risk for adverse effect with little gain in response. Therefore, the application of measures of AHR requires careful consideration. Perhaps other measures, such as sputum eosinophils, or an alternative measure of ongoing inflammation could be included as indicators for the adjustment of inhaled steroid therapy.

Table 3	e 3 Severity Classes of Symptoms, Bronchodilator Usage, Diurnal Variability in PEF, FEV ₁ , and Airway F.	lyperresponsiveness with
Correspo	sponding Treatment Steps	

AHR strategy only, hyperperiodical provisioness	PEF methachonine PC ₂₀ riability FEV ₁ (mg/mL)	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 50 & <50 & <0.25\\ 30-50 & 50-60 & 0.25-1.0\\ 20-30 & 60-70 & 1.0-4.0\\ 20 & >70 & >4.0 \end{array}$
	Broncho- dilator use vai	>4 hourly >> >6 hourly 1-4 x/d
Both strategies	Symptoms >3 d/2 week	Disturbed sleep/early wakeup/limited physical activities Nighttime symptoms/early wakeup/affect activities Mild nighttime/morning symptoms/may affect activities <3 d/2 wk
Treat-	ment step	7 0 0 1

Source: Ref. 37.



Figure 4 Actual daily doses of inhaled steroids (μ g; mean \pm SEM) according to the AHR strategy and the reference strategy. The median difference in treatment with inhaled steroids was $\pm 400 \ \mu$ g during the 2-year follow-up. Treatment requirement decreased with both strategies. However, the decrease with the AHR strategy was somewhat greater than with the reference strategy. (From Ref. 37.)

III. Where Are We Now?

Currently, persistent asthma is considered a disease of chronic inflammation. Several studies have suggested that this chronic inflammation can contribute to declining pulmonary function over time and possibly to altered lung growth in children (3-6). This has prompted a movement for earlier intervention and prolonged therapy to alter the course of the disease (7,11-13). In addition, if the observations by Sont et al. (37) are applied, it could mean not only earlier use, but also higher-dose therapy for extended periods of time.

This necessitates the careful evaluation of the topical to systemic effect relationship of the available inhaled steroids and delivery systems. FDA has recommended the evaluation of surrogate markers to measure the effect of medications, especially in determining bioequivalence. The identification of surrogate markers is an attempt to focus the evaluation, but the marker must be clinically meaningful and reflect a desired therapeutic outcome. In addition, a "gold standard" inhaled steroid and delivery system would simplify comparisons.

In the absence of a gold standard, most clinical studies have addressed questions of comparative effects by testing one or two doses of, at most, two steroids. The available studies are limited by problems of inconsistent methods of delivery, failure to monitor adherence with treatment, and narrow spectrum of measures of efficacy—usually consisting of clinical symptoms, use of rescue therapy along with peak flow and periodic spirometric measures—over a relatively short period of treatment, usually 3 months. There is a critical need for standardization of these testing procedures (2,14,22,38-40).

A marker for asthma control should predict the clinical consequences of poor outcomes. Some possible candidates are summarized in Table 1 and include pulmonary function changes, measures of inflammation, and measures of disease progression. Other potential markers are listed in Table 4. In evaluating the effects

Table 4	Candidate Surrogate Markers for the Assessment of Response to
Asthma T	herapy

Disease parameters
Asthma control
Symptom-free days—number of days there is no disruption in activity or need for additional medical attention or therapy
Need for rescue therapy, e.g., as needed β_2 -adrenergic agonists
Treatment failure, e.g., time to a first significant asthma exacerbation that requires systemic corticosteroid therapy
Progression of severity, e.g., the advancement to a next level of treatment
Pulmonary function
FEV ₁ —requires maximal effort of a forced expiration for a reliable measurement
FEV ₁ /FVC—requires maximal effort of a forced expiration for a reliable measurement
Peak expiratory flow—facilitates the collection of daily records in the home setting
Resistance—requires the use of forced oscillometry and may be useful in young children
Airways hyperresponsiveness—requires patient cooperation and a standardized procedure
Adverse effects of treatment
Inhaled glucocorticoids
Cortisol suppression—serial plasma collections over a 12- or 24-hour period
Linear growth
Stadiometry—most informative measure if performed with a reliable instrument and trained personnel
Knemometry—short-term measure that may be a useful bioassay procedure to detect a systemic effect, but long-term predictive value is poorly defined.
Osteonenia
Bone densitometry—most reliable indicator to obtain measures that are predictive of
clinical risk for fracture: generally requires long-term treatment to detect an effect
Bone markers — easily obtained objective measure of effect but not predictive of long
effects; some bone markers reflect bone deposition and others resorption

of an asthma medication such as inhaled steroids, one also has to identify a marker for adverse effects of clinical concern, such as growth suppression, cataracts, and osteoporosis (Table 4). There is no single short-term surrogate marker for either the best asthma outcome (e.g., control of disease progression) or for the most significant adverse effects (growth retardation, osteoporosis). Evaluating available markers for asthma progression, such as a decline in FEV₁, and for adverse effects on linear growth and bone development takes a long period of time (i.e., years) to measure changes of statistical and clinical significance.

IV. What Would We Like to Know in Order to Advance Inhaled Glucocorticoid Therapy?

The previous discussion raises important questions related to patient care about the many inhaled glucocorticoids and delivery systems available. Can we define a minimally effective dose for the available inhaled glucocorticoids? Is this dose age-specific? Does it change with the use of different delivery systems? Are there maximum safe doses of the various inhaled glucocorticoids? For patients who do require high-dose inhaled steroid therapy, how can the risk for adverse effects be minimized? Is there a single objective marker that can be used to define the "best clinical outcome"? What is the best way to monitor disease progression?

V. How Do We Get the Necessary Information?

To define a "preferred" inhaled steroid and delivery system, it is necessary to conduct carefully designed clinical trials evaluating dose-response relationships for selected efficacy and systemic effect parameters. It is also important to define a "standard" for this class of medications for study comparisons in order to limit the complexity and interpretation of future comparative studies. To identify minimally effective and maximally safe doses, it is additionally important to examine various categories of disease severity since maximal achievable response may differ based on level of severity (41). It is also important to identify meaningful surrogate markers of long-term outcomes. This measure should attempt to incorporate an analysis of the progressive nature of the disease to evaluate surrogate markers in projecting efficacy or unwanted systemic effects. To evaluate the risk of adverse effects, it is also important to evaluate all patient populations, including young children, women, and ethnic minorities.

VI. The Approach of the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute's Asthma Clinical Research Network

Five inhaled steroids are currently available in the United States for asthma therapy and possibly two more will be introduced by the time of publication.

Budesonide is the only nonhalogenated inhaled steroid. Budesonide and fluticasone are the only inhaled steroids available in a dry powder breath-actuated delivery system. Recently, a hydrofluoroalkane-based propellant for a pressurized metered dose inhaler was approved. There is also the possibility that additional new inhaled steroids will be approved (e.g., mometasone) that reportedly have less systemic absorption than presently available inhaled steroids, or new drugs with effects similar to steroids, e.g., blockers of transcription factors, such as NF- κ B, AP-1, or NF-AT (40,42).

Although available guidelines describe inhaled steroids as the preferred longterm control medication for persistent asthma, especially disease of moderate or greater severity, expert panels have not had sufficient information to identify a preferred inhaled steroid (2,22,38). The ideal inhaled steroid and delivery system would have little or no systemic effect with a high level of topical activity in the lung (Fig. 5); in other words, they would have a high therapeutic index. For example, in Figure 5, treatment A is more potent than treatment B because lower doses achieve comparable effect. In addition, treatment A is more efficacious than treatment B because its maximal effect is greater.

To address these questions, it is important to identify reliable measures that could be obtained in short-term studies that bear significant clinical relevance. One approach is to define a measure of clinical benefit, such as an increase in FEV_1 , and then assess comparative levels of systemic effect, such as cortisol suppression: an alternative approach is to identify a level of systemic effect and then examine comparative levels of beneficial effect.

The NHLBI's Asthma Clinical Research Network designated the comparison of inhaled steroids a significant therapeutic issue meriting a concentrated effort and sought to develop techniques of comparison that are reliable and easily



Figure 5 Simulated dose-response curves depicting a comparison of two inhaled steroids. Inhaled steroid A is not only more potent, showing a similar effect to inhaled steroid B at lower doses, but it also has a greater maximal effect at high doses.

applied to a clinical research setting (38). The approach taken has been to obtain dose-response measures of systemic effect for different inhaled steroids and then to evaluate the relative pulmonary effects of treatment, with doses providing equivalent systemic effects.

A. Markers of Systemic Effect

The most significant potential adverse effects of inhaled steroids include growth suppression, reduction in bone density, and cataracts. Unfortunately, measuring these effects requires large numbers of patients and long study periods. In lieu of reliable indicators for these significant clinical effects, attention has turned to measures of cortisol suppression as an indicator of systemic effect.

Although cortisol suppression cannot be directly extrapolated to a concerning clinical toxicity, it is an easily obtained and quantifiable measure of systemic availability (14). There are special considerations for the procedures used to measure cortisol suppression. In the past, cortisol suppression was assessed by measuring the adrenocortical response to stimulation with ACTH. This test was originally designed to measure dysfunction of the adrenal gland. It became apparent that the dose of ACTH used was supra-physiological and not sufficiently sensitive to detect small levels of adrenal suppression. Attempts at developing a more sensitive test, by using a low dose of ACTH, have not been sufficiently reliable to use in clinical studies (43).

Other methods for measuring cortisol suppression utilized either urinary or serial plasma cortisol measurements. Urinary cortisol measurements are usually obtained over 24- or 12-hour time periods. Although this test can be sufficiently reliable, it is highly dependent on the subject's adherence to the urine collection schedule. Serial plasma collections can provide reliable measures of cortisol suppression, but they require a specialized study unit to assure reliable and safe collection techniques. Blood samples are usually collected every hour over 24 hours or, alternatively, over a 12-hour nighttime period. It is important to carefully regiment the collection procedure to assure reproducible results. For the ACRN studies, several measures of cortisol suppression will be tested. These include 12-hour serial plasma cortisol and 24-hour urine cortisol measurements.

B. Markers of Beneficial Effect

Several markers of clinical benefit have been used in studies including pulmonary function measures, determination of as needed β -agonist therapy for symptoms, evaluation of airway hyperresposiveness (histamine, methacholine, exercise, adenosine), and markers of inflammation. In general, measures of pulmonary function such as peak flow and FEV₁ improve quite rapidly and with low doses of inhaled steroids (22,41,44). Although useful for comparisons of effect, these pulmonary function measures often fail to demonstrate a dose-response relationship

in clinical studies (41,45). One proposed marker of inflammation, exhaled nitric oxide, has shown a dose-response relationship to inhaled steroid dosing, but its relevance to the measurement of chronic inflammation is still controversial (46,47). To date, a careful evaluation of sputum cytology, e.g., sputum eosinophils, in relation to inhaled steroid dose has not been conducted. If this measure is used, it will necessitate the enrollment of subjects with a specified number of sputum eosinophils in order to measure a response.

Attempts to identify a dose-response relationship of steroid effect using a measure of airway responsiveness, such as the provocative dose of histamine or methacholine, have been disappointing. The changes in airway responsiveness are usually limited to one doubling dose and are insufficiently broad to define a dose-response relationship. In addition, this measure is time dependent, improving with treatment even after a year of continuous therapy. One measure of airway responsiveness that shows promise as a discriminator of a dose-response effect is exercise challenge. Exercise challenge is attractive since this is a clinically meaningful measure of an asthma outcome that is relevant to real-life situations. A study conducted by Pedersen and Hansen in severe asthmatic children reported a dose-response relationship for inhaled budesonide using exercise challenge (48) (Fig. 6). This is the only study to date using this measure as an indicator of inhaled steroid response, and it needs to be replicated.



% of maximum effect

Figure 6 Percent of maximum achievable protection (mean and 95% confidence limits) against fall in FEV₁ (\blacksquare) and FEF 25–75 (\bigcirc) after exercise in 19 children treated with 100, 200, and 400 µg of budesonide per day in randomized sequence. Each treatment period was 4 weeks. (From Ref. 48.)

The Asthma Clinical Research Network (ACRN) is incorporating a battery of markers of pulmonary and clinical response, as well as proposed markers of inflammation in its comparisons of inhaled steroids. These will be summarized in the following project description.

C. The ACRN Study Design

In order to evaluate the comparative systemic and beneficial effect of inhaled steroids, the ACRN developed a series of studies that are now in progress.

Dose of Inhaled Corticosteroid with Equi-systemic Effect (DICE)

This series of studies was designed to quantify the level of cortisol suppression for increasing doses of selected inhaled steroids. The study design, summarized in Figure 7, is being conducted in two phases:

- Phase I (pilot study)—evaluation of two inhaled steroids to verify study procedures
- Phase II—expanded study with five inhaled steroids incorporating defined markers of systemic effect

The purpose is to develop an experimental paradigm to characterize inhaled steroids in terms of systemic effect (cortisol suppression) so that doses that produce an equi-systemic effect can be used in the second series of studies to measure comparative efficacy. The designated levels of cortisol suppression to be defined include 10% (CS10), 20% (CS20), 30% (CS 30), and 40% (CS40) cortisol suppression of overnight cortisol secretion.



Figure 7 DICE Phase I and II study design—outline of core design indicating a total of 7 weeks that incorporates a four-dose incremental procedure for the selected inhaled steroid. The subject receives each dose level for one week. Before starting inhaled steroid and after each incremental dose, cortisol suppression (CS) is measured via 12-hour serial one-hour plasma cortisol measurements and a 24-hour urine collection of cortisol measurement.

Dose	Beclomethasone dipropionate, μg (84 μg/inhalation)	Fluticasone propionate, μg (44 μg/inhalation)
1 inhalation twice daily	168	88
2 inhalations twice daily	336	176
4 inhalations twice daily	672	352
8 inhalations twice daily	1344	704

Table 5 Inhaled Steroid Dosing Schedule for DICE Phase I Study

The study population includes subjects with mild to moderate asthma, 18-45 years of age. Asthma criteria include FEV₁ 65–90% predicted, 12% reversibility with inhaled albuterol, and PC₂₀ methacholine ≤ 8 mg/mL. In addition, subjects must have a baseline morning plasma cortisol $\geq 5 \mu g/dL$, take no hormonal therapy, and be neither morbidly obese nor cachectic. Specific exclusion criteria were developed for steroid exposure to minimize the possibility of altered cortisol response. These criteria include no oral or injectable steroids within 2 years, no orally inhaled or nasal steroids within one year, and no topical steroids applied to the skin within one year, with the exception of over-the-counter topical steroids, and even these cannot have been administered within 2 months of study participation.

In the Phase I DICE studies, three inhaled steroid treatment arms were evaluated: fluticasone propionate (CFC propellant) administered via an OptiChamber, beclomethasone dipropionate (CFC) without chamber, and beclomethasone dipropionate (CFC) with Opti-Chamber. The study doses for the two steroids are summarized in Table 5. There were 20 subjects in each treatment arm.

After receiving placebo and each study dose for one week, the subject reported to the study center at 5:30 p.m. for overnight testing. The subject remained in the study unit until 8 a.m. the following day. During that time, urine collection for cortisol were collected from 6 to 11 p.m. and from 11 p.m. until 7 a.m. Hourly plasma cortisol collection samples were obtained from 10 p.m. to 7 a.m. In addition, in the Phase I studies, low-dose ACTH stimulation tests were conducted at 7 a.m. The dose of ACTH was 0.5 μ g/1.73 m², and blood samples for cortisol measurement were obtained prior to ACTH administration and 20 minutes and 30 minutes after the dose. In addition, bone remodeling markers, *N*-telopeptide in pooled urine, and osteocalcin in blood were measured.

Recognizing that inhalation technique can greatly influence deposition of inhaled corticosteroids, consistency in inhalation technique was standardized using the Technique Assessor TM (Aradigm) controlling for inspiratory flow, volume inhaled after actuation, and breath-hold time. In the DICE Phase I study, considerable information was obtained, including the following:

- 1. Neither the 6–11 p.m. urinary cortisol, the 11 p.m. to 7 a.m. urinary cortisol, nor the combination showed a dose-response effect on cortisol suppression.
- 2. Morning low-dose ACTH stimulation testing was not a useful measurement.
- 3. The overnight AUC plasma cortisol concentration is a sensitive test for adrenal function.
- 4. Urine *n*-telopeptide did not show a dose-response relationship.
- 5. Plasma osteocalcin did show a trend towards a dose-response relationship.
- 6. The application of a spacer did not have a significant effect on altering cortisol suppression with equivalent doses of beclomethasone dipropionate in the absence of a spacer.

A full protocol evaluating six inhaled corticosteroid preparations was developed and is now in progress based on experience gained from the DICE Phase I study. The DICE Phase II protocol, adjusted based on the DICE Phase I experience, includes.

- 1. Hourly plasma cortisol concentrations collected for 12 hours, from 8 p.m. until 8 a.m. the following morning. This will serve as the primary basis for comparison of systemic effect.
- 2. The incorporation of a 24-hour urine collection with two timed aliquots of urine collection, 8 a.m. to 8 p.m., and then 8 p.m. to 8 a.m. the following morning. The two individual 12-hour increments will be analyzed and also combined for a total 24-hour collection.
- 3. Steroid exclusion criteria modified to allow use of oral or injectable steroids between 1 and 2 years, and inhaled or nasal steroids between 6 months and 1 year, if results of the low-dose ACTH stimulation test shows normal responsiveness.

Measuring Inhaled Corticosteroid Efficacy (MICE)

Definition of the magnitude of cortisol suppression for a range of doses of selected inhaled steroids will enable identification of doses that result in equivalent cortisol suppression and that can then be compared in a study of their relative beneficial effects on an array of indicators. This set of ACRN studies is also being conducted in series.

MICE Phase I—Comparison of two inhaled glucocorticoids, specifically beclomethasone dipropionate and fluticasone propionate. The selected

doses for comparison in MICE I are based on DICE Phase I experience and determination of inhaled steroid doses that result in cortisol suppression less than 5%, 20-30%, and 40-60%.

MICE Phase II—Expanded study with additional inhaled steroids of clinical interest. The inhaled steroids and corresponding delivery systems will be selected based on their measured levels of cortisol suppression in the DICE Phase II study and the clinical measures of efficacy with greatest reliability as determined from MICE Phase I experience.

The design features for MICE Phase I includes an initial placebo run-in phase, followed by a sequential series of increasing doses of inhaled steroids. The study design is summarized in Figure 8. The study doses selected include inhaled steroid doses that produce minimal cortisol suppression (<5%), 20–30% cortisol suppression, and 40–60% cortisol suppression. After the three 6-week dosing schedules of the inhaled steroid under evaluation are complete, the subject receives a 3-week course of high-dose inhaled fluticasone propionate to define the maximal effect for the study measures. Following administration of each study



Figure 8 MICE Phase I study design—outline of core design indicating a total of 24 weeks that incorporates a three-dose incremental procedure for each of the two inhaled steroids studied. A subject would receive either beclomethasone dipropionate or fluticasone propionate. Each dose level is administered for 6 weeks. After the three steroid dose levels, the subject receives fluticasone propionate at 2000 µg per day for 3 weeks. Before starting inhaled steroid treatment and after each incremental dose, cortisol suppression is measured via 12-hour serial one-hour plasma cortisol measurements and a 24-hour urine collection of cortisol measurement. Efficacy parameters are measured before starting inhaled steroid and after each dose increment of the inhaled steroid studied and also after the high-dose fluticasone propionate treatment. CS = Cortisol suppression; ENO = exhaled nitric oxide; IS = induced sputum; PC_{20} = methacholine challenge; BD_{max} = spirometry before and with maximum reversibility with bronchodilator; EIB = exercise challenge.
dose of inhaled steroid for 6 weeks, cortisol suppression is measured via overnight plasma cortisol (collected in 1-hour intervals from 8 p.m. to 8 a.m.) and urinary cortisol (two 12-hour increments and a combined 24-hour measurement).

The study population includes patients with FEV₁ 55–85%; reversible airflow obstruction (\geq 12% or \geq 200 mL improvement in FEV₁ following two to four inhalations of albuterol by metered dose inhaler and a PC₂₀ to methacholine \leq 8 mg/mL); exercise-induced bronchospasm, as defined as a fall of \geq 12% following exercise challenge; and baseline morning plasma cortisol concentration \geq 5 µg/dL. Similar steroid exclusion criteria are applied as described for the DICE Phase II protocol.

As described in Figure 8, measures of efficacy include FEV₁ pre- and postbronchodilator, PC₂₀ for methacholine, exercise-induced bronchospasm, peak flow measured twice daily, asthma control assessment, induced sputum cytology, and exhaled nitric oxide. The study will be analyzed for the various measures of efficacy versus incremental increase in dose (cortisol suppression) facilitating a comparison of two inhaled steroids, inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate and fluticasone propionate, both administered with a pressurized metered dose inhaled and Opti-Chamber delivery device. Comparisons of efficacy can then be made analogous to Figure 1 provided by Toogood and colleagues (15-17). A timeresponse analysis can also be conducted to evaluate the comparative onset of effect (daily peak expiratory flow measures) for the two inhaled steroids. Theoretically, higher-potency inhaled steroids should result in a more rapid onset of effect. Based on the results of this study, the most reliable and cost-efficient measures of efficacy can be selected for the MICE Phase II study, which will use a wider array of inhaled steroids, and also increase convenience for study subjects. As technology improves and the degree of cortisol suppression is lowered, the procedure can be reversed to identify comparative efficacy and then evaluate corresponding systemic effect.

VII. What Is the Best Way to Select Inhaled Glucocorticoids?

A. Selecting an Inhaled Glucocorticoid

The present health care system, based on principles of cost management, encourages physicians to utilize the lowest-cost preparation. Unfortunately, this makes it difficult for the clinician to select the "best" preparation for the patient and does not reward advances in drug development. However, the emphasis in health care is gradually shifting to quality control. This direction challenges clinical research to define reliable markers of quality. Five inhaled glucocorticoids are now available in the United States with varying potencies, strengths, and delivery systems. Selection is now based on patient preference, taste, number of actuations per dose, frequency of dose, and cost to the patient or health care provider. For the most part, comparisons have been limited to study of relative effects on cortisol suppression with limited analysis of relative efficacy. Fluorocarbon propellants are gradually being removed necessitating reformulation of all pressurized metered dose inhaler preparations. Market uptake for HFA-albuterol, however, has been slow possibly due to the associated higher cost or apathy about the issue of environmental protection. Dry powder, breath-actuated delivery systems will continue to be introduced. This change in delivery system formulation will require careful attention to patient education, since the technique of administration is different from the pressurized metered dose inhaler with or without a spacer. Recent studies suggest that the new delivery systems improve lung delivery (19,20), raising questions about the dose needed to minimize the amount of drug absorbed.

B. Selecting the Dose of an Inhaled Glucocorticoid

Medication adjustments for asthma control will continue to be based on symptom reports by patients, monitoring use of rescue therapy, and pulmonary function when applied. There is inadequate information regarding the dose-response relationship of inhaled glucocorticoids for clinical effects and systemic effects (38). The dose-response relationship for efficacy parameters depends on the parameter measured. For example, reduction in symptoms and improvement in FEV₁ may be affected by relatively low doses, while subtle features, such as airway hyperresponsiveness and airway normalization may require higher doses over a prolonged period of time (15,37,48). Response is also related to duration of treatment. After approximately 2 months of treatment, low doses of inhaled steroids have effects similar to a medium dose administered for the same duration of treatment (36). Patients with severe persistent asthma may have persistent inflammation even in the presence of medium to high dose plus systemic glucocorticoids (49,50). Therefore, it will be useful to incorporate convenient and reliable markers of inflammation, such as exhaled nitric oxide, sputum cytology, and airway hyperresponsiveness, as they become readily available for clinical care.

C. Minimizing the Risk of Long-Term Inhaled Glucocorticoid Therapy

There is no clinical definition of a maximally safe dose and minimally effective dose. Until this information is available, clinicians should monitor efficacy and potential adverse effects. Growth measurements in children are easily obtained, but other measures incur additional costs for laboratory testing, i.e., bone densitometry, tonometry, and slit lamp examinations. Patients at risk should be monitored for specific adverse effects, e.g., growth in children, bone density in postmenopausal women, and periodic ocular examinations in the elderly, especially in patients receiving high-dose inhaled steroid for prolonged periods of times, e.g.,

longer than one year. One should also be prepared in cases of significant physiological stress, e.g., severe asthma exacerbations, accidents, or surgery, where adrenal insufficiency could be a risk if cortisol response is impaired.

At the present time, based on concerns of risk of long-term, high-dose inhaled steroids, clinicians frequently elect to utilize low- to medium-dose inhaled steroids and supplement with nonsteroid long-term control medications, such as long-acting β_2 -adrenergic agonists (salmeterol, formoterol), leukotriene modifiers (zileuton, zafirlukast, montelukast), or theophylline. Although benefits are derived in pulmonary function, additional information is needed to determine whether these supplementary therapies are more effective than high-dose inhaled steroid therapy in altering the course of the disease.

VIII. Prospectus

Inhaled glucocorticoids will remain the cornerstone of managing persistent asthma for the near future. The leukotriene antagonist class of medications is considered an alternative form of first-line therapy or additive therapy in the management of mild persistent asthma. This is largely based on ease of administration. Additional studies are needed to determine if the leukotriene antagonists and other nonsteroid long-term control medications are equally effective in controlling disease progression. While concern remains regarding the risk of long-term adverse effects of inhaled steroids, especially at high doses over prolonged periods of time, new inhaled steroids and new delivery systems are being developed with less systemic absorption.

New insights regarding mechanisms of glucocorticoid effect, for example, reduction of peripheral inflammation, could lead to enhanced lung delivery or new drugs that maximize the desired cellular effect of steroids and minimize the risk for undesirable systemic effects. New insights into asthma management, for example, further understanding of the concept of "airway remodeling" and its clinical implications, could lead to identification of better methods to monitor airway inflammation, for example, airway hyperresponsiveness, induced sputum, and exhaled nitric oxide, to guide therapy. In the future, our understanding should further reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with asthma.

Acknowledgments

Supported by HL 51834, General Clinical Research Center Grant 5 MO1 RR00051 from the Division of Research Resources, and the NICHHD Pediatric Pharmacology Research Unit Network Grant; 1-U01-HD37237, U10 HL-51810, U10 HL-51834, U10 HL-51831, U10 HL-51823, U10 HL-51845, U10 HL-51843, M01 RR-03186, and U10 HL-56443 from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Members of the National Heart, Lung and Blood Asthma Clinical Research Network: Chairman and PFT Consultant Reuben M. Cherniack, M.D.; Director, National Institutes of Health, NHLBI Suzanne Hurd, Ph.D. and James P. Kiley, Ph.D.; Penn State College of Medicine: Vernon M. Chinchilli, Ph.D., Elizabeth A. Mauger, Ph.D., Timothy J. Craig, D.O.; Brigham and Women's Hospital: Jeffrey M. Drazen, M.D, Elliot Israel, M.D.; Harlem Lung Center: Jean G. Ford, M.D., Joanne Fagan, Ph.D.; National Jewish Medical and Research Center: Richard J. Martin, M.D., Stanley J. Szefler, M.D., Monica Kraft, M.D.; University of Wisconsin Medical School: Robert F. Lemanske, Jr., M.D., Christine Sorkness, Pharm.D. (University of Wisconsin School of Pharmacy); Thomas Jefferson University: James E. Fish, M.D., Stephen P. Peters, M.D., Ph.D.; University of California, San Francisco: Homer A. Boushey, M.D., John V. Fahy, M.B, Ch.B., Stephen C. Lazarus, M.D.

References

- Global Initiative for Asthma. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention, NHLBI/NIH workshop report. National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, Publ. No. 95-3659, 1995.
- National Asthma Education and Prevention Program Expert Panel Report 2: Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma. National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, Publ. No. 97-4051, 1997.
- 3. Peat JK. Asthma: a longitudinal perspective. J Asthma 1998; 35:235-241.
- Weiss ST. Early life predictors of adult chronic obstructive lung disease. Eur Respir Rev 1995; 5:303–309.
- 5. Lange P, Parner J, Vestbo J, et al. A 15-year follow-up study of ventilatory function in adults with asthma. N Engl J Med 1998; 339:1194–1200.
- Zeiger RS, Dawson C, Weiss S, et al. Relationships between duration of asthma and asthma severity among children in the Childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:376–387.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid on growth and pulmonary function in asthmatic children. Respir Med 1994; 88: 373-381.
- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S, Busse WW. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids: New developments. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:S1–S53.
- Busse WW. Inflammation in asthma: the cornerstone of the disease and target of therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 102:S17–S22.
- Boushey HA. Effect of inhaled corticosteroids on the consequence of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 102:S5–S16.
- 11. Haahtela T, Jarvinen M, Kava T, et al. Effects of reducing or discontinuing inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:700–705.
- 12. Selroos O, Pietinalho A, Lofroos AB, et al. Effect of early vs late intervention with inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Chest 1995; 108:1228–1234.
- Overbeek SE, Kerstjens HA, Bogaard JM, et al. Is delayed introduction of inhaled corticosteroids harmful in patients with obstructive airways disease (asthma and COPD)? The Dutch Chronic Nonspecific Lung Disease Study Groups. Chest 1996; 110:35-41.
- Sorkness CA. Establishing a therapeutic index for the inhaled corticosteroids. Part II. Comparisons of systemic activity and safety among different inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 102:S52–S64.

- Toogood JH, Lefcoe NM, Haines DSM, Jennings B, Errington N, Baksh L, Chuang L. A graded dose assessment of the efficacy of beclomethasone dipropionate aerosol for severe chronic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977; 59:298–308.
- Toogood JH, Baskerville J, Errington N, Jennings B, Chuang L, Lefcoe NM. Determinants of the response to beclomethasone aerosol at various dosage levels: A multiple regression analysis to identify clinically useful predictors. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977; 60:367–376.
- Toogood JH, Baskerville J, Jennings B, Lefcoe NM, Johansson S-A. Bioequivalent doses of budesonide and prednisone in moderate and severe asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1989; 84:688–700.
- McCubbin MM, Milavetz G, Grandgeorge S, Weinberger M, Ahrens R, Sargent C, Vaughan LM. A bioassay for topical and systemic effect of three inhaled corticosteroids. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1995; 57:455–460.
- Seale JP, Harrison LI. Effect of changing the fine particle mass of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate on intrapulmonary deposition and pharmacokinetics. Respir Med 1998; 92 (suppl A): 9–15.
- Thorsson L, Edsbacker S, Conradson T-B. Lung deposition of budesonide from Turbuhaler is twice that from a pressurized metered-dose inhaler P-MDI. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1839–1844.
- Donnelly R, Williams KM, Baker AB, Badcock C-A, Day RO, Seale JP. Effects of budesonide and fluticasone on 24-hour plasma cortisol: A dose-response study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:1746–1751.
- 22. Kelly HW. Establishing a therapeutic index for the inhaled corticosteroids. Part I. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic comparison of the inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 102:S36–S51.
- 23. Tinkelman DG, Reed CE, Nelson HS, Offord KP. Aerosol beclomethasone dipropionate compared with theophylline as primary treatment of chronic, mild to moderately severe asthma in children. Pediatrics 1993; 92:64–77.
- 24. Merkus PJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Duiverman EJ, van Houwelingen HC, Kerrebijn KF. Long-term effect of inhaled corticosteroids on growth rate in adolescents with asthma. Pediatrics 1993; 91:1121–1126.
- 25. Doull IJ, Freezer NJ, Holgate ST. Growth of prepubertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:1715–1719.
- 26. Simons FE and the Canadian Beclomethasone Dipropionate-Salmeterol Xinafoate Study Group. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1659–1665.
- 27. Verberne AA, Frost C, Roorda RJ, et al. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:688–695.
- 28. Brus R. Effects of high-dose inhaled corticosteroids on plasma cortisol concentrations in healthy adults. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159:1903–1908.
- 29. Garbe E, LeLorier J, Boivin J-F, Suissa S. Inhaled and nasal glucocorticoids and the risks of ocular hypertension or open-angle glaucoma. JAMA 1997; 277:722–727.
- 30. Cumming RG, Mitchell P, Leeder SR. Use of inhaled corticosteroids and the risk of cataracts. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:8–14.

- 31. Garbe E, Suissa S, LeLorier J. Association of inhaled corticosteroid use with cataract extraction in elderly patients. JAMA 1998; 280:539–543.
- 32. Wong CA, Walsh LJ, Smith CJP, Wisniewski AF, Lewis SA, Hubbard R, Cawte S, Green DJ, Pringle M, Tattersfield AE. Inhaled corticosteroid use and bone-mineral density in patients with asthma. Lancet 2000; 355:1399–1403.
- Food and Drug Administration Pulmonary Allergy and Endocrinology Drug Advisory Committee meeting on the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on growth in children, July 30–31, 1998, Bethesda, MD.
- 34. Clark DJ, Grove A, Cargill RI, Lipworth BJ. Comparative adrenal suppression with inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate in adult asthmatic patients. Thorax 1996; 51:262–266.
- Toogood JH. Side effects of inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:705–713.
- 36. van der Molen T, de Jong BM, Mulder HH, Postma DS. Starting with a higher dose of inhaled corticosteroids in primary care asthma treatment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158:121–125.
- 37. Sont JK, Willems LNA, Bel EH, van Krieken JHJM, Vendenbroucke JP, Sterk PJ, and the AMPUL Study group. Clinical control and histopathologic outcome of asthma when using airway hyperresponsiveness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1043–1051.
- Kamada AK, Szefler SJ, Martin RJ, Boushey HA, Chinchilli VM, Drazen JM, Fish JE, Israel E, Lazarus SC, Lemanske RF, and the Asthma Clinical Research Network. Issues in the use of inhaled glucocorticoids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: 1739–1748.
- Edsbäcker S, Szefler SJ. Glucocorticoid pharmacokinetics: principles and clinical applications. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Topical Glucocorticoids in Asthma: Mechanisms and Clinical Actions. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1996:381–445.
- 40. Spahn JD, Szefler SJ. Inhaled glucocorticoids, established and new. In: Yeadon M, Diamant Z, eds. New and Exploratory Therapeutic Agents for Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, 2000:307–333.
- Szefler SJ, Boushey HA, Pearlman DS, Togias A, Liddle R, Furlong A, Shah T, Knobil K. Time to onset of effect of fluticasone propionate in patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:780–788.
- 42. Barnes PJ. New targets for future asthma therapy. In: Yeadon M, Diamant Z, eds. New and Exploratory Therapeutic Agents for Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, 2000: 361–389.
- 43. Wolthers OD, Honour JW. Measures of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function in patients with asthma treated with inhaled glucocorticoids: clinical and research implications. J Asthma 1999; 36:477–486.
- 44. Kemp J, Wanderer AA, Ramsdell J, Southern DL, Weiss S, Aaronson D, Grossman J. Rapid onset of control with budesonide in patients with mild-to-moderate asthma. Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 82:463–471.
- 45. Raphael GD, Lanier RQ, Baker J, Edwards L, Rickard K, Lincourt WR. A comparison of multiple doses of fluticasone propionate and beclomethasone dipropionate in subjects with persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:796–803.

- 46. Kharitinov SA, Yates DH, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Changes in the dose of inhaled steroid affect exhaled nitric oxide levels in asthmatic patients. Eur J Respir Dis 1996; 9:196–201.
- 47. Sanders SP. Nitric oxide in asthma: pathogenic, therapeutic, or diagnostic? Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 21:147–149.
- 48. Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children: a dose- response study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 95:29–33.
- 49. Sher ER, Leung DYM, Surs W, Kam JC, Zieg, G, Kamada AK, Szefler SJ. Steroid resistant asthma: cellular mechanisms contributing to inadequate response to gluco-corticoid therapy. J Clin Invest 1994; 93:33–39.
- 50. Louis R, Lau LCK, Bron AO, Roldaan AC, Radermecker M, Djukanovic R. The relationship between airways inflammation and asthma severity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:9–16.

Discussion

- **Dr. O'Byrne:** The term "adrenal suppression" may not be the best one to use for what you are measuring. The term "cortisol replacement" may be better as you are replacing endogenous with exogenous steroid. There is no evidence of true adrenal suppression with inhaled steroids.
- **Dr. Szefler:** That is a good point, but the commonly used term has been cortisol suppression. This reflects a reduction in the plasma or urine cortisol measurements.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** What was the rationale for measuring cortisol from 10 p.m. to 7 a.m. and not over 24 hours? You may miss the morning peak in some of your subjects.
- **Dr. Szefler:** We chose a fixed time interval that would be reproducible and convenient for study subjects.
- **Dr. Rohdewald:** Did you include in your study the measurement of frequency of use of β_2 -antagonists?
- Dr. Szefler: Yes, we have collected data on this parameter.
- **Dr. Brattsand:** Do you expect that a selected steroid will be the best under all conditions (mild–severe, q.i.d.–q.d., etc.)? One steroid may be the best in severe asthma due to a need for some systemic efficacy (see Dr. Denburg's presentation), while another is better in mild asthma when given once daily. There may well be different threshold concentrations and trigger times for achieving the various antiasthmatic actions. In mild asthma—where the main emphasis is safety—a preferred glucocorticoid may not need to reach all efficacy levels.
- **Dr. Szefler:** You raise some good points, and this will have to be considered in the interpretation of the data and subsequent application to clinical practice.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** I am concerned that even the lower doses to be used (<10% cortisol suppression) may still be high on the efficacy dose response (near the "plateau"), weakening the ability to detect efficacy differences.
- **Dr. Szefler:** You are correct, and that will have to be considered in the analysis. The results will likely be parameter specific.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** I would suggest that you also include an exercise test in the middle of the treatment period. That might increase the sensitivity.
- **Dr. Busse:** As to the development of study design, you are pushing the probability of efficacy to a precision that may exceed the precision allowed by the disease itself. It would seem more appropriate to determine the effect of steroids

on regulation of the disease, rather than on different preparations of corticosteroids. One can then extrapolate these observations to studies of other steroids.

- **Dr. Hargreave:** Is the design cumulative? The response is going to be determined by the presence and severity of eosinophilic inflammation. My suggestions are to select subjects with sputum eosinophilia.
- **Dr. Szefler:** We did not make an attempt to screen subjects by sputum eosinophils, but this will certainly be looked at carefully as a response parameter.
- **Dr. Rohdewald:** Will patients record PEF on a daily basis in a diary? That would provide a profile with many points indicating improvement of lung function.
- **Dr. Szefler:** Patients in both our efficacy and systemic effect studies collect twice-daily pulmonary function measures. This will be analyzed as an outcome variable and will help us determine onset of effect of each dose.
- **Dr. Georas:** You mentioned that 50% inhibition of cortisol secretion is the level at which you get concerned with inhaled glucocorticoids. I'm wondering how you came up with this number.
- **Dr. Szefler:** That is just my own empirical assessment. There have not been studies that have closely looked at the relationship of the magnitude of cortisol suppression to other systemic effects, such as growth.
- **Dr. Hargreave:** Why do you select 6 weeks? In fact, the steroid acts more quickly. The longer the duration of use, the more likely the outcome is to be influenced by external influences such as infection and allergen. What are the questions that you are asking in these studies? Can you identify a dose response? Which outcomes are the best ones to choose? I like to look at inflammatory parameters (e.g., sputum eosinophils, blood eosinophils, and exhaled NO).
- **Dr. Szefler:** We chose 6 weeks to allow a sufficient period of time to reach nearplateau effect with each dose for pulmonary function, i.e., spirometer measures, The time relationship could very well be different for other measures, such as exercise-induced bronchospasm.

Part Six

IN VIVO RESEARCH ON AIRWAY-LUNG SELECTIVITY

17

The Role of Direct Assessment of Airway Inflammation in Evaluating Inhaled Glucocorticosteroid Efficacy and in Managing the Asthmatic Patient

MARK D. INMAN

McMaster University and St. Joseph's Hospital Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

I. Introduction

In this chapter I will review the evidence that inhaled glucocorticosteroid (GCS) therapy can reverse specific aspects of airway inflammation observed in asthma. The focus here will be on cellular aspects of inflammation, as airway remodeling will be covered in Chapter 25.

Initially, I will review studies in which direct measurements of airway inflammation have been made, either pre- and postinhaled GCS therapy or in a placebo-controlled study. To date, direct measures of airway inflammatory status include bronchial biopsy, bronchoalveolar lavage or wash, and induced sputum; all of these methods have been used to evaluate the efficacy of inhaled GCS treatment. Following this, I will address the question of whether directly measuring airway inflammatory status should be routinely performed in order to tailor the therapy for specific patients. As invasive procedures would not be practical for this purpose, this section will focus on the potential role of induced sputum.

II. Direct Measurement of Airway Inflammation to Assess the Efficacy of Inhaled Glucocorticosteroids

A. Bronchial Biopsy

While evaluation of asthmatic lung tissue can be made postmortem (1), it is only relatively recently that endobronchial biopsies have been used for the analysis of tissue from the proximal airways of living asthmatics (2). This technique has made it possible to evaluate the effects of various treatments on inflammatory indices in this compartment.

Several investigators have observed beneficial effects of treating asthmatics with inhaled GCS on biopsy markers of airway inflammation. Jeffery et al. (3) compared indices of inflammation from biopsies of healthy and asthmatic subjects and also observed the effects of a brief period of inhaled GCS therapy on these indices (Fig. 1). In that study, asthmatics, having been managed with inhaled GCS for at least 6 months, had increased percentage of eosinophils infiltrating the bronchial mucosa compared to normals. Furthermore, mild asthmatics, managed with only inhaled bronchodilators, had an increased total number of inflammatory cells infiltrating the bronchial mucosa and a significantly greater percentage of both eosinophils and mast cells compared to normals. However, the eosinophil and mast cell percentages in this mild asthmatic group returned to normal after a 4-week treatment with inhaled budesonide (200 μ g bid), but not with inhaled terbutaline (500 μ g qid).

Laitinen et al. (4) treated seven mild steroid naive asthmatics with inhaled budesonide (600 g bid) for 3 months and observed decreased airway responsiveness and improved spirometry. Biopsies taken before and after treatment indicated significant reductions of total numbers of inflammatory cells infiltrating both the epithelium and lamina propria. Budesonide treatment was also associated with a decrease in eosinophil and lymphocytes in the epithelial layer and in mast cells, lymphocytes, and plasma cells in the lamina propria. Following treatment, eosinophils were detected in the epithelial layer of only one of these mild asthmatic subjects. Treatment with inhaled terbutaline of another group of similar subjects was not associated with improvement in epithelial inflammatory indices, although there was a significant reduction in total inflammatory cells infiltrating the lamina propria.

Djukanovic et al. (5) evaluated biopsies from asthmatic subjects prior to and following the commencement of inhaled GCS therapy (beclomethasone 2000 μ g/day for 2 weeks, 1000 μ g/day for 4 weeks) that was deemed necessary for optimal management of their asthma. Although this was an uncontrolled study, it is worth noting that the clinical improvement (decreased symptoms and airway responsiveness and improved spirometry) was associated with reductions in eosinophils and mast cells in the epithelial and submucosal layer and decreased submucosal lymphocytes.



Figure 1 Bronchial biopsy evaluation of inflammatory cells in the airways of normals, asthmatics receiving ongoing inhaled GCS treatment, and mild asthmatics before and after 4-week treatment with inhaled budesonide (200 µg) b.i.d. * = Different from normals (p < 0.05). [†] = Different than pre-GCS (p < 0.05).

Trigg et al. (6) randomized mild asthmatic subjects to receive either inhaled placebo or beclomethasone (500 μ g bid) for 4 months. There were significant improvements in FEV₁ in both groups and a trend towards improvement in airway responsiveness in the steroid-treated subjects only. In the steroid-treated but not the placebo group there was a significant reduction in the numbers of mast cells and eosinophils in the bronchial mucosa.

Using a randomized, placebo-controlled parallel group design, Olivieri et al. (7) observed the effects of 6-week treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP), 250 μ g bid, in mild asthmatic subjects. Treatment with FP was associated with decreased airway responsiveness and also with an 83% and 69% reductions in the number of eosinophils and mast cells, respectively, in the lamina propria. Placebo treatment was not associated with improvement of any of these outcomes.

Most recently, Lim et al. (8) compared inhaled budesonide (800 μ g bid) and placebo for 4 weeks each in a randomized double blind crossover trial in mild athmatic subjects. When compared to placebo, budesonide treatment was associated with an improvement in morning and evening peak expiratory flow and a reduction in airway responsiveness. Comparison of bronchial biopsies between treatment arms indicated a 56% reduction in the number of eosinophils and 48% reduction in the number of macrophages in the submucosa in the steroid-treated group.

Clearly the results of these studies indicate that treatment of mild asthmatics with inhaled corticosteroids can lead to significant reductions in the numbers of eosinophils and also, possibly, the numbers of mast cells, lymphocytes, and macrophages in compartments of the airway wall. Encouragingly, the results of Jeffrey et al. (3) suggest that inflammatory cell numbers may be reduced to normal levels in these mild subjects. However, in that same study patients receiving long-term treatment with inhaled GCS had greater than normal eosinophil numbers in the bronchial mucosa. Possibly, these findings indicate that inhaled GCS cannot normalize eosinophilia in more severe asthmatics. It is also possible that patient compliance—especially given that treatment in this group was not part of the study design—was low and that the treatment effect was suboptimal. Answering the question of whether inhaled GCS can fully reverse specific aspects of airway inflammation in severe asthma will be difficult to determine using biosy studies, as the risk of bronchoscopy may not be justified in this population.

B. Bronchoalveolar Lavage

In addition to obtaining biopsies for the evaluation of airway inflammation, fiberoptic bronchoscopy has also allowed researchers to perform bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) and bronchial washing (BW) for this same purpose. Usually, BW involves infusing a small volume (approximately 20 mL) through the bronchoscope and immediately aspirating fluid back into a collection chamber, while BAL involves the infusion of a larger volume (often 2×60 mL), which is also aspirated into a collection chamber. Although it is not entirely clear which compartment is sampled using each technique, it is presumed that BW samples proximal airways while BAL samples the entire airway.

Ädelroth et al. compared inflammatory indices in both BAL and BW between normal and asthmatic research subjects and also have observed the effects on these indices of treatment with inhaled GCS (9). Eosinophil percentages were significantly increased in mild and steroid dependent asthmatics compared to normals. Unlike the results observed in bronchial biopsy studies, however, there was no significant reduction in eosinophil percentage in either BAL or BW in the mild asthmatic subjects following a 4-week treatment period with inhaled budesonide (200 μ g bid) (Table 1).

Study (Ref.)	Treatment	Outcome	Control	Treated	<i>p</i> -value
Adelroth et al. (9)	Budesonide 4 wks (200 µg b.i.d.)	BAL eosino- phils (%)	1.8	2.6	>0.05
Adelroth et al. (9)	Budesonide 4 wks (200 µg b.i.d.)	BW eosino- phils (%)	3.2	2.6	>0.05
Olivieri et al. (7)	Fluticasone 6 wks (250 µg b.i.d.)	BAL eosino- phils (%)	1.01	0.81	>0.05
Trigg et al. (6)	Beclomethasone 4 mo (500 µg b.i.d.)	BAL eosino- phils (%)	~1.7	~0.4	>0.05
Lim et al. (8)	Budesonide 4 wks (800 µg b.i.d.)	BAL eosino- phils (%)	1.76	0.81	>0.05

Table 1 Effects of Treatment with Inhaled GCS on Eosinophil Percentages in Bronchoalveolar Lavage and Bronchial Washing

Three other groups have also observed that inhaled GCS treatment does not affect inflammatory indices in BAL from mild asthmatic subjects (6,7). Olivieri et al. (7) observed that the cellular measurements in BAL before and after 6-week treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP), $250 \,\mu g$ bid, were not different, while there were no differences between the effects of 4-week treatment with inhaled budesonide (800 μg bid) or placebo (Table 1). Trigg et al. (6) found no significant changes in BAL following 4-month treatment with beclomethasone, 500 μg bid.

It is worth noting that in all four of these studies, where BAL or BW eosinophilia was not affected by inhaled GCS, indices of airway eosinophilia as assessed by bronchial biopsy were reduced in association with treatment. It has therefore been proposed that BAL may not be a sensitive tool for monitoring airway eosinophilia (8). However, it is possible that in more severe subjects, where there could be expected to be a greater percent of eosinophils in BAL or BW, a significant treatment effect would be observed. This likelihood is supported by observing the data of Trigg et al. (6) in which subjects with high baseline BAL eosinophilia appeared to improve following steroid treatment. Another possibility that may explain the lack of treatment effect of inhaled GCS on BAL eosinophils is that this outcome measurement reflects airways that are more distal than those sampled using bronchial biopsy and therefore not receiving optimal treatment from the delivery devices used in these studies. This possibility would need to be tested by repeating these studies using delivery devices with smaller particle sizes and therefore distributing to smaller airways. If this proved to be case, then one might argue that rather than being an insensitive tool for monitoring anti-inflammatory effects of inhaled GCS, BAL or BW may provide important information not available from bronchial biopsy.

C. Induced Sputum

Induced sputum has been used since 1986 to provide a noninvasive means of assessing the extent of cellular and fluid-phase disturbances in the airway (10–12). Measurements made using this technique have proved reproducible and responsive (13), indicating that it may be a valuable method for assessing the anti-inflammatory effects of inhaled GCS.

Van Rensen et al. (14) compared the effect on mild asthmatic patients of 4-week treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate (500 μ g b.i.d.) or placebo on sputum eosinophilia in a double-blind, randomized, parallel group design. In this study, GCS but not placebo was associated with a two doubling concentration increase in PC₂₀. The percentage of eosinophils in induced sputum decreased significantly after 2 weeks of GCS but not placebo treatment (Fig. 2). This treatment effect was maintained over the 4-week treatment period and was lost after a 2-week washout period (Fig. 2).

Using a double-blind, randomized, crossover design, Lim et al. (8) compared the effects of 4-week treatment with placebo or inhaled budesonide ($800 \mu g$ bid) on percent eosinophils in induced sputum. These authors also observed a significant reduction (pretreatment: 4.9%; posttreatment: 1.38%) in percent eosinophils after GCS treatment. In this study there was an associated reduction in eosinophils in bronchial biopsy tissue (see above).

Thus, it is clear that analysis of eosinophilia in induced sputum from asthmatic patients is sensitive to inhaled GSC treatment. While the study by Lim et al.



Figure 2 Eosinophils expressed as a percentage of total cells recovered from sputum induced from asthmatic subjects before, during, and 2 weeks after a 4-week period of treatment with either placebo or fluticasone propionate $(500 \,\mu g)$. * = Different than in placebo-treated group.

(8) demonstrated an associated decrease in eosinophils in bronchial biopsy, it is not clear whether information from these two tests can be considered as equivalent, or whether there are subtle differences in the value of these two tests.

D. Conclusion

Results from several studies are in agreement that inhaled GCS can reduce the extent of several cellular aspects of asthmatic inflammation. This information has played a large role in the increased use of inhaled steroids in several countries and the move to introduce this class of drugs early in the natural course of the disease in the belief that this will perhaps reduce the ultimate severity of the disease. However, the information from studies of this type is not particularly useful for the physician who needs to decide on the appropriate dose of inhaled GCS for each patient or to determine whether this treatment is achieving the desired anti-inflammatory effect. Achieving these practically useful aims would require tests that can monitor the inflammatory state and provide information that can be incorporated into management decisions, much as is currently the case for symptom and pulmonary function tests. This issue will be addressed in the following section.

III. Measurement of Airway Inflammation as a Guide for Treatment Decisions

It has been suggested by the Global Initiative on Asthma (GINA) that evaluation of airway inflammation should be incorporated into the management of the asthmatic patient. To date there are no studies in which the value of direct measurement of airway inflammation for this purpose has been assessed. However, Sont and colleagues have provided evidence that incorporating regular measurement of airway responsiveness into a treatment decision algorithm can result in improved asthma-related outcomes (15). Specifically, patients in whom the dose of inhaled GCS was determined by airway responsiveness as well as conventional markers of disease severity (symptoms, bronchodilator use, and spirometry) fared better in terms of exacerbation rate and improvements in lung function and airway remodeling than did patients who were assessed using only conventional markers. While these results provide encouragement that individualized treatment based on direct assessment of each patient can decrease morbidity, it is not clear whether measurement of nonspecific airway responsiveness is the most appropriate test for this purpose. While there are many studies demonstrating a significant relationship between the magnitude of airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and the extent of eosinophilic airway inflammation in biopsy, BAL, or sputum (e.g., 16-19), there are as many that fail to observe such a relationship (e.g., 9,20-22). The most likely explanation for these results is that a component of airway hyperresponsiveness in asthma is related to eosinophilic inflammation (either directly or indirectly), but the fact that there are many other contributing factors (Fig. 3) can confound this relationship when a heterogeneous sample of asthmatics is studied. Thus, the multifactorial basis of airway hyperresponsiveness means that the results of the study performed by Sont et al. (15) should be viewed with some caution. If, as the authors propose, GCS dose was influenced by the degree of airway hyperresponsiveness, subjects with severe AHR due to factors that are not responsive to GCS treatment would still receive the highest treatment dose. While this study demonstrated that, on the whole, this approach can lead to a group benefit, it is likely that more specific information about the nature of the inflammation will result in treatment strategies that are appropriate for the individual patient. Currently, the only validated methods to describe the nature of airway inflammation are the direct measurement techniques described above. Of these, only induced sputum is noninvasive and potentially useful as a tool for directing therapy on an individual patient basis.

A. Sputum as a Predictor of Which Patients Will Improve with GCS Treatment

For sputum to be useful at guiding inhaled GCS therapy, it must provide information that will predict whether a specific patient will benefit from added inhaled GCS. Pavord et al. observed the effects of inhaled GCS therapy in two groups of asthmatics, one with sputum eosinophilia <3% and one with eosinophilia $\geq 3\%$ (23). These authors observed that following a 2-month period of treatment with inhaled budesonide (400 µg bid) there was greater improvement in spirometry, symptoms, and airway responsiveness in the group with higher baseline eosinophilia and that there was a significant relationship between the magnitudes of baseline eosinophilia and the improvement in airway responsiveness observed with GCS therapy (24). These results, suggesting that a significant level of sputum eosinophilia is a predictor for a favorable response to GCS therapy in asthma, are supported by observations that baseline sputum eosinophilia also predicts a beneficial effect of oral GCS on symptoms and spirometry in patients with COPD (25) and chronic cough (26). While these studies suggest that sputum can be used to predict steroid responsiveness, clearly there is a need for well-controlled trials in asthmatic patients to describe this relationship more precisely.

B. Sputum as a Tool for Identifying Noneosinophilic Asthma Exacerbations

Induced sputum can be used to identify symptomatic asthmatic patients who do not have greater than normal levels of sputum eosinophila. Turner et al. examined the sputum from 34 consecutive patients presenting with an ongoing exacerbation



Figure 3 Several of the many possible contributors to airway hyperresponsiveness. T, T lymphocyte; MC, mast cell; B, B lymphocyte; DC, dendritic cell.



Figure 4 Eosinophils, expressed as a percentage of total cells in spontaneous or induced sputum from 34 patients suffering from an exacerbation of asthma. Legend indicates percentage of patients with eosinophils less than the indicated level. (Modified from Ref. 27.)

of their asthma (Fig. 4) (27). In this study it was reported that 47% of the patients had a sputum eosinophilia of less than 4%, which at the time was considered to be the upper limit of normal. However, a more recent analysis of sputum from healthy individuals has shown that the upper limit of normal sputum eosinophilia is 2.2% (mean + 2 SD) (28). When these stricter criteria are applied to the data of Turner et al. (27), one still observes that greater than 25% of the patients with a current asthma exacerbation had sputum eosinophil levels in the normal range. Fahy et al. have also evaluated induced sputum from 18 patients with an ongoing exacerbation of asthma and found that 50% of these had less than 2% eosinophils (29). Futhermore, in the study by Fahy et al. it was observed that in patients with an associated viral respiratory tract infection, there was a more prominent neutrophilia in the sputum when compared to patients without an associated infection (85% vs. 57%). In this comparison it was also noted that the eosinophils were also lower in the group with a viral infection (5% vs. 31%), although this difference was not statistically significant.

Thus, the information from these studies suggests that induced sputum could be used in the evaluation of patients experiencing an exacerbation of their asthma. While more information is required, it is conceivable that only those patients with a significant level of sputum eosinophilia should be managed with initiation of or increased GCS therapy.

C. Sputum as a Tool for Predicting Asthma Exacerbations

Another potential use for induced sputum is to determine the optimal dose of inhaled GCS therapy in the management of a specific patient, the rationale being that analysis of sputum could identify the lowest GCS dose that will maintain an acceptably low level of specific airway inflammation. Recently, Jatakanon et al. measured inflammatory markers in induced sputum before and during a period of inhaled GCS reduction (30). In this study all patients were receiving at least 800 μ g inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate (or equivalent) per day prior to the study and then switched to 200 μ g budesonide daily for an 8-week period. It was observed that in subjects who experienced an exacerbation of their asthma over the course of the study, there was a significantly higher baseline sputum eosinophilia than in those who did not (medians: 13.6 vs. 0.2). Furthermore, increase in sputum eosinophilia during the course of the study was a better predictor of an exacerbation than was exhaled nitrous oxide.

Based on these results, it appears feasible that measuring the degree of eosinophilia in induced sputum could be used as a guide for whether a reduction in the dose of inhaled GCS is appropriate or likely to precipitate an exacerbation.

Based on observations by Jatakanon et al.(30) of the individual patient responses during the period of reduced inhaled GCS, it appears that sputum eosinophilia increased approximately 2 weeks prior to the symptomatic exacerbation, although this was not formally addressed. While it would be desirable to receive such warning prior to an exacerbation, clearly it is not practical to monitor patients sputum every 2 weeks.

D. Does Sputum Provide Information That Is Not Available Clinically?

The above studies indicate that information obtained from induced sputum about the nature of airway inflammation could be useful in the management of the asthmatic patient. For this approach to be put into practice, however, it would need to be demonstrated that the information obtained from induced sputum was superior to the assessment of inflammatory status that is currently made based on routinely performed tests. Paramasweran et al. addressed this concern by comparing information obtained from induced sputum with a physicians assessment of patient's inflammatory status (31). In this study, respiratory physicians were asked to assess a total of 76 asthmatic patients based on an office visit, spirometry, response to prior treatment, and a macroscopic description of the patient's sputum. Physicians then assessed the patients as being controlled or uncontrolled, predicted the results



Figure 5 Treatment plan based on clinical presentation in patients with normal, eosinophilic, or neutrophilic induced sputum. Note that there was a decision to increase GCS in less than 50% of the patients with an abnormally high eosinophilia, but that there was a decision to increase GCS in almost 50% of patients with either normal or neutrophilic inflammation. "Other" treatment decisions included adding other treatment, decreasing GCS, removal from work. (Adapted from Ref. 31.)

of the sputum analysis (normal, eosinophilic, neutrophilic, etc.), and offered a treatment plan. The study demonstrated that there was agreement between the physician's prediction of the quality of the sputum with the observed quality only 45% of the time. There was abnormal sputum findings in 22% of the patients whom the physicians described as being controlled. There were normal sputum findings in 38% of the patients whom the physicians described as being uncontrolled. The most striking finding from the study was the lack of agreement between the physicians' treatment plan and the quality of the induced sputum (Fig. 5). If, based on studies reviewed above, one assumes that eosinophilic inflammation is a predictor of responsiveness to inhaled GCS therapy, then it is clear that relying on physician impression will result in both unnecessary GCS treatment in some cases and failure to give appropriate GCS in others.

IV. Summary

The purpose of this review was to summarize some of the evidence suggesting that there is a role for monitoring patients' inflammatory status as a means for deciding on appropriate treatment plans. The only noninvasive method of directly and qualitatively assessing airway inflammation currently available is induced sputum. While there is much evidence to support that induced sputum may be useful in directing therapy, there is a need for trials that will demonstrate that this approach can result in decreased morbidity in asthmatic patients in a cost-effective manner.

References

- 1. Dunnill MS. The pathology of asthma with special reference to changes in the bronchial mucosa. J Clin Pathol 1960; 13:27–32.
- Laitinen LA, Heino M, Laitinen A, Kava T, Haahtela T. Damage of the airway epithelium and bronchial reactivity in patients with asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985; 131:599-606.
- Jeffery PK, Godfrey RW, Adelroth E, Nelson F, Rogers A, Johansson SA. Effects of treatment on airway inflammation and thickening of basement membrane reticular collagen in asthma. A quantitative light and electron microscopic study. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145:890–899.
- 4. Laitinen LA, Laitinen AL, Haahtela T, Laitinen A. A comparative study of the effects of an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, and a beta 2-agonist, terbutaline, on airway inflammation in newly diagnosed asthma: a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90(1):32–42.
- Djukanovic R, Wilson JW, Britten KM, Wilson SJ, Walls AF, Roche WR, et al. Effect of an inhaled corticosteroid on airway inflammation and symptoms in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145(3):669–674.
- Trigg CJ, Manolitsas ND, Wang J, Calderon MA, McAulay A, Jordan SE, et al. Placebo-controlled immunopathologic study of four months of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150(1):17–22.
- Olivieri D, Chetta A, Del Donno M, Bertorelli G, Casalini A, Pesci A, et al. Effect of short-term treatment with low-dose inhaled fluticasone propionate on airway inflammation and remodeling in mild asthma: a placebo-controlled study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155(6):1864–1871.
- Lim S, Jatakanon A, John M, Gilbey T, O'Connor BJ, Chung KF, et al. Effect of inhaled budesonide on lung function and airway inflammation. Assessment by various inflammatory markers in mild asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159 (1):22–30.
- Adelroth E, Rosenhall L, Johansson SA, Linden M, Venge P. Inflammatory cells and eosinophilic activity in asthmatics investigated by bronchoalveolar lavage. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 142:91–99.
- Bigby TD, Margolskee D, Curtis JL, Michael PF, Sheppard D, Hadley WK, et al. The usefulness of induced sputum in the diagnosis of *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986; 133 (4):515–518.
- 11. Gibson PG, Wong BJ, Hepperle MJ, Kline PA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Guyatt G, et al. A research method to induce and examine a mild exacerbation of asthma by withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroid. Clin Exp Allergy 1992; 22 (5):525–532.
- 12. Pin I, Gibson PG, Kolendowicz R, Girgis-Gabardo A, Denburg JA, Hargreave FE, et

al. Use of induced sputum cell counts to investigate airway inflammation in asthma. Thorax 1992; 47:25–29.

- 13. O'Byrne PM, Inman MD. Induced sputum to assess airway inflammation in asthma [editorial; comment]. Eur Respir J 1996; 9 (12):2435–2436.
- van Rensen EL, Straathof KC, Veselic-Charvat MA, Zwinderman AH, Bel EH, et al. Effect of inhaled steroids on airway hyperresponsiveness, sputum eosinophils and exhaled nitric oxide levels in patients with asthma. Thorax 1999; 54 (5):403–408.
- Sont JK, Willems LN, Bel EH, van Krieken JH, Vandenbroucke JP, Sterk, et al. Clinical control and histopathologic outcome of asthma when using airway hyperresponsiveness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. The AMPUL Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159 (4 Pt 1):1043–1051.
- Chetta A, Foresi A, Del DM, Consigli GF, Bertorelli G, Pesci A, et al. Bronchial responsiveness to distilled water and methacholine and its relationship to inflammation and remodeling of the airways in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153 (3):910–917.
- 17. Kirby JG, Hargreave FE, Gleich GJ, O'Byrne PM. Bronchoalveolar cell profiles of asthmatic and nonasthmatic subjects. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 136:379–383.
- Pizzichini E, Pizzichini MM, Efthimiadis A, Evans S, Morris MM, Squillace D, et al. Indices of airway inflammation in induced sputum: reproducibility and validity of cell and fluid phase measurements. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:308–317.
- Woolley KL, Adelroth E, Woolley MJ, Ellis R, Jordana M, O'Byrne PM. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, eosinophils and eosinophil cationic protein in subjects with and without mild, stable, atopic asthma. Eur Respir J 1994; 7 (9):1576–1584.
- Brusasco V, Crimi E, Gianiorio P, Lantero S, Rossi GA. Allergen-induced increase in airway responsiveness and inflammation in mild asthma. J Appl Physiol 1990; 69 (6):2209–2214.
- 21. Djukanovic R, Wilson JW, Britten KM, Wilson SJ, Walls AF, Roche WR, et al. Quantitation of mast cells and eosinophils in the bronchial mucosa of symptomatic atopic asthmatics and healthy control subjects using immunohistochemistry [see comments]. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 142 (4):863–871.
- 22. Kidney JC, Wong AG, Efthimiadis A, Morris MM, Sears MR, Dolovich J, et al. Elevated B cells in sputum of asthmatics. Close correlation with eosinophils. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153 (2):540–544.
- 23. Pavord ID, Brightling CE, Woltmann G, Wardlaw AJ. Non-eosinophilic corticosteroid unresponsive asthma [letter]. Lancet 1999; 353 (9171):2213–2214.
- 24. Pavord ID, Brightling CE, Woltmann G, Wardlaw AJ. Non-eosinophilic corticosteroid unresponsive asthma. Lancet 1999; 353 (9171):2213–2214.
- Pizzichini E, Pizzichini MM, Gibson P, Parameswaran K, Gleich GJ, Berman L et al. Sputum eosinophilia predicts benefit from prednisone in smokers with chronic obstructive bronchitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158 (5 Pt 1):1511–1517.
- 26. Pizzichini MM, Pizzichini E, Parameswaran K, Clelland L, Efthimiadis, A et al. Nonasthmatic chronic cough: no effect of treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid in patients without sputum eosinophilia. Can Respir J 1999; 6 (4):323–330.
- 27. Turner MO, Hussack P, Sears MR, Dolovich J, Hargreave FE. Exacerbations of asthma without sputum eosinophilia. Thorax 1995; 50 (10):1057–1061.

- Belda J, Leigh R, Parameswaran K, O'Byrne PM, Sears MR, Hargreave FE. Induced sputum cell counts in healthy adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161: 475–478.
- Fahy JV, Kim KW, Liu J, Boushey HA. Prominent neutrophilic inflammation in sputum from subjects with asthma exacerbation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 95 (4): 843–852.
- 30. Jatakanon A, Lim S, Barnes PJ. Changes in sputum eosinophils predict loss of asthma control. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:64–72.
- 31. Parameswaran K, Pizzichini E, Pizzichini MM, Hussack P, Efthimiadis A, Hargreave FE. Clinical judgement of airway inflammation versus sputum cell counts in patients with asthma. Eur Respir J 2000; 15:486–490.

Discussion

- **Dr. Busse:** Can you comment on the possibility that sputum and lavage eosinophils represent cells from a different location? Furthermore, lavage is usually performed with large volumes of fluid and may represent airway and tissue cells. Can you comment on the possibility that eosinophils are more likely to be associated with exacerbations than chronic persistent asthma?
- Drs. Hargreave/Inman: We certainly agree with the idea that sputum and lavage are sampling cells from different compartments. This is supported by the frequent observations that sputum eosinophilia is highly sensitive to corticosteroid treatment, while to date, BAL eosinophilia seems to be insensitive. As to whether sputum eosinophils are more likely to be associated with exacerbations than with chronic persistent asthma, this is likely a question of degree. For example, abnormally elevated sputum eosinophil levels can be observed in very mild asthmatics, including those who are essentially asymptomatic until challenged with allergen (Gauvreau et al., AJRCCM 1997; 156:1738-1745). However, it is well established that the degree of sputum eosinophilia will increase in association with an exacerbation. Thus, it would not be appropriate to say that a greater than normal level of sputum eosinophils is indicative of an exacerbation, while it might be appropriate to conclude this following a documented increase in sputum eosinophils in a patient. This is not to say that the simple observation of a greater than normal eosinophil level might indicate that asthma is not optimally controlled.
- **Dr. Busse:** Could you comment on the feasibility of sputum samples to measure chemokines and cytokines?
- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** Several groups are measuring levels of cytokines and chemokines in sputum supernatants (e.g., Kelly et al., JACI 2000; 105:1162–1168). However, as was observed using spiking experiments in this study, recovery of cytokines is not complete and thus, interpretation of measurements should be made with caution. Recovery may in some examples be improved by the addition of protease inhibitors during processing. It is likely that different optimal processing techniques will be found for different mediators.
- **Dr. Persson:** The appearance of plasma proteins in sputum is airway inflammation. It reflects the airways plasma exudation process that involves passage of almost nonsieved plasma proteins across microvascular-epithelial barriers. Differing from the cell traffic, plasma exudation indices in airway lumen closely reflects the intensity and the time course of subepithelial inflammatory extravasation events. Interestingly, sputum analyses during the last 50 years show steroid-induced inhibition of plasma exudation along with improvement of

asthma. So, my question is whether you have determined plasma proteins in your work; if so, what did you observe?

- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** We have focused on the measurement of fibrinogen as a marker of plasma exudation. This marker seems to be responsive to a number of inflammatory conditions in the airway, including severe asthma exacerbation (Pizzichini, AJRCCM 1997; 155:1501–1508) and to a greater extent in viral infection of the lower respiratory tract (Pizzichini, AJRCCM 1998; 158:1178–1184).
- **Dr. Persson:** You demonstrated nicely an increase in sputum eosinophils occurring prior to exacerbation of asthma. Since airway luminal entry of eosinophils may be a major elimination route for these cells, an increase in sputum eosinophilia can be seen secondary to increases in airway tissue eosinophil numbers and particularly during resolution of asthmatic eosinophilic inflammation. How do you interpret the luminal entry of eosinophils in your study, as a pro-inflammatory event or as a sign of preceding mucosal tissue processes?
- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** We agree that eosinophils observed in sputum may well reflect cells that are being cleared from the airway tissue. Certainly animal studies have demonstrated that appearance of eosinophils in the lumen lags behind their appearance in tissue. However, this does not necessarily imply that elevated sputum eosinophilia is indicative of recovery from a preceding process in the tissue. For example, following an allergen challenge, there is an increase in sputum eosinophils as early as 7 hours after challenge (Gauvreau et al., AJRCCM 1997; 156:1738–1745), while there is still an elevation in tissue eosinophils 24 hours after allergen (Woolley et al., AJRCCM 1995; 151:1915–1924), suggesting that elevations in sputum eosinophils may be observed during, rather than following active mucosal processes.
- **Dr. Denburg:** What compartment/layer does the sputum represent—epithelial or another level?
- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** This is obviously a very difficult question, and one to which we do not know the answer. One approach would be to measure the relationship between sputum eosinophilia and a quantification of the degree of eosinophilia in different tissue compartments and airway levels. However, generally the relationship between sputum and tissue eosinophilia has not been good (Maestrelli et al., AJRCCM 1995; 152:1926; Fahy et al., AJRCCM 1995; 152:53–58). Possibly this indicates that sputum is reflecting compartments other than those sampled through the bronchoscope. It is also likely, however, that the variability in both measurements precludes strong correlations.
- **Dr. Busse:** There are preliminary data that airway eosinophils may not come only from the circulation. Some investigators have data to suggest that airway

eosinophils may migrate from the airway to lung tissues. This suggests that airway cells may be a dynamic collection of cells with the ability to move in and out of the airways.

- **Dr. Persson:** Quantitatively, the number of cells that may reenter are exceedingly few compared to the number of eosinophils that are actually eliminated by entering the lumen and dying there or being cleared in the sputum alive.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** Eosinophils may in some sense simply be a marker for TH_2 cells. Have you had a chance to look for mRNA for T-cell-specific genes in sputum?
- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** Groups are starting to measure mRNA in sputum using in situ hybridization techniques. Encouraging results have been reported (Olivenstein et al., JACI 1999; 103:238-245) indicating that cells expressing message for TH₂ cytokines (IL-4 and IL-5) are increased in sputum from asthmatics compared to normal controls. Not surprisingly, and in agreement with your view, this increase in TH₂ activity was associated with elevated eosinophil numbers.
- **Dr. Busse:** Although eosinophils appear in the airway 2–6 hours after antigen challenge, IL-5 is usually detected later. This raises the possibility that IL-5 may be more important to maintain eosinophil viability and in the airway rather than attracting them to the airway—a job for RANTES and eotaxin.
- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** I completely agree with this view. In fact, we have evidence in a mouse model of allergen challenge, suggesting that local airway production of IL-5 is not needed for eosinophil recruitment, but that IL-5 is required at a systemic level in order to produce the increase in circulating eosinophils (Wang et al., J Clin Invest 1998; 102:1132–1141). These results support your idea that early increases in airway eosinophils are mediated through the actions of chemokines (RANTES and eotaxin), together with upregulation of adhesion molecules, acting on an already existing pool of circulating eosinophils. Prolonged recruitment however seems to require the added effects of IL-5 in stimulating eosinopoiesis.
- **Dr. Rand:** What do we know about the effect of cycling on and off ICS (real life clinical practice) on inflammatory markers?
- **Drs. Hargreave/Inman:** While to our knowledge the effects of cycling on and off steroids have not been studied using induced sputum, the effects of steroid reduction have been documented. In one of these studies (Gershman et al., ERJ 2000; 15:11-18), patients were placed on low (100 µg/day) or high doses (1000 µg/day) of inhaled fluticasone for 42 days and then switched to placebo. Not surprisingly, there was a rapid reduction in eosinophils following initiation

of treatment (this was sustained in the high-dose group only). Also not surprisingly, sputum eosinophils increased following removal of treatment, but this worsening appeared to be slower in the high-dose group, requiring 2-3 weeks to return to baseline levels. Thus, although this is an area that needs further study, it appears that short periods off steroids can be tolerated before eosinophilia (and presumably, as Dr. Schleimer suggests, TH₂ activity) increases to pretreatment levels.

18

Use of Exhaled Nitric Oxide as Readout for Inhaled Corticosteroid Efficacy

SERGEI A. KHARITONOV and PETER J. BARNES

National Heart and Lung Institute Imperial College London, England

I. Introduction

Optimal and noninvasive monitoring of the effect of anti-inflammatory drugs in asthma is important, as asthmatic patients may require life-long, individually tailored treatment with corticosteroids. The lack of success of the traditional parameters—lung function, airway reactivity, and symptoms—in monitoring the effect of corticosteroids, especially in dose-related studies, seems to be related to their relative insensitivity and slow responsiveness.

It has been suggested that it may take several weeks for inhaled corticosteroids to become effective. Recently, a variety of noninvasive approaches such as exhaled breath analysis (exhaled gases and condensate) and induced sputum have been developed, which are changing our understanding about the speed of action of corticosteroids and their effect in asthma. However, sputum induction (1) cannot be used for day-to-day monitoring, as it provokes transient neutrophilia (2,3), and the use of exhaled condensate is still in the early stage of development.

Exhaled nitric oxide (NO) as a marker of inflammation is comparable to invasive measurements of inflammation, such as bronchial biopsies and bronchoalveolar lavage (4,5) and induced sputum in asthma (6–8). It is not influenced by other anti-asthma drugs, such as albuterol or salmeterol (9-11). The inflammatory origin (5,12-15) of elevated levels of exhaled NO in asthma (14,16), its responsiveness to suppression by corticosteroids (17,18), and accumulating evidence of its association with asthma severity (19-21) makes exhaled NO an effective and practical marker to monitor the effect of corticosteroid treatment in asthma. Dose-dependent reduction in exhaled NO has also been reported in mild asthmatics treated with low doses of budesonide (BUD) (22).

II. General Principles of Exhaled Nitric Oxide Measurements

A. Technical Factors Affecting Exhaled NO Measurements

Most of the measurements of exhaled NO have been made by a variety of commercially available chemiluminescence analyzers and are based on the photochemical reaction between NO and ozone generated in the analyzer. The specificity of exhaled NO measurements by chemiluminescence has been confirmed using gas chromatography–mass spectometry (23).

There are two main approaches to measurement of exhaled NO: on-line, during a single, flow-controlled exhalation against a resistance, and off-line, using similar controlled exhalation during a single exhalation into reservoir. There are a few technical factors that should be considered when exhaled NO measurements are used to monitor asthma treatment (Table 1).

The European Respiratory Society Guidelines on exhaled and nasal NO measurements were established in 1997 (24). Recommendations for standardized procedures for the on-line and off-line measurement of exhaled and nasal NO in adults and children have been published (25). The standardization of techniques makes it possible to compare the results of clinical trials from different centers.

B. Conditions and Habits Affecting Exhaled NO Measurements

Conditions that may affect NO concentrations in exhaled air should be avoided or recorded and used for the interpretation of the data (Table 2).

Increased NO	Decreased NO	
Low exhalation or sampling flow rate	High exhalation or sampling flow rate	
Breath holding	Spirometric maneuvers (transiently)	

 Table 1
 Technical Factors Affecting Exhaled NO Measurement

Increased NO	Decreased NO
Allergen and/or pollen exposure Air pollution Occupational exposure (ozone) Arginine ingestion, nitrite/nitrate-enriched food	Menstruation Smoking Acute alcohol ingestion Mouth washing
Asthma Unstable/severe COPD Allergic rhinitis Upper respiratory tract infection Influenza vaccination LPS administration Bronchiectasis Ulcerative colitis Tuberculosis Lung cancer Active pulmonary sacroidosis	Nonasthmatic chronic cough Pulmonary hypertension Kartagener's syndrome Primary cilia dyskinesia Cystic fibrosis

Table 2Physiological, Pathophysiological Conditions, and Habits AffectingExhaled NO Measurement

III. Origin of Nitric Oxide in Exhaled Air

The correct use of exhaled NO as a readout for inhaled steroid (IS) efficacy depends on the understanding of its origin in exhaled air. Exhaled NO has multiple origins, as nitric oxide synthase (NOS) is found in several cell types in the respiratory tract, e.g., epithelial and vascular endothelial cells, macrophages, eosinophils, and neurons (26), and cannot be a marker of inflammatory response from a specific cell type. In fact, in most studies in normal subjects free of inflammation (27–29), cNOS rather than iNOS was found to be predominant in the airway wall.

Predominantly bronchial epithelial iNOS production has been shown to be the major source of exhaled NO in conditions in which airway inflammation is present, and this has been confirmed by direct measurements during bronshoscopy (4,30) or in tracheotomized patients (31), as well as indirectly by a remarkable exhalation flow-dependence of exhaled NO and accumulation of NO during a breathhold (4,32). The inflammatory origin of NOS induction (12,13,15) and related increase in exhaled NO in asthma (14,16) has been supported by high NO in exhaled air and increased nitrotyrosine and iNOS in bronchial epithelium of asthmatics (5) and lung transplant recipients (33). Exhaled NO levels were highly dependent upon the intensity and extent of expression of iNOS in bronchial epithelium and BAL neutrophilia, but not in the subepithelial area. This confirms that exhaled NO may be not only a valid noninvasive measure of airway inflammation, but also a marker of the development of airway remodeling.

The profound effect of a nebulized (34-36) versus a comparable intravenous dose (37) of NOS inhibitors on exhaled NO strongly indicates that respiratory epithelium, but not vascular endothelial cells, is the major source of NO in exhaled air and explains its particular sensitivity to inhaled corticosteroids.

IV. Clinical Relevance of Exhaled Nitric Oxide in Asthma

A. Use of Exhaled NO as Readout for Corticosteroids Efficacy

Oral Corticosteroids

The overall effect of steroids on exhaled NO depends on the prevalence and the degree of iNOS activation and, therefore, has no effect in normal subjects, and is more effective in patients with more severe disease.

Oral prednisolone (30 mg daily for 3 days) reduces the elevated exhaled NO in asthmatic patients, whereas it has no effect on exhaled NO in normal subjects (34). Oral dexamethasone (4 mg/day for 2 days) similarly has no effect on exhaled NO or serum concentrations of interferon- γ and interleukin-1 β in normal subjects (38). This is presumably because iNOS is the major source of increased exhaled NO in asthma, whereas the major source of exhaled NO in normal subjects is the constitutive NOS, which is not suppressed by corticosteroids.

The same dose of prednisolone (30 mg/day), however, given to mild asthmatics (34) produced a significant but moderate (22%) reduction in exhaled NO



Figure 1 Effect of oral prednisolone (30 mg/day) on exhaled nitric oxide (NO) in mild asthmatic patients (-0-) and normal subjects (-0-).



Figure 2 The effect of oral prednisolone on exhaled NO in children with moderate-to-severe asthma.

within 72 hours (Fig. 1), whereas a cumulative dose of methylprednisolone (180–500 mg) caused 36% reduction within 50 hours in the majority of severe patients with acute asthma (39). A large dose (1 mg/kg/day for 5 days) of oral prednisolone normalized exhaled NO in infants and young children with wheezing exacerbations (Fig. 2a) (40), whereas the same dose in more severe asthmatic children only shifted their exhaled NO down to the levels of mild-to-moderate asthma in spite of the improvement in lung function (Fig. 2b) (10).

Recently it has been shown that NO levels correlated with the percentage improvement in FEV₁ from baseline to the poststeroid (30 mg prednisolone/day for 14 days) postbronchodilator value, with an NO level of >10 ppb at baseline having a positive predictive value of 83% for an improvement in FEV₁ of \geq 15% (41), and therefore may be useful in predicting the response to a trial of oral steroid in asthma.


Figure 3 (a) The effect of inhaled budesonide (BUD) on exhaled nitric oxide (NO) in mild asthmatic patients. Mean values \pm SEM in patients treated with 400 µg BUD (-•-)

Inhaled Corticosteroids

Exhaled NO has been used successfully to monitor anti-inflammatory treatment with inhaled corticosteroids in asthma (14,18,42–44), as it is an extremely sensitive and rapid marker of the effect of steroid treatment (Table 3). A significant reduction in exhaled NO levels was observed 6 hours after a single high dose (8 mg) of BUD (Pulmicort Respuls[®]) in symptomatic moderate asthma (45). Dose-dependent changes in NO were reported during 3-week treatment with 100/400 μ g BUD in mild asthma (22).

Recently we have shown for the first time that the onset of action of inhaled BUD on exhaled NO and the time to reach the maximal reduction were dosedependent. The higher dose of BUD rapidly reduced NO (within 3 days) and prevented nighttime asthma symptoms in all patients (Fig. 3a,b). This was also associated with amelioration in FEV₁ (Fig. 3c). The onset of action of 100 µg BUD was slower and its effect on NO was less, and this was related to a slower improvement in nighttime symptoms. The difference between the effect of 100 µg versus 400 µg BUD on NO was apparent within 3 days and was maximal after 5 and 21 days. NO was further reduced during the third week of treatment with 400 µg BUD, in contrast to a minor NO increase in the 100 µg BUD group, which coincided with the return of asthma symptoms and increased use of β_2 -agonists.

The time scale of the effect of steroids on exhaled NO was within the scope of the time needed for inhibition of iNOS activity (24 hours) (46), or nuclear transcription factor κB (30 min) after application of corticosteroids (47). However, the main effect of corticosteroids on iNOS is probably via inhibition of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , or IL-1 β , which induced iNOS, or by inhibition of inflammatory cells such as eosinophils, which express iNOS (48).

The onset of action of steroids on exhaled NO depends not only on their dose, but also on asthma severity and, perhaps, on formulation and route of their administration. Thus, oral prednisolone given to mild asthmatics (34) produced a significant but moderate (22%) reduction in exhaled NO, whereas cumulative dose of methylprednisolone (180–500 mg) caused faster and more profound (36%) reduction within 50 hours in the majority of severe patients with acute asthma (39). The lack of changes in NO 3 and 6 hours after the first dose of 100/400 μ g BUD in our study may suggest that the dose was too low and the patients had only mild asthma.

or 100 µg BUD (–**I**–) or placebo (–o–). Level of significance of difference between 400 µg BUD and 100 µg BUD: *p < 0.05. (b) The effect of inhaled 400 µg, or 100 µg BUD, or placebo on nighttime asthma symptoms in patients with mild asthma. (c) The effect of inhaled 400 µg, or 100 µg BUD, or placebo on FEV₁ in patients with mild asthma. Level of significance of difference from placebo: *p < 0.05.

Drug class	Effect (from baseline)	Onset (re- ported)	Duration (reported)	Recovery (reported)	Ref.
Corticosteroids					
*1600 µg/day BUD (Mil A)	\downarrow 30%		7 days		18
	\downarrow 34%		14 days		
	$\downarrow 41\%$		21 days		
*BUD 1600 µg/day (Mil A)	$\downarrow 54\%$		28 days		42
*BUD 100 µg/day (Mil A)	$\downarrow 29\%$		28 days		22
BUD 400 μg/day	$\downarrow 50\%$		28 days		
*Pred 30 mg/day, 3 days (Mil A)	$\downarrow 22\%$	72 h			34
Pred + IS (Sev A)	$\downarrow 40\%$	48 h			39
Pred 1 mg/kg, 5 days (Sev A)	$\downarrow 46\%$		5 days		10
Pred 1 mg/kg, 5 days (Mod A)	$\downarrow 52\%$		5 days		40
Pred + IS, 5 days (Sev A)	$\downarrow 65\%$		5 days		21
IS (Mil A)	↑9 ppb			4 days	81
IS (Mod A)	↑ 24 ppb			15 days	
BUD 8 mg nebulized (Mod A)	\downarrow 31%	6 h			45
BDP 1 mg/day (Mil A)	$\downarrow 28\%$		7 days		82
	↑ 12%			7 days	
*BUD 100 µg/day (Mil A)	$\downarrow 15\%$		5 days	-	Kharitonov et
	$\downarrow 27\%$		7 days		al. (ATS 2000)
	$\downarrow 20\%$		21 days		
	\downarrow 7%		-	7 days	
BUD 400 μg/day	$\downarrow 26\%$		3 days		
	↓ 38%		5 days		
	$\downarrow 35\%$		7 days		
	$\downarrow 44\%$		21 days		
	$\downarrow 3\%$			5 days	

Table 3 Effect of Corticosteroids on Exhaled NO

BUD: Budesonide; Pred: prednisolone; IS: inhaled steroids; \downarrow : decrease; \uparrow : increase; *: placebocontrolled randomized trial; Mil A: mild asthma; Mod A: moderate asthma; Sev A: severe asthma; ppb: parts per billion (volume by volume).

An important issue that remains to be resolved is what level of exhaled NO needs to be achieved during the treatment. Exhaled NO levels in mild asthma are substantially reduced, but not normalized after a course of different doses (100–1600 μ g) of inhaled steroids (22,34,44). However, the larger dose (1 mg/kg/day for 5 days) of oral prednisolone normalized exhaled NO in infants and young children with wheezing exacerbations (40), while more severe asthmatic children had exhaled NO levels reduced to the levels in mild-to-moderate asthma (10).

Affinity for the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) is perhaps another factor influ-

encing the effect of steroids on NO. Fluticasone propionate (FP), for example, has a threefold higher GR affinity than BUD, as it is more lipophilic than BUD, and its half-life of active steroid-receptor complexes is longer (>10 h vs. 5 h). Therefore, the rate of association of FP with the receptor is faster, and the rate of dissociation is slower than BUD (49). The high affinity of FP might be the reason for a profound and stable NO reduction by 76% after 2 first weeks and 77% after 4 weeks of treatment reported with 1000 μ g/day FP (44). Indeed, NO levels were not fully recovered (83% of the baseline) 2 weeks after stopping of treatment. High-dose BUD (1600 μ g/day), however, reduced exhaled NO by only 48% at the end of the third week, with further reduction to 54% after 4 weeks of treatment (18,22,42). The levels of NO were not fully recovered 2 weeks after FP was stopped, while NO levels in our study returned to the almost pretreatment values within 3–5 days regardless of the dose of BUD.

Speed, magnitude, and duration of changes in exhaled NO caused by steroids may be useful not only to monitor therapeutic efficacy of steroids, but also to assess their side effects, which are difficult to measure if conventional methods are applied. Thus, despite the greater cortisol suppression caused by FP, there were no differences between the effect of FP or BUD on FEV_1 or blood eosinophils (50).

Inhaled and Oral Corticosteroids

The mechanisms of airway inflammation in asthmatic patients who respond well to corticosteroids could be different from those patients with severe persistent asthma who remain symptomatic despite corticosteroid treatment. With exacerbations, the number of eosinophils capable of expressing iNOS and producing NO (48,51) or prevalence of neutrophilic inflammation and oxidative stress (52) may increase, and this may also explain a further elevation of exhaled NO in these patients despite high-dose inhaled and/or oral steroid treatment (19,52). Thus, over half of children with very severe asthma had raised NO levels, indicating persisting airway inflammation and oxidative stress despite maximal doses of corticosteroids (53).

The rationale to quantify endogenous NO formation as the sum of its N-oxides is that nitrite has a relatively short half-life (110 s) (54) and may be further oxidized to nitrate (NO₃⁻) by hydroxyl radical, hypochlorous acid, or various heme proteins (55). Therefore, it is difficult to distinguish whether the nitrite aqueous solution is derived from NO synthesis, peroxynitrite, or S-nitrosothiols. The significance of these various oxidative processes depends on local levels of NO₂⁻ and O₂⁻ formation. Thus, autoxidation of NO with O₂ is of a particular importance in asthma where NO production is elevated, and increased levels of nitrotyrosine have been correlated with elevated levels of oxidants (56). The presence of nitrotyrosine in the airways of patients who died of status asthmaticus supports the concept of widespread airway and parenchymal inflammation in asthma (57).

Corticosteroids reduce the formation of reactive oxygen species and nitrotyrosine in bronchial biopsies (5) and BAL (58) in asthma or formation of $NO_2^{-/}$ NO_3^{-} in nasal lavage and nitrotyrosine in nasal mucosa in allergic rhinitis (59).

However, considering the importance of oxidative stress in severe persistent asthma, a combination of corticosteroids with antioxidants and/or NOS inhibitors may be considered in these patients.

B. Effect of Other Treatment on Exhaled NO

Inhaled β₂-Agonists

The short-acting β_2 -agonist salbutamol (5 mg via nebulizer or 400 µg by metereddose inhaler) has no acute effect on exhaled NO (9,10,60). Similarly, 1 week of treatment with a long-acting inhaled β_2 -agonist, salmeterol, did not reduced NO in adults or children (9–11). This is entirely consistent with the fact that inhaled β_2 -agonists do not have any effect on chronic inflammation in asthma and validates the use of exhaled NO to measure inflammation independently of airway caliber.

Leukotriene Antagonists

A leukotriene synthase inhibitor (pranlukast) inhibits the rise in exhaled NO when the dose of inhaled corticosteroids is reduced (61). Rapid reduction of exhaled NO has been recently reported within 2 days of starting montelukast, leukotriene receptor antagonist, in children with asthma (Table 4). The mechanism of this moderate 15% (62) or 30% (63) reduction is not clear, but it may reflect an inhibitory effect on inflammatory cytokines and, therefore, a reduced impact on iNOS. These data may also suggest an anti-inflammatory role for leukotriene D₄ receptor antagonism in the treatment of children with mild to moderate asthma.

iNOS Inhibitors, Prostaglandins, and Other Drugs

The use of NO modulators, e.g., iNOS inhibitors, or prostaglandin PGE_2 , is presently at the stage of clinical research. Potentially, NO modulators may be important in management of severe asthma in which a combination of airway inflammation and oxidative stress together with an inherited or acquired resistance to steroids makes their treatment difficult.

Endogenous NO may play an important role in persistent airway inflammation and hyperresponsiveness, and treatment with aminoguanidine, a specific iNOS inhibitor, which has direct scavenging activities against H_2O_2 , hypochlorous acid, and peroxynitrite (64) may be beneficial. Both aminoguanidine and N^G-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) can be safely given and have been known to cause a significant reduction in exhaled NO in asthmatic patients (34,35) (Table 5). More long-term treatment will be required to demonstrate whether NO contributes to the persistence of asthmatic inflammation.

Effect (from baseline)	Onset (reported)	Duration (reported)	Recovery (reported)	Ref.
\downarrow				
				83
No effect				18
No effect				11, 84, 85
\downarrow 8 ppb	4 days	15 days		81
$\downarrow 15\%$		2 days		62
$\downarrow 20\%$		14 days		
$\downarrow 30\%$		28 days		63
↑ 19%			14 days	
\downarrow		4 wk		61
	Effect (from baseline) \downarrow No effect No effect $\downarrow 8 \text{ ppb}$ $\downarrow 15\%$ $\downarrow 20\%$ $\downarrow 30\%$ $\uparrow 19\%$ \downarrow	Effect (from baseline)Onset (reported) \downarrow No effect (reported) \downarrow 4 days \downarrow 4 days \downarrow 15% \downarrow \downarrow 30% \uparrow \downarrow 19% \downarrow	Effect (from baseline)Onset (reported)Duration (reported) \downarrow No effect No effectI \downarrow 8 ppb4 days15 days \downarrow 15% \downarrow 20%2 days 14 days 28 days \downarrow 19% \downarrow 4 wk	$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Effect} \\ (from baseline) \end{array} \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

Table 4 Effect of Nonsteroidal Drugs on Exhaled N

↓: decrease; ↑: increase; *: placebo-controlled randomized trial; Neb: nebulized; i.v.: intravenous; N: normal subjects; Mil A: mild asthma; Mod A: moderate asthma; ppb: parts per billion (volume by volume).

Drug class	Effect (from baseline)	Onset (reported)	Duration (reported)	Recovery (reported)	Ref.
NOS inhibitors					
*L-NMMA (N)	$\downarrow 44\%$	15-45 min	4 h		34
*L-NMMA (Mil A)	$\downarrow 40\%$				
L-NAME (N)	$\downarrow 53\%$	15-45 min	4-6 h		35
*Aminoguanidine (Mil A)	$\downarrow 67\%$				
*Aminoguanidine (N)	$\downarrow 28\%$	15-45 min	4-6 h		
*Aminoguanidine (Mil A)	↓ 53%				
*L-NAME (Mil A)	↓ 55%	30 min	2 h		36
L-NMMA (N) (i.v.)	$\downarrow 10\%$	30 min			37
L-NAME (N) (Neb)	$\downarrow 37\%$	10 min			

Table 5 Effect of NOS Inhibitors on Exhaled NO

L-NMMA: N^G-monomethyl-L-arginine; L-NAME: N^G-nitro-l-arginine methyl ester; \downarrow : decrease; \uparrow : increase; *: placebo-controlled randomized trial; Neb: nebulized; i.v.: intravenous; N: normal subjects; Mil A: mild asthma.

Prostaglandins E_2 and $F_{2\alpha}$ decrease exhaled NO in normal and asthmatic subjects irrespective of changes in airway caliber (65). This effect occurs rapidly and is presumably due to an inhibitory effect of cyclooxygenase products on NOS directly rather than through altered gene transcription (66).

Despite positive changes in PC_{20} in asthmatics treated with seratrodast, a TXA_2 antagonist, there were no differences in either exhaled NO or sputum eosinophils (67). The effect of theophylline and cromones has not yet been reported.

C. Exhaled NO and Other Means of Asthma Monitoring

Symptoms, Lung Function, and Airway Hyperreactivity

There is accumulating evidence about the strong relationship between exhaled NO, clinical signs and symptoms of asthma, especially during acute episodes or asthma exacerbations. However, longitudinal studies are needed to confirm that exhaled NO may be used not only for a short-term management but also as a guide for long-term management and treatment of asthma of differing severity.

The traditional means of monitoring asthma are not sensitive enough to demonstrate a dose-dependent effect of inhaled steroids, especially in mild asthma. The fundamental limitation of lung function and PC_{20} measurement, which reflect airway obstruction and airway hyperresponsiveness, in monitoring of asthma is that they are not directly related to airway inflammation. In addition, FEV₁ has little room for improvement in mild asthma and PC_{20} is affected by corticosteroids and cannot be routinely performed in severe asthmatics. Both parameters are slow to change and lack a discriminating power to distinguish the effect of different doses of steroids.

For example, only moderate positive changes in FEV₁ and PC₂₀ were seen in mild asthma after 4 weeks of treatment with a high (1600 μ g) dose of BUD, but these changes were not significantly different from the placebo group (42) Indirect inhaled spasmogens, such as AMP, might be more specific and demonstrate dose-dependent changes in PC₂₀ when compared with placebo after moderate (400 μ g/day) or high (1600 μ g/day) but not low (100 μ g/day) doses of inhaled steroids, as has been shown for the novel corticosteroid ciclesonide (68). However, a significant reduction in exhaled NO, which was better than the placebo and which co-incided with improvement in asthma symptoms and lung function, was seen after this and much lower doses of BUD—100 μ g and 400 μ g (22). The latter changes were also dose-dependently different.

The advantage of exhaled NO measurements is that the changes in NO during steroid treatment are dose-dependent and precede the improvement in symptoms, FEV₁ (17), and sputum eosinophils, (6) in asthma. Recently, we have demonstrated that 400 μ g BUD rapidly reduced NO within 3 days and abolished nighttime asthma symptoms in all patients (unpublished observation). This was also associated with amelioration in FEV₁. The onset of action of 100 μ g BUD was

slower, and its effect on NO was less marked, which was reflected in a slower improvement in nighttime symptoms.

Rapid recovery of exhaled NO levels on stopping steroid treatment precedes the reduction in lung function, with FEV₁ or PC₂₀ returning to the pretreatment level over 1 week (69). Exhaled NO measurements may therefore serve as a fastresponding indicator to assess patient compliance with therapy and to titrate steroid treatment. For example, increasing levels of exhaled NO, asthma symptoms, and use of β_2 -agonists during the third week of treatment with a low dose of BUD might be an indication of loss of asthma control and a need to increase the dose of steroids. On the other hand, our data further support the fact that most patients with mild-to-moderate asthma may require low doses of steroids taken once daily to achieve or to maintain adequate control (70).

The relationship between exhaled NO and FEV₁ depends on the severity of asthma. There is no strong link between exhaled NO, FEV₁, and symptoms in mild steroid-naïve asthma measured under stable conditions (14,16). However, higher concentrations of exhaled NO were linked to recent symptoms of bronchial obstruction (71), and NO was 2.6 times higher in children with recent symptoms compared with symptom-free subjects (71). Exhaled NO correlated with symptom frequency and with rescue β_2 -agonist use and is significantly higher in those patients with difficult/severe asthma who have the highest symptom score where changes in lung function may have limited sensitivity (19).

Induced Sputum

The combination of exhaled NO measurements and sputum induction is the most beneficial approach for the use of these noninvasive assessments of airway inflammation in asthma. Recently it has been shown that a combination of sputum eosinophilia and increased NO levels resulted in a positive predictive value of 72% and a negative predictive value of 79% in predicting the response to a trial of oral steroid in asthma (41). Elevated levels of exhaled NO have been validated against invasive measurements of inflammation such as bronchial biopsies or BAL (4,5,30) and induced sputum (6), and a significant correlation has been found between exhaled NO and iNOS positive granulocytes in sputum eosinophils (7,8).

One of the most attractive features of exhaled NO measurements is that they can be repeated at short intervals without affecting endogenous NO production or causing discomfort to the patients. This is invaluable to study an acute effect and onset of action of a variety of drugs that influence NO production in patients of different severity and age.

Sputum induction, however, can cause an excessive bronchoconstriction despite pretreatment with salbutamol (8) and significant fall in Sao_2 (72) during the inhalation of hypertonic saline solution, as well as neutrophilia detectable for at least 24 hours (2) thereafter, and other changes in their cellular and biochemical composition, both in healthy subjects and mild asthmatic patients (3,73).

454

We have shown that after inhaled steroid dose reduction, exhaled NO and sputum eosinophil numbers are increased in parallel with loss of airway function (74). Exhaled NO has a low threshold for the effect of steroids, and therefore, even a low dose of locally applied steroids is capable of significantly reducing exhaled NO. The use of sputum eosinophil (Eos) as readout for steroid treatment efficacy might be limited. It has been shown that only high (1600 μ g/day) or medium (400 μ g/day) (42,68) but not low (100 μ g/day) doses (22,68) of inhaled steroids were able to significantly reduce the number of Eos in sputum. No dose-dependent changes were observed in sputum Eos after either low, moderate (22), or high (68) doses of inhaled steroids. Sputum Eos may not reflect the full extent of asthma severity, or the effect of inhaled steroids, as the cellular and biochemical composition of the larger airways [higher presence of Eos, neutrophils, and eosinophil cationic protein (ECP)] is different from the peripheral airways (higher presence of macrophages, surfactant protein) and depends on the duration of sputum induction (75).

However, the combined use of exhaled NO measurements and sputum induction is of particular importance in severe persistent or steroid-resistant asthma, which is associated with elevated levels of exhaled NO (19,52), despite high-dose steroid treatment, neutrophilia (52), and oxidative stress. It has been shown that elevated ECP levels, but not Eos numbers, in induced sputum of corticosteroiddependent asthmatics with recent exacerbations may be a more accurate assessment of airway inflammation in these patients (76). The correct identification of these patients by their profile of inflammatory cells and mediators in sputum is crucial, as they may require a different treatment.

V. Future Directions

There has been an interesting attempt to direct treatment with steroids in patients with moderate asthma according their levels of PC_{20} to methacholine (77). Apart from small changes in PC_{20} (1.1 double dilution), the major limitation of this and other single parameter–based guidelines is its relatively weak link with airway inflammation. The advantage of exhaled NO is that it has a much stronger association to airway inflammation, asthmatic/atopic inflammation in particular, and is much more sensitive to anti-inflammatory treatment so that the control of the disease can be improved without the risk of overtreatment.

Measurements of lipid mediators, such as cysteinyl-leukotrienes and other eicosanoids, in induced sputum (78) and exhaled condensate are promising approaches. However, the methodological issues, such as considerable withinsubject variability of most sputum eicosanoid concentrations (78), needs to be addressed. Exhaled condensate is less contaminated with saliva and proteins and is easy to collect in a controlled fashion and perhaps therefore has the advantage. Recently, we have determined significantly different levels of leukotriene E_4 , C_4 , D_4 , and B_4 in exhaled condensate of patients with asthma of different severity before and after treatment with corticosteroids.

Therefore, a combination of exhaled NO measurements with determination of other inflammatory markers and mediators in exhaled breath condensate, such 8-isoprostane (79, 80), leukotrienes, and prostaglandins, is a promising noninvasive approach towards asthma and COPD management.

Objective, noninvasive, and effort-independent monitoring of respiratory symptoms in adults and children with asthma is vital for optimizing their antiinflammatory treatment. Recently, we used a quantitative method for tracking breath sounds overnight and during the day in mild-to-severe asthma patients. The overnight wheeze scores were over 20 times higher in moderate asthmatics on inhaled steroids when compared with mild steroid–naïve asthmatics (unpublished observation).

A combination of a cornerstone asthma sign, such as wheeze (also related to airway obstruction) with a variety of inflammatory markers in exhaled breath and exhaled condensate may be clinically useful in the detection and management of cytokine-mediated inflammatory lung disorders.

Acknowledgment

This work was supported by AstraZeneca (Lund, Sweden).

References

- 1. Hargreave FE, Leigh R. Induced sputum, eosinophilic bronchitis, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:S53–S57.
- 2. Nightingale JA, Rogers DF, and Barnes PJ. Effect of repeated sputum induction on cell counts in normal volunteers. Thorax 1998; 53(2):87–90.
- Holz O, Richter K, Jorres RA, Speckin P, Mucke M, Magnussen H. Changes in sputum composition between two inductions performed on consecutive days. Thorax 1998; 53:83–86.
- Kharitonov SA, Chung FK, Evans DJ, O'Connor BJ, Barnes PJ. The elevated level of exhaled nitric oxide in asthmatic patients is mainly derived from the lower respiratory tract. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:1773–1780.
- Saleh D, Ernst P, Lim S, Barnes PJ, Giaid A. Increased formation of the potent oxidant peroxynitrite in the airways of asthmatic patients is associated with induction of nitric oxide synthase: effect of inhaled glucocorticoid. FASEB J 1998; 12:929–937.
- Jatakanon A, Lim S, Kharitonov SA, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Correlation between exhaled nitric oxide, sputum eosinophils, and methacholine responsiveness in patients with mild asthma. Thorax 1998; 53:91–95.

- Holz O, Weng B, Mucke M, Loppow D, Speckin P, Richter K, Jörres RA. Detection of inducible NO-synthase (iNOS) in sputum cells of healthy and asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(3): A612.
- Kips JC, Fahy JV, Hargreave FE, Ind PW. Methods for sputum induction and analysis of induced sputum: a method for assessing airway inflammation in asthma. Eur Respir J Suppl 1998; 26:9S–12S.
- Yates DH, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ. Effect of short- and long-acting inhaled beta₂-agonists on exhaled nitric oxide in asthmatic patients. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1483–1488.
- Baraldi E, Azzolin NM, Zanconato S, Dario C, Zacchello F. Corticosteroids decrease exhaled nitric oxide in children with acute asthma. J Pediatr 1997; 131:381–385.
- 11. Fuglsang G, Vikre JJ, Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of salmeterol treatment on nitric oxide level in exhaled air and dose-response to terbutaline in children with mild asthma. Pediatr Pulmonol 1998; 25:314–321.
- 12. Hamid Q, Springall DR, Riveros-Moreno V, et al. Induction of nitric oxide synthase in asthma. Lancet 1993; 342:1510–1513.
- Barnes PJ, Liew FY. Nitric oxide and asthmatic inflammation. Immunol Today 1995; 16:128–130.
- Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Robbins RA, Logan-Sinclair R, Shinebourne EA, Barnes PJ. Increased nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. Lancet 1994; 343:133–135.
- Marshall HE, Stamler JS. Exhaled nitric oxide (NO), NO synthase activity, and regulation of nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 21:296–297.
- Alving K, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JM. Increased amount of nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatics. Eur Respir J 1993; 6:1368–1370.
- Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Changes in the dose of inhaled steroid affect exhaled nitric oxide levels in asthmatic patients. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:196–201.
- Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Barnes PJ. Inhaled glucocorticoids decrease nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:454–457.
- Stirling RG, Kharitonov SA, Campbell D, Robinson D, Durham SR, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Exhaled NO is elevated in difficult asthma and correlates with symptoms and disease severity despite treatment with oral and inhaled corticosteroids. Thorax 1998; 53:1030–1034.
- Lanz MJ, Leung DY, McCormick DR, Harbeck R, Szefler SJ, White CW. Comparison of exhaled nitric oxide, serum eosinophilic cationic protein, and soluble interleukin-2 receptor in exacerbations of pediatric asthma. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997; 24:305–311.
- 21. Lanz MJ, Leung DY, White CW. Comparison of exhaled nitric oxide to spirometry during emergency treatment of asthma exacerbations with glucocorticosteroids in children. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999; 82:161–164.
- 22. Jatakanon A, Kharitonov SA, Lim S, Barnes PJ. Effect of differing doses of inhaled budesonide on markers of airway inflammation in patients with mild asthma. Thorax 1999; 54(2):108–114.
- 23. Leone AM, Gustafsson LE, Francis PL, Persson MG, Wiklund NP, Moncada S.

Nitric oxide is present in exhaled breath in humans: direct GC-MS confirmation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 201:883–887.

- 24. Kharitonov SA, Alving K, Barnes PJ. Exhaled and nasal nitric oxide measurements: recommendations. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1683–1693.
- 25. Recommendations for standardized procedures for the online and offline measurement of exhaled lower respiratory nitric oxide and nasal nitric oxide in adults and children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:2104–2117.
- 26. Palmer RM, Ferrige AG, Moncada S. Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Nature 1987; 327:524–526.
- 27. McDermott CD, Gavita SM, Shennib H, Giaid A. Immunohistochemical localization of nitric oxide synthase and the oxidant peroxynitrite in lung transplant recipients with obliterative bronchiolitis. Transplantation 1997; 64:270–274.
- Mason NA, Springall DR, Pomerance A, Evans TJ, Yacoub MH, Polak JM. Expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and formation of peroxynitrite in post-transplant obliterative bronchiolitis. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1998; 17:710–714.
- Giaid A, Saleh D. Reduced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in the lungs of patients with pulmonary hypertension. N Engl J Med 1995; 333:214–221.
- Massaro AF, Mehta S, Lilly CM, Kobzik L, Reilly JJ, Drazen JM. Elevated nitric oxide concentrations in isolated lower airway gas of asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:1510–1514.
- Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Nordvall SL, Kuylenstierna R, Lundberg JM, Alving K. Primarily nasal origin of exhaled nitric oxide and absence in Kartagener's syndrome. Eur Respir J 1994; 7:1501–1504.
- 32. Silkoff PE, McClean PA, Slutsky AS, et al. Marked flow-dependence of exhaled nitric oxide using a new technique to exclude nasal nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:260–267.
- Gabbay E, Haydn WE, Orsida B, et al. In stable lung transplant recipients, exhaled nitric oxide levels positively correlate with airway neutrophilia and bronchial epithelial iNOS. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:2093–2099.
- Yates DH, Kharitonov SA, Robbins RA, Thomas PS, Barnes PJ. Effect of a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor and a glucocorticosteroid on exhaled nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152:892–896.
- Yates DH, Kharitonov SA, Thomas PS, Barnes PJ. Endogenous nitric oxide is decreased in asthmatic patients by an inhibitor of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:247–250.
- Gomez FP, Barbera JA, Roca J, et al. Effect of nitric oxide synthesis inhibition with nebulized L-NAME on ventilation-perfusion distributions in bronchial asthma. Eur Respir J 1998; 12:865–871.
- Sartori C, Lepori M, Busch T, et al. Exhaled nitric oxide does not provide a marker of vascular endothelial function in healthy humans. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:879–882.
- 38. Sato K, Sumino H, Sakamaki T, et al. Lack of inhibitory effect of dexamethasone on exhalation of nitric oxide by healthy humans. Intern Med 1996; 35:356–361.
- Massaro AF, Gaston B, Kita D, Fanta C, Stamler JS, Drazen JM. Expired nitric oxide levels during treatment of acute asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152:800-803.

- 40. Baraldi E, Dario C, Ongaro R, et al. Exhaled nitric oxide concentrations during treatment of wheezing exacerbation in infants and young children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1284–1288.
- 41. Little SA, Chalmers GW, MacLeod KJ, McSharry C, Thomson NC. Non-invasive markers of airway inflammation as predictors of oral steroid responsiveness in asthma. Thorax 2000; 55:232–234.
- 42. Lim S, Jatakanon A, John M, Gilbey T, O'Connor BJ, Barnes PJ. Effect of inhaled budesonide on lung function and airway inflammation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:22–30.
- Jatakanon A, Lim A, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. An inhaled steroid improves markers of airway inflammation in patients with mild asthma. Eur Respir J 1998; 12:1084–1088.
- 44. van RE, Straathof KC, Veselic-Charvat MA, Zwinderman AH, Bel EH, Sterk PJ. Effect of inhaled steroids on airway hyperresponsiveness, sputum eosinophils, and exhaled nitric oxide levels in patients with asthma. Thorax 1999; 54:403–408.
- 45. Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ, O'Connor BJ. Reduction in exhaled nitric oxide after a single dose of nebulised budesonide in patients with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:A799.
- 46. Gribbe O, Lundeberg T, Samuelson UE, Wiklund NP. Dexamethasone increases survival and attenuates induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase in experimental skin flaps. Ann Plast Surg 1999; 42:180–184.
- 47. Tomita K, Chikumi H, Tokuyasu H, et al. Functional assay of NF-kappaB translocation into nuclei by laser scanning cytometry: inhibitory effect by dexamethasone or theophylline. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 1999; 359:249–255.
- 48. del Pozo V, de-Arruda CE, de AB, et al. Eosinophils transcribe and translate messenger RNA for inducible nitric oxide synthase. J Immunol 1997; 158:859–864.
- 49. Johnson M. Development of fluticasone propionate and comparison with other inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:S434–S439.
- Derom E, Van SJ, Verhaeghe W, Vincken W, Pauwels R. Systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate and budesonide in adult patients with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:157–161.
- 51. Jeffery PK. Structural and inflammatory changes in COPD: a comparison with asthma. Thorax 1998; 53(2):129–136.
- 52. Jatakanon A, Uasuf CG, Maziak W, Lim S, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Neutrophilic inflammation in severe persistent asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:1532–1539.
- 53. Wilson NM, James AJ, Bush A. Exhaled nitric oxide in children with very severe asthma: response to two weeks of oral corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1998; 12:142S.
- 54. Kelm M. Nitric oxide metabolism and breakdown. Biochim Biophys Acta 1999; 1411:273–289.
- 55. van Der VA, Eiserich JP, Shigenaga MK, Cross CE. Reactive nitrogen species and tyrosine nitration in the respiratory tract. Epiphenomena or a pathobiologic mechanism of disease? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:1–9.
- 56. Ischiropoulos H. Biological tyrosine nitration: a pathophysiological function of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species. Arch Biochem Biophys 1998; 356:1–11.
- 57. Kaminsky DA, Mitchell J, Carroll N, James A, Soultanakis R, Janssen Y. Nitrotyro-

sine formation in the airways and lung parenchyma of patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:747–754.

- Duddridge M, Ward C, Hendrick DJ, Walters EH. Changes in bronchoalveolar lavage inflammatory cells in asthmatic patients treated with high dose inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. Eur Respir J 1993; 6:489–497.
- Sato M, Fukuyama N, Sakai M, Nakazawa H. Increased nitric oxide in nasal lavage fluid and nitrotyrosine formation in nasal mucosa—indices for severe perennial nasal allergy. Clin Exp Allergy 1998; 28:597–605.
- 60. Garnier P, Fajac I, Dessanges JF, Dall'ava-Santucci J, Lockhart A, Dinh-Xuan AT. Exhaled nitric oxide during acute changes of airways calibre in asthma. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:1134–1138.
- 61. Kobayashi H, Takahashi Y, Mitsufuji H, et al. Decreased exhaled nitric oxide in mild persistent asthma patients treated with a leukotriene receptor antagonist, pranlukast. Jpn J Physiol 1999; 49:541–544.
- 62. Bisgaard H, Loland L, Oj JA. NO in exhaled air of asthmatic children is reduced by the leukotriene receptor antagonist montelukast. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:1227–1231.
- 63. Bratton DL, Lanz MJ, Miyazawa N, White CW, Silkoff PE. Exhaled nitric oxide before and after montelukast sodium therapy in school-age children with chronic asthma: a preliminary study. Pediatr Pulmonol 1999; 28:402–407.
- 64. Yildiz G, Demiryurek AT, Sahin-Erdemil I, Kanzik I. Comparison of antioxidant activities of aminoguanidine, methylguanidine and guanidine by luminol-enhanced chemiluminescence. Br J Pharmacol 1998; 124(5):905–910.
- Kharitonov SA, Sapienza MA, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. Prostaglandins E₂ and F₂ reduce exhaled nitric oxide in normal and asthmatic subjects irrespective of airway calibre changes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158:1374–1378.
- Kharitonov SA, Sapienza MM, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Prostaglandins mediate bradykinin-induced reduction of exhaled nitric oxide in asthma. Eur Respir J 1999; 14:1023–1027.
- 67. Aizawa H, Inoue H, Nakano H, et al. Effects of thromboxane A₂ antagonist on airway hyperresponsiveness, exhaled nitric oxide, and induced sputum eosinophils in asthmatics. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 1998; 59:185–190.
- Taylor DA, Jensen MW, Kanabar V, et al. A dose-dependent effect of the novel inhaled corticosteroid ciclesonide on airway responsiveness to adenosine-5'-monophosphate in asthmatic patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:237–243.
- 69. Vathenen AS, Knox AJ, Wisniewski A, Tattersfield AE. Time course of change in bronchial reactivity with an inhaled corticosteroid in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 143:1317–1321.
- McFadden ER, Casale TB, Edwards TB, et al. Administration of budesonide once daily by means of Turbuhaler to subjects with stable asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:46-52.
- Artlich A, Busch T, Lewandowski K, Jonas S, Gortner L, Falke KJ Childhood asthma: exhaled nitric oxide in relation to clinical symptoms. Eur Respir J 1999; 13:1396–1401.
- 72. Castagnaro A, Chetta A, Foresi A, D'Ippolito R, Malorgio R, Olivieri D., Effect of

sputum induction on spirometric measurements and arterial oxygen saturation in asthmatic patients, smokers, and healthy subjects. Chest 1999; 116:941–945.

- 73. Holz O, Jorres RA, Koschyk S, Speckin P, Welker L, Magnussen H. Changes in sputum composition during sputum induction in healthy and asthmatic subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 1998; 28:284–292.
- 74. Jatakanon A, Lim S, Barnes PJ. Changes in sputum eosinophils predict loss of asthma control. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:64–72.
- Gershman NH, Liu H, Wong HH, Liu JT, Fahy JV. Fractional analysis of sequential induced sputum samples during sputum induction: evidence that different lung compartments are sampled at different time points. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:322–328.
- 76. Tarodo P, Romagnoli M, Carlsson L, Godard P, Bousquet J, Chanez P. Eosinophilic inflammation assessed by induced sputum in corticosteroid-dependent asthma. Respir Med 1999; 93:183–189.
- 77. Sont JK, Willems LN, Bel EH, van Krieken JH, Vandenbroucke JP, Sterk PJ. Clinical control and histopathologic outcome of asthma when using airway hyperresponsive-ness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. The AMPUL Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1043–1051.
- 78. Pavord ID, Ward R, Woltmann G, Wardlaw AJ, Sheller JR, Dworski R. Induced sputum eicosanoid concentrations in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:1905–1909.
- 79. Montuschi P, Corradi M, Ciabattoni G, Nightingale J, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ. Increased 8-isoprostane, a marker of oxidative stress, in exhaled condensate of asthma patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:216–220.
- Montuschi P, Corradi M, Ciabattoni G, van Rensen EL, Collins JV, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ. Breath condensate analysis of 8-isoprostane: a new approach for assessment of oxidative stress in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159: A798.
- Borish LC, Nelson HS, Lanz MJ, et al. Interleukin-4 Receptor in Moderate Atopic Asthma. A phase i/ii randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:1816–1823.
- Silkoff PE, McClean PA, Slutsky AS, Caramori M, Chapman KR, Gutierrez C, Zamel N. Exhaled nitric oxide and bronchial reactivity during and after inhaled beclomethasone in mild asthma. J Asthma 1998; 35:473–479.
- Vandivier RW, Eidsath A, Banks SM, et al. Down-regulation of nitric oxide production by ibuprofen in human volunteers. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1999; 289:1398–1403.
- Yates DH, Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ. Effect of short- and long-acting inhaled beta₂-agonists on exhaled nitric oxide in asthmatic patients. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1483–1488.
- Silkoff PE, Wakita S, Chatkin J, Ansarin K, Gutierrez C, Caramori M, McClean P, Slutsky AS, Zamel N, Chapman KR. Exhaled nitric oxide after beta₂-agonist inhalation and spirometry in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:940–944.

Discussion

- **Dr. Seale:** The Bisgaard (AJRCCM, 1999) study showed a 20% reduction in NO after montelukast. Do you regard this as a clinically significant reduction in NO and what do you think is the mechanism for this reduction in NO?
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** It could be regarded as a clinically significant reduction in exhaled NO, as it was associated with the positive changes in FEV_1 and asthma symptoms. The effect of leukotriene antagonists on exhaled NO may be due to a reduction of inflammatory cytokines and their impact on iNOS. We have shown that prednisolone (30 mg/day), for example, given to mild asthmatics produces a significant but moderate (22%) reduction in exhaled NO within 72 hours.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** Can you give us a feel for the reproducibility? What is the intraand inter-individual variability?
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** The coefficients of variation of NO measurements made at two consecutive days varied between 12% for exhaled NO and from 7% to 11.8–13% for nasal NO. In a large population sample of young adults the repeatability of NO measurements, estimated by calculating the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), was 0.98 representing the range within which 95% of pairs of repeated measurements would be expected to lie, as 4.58 ppb. Individual variability of exhaled NO levels is low, providing the measurements were made on subjects free of URTI or without asthma exacerbation. For example, no significant difference in NO measured at 371-, 54- and 60-day intervals was seen in three normal subjects and over 55, 28 and 20 days in three clinically stable asthmatic patients. Therefore, the level of reproducibility of NO measurements is acceptable for biological measurements, which normally have coefficients of variation between 2-15%.
- **Dr. Edsbäcker:** Does endogenous control affect the assessments of exhaled NO; i.e., is there any diurnal variation in NO readouts? Has NO been studied in inhaled steroid studies having an oral steroid sparing design; i.e., what is the local effect component in the overall NO reduction by steroids?
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** There is no diurnal variation in exhaled NO measurements. Exhaled NO has not yet been studied in inhaled steroid/oral steroid sparing design studies.
- **Dr. Selroos:** Are NO measurements useful for monitoring the disease? With high initial doses there seems to be a rapid normalization of NO levels and they remain low.
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** The onset of action of inhaled budesonide (BUD), for example, on exhaled NO and the time to reach the maximal reduction are dose-

dependent. We have shown that the higher dose of BUD rapidly reduced NO (within 3 days), which coincided with the improvement in nighttime asthma symptoms and FEV₁ in all patients. The onset of action of 100 μ g budesonide was slower and its effect on NO and symptoms was less. It has been shown that exhaled NO levels were substantially reduced, but not normalized, after a course of different doses (100 to 1600 μ g) of inhaled steroids in mild asthmatics. In contrast, a large dose (1 mg/kg/day for 5 days) of oral prednisolone given to infants and children with wheezing exacerbations was able to normalize their exhaled NO. However, the same dose given to more severe asthmatic children had exhaled NO levels reduced only to the levels in mild-to-moderate asthma.

- **Dr. Pedersen:** You presented the data as a percentage change from baseline without actually giving the baseline value. That makes it difficult to get a feeling for the severity calculated in this way. We found a 70% reduction in exhaled NO during treatment with 200 μ g budesonide/day. That would not have fit with your data where you combine data from two studies (one with budesonide and one with FP). This raises the question of whether it is appropriate to combine the studies in the way you did?
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** The baseline NO levels are obviously important. Recently, it has been shown that exhaled NO of >10 ppb at baseline has a positive predictive value of 83% for an improvement in FEV₁ of 15% and therefore may be useful in predicting the response to a trial of oral steroid in asthma. The comparison between the studies can be made by either baseline levels comparison and/or by the effect of different doses of steroids on these baseline NO levels.
- **Dr. Brattsand:** Dr. Schleimer listed that the blocking activity of glucocorticoids on NOS is not restricted to iNOS. If also cNOS is blocked, that may be negative as Tulic and Sly (ERJ 1999;14(suppl 30):157s) reported that raised cNOS is coupled to reduced hyperresponsiveness (in vivo studies in challenged rats).
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** The most likely effect of steroids on NOS is via reduction of the impact of cytokines on the iNOS.
- **Dr. Jeffery:** Is the measurement of NO telling us more about the extent of perturbation of the epithelium rather than eosinophilic inflammation per se? What happens in response to viral infection?
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** The predominant source of exhaled NO is epithelium with a contribution from eosinophils. Therefore, it is a reflection of perturbation of the epithelium. Exhaled NO is elevated during viral infection.
- **Dr. Persson:** The time course of effects of steroids on established airway eosinophilia may not have been well examined, neither in animal nor in human studies. Since steroids inhibit eosinophil traffic to the asthmatic airways but may not affect the pathways of eosinophil elimination (apoptosis, cytolysis, and

airway luminal entry) the inhibition of established eosinophilia could reflect "normal" dwell times of eosinophils in the airway mucosa. Now, you compared the effect of inhaled steroids on NO and sputum eosinophilia: both were reduced after 1 week. Do you have data on the rate of steroid-induced lowering of eosinophil numbers in the sputum?

- **Dr. Kharitonov:** The time-course for the exhaled NO and sputum eosinophils is different. It is slower in case of the eosinophils. I have not presented any data on 1-week reduction in eosinophils.
- **Dr. Inman:** What would happen to the increased NO during a viral infection if inhaled steroids were given?
- **Dr. Kharitonov:** It has not been studied yet, I'm afraid. I would expect that steroids will be less effective in reducing exhaled NO levels.

Markers of Systemic Actions of Corticosteroids

LOUIS-PHILIPPE BOULET

Laval University Cardiothoracic Institute and Hôpital Laval Sainte-Foy, Québec, Canada

I. Introduction

Asthma is characterized by airway inflammatory and remodeling processes, thought to be responsible for the variable airflow obstruction and respiratory symptoms observed in asthma (1,2). The main preventive pharmacotherapeutic agents of asthma are corticosteroids (3,4). A significant breakthrough in asthma therapy occurred about three decades ago, when corticosteroids became available as inhaled preparations, reducing the potential for systemic effects while achieving excellent therapeutic results. Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) are the most potent of the anti-inflammatory drugs commonly used in asthma treatment. Their action is thought to result mainly from the reduction of the number and activation of inflammatory cells in the bronchial mucosa and through their inhibitory effects on different mediators and cytokine synthesis (5,6).

ICS commonly used in the treatment of asthma include beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP),* budesonide (BUD), fluticasone propionate (FP), triamcino-lone acetonide (TAA), and flunisolide (FLU). Agents such as mometasone furoate

^{*}BDP with a chlorofluorocarbon as a propellent, unless indicated otherwise in the text.

Table 1	Markers of S	ystemic	Effect of	Glucocortico	steroids
---------	--------------	---------	-----------	--------------	----------

Changes in adrenal function
Plasma cortisol level
Periodic plasma cortisol levels ^a
24-hour urinary free or overnight cortisol excretion
Response to ACTH stimulation (short and long tests, high-dose and low-dose)
Bone metabolism and density
Bone formation:
Serum osteocalcin
Plasma level of bone-specific alkaline phosphatase
Procollagen peptides
Procollagen type 1 N-terminal propeptide (PINP)
Procollagen type 1 carboxy-terminal propeptide (PICP)
Bone resorption:
Urinary hydroxyproline
Urinary calcium
Urinary pyridinium cross-links
Pyridinoline
Deoxypyridinoline
Cross-linked carboxyterminal telopeptide of type I collagen (ICTP)
Tartrate-resistant alkaline phosphatase
Growth in children: height velocity and statural height (stadiometry, knemometry)
Cutaneous changes: skin thickness, bruising
Ocular effects: intraocular pressure, cataracts
Central nervous system
Blood and bone marrow
Other metabolic effects

^aMeasured several times during day and night to evaluate diurnal variation.

(MF) and ciclesonide (CS) are currently being studied. Although these agents are considered to have a local effect on airways cells and constituents, there may be a variable degree of systemic absorption depending on the nature and dose of the agent as well as the site and degree of lung deposition. ICS are generally considered to have no clinically relevant systemic effects at doses below or equivalent to $800-1000 \mu g/day$ of BDP in adults and $400-800 \mu g/day$ in children, although at moderate to high doses they may produce variable changes in markers of systemic effect (7–9). In the following document, we will present the main markers used to determine systemic action of corticosteroids and illustrate their comparative changes following ICS administration by referring to recent studies and analyses (Table 1).



Figure 1 Pharmacokinetics of inhaled corticosteroids.

II. Pharmacokinetics of Glucocorticosteroids

Corticosteroids may cause systemic effects by their absorption through the gut and lungs into systemic circulation (Fig. 1). The total systemic effect of an ICS will therefore depend on the amount of drug deposited into the airways and the amount absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract, which then becomes available systemically. These vary considerably from one drug and one inhalation device to another, so that the therapeutic effect over systemic absorption (or side effects), defined as the therapeutic ratio, should be determined for each drug preparation and type of inhaler used.

Apart from the dose delivered, factors such as the extent of first-pass hepatic metabolism, the site of lung deposition, and other pharmacokinetic properties of ICS act as major determinants of the topical versus systemic effects of those agents. The available inhaled ICS show differences in systemic bioavailability, particularly at high doses. A low systemic bioavailability is preferable to reduce the risk of systemic effects. Factors such as receptor affinity, elimination half-life, and lipophilicity may affect efficacy, as well as also systemic bioavailability (10,11). A better "pulmonary targeting" of ICS, from increasing the local/systemic effect ratio, may result from low oral bioavailability, rapid systemic clearance, high plasma protein binding, and slow absorption from the lungs (12). Theoretically, a high water solubility may reduce tissue retention and thereby increase elimination of the drug, reducing the risk for systemic effects. A long elimination half-life may reduce between-dosing fluctuations of serum concentrations of the drug, although studies using oral corticosteroids suggest that it is mostly the persistent plasma levels and not the magnitude of the peak plasma concentrations that

induce detrimental systemic effects such as those on the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis (13).

The newer lipophilic ICS have, however, shown a large total volume of distribution with systemic tissue retention and somewhat low detectable plasma concentrations. Modes of administration also influence systemic availability by altering the dose deposited in the oropharynx and the lungs, and the influence of the delivery devices, spacers, and technical factors related to administration should be considered when comparing different drugs (14).

III. Markers of Systemic Effects

A. Effects on Adrenal Function

Adrenal Function and Systemic Corticosteroids

Plasma cortisol levels, maintained through adrenal secretion under the regulation of adrenocorticotropin-releasing hormone from the pituitary gland, range from about 100 to 300 nmol/L during the day and show a few nocturnal peaks. Exogenous administration of systemic corticosteroids causes a negative feedback on steroid receptors in the anterior pituitary gland and hypothalamus, resulting in a suppression of corticotropin-releasing hormone and corticotropin, which in turn causes a reduction in cortisol secretion from the adrenal cortex (15). Depending on the mode of administration, the dose and duration of use, systemic corticosteroids may lead to prolonged adrenal suppression with adrenal cortex atrophy and impaired adrenal response to unusual stress (e.g., surgery) if the exogenous steroid therapy is stopped or insufficient.

Although clinically significant adrenocortical insufficiency is rare among ICS-dependent patients, the influence of ICS on the adrenal axis is nevertheless used frequently as a parameter for evaluating the systemic activity of these drugs (16-20).

Methods of Assessment

Among the tests that evaluate this axis are those that measure basal HPA secretory function, such as morning (07:00–08:00 a.m.) plasma cortisol level, 24-hour integrated plasma cortisol levels, 24-hour urinary free cortisol excretion, and overnight urinary cortisol excretion. Screening of the HPA axis function may be done from single morning plasma cortisol level determination, although this last test is less sensitive than repeated plasma cortisol measurements to detect small changes in basal cortisol excretion.

The response to stimulation testing with tetracosactrin (ACTH high dose, $250 \,\mu\text{g}$, or low dose, $500 \,\text{ng}$ or $1 \,\mu\text{g}$ —this last being more discriminative and possibly reducing the risk of hypersensitivity reaction) may assess adrenal reserve

while insulin-induced hypoglycemia and metyrapone tests may test the entire HPA axis (15). Response to pyrogenic and vasopressin challenges may also assess HPA function. The insulin stress test is the usual "standard," but sensitivity and specificity of these tests are uncertain. The short tetracosactrin test is currently the most used.

In regard to the circadian variation in cortisol secretion, repeated plasma cortisol levels over 24 hours or overnight, and the 24 hours free urinary cortisol (or its metabolites) excretion are sensitive measures.

Influence of ICS on Adrenal Function

Excellent reviews have been published of studies on the effect of ICS on the HPA axis (7,8,16–18,21–22). Studies show variable results, probably due to differences in factors such as duration of dosing of ICS and the various methods used to assess HPA axis suppression. Dose-ranging studies have shown that there is a dose-related suppression of HPA axis, the steep part of the curve being over an ICS dose equivalent to 800 μ g/day BDP. High doses of ICS in asthma could induce a decrease in morning plasma levels and 24-hour urinary cortisol in proportion to the total daily and cumulative dose of ICS (23,24).

The following studies illustrate the use of different markers to determine the comparative influence of the most frequently used ICS on HPA axis parameters. First, in regard to adult asthmatics, in a study of 78 patients taking inhaled ICS (mostly BDP) at a median dose 1600 μ g/day for a median duration of 13 months, 20% of patients had changes in the ACTH test and urinary-free cortisol suggesting adrenal dysfunction (25). A close correlation was observed between the maximum cortisol measured during hypoglycaemia and both urinary free cortisol and post-tetracosactrin cortisol. In another study, BUD or FP, respectively, given at 800 or 750 μ g/day for one week and 1600 or 1500 μ g/day for another week, administered with a dry-powder inhaler, caused no significant suppression of early morning cortisol, while both drugs attenuated the posttetracosactrin serum cortisol at low and high doses (26).

Clark and Lipworth compared the effects of FP and BUD given on a microgram equivalent basis by metered dose inhaler on overnight urinary cortisol excretion and plasma cortisol levels at 08.00 hours in asthmatic patients (27). With repeated dosing across a dose range of $250-1000 \mu g$ twice daily, fluticasone propionate produced significantly greater reduction in both plasma and urinary cortisol than budesonide. The authors suggested that factors contributing to the systemic effects of fluticasone comprised enhanced receptor potency, prolonged receptor residency time, greater tissue retention, and a longer elimination half-life. Other studies also showed a greater effect of FP than BUD on adrenal axis (28,29). However, these differences are more obvious at high than at low/moderate doses of ICS, and the doses required to control asthma have been shown to be less for FP than BUD or BDP (16,30,31). This stresses the fact that when we look at the systemic effects of ICS, the therapeutic/systemic effect ratio should always be considered.

In the child population, most studies found no significant changes in urinary free cortisol excretion in children on FLU 100 and 200 μ g/day, BDP up to 400 μ g/day, and BUD up to 800 μ g/day (17). Lipworth et al. showed no evidence of significant adrenal suppression after repeated twice-daily administration of 200–400 μ g/day of FP or BUD given via a large volume spacer, using overnight urinary cortisol excretion (32). This indicates a good safety profile in children of these ICS at conventional dose levels. Fitzgerald et al. found that in children with persistent asthma, FP 750 μ g/day was as effective as BDP 1500 μ g/day when both were delivered through a spacer device for 12 weeks; a mild reduction in adrenal production of cortisol, of similar degree for the two drugs, was, however, observed, as assessed with 24-hour urinary free cortisol (33).

Meta-analyses of the studies looking at the influence of ICS on systemic parameters have been done. One looked at 34 studies evaluating the effects of ICS on the HPA axis, 21 using urinary cortisol measurements, and 13 08:00 h plasma cortisol levels (7). Variable degrees of reduction of adrenal function were found and FP had a steeper dose-related systemic activity than BDP, BUD, or TAA. These effects were mostly evident with doses over 800 μ g/day.

In two meta-analyses of the comparative effects of FP, BUD, and BDP, Barnes et al. also found a variable dose-related suppression of HPA axis, but no differences between FP and BUD (FP given at half-doses of BDP) at low doses in regard to serum cortisol, while at higher dosages there could be differences in favor of FP (34). In this meta-analysis, half-doses of FP were similar to BDP in regard to effects on HPA axis.

Although variable from a study to another, in general FP produced more effects on adrenal function in both adults and children than BUD on a μ g-per- μ g basis, although the dose required to control asthma was lower with FP. Furthermore, high doses of BUD and FP had fewer effects on adrenal function than BDP (36).

Confounding Factors

When looking at the potential effects of ICS, many factors should be taken into consideration, such as dose, timing, mode and frequency of administration, duration of treatment, compliance with medication, previous or concurrent use of oral ICS, and the population studied (Table 2). The additive and much more potent influence of oral ICS is particularly important when evaluating these effects. Compliance with 24-hour urine collection may be poor and should be checked. Fractionated overnight or early morning collection may be alternatives (21).

Table 2 Factors to Consider When Looking at Systemic Effects of Inhaled Corticosteroids

Type of ICS, dosage, duration of treatment, and compliance
Mode, timing, and frequency of administration
Inhalation device (including spacers)
Asthmatic vs. normal control subjects
Associated disease or condition
Asthma severity and control
Past or concurrent use of systemic corticosteroids
Population studied (age, gender, etc.)
Diet, sedentarity, alcohol intake, gonadal status, preexisting osteopenia
(for bone metabolism)
Other current medications
Individual susceptibility

Conclusions

Changes in adrenal function are considered to be good markers of the systemic effect of ICS. Among the tests available to assess HPA axis, measurements of the 24-hour urinary free cortisol and of serum cortisol concentrations expressed as area under the curve averaged over 24 hours are accurate markers of changes in HPA function. For this last test, single or multiple dosing of ICS may be used to assess systemic effects, as most effects are evident even after a single dose, with a variance of the response similar to multiple dosing (37). Although sensitivity of morning plasma cortisol level is low, it may be a good screening test. The influence of ICS on the HPA axis is quite variable between subjects, but doses under 1000 μ g/day of BDP had little or no effect on HPA axis function, while high doses, particularly equal or greater than 1500 μ g/day, could induce variable reductions in cortisol secretion.

B. Effects on Markers of Bone Metabolism

Bone Metabolism and Systemic Corticosteroids

A dynamic equilibrium between bone formation, involving osteoblasts, and bone resorption, involving osteoclasts, exists in the bone matrix, particularly in trabecular bone, which is more metabolically active than cortical bone. Up to 10% of bone is replaced yearly, about 5% of cortical and up to 20% of trabecular bone. Systemic corticosteroids may reduce bone mass by inhibiting osteoblast function and favor bone resorption by increasing osteoclast function. They may inhibit intestinal calcium absorption and renal calcium reabsorption (secondary hyper-

parathyroidism). Corticosteroids may also potentiate the activity of parathyroid hormone on osteoblasts. Their inhibitory effects on estrogen and testosterone secretion may further contribute to osteopenia. The main effect of corticosteroids is a reduction in the formation of new bone (22,36-38). If, following long-term use of oral corticosteroids, the process is severe and/or prolonged, it may lead to osteoporosis and fractures.

Methods of Assessment

Effects of ICS on bone have been evaluated with various serum or urinary markers of bone formation and resorption, and through measurements of bone density (39–41). Markers of bone formation include serum osteocalcin, plasma level of bone-specific alkaline phosphatase, and various types of serum procollagen peptides such as procollagen type I N-terminal propeptide (PINP) and procollagen type I carboxy-terminal propeptide (PICP).

Osteocalcin is a calcium-binding gamma-carboxyglutamic acid-containing noncollagenous protein called bone Gla protein (BGP) and is synthetized by osteoblasts. About 25% of osteocalcin escapes into circulation, and circulating levels reflect osteoblast activity. Different immunoessays using polyclonal or monoclonal antibodies are used for its measurement.

Many isoenzymes of alkaline phosphatase are produced by different organs. Bone-specific alkaline phosphatase is found in the membrane of active osteoblasts and preosteoblasts, and its level increases during bone formation.

PINP and PICP are released during collagen synthesis and their serum levels correlate with collagen type I synthesis in bone or soft tissue. Their levels fluctuate among subjects.

Main markers of bone resorption include urinary excretion of hydroxyproline and calcium, urinary pyridinium cross-links pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline, cross-linked carboxy-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen (ICTP), and tartrate-resistant alkaline phosphatase (TRAP).

Urinary excretion of hydroxyproline or calcium are measured after a 12hour fast. Hydroxyproline is the collagen amino acid released during collagen degradation. Present in all types of collagens and other proteins, about 50% of that found in urine comes from the bone. Diet can influence this test (e.g., gelatin increases urinary levels).

Pyridinoline, present in bone and cartilage, and deoxypyridinoline, mostly from the bone, are collagen cross-links released by the osteoclast during bone resorption. TRAP is found in osteoblasts and reflect their activity. ICTP is produced during collagen degradation, and its level correlates with bone resorption.

Markers of bone formation tend to be more sensitive than those of bone resorption. In this regard, serum osteoblast-derived osteocalcin is considered a sensitive, specific, and reproducible measurement (21). The more recently devel-

oped measurements of breakdown products from collagen metabolism mentioned above are promising but remain to be further assessed as markers of systemic effects of ICS.

Bone densitometry of peripheral sites such as the radius or central ones such as the proximal femur or lumbar spine can be used to assess the effects of treatments on bone mineral density (BMD). A low BMD in adults is considered to be associated with a statistically significant increase in the risk of fractures. Dualenergy x-ray absorptiometry is currently recommended in osteoporosis management (41). Other methods such as ultrasound of the calcaneus and quantitative computed tomography have sometimes been used in adult patients.

Effects of ICS on Bone Metabolism and Density

In adults, daily doses of inhaled ICS equivalent to $<800 \ \mu g$ of beclomethasone usually exert no or minimal influence on markers of bone metabolism (42–45). A lower serum osteocalcin and higher urinary phosphorus level may be found in subjects using more than the equivalent of 1000 μg of inhaled BDP (38,44,45). This effect varies among ICS and in regard to each parameter, as shown by some of our recent observations (31). They showed that serum osteocalcin level was significantly lower in subjects on BDP compared with those on half-doses of fluticasone, while other markers of bone metabolism such as urinary *N*-telopeptide/creatinine ratio, serum procollagen type I carboxy-terminal peptide, and specific alkaline phosphatase were not different (31). This suggests that "classical" measures such as osteocalcin may more accurately reflect the effect of two ICS on bone metabolism compared with more recent markers, although this has to be further evaluated. Furthermore, their comparative values as predictors of clinical outcome remain to be determined.

While bone density is unaffected by low doses of inhaled ICS, variable results have been obtained with high doses (46–51). No changes in bone density were found with doses of about 1000 μ g/day of BDP. While the effect seems minimal at doses up to 1000 μ g/day, higher doses of ICS seem to have the potential to reduce bone density in a dose-dependent fashion (37,51,52). A recent study was also reassuring in this regard, showing minimal changes in bone density with doses of 2000 μ g/day of BDP and no change with FP 1000 μ g/day in patients 18–40 years old (53). In this last study, no significant difference was found between the two groups in markers of bone metabolism such as serum osteocalcin, bone alkaline phosphatase, PICP, deoxypyridinoline, and C-telopeptide of type 1 collagen.

In children, a reduced bone turnover rate has been found with high doses of ICS. However, the significance of those changes is still unknown, and there seems to be no adverse effect on markers of bone metabolism at standard pediatric doses (54–60). A dose-ranging study comparing μ g-per- μ g equivalent doses of FP and

BUD administered with a metered-dose inhaler (0.5-2 mg/day) showed a greater suppression of osteocalcin with FP (27 and 12%) (54). Agertoft and Pedersen performed dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA scan) in 157 asthmatic children treated with inhaled BUD at a mean daily dose of 504 µg for a mean of 4.5 years in comparison with 111 age-matched children suffering from asthma but never treated with corticosteroids (59). Measures of total body bone mineral density, total body bone mineral capacity, total bone calcium, and body composition were obtained. No statistically significant differences were found between the two groups for these parameters.

The safety of ICS in regard to bone density in subgroups at risk for osteopenia such as postmenopausal women has been evaluated (19,48). In reviews of studies on bone density in asthmatic patients on ICS, we can observe that results have sometimes been contradictory and that many studies were confounded by past or current oral corticosteroid therapy and postmenopausal status (19,52).

A decline in bone mineral density of 0.5 standard deviations on average was observed for each 1 mg increment in the daily dose of BDP or BUD inhaled with a spacer (51). At doses lower than 1 mg per day, the reduction was too small and variable to be statistically significant. This is consistent with the observations of little or no effect on bone mineral density of low to medium doses of BDP administered by CFC propellant, FP, or BUD in placebo-controlled studies (60).

Unfortunately, no reliable predictor of bone loss has been found. We recently showed that the slight reduction of bone density observed in patients using moderate to high doses of inhaled corticosteroids could not be predicted by initial measurements of either bone density or biological markers (46). Changes in these markers mostly reflect short-term changes, and their impact on long-term bone metabolism is unclear, as compensatory mechanisms seem to occur.

Finally, studies on chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases (COPD) provided further information on the potential side effects of ICS. A placebocontrolled study by Pauwels et al. in a large cohort of patients with smokinginduced mild COPD (mean age 52) treated with twice daily BUD at a dose of 400 μ g/day delivered from a TurbuhalerTM reported no reduction in bone density over a 3-year period (61). There was even a small but statistically significant difference in favor of BUD. No difference was noted in the fracture rate between the two groups.

Confounding Factors

Previous studies on bone density have often been difficult to interpret because control groups included nonasthmatic subjects, making it impossible to estimate the confounding effect of the disease itself on this parameter. Many other factors affecting bone metabolism include individual susceptibility, gender, age, osteopenia, diet, alcohol intake, physical activity, gonadal status, and use of other medications, such as estrogen replacement therapy, diuretics, or anticonvulsants (62,63). Some asthmatic children never treated with corticosteroids may have decreased bone density and reduced osteoclacin levels compared to nonasthmatic children (64).

Conclusions

In conclusion, there is a dose-response effect of ICS on bone metabolism and density, although this influence seems to be small. Osteocalcin and pyridinium crosslinks are probably the best markers of bone formation and resorption, respectively, although further studies are needed to evaluate the usefulness and clinical relevance of the more recently proposed markers of bone metabolism. Bone density measurements by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry is currently proposed as the best marker of fracture risk, although its usefulness in the follow-up of inhaled corticosteroid-dependent asthmatic patients remains to be further documented.

C. Growth in Children

Growth in Children and Corticosteroids

As this topic is discussed in more depth elsewhere in this book and as several excellent reviews on ICS have discussed this effect thoroughly, we will only briefly review its use as a marker of systemic activity (65-69).

Growth during childhood has three phases: a rapid one during the first 2 years followed by a slower steady growth related to growth hormone production and, finally, the pubertal growth spurt controlled by growth hormones and sex steroids. In asthma, growth may be slow and associated with a delayed puberty, so that final height is normal except in those with severe disease. Systemic corticosteroids may induce different degrees of suppression of growth depending on the duration, dosage, and individual susceptibility.

Methods of Assessment

Height velocity, or statural height expressed as a height standard deviation score compared to age and sex-matched standards, are currently measured. A calibrated stadiometer can be used for this purpose. More precise and sensitive tools, such as short-term lower-leg growth measured by knemometry, have also been used. This technique, developed 15 years ago, is highly accurate and has a very low coefficient of variation. The equipment required, however, is more expensive, and the results depend on the skill of the observer.

Effects of ICS on Growth

The effects of ICS have been variable according to the groups studied and the drugs and the methodology used. Both lower-leg and overall growth velocity seem to be reduced with doses of ICS as low as $400 \,\mu g$ per day of BDP, but longer-term

consequences are uncertain (66–71). In a 12-month study, growth velocity of mild to moderate asthmatic children 6–16 years old was 4.4 cm/y on BDP MDI 84 μ g qid vs. 6 cm/y for theophylline (72). A linear growth of 3.96 vs. 5.40 cm was found in mild asthmatic children 6–14 years old on BDP 200 μ g bid vs placebo (73). In a similar group, a slower growth (4.7 cm) was observed with BDP 200 μ g bid than for salmeterol (6.1 cm) (74).

In regard to fluticasone, growth retardation was observed in six severely asthmatic children after introduction of high-dose FP treatment administered with a dry-powder inhaler (75). In a double-blind, randomized, parallel-group, multicenter study, 325 prepubescent children with persistent asthma and normal growth rates were treated with placebo or inhaled FP powder 50 μ g or 100 μ g administered twice daily by a breath-actuated device for one year (76); prepubescent children treated with FP grew at rates similar to placebo-treated control subjects and at rates equal to expected growth velocity for age.

Agertoft and Pedersen looked at the effects of BUD and FP administered with a Turbuhaler and Diskhaler, respectively, on short-term lower-leg growth measured by knemometry in 24 children aged 6-12 who were receiving 400 µg/ day of drug or placebo for 2 weeks (77). No significant correlation was found between knemometry and adrenal function measurements. Agertoft and Pedersen recently reported that children with asthma who have received long-term treatment with budesonide (mean daily dose of 412 µg) attained normal adult height (78).

Confounding Factors

A change in growth may be considered a marker of systemic effects of ICS in children, although many confounding factors should be considered, such as nutrition, hormonal and seasonal changes, the degree of control and severity of asthma and medication needs to achieve that control, particularly short courses of oral corticosteroids.

As for the other systemic effects, lung deposition and systemic bioavailability can be influenced not only by the nature of the ICS molecule but also by the type of inhaler used, including the propellant for metered-dose inhalers (chlorofluorocarbons vs. hydrofluorocarbons).

Conclusions

In conclusion, compared to other methods, knemometry is considered a sensitive technique for studying the systemic effects of ICS on growth, but confounding factors should be considered, and it does not necessarily relate to long-term growth. Short-term knemometry was found to be more sensitive than 24-hour free urinary cortisol excretion in detecting systemic effects of exogeneous corticosteroids in children, but there was no significant correlation between those two types of measurements (79). At doses of \geq 400 µg/day of BDP, short-term suppression

of growth may be observed with sensitive measures such as knemometry, but the predictive value of those changes on long-term growth seems to be poor.

D. Skin

Skin and Corticosteroids

Skin thinning and bruising from increased collagen turnover or reduced synthesis may result from chronic systemic glucocorticosteroid activity. Changes in collagen content of the skin have also been described with ICS (80).

Methods of Assessment

Prevalence of bruising determined from questionnaire and examination and more precise methods such as ultrasound evaluation of skin thickness are among the methods used to evaluate skin changes following ICS use (81).

Effects of ICS on Skin

Capewell et al. studied 68 patients on long-term prednisolone or high-dose BDP compared to controls using ultrasound skin thickness determination and visual assessment of bruising (81). Prevalence of bruising was, respectively, 80, 48, and 12% for prednisolone, BDP, and controls. Compared with controls, skin was 28-33% thinner on prednisolone and 15-19% thinner on high-dose BDP.

Sixty-nine asthmatic subjects were enrolled in a double-blind crossover study with BDP or FP at half the dose of BDP for two 4-month periods each. The frequency of bruising reported by patient questionnaire was not different, but there were significantly more bruises on physical examination for BDP than for FP (31). Skin bruising, cortisol response to cortrosyn, and osteocalcin levels were not significantly correlated with the duration of BDP or FP intake. Other studies showed variable increases in skin bruising with high doses of ICS (7,31).

In a recent study in patients with chronic pulmonary obstructive disease (COPD), 10% patients on 800 μ g/day of BUD for 3 years had skin bruising compared to 4% in the placebo group (61).

Confounding Factors

Age and concomitant use of oral corticosteroids are major confounding factors (16,80).

Conclusions

Skin bruising and reduction in its thickness may be considered markers of systemic effects of ICS, but individual susceptibility and other associated factors may induce wide variations in these measurements. Their role in evaluating systemic effects of ICS and the correlation between this parameter and others remain to be further explored.

E. Ocular Effects

The Eye and Corticosteroids

Long-term use of systemic corticosteroids may contribute to the development of cataracts, particularly posterior subcapsular (PSC). Topical ophthalmic corticosteroids may increase ocular tension and the incidence of secondary open-angle glaucoma in susceptible individuals.

Methods of Measurement

Slit-lamp eye examination may detect cataracts, and tonometry may be used to assess intraocular pressure.

Effects of ICS on the Eye

In regard to inhaled ICS, most data come from epidemiological studies using casecontrolled or cross-sectional designs. No evidence of cataracts or glaucoma was found in children treated with inhaled ICS (82,83).

Although the causality relationship may be questioned, a large case-control study reported a slight increase in the risk of ocular hypertension and open-angle glaucoma in patients older than 65 years using high doses of inhaled ICS for at least 3 months, particularly at doses greater than 1.5 mg/day (84). There was no increase in the risk with low-moderate daily doses of ICS. However, although the results of this study were statistically significant, its clinical importance remains uncertain, and the influence of cofactors on this risk has to be determined.

An association between current and cumulative doses of ICS and PSC cataracts has been suggested in a large adult population-based study (85); the highest prevalence of PSC was in those with a lifetime dose exceeding 2000 mg of beclomethasone. However, the overall increased risk was small (1% in the non-ICS group and 2% in the ICS treatment group). The role of confounding factors cannot be excluded.

Confounding Factors

They are similar to the other markers previously discussed (Table 2). Observations should take into account the possibility of unrelated preexisting or concomitant disease. The risk of age-related cataract may increase with smoking, poor diet with insufficient antioxidant vitamin intake, ultraviolet B exposure, and diabetes.

Conclusions

In conclusion, when used at high doses, ICS may possibly increase the risk of glaucoma and cataracts in predisposed individuals, although further studies are

required to confirm those observations and evaluate their significance. As these effects are very rare and seem to occur only in certain subgroups of asthmatic subjects, measurements of intraocular pressure and evaluation for cataracts are not very useful to determine the comparative systemic action of medications in current trials.

F. Other Effects

Metabolic

There is no evidence of significant metabolic effects of ICS on cholesterol, triglycerides, carbohydrate metabolism, or insulin concentrations (7). The rare anecdotal cases of increased blood glucose in some subjects suggest that it is unlikely to be a significant effect (86). In the previously mentionned COPD study, no increase in diabetes, myopathy, or PSC cataracts was observed with BUD (61).

Influence on Blood and Bone Marrow

ICS may reduce blood eosinophils and lymphocytes and increase circulating neutrophils. BDP was reported to cause a greater reduction of lymphocytes and eosinophils than BUD (87). ICS reduce eosinophil activation and survival by inhibiting cytokines such as GMCSF, IL-3, and IL-5 (88). Wood et al. showed that in subjects with mild stable asthma, inhaled BUD (400 μ g/d) over 8 days significantly attenuated the allergen-induced early and late asthmatic responses, the degree of increase in sputum and blood eosinophils, and the baseline numbers of total bone marrow CD34+ cells, CD34+ IL-3R α - cells, and IL-5–responsive Eo/B–colony- forming units (CFU) (89). Although allergen inhalation significantly increased Eo/B-CFU grown in the presence of IL-3, GM-CSF, or IL-5 alone and, in combination, CD34+ IL-5 R alpha+ cells, these increases were not affected by budesonide treatment.

Central Nervous System

Although psychiatric disturbances have been associated with oral steroids, they are very rarely associated with ICS, and in the few cases described they were reversible with the discontinuation of the drug (90).

IV. Which Is the Best Marker of Systemic Effects of ICS?

Further studies remain to be done to determine the best way to assess and compare systemic effects of ICS, both for safety surveillance in clinical practice and for comparative studies in view of regulatory issues. For this last, a sensitive test may be used, while for clinical follow-up, a test with a good clinical significance is preferred. Although HPA axis and bone metabolism markers are currently used to evaluate the systemic effect of ICS, the former is usually preferred as it has been more fully documented. Although there may be correlations between markers of adrenal function and bone metabolism, these are generally weak and it is not practical to use one of these as a surrogate for the other.

Serum cortisol concentrations averaged over 24 hours are equally or more precise and sensitive than alternative measurements; single doses of about 1 mg of ICS given to healthy control subjects showed a coefficient of variation of about 20% (16-24%) for this parameter (37). It would be useful to determine if measures of bone turnover such as serum osteocalcin or the urinary production of cross-linked N-telopeptides can achieve the degree of precision offered by the 24-hour variation of serum cortisol concentrations (37).

In children it has been suggested that, when corticosteroid treatment is initiated, knemometry seems more valid as a measure of risk than 24-hour urine free cortisol excretion to assess the lowest dose at which the systemic activity of ICS can be detected (78). However, height measurement with a stadiometer is generally suggested as an adequate method for safety surveillance in clinical practice.

Finally, there are such large interindividual variability in response to various doses of ICS that mean results are difficult to extrapolate to a given patient, particularly if there is a high-risk group for systemic effects (e.g., postmenopausal women not on hormonal replacement for bone density).

With respect to the issue of comparing one ICS to another for regulatory purposes, a most interesting two-step approach has been suggested by Toogood (37,91). As a first step, the relative toxicity of the unknown test drug is compared to a standard drug in healthy subjects with ideally a precise test such as 24-hour area under the curve of plasma cortisol. Having determined the systemically equivalent doses for both drugs, in a second step, the antiasthmatic potency of the two drugs is determined in asthmatic subjects using systemically equivalent graded doses of those last in the range considered useful in clinical practice, using parameters such as expiratory flows or symptoms.

V. Comparison of Systemic Effects of Different ICS: Some Methodological Aspects

When looking at the comparative effects of different ICS on HPA axis, studies exploring different dose levels on the steep part of the ICS dose-response curve are more revealing than single-dose studies (37). If the dose is too low, there may be a lack of detectable systemic effect of the drugs, or it may be too small to provide a reliable basis for discriminating between the treatments.

Time of measurement of the parameters used after the last dose administration may influence the results. A drug with a prolonged half-life can have more influence on its plasma levels, although it may not reflect exactly the clinically relevant systemic effects. Healthy subjects may be preferred for such comparisons, as it avoids confounding effects of past or current corticosteroid use and the influence of the disease. However, it may not reflect exactly what happens in patients with airway disease. In fact, the same dose of ICS may possibly induce less cortisol reduction in asthmatic compared to nonasthmatic subjects, as a result of altered absorption of the drug from the airways. This favors the use of nonasthmatic subjects for preliminary safety testing; however, further testing should be done in asthmatics as results cannot be extrapolated.

Compliance to therapy during the trial is of major importance, and it has been shown that it may be low, therefore underestimating the effects of the ICS tested. Even pills counts and weighing the canisters may not be accurate if some dumping occurs during the study.

Chronopharmacology of ICS should also be considered when comparing two agents. The influence of ICS on HPA axis, for example, will be maximal when administered at the end of the day, around 10 p.m. Finally, what is a clinically important change or difference in a specific marker is still a subject of debate.

VI. Clinical Significance of Changes in Markers of Systemic Effects

For most markers of systemic activity of ICS, the clinical and particularly the long-term influence of ICS is uncertain. Furthermore, the possibility that the observed changes in these markers decrease over time has to be studied. Although there is a potential for adverse effects on parameters such as bone metabolism when high doses of ICS are used for many years, such effects seem small and quite variable from one subject to another. In cross-sectional surveys of bone density in adults treated with ICS, contrary to what is found with oral corticosteroids, there was no evidence that increased duration of ICS therapy at usual doses was associated with an increased risk of bone loss (51, 92); in fact, the opposite may apply possibly as a consequence of bone restitution triggered by a reduction in previous prednisone exposure and possibly increased physical activity from better asthma control with ICS (51). As there is yet no reliable predictor of these changes, a reasonable approach would seem to be to monitor these effects in high-risk groups, such as postmenopausal women not receiving hormonal replacement therapy, particularly when high doses of ICS are used for prolonged periods. Nevertheless, although the usually poor clinical relevance of the markers described makes those not very useful for clinical practice safety monitoring, they may provide a means to assess the comparative systemic absorption of ICS for research and regulatory purposes.

VII. How to Reduce Systemic Effects

Mouth rinsing and expectoration after ICS use can slightly reduce systemic absorption; because of the almost complete hepatic first-pass inactivation of agents such as fluticasone, it may not be useful to use this method to reduce its systemic
effects, although it may have other beneficial effects such as reducing oral candidiasis (93). Using the pressurized metered-dose inhaler (pMDI) with a spacer device can reduce the total available systemic dose, although it may have variable effects on the systemic absorption of inhaled ICS depending on the drug, the design of the spacer, and the way it is used (91). A likely explanation for a reduction in systemic activity when inhaled via a spacer is reduced intrapulmonary delivery.

The best option remains to use the lowest dose of ICS required to achieve adequate control of the disease and, when not sufficient, add medications such as long-acting β_2 -agonists (La β 2A) or leukotriene receptor antagonists (LTRA). In doing so, even when asthma is moderately severe, we may then be able to keep the dose of ICS $\leq 1000 \,\mu g$ daily in beclomethasone equivalent, as suggested by most recent guidelines (94,95). It has now been well established that with daily doses of ICS $>1000 \mu g$, the ratio of therapeutic effect over systemic absorption decreases rapidly (21). Although more long-term studies are required on the effects of such practice, adding other agents such as LaB2A or LTRA generally improve asthma control and reduce the need for higher doses of ICS (96,97). Known risk factors for effects such as bone loss (e.g., age, hormonal status, concurrent diseases) should be assessed and preventative interventions may be proposed. Finally, the more recently developed ICS such as hydrofluoroalkane-beclomethasone dipropionate (HFA-BDP), and mometasone furoate provide additional options for ICS with a reduced potential of systemic effects compared to BDP with a cholorofluorocarbon propellant (98,99).

VIII. Conclusion

A variety of markers of systemic absorption of ICS have been used to assess their comparative effects, the most common being markers of adrenal suppression and bone metabolism. However, the potential of these parameters to evaluate the specific side effects of the drugs may be influenced by many cofactors. Moreover, the magnitude of changes does not correlate with clinical outcome in most instances. Nevertheless, particularly in homogeneous groups of asthmatic patients and when confounding factors are taken into consideration, they may offer a useful estimate of the systemic effect of the ICS drugs. The identification of a simple and accurate marker of systemic effects of ICS is still needed, and the comparative value of those currently used remains to be further assessed (100).

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to Drs. John Toogood, Yves Lacasse, and Pierre Leblanc for their most useful comments on this work and to Mrs. Mariette Veillette and Lori Schubert for their help in preparing the manuscript.

References

- Holgate ST. Asthma: a dynamic disease of inflammation and repair: In: Chadwick D, Cardew G, eds. The Rising Trends in asthma. Ciba Foundation Symposium 206, Chichester (UK): John Wiley and Sons: 1997:5–34.
- Boulet LP, Chakir J, Dubé J, Laprise C, Boulet M, Laviolette M. Airway inflammation and structural changes in airway hyper-responsiveness and asthma: an overview. Can Respir J 1998; 5:16–21.
- 3. Barnes PJ. Inhaled glucocorticoids for asthma. N Engl J Med 1995; 332:868-875.
- 4. Busse WW. Inflammation in asthma: the cornerstone of the disease and target of therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:S17–22.
- Djukanovic R, Wilson JW, Britten KM, Wilson SJ, Walls AF, Roche WR, Walters C, Church MK, Howarth PH, Holgate ST. Effect of an inhaled corticosteroid on airway inflammation and symptoms in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145:669–674.
- Bentley AM, Hamid Q, Robinson DS, Schotman E, Meng QIU, Assoufi B, Kay AB, Durham SR. Prednisolone treatment in asthma: reduction in the number of eosinophils, T cells, tryptase-only positive mast cells, and modulation of IL-4, IL-5 and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression within the bronchial mucosa. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:551–556.
- Lipworth BJ. Systemic adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159:941–955.
- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148(suppl):S1–S26.
- 9. Toogood JH. Complications of topical steroid therapy for asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141(2 suppl):S89–S96.
- Lipworth BJ. Pharmacokinetics of inhaled drugs. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 42: 697–705.
- Kelly HW. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic comparison of the inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:S36–S51.
- Kamada AK, Szefler SJ, Martin RJ, Boushey HA, Chinchilli VM, Drazen JM, et al. Issues in the use of inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: 1739–1748.
- 13. Harter JG, Reddy WJ, Thorn GW. Studies on an intermittent corticosteroid dosage regimen. N Engl J Med 1963; 269:591–596.
- 14. Wales D, Makker H, Kane J, McDowell P, O'Driscoll BR. Systemic bioavailability and potency of high-dose inhaled corticosteroids: a comparison of four inhaler devices and three drugs in healthy adult volunteers. Chest 1999; 115:1278–1284.
- 15. Streeten DHP, Anderson GH Jr, Dalakos TG, Seeley D, Mallov JS, Eusebio R. Normal and abnormal function of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical system in man. Endocrine Rev 1984; 5:371–394.
- Jackson LD, Polygenis D, McIvor RA, Worthington I. Comparative efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Can J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 6(1): 26–37.
- 17. Wolthers OD, Honour JW. Measures of hypothalamic pituitary-adrenal function in patients with asthma treated with inhaled glucocorticoids: clinical and research implications. J Asthma 1999; 36:477–486.

- 18. Sorkness CA. Comparisons of systemic activity and safety among different inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:552–564.
- Toogood JH. Side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:705–713.
- 20. Plumpeon FS, Besser GM, Cole PV. Corticosteroid treatment and surgery. Anaesthesia 1969; 24:3–11.
- 21. Lipworth BJ, Wilson AM. Dose-response to inhaled corticosteroids: benefits and risks. Sem Respir Med Crit Care Med 1998; 19:625–646.
- 22. Effhimiou J, Barnes PJ. Effect of inhaled corticosteroids on bones and growth. Eur Respir J 1998; 5:1167–1177.
- Löfdahl CG, Mellstrand T, Svedmyr N. Glucocorticosteroids and asthma—studies of resistance and systemic effects of glucocorticosteroids. Eur J Respir Dis 1989; 65(suppl 130):69–79.
- 24. Pedersen S, Fuglsang G. Urine cortisol excretion in children treated with high doses of inhaled corticosteroids: a comparison of budesonide and beclomethasone. Eur Respir J 1988; 1:433–435.
- 25. Brown PH, Blundell G, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Screening for hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis suppression in asthmatics taking high dose inhaled corticosteroids. Respir Med 1991; 85:511–516.
- 26. Grove A, Allam C, McFarlane LC, McPhate G, Jackson CM, Lipworth BJ. A comparison of systemic bioactivity of inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate in normal subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1994; 38:527–532.
- Clark DJ, Lipworth BJ. Adrenal suppression with chronic dosing of fluticasone propionate compared with budesonide in adult asthmatic patients. Thorax 1997; 52:55–58.
- Donnelly R, Williams KM, Baker B, Badcock CA, Day RO, Seal PJ. Effects of budesonide and fluticasone on 24 hour plasma cortisol: a dose-response study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:1746–1751.
- Lönnebo A, Grahnén A, Jannson B, Ling Andersson A, Brundin RM, Eckernas SA. An assessment of the systemic effects of single and repeated doses of inhaled fluticasone propionate and inhaled budesonide in healthy volunteers. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 49:459–463.
- Li JT, Goldstein MF, Gross GN, Noonan MJ, Weisberg S, Edwards L, Reed KD, Rogenes PR. Effects of fluticasone propionate, triamcinolone acetonide, prednisone, and placebo on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103(4):622–629.
- Malo JL, Cartier A, Ghezzo H, Mark S, Brown J, Laviolette M, Boulet LP. Skin bruising, adrenal function and markers of bone metabolism in asthmatics using inhaled beclomethasone and fluticasone. Eur Respir J 1999; 13(5):993–998.
- 32. Lipworth BJ, Clark DJ, McFarlane LC. Adrenocortical activity with repeated twice daily dosing of fluticasone propionate and budesonide given via a large volume spacer to asthmatic school children. Thorax 1997; 52(8):686–689.
- Fitzgerald D, Van Asperen P, Mellis C, Honner M, Smith L, Ambler G. Fluticasone propionate 750 micrograms/day versus BDP 1500 micrograms/day: comparison of efficacy and adrenal function in paediatric asthma. Thorax 1998; 53:656-661.
- 34. Barnes NC, Hallett C, Harris TAJ. Clinical experience with fluticasone propionate in

asthma: a meta-analysis of efficacy and systemic activity compared with budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate at half the microgram dose or less. Respir Med 1998; 92:95–104.

- 35. Brown PH, Matusiewicz SP, Shearing C, Tibi L, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Systemic effects of high dose inhaled steroids: comparison of beclomethasone dipropionate and budesonide in healthy subjects. Thorax 1993; 48:967–973.
- Price JF. Inhaled corticosteroids: clinical relevance of safety measures. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997; (suppl 15):S40–S45.
- 37. Boulet LP, Cockcroft DW, Toogood J, Lacasse Y, Baskerville J, Hargreave FE. Comparative assessment of safety and efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1998; 11:1194–1210.
- Hosking DJ. Effects of corticosteroids on bone turnover. Respir Med 1993; 87 (suppl A):15-21.
- Dempster DW. Bone histomorphometry in glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 1989; 4:137–141.
- 40. Reid DM. Methods of measurement of bone turnover and clinical evaluation of osteoporosis: relevance to asthma and corticosteroid therapy. Respir Med 1993; 87 (suppl A):9–14.
- 41. Baran DT, Faulkner KG, Genant HK et al. Diagnosis and management of osteoporosis: guidelines for utilisation of bone densitometry. Calcif Tissue Int 1997; 61: 433-440.
- 42. Ali NJ, Capewell S, Ward MJ. Bone turnover during high dose inhaled corticosteroids treatment. Thorax 1991; 46:160–164.
- 43. Kerstjens HA, Postma DS, van Doormaal JJ, van Zanten AK, Brand PL, Dekhuijzen PN, Koeter GH. Effects of short-term and long-term treatment with inhaled cortico-steroid on bone metabolism in patients with airways obstruction. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Thorax 1994; 49:652–656.
- 44. Boulet LP, Giguère MC, Milot J, Brown J. Effects of long-term use of high-dose inhaled steroids on bone density and calcium metabolism. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994; 94:796–803.
- 45. Hanania NA, Chapman KR, Kesten S. Adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Med 1995; 98:196–208.
- 46. Boulet LP, Milot J, Gagnon L, Poubelle PE, Brown J. Long-term influence of inhaled corticosteroids on bone metabolism and density. Are biological markers predictors of bone loss? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:838–844
- 47. Wong CA, Walsh LJ, Smith CJ, Wisniewski AF, Lewis SA, Hubbard R, Cawte S, Green DJ, Pringle M, Tattersfield AE. Inhaled corticosteroid use and bone density in patients with asthma. Lancet 2000; 355:1399–1403.
- Luengo M, del Rio L, Pons F, Picado C. Bone mineral density in asthmatic patients treated with inhaled corticosteroids: a case-control study. Eur Respir J 1997; 10: 2110–2113.
- 49. Packe GE, Douglas JG, McDonald AF, Robins SP, Reid DM. Bone density in asthmatic patients taking high dose inhaled BDP and intermittent systemic corticosteroids. Thorax 1992; 47:414-417.
- 50. Ip M, Lam K, Yam L, Kung A, Ng M. Decreased bone mineral density in pre-

menopausal asthma patients receiving long-term inhaled steroids. Chest 1994; 105: 1722-1727.

- Toogood JH, Baskerville JC, Markov AE, Hodsman AB, Fraher LJ, Jennings B, Haddad RG, Drost D. Bone mineral density and the risk of fracture in patients receiving long-term inhaled steroid therapy for asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 96:157–166.
- 52. Toogood JH, Sorva R, Puolijoki H. Review of the effects of inhaled steroid therapy on bone. Int J Risk Saf Med 5:1–14, 1994.
- 53. Egan JJ, Maden C, Karla S, Adams JE, Eastell R, Woodcock AA. A randomized, double-blind study comparing the effects of beclomethasone and fluticasone on bone density over two years. Eur Respir J 1999; 13:1267–1275.
- 54. Lipworth BJ, Clark DJ. High-dose inhaled steroids in asthmatic children. Lancet 1996; 348:820.
- 55. König P, Cervantes C, Hillman L. Bone mineralisation in asthmatic children treated with inhaled beclomethasone. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 78:312A.
- Chay OM, Goh A, Lim WH, Leong KH, Lou J. Effects of inhaled corticosteroid on bone turnover in children with bronchial asthma. Respirology 1999; 4(1):63–67.
- Bisgaard H, Pedersen S, Damkjaer Nielsen M, Osterballe O. Adrenal function in asthmatic children treated with inhaled budesonide. Acta Paediatr Scand 1991; 80(2): 213–217.
- 58. Pedersen S, O'Byrne P. A comparison of the efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Allergy 1997; 52(suppl 39):1–34.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Bone mineral density in children with asthma receiving longterm treatment with inhaled budesonide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157: 178–183.
- 60. Woodcock A. Effects of inhaled corticosteroids on bone density and metabolism. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:S456-459.
- Pauwels RA, Löfdahl CG, Laitinen LA, Schouten JP, Postma DS, Pride NB, Ohlsson SV. Long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide in persons with mild chronic obstructive pulmonary disease who continue smoking. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 1948–1953.
- 62. Anderson JJ. The role of nutrition in the functioning of skeletal tissue. Nutr Rev 1992; 50:388–394.
- 63. McKnight A, Steele K, Mills K, Gilchrist C, Taggart H. Bone mineral density in relation to medical and lifestyle risk factors for osteoporosis in premenopausal, menopausal and postmenopausal women in general practice. Br J Gen Pract 1995; 45(395):317–320.
- Pedersen SE. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in children. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Corticosteroids in Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1996:551–606.
- 65. Allen DB, Mullen M, Mullen B. A meta-analysis of the effect of oral and inhaled corticosteroids on growth. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994; 93:967–976.
- 66. Wolthers OD. Long-, intermediate-, and short-term growth studies in asthmatic children treated with inhaled glucocorticoids. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:821–827.
- 67. Simon RA. Update on inhaled corticosteroids: Safety, compliance, and new delivery systems. Allergy Asthma Proc 1999; 20(3):161–165.

- 68. Simons FER. Benefits and risks of inhaled glucocorticoids in children with persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:S77–84.
- 69. Silverstein MD, Yunginger JW, Reed CE, Pettersen T, Zimmerman D, Li JTC, et al. Attained adult height after childhood asthma: effect of glucorticoid therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:466–474.
- Ninan TK, Russel G. Asthma, inhaled corticosteroid treatment, and growth. Arch Dis Child 1992; 67:703–705.
- 71. Doull IJM, Freezer NJ, Holgate ST. Growth of prebupertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled BDP. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 151:1715–1719.
- 72. Tinkelman DG, Reed CE, Nelson HS, Offord KP. Aerosol beclomethasone dipropionate compared with theophylline as primary treatment of chronic, mild to moderately severe asthma in children. Pediatrics 1993; 92:64–77.
- Simons FER and the Canadian Beclomethasone Dipropionate-Salmeterol Xinafoate Study Group. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1659–1665.
- Verberne AAPH, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H, Kerrebijn KF. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:688–695.
- 75. Todd G, Dunlop K, McNaboe J, Ryan MF, Carson D, Shields MD. Growth and adrenal suppression in asthmatic children treated with high-dose fluticasone propionate. Lancet 1996; 348(9019):27–29.
- Allen DB, Bronsky EA, LaForce CF, Nathan RA, Tinkelman DG, Vandewalker ML, Konig P. Fluticasone Propionate Asthma Study Group. Growth in asthmatic children treated with fluticasone propionate. J Pediatr 1998; 132:472–477.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Short-term knemometry and urine cortisol excretion in children treated with fluticasone propionate and budesonide: a dose response study. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1507–1512.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:1064–1069.
- 79. Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Measures of systemic activity of inhaled glucocorticosteroids in children: a comparison of urine cortisol excretion and knemometry. Respir Med 1995; 89:347–349.
- 80. Mak VHF, Melchor R, Spiro SG. Easy bruising as a side-effect of inhaled corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1992; 5:1068–1074.
- Capewell S, Reynolds S, Shuttleworth D, Edwards C, Finlay AY. Purpura and dermal thinning associated with high dose inhaled corticosteroids. Br Med J 1990; 300: 1548–1551.
- Simons FER, Persaud MP, Gilespie CA, Cheang M, Shuckett EP. Absence of posterior subcapsular cataracts in young patients treated with inhaled glucocorticoid. Lancet 1993; 342:776–778.
- 83. Dreyer EB. Inhaled steroid use and glaucoma [letter]. N Engl J Med 1993; 329:1822.
- Garbe E, LeLorier J, Boivin JF, Suissa S. Inhaled and nasal glucocorticoids and the risks of ocular hypertension or open-angle glaucoma. J Am Med Assoc 1997; 277: 722–727.
- 85. Cumming RG, Mitchell P, Leeder SR. Use of inhaled corticosteroids and the risk of cataracts. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:8–14.

- Turpeinen M, Sorva R, Juntunen-Backman K. Changes in carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in children with asthma inhaling budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 88:384–389.
- Johansson SA, Anderson KE, Brattsand R, Gruvstad E, Hedner P. Topical and systemic glucocorticoid potencies of budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate in man. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1982; 22:523–529.
- Schwiebert LM, Beck LA, Stellato C, Bickel CA, Bochner BS, Schleimer RP. Glucocorticoid inhibition of cytokine production: relevance to antiallergic actions. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97:143–152.
- Wood LJ, Sehmi R, Gauvreau GM, Watson RM, Foley R, Denburg JA, O'Byrne PM. An inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, reduces baseline but not allergeninduced increases in bone marrow inflammatory cell progenitors in asthmatic subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1457–1463.
- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma: report of a workshop held in Eze, France, October 1992. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:S1–S26.
- Toogood JH, White FA, Baskerville JC, Fraher LJ, Jennings B. Comparison of the antiasthmatic, oropharyngeal, and systemic glucocorticoid effects of budesonide administered through a pressurized aerosol plus spacer or the Turbuhaler dry powder inhaler. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:186–193.
- Toogood JH, Hodsman AB, Fraher LJ, Markov AE, Baskerville JC. Serum osteocalcin and procollagen as markers for the risk of osteoporotic fracture in corticosteroidtreated asthmatic adults. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104:769–774.
- 93. Dempsey OJ, Coutie WJ, Wilson AM, Williams P, Lipworth BJ Evaluation of the buccal component of systemic absorption with inhaled fluticasone propionate. Thorax 1999; 54:614–617.
- 94. International consensus report on the diagnosis and management of asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 1992; 22(suppl 1):1–72.
- 95. Boulet LP, Becker A, Berubé D, Beveridge R, Ernst P. Canadian Asthma Consensus Report, 1999. CMAJ 1999; 161 (Suppl. 11): S1–S61.
- Woolcock A, Lundback B, Ringdal N, Jacques LA. Comparison of addition of salmeterol to inhaled steroids with doubling of the dose of inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:1481–1488.
- Löfdahl CG, Reiss TF, Leff JA, Israel E, Noonan MJ, Finn AF, Seidenberg BC, Capizzi T, Kundu S, Godard P. Randomised, placebo controlled trial of effect of a leukotriene receptor antagonist, montelukast, on tapering inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic patients. Br Med J 1999; 319:87–90.
- Vanden Burgt JA, Busse WW, Martin RJ, Szefler SJ, Donnell D. Efficacy and safety overview of a new inhaled corticosteroid, QVAR (hydrofluoroalkane-beclomethasone extrafine inhalation aerosol), in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000; 106: 1209–1226.
- 99. Affrime MB, Kosoglou T, Thonoor CM, Flannery BE, Herron JM. Mometasone furoate has minimal effects on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis when delivered at high doses. Chest 2000; 118:1538–1546.
- Allen DB. Limitations of short-term studies in predicting long-term adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroids. Allergy 1999; 54(suppl 49):29–34.

Discussion

- **Dr. Seale:** Are there studies (possibly with oral steroids) of both bone mineral density (BMD) and serum markers in which BMD was reduced? From such a study it may be possible to determine the magnitude of change in serum markers at which BMD is affected.
- **Dr. Boulet:** To my knowledge, there is no marker of bone metabolism that could act as a predictor of reduction in bone mineral density. In a recent study we found no correlation between changes in various serum markers of bone metabolism and changes in bone density. (Boulet LP, Milot J, Gagnon, L, Poubelle PE, Brown J. Long-term influence of inhaled corticosteroids on bone metabolism and density: Are biological markers predictors of bone loss? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:838–844).
- **Dr. Pedersen:** We have the same experience. Marker levels or steroid-induced changes in bone markers are not predictive at all for changes in bone mineral density. It seems that often a decrease in markers of bone formation is paralleled by a decrease in markers of bone degradation indicating that the turnover rate is reduced. That may not have any long-term adverse effects, even though the changes in markers were statistically significant.
- **Dr. Szefler:** Most of the studies regarding adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroids have been conducted in heterogeneous, relatively normal populations. Are there studies available on patients at relative risk, for example, of reduction in bone density in elderly females?
- **Dr. Boulet:** Some studies done in this particular population showed no influence of ICS on bone density, but this seemed to be due to the influence of estrogen replacement therapy. More studies are required in this type of patient.
- **Dr. Georas:** I am wondering if we need to consider atopy as a confounding factor in considering the risk of osteoporosis on inhaled steroids. I am specifically reminded of a study in which IL-4 was overexpressed in transgenic mice resulting in osteoporosis (Lewis DB, Liggitt HD, Effmann EL, Motley ST, Teitelbaum SL, Jepsen KJ, Goldstein SA, Bonadio J, Carpenter J, Perlmutter RM. Osteoporosis induced in mice by overproduction of interleukin 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993; 90:11618–11622). Are you aware of an association between atopy and the risk of osteoporosis? Would you please comment on the poor correlations between cortisol suppression and delayed bone growth? What are the mechanisms for this, and what does this tell us about the use of cortisol suppression as a surrogate marker of systemic side effects?
- **Dr. Boulet:** I am not aware of a significant effect of atopy as a confounding factor in the evaluation of the risk of osteoporosis on inhaled corticosteroids.

The often poor correlation between cortisol suppression and delayed bone growth suggest that one cannot really be used as a surrogate marker of the effects of the other. This may suggest a different susceptibility of the end organ to the drug or probably more often the associated influence of other confounding factors.

- **Dr. Newman:** All studies of HPA axis function must be interpreted carefully in light of the marker used. Recently we completed a study looking for the best marker of cortisol suppression as compared to the gold standard of 24-hour serum cortisol measurements. All measures, including 24-hour urine cortisols, ACTH levels, CRH stimulation, and AM serum cortisols, showed no or weak correlations with 24-hour serum cortisols. Therefore, it appears that studies that don't use serial serum cortisol measurements may lead to misleading results and incorrect conclusions.
- **Dr. Boulet:** I agree with your comment. We should be careful in the interpretation of these results.
- **Dr. Selroos:** AstraZeneca PMS data indicates a very low frequency of adverse events with budesonide. Based on 7 billion patient treatment days, approximately only 640 reports have been filed.
- **Dr. Derendorf:** In many comparative studies, attempts are made to relate the potency in fixed ratios, e.g., 1:2. However, we are dealing here with complex relationships between dose and effects combined with circadian rhythms and different devices. This may be too much for our brains to handle intuitively, and computer simulations may be helpful.

20

Patient Adherence to Inhaled Corticosteroid Therapy

CYNTHIA S. RAND and KATHLEEN WEEKS SCHILLER

Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, Maryland

Because inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) have demonstrated high efficacy in reducing airways inflammation and controlling asthma symptoms, international asthma management guidelines recommend the use of ICS as the preferred therapy for the management of persistent, symptomatic asthma in children and adults. In clinical practice, however, the actual effectiveness of ICS therapy in controlling asthma has been shown to be significantly reduced by poor patient adherence. Clinical researchers are frustrated when they develop highly effective and safe asthma therapies that do not translate into the asthma control breakthroughs anticipated. Clinicians are often puzzled and discouraged when their patients seek medical advice for the management of their asthma and then promptly disregard their doctor's recommendations. As we have previously reviewed in Severe Asthma (1) and Fatal Asthma (2), poor adherence to asthma medication regimens is widespread, even when asthma is severe. As asthma has increasingly become recognized as a chronic disease that requires preventive treatment, it now shares many of management problems of other chronic diseases, such as hypertension and diabetes. It is a truism in the management of all chronic diseases, including asthma, that patient nonadherence is both common and a frequent cause of poor disease control. Because human behavior is the necessary interface between good therapies and therapeutic effectiveness, it behooves both the clinical researcher and the clinician to understand the factors associated with patient adherence. This chapter updates our reviews of adherence issues in asthma published in 1995 (3) and 1998 (2), with a particular focus here on adherence to ICS therapy. We will review the relationship between adherence to ICS therapy and asthma morbidity, as well as the prevalence of nonadherence to ICS therapy recommendations. In addition, we will discuss the patient factors associated with nonadherence, including types of nonadherence and unique barriers to adherence in special populations. Finally, we will review general clinical strategies that have been identified as useful in improving patient adherence.

I. Inhaled Steroid Adherence and Asthma Morbidity

The effectiveness of ICS therapy in real-world clinical practice should be evident in marked improvement in markers of asthma morbidity, such as asthma symptoms, urgent care utilization, and hospitalizations. Conversely, patient nonadherence to ICS should result in measurable disease exacerbations. Case-control studies, which examine the relationship between level of ICS adherence and asthma morbidity, are not only useful in providing a quantitative estimate of the effectiveness of ICS therapy, but also in defining the parameters of nonadherence that result in increased risk.

The most extreme examples of asthma risk are fatal and near-fatal asthma. Ernst et al. (4) examined the relationship between use of ICS and the risk for fatal or near-fatal asthma among 12,301 residents of Saskatchewan, Canada. The source population for this study was created from the Canadian Health Insurance file, and use of asthma medications was assessed using the Out of Hospital Prescription Drug data files. After adjusting for use of other asthma medication and other markers of high risk, results showed that dispensing of at least one canister of ICS per month for 12 months was associated with reduced risk of fatal and near-fatal asthma (O.R = 0.01; CI = 0.2-0.6). It is of interest that of the 269 patients who had been dispensed ICS in the previous year, only 37 (14%) had been dispensed amounts congruent with appropriate compliance over the course of the year (i.e., 12 or more canisters). Ernst et al. suggest that this is most likely due to erratic dispensing (i.e., failing to refill prescriptions), rather than regular use of very low doses of ICS. They conclude that their data support the value of ICS in reducing the risk of fatal and near-fatal asthma, but this reduced risk appears to be dependent on appropriate adherence with ICS therapy.

A related marker of high-risk asthma morbidity is hospitalization for asthma. Several studies have examined the relationship between ICS use and rates of hospitalization for asthma. Blais et al. (5) investigated a cohort of 2059 hospitalized asthmatic patients (5-54 years of age) and estimated the effectiveness of ICS in preventing rehospitalization for asthma (using the same database and

definitions as Ernst et al. (4) above). In this study the relative effectiveness of ICS therapy was estimated for different durations of therapy. Regular use of ICS was defined as patients who had filled at least one prescription of the medication every 90 days. This classification was based on the minimum daily recommended use of ICS (i.e., one canister every 50 days) and was expanded to account for some level of noncompliance (~55% compliant). Results showed that patients who started ICS therapy within a month of their initial hospitalization were three times less likely to be readmitted to the hospital for asthma in the 16-90 days after this initial hospitalization (RR = 0.3; CI = 0.2-0.6). ICS use during the first 15 days or 4–12 months after the initial hospitalization did not reduce risk. Initiation of ICS therapy within 2 years was associated with similar reductions in risk up to 6 months (RR = 0.6; CI = 0.4-0.9). The investigators concluded that patients may require up to 15 days of therapy before ICS begin to offer protection against readmission. They also suggest that the observed reduction in the protective effect of ICS beyond 6 months may result from a bias introduced if patients with less severe asthma are more likely to discontinue therapy in the first year while patients with higher risk asthma continue to use ICS therapy.

Donahue et al. (6) observed similar associations between ICS use and reduced risk of hospitalization among 16,941 asthmatic patients enrolled in a U.S. managed care group. After controlling for markers of asthma severity (i.e., sex, age, amount of β -agonist use, ambulatory care), they found that use of ICS therapy was associated with a relative risk of hospitalization of 0.5 (CI = 0.4-0.6). However, unlike the Ernst et al. study(4) examining risk of fatal and near-fatal asthma, they found no evidence of a dose-response relationship between ICS dispensing and reduced risk for hospitalization. In fact, as shown in Table 1, dispensing of only one canister of ICS was associated with the same relative risk of hospitalization as dispensing more than eight canisters of ICS. In contrast, increased dispensing of β-agonists was associated with increased risk of hospitalization. The failure to observe any dose-response relationship between ICS use and risk in this study may be attributable to other risk or protective factors that overwhelm the dose-response relationship. For example, patients who are prescribed ICS may be more likely to be receiving specialist care and hence better quality (rather than quantity) asthma management. These patients may also differ from those not prescribed ICS therapy in important, but unmeasured dimension of risk, such as socioeconomic factors.

II. Rates of Adherence with ICS and /or Other Preventive Asthma Drugs

A. Primary Adherence with ICS Therapy

Before patients can begin to adhere to ICS therapy, they must first fill their prescriptions. Research suggests that between 6 and 44% of all initial prescriptions

	Relative risks (95% CI)				
Inhaled steroids	Total $(n = 16941)$	Age $0-17$ y ($n = 6562$)	Age $18-44$ y $(n = 7689)$	Age \geq 45 y (<i>n</i> = 2690)	
None	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	
>0-1	0.4 (0.3-0.6)	0.3 (0.2-0.5)	0.5 (0.3-0.8)	0.5 (0.3-1.0)	
>1-2	0.6(0.5-0.9)	0.8(0.4-1.4)	0.4(0.2-0.7)	1.0(0.5-1.8)	
>2-3	0.3(0.2-0.5)	0.3 (0.1-0.8)	0.2 (0.1-0.4)	0.5 (0.2-1.2)	
>3-5	0.3(0.2-0.4)	0.3 (0.1-0.6)	0.1 (0.1-0.3)	0.6 (0.3–1.3)	
>5-8	0.3(0.2-0.5)	0.3 (0.1-0.8)	0.2(0.1-0.4)	0.5 (0.2–1.1)	
>8	0.4 (0.2–0.6)	0.5 (0.1–2.0)	0.3 (0.1–0.7)	0.6 (0.2–1.3)	

Table 1Relative Risk for Asthma Hospitalization Among Members of HarvardPilgrim Health Care, 1991–1994

Number of hospitalizations for asthma per person-year among recipients and nonrecipients of inhaled steroids within various categories of β -agonist dispensing for persons in the Harvard Pilgrim Health Plan from October 1991 through September 1994. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. The relative risks (reference group: individuals who received no inhaled steroids or β -agonists), number of persons hospitalized, and total number of persons in each stratum are also provided. *Source*: Ref. 6.

are not filled (7–11). The failure to fill a prescription is classified as "primary nonadherence," while the inappropriate use of prescribed medication is classified as "secondary noncompliance" (12). Once dispensed, conservative estimates indicate that almost half of the prescription medications each year are not taken as prescribed (13). These statistics suggest that estimates of adherence to inhaled corticosteroids that are drawn from clinical trial settings (where medications are provided and adherence is monitored) reflect the *maximum* probable ICS adherence levels. The real life sequlae to a clinician's prescribing of ICS therapy will include a range of less desirable patient outcomes, including a failure to fill the initial prescription, erratic or underuse of ICS therapy, and premature discontinuation of therapy.

Studies based on pharmacy databases are particularly useful for determining primary adherence with ICS therapy (14). Watts et al. (12) examined primary nonadherence in patients with asthma by matching prescriptions written with those filled over a period of 3 months. The study included both new and repeat prescriptions for asthma medication. The setting of the study was geographically isolated and therefore no prescriptions were expected to be filled outside the area. Of 359 documented prescriptions written, 251 (approximately 70%) were filled. Of the prescriptions filled, most were filled by the sixth day (91%), with the vast majority filled on the same day as the clinic visit (76%). Patients with lower socioeconomic status showed decreased relative odds of filling their prescriptions (RR = 0.84) compared to patients of high socioeconomic status. Neither gender nor age had an influence on primary adherence in this study. In a similar study by Kelloway et al. (15), medical records were compared to data from pharmacy claims in order to calculate adherence rates for theophylline and ICS therapy. Patients had theophylline adherence rates of 73% in the younger group (age 12–17) and 80% in the older group (age 18–65). Adherence rates for ICS were 30% and 57% in the younger group and older group, respectively. Since these primary adherence estimates are based on refill rates, they represent the maximum possible levels of adherence and do not provide any information on the day-to-day patterns of medication use in the home.

B. Secondary Adherence with ICS Therapy

Self-Reported Adherence to Therapy

Patient self-report, whether by diary card or clinical interview, is the most commonly used measure of adherence to ICS. Self-report measures have the advantage of simplicity, low cost, and appropriateness to the clinical care setting. Numerous studies and reviews have documented, however, that self-report measures have highly variable validity (16).

Despite their limitations, self-report measures are the only appropriate measures for assessing reasons for noncompliance. For example, Van Es et al. (20) used focus group interviews to collect information about adolescent experiences with adherence to asthma therapy. Results found that the teens usually reported forgetting in the morning if they were in a hurry or when their normal routines were interrupted. Participants who had no daily routine stated that they often forgot to use their daily medication "rarely gave a thought to it," or made a conscious decision not to take their medication. Some participants stated that they had deliberately decided to discontinue therapy. Reasons mentioned for these teenagers stopping treatment included not seeing any effect from their preventive treatment, bad taste of medicines, and not having asthma symptoms all the time.

Survey research that assesses patient adherence with therapy is also reliant on self-report measures. Population-based surveys, however, have the potential to measure asthma patient behavior outside the constraints (and potential demand characteristics) of the clinic setting. In a survey of those 400 adult asthma patients prescribed ICS therapy, Chambers et al. (21) found that only 38% of the respondents reported that they used their ICS therapy as prescribed on most days.

Medication Measurement of Adherence with Therapy

While more labor intensive than self-report, medication measurement is often used as an objective assessment of adherence in clinical trials. In two 6-month studies, Toogood et al. (22) investigated the influence if different dosing regimens (qid or bid) on response to inhaled budesonide among adult outpatients with chronic asthma (22,23). To monitor adherence to the protocol regimen, all budeso-

nide canisters were weighed before they were given to the participants and again upon return at each clinic visit. Toogood et al. reported adherence, by canister weight, to the prescribed budesonide regimen at 97% throughout the study. Overadherence was also observed in some participants, with adherence ranging from 78 to 155%. In a separate study comparing qid budesonide to bid budesonide, Malo et al. (23) found that both the qid and bid treatment groups were approximately 85% adherent to their prescribed regimens, according to canister weight.

Different forms of therapy or modes of delivery may influence rates of adherence. In a pilot study of 72 adult patients with mild asthma, Hughs et al. (24) examined patient adherence to three different forms of therapy: montelukast sodium tablets, fluticasone aerosol, and budesonide dry powder inhaler. Pill counts, canister weights, and remaining doses were collected to assess adherence to the different regimens. Adherence was calculated by dividing doses taken by doses prescribed. The investigators found different levels of adherence for each therapy, with montelukast mean daily adherence at 97.3% of prescribed, inhaled flutica-sone at 85.6%, and 78% of prescribed for dry powder budesonide, suggesting that mode of therapy may influence adherence.

Celano et al. (25) examined anti-inflammatory metered-dose inhaler adherence in low-income, urban, primarily African American children with asthma. Estimated metered-dose inhaler adherence was determined by weighing canisters and calculating the ratio of the number of puffs used over the study period to the number of puffs prescribed. Estimated metered-dose inhaler adherence in this study was 44% for all participants and only 12% of the children had rates above 75%.

Electronic Measures of Adherence

While medication measurement provides an objective method to document total ICS use, it is not useful for assessing patterns of inhaler use and is vulnerable to deliberate emptying [i.e., "dumping" (26)]. With the advent of electronic monitors, such as the Nebulizer Chronolog (Medtrac Technologies, Lakewood, CO), investigators were given a powerful new strategy for objectively measuring adherence. The Chronolog monitoring device had the ability to measure the date and time of each metered-dose inhaler actuation. While these actuations represented presumptive uses, they provide a detailed picture of real world use of medication.

Using a Nebulizer Chronolog, Gibson et al. (27) have also studied compliance with inhaled prophylactic medication among preschool children. Electronic monitoring data revealed generally variable and poor adherence in the study group of 29 asthmatic children, ages 15 months to 5 years. Median compliance was 50% of study days having full compliance, with an overall median of 77% of the prescribed doses taken during the average 2-month monitored period. Asthma symptoms recorded on diary cards showed little relationship to medication compliance. Dosing frequency was unrelated to compliance. [This is in contrast to the study by Coutts et al. (28) described above), in which participants who were prescribed prophylactic regimens twice a day were adherent on 71% of the days, compared to only 18% of study days for those with four times daily regimens.] The Gibson et al. study is striking in that it reflects poor adherence even among parents who had a clear understanding that adherence was being monitored and who had been provided with careful explanations of the importance of adherence with prophylactic medications. The authors note that this poor adherence might reflect persistent misunderstandings or concerns about the side effects of the medications.

In a 6-week study, Mann et al. compared adherence with bid or qid dosing of inhaled flunisolide in patients with asthma (29). All participants were initially instructed to use their flunisolide bid to establish baseline adherence (Time 1). After 3 weeks, half of the participants were instructed to change their dosing to qid for 3 weeks (Time 2). Adherence was monitored electronically in both groups throughout the study. The group that had the bid dosing for 6 weeks showed no difference in adherence between T1 and T2 and had fewer than prescribed inhalations on approximately 37% of study days. The group which went from bid to qid dosing almost tripled the percentage of days with fewer than eight inhalations from 20% during T1 to 50% during T2. Overuse was observed in over 20% of patient study days. The investigators reported on one participant who did not use the medication during the study intervals but "dumped" his medication by actuating the Chronolog repeatedly on his two clinic visit dates.

Apter et al. (30) used electronic monitoring to evaluate adherence with β -agonist and beclomethasone in a group of 13 adult patients with asthma. Twelve of the 13 patients were prescribed qid dosing. During this 9-week study patients maintained asthma diaries for symptoms and peak flow measures. The total percent of prescribed ICS adherence for each patient ranged from 11 to 106%, with mean daily beclomethasone compliance of 64% for the group. They note that if compliance were defined using a criteria of taking at least 75% of prescribed doses [as described by Mawhinney et al. (31)], then only 38% of the patients could be considered compliant.

In a series of small (9-11 patients) studies using an electronic monitor, Yeung et al. (32) examined ICS use over a period a 2–3 weeks. When patients were aware of monitoring 60% of the patients were fully compliant, 20% were partially compliant (taking just 70% of the prescribed dose), and 20% were nonadherent. When patients were unaware of the monitoring, 6 of 11 took between 30 and 51% of the prescribed doses. In both of these studies patients tended to overreport inhaled steroid use.

III. Forms of Nonadherence

Understanding patient nonadherence to ICS therapy requires a recognition that there are different forms of nonadherent behavior with diverse contributing factors. Careful clinical interviewing can probe to uncover these problems and set the stage for identifying appropriate strategies for ameliorating these difficulties.

A. Erratic Nonadherence

Perhaps the form of nonadherence that is most common and most acknowledged by patients and providers is missed doses because of forgetfulness, changing schedules, or busy schedules. Erratic nonadherers understand their prescribed regimen and would like to adhere appropriately, but they find that they have trouble complying because the complexity of their lives interferes with adherence or because they have not prioritized asthma management. Patients who have changing work schedules or chaotic lifestyles may have difficulty establishing the habit of a new medication regimen. For some patients Monday-to-Friday adherence is fine, but weekends or holidays disrupt medication routines. Strategies to improve erratic adherence center on simplification of the regimen (e.g., once daily dosing), establishing new habits through linking (e.g., MDI next to the toothbrush), and cues and reminder aids (e.g., pill organizers).

B. Unwitting Nonadherence

Many patients may be inadvertently nonadherent to the prescribed therapy because they failed to fully understand either the specifics of the regimen or the necessity for compliance. Studies have found that patients frequently forget instructions given to them by a physician during a clinic visit.(33) Metered dose inhalers, unlike pill bottles, do not typically have attached labels that list dosing instructions. In asthma management it is common for patients to misunderstand the difference between PRN medication and daily medication. Or they may interpret the prescription for "ICS twice every day" as meaning "ICS twice every day-when you have symptoms." Patients may overuse their inhaled β -agonist because they have never been given clear guidelines as to when to discontinue home treatment and seek medical assistance. The ubiquity of unwitting nonadherence is illustrated in a study by Donnelly et al. (34). The investigators interviewed 128 Australian parents of children with asthma about their attitudes, beliefs, and their knowledge of asthma and asthma medications. Only 42% of parents had basic understanding of the mode of action of β -agonists, 12% of methylxanthines, 12% for cromoglycate, and 0% for inhaled steroids. Approximately half of the parents reported that sodium cromoglycate and inhaled steroids were used to prevent asthma attacks, while 40-50% were unsure of the mode of usage. The majority of parents reported using antibiotics, antihistamines, and decongestants in treating their child's asthma. The authors suggest that this poor parental understanding of asthma medications may result from inadequate doctor-patient communication, which may contribute to the high prevalence of nonadherence in asthma. In a study of adult asthmatics and COPD patients in the Netherlands, Dekker et al. (35) found that 20% of the patients using pulmonary medications admitted that they did not know the prescribed daily intake. Twenty-nine percent thought that their regular daily medication was actually to be used "short-term" or "as needed." Only 51% correctly perceived that their medications were to be taken regularly.

C. Intelligent Nonadherence

Sometimes patients alter, discontinue, or even fail to initiate ICS therapy on purpose. This deliberate nonadherence is called intelligent nonadherence, reflecting a reasoned choice, rather than a necessarily wise choice (36). Patients who feel better may decide that they no longer need to take prescribed medications. Fear of perceived short- or long-term side effects of ICS may cause some patients to reduce or discontinue dosing. Patients may abandon a therapy because taste, complexity, or interference with daily life may convince them that the disadvantages of therapy outweigh the benefits. Some patients may find a variation of the prescribed therapy works better than the doctor-prescribed regimen. In fact, given the well-documented underuse of ICS, the effectiveness ICS therapy in the management of asthma suggests that many patients manage quite well with altered or reduced dosing. This deliberate nonadherence, like all nonadherence, does not necessarily result in worsening asthma. In every clinical practice there are patients who have knowingly altered their prescribed therapy, yet their physician may never uncover this modification. Regardless of the source of medication nonadherence, the necessary first step to addressing the problem is identifying the problem through effective, open-ended patient-provider communication. Only through the use of careful interviewing and active listening will the asthma care provider be equipped with the information necessary to establish and reinforce appropriate medication adherence (37). The time constraints placed on clinicians time by managed care represents a serious barrier to this recommendation.

IV. Factors Associated with ICS/Other Adherence

A. Asthma Severity

Because of the significant burden of symptoms and the risk associated with more severe asthma, it would seem logical that patients with severe disease would have a greater incentive, and hence likelihood, of adhering with prescribed therapy. Indeed, it could conversely be argued, that for some asthmatic patients more symptomatic disease is the consequence of inadequate compliance with treatment. For example, Milgrom et al. (18) found in a study of pediatric asthmatic patients that prednisone bursts were more common in those patients who were found by electronic monitoring to be the least adherent with inhaled anti-inflammatory therapy.

It has also been suggested that active asthma symptoms should serve as a cue for improved medication adherence. Research on the relationship between asthma severity and adherence to therapy presents a mixed picture. Studies by Watts et al. (12) and Ernst et al. (4) have reported that patients with more severe

asthma are more likely to fill prescriptions for their asthma medication. However, in studies that closely examine day-to-day use of asthma medication, the occurrence of disease exacerbations (e.g., reduced peak flow asthma symptoms) does not appear to be related to improved adherence (38-40). For example, Mann et al. (41) examined this hypothesis by measuring the relationship between patient adherence with gid beclomethasone and periods of increased asthma severity. Ten adult patients with moderate to severe asthma were monitored over a 9-week period using Nebulizer Chronologs to measure inhaler adherence and peak flow monitoring to measure airflow obstruction. In addition to PEFR, daily asthma symptom scores and daily use of albuterol assessed asthma severity. Mean beclomethasone compliance for the study group was 67%, with underuse reported on 69% of the days and overuse on 11% of the days. Beclomethasone compliance decreased progressively over the 9 weeks, with 60% mean adherence at week nine. They found that variations in PEFR values, symptom scores, and albuterol use were found to be unrelated to beclomethasone adherence. The investigators concluded that compliance with inhaled steroids was not modulated by asthma severity (as measured by PEFR) or by symptoms.

B. Patient Beliefs About ICS and Asthma

Regular adherence with ICS therapy is dependent upon the patient's acceptance that asthma is a chronic disease that requires preventive treatment. In addition, patients must feel comfortable that the prescribed therapy is effective in achieving the desired treatment goals and that therapy is safe for long-term use. A number of studies have confirmed that patient beliefs about their asthma and the prescribed therapy are strongly associated with the likelihood of adherence. When patients don't believe that their asthma is chronic or that it requires preventive treatment, compliance with therapy is generally episodic.

The relationship between asthma beliefs and adherence with preventive therapy was clearly illustrated in a study by Adams et al. (42). The investigators interviewed adult patients in Wales using qualitative interviewing strategies and identified three common self-perspectives among this group: deniers/distancers, accepters, and pragmatics. Each of these perspectives was associated with very different patient beliefs about the nature of asthma and the use of preventive medication. The half of the sample who were classified as deniers/distancers (N = 15) claimed that they did not have asthma (despite a doctor diagnosis and prescribed medications) or reported that they had "slight" or "not proper" asthma. These patients stated that asthma had no effect on their lives, and they rarely took their reliever medications. With additional probing, however, these patients revealed that they used their reliever surreptitiously and that they had developed complex behaviors to avoid physical symptoms (e.g., not running, staying indoors in certain seasons). None of these patients were using their prophylactic asthma medications. These patients rejected the label of "asthmatic" (which they consid-

ered stigmatizing) and instead described their breathing difficulties as an acute, situation-specific problem or as a "bad chest." Those patients classified as acceptors, on the other hand, accepted the chronic nature of asthma and had internalized the social identity of "asthmatic." These patients sought to achieve a normal life through the use of good asthma-management behaviors, rather than by denial. In contracts to the deniers, who perceived preventive medications as a source of stigma, acceptors saw these medications as an aid to normalization. Acceptors were most apt to use preventive asthma medications. Pragmatics (N = 6) were less neatly categorized, although in general they were closer to the acceptors than to deniers. While these individuals may not have embraced an asthma diagnosis in the proactive manner of the acceptors, they were attempting to reconcile their lives and self-image with the social identity of "asthmatic." While they used their prophylactic medications, they might not have been using them in the approved manner. These individual's level of self-disclosure and self-presentation shifted according to the relevant audience. This analysis suggests that patient beliefs may influence adherence with preventive asthma therapy.

Parents and patients who are concerned about using steroids may underdose or discontinue long-term use in a self-determined effort to be "steroid-sparing." Boulet et al. (43) conducted a telephone survey of over 600 adult asthmatic patients in Canada in order to understand patient perceptions about the role of ICS in the treatment of asthma and the potential side effects of this therapy. Thirty-nine percent of those surveyed had used intermittent or regular ICS in the past year. While the majority of patients classified their disease as "mild," the high level of symptoms reported suggested that patients might be underestimating the severity of their disease. As shown in Table 2, patients frequently had misperceptions

	Ever used inhaled corticosteroids (n = 272)	Past 12 months corticosteroid use (n = 225)
	(n - 272)	(n - 255)
✗ Opens the airways—relieves constriction	43	41
✓ Reduces inflammation/swelling of the airways	22	24
✓ Prevents asthma attacks	14	16
✗ Relieves an asthma attack	11	12
✓ Gets asthma symptoms under control	7	8
✗ Builds up/strengthens lungs	3	3
Don't know	12	11

 Table 2
 Perception of the Role of Inhaled Corticosteroids^a

^aCheckmark (\checkmark) is considered a good answer; " \checkmark " is considered a false answer. Answers are respectively true or false according to current knowledge. *Source*: Ref. 43.

Concern	% of subjects
Fear of side effects	59
Need for higher doses over time to match effectiveness previously experienced	38
May become less effective when used on a long-term basis	36
Causing weight gain	29
Building huge muscles	24
Causing infections	20
Making bones brittle/susceptible to fractures	16
Stunting growth	14
Causing cataracts	8
Causing diabetes	7

Table 3	Concerns A	About Ir	nhaled C	orticosteroid	Use

Source: Ref. 43.

about the role of ICS, even patients who had recently used this treatment. Over 40% of patients believed that ICS opened up the airways to relieve bronchoconstriction, while less than a quarter of the patients reported that ICS reduced airway inflammation. This fundamental misunderstanding of the mechanism of ICS suggests that these patients may also not understand the underlying chronic inflammation that characterizes asthma and the need for preventive therapy. Forty-six percent of these patients indicated that they were reluctant to take ICS on a regular basis, and only 25% of patients reported that they had discussed their fears and concerns about ICS with their primary care provider. Misperceptions about the side effects and long-term consequences of ICS use were also common (Table 3). Thirty-eight percent believed that ICS doses would need to be increased over time to maintain effectiveness, while 36% believed that ICS therapy becomes less effective over time. Concern about side effects was high (59%), with the most frequently cited fears being weight gain (29%) and building huge muscles (24%). Boulet and colleagues concluded that information about the safety and usefulness of ICS does not seem to have reached many patients with asthma. This study also suggests that health care providers must initiate conversations with patients to proactively address possible concerns about ICS therapy that might interfere with patient adherence.

In a similar study conducted in the United States, Chambers et al. (21) surveyed 694 asthmatic patients 18–49 years of age who had been prescribed ICS in 1995–96. Patients were identified for this study by review of medical records within the TriState Primary Care Research Network, a network of family practice providers in the greater Philadelphia area. All data analysis was conducted on the 394 survey forms that were returned and eligible (i.e., within age range and asthma

Reason	%
I use it only when I need it	62
I don't like using medicine unless I feel sick	33
I don't want to use steroids	27
I feel fine	22
I don't like the side effects	18

 Table 4
 Most Frequent Reasons for Not Using ICS^a

^aBased on 247 respondents that did not report using ICS at least twice a day almost every day; respondents were allowed to select multiple items. *Source*: Ref. 21.

diagnosis). The majority of these patients were symptomatic and reported experiencing nighttime or daytime symptoms within the previous 4 weeks. Most notable in this survey was the low level of self-reported adherence with therapy, with 62% of patients reporting less than regular twice-daily ICS use. Thirty-six percent of these patients endorsed the option "Some days I use it at least twice, but on other days I don't use it at all," while 22% reported that they no longer used ICS. Four percent of patients claimed that they have never used ICS. Those who were less than fully adherent were asked the reasons they were not using ICS, and as shown in Table 4, the most frequent reason cited was that they only used therapy when they believed they need it. This is consistent with a patient belief that their asthma is an episodic disease, rather than chronic disease, and that therapy can and should be adjusted to match disease exacerbations. The high level of symptoms reported by this group, however, argues that this self-titrating is ineffectual in fully controlling asthma symptoms and reducing asthma risk.

Psychological models of disease management have suggested that medication compliance may be related to the patient's perceived vulnerability to the negative consequences of illness (44), with an increased sense of risk associated with better adherence. In pediatric research several studies have suggested parents who consider their children's health to be fragile or vulnerable (based on real events or not) will be vigilant and adherent with health care recommendations (45–47). Spurrier et al. (48) examined the relationship between asthma management strategies used by 101 parents of children with asthma and this parent's perceptions of their child's vulnerability to illness. The study found that after controlling for the frequency and severity of asthma symptoms, those parents who felt their child had greater vulnerability to illness were more likely to use regular preventive medications, take the child to the doctor, and keep the child home from school. The authors suggest that one possible explanation of this finding is that "parents who do not perceive their child to be medically vulnerable may discontinue administering regular medication" (48).

C. Regimen Factors in Asthma Therapy

A number of studies across a range of chronic diseases have found that characteristics of the prescribed treatment regimen are strongly associated with patient adherence (49). In general, the longer the duration of therapy, the more frequent the dosing, and the more complex the regimen (e.g., multiple devices or tasks), the poorer patient compliance. Actual or perceived treatment side effects and the cost of therapy can also reduce adherence levels. The logic of this relationship is clear to most clinicians; however, all too often asthma therapy choices are driven by habit rather than a careful matching of regimen characteristics to each patient's preferences and abilities. Selecting medications, delivery devices, or dosing frequency should be a negotiated and individualized process between the clinician and the patient that considers not only the asthma severity, but the patient's lifestyle, past adherence history, beliefs and concerns about medication, ability to pay for medications, and other medication regimens.

Considerable interest has been directed in recent years to developing an effective and safe once-a-day therapy for asthma because of its presumed advantage for patient compliance. However, while the evidence is convincing that dosing regimens greater than twice a day lead to decreased adherence (19), the data are equivocal on the superiority of once-a-day dosing over twice-a-day dosing (50-54). For some patients once-daily dosing may simplify their daily regimen and decrease inadvertent missed doses due to forgetfulness. However, for the patient who is intentionally decreasing or discontinuing therapy because they believe that they no longer need to use it (43) or because they are concerned about side effects (21), once-daily dosing is unlikely to improve adherence (55). Apart from adherence considerations, once-daily asthma therapy appears to be preferable for most patients. Venables et al. (56) examined patient preference in asthma therapy and found that 61% of patients expressed a preference for once-a-day treatment, 12% preferred twice-a-day treatment, and 27% expressed no preference. While preference may not necessarily lead to improved compliance, it may well reduce the burden of therapy and enhance the patient's quality of life.

V. Adherence Issues in Special Populations

A. Children

For pediatric patients assessing and improving asthma medication, adherence requires that the clinician appreciate the family context in which medication use occurs and open communication about asthma management between the health care provider and the family. This communication starts with reviewing parent and patient concerns about the potential long- and short-term side effects (real or imagined) associated with ICS. It is important to consider ICS therapy in terms of the family's priorities, rather than the clinician's. Dismissing the potential for

negative consequences of ICS or minimizing the importance of some risks, such as minor growth suppression, can discourage parents from honestly expressing concerns. Instead of arguing with their doctor, many parents will simply not initiate ICS therapy, or use it only during acute excerbations. When a clinician is authoritarian in expressing their belief that ICS therapy is the best choice for the child, parents who alter therapy because of concerns will generally not reveal these changes for fear of being judged a bad parent or because they don't want to "disappoint" the doctor.

Another important consideration in pediatric adherence with ICS therapy is identifying who in the family is responsible for delivering asthma medications to the child. Responsibility for medication administration generally shifts as a child grows from total parent management for a young child to shared medication management for the school-age child to complete self-management for the adolescent. There can be great diversity among families in how medication management is implemented. Day care providers, grandparents, and siblings may assume responsibility for regular asthma medication delivery in some households. In chaotic, troubled families, primary responsibility for medication monitoring may be confused. The age at which a child is capable of assuming responsibility for remembering to take daily medication is highly variable. In some families children may be expected to manage their own medication early, less because the child has demonstrated sufficient responsibility, and more because the parent believes the child is "old enough to do it" (57). Because of the highly variable and often shifting family responsibility for a child's medication use, it is therefore necessary for the physician to review with both the parent and the child medication use habits in order to develop an adherence profile.

Research on adherence in pediatric chronic diseases has underscored the particular vulnerability of the adolescent to medication adherence problems (58,59). Rule testing, acting out, and rejection of parental authority may be normal and inevitable behaviors during adolescence, but they can significantly interfere with responsible asthma management. Some adolescents may deny disease severity and undertreat or ignore asthma symptoms. Family conflict and a denial of disease severity in an adolescent with severe asthma should therefore suggest a patient at a higher risk for nonadherence with ICS therapy.

B. Elderly

Some barriers to adherence to ICS therapy are more common in older patients and warrant particular attention in clinical management. For example, while patients of any age are at risk for forgetting to take their medication, for some older patients memory difficulties may be exacerbated by other medications or early dementia. In addition, older patients are often receiving treatment for several other chronic health conditions. The resulting polypharmacy is a well-recognized problem for many seniors, presenting both pharmacological and adherence risks (60-62). Treatment of these multiple ailments can result in complicated and burdensome medication regimens that require dosing multiple times of day. Clinicians treating treating older patients for asthma should carefully review all prescribed medications, be attentive to potential memory difficulties, and assist the patient in integrating ICS therapy into their existing regimens.

Just as with pediatric patients, older patients may be particularly concerned about the risks of steroid-related side effects. For seniors, however, the focus may be on how ICS therapy will influence the risk of osteroporosis or cataracts. Patients may hesitate to question their health care provider or voice their concerns about ICS therapy, and instead express their fears through underuse or discontinuation of therapy. Therefore, even for patients who appear accepting of therapy, physicians should encourage discussion concerning the patient's beliefs about the risks of ICS therapy.

Another barrier to adherence faced by some older patients is the cost of prescribed medication. Patients whose only form of health insurance is Medicare may be faced with unmanageably high pharmacy bills if they are on therapy for several chronic illnesses. Research suggests that these cost barriers may encourage some patients to deliberately reduce their dosing to "stretch" their medication (63). Patients may be embarrassed to raise the issue of the cost of their prescribed medications with their physician (64). Sensitive questioning on the part of the clinician can help identify this barrier—for example, "There are several factors that we can consider in selecting the right therapy for you. For many patients the cost of the medication for you?"

C. Cultural Differences

A patient's culture and lay beliefs about illness and treatment can influence acceptance and adherence to ICS therapy. Patients raised in different countries or cultures may have health belief systems or health practices at variance with their health care provider. These divergent beliefs may influence asthma management through competing therapies, fear of the health care system, or distrust of prescribed therapies. This was demonstrated in a study by Pachter and Weller (65), which examined the relationship between the level of cultural integration of innercity Puerto Rican families attending an asthma clinic and compliance with prescribed asthma therapy (65). They found that medication adherence (as measured by serum theophylline levels) was low overall, with only 15 out of 28 patients considered compliant (7-22 mg/mL). Patients' preferred language, asthma severity and chronicity, socioeconomic status, age, and gender were unrelated to adherence. However, they found that those families with a bicultural orientation were more adherent than those families with a traditional Puerto Rican orientation. Pachter and Weller suggest that integration into American culture may be an important variable to consider in achieving adherence to asthma therapy for ethnically and culturally diverse patients.

Cultural differences between patients and physicians do not require being born in another country. The culture of poverty may create different perspectives on how best to manage asthma. While income per se does not predict compliance, the multiple covariates of poverty and inner city living may make adherence with asthma self-management more difficult. Barriers to compliance related to low income can include inconsistent primary health care, inability to pay for asthma medications, lack of transportation, family dysfunction, and substance abuse (66-69).

VI. Intervention Strategies to Improve Patient Adherence to ICS Therapy

A. Doctor-Patient Communication

Regardless of the source or form of adherence problem experienced by a patient, the single most important strategy to address patient adherence is improved communication between the clinician and patient. Studies suggest that the usual clinic visit results in over half of all patients leaving their clinician's office uncertain of their doctor's instructions and their prescribed therapy (33). And even if a patient understands the specifics of the prescribed regimen, they often are uncertain of why they are taking particular medications. Research suggests that patients will be most likly to adhere with therapy that they believe is effective and feasible to carry out (70); thus the patient who is uncertain about what they should be doing, or why exactly it is important, is unlikely to be adherent with therapy. The quality of doctor-patient communication has been shown to be a contributing factor in levels of patient adherence (71,72). Despite the central importance of this exchange, the realities of limited time, competing demands, and cultural and educational differences frequently contribute to the communication gulf between doctors and patient. Dimatteo has suggested that "for the therapeutic relationship to be successful and for the physician's advice to improve the patient's life, doctors and patients must communicate and agree on treatment goals. Patients must be given the opportunity to assess the potential risks or drawbacks in a proposed treatment and its potential effect on the quality of their lives" (70). Table 5, drawn from the work of Roter and Hall (72a), provides a general medical model of openended communication between a clinician and a patient, with the goal of enhancing patient motivation for adherence. As discussed above, cultural differences based on ethnicity, race, educational level, socioeconomic status, and regional beliefs may influence the process of doctor-patient communication. Pachter and others (33,65,72,73) have noted that patient-held beliefs and behaviors about disease management may be discrepant with those of their physician. Patient beliefs about the value, role, and risks of ICS do not necessarily match those of the treating physician. These differences may result in patients failing to initiate therapy, using ICS erratically or discontining use when symptoms remit, and these prac-

Objective	Example
Assess the patient's knowledge, beliefs, and expec-	"What do you know about your
tations about treatment so that misunderstand-	condition? What do you think
ings and misinformation may be discussed.	would help?"
Clearly describe treatment plans and goals. Use simple, direct language. Avoid technical jargon.	"Insulin helps your body store the sugar that's in your blood. This will lower your blood glucose."
Discuss any concerns or reservations the patient	"Will you be able to follow this
may have about the plan, including the ability to	plan? Can you afford the medi-
adhere—physically, emotionally, and financially.	cations?"
If the patient shows reluctance to commit to the	"What do you think would work
plan, negotiate treatment options and	better for you? Instead of taking
modifications until you are both comfortable	this pill three times a day, could
with a plan to which the patient can commit.	you take it once a day?"
Check understanding of the treatment plan and	"Let me make sure you understand
goals by asking the patient to repeat it back in	this. Tell me what you're going
his or her own words.	to do."
At every future visit, assess the patient's adherence.	"Which medications are you tak-
Instead of simply asking, "Any problems?" use	ing? What dose? How often?
an "information-intensive" approach.	Have you had any side effects?"
Probe for nonadherence in a nonjudgmental and nonthreatening manner. If this is done, patients are often quite willing to acknowledge diffi- culties.	"Many people have trouble re- membering to take their medica- tion. Do you ever forget to take yours? Do you ever intentionally stop taking the medication?"
Whenever possible, provide feedback to the patient.	"You lost 5 pounds since the last time I saw you. That's great!"

Table 5 Educating and Motivating Patients for Adherence

Source: Ref. 72a.

tices will not usually be revealed in the standard medical office visit. For some asthmatic patients and parents of asthmatic children the regular use of any medication is troubling, particularly when the asthma is not currently symptomatic. Intermittant use of ICS to treat asthma exacerbations may be considered appropriate asthma care by a patient with frequent periods of remission. Successful doctorpatient communication is dependent on a recognition and respect for patient belief systems and a willingness to both educate and work with a patient to identify a feasible, effective, and acceptable asthma therapy.

B. Promotion of Patient Adherence

Several studies have suggested that asthma self-management programs may be one effective strategy for improving patient adherence (74). Asthma education programs teach a range of information and skills related to control of symptoms through allergen control, self-monitoring, and use of an asthma action plan. In addition, education about the benefits of the consistent use of anti-inflammatory medication, even when not symptomatic, is an important learning objective for all asthma self-management programs. While all patients should be encouraged to participate in asthma self-management programs, many patients reject participation in such organized activities. For this reason, clinicians and their staff will need to integrate key asthma education concepts into regular clinic visits.

When a physician identifies a compliance problem, an attempt should be made to adapt the therapy to the patient's ability and lifestyle and preference. In many cases it is easier, and ultimately more effective, to change the asthma regimen than it is to change the patient behavior. For example, a spacer or alternative delivery system (such as the Turbuhaler) should be encouraged for any patient who fails to master the use of an MDI. ICS regimens should be customized for each patient, not only based on the disease profile, but also recognizing the patient behavior profile. While TID use of inhaled anti-inflammatory medications may be the optimal treatment on paper, for the patient who finds it difficult to adhere to this regimen a more "user-friendly" treatment plan should be considered. Poor compliance with even state-of-the-art therapy will not achieve effective asthma management. For this reason, alternative, viable treatment plans may need tailoring to the patient's preferences and practices. Reduced dosing, altered dose timing, "double-puffing," the use of long-acting forms of medication, and the use of non-ICS therapy should all be considered as appropriate and effective tailoring strategies.

C. Monitoring Patient Adherence

The final component of improving patient adherence is ongoing monitoring of adherence. Physicians who rely on their "clinical judgment" to pick out nonadherent patients make one of the most common mistakes in assessing adherence. In fact, research has consistently found that physicians are poor judges of patient compliance, with accuracy rates often not much better than chance (49). Many of the sociodemographic factors that physicians and others presume are associated with compliance, such as level of education, race, income or gender, are actually poor predictors of adherence. The most common reason that clinicians make inaccurate assessments of ICS adherence, however, is the simple failure to explicitly ask the patient about their patterns of ICS use. Clinicians often do not directly discuss ICS adherence issues with patients unless their "clinical judgment" leads them to believe the patient is grossly noncompliant. And when a health care provider does question a patient about ICS use patterns, the communication strategy used may discourage patients from candidly expressing difficulties and concerns about their therapy. Queries such as "You aren't having any problems taking your inhaler are you?" or "Are you taking your inhaler the way we discussed?" may discourage open disclosure. Use of closed-ended questions such as "Are you using your inhalers?" will tend to elicit limited yes/no responses rather than useful information about erratic adherence patterns. Research suggests that the most effective communication between doctors and patients about medication adherence requires asking questions that explore the complexity of appropriate medication adherence over time (75). Effective assessment of ICS adherence should include questions about patient beliefs about the efficacy and risks of ICS therapy, past patterns of adherence with ICS or other preventive therapies, patient criteria (as opposed to provider expectations) for adequate adherence, and discussion of any financial, physical, psychological, or social barriers to ICS adherence.

VII. Summary and Recommendations

The benefits of appropriate adherence to ICS therapy is reflected in research that has demonstrated that ICS use is associated with improved control of asthma symptoms, decreased risk of hospitalization, and decreased risk of fatal and nearfatal asthma. Unfortunately, the potential benefits of ICS therapy are adversely impacted for many asthma patients by the frequently poor levels of ICS adherence. Noncompliance with ICS therapy can result from forgetting, misunderstanding, or deliberate alterations in prescribed regimens. The best predictors of ICS adherence include patient beliefs and characteristics of the regimen. Patients often have concerns about asthma or its treatment that they may not articulate without effective doctor-patient communication. The clinician's goals for this exchange should be to discover the patient's knowledge, beliefs, and feelings about asthma and ICS therapy, to negotiate a feasible and effective regimen that is acceptable to the patient, to assess adherence with therapy, and to reinforce and encourage appropriate asthma management.

Finally, by linking adherence with ICS therapy to the patient's own goals (e.g., sleeping through the night or participating in sports), rather than abstract medical indices such as FEV_1 , the clinician can make the value of adherence more immediate and salient to the patient. With ongoing education and reinforcement, the clinician can help patients learn that through self-management they can control their asthma and lead relatively unrestricted lives.

References

- Rand CS, Wise RA. Adherence with asthma therapy in the management of asthma. In: Szefler SJ, Leung DYM, eds. Severe Asthma: Pathogenesis and Clinical Management. Lung Biology in Health and Disease. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1996: 435–464.
- 2. Rand CS, Mellins RB, Malveaux F, Wise RA. The role of the patient adherence in

fatal asthma. In: Sheffer A, ed. Fatal Asthma, Lung Biopsy & Health. New York: Marcel Dekker, 1998:429–456.

- Togias A, Horowitz E, Joyner D, Guydon L, Malveaux F. Evaluating the factors that relate to asthma severity in adolescents. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1997; 113:87–95.
- 4. Ernst P, Habbick B, Suissa S, Hemmelgarn B, Cockcroft D, Buist AS, et al. Is the association between inhaled beta-agonist use and life-threatening asthma because of confounding by severity? Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:75–79.
- 5. Blais L, Ernst P, Boivin J, Suissa S. Inhaled corticosteroids and the prevention of readmission to the hospital for asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158:126–132.
- 6. Donahue JG, Weiss ST, Livingston JM, Greineder DK, Platt R. Inhaled steroids and the risk of hospitalization for asthma. JAMA 1997; 277(11):887–891.
- Waters WHR, Gould NV, Lunn JE. Undispensed prescriptions in a mining general practice. Br Med J 1976; 1:1062–1063.
- 8. Rashid A. Do patients cash their prescriptions? Br Med J 1982; 284:23-26.
- 9. Saunders CE. Patient compliance in filling prescriptions after discharge from the emergency department. Am J Emerg Med 1987; 5(4):283–286.
- 10. Kroch C, Wallner L. Prescription filling patterns in a family practice. J Fam Prac 1987; 24:301–302.
- Beardon PM, McGilchrist MM, McKendrick AD, McDrevitt DG, McDonald TM. Primary noncompliance with prescribed medications in primary care. Br Med J 1993; 307:846-848.
- Watts RA, McLennan GBI, El-Saadi O. Do patients with asthma fill their prescriptions? A primary compliance study. Aust Fam Physician 1997; 26 (suppl 1):54–56.
- 13. Clepper I. Noncompliance, the invisible epidemic. Drug Topics 1992; 17:44-65.
- Rand CS, Wise RA. Measuring adherence to asthma medication regimens. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:S69–S76.
- Kelloway JS, Wyatt RA, Adlis SA. Comparison of patients' compliance with prescribed oral and inhaled asthma medications. Arch Intern Med 1994; 154:1349– 1352.
- Rand C. I took the medicine like you told me, Doctor. Self-Report of adherence with medical regimens. In: Stone AATJS, Bachrach CA, Jobe JB, Kurtzman HS, Cain VS, eds. The Science of Self-Report. NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 1999: 257–276.
- Jonasson G, Carlsen KH, Sodal A, Jonasson C, Mowinckel P. Patient compliance in a clinical trial with inhaled budesonide in children with mild asthma. Eur Respir J 1999; 14(1):150–154.
- Milgrom H, Bender B, Ackerson L, Bowry P, Smith B, Rand C. Noncompliance and treatment failure in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 98: 1051–1057.
- 19. Coutts JAP, Gibson NA, Paton JY. Measuring compliance with inhaled medication in asthma. Arch Dis Child 1992; 67:332–333.
- 20. Van Es SM, LeCog EM, Brouwer AI, Mesters I, Nagelkerke AF, Colland VT. Adherence-related behavior in adolescents with asthma: results from focus group interviews. J Asthma 1998; 35(8):637–646.
- 21. Chambers CV, Markson L, Diamond JJ, Lasch L, Berger M. Health beliefs and compliance with inhaled corticosteroids by asthmatic patients in primary care practices. Respir Med 1999; 93:88–94.

- 22. Toogood JH, Baskerville JC, Jennings B, Lefcoe NM, Johansson SA. Influence of dosing frequency and schedule on the response of chronic asthmatics to aerosol steroid, budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982; 70(4): 288.
- Malo JL, Cartier A, Merland N, Ghezzo H, Burek A, Morris J, et al. Four-times-a-day dosing frequency is better than twice-a-day regimen in subjects requiring a high dose inhaled steroid, budesonide, to control moderate to severe asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:624–628.
- 24. Hughes G, Edelman J, Turpin J, Liss C, Weeks K. Randomized, open-label pilot study comparing the effects of montelukast sodium tablets, fluticasone aerosol inhaler and budesonide dry powder inhaler on asthma control in mild asthmatics Am Rev Respir Dis 1999; 159(3):A641.
- Celano M, Geller RJ, Phillips KM, Ziman R. Treatment adherence among lowincome children with asthma. J Pediatr Psych 1998; 23(6):345–349.
- Rand CS, Wise RA, Nides M, Simmons MS, Bleecker ER, Kusek JW, et al. Metereddose inhaler adherence in a clinical trial. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:1559–1564.
- 27. Gibson NA, Ferguson AE, Aitchison TC, Paton JY. Compliance with inhaled asthma medication in preschool children. Thorax 1995; 50:1274–1279.
- 28. Coutts JAP, Gibson NA, Paton JY. Measuring compliance with inhaled medication in asthma. Arch Dis Child 1992; 67:332–333.
- 29. Mann M, Eliasson O, Patel K, ZuWallack RL. A comparison of the effectvs of bid and qid dosing on compliance with inhaled flunisolide. Chest 1992; 101(2):496– 499.
- Apter AJ, Reisine ST, Affleck E, Barrows E, ZuWallack RL. Adherence with twicedaily dosing of inhaled steroids: socioeconomic and health-belief differences. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:1810–1817.
- 31. Mawhinney H, Spector SL, Kinsman RA, Siegel SC, Rachelefsky GS, Katz RM, et al. Compliance in clinical trials of two nonbronchodilator, antiasthma medications. Ann Allergy 1991; 66:294–299.
- 32. Yeung M, O'Connor SA, Parry DT, Cochrane GM. Compliance with prescribed drug therapy in asthma. Resp Med 1994; 88:31–35.
- 33. Dimatteo MR. The Psychology of Health, Illness and Medical Care: An Individual Perspective. Pacific Grove, CA: 1991.
- Donnelly JE, Donnelly WJ, Thong YH. Inadequate parental understanding of asthma medications. Ann Allergy 1989; 62:337–341.
- Dekker FW, Dieleman FE, Kaptein AA, Mulder JD. Compliance with pulmonary medication in general practice. Eur Respir J 1993; 6:886–890.
- Hindi-Alexander MC, Thromm J. Compliance or noncompliance: that's the question! Am J Health Promo 1987; 5–11.
- 37. Roter D, Hall J, Katz N. Patient-physician communication: a descriptive summary of the literature. Patient Educ Counsel 1988; 12:99–119.
- Kinsman RA, Dirks JF, Dahlem NW. Noncompliance to prescribed-as-needed (PRN) medication use in asthma: usage patterns and patient characteristics. J Psychosom Res 1980; 24:97–107.
- Mawhinney H, Spector SL, Heitjan D, Kinsman RA, Dirks JF, Pines I. As-needed medication use in asthma usage patterns and patient characteristics. J Asthma 1993; 30(1):61–71.

- Apter AJ, ZuWallack RL, Clive J. Common measures of asthma severity lack association for describing its clinical course. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994; 94(4): 732–737.
- Mann MC, Eliasson O, Patel K, ZuWallack RL. An evaluation of severity-modulated compliance with q.i.d. dosing of inhaled beclomethasone. Chest 1992; 102:1342– 1346.
- 42. Adams S, Pill R, Jones A. Medication, chronic illness and identity: the perspective of people with asthma. Soc Sci Med 1997; 45(2):189–201.
- 43. Boulet LP. Perception of the role and potential side effects of inhaled corticosteroids among asthmatic patients. Chest 1998; 113:587–592.
- 44. Manzella AB, Brooks CM, Richards JrJM, Windsor RA, Soong S, Bailey WC. Assessing the use of metered dose inhalers by adults with asthma. J Asthma 1989; 26: 223–230.
- 45. Sigal JJ, Chagoya L, Villeneuve C, Mayerovitch J. Later psychosocial sequelae of early childhood illness. Am J Psychiatry 1973; 130:786–789.
- 46. Perrin EC, West PD, Culley BS. Is my child normal yet? Correlates of vulnerability. Pediatrics 1989; 83:355–363.
- 47. Wakefield M, Staugas R, Ruffin R, Campbell D, Beilby J, McCaul K. Risk factors for repeat attendance at hospital emergency departments among adults and children with asthma. Aust NZ J Med 1997; 27:277–284.
- Spurrier NJ, Sawyer MG, Staugas R, Martin AJ, Kennedy D, Streiner DL. Association between parental perception of children's vulnerability to illness and management of children's asthma. Pediatr Pulmonol 2000; 29:88–93.
- 49. Sackett DL, Haynes RB. Compliance with Therapeutic Regimens. Baltimore, Md Johns Hopkins University Press, 1976.
- 50. Pushpangadan M, Feely M. Once a day is best: evidence or assumption? The relationship between compliance and dosage frequency in older people. Drugs Aging 1998; 13(3):223-227.
- 51. Lan AJ, Colford JM, Colford JM Jr. The impact of dosing frequency on the efficacy of 10-day penicillin or amoxicillin therapy for streptococcal tonsillopharyngitis: a meta-analysis. Pediatr 2000; 105(2):E19.
- 52. Mounier-Vehier C, Bernaud C, Carre A, Lequeuche B, Hotton JM, Charpentier JC. Compliance and antihypertensive efficacy of amlodipine compared with nifedipine slow-release. Am J Hypertension 1998; 11(4 Pt 1):478–486.
- 53. Mason BL, Matsuyama JR, Jue SG. Microprocessor-assessed adherence with once- or twice-a-day dosing with Sulfonylurea—no difference. West J Med 1996; 164(2):182.
- Weiner P, Weiner M, Azgad Y. Long term clinical comparison of single versus twice daily administration of inhaled budesonide in moderate asthma. Thorax 1995; 50(12):1270–1273.
- 55. Hyland ME. Rationale for once-daily therapy in asthma. Drugs 1999; 58(suppl 4): 1–6.
- 56. Venables TL, Addlestone MB, Smithers AJ, et al. A comparison of the efficacy and patient acceptability of once daily budesonide via Turbuhaler and twice daily fluticasone propionate via a Disc-inhaler at an equal dose of 400mcg in adult asthmatics. Br J Clin Res 1996; 7:15–32.

- 57. Winkelstein M, Huss K, Butz A, Eggleston P, Rand C, A+ Partnership. Medication self administration behaviors in children with asthma.(abstr) J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 101[(1) Part 2]:S3.
- 58. Jay S, Litt IF, Durant RH. Compliance with therapeutic regimens. J Adolescent Health Care 1984; 5:124–136.
- Varni JW, Wallander JL. Adherence to health-related regimens in pediatric chronic disorders. Clin Psychol Rev 1984; 4:585–596.
- Cohen I, Rogers P, Burke V, Beilin LJ. Predictors of medication use, compliance and symptoms of hypotension in a community-based sample of elderly men and women. J Clin Pharmacol 1998; 23(6):423–432.
- 61. Stewart RB, Cooper JW. Polypharmacy in the aged. Practical solutions. Drugs Aging 1994; 4(6):449–461.
- 62. Fincke BG, Miller DR, Spiro A. The interaction of patient perception of overmedication with drug compliance and side effects. J Gen Intern Med 1998; 13(3):182–185.
- Balkrishnan R. Predictors of medication adherence in the elderly. Clin Ther 1998; 20(4):764–771.
- 64. Jones I, Britten N. Why do some patients not cash their prescriptions? Br J Gen Pract 1998; 48(426):903–905.
- 65. Pachter LM, Weller SC. Acculturation and compliance with medical therapy. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1993; 14:163–168.
- 66. Lanier B. Who is dying of asthma and why? J Pediatr 1989; 115:838-840.
- 67. Levenson T, Greenberger PA, Donoghue ER, Lifschultz BD. Asthma deaths confounded by substance abuse. Chest 1996; 110(3):604–610.
- Wamboldt MZ, Wamboldt FS. Psychosocial aspects of severe asthma in children. In: Szefler SJ, Leung DYM, eds. Severe Asthma: Pathogenesis and Clinical Management. Lung Biology in Health and Disease. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1996:465–496.
- 69. Weitzman M, Gortmaker S, Sobol A. Racial, social and environmental risks for childhood asthma. Am J Dis Child 1990; 144:1189–1194.
- 70. Dimatteo MR. Enhancing patient adherence to medical recommendations. JAMA 1994; 271:79-83.
- 71. Dimatteo MR, Sherbourne CD, Hays RD, Ordway L, Kravitz RL, McGlynn EA et al. Physicians' characteristics influence patients' adherence to medical treatment: results from the medical outcomes study. Health Psychol 1993; 12(2):93–102.
- 72. Heszen-Klemens I, Lapinska E. Doctor-patient interaction, patients' health behavior and effects of treatment. Soc Sci Med 1984; 19(1):9–18.
- 72a. Roter DL, Hall JA. Strategies for enhancing patient adherence to medical recommendations. J Am med Assoc 1994; 271(1):80.
- Pachter LM. Culture and clinical care. Folk illness beliefs and behaviors and their implications for health care delivery. JAMA 1994; 271:690-694.
- Windsor RA, Bailey WC, Richards JrJM, Manzella B, Soong S, Brooks M. Evaluation of the efficacy and cost effectiveness of health education methods in increase medication adherence among adults with asthma. Am J Publ Health 1990; 80: 1519–1521.
- 75. Steele DJ, Jackson TC, Gutmann MC. Have you been taking your pill? The adherence-monitoring sequence in the medical interview. J Fam Pract 1990; 30:294–299.

Discussion

- **Dr. Rohdewald:** Are you able to compare compliance in case of ICS with compliance to other prescriptional drugs taken on a regular basis?
- **Dr. Rand:** Research suggests that average patient adherence with ICS therapy is 50% of prescribed dose or less. This is very comparable to rates of adherence seen for other forms of chronic disease therapy, such as hypertension and diabetes. Patient adherence tends to be worst for prophylactic regimens.
- **Dr. Boulet:** You mentioned that education is important to increase compliance to therapy and rightfully what type of educational intervention is critical. We found that the beliefs of the educators and their ability to motivate patients to use their medication correctly is a major determinant of compliance. We should also promote "intelligent" compliance so that they can learn how to reduce or increase their corticosteroid dose according to their action plan and asthma control criteria. Finally, in our study (Chest 1998; 113:587), a large number of patient's concerns about asthma drugs had not been addressed, and when they were told about those, the majority were reassured and mentioned that they would be more inclined to follow physician instructions.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** Do once-daily drug regimens improve adherence, and are combinations inhalers likely to improve adherence?
- **Dr. Rand:** While research clearly suggests an adherence advantage for therapies no more frequent than twice-daily dosing, the data is equivocal on the superiority of once-a-day dosing over twice-a-day dosing. Several studies have reported comparable rates of adherence for twice-daily therapy compared to once-daily therapy (1–4). Apart from adherence considerations, once-daily asthma therapy appears to be preferable for most patients. Venables et al. (5) examined patient preference in asthma therapy and found that 61% of patients expressed preference for once-a-day treatment, 12% preferred twice-a-day treatment, and 27% expressed no preference. While preference may not necessarily lead to improved compliance, it may well reduce the burden of therapy and enhance patients' quality of life.
- **Dr. Talton:** Is there a difference in compliance/adherence when a patient knows he or she is being monitored?
- **Dr. Rand:** Our research suggests that when patients in clinical trials know that they are being monitored with electronic inhaler devices, deliberate inhaler emptying prior to follow-visits (i.e., "dumping") is eliminated. In addition, when known monitoring is combined with feedback, there appears to be a beneficial effect on adherence rates (6). Known monitoring does not appear to be sufficient, however, to significantly improve overall rates of adherence.

- **Prof. Dolovich:** What is the role of nontraditional herbal medicines in patient nonadherence to inhaled medication?
- **Dr. Rand:** No research had been reported on the effect of use of alternative therapies (e.g., herbal remedies) on adherence to asthma therapy. Our studies suggest, however, that parents of children with asthma commonly use "home remedies," such as teas, coffees, and over-the-counter drugs (e.g., decongestants, cough medicines), along with prescribed asthma medications (7).
- **Prof. Dolovich:** Patients can trigger some electronic monitors without actually inhaling the medication. Are there any monitors that are foolproof?
- **Dr. Rand:** There are no foolproof inhaler monitors. The current MDILog device made by Medtrac Inc. records not only the discharge of the inhaler, but also shaking of the inhaler and the actual inhalation. While it is probably possible to fool any electronic device, in our experience patients who are nonadherent are unwilling to go to the daily effort to deceive monitoring devices. Such efforts take at least as much time as adhering to therapy.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** In one slide, it was stated that 18% of patients who chose not to use ICS did so because of the side effects. Was this due to actual side effects experienced or fear of side effects? ICS are clearly very safe medications and the possibility of offering low-dose preparations over the counter should be considered. From a compliance perspective, what would be the anticipated influence of this type of change?
- **Dr. Rand:** Patient beliefs about the potential side effects of medications are as powerful in effecting adherence as actual side effects. As the data from the Boulet et al. (8) study indicated, patient misperceptions about the role of side effects associated with ICS therapy are widespread and strongly argue for improved patient education for all patients prescribed ICS therapy.
- **Dr. Denburg:** Are there country-by-country differences in adherence? If compliance is a problem even in clinical trials, how does this impact on guidelines for asthma management and on our estimates of safety of IS?
- **Dr. Rand:** I'm not aware of any published studies that have compared adherence rates across different countries. In general, the adherence literature suggests that poor adherence with ICS therapy is a common problem internationally; however, it is possible that there are country-by-country differences. Patient beliefs about the seriousness of asthma, the risks of ICS therapy, and the role of alternative forms of therapy (e.g., herbal healers) may play a role in cross-cultural differences in adherence.

- Pushpangadan M, Feely M. Once a day is best: evidence or assumption? The relationship between compliance and dosage frequency in older people. Drugs Aging 1998; 13(3):223-227.
- 2. Lan AJ, Colford JM, Colford JM Jr. The impact of dosing frequency on the efficacy of 10-day penicillin or amoxicillin therapy for streptococcal tonsillopharygnitis: a metaanalysis. Pediatrics 2000; 105(2):E19.
- 3. Mason BJ, Matsuyama JR, Jue SG. Assessment of sulfonylurea adherence and metabolic control. Diabetes Educ 1995; 21:52–57.
- Weiner P, Weiner M, Azgad Y. Long term clinical comparison of single versus twice daily administration of inhaled budesonide in moderate asthma. Thorax 1995; 50(12): 1270–1273.
- Venables TL, Addlestone MB, Smithers AJ. A comparison of the efficacy and patient acceptability of once daily budesonide via Turbuhaler and twice daily fluticasone propionate via a disc-inhaler at an equal dose of 400mcg in adult asthmatics. Br J Clin Res 1996; 7:15–32.
- Nides MA, Tashkin DP, Simmons MS, Wise RA, Li VC, Rand CS. Improving inhaler adherence in a clinical trial through the use of the nebulizer chronolog [see comments]. Chest 1993; 104:501–507.
- Butz AM, Malveaux FJ, Eggleston P, Thompson L, Schneider S, Weeks K, Huss K, Murigande C, Rand CS. Use of community health workers with inner-city children who have asthma. Clin Pediatr 1994; 33:135–141.
- 8. Boulet LP. Perception of the role and potential side effects of inhaled corticosteroids among asthmatic patients. Chest 1998; 113:587–592.
Part Seven

FUTURE CHALLENGES

DRUG DEVELOPMENT

21

Prospects for Developing Inhaled Steroids with Extrahepatic Metabolism

"Soft Steroids"

ARNE THALÉN, PAUL H. ANDERSSON, PER T. ANDERSSON, BENGT AXELSSON, STAFFAN EDSBÄCKER, and RALPH BRATTSAND

AstraZeneca Research and Development Lund, Sweden

I. Introduction

As described in other chapters in this volume (see Chaps. 9 and 10), the critical inactivation of the currently used inhaled steroids (IS) occurs mainly in the liver and involves oxidative metabolism by cytochrome P450 3A enzymes. However, even when first-pass hepatic inactivation is very efficient [approaching 99% for fluticasone propionate (FP) (see Chap. 10) and mometasone furoate (MF) 1)], the large airways/lung absorbed fraction has a wide body distribution (2), before undergoing its final hepatic inactivation (see flow scheme in Fig. 1). The more lipophilic an IS is, the larger is its volume of distribution (V_D) and the longer its plasma half-life (see Chap. 10) (2,3). Lipophilicity also enhances the receptor affinity (2), and together these properties contribute to systemic activity of potent IS, which, depending on dose and individual sensitivity, in rare cases may reach adverse levels (see Chaps. 3, 15, and 19). Awareness of the systemic bioavailability of IS maintains steroidophobia among many doctors and patients, limiting the use of this key therapy (see Chap. 20) (4). Development of novel IS, with a profile that further limits their systemic potential, would therefore encourage a broader and earlier use of IS in mild asthma and rhinitis.



Figure 1 Overview of the systemic disposition of inhaled steroids. (Adapted from Ref. 2.)

A more acceptable profile might be achieved if steroid inactivation is initiated already during the systemic uptake and disposition (see Fig 1). This requires that mechanisms in addition to CYP450-mediated hepatic inactivation would have to be exploited, for example, hydrolytic inactivation reactions. However, because such reactions are widespread, this introduces a risk of steroid inactivation also within airways/lung, leading to reduced therapeutic efficacy. While introducing higher steroid concentration at the administration site could to some extent compensate for that risk, an even better approach would be to exploit metabolic differences between the airways/lung target and the rest of the body. Application of such approaches to improve the topical selectivity of drugs has been termed "extrahepatic" or "soft drug" (soft steroid) design (5,6). Current IS are not true soft drugs, as they have to reach the liver for inactivation. At the application site a soft steroid is active by itself and is then predictably inactivated in vivo during its systemic distribution, preferably in a single metabolic step (see Chap. 22).

A key issue for the profile of soft steroids is whether they should be completely free of systemic steroidal activity or not. The systemic spillover of current liver-inactivated IS results in plasma concentrations of 0.1-2 nmol/L lasting for some hours (7–9). These levels are similar to the in vitro K_D (50% receptor saturation) values for these compounds (2,10). This suggests that even such low levels of circulating steroid may exert some anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive activity in the bone marrow, blood compartments, and elsewhere. As studied in vitro, modulation of growth factor, cytokine, and chemokine production/action is possible at these low steroid concentrations (see Chap. 11). However, it has been difficult to document a therapeutic contribution by such low plasma levels of IS in vivo. Toogood et al. (11) and Lawrence et al. (12) compared the antiasthmatic efficacy of an IS regimen with that of a high oral dosing, so that both regimens gave similar area under the curve (AUC) of plasma steroid level. The clinical outcome was just a marginal efficacy by the oral route, suggesting a low therapeutic contribution by such low plasma steroid concentrations. One weakness of the study design is that inhalation and oral dosing result in different shapes of plasma level curve, even though the overall AUC is the same. Peak plasma levels are attained rapidly after inhalation, compared to low but sustained levels after oral intake. If induction of positive systemic actions requires a steroid peak in plasma (surpassing some threshold), then the relevance of the above comparitive design is unclear. A final answer as to whether soft steroids should have a systemic bioavailability or not will probably come first from clinical studies with such appropriate drugs, and the answer may well vary depending on disease severity. For example, in mild asthma a compound with a strictly topical selectivity may be effective enough, while some systemic activity may be indispensable in more severe forms to affect the systemic components of the disease.

One of the most successful approaches for the development of soft drugs (5,6) has been to start their synthesis from inactive metabolites (Fig. 2). For example, one route of cortisol metabolism is the stepwise oxidation of the 17 β -hydroxyacetone side chain, forming the inactive 17 β -ketocarboxylic and 17 β -carboxylic acids (13). However, when such acids are properly esterified, they are transformed to active glucocorticoids. If such esters are administered to an inflamed tissue, these compounds can trigger local glucocorticoid receptors and



Figure 2 The principle to design soft steroids from inactive metabolites. R is the substituent (normally acyl) that adds glucocorticoid activity to the soft steroid. Esterases will in vivo hydrolyze the active steroid to its inactive metabolite.

then subsequently undergo hydrolysis via blood and tissue esterases back to their corresponding inactive acids. Starting from a 17β-ketocarboxylic acid metabolite of the systemically active steroid fluocortolone, Laurent et al. designed the topical steroid fluocortin butyl ester (FCB), primarily intended for topical skin use (14). FCB is a rather weak steroid with a several fold lower glucocorticoid receptor affinity and topical anti-inflammatory potency compared to dexamethasone (15). In vitro, FCB is metabolized by human blood to its corresponding, inactive 17β -ketocarboxylic acid (16). This occurs also in vivo but at a slow rate, as reflected by a plasma $t_{1/2}$ of 2.5 hours after iv injection of FCB to man (16), which is not shorter than for the liver-inactivated budesonide (see Chap. 10). When given by inhalation as a dry powder formulation, FCB ameliorated allergic rhinitis (17) at daily doses of 2-8 mg (divided into two to four daily applications). Hitherto, however, there are no reports as to the efficacy of FCB when administered once daily, in contrast to proven once-daily efficacy of the currently used IS. Furthermore, in bronchial provocation tests, FCB at a dose of 8 mg daily (divided into four daily inhalations) did not protect against bronchial obstruction, as well as a 10-fold lower dose of BDP did (18).

Butixocort propionate (BXP) is a steroid that can undergo some extrahepatic metabolism (19). When the 21-thiol ester BXP is hydrolyzed, it becomes a substrate for the enzyme S-methyl transferase (located in blood and tissues), which can convert the steroid 21-thiol to a S-methyl ether. This partial deactivation of BXP, combined with its only moderate glucocorticoid potency (20), may account for its reported lack of systemic activity after inhalation (21). The antiasthmatic efficacy of BXP, as well as of FCB, proved to be too low for commercial introduction, but it was unclear whether that depended mainly on their low receptor affinity or on their local inactivation. Subsequent soft steroid development has aimed at achieving the following: (1) to enhance the receptor affinity to a level equivalent to the currently used IS, and test whether that can better compensate for the risk of a rapid local inactivation (here examplified with an Astra project); (2) to combine an enhanced receptor affinity with a more moderate rate of hydrolytic inactivation (here examplified with loteprednol etabonate (see Chap. 22); and (3) to achieve a higher metabolic stability specifically within the airways/ lung, compared to blood and peripheral tissues (here examplified with a recent GlaxoWellcome project). These projects have focused on search for structures that optimize interactions with both the glucocorticoid receptor and the active site of inactivating esterases. The glucocorticoid receptor is normally very strict in its acceptance of proper ligands, but the soft steroid projects have shown that the receptor may accept steroids with bulky substituents in the 17β-position. Esterases are still rather poorly characterized, regarding both their overlapping substrate specificities and their tissue and blood distribution (22,23), making it of little use to perform structure-activity studies on individual esterases. For these reasons the soft steroid projects have been based on empirical, rather than on rational drug design.



Figure 3 The 17β -thiocarboxylic acid ester fluticasone propionate and the 17β -carboxylic acid ester loteprednol etabonate.

The main chemical approaches for new soft steroids have been based on synthesis of 17 β -carboxylic and 17 β -thiocarboxylic acid esters or these acids with other esterase-sensitive substituents. The R substituent in these structures (Fig. 2) was varied to enhance both the glucocorticoid receptor affinity and the rate of hydrolytic biotransformation. However, not all 17 β -carboxylic or 17 β -thiocarboxylic acid esters are hydrolyzed by plasma or tissue esterases. Fluticasone propionate (FP), for example, is a 17 β -thiocarboxylic acid ester (Fig. 3) that is fully stable in blood and tissue, but undergoes a rapid hepatic oxidative metabolism by CYP450 3A, generating the inactive 17 β -thiocarboxylic acid (9,24a). One of the pioneers of the soft drug concept, Nicholas Bodor, designed loteprednol etabonate (LE) for local use, and this drug has been approved as a safer steroid for topical ophthalmic therapy. LE has a high receptor affinity (25) and a rapid inactivation rate in rat plasma but less so in dog plasma (26,27). Its pharmacological and clinical documentation is described in Chapter 23.

II. Astra Soft Steroid Project

In 1981 Astra started a soft drug project based upon easily hydrolyzed steroid 17 β -carboxylic acid esters. This type of structure was selected because both the hydrolysis rate to the inactive 17 β -carboxylic acid metabolite and the level of glucocorticoid receptor affinity were highly influenced by different substituents at the chiral center (asterisk-marked carbon atom in the structural formula of Table 1), as well as by changes to the terminal alkyl of the ester group. Fluoro substituents introduced into 6 α - and 9 α -positions of 16 α , 17 α -acetals (U.S. patent 4,950,659)



Table 1 Structural Basis of Astra's Soft Drug Project Based on 17β-Carbonate Esters— Importance of Methyl Substitution and the Stereochemistry at the Ester Chiral Center

and 17 α -esters (U.S. patent 4,804,656) increased their glucocorticoid receptor affinity.

The structure-activity relationship of a series of carbonate esters (Table 1) showed that their receptor affinities (studied in vitro in subcellular homogenates) varied significantly according to the substituents and the stereochemistry at the 17β-ester group chiral center. With the selected compound, itrocinonide (D5159), a receptor affinity was achieved similar to budesonide, thereby fulfilling one of the project aims. Thus, even if itrocinonide was broken down within the target tissue, it might initially mediate a strong receptor trigger, since the formation and translocation of the steroid receptor complex occur within a few minutes of agonist addition. It was thought that the steroid located deep within the conformationally changed receptor might possibly be metabolically more stable over the triggered receptor cycle than is the case for nonliganded steroid. Support for a "hit-and-runlike activity" hypothesis for glucocorticoids (i.e., maintenance of steroid activity without the continuous presence of steroid in medium) was at that time provided by Alan Munck's group using steroid-pulsed thymocytes (28). They showed that although hydrocortisone could be washed away from the thymocyte incubation medium within minutes, its ability to modulate mRNA and protein synthesis with

Receptor affinity (RBA, determined in rat thymus cytosol) is given in relation to budesonide = 1. Itrocinonide (D5159) was selected as the candidate drug.

subsequent functional activities persisted for some hours (28). One aim of the Astra soft steroid project was to see whether a hit-and-run–like trigger would be applicable also for inducing anti-inflammatory activity, and, if so, could be exploited for soft steroid design.

While methyl substitution at the chiral center of the 17β -carbonate ester group raised the glucocorticoid receptor affinity (Table 1), it only marginally affected the rate of the hydrolytic breakdown. On the other hand, variation of the terminal alkyl of the ester group significantly influenced the rate of formation of the inactive 17β -carboxylic acid metabolite. The two diastereomers created by introduction of mono methyl substitution at the ester chiral carbon differed four-fold in receptor affinity (Table 1), while both had similar high hydrolytic rate. Itrocinonide was selected as a tool and candidate drug from a series of derivatives (U.S. patent 4,950,659), as it combined a high receptor affinity with a rapid rate of hydrolysis. The pathway resulting in the selection and evaluation of itrocinonide was as follows: measurement of receptor affinity in rat thymocyte cytosol, hydrolysis rate in rat and human lung tissue and plasma in vitro, pharmacological profiling in animal airways/lung inflammation models, systemic effects in volunteers, and finally antiasthmatic efficacy of a dry powder formulation in patients.

Itrocinonide had a similar low water solubility when compared with beclomethasone dipropionate and FP ($\sim 0.1 \,\mu g/mL$). Preclinical experiments showed that the bioavailability of intratracheally instilled itrocinonide was markedly improved by including additives like Tween or lactose to the formulations. These were subsequently used in pharmacological experiments with this mode of administration.

Itrocinonide was hydrolyzed in all animal and human tissues tested. When incubated with human blood at 37°C, its half-life was 30 minutes, and in human lung homogenates its breakdown was even faster. The breakdown was enzymatic, as in vitro addition of the nonspecific esterase inhibitor PMSF largely blocked formation of the corresponding 17β-carboxylic acid metabolite (referred to in Figs. 4 and 6 as I). The rapid hydrolysis of itrocinonide significantly affected its in vivo pharmacokinetics (Fig. 4). When itrocinonide was intratracheally instilled into rats at a dose of 0.6 mg/kg, even plasma samples obtained at early time points contained principally the hydrolytic metabolite I), suggesting a very effective first-pass inactivation before or during systemic uptake/distribution.

A. Topical Efficacy/Selectivity in Animal Models

Supporting the hit-and-run hypothesis of the project, the rapid inactivation of itrocinonide was still compatible with topical anti-inflammatory efficacy in animal airways/lung models. Acute intratracheal instillation of itrocinonide inhibited both the immediate and late allergic reactions in guinea pigs and the Sephadex-



Figure 4 Plasma concentration (nmol/L) of itrocinonide and its corresponding acid metabolite D5150 (I) after intratracheal instillation in rats.

induced pulmonary edema in the rat. The doses required for inhibition varied with the steroid sensitivity of the species, with guinea pigs needing higher steroid doses (1.6-5 mg/kg) than rats (0.3 mg/kg). Within these species itrocinonide was just a couple of times less potent than budesonide. However, more importantly, the ratio between its anti-inflammatory efficacy in airways/lung and its systemic steroid activity (i.e., in the rat thymus involution and in guinea pigs plasma cortisol depression) was much better than the corresponding ratio for budesonide. In sheep, acute inhalation of an aerosol formulation of itrocinonide (2 mg/animal) was shown to inhibit the development of the late allergic reaction (W. Abraham et al., unpublished).

The topical selectivity of itrocinonide was studied more closely in the Sephadex model. In this model, alveolitis and bronchiolitis is induced by intratracheal instillation of Sephadex beads (consisting of cross-linked dextran to which rats have an innate hypersensitivity). The Sephadex model is characterized by a rich, interstitial and intraluminal infiltration of various inflammatory cells, including a high proportion of eosinophils, and the formation of an interstitial edema raising lung weight and impairing respiration (29). The inflammation is glucocorticoidsensitive, but liver-inactivated IS (e.g., budesonide and fluticasone propionate) lack topical selectivity in this model as their antiedematous efficacy is paralleled by reduced thymus, spleen, and body weights (30). In this model, itrocinonide achieved good topical efficacy with minimal systemic actions when administered as a single steroid instillation in the acute (one-day) test. In the subacute test (where Sephadex was instilled and steroid was inhaled the first day, followed by



Figure 5 Effect of repeated inhalations of itrocinonide and budesonide on lung weight gain (interstitial pulmonary edema) and thymus weight in Sephadex-treated rats. The steroids were inhaled for 10 min, once daily over 4 days. Over the inhalation period the rats were anesthetized and intubated with a tracheal tube. Micronized steroid powder was delivered via a Wright Dust Feeder. The doses relate to estimations of the airways/lung-deposited fraction. N > 8 rats/group. Significance values are calculated against nondrug-treated Sephadex controls (**p < 0.01; *** $p \le 001$).

once-daily steroid inhalation for 3 further days) itrocinonide was also effective, achieving a 60% reduction of edema (Fig. 5) with minimal systemic activity (reduction of thymus weight). In contrast, inhalation of budesonide at an equipotent antiedema dose was accompanied by a 40% reduction (p < 0.001) of thymus weight (Fig. 5).

These in vivo results showed that: (1) topical application of a soft steroid gives a much better pulmonary selectivity than for liver-inactivated glucocorticoids, (2) selectivity can be achieved even when hydrolysis starts within the target organ, thereby supporting a hit-and-run hypothesis for glucocorticoid anti-inflammatory activity, and (3) when compared to budesonide, itrocinonide had a much lower potency by inhalation than by intratracheal instillation. The lower potency of inhaled itrocinonide may be due to impaired absorption (the inhalation formulation did not contain solubilizing additives) and/or to the wider lung distribution by inhalation, resulting in a generally shortened local dwell time of intact itrocinonide.

B. Results in Human Testing

Itrocinonide was delivered to humans as a dry powder formulation by Turbuhaler. Its impressive systemic tolerance was confirmed in volunteers and asthmatics. Its iv kinetics revealed a plasma clearance of 4.4 L/min (threefold greater than budesonide) and a plasma $t_{1/2}$ of approximately 30 minutes (1/5 that of budesonide and FCB), thereby confirming a rapid, extrahepatic metabolism. Only very low levels of intact itrocinonide were detected in the plasma after inhalation of a 7.5 mg dose (Fig. 6), while higher levels of the hydrolytic metabolite (I) were present even at early time points. Furthermore, the same rapid inactivation of itrocinonide occurred in asthmatics as in healthy volunteers and remained constant after dosing by inhalation for one week. The profile of itrocinonide contrasts to that of inhaled, liver-inactivated steroids where early plasma samples contain mainly levels of intact steroid, due to their better systemic bioavailability from airways/lung (3,7–9). In accordance with its low plasma level, itrocinonide lacked measurable systemic glucocorticoid activity. In a crossover study (Fig. 7) 12 volunteers, who had received inhaled itrocinonide (20, 40, or 80 mg) at 10:00 p.m. the night before showed a normal morning plasma cortisol rise and overnight urinary cortisol, compared with the reduced readouts after taking budesonide (3.2 mg). A better systemic tolerance was also observed for itrocinonide (8 mg) following b.i.d. inhalation over 6 days, compared with budesonide (0.8 mg).

The therapeutic efficacy of dry powder (Turbuhaler) formulations of itrocinonide was tested in four trials in patients with asthma and in one trial in birch pollen–induced seasonal rhinitis. In a study of steroid-naive asthmatics, three



Figure 6 Plasma concentrations of itrocinonide and its inactive acid D5150 (I) after inhalation of a 7.5 mg Turbuhaler formulation. Mean \pm SEM of three volunteers.



Figure 7 Plasma cortisol concentrations after acute inhalation of 40 mg itrocinonide or 3.2 mg budesonide, both in Turbuhaler formulation, at 10 p.m. Mean of 12 volunteers.

parallel groups (>40 patients/group) were treated over a one-month period with either placebo or itrocinonide 0.5 or 2 mg b.i.d. Compared to run in, morning peak flow rates deteriorated 14 L/min in the placebo group and 5 L/min in patients taking low-dose itrocinonide (0.5 mg b.i.d.), while the peak flow rate improved by 7 L/min over the run in (p < 0.007, compared to the change in the placebo group) in patients taking the higher dose (2 mg b.i.d.) of itrocinonide. In a study with steroid-dependent asthmatics (requiring 0.2-1 mg conventional IS), itrocinonide (4 mg b.i.d.) was compared to placebo as substitution for the earlier steroid treatment. Following 2 weeks of treatment, itrocinonide was more effective than placebo in preventing the decline in FEV_1 (p < 0.06 between the groups). Inhalation of itrocinonide (4 mg b.i.d.) for one week afforded a slight, but nonsignificant, protective effect on exercise-provoked asthma, while protection by budesonide (0.4 mg b.i.d.) was statistically significant. In the allergen challenge test, a single inhalation of itrocinonide (8 mg, 10 min before provocation) very weakly reduced the late obstruction (31). In a rhinitis study, a total of 25 patients/group received either placebo or itrocinonide (4 mg b.i.d.) for one month during the birch pollen season. Itrocinonide improved the overall symptom score (p < 0.01), reduced H_1 -antagonist consumption (p < 0.03) and improved the other subscores, with the exception of the "blocked nose" symptom.

Thus, itrocinonide did exert some antiasthmatic and antirhinitic efficacy, which must be strictly topical since the substance lacked measurable systemic activity. Even though itrocinonide had a much higher receptor affinity than its forerunner, FCB, and an affinity equivalent to budesonide, this advantage was not sufficient to compete with the efficacy of current IS. One pharmacological limitation of these clinical studies was that the steroid was inhaled as a dry powder formulation, which due to device restrictions lacked solubilizing additives. Because such additives improved the airways/lung bioavailability of itrocinonide in preclinical models, the bioavailability of the human dry powder formulation may have been compromised. We do not know whether a more prolonged local pool of itrocinonide in tissue would have been attained, resulting in a better efficacy, if the bioavailability of the dry powder formulation could have been optimized.

By raising the dose to 7.5 mg (Fig. 6) it was possible to reach a similar initial plasma peak (approximately 2 nmol/L) for intact itrocinonide that was attained for intact budesonide after a 0.5 mg dose (7). Because even this dose had poor clinical efficacy, this suggests that for the formulation used, the local inactivation of itrocinonide in airways/lung tissue was too rapid for clinical efficacy. This is supported by in vitro studies showing a short half-life for itrocinonide in human lung homogenate.

III. GlaxoWellcome Soft Steroid Project

In a series of patent applications (WO 97/24365, WO 97/24367, and WO 97/24368) and in one short communication (32) GlaxoWellcome (GW) described a soft drug project based on compounds that are very rapidly inactivated by human plasma, but not by the S9 fraction of human lung tissue. Their chemical entities consist of γ -butyrolactone derivatives of pregnanes and androstanes. The γ -butyrolactone ring can be opened by specific plasma esterases, yielding a hydrophilic metabolite with low glucocorticoid receptor affinity. Figure 8 shows the structure of one pre-



Figure 8 Structure and hypothetical metabolism of one preferred γ -butyrolactone derivative, exemplified in WO 97/24365.

ferred compound (from WO 97/24365) and its hypothetical metabolism. The metabolising enzyme (32) is claimed to be paraoxonase EC 3.1.8.1 (WO 99/01467), an esterase having a much lower activity in lung tissue than in plasma (33,34). The better stability of γ -butyrolactone derivatives in lung tissue depends on the low paraoxonase activity there and their resistance to conventional (PCMB-, PMCFeserine-sensitive) esterases (32).

The compounds selected by GW have high glucocorticoid receptor affinity, reaching that of current IS, and a good topical efficacy in animal models (WO 97/24365, WO 97/24367, WO 97/24368). The $t_{1/2}$ in human plasma in vitro at 37°C is just one or a few minutes (32). For the compound examplified in Figure 8, the claimed higher metabolic stability in lung tissue was confirmed as its $t_{1/2}$ was at least 10-fold higher in rat and human lung tissue than in corresponding plasma (data on file, AstraZeneca). When the in vivo profile of this compound was compared to itrocinonide in the acute Sephadex test following intratracheal steroid administration, the γ -butyrolactone derivative had a somewhat higher topical antiedema potency, but otherwise the two soft drugs reached the same high topical selectivity (data on file, AstraZeneca).

IV. Current Status of Soft Steroids

The clinical efficacy of the soft steroid approach based on a rapid and nondifferentiated hydrolytic breakdown has hitherto been disappointing. The clinical results with itrocinonide do not support the hypothesis that effective topical antiinflammatory efficacy can be achieved through a short pulse of a potent, but biolabile steroid. It is likely that for these compounds insufficient levels of intact steroid will be maintained at their site of action to trigger corticosteroid receptors after their initial turnover. This kinetic profile contrasts with current IS, which have a good metabolic stability during their local tissue binding (8,35–37). In addition, for budesonide special circumstances prevail, since its reversible esterification adds an extra tissue pool (38) contributing to its once-daily efficacy (39).

Itrocinonide was found to possess a weak antiasthmatic and antirhinitic efficacy, which might correspond to a budesonide dose in a range of $50-100 \mu g$. Because no systemic adverse actions are known for budesonide at such low doses (see Chaps. 3, 15, and 19), it is not possible to conclude whether conventional IS at these low levels or the use of soft steroids will achieve the best therapeutic ratio. However, soft steroids might still compete therapeutically with weak antiasthmatic drugs like leukotriene antagonists and cromones. Alternatively, by choosing steroid esters with a slower hydrolytic rate, it may be possible to reach some selectivity preference over current IS. The extended clinical evaluation of loteprednol etabonate will tell whether that drug at respirable doses can attain soft drug characteristics also for respiratory disorders, where the kinetical conditions differ from those in the eye. In the GlaxoWellcome soft steroid project a differential metabolic approach is used in that these drugs can have a longer survival time in airways/lung tissue (outside blood vessels) than in plasma. However, more information is required about the paraoxonase content of the interstitial fluid, and whether that may affect drug stability around target cells. The clinical and kinetic outcomes of that project may help answer key issues about the future prospects of this novel approach. Open questions are, what level of efficacy can best be reached and is there a requirement for some systemic activity in order to attain the full steroidal efficacy, as proposed in this volume (see Chap. 11). If the latter appears true, the future of soft steroids will be restricted to milder forms of asthma.

Addendum in Proof

A poster was presented at ATS 2000 on preclinical properties of the γ -butyrolactone soft steroid GW 215864X, reporting a lower topical potency in the rat lung, than would be awaited from its high receptor affinity and potency in cellular assays (40). According to Adis R&D Insight 2000, Accession numbers 10129 and 10130, the development of GW 250495 and GW 215864 (covered within above GW patent applications) has been discontinued for the asthma indication. This suggests that even with this interesting approach it is difficult to maintain sufficient hydrolytic stability in the inflamed airway wall, where there may be a higher rate of plasma exudation.

Acknowledgments

Our thanks to Dr. Magnus Dahlbäck for inhalation study in rats, to Per Strandberg for preclinical kinetic analyses, and to Drs. Göran Eriksson, Stefan V. Ohlson, and Margareta Grind and external clinicians for coordination and accomplishment of clinical trials with itrocinonide.

References

- Thonoor CM, Padhi D, Herron J, Rosenburg M, Brannan M, Affrime M. Bioavailability and metabolism of mometasone furoate following administration by dry powder inhaler and metered dose inhaler in healthy volunteers. Eur Respir J 1999; 14(suppl 30):196s.
- 2. Brattsand R. What factors determine anti-inflammatory activity and selectivity of inhaled steroids. Eur Respir Rev 1997; 7:356-361.
- Thorsson L, Dahlström K, Edsbäcker S, Källen A, Paulson J, Wirén JE. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:155–161.
- Hyland ME. Rationale for once-daily therapy in asthma. Drugs 1999; 58 (suppl)4: 1-6.

- 5. Bodor N. The soft drug approach. Chem Tech 1984; 14(1):28–38.
- 6. Bodor N, Buchwald P. Soft drug design. Med Res Rev 2000; 20:58-101.
- Ryrfeldt Å, Andersson P, Edsbäcker S, Tönnesson M, Davies D, Pauwels R. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of budesonide, a selective glucocorticoid. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63 (suppl)122:86–95.
- Van den Bosch JMM, Edsbäcker S, Westermann CJ, Aumann J, Tönnesson M, Selroos O. Relationship between lung tissue and blood plasma concentrations of budesonide. Biopharm Drug Dispos 1993; 14:455–459.
- 9. Johnson M. Pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of inhaled steroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97:169–176.
- Dahlberg E, Thalén A, Brattsand R, Gustafsson J-Å, Johansson U, Roempke K, Saartok T. Correlation between chemical structure, receptor binding and biological activity of some novel, highly active 16α, 17α-acetal substituated glucocorticoids. Mol Pharmacol 1984; 25:70–76.
- Toogood JH, Frankish CW, Jennings BH, Baskerville JC, Borga O, Lefcoe NM, Johansson S-A. A study of the mechanism of the antiasthmatic action of inhaled budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85:872–880.
- Lawrence M, Wolfe J, Webb DR, Chervinsky P, Kellerman D, Schaumberg JP, Shah T. Efficacy of inhaled fluticasone propionate in asthma results from topical and not from systemic activity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:744–751.
- Monder C, Bradlow HL. Cortoic acids: explorations at the frontier of corticosteroid metabolism. Recent Progr Horm Res 1980; 86–400.
- 14. Laurent H, Gerhards E, Wiechert R. New biologically active pregnan-21-oic acid esters. J Steroid Biochem 1975; 6:185–192.
- Kapp JF, Koch H, Töpert M, Kessler H-J, Gerhards E. Untersuchungen zur Pharmakologie von 6α-Fluor-11β-hydroxy-16α-methyl-3,20-dioxo-1,4-pregnadiene-21-säure-butylester (Fluocortin-butylester). Arzneimittelforschung 1977; 27:2191– 2202.
- 16. Mützel W. Pharmacokinetics and biotransformation of fluocortin butyl ester in man. Arzneimittelforschung 1977; 27:2230–2233.
- 17. Hartley TF, Lieberman PL, Meltzer EO, Noyes JN, Pearlman DS, Tinkelman DG. Efficacy and tolerance of fluocortin butyl adminstered twice daily in adult patients with perennial rhinitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985; 75:501–507.
- Burge PS, Efthimou J, Turner-Warwick M, Nelmes PTJ. Double blind trial of inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate and fluocortin butyl ester in allergen induced immediate and late asthmatic reaction. Clin Allergy 1982; 12:523–531.
- Chanoine F, Grenot C, Heidmann P, Junien JL. Pharmacokinetics of butixocort 21-propionate, budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate in the rat after intratracheal, intravenous and oral treatments. Drug Metabol Disposition 1991; 19:546– 553.
- Moodley I, Grouhel A, et al. Anti-inflammatory properties of tixocortol 17-butyrate, 21-propionate (JO 1222), a novel locally acting corticosteroid. J Lipid Mediators 1991; 3:51–70.
- Orr L, McQuinn R, Kvam D, Chang S, Parrish S, Lorch U, McDermott D, O'Connor BJO. A comparison of three inhaled corticosteroids with placebo and oral prednisolone on systemic cortisol. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(3): A407.

- 22. Walker CH, Mackness MI. Esterases: problems of identification and classification. Biochem Pharmacol 1983; 32:3265–3269.
- Satoh T, Hosokawa M. The mammalian carboxylesterases. From molecules to functions. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1998; 38:257–288.
- 24. Harding S. The human pharmacology of fluticasone propionate. Respir Med 1990; 84(suppl A):25–29.
- 24a. Surry DD, et al. Fluticasone propionate can be metabolized by CYP3A. Presented at First International Symposium on Drug Interactions. Nov. 13–14, 1995; St. Louis, Missouri.
- 25. Druzgala P, Hochhaus G, Bodor N. Soft drugs. 10. Blanching activity and receptor binding affinity of a new type of glucocorticoid: loteprednol etabonate. J Steroid Biochem 1991; 38:149–154.
- 26. Hochhaus G, Chen L-S, Ratka A, Druzgala P, Howes J, Bodor N, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic characterization and tissue distribution of the new glucocorticoid soft drug loteprednol etabonate in rats and dogs. J Pharm Sci 1992; 81:1210–1215.
- 27. Bodor N, Loftsson T, Wu W-M. Metabolism, distribution and transdermal permeability of a soft corticosteroid, loteprednol etabonate. Pharm Res 1992; 9:1275–1278.
- 28. Fahey JV, Guyre PM, Munch A. Mechanisms of antiinflammatory actions of glucocorticoids. Adv Inflamm Res 1981; 2:21–51.
- 29. Bjermer L, Sandström T, Särnstrand B, Brattsand R. Sephadex-induced granulomatous alveolitis in rat: effects of antigen manipulation. Am J Ind Med 1994; 25:73–78
- Brattsand R, Källström L, Johansson U, Dahlbäck M. Route of administration and rapid inactivation as determinants of the lung-specific actions of glucocorticosteroids. In: Hogg JC, Ellul-Micalleff R, Brattsand R, eds. Glucocorticosteroids, Inflammation and Bronchial Hyperreactivity. Amsterdam: Excerpta Medica, 1985:145–153.
- Kidney JC, Boulet L-P, Hargreave FE, Deschesnes F, Swystun VA, O'Byrne PM, Choudry N, Morris MM, Jennings B, Andersson N, Andreasson A, Cockcroft D. Evaluation of a single-dose inhaled corticosteroid activity with an allergen challenge model. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 100:65–70.
- 32. Biggadike K, Angell RM, Burgess CM, Farrell RM, Hancock AP, Harker AJ, Irving WR, Ioannou C, Procopiou PA, Shaw RE, Solanke YE, Singh OMP, Snowden MA, Stubbs RJ, Walton S, Weston HE. Selective plasma hydrolysis of glucocorticoid γ-lactones and cyclic carbonates by the enzyme paraoxonase: an ideal plasma inactivation mechanism. J Med Chem 2000; 43:19–21.
- Fishbein WN, Bessman SP. Purification and properties of an enzyme in human blood and rat liver microsomes catalysing the formation and hydrolysis of γ-lactones. J Biol Chem 1966; 241:4835–4841.
- Pellin MC, Moretto A, Lotti M, Vilanova E. Distribution and some biochemical properties of rat paraoxonase activity. Neurotoxicology Teratology 1990; 12:611– 614.
- 35. Esmailpour N, Högger P, Rabe KF, Heitman U, Nakashima M, Rohdewald P. Distribution of inhaled fluticasone propionate between lung tissue and blood plasma in vivo. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:1496–1499.
- Thorsson L, Thunnissen FBJM, Korn S, Carlshaf A, Edsbäcker S, Wouters EFM. Formation of fatty acid conjugates of budesonide in human lung tissue in vivo. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:A404.

- 37. Petersen H, Kullberg A, Edsbäcker S, Greiff L. Nasal retention of budesonide and fluticasone propionate in man: formation of airway mucosal budesonide-esters in vivo. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2001; 51:159–163.
- Miller-Larsson A, Mattsson H, Hjertberg E, Dahlbäck M, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide. Novel mechanism for prolonged retention of topically applied steroid in airway tissue. Drug Metabol Dispos 1998; 26:623–630.
- 39. O'Byrne PP. Once daily corticosteroid therapy in asthma: improving compliance with budesonide—a seminar in print. Drugs 1999; 58 (suppl 4):1–53.
- 40. Tralau-Stewart C, Biggadike K, Wood J, Haase M, Solanke Y, Walton S, Snowdon M. GR215854X, a novel plasma inactivated, inhaled glucocorticoid for the treatment of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161(3): A108.

Discussion

Chapter 21

- **Dr. O'Byrne:** There were at least two other "soft" steroids that were shown not to be effective in asthmatics. Were all of these esterase-sensitive steroids also?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** Fluocortin butylester is broken down by tissue and plasma esterases. Butixocort propionate is partially deactivated by S-methyl transferases in blood and tissue. The metabolism of tipridane is too poorly studied to draw clear conclusions about its metabolism in lung and blood.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** We still struggle with the question of whether there are systemic effects of ICS which contribute to clinical efficacy. In Judah Denburg's and Paul O'Byrne's studies, it is possible that the bone marrow effects are indirect and exerted in the lung. These drugs could be useful to answer this question. Are you aware of any studies?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** No, not yet at the bone marrow level.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** We have previously shown that two of the "soft" steroids were ineffective in protecting against allergen-induced late responses, which is very sensitive to treatment with conventional inhaled glucocorticoids.
- **Dr. Denburg:** Evidence that a beneficial systemic effect may be important in designing new IS comes from the clinical observation that treatment of one compartment of the airways (upper or lower) enhances management of the other in patients with asthma and/or rhinitis (Greiff et al., ERJ 1999; 11:1268–1274). The hemopoietic response may offer an explanation for this phenomenon, but other mechanisms (e.g., T-cell migration) may also be important.

Chapter 23

- **Dr. Jeffery:** In respect to the BUD-21-palmitate, have you conducted labeling experiments in vivo, experimentally, to demonstrate the major cellular localization to macrophages, Clara cells, type II cells or other cell types?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** As we have not performed microautoradiographic studies within airway tissue, we don't know the distribution among these cell types. However, based on BAL we can state a much more longlasting uptake into alveolar macrophages of rats instilled with 21-palmitate liposomes than of rats given a conventional budesonide formulation.
- **Prof. Dolovich:** What is the contribution of mucociliary clearance to the removal of the inhaled liposome formulation from the lung, given that it becomes an approximately 6 µm diameter aerosol postinhalation into the humid lung?

- **Dr. Brattsand:** The liposomes are formed first when the formulation comes in contact with water, explaining why some liposomes can be larger than the normal size limitation for inhalation (but the inhaled formulation has naturally to fulfill this limitation). The smallest liposomes have a potential to rapidly fuse with membranes, while the larger liposomes formed at central airway level may be transported away by mucociliary clearance, if not taken up by phagocytic cells.
- **Dr. Hochhaus:** The kind of liposomes you described need to be actively taken up. What is the variability in uptake among asthmatics or healthy volunteers?
- **Dr. Brattsand:** This does not seem to be a major problem; as in the clinical trials performed with liposome or proliposome formulations, the individual spreading of efficacy has not deviated much from that of conventional budesonide.

22

Design and Development of a Soft Corticosteroid, Loteprednol Etabonate

NICHOLAS BODOR and PETER BUCHWALD

University of Florida Gainesville, Florida

I. Introduction

A number of allergic diseases, including asthma and rhinitis, are reaching epidemic proportions within industrialized countries (1). In most of these countries, almost half of the population demonstrates sensitization to one or more environmental allergens, and in some of them, 25% of children under 14 years of age have asthma and 20% have eczema (1). It is becoming clear that these rising trends are due both to increased exposure to sensitizing allergens and to reduced stimulation of the immune system during critical periods of development (1). Even if most allergic diseases are not life threatening, they can cause considerable discomfort for the individual and a considerable total cost of treatment for the society. For example, in the United States in the early 1990s, asthma had a prevalence of around 4% and caused an estimated total yearly cost of \$6.2 billion (\$3.6 billion direct medical cost and \$2.6 billion indirect cost; cost per patient per year being around \$640) (2).

At present, corticosteroids are the most effective treatment available for atopic diseases (3,4). Inhaled corticosteroids are the mainstay of therapy for patients with chronic asthma, and nasal steroids are the most effective treatment for



Figure 1 Major metabolic pathways of hydrocortisone (1). (Adapted from Ref. 5.)

allergic rhinitis. Antigen challenge of the nose, lung, eye, or skin is known to produce a biphasic clinical reaction consisting of an early phase reaction (e.g., congestion and rhinorrhea of upper airways, wheezing, lacrimation, and edema of eyes) and a late phase response. Topically applied steroids have been shown to be able to inhibit both the early and the late phase of the allergic response to antigen challenge, and they also have proven capable of suppressing the eosinophilic inflammation underlying all allergic diseases. However, significant portions of the topically applied drugs (e.g., lung, nasal mucosa, gastrointestinal tract, or skin) will reach the general circulatory system. Consequently, resulting systemic side effects, such as adrenal suppression, effects on bone and growth, skin thinning and easy bruising, or increased risk of cataracts and glaucoma, together with local side effects, such as oral candidiasis or dysphonia, may limit their applications.

Furthermore, traditional corticosteroids are subject to different oxidative and/or reductive metabolic conversions. Formation of various steroidal metabolites, which may be active or even toxic, can lead to complex, undesirable situations, as all these compounds may be present simultaneously and in various timedependent concentrations. An illustrative example is provided by hydrocortisone (cortisol) (1, Fig. 1) (5). Hence, there has been a continuous search for corticosteroids that undergo nonoxidative, extrahepatic metabolism to minimize the risk of systemic absorption.

II. Soft Drugs

Soft drugs represent a possible solution, as they may eliminate the problems caused by the possibility of formation of various metabolites and they can minimize systemic side effects. Soft drug design approaches represent new approaches aimed to design safer drugs with an increased therapeutic index by integrating metabolism considerations into the drug design process (6,7). The soft drug concept was introduced in 1976 (8) and reiterated on a number of occasions in 1980–81 (9–14). Soft drugs are new therapeutic agents that undergo predictable metabolism to inactive metabolites after exerting their therapeutic effect. They are designed by building into the molecule, in addition to the activity, the most desired way in which the molecule is to be deactivated and detoxified subsequent to exerting its biological effects. The desired activity is generally local, and the soft drug is applied or administered at or near the site of action. Therefore, in most cases, they produce pharmacological activity locally, but their distribution away from the site results in a prompt metabolic deactivation that prevents any kind of undesired pharmacological activity or toxicity.

Inclusion of a metabolically sensitive site into the drug molecule makes possible the design and the prediction of the major metabolic pathway and avoids the formation of undesired toxic, active, or high-energy intermediates. Hence, in soft drug design, the goal is not to avoid metabolism, but rather to control and direct it. If possible, inactivation should take place as the result of a single, low-energy, high-capacity step that yields inactive species subject to facile elimination. Most critical metabolic pathways are mediated by oxygenases that exhibit not only interspecies but also interindividual variability and are subject to inhibition and induction (15). In different individuals, half-lives of foreign compounds may vary as much as 10- to 50-fold (15). Furthermore, the rates of hepatic monooxygenase reactions are at least two orders of magnitude lower than the slowest of the other enzymatic reactions (16). Therefore, it is usually desirable to avoid oxidative pathways and slow, easily saturable oxidases and to design soft drugs that are inactivated by hydrolytic enzymes. Metabolism can be more reliably carried out by ubiquitous esterases, because they are widely distributed, nonspecific, and much less susceptible to saturation and inhibition. Because diseases can alter the organs responsible for the metabolism of bloodborne substances, it is better not to rely on metabolism or clearance by organs such as liver or kidney since blood flow and enzyme activity in these organs can be seriously impaired, especially in critically ill patients.

Carboxylic ester hydrolases (EC 3.1.1) efficiently catalyze the hydrolysis of a variety of ester-containing chemicals to the respective free acids. They exhibit broad and overlapping substrate specificity toward esters and amides, and the same substrate is often hydrolyzed by more than one enzyme. Consequently, their classification is difficult and still is in a somewhat confused state, despite the important roles that carboxylesterase (EC 3.1.1.1) and/or other carboxylic ester hydrolases, such as arylesterase (EC 3.1.1.2) and cholinesterase (EC 3.1.1.8), play in the metabolism of many xenobiotics (17-23). Humans have been shown to express carboxylesterase in the liver, plasma, small intestine, brain, stomach, colon, macrophage, and monocytes (23). It should be mentioned that esterase activity varies quite strongly between species (17-23). For example, the stability of aliphatic esters frequently employed in prodrug and soft drug designs usually increases in the rat < rabbit < dog < human order (24,25), but there might be considerable variability. Nevertheless, we have recently succeeded in developing a quantitative structure-metabolism relationship (QSMR) model that accounts for 80% of the variability in the log half-lives of 67 noncongener carboxylic esters for in vitro human blood data and that should be useful in estimating approximate rates of hydrolysis even ahead of synthesis (26,27).

The general principles of soft drug design and their practical applications have been reviewed in the literature (6,7,28–30). A number of already marketed drugs, such as esmolol (BreviblocTM), an ultra–short-acting β -blocker, remifentanil (UltivaTM), a unique ultra–short-acting opioid analgesic, or loteprednol etabonate (LotemaxTM, AlrexTM), a soft corticosteroid, resulted from the successful application of such design principles (7). Within the corticosteroid field, various attempts have been made to separate local and systemic effects by integrating

moieties susceptible to facile, extrahepatic metabolism into the corticosteroid structure (31-37). Here, we will concentrate mainly on an attempt that at present can be considered as the most successful one along these lines. It is a classic, inactive metabolite-based soft drug approach that started from a true inactive metabolite of prednisolone (9) and ultimately yielded loteprednol etabonate (7) (Fig. 2).

At this point it should be mentioned that some other steroid drugs, such as fluticasone propionate, tipredane, or butixocort 21-propionate, have been erroneously called soft drugs on different occasions (4,38). Contrary to the previously mentioned soft drug design principles, these structures are metabolized primarily in the liver by oxidative processes and not by extrahepatic hydrolysis. Thiol ester corticosteroid structures have been shown to be metabolized primarily in the liver by oxidative processes, rather than by hydrolysis in the plasma (39). Fluticasone propionate (FP) itself was found to have a terminal half-life of 7.7-8.3 hours in 12 healthy male subjects after inhaled administration of 500, 1000, and 2000 µg of drug using a metered-dose inhaler. In these subjects it produced dose-related cortisol suppression; the highest administered dose of FP resulted in cortisol concentrations that were lower than the limit of detection (40). The slow elimination of FP led to accumulation during repeated dosing. This accumulation may explain the marked decrease in plasma cortisol seen during treatment with fluticasone propionate within the clinical dose range (41).

There also is some misconception regarding soft drugs, particularly soft steroids. Often, the soft nature is associated with fast hydrolytic degradation, but this is not necessarily so. Too fast hydrolysis could result in very weak activity. The desired increase of the therapeutic index can be achieved only if the drug is sufficiently stable to reach the receptor site and the target organ and to produce its desired effect, but the free, non-protein-bound drug undergoes facile hydrolysis to avoid unwanted, systemic side effects. In order to successfully separate the desired local activity from systemic toxicity, an adequate balance between intrinsic activity, solubility/lipophilicity, tissue distribution, protein binding, and rate of metabolic deactivation has to be achieved, particularly for long-term activity. In the case of slow, sustained release to the general circulatory system from the delivery site, even a relatively slow hydrolysis could result in a very low, almost steady-state systemic concentration.

III. Loteprednol Etabonate

As mentioned, a classic soft drug approach (14,42-57) recently ended successfully and yielded loteprednol etabonate [7, $(11\beta,17\alpha)-17((ethoxycarbonyl)oxy)-$ 11-hydroxy-3-oxoandrosat-1,4-diene-17-carboxylic acid chloromethyl ester; chloromethyl 17 α -ethoxycarbonyloxy-11 β -hydroxy-3-oxoandrosta-1,4-diene, 17 β -carboxylate], an active corticosteroid that lacks serious side effects and that received final FDA approval in 1998 as the active ingredient of two ophthalmic preparations, LotemaxTM and AlrexTM. Loteprednol etabonate became the only corticosteroid to receive FDA approval for use in all inflammatory and allergy-related ophthalmic disorders, including inflammation following post–cataract surgery, uveitis, allergic conjunctivitis, and giant papillary conjunctivitis (GPC). Currently, it is also being developed for treatment of asthma, rhinitis, colitis, and dermatological problems.

Topical corticosteroids represent an important class of drugs used to treat ocular inflammations and allergies as they are the most effective ocular antiinflammatory compounds and offer the broadest range of treatment. However, a number of contraindications severely limit their usefulness. In addition to the general systemic corticosteroid side effects, they can also produce a number of ocular complications such as elevation of the intraocular pressure (IOP) and resultant steroid-induced glaucoma, induction of cataract formation, and secondary complications. Ocular administration of corticosteroids usually produces increased IOP as a result of increased resistance to aqueous humor outflow, but the precise mechanism of decreased outflow is not known (58). The mechanism of steroidinduced cataract is somewhat obscure (59), but the most prominent hypothesis involves the formation of Schiff bases between the steroid C-20 ketone group and nucleophilic groups such as ε -amino groups of lysine residues of proteins. Schiff base formation is potentially followed by a Heyns rearrangement (60) involving the adjacent C-21 hydroxyl group and affording stable amine-substituted adducts (61 - 64).

A. Design Considerations and Development History

The soft drug approach to be described here resulted in an active corticosteroid that is void of these serious side effects. As already mentioned, hydrocortisone (1) undergoes a variety of oxidative and reductive metabolic conversions (Fig. 1) (5). One of its major metabolic routes is oxidation of the dihydroxyacetone side chain, which through a 21-aldehyde (21-dehydrocortisol) and a 21-acid (3, cortisolic acid) ultimately leads to formation of cortienic acid (4). Cortienic acid is a major metabolite excreted in human urine, and it lacks corticosteroid activity; therefore, it is an ideal lead for the inactive metabolite-based approach of soft drug design (6,43,65). The design process (Fig. 2) directly involves restoring the important pharmacophores found in the 17α and 17β side chains to afford soft corticosteroids 5. We felt that suitable isosteric/isoelectronic substitution of the α -hydroxy and β -carboxy substituents with esters or other types of functions should restore the original corticosteroid activity but incorporate hydrolytic features to keep toxic levels of corticosteroids from accumulating and producing local or systemic adverse affects. Modifications of the 17 β ester function and the 17 α hydroxy function, together with other changes [introduction of Δ^1 , fluorination at 6α (X₂) and/or 9α (X₁), methylation at 16α or 16β (R₃)], led to a host of analogs repre-



Figure 2 Design and metabolism of soft corticosteroids (5). Loteprednol etabonate (7), a soft steroid, is an active anti-inflammatory compound that lacks the IOP-elevating side effect of the other steroids used to treat ophthalmological diseases.

sented by the general structure **5**. Over 120 of these soft steroids (**5**) have been synthesized. The first soft analogs of this kind were synthesized soon after the introduction of the soft drug concept (8) during the late 1970s, followed by a systematic synthetic study performed in collaboration with Otsuka Pharmaceutical Company (Japan) in 1980–1981 (14,42,66). Critical functions for activity are a haloester in the 17 β position and a novel carbonate (42,45) or ether (67) substitution in the 17 α -position.

Incorporation of 17α carbonates or ethers was preferred over 17α esters to enhance stability and to prevent formation of mixed anhydrides that might be produced by reaction of a 17α ester with a 17β acid functionality. Such mixed anhydrides were assumed toxic and probably cataractogenic. The 17α carbonates were a new class of corticosteroids, and they turned out to be difficult to obtain from normal corticosteroid derivatives. However, after oxidative removal of the C-21 carbon, their synthesis proved relatively easy (45). Initial activities were determined by classical cotton pellet granuloma tests and by human vasoconstrictor studies (6,13,66,68,69). A variety of 17β esters were synthesized, and they showed very different activities. Since this position is an important pharmacophore that is quite sensitive to small modifications, the freedom of choice was relatively limited. For example, while chloromethyl or fluoromethyl esters showed very good activity, the chloroethyl or α -chloroethylidene derivatives were very weak. Simple

Treatment	Ν	ED ₅₀ ^a	Rel. pot.	TD ₅₀ ^b	Rel. pot.	TIc
Loteprednol etabonate (0.1%)	8	178.0	0.48	10,000	0.02	24.0
Hydrocortisone 17α -butyrate (0.1%)	8	121.0	0.70	369	0.57	1.3
Betamethasone 17α -valerate (0.12%)	8	84.8	1.00	212	1.00	1.0
Clobetasone 17α -propionate (0.1%)	8	2.9	29.70	11	19.30	1.5

 Table 1
 Comparison of Loteprednol Etabonate (7) with Other Steroids

^aAnti-inflammatory activity in the cotton pellet granuloma test (µg/pellet).

^bThymolysis potency (µg/pellet).

^cTherapeutic index: the ratio of the relative potency for the ED_{50} to the relative potency for the TD_{50} ; betamethasone 17α -valerate has been assigned arbitrarily a value of 1.

alkyl esters also proved virtually inactive. Consequently, the 17 β chloromethyl ester was maintained constant and various 17 α -carbonates with different substituents on the steroid skeleton were selected for further investigation. For a number of derivatives, the therapeutic index was determined as the ratio between the antiinflammatory activity and the thymus involution activity. As illustrated in Table 1, classical steroids, regardless of their intrinsic activity, have very similar therapeutic indices, but loteprednol etabonate, the soft steroid, provides a significant improvement. Many of the other soft steroids also showed a dramatic improvement in the therapeutic index (43,70). Recent studies on binding to rat lung cytosolic corticosteroid receptors showed that some of the compounds approach and even exceed the binding affinity of the most potent corticosteroids known (Table 2).

Selection of loteprednol for development was based on various properties. In addition to the therapeutic index, availability, synthesis, and "softness" (the rate and easiness of metabolic deactivation) also had to be considered. Even if the route of development was technically easy, it involved various companies due to financial problems. First, as mentioned, it involved Otsuka Pharmaceutical Company (1980–1985) in performing synthesis, preclinical studies, animal toxicology, and limited Phase I/II human studies directed toward dermatological use. Xenon Vision Inc., which was specifically established to explore the potential ophthalmic use (1986–1991), performed regulatory animal toxicology, Phase I and Phase II human studies, and the establishment of proof of concept in giant papillary conjunctivitis and allergic conjunctivitis. Finally, the involvement of Pharmos Corporation and Bausch and Lomb Inc. (1992–1996: Phase III studies in giant papillary conjunctivitis, allergic conjunctivitis, uveitis, and post–cataract surgery) led to submission of the New Drug Applications in 1995 and 1996, respectively.

Early studies in rabbits (46,49) and rats (50) demonstrated that, consistent with its design, **7** is indeed active, is metabolized into its predicted metabolites (8,9), and these metabolites are inactive (45). The highest ratio of metabolites to unchanged drug was found in the cornea, suggesting that the primary site of me-

No.	R ₁	R'2	R ₃	\mathbf{X}_1	X_2	RBA	
LE (7)	CH ₂ Cl	C ₂ H ₅	Н	Н	Н	320	
5602	CH_2Cl	$n-C_4H_9$	Н	Н	Н	110	
5606	CH ₂ SCH ₃	C_2H_5	Н	Н	Н	3	
5608	C_2H_5	C_2H_5	Н	Η	Н	<1	
5613	CH ₃	CH ₂ Cl	Н	Η	Н	<1	
5614	C_2H_5	C_2H_5	Н	F	Н	<1	
5618	CH_2Cl	CH ₂ OCH ₃	Н	Н	Н	16	
5702	CH ₂ Cl	CH ₃	Н	Η	Н	180	
5628	CH_2Cl	C_2H_5	α -CH ₃	F	Н	740	
5649	CH ₃	$i-C_3H_7$	Н	Н	Н	3	
5651	$CH_2OC_2H_5$	$i-C_3H_7$	Н	Η	Н	<1	
5673	CH ₂ Cl	C_2H_5	α -CH ₃	F	F	2100	
5685	CH ₂ CH ₂ Cl	$i-C_3H_7$	Н	Н	Н	1	
5711	CH_2F	C_2H_5	Н	Н	Н	200	
Acid meta	bolites (substituted	l cortienic acids) a	are inactive:				
	Н	R_2	R_3	\mathbf{X}_1	X_2	<1	
Dexamethasone (DEX)							
Beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP)							
Beclomethasone monopropionate (BMP)							
Budesonide (BUD)							
Fluticasone propionate (FP)							
Triamcinolone acetonide (TA)							

Table 2Relative Binding Affinities (RBA) of Representative Soft (**5** with $R_2 = COOR'_2$)and Reference Glucocorticoids to the Glucocorticoid Receptor of Rat Lung(RBA_{dexamethasone} = 100)

tabolism is the cornea (46). Loteprednol etabonate concentrations in the aqueous humor paralleled the concentration-time profile found in the cornea but were about 100 times lower, suggesting that the origin of loteprednol in the aqueous humor is the cornea. As high levels of corticosteroids in the aqueous humor are believed to lead to ultrastructural changes in the trabeculum leading to decreased outflow and increased IOP, this should also make loteprednol less likely to raise IOP.

In rats, the metabolism and excretion of loteprednol etabonate was found to be dose-dependent (54). As the intravenous (i.v.) administered dose increased from 1 mg/kg to 20 mg/kg, the half-life ($t_{1/2}$) increased from 16 to 49 minutes, and the total clearance (CL_{tot}) decreased from ~120 to 60 mL/min/kg, all values higher than the physiological hepatic blood flow in rats (58 mL/min/kg) (54). In dogs, after i.v. administration of the relatively high dose of 5 mg/kg, loteprednol etabonate had a terminal half-life of 2.8 hours, a mean residence time of 1.7 hours,

and a total clearance of about 1 L/h/kg (51). Loteprednol showed a plasma protein binding of >90% and, according to limited studies in dogs and rats, a very low oral bioavailability of close to 0% (51). Its pharmacokinetic profile indicated that, when absorbed systematically, it is rapidly transformed to the inactive metabolite **8** and eliminated from the body mainly through the bile and urine (50,51,54). In dogs, both oral and i.v. administration resulted in over 90% excretion, mostly as acidic metabolites in feces, an observation supporting the facile elimination of the metabolites to the bile. In vitro plasma hydrolysis data are misleading due to the high concentrations used. In whole body cases, multiple hydrolytic (esterases) metabolism sites and much lower concentrations generated by therapeutic concentrations result in facile hydrolysis of the free, non–protein-bound loteprednol etabonate.

It did not effect the intraocular pressure in rabbits (49), an observation confirmed later in various human studies (71,72). A study in known corticosteroid responders (71) showed that subjects (n = 10) receiving loteprednol etabonate (0.5%) had a mean IOP elevation of 3.0 mmHg over a period of 42 days, whereas subjects receiving prednisolone acetate (n = 9) had a mean IOP elevation of 7.4 mmHg (Fig. 3). Because the protocol required discontinuation of the treatment upon significant IOP elevation, it is likely that the IOP would have continued to increase in the prednisolone acetate group had several patients not been intercepted with topical β -blocker therapy. A long-term use (≥ 28 days) study based on pooled data showed that IOP elevation greater than 10 mmHg, a dreaded side effect of steroid therapy, occurred in 1.7%, 0.5%, and 6.7% of patients taking loteprednol etabonate (formula concentrations of 0.5% or 0.2%, n = 901), vehicle



Figure 3 Mean intraocular pressure (IOP) in known corticosteroid responders receiving loteprednol etabonate (LE, 0.5%; n = 10) or prednisolone acetate (PA, 1.0%, n = 9). (Modified from Ref. 71.)



Figure 4 Pooled data showing the percent of patients with IOP elevation greater than 10 mmHg among patients not wearing contact lenses and treated for more than 28 days. The number of patients within each group was as follows: placebo, n = 304; loteprednol etabonate (LE), n = 624; prednisolone acetate (PA, 1%), n = 164. (Data from Ref. 72.)

(n = 583), and prednisolone acetate (formula concentrations of 1%, n = 164), respectively (72). For loteprednol etabonate, 11 out of the 15 patients with IOP elevation greater than 10 were in the GPC studies, where the higher incidence is likely due to the reservoir effect of soft contact lenses absorbing the drug. For patients who did not wear contact lenses, the same numbers were 0.6%, 1.0%, and 6.7%. Loteprednol etabonate has, therefore, a lower propensity to cause clinically significant elevations in IOP than prednisolone acetate and, in patients not wearing contact lenses, this propensity is similar to that found in subjects receiving vehicle (Fig. 4). Recent Phase IV data (Bausch & Lomb Pharmaceuticals, presented at the 3rd International Symposium on Ocular Pharmacology and Pharmaceutics (ISOPP), Lisbon, Portugal, February 10–13, 2000) demonstrated that, consistent with the soft nature, long-term use of loteprednol etabonate (with an average of 100 days) still did not show any typical corticosteroid side effects such as IOP elevation.

Consistent with the soft nature of this steroid, systemic levels or effects cannot be detected even following chronic ocular administration (73). Plasma levels of loteprednol etabonate and its primary metabolite (8) were below the 1 μ g/L detection limit in 10 healthy volunteers who received the drug (one drop, 0.5%) in both eyes eight times daily for 2 days and four times daily for a further 41 days (73).

B. Ophthalmological Applications

Clinical studies proved that loteprednol etabonate is a safe and effective treatment for contact lens–associated giant papillary conjunctivitis (GPC) (74–76), seasonal allergic conjunctivitis (77–79), postoperative inflammation (Fig. 5) (80,81), or uveitis (82). Most of these clinical results were recently reviewed in detail by



Figure 5 Resolution of anterior chamber inflammation in postcataract inflammation with intraocular lens implantation. The percent of resolved cases are shown for each visit during placebo (n = 213) and loteprednol etabonate 0.5% (n = 211) treatment. (Data from Refs. 80,81.)

Noble and Goa (83) and Howes (84). In addition to its already approved uses, loteprednol etabonate is also being developed for the treatment of colitis, atopic dermatitis, and asthma based on promising results from animal studies (53,54).

IV. Effect of Loteprednol Etabonate on Airway Activity

Recent studies demonstrated that loteprednol etabonate (LE, 7) can advantageously be used in many other inflammatory conditions where separation of activity and side effects is very important, including asthma and rhinitis (85-89).

A. In Vitro Studies

In vitro studies in human blood and nasal polyp cells, which are considered to be an adequate model of chronic respiratory mucosal inflammation, from six patients aimed to compare the effects of LE and other corticosteroids showed that LE has activity similar to dexamethasone (DEX) or beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP). The corresponding IC_{50} values for inhibition of endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide, LPS)-induced release of tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) in 1:5 diluted human blood and for inhibition of anti-IgE–induced granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) release in dispersed nasal polyp cells are shown in Figure 6 (86). Inhibition of cytokine biosynthesis is thought to be an important mechanism through which steroids exert their anti-inflammatory effects (89). TNF α is a proinflammatory cytokine released from several inflammatory/immunocompetent cells, and there is considerable evidence suggesting that TNF α up-



Figure 6 IC₅₀ values (nmol/L) with 95% confidence limits for inhibition of endotoxin (LPS)–induced release of TNF α in 1:5 diluted human blood and for inhibition of anti-IgE–induced GM-CSF release in dispersed nasal polyp cells for loteprednol etabonate (LE), dexamethasone (DEX), and beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP). (Data from Ref. 86.)

regulation occurs in asthmatic patients. GM-CSF has been shown to be produced by cells present at inflammatory response sites, such as T lymphocytes, macrophages, and endothelial and mast cells and is assumed to be an important mediator for inflammatory reactions.

B. In Vivo Studies

Loteprednol etabonate was shown to be equipotent with the highly used beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP), in various in vivo experimental models of aller-


Figure 7 Effect of loteprednol etabonate (LE, $0.1-20 \mu g/kg$) and beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP, $0.01-1 \mu g/kg$) on allergen-induced eosinophilia in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) 48 h after allergen-challenge in actively sensitized Brown-Norway rats by single intrapulmonar dry powder administration 2 h prior to challenge. Data are mean ± SEM. Notation: SC = lactose-treated/saline-challenged control group; OVAC = lactose-treated/OVA (ovalbumin)-challenged control group; $^{+++}p < 0.001$ compared to animals sham-challenged with saline (SC); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, and ***p < 0.001 compared to vehicle-treated, allergen-challenged animals (OVAC).

gic diseases, such as ovalbumin (OA)-induced rhinorrhea and OA-induced lung eosinophilia in actively sensitized Brown-Norway (BN) rats (Fig. 7). This is a well-characterized animal model for allergic asthma, as these animals respond to sensitization by developing high levels of circulatory antigen-specific IgE (see the response of the placebo-treated/OA-challenged OVAC control group in Fig. 7). In these experiments of OA-induced airway eosinophilia in actively sensitized BN rats, compounds were given 2 hours prior to OA challenge intratracheally as a dry powder. The animals were challenged by inhaling OA aerosol. The number of eosinophils in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) were counted for 48 hours postchallenge. Eosinophilia in BALF was reduced dose dependently by LE (Fig. 7) with an ID_{50} of 0.44 µg/kg i. pulm., comparable to that of BDP (0.11 µkg i. pulm.) and significantly better than that of dexamethasone (DEX, 10 µg/kg i. pulm.) (85,87,89).

In similar studies involving late phase allergic eosinophilia in guinea pigs, eosinophilia in BALF was reduced dose dependently by LE ($ID_{50} = 29 \,\mu g/kg$), by DEX ($ID_{50} = 134 \,\mu g/kg$), and by BDP ($ID_{50} = 19 \,\mu g/kg$) (Fig. 8) (85,89). In this set of experiments where the OA challenge was applied 2 hours after the dose with steroids, fluticasone propionate (FP), a highly potent steroid, showed the highest activity ($ID_{50} = 0.89 \,\mu g/kg$). It was found, however, that when LE and FP were compared in a study (85) with longer separation (6 hours) between administration of steroids and OA challenge, LE still showed a strong activity with $ID_{50} = 77 \,\mu g/kg$, but FP showed only a very weak and not dose-dependent effect (Fig. 9). These data indicate that LE produced a strong anti-inflammatory effect in vivo after



Figure 8 $ID_{50}s$ (µg/kg) for reduction of eosinophilia in BALF in late phase allergic eosinophilia in guinea pigs for loteprednol etabonate (LE), dexamethasone (DEX), and beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP). (Data from Ref. 85.)



Figure 9 Comparison between the effects of loteprednol etabonate (LE, $10-300 \mu g/kg$) and fluticasone propionate (FP, $0.5-50 \mu g/kg$) on allergen-induced eosinophilia in BAL-fluid 24 h after allergen challenge in actively sensitized guinea pigs by single intratracheal dry powder administration 2 h prior to challenge (left side) and 6 h prior to challenge (right side) (LE 300 $\mu g/kg$, FP 5.0 $\mu g/kg$ i.t.). When the corticosteroids were administered 6 h prior to challenge, a strong effect was still observed for loteprednol etabonate, but no effect was observed for fluticasone propionate. See Figure 7 for notation. (Data from Ref. 85.)

intranasal and intrapulmonary administration. In comparison to FP, LE showed significantly longer-lasting action.

LE also has been evaluated in a sheep model for asthma (T. Ahmed, personal communication). The same six sheep were used in all three studies. After measurement of baseline values of specific lung resistance (SR_L), the sheep were treated with equivalent doses of either LE or BDP dissolved in tetraglycol as 5% solutions and delivered as aerosols. SR_L measurements were made, and one hour later the animals were challenged with the *Ascaris suum* antigen. After the challenge, measurements were made hourly between 1 and 6 hours and every 30 minutes from 6¹/₂ to 8 hours. As summarized in Figure 10, both LE and BDP inhibited the late phase response. Loteprednol etabonate is being now developed for the treatment of allergic conditions, such as rhinitis and asthma.



Figure 10 Comparative results obtained in a sheep model of asthma for equivalent doses of loteprednol etabonate (LE) and beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) showing that both drugs inhibited the late phase response.

Understandably, a reduced risk of steroid-related side effects is an important aspect of intranasal or intrapulmonary administration. Preliminary studies in domestic pigs indicated that LE has no influence on plasma cortisol levels in this species following intranasal or intrapulmonary administration even at high doses (89). The influence of LE on thymus involution was extensively investigated in rats (88,89). Following 5-day intrapulmonary treatment (drugs were directly blown into the lungs), LE caused only minimal thymus involution even at a high intrapulmonary dose of 20 mg/kg/day, whereas BDP (1 mg/kg/day), budesonide (BUD) (0.5 mg/kg/day), and FP (1 mg/kg/day) all caused significant (p < 0.05) thymus involutions at considerably lower doses. A quantitative comparison of the therapeutic indices for intrapulmonary administration in rats, calculated, for example, as the ratio of the toxic dose TD₂₅ that causes 25% thymus involution to the effective dose ED₅₀ that causes 50% BAL eosinophilia inhibition, clearly shows LE as being superior to FP and much superior to BDP, even when the $ID_{50}s$ for the effects with the shorter separation between steroid administration and OA challenge are used for comparison. However, a reliable quantitative comparison could not be made at this stage, because essentially all doses tested for LE (0.1-20 mg/kg/day) produced no significant thymus involution, and because no sufficient data (only at two concentrations) are available for BDP and FP to estimate TD_{25} for thymus involution. Another study based on once-daily s.c. dosing for 5 days also found that, in contrast to BDP (1 mg/kg), BUD (2 mg/kg), and FP (1 mg/kg), loteprednol etabonate (1 and 10 mg/kg) does not cause significant (p < 0.01) thymus involution (Fig. 11) (89).



Figure 11 Effect of glucocorticoids on thymus weight in rats after daily subcutaneous administration for 5 days. A star (*) denotes significant (p < 0.01) thymus involution. (Data from Ref. 89.)

V. Conclusions

Topical application of active corticosteroids that undergo nonoxidative, extrahepatic metabolism can provide improved, safer treatments of allergic diseases by minimizing the risk of systemic absorption and, therefore, the occurrence of side effects. Loteprednol etabonate, a soft corticosteroid that contains 17α carbonate and 17β ester side chains and that was designed by using an inactive metabolite-based approach, lacks serious side effects and already received FDA approval for use in all inflammatory and allergy-related ophthalmic disorders. Since experimental evidence indicates that it also produces strong and long-lasting anti-inflammatory effect after intranasal or intrapulmonary administration, currently it is being developed for the treatment of allergic conditions, such as rhinitis and asthma.

References

- 1. Holgate ST. The epidemic of allergy and asthma. Nature 1999; 402 (suppl):B2-B4.
- Weiss KB, Gergen PJ, Hodgson TA. An economic evaluation of asthma in the United States. N Engl J Med 1992; 326:862–866.
- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S, Busse WW. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids. New developments. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:S1–S53.
- 4. Barnes PJ. Therapeutic strategies for allergic diseases. Nature 1999; 402 (suppl): B31–B38.

- 5. Monder C, Bradlow HL. Cortoic acids: explorations at the frontier of corticosteroid metabolism. Recent Progr Horm Res 1980; 36:345–400.
- 6. Bodor N. The soft drug approach. Chemtech 1984; 14(1):28–38.
- Bodor N, Buchwald P. Soft drug design: general principles and recent applications. Med Res Rev 2000; 20:58–101.
- Bodor N. Novel approaches for the design of membrane transport properties of drugs. In: Roche EB, ed. Design of Biopharmaceutical Properties through Prodrugs and Analogs. Washington, DC: Academy of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 1977:98–135.
- 9. Bodor N, Kaminski JJ, Selk S. Soft drugs. 1. Labile quaternary ammonium salts as soft antimicrobials. J Med Chem 1980; 23:469–474.
- 10. Bodor N, Kaminski JJ. Soft drugs. 2. Soft alkylating compounds as potential antitumor agents. J Med Chem 1980; 23:566–569.
- Bodor N, Woods R, Raper C, Kearney P, Kaminski J. Soft drugs. 3. A new class of anticholinergic agents. J Med Chem 1980; 23:474-480.
- 12. De Winter ML. Strategy in drug research. The second IUPAC-IUPHAR Symposium, held from 25 to 28 August 1981 in Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1982; 3:132–134.
- Bodor N. Soft drugs: strategies for design of safer drugs. In: Buisman JAK, ed. Strategy in Drug Research. Proceedings of the 2nd IUPAC-IUPHAR Symposium on Research, Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1982:137–164.
- Bodor N. Soft drugs: strategies for design of safer drugs. In: Briot M, Cautreels W, Roncucci R, eds. Metabolisme et Conception Medicaments: Quo Vadis? Proceedings of Symposium at Montpellier, France, November 26–27, 1981. Montpellier: CLIN MIDY, 1983:217–251.
- 15. Gillette JR. Effects of induction of cytochrome P-450 enzymes on the concentration of foreign compounds and their metabolites and on the toxicological effects of these compounds. Drug Metab Rev 1979; 10:59–87.
- Mannering GJ. Hepatic cytochrome P-450-linked drug-metabolizing systems. In: Testa B, Jenner P, eds. Concepts in Drug Metabolism Part B. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc, 1981:53–166.
- 17. Augustinsson K-B. Multiple forms of esterase in vertebrate blood plasma. Ann NY Acad Sci 1961; 94:844–860.
- Krisch K. Carboxylic ester hydrolases. In: Boyer PD, ed. The Enzymes. Vol. 5. New York: Academic Press, 1971:43–69.
- Heymann E. Hydrolysis of carboxylic esters and amides. In: Jakoby WB, Bend JR, Caldwell J, eds. Metabolic Basis of Detoxication. New York: Academic Press, 1982:229–245.
- 20. Walker CH, Mackness MI. Esterases: problems of identification and classification. Biochem Pharmacol 1983; 32:3265–3569.
- Williams FW. Clinical significance of esterases in man. Clin Pharmacokin 1985; 10: 392–403.
- 22. Leinweber F-J. Possible physiological roles of carboxylic ester hydrolases. Drug Metab Rev 1987; 18:379-439.
- 23. Satoh T, Hosokawa M. The mammalian carboxylesterases: from molecules to functions. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 1998; 38:257–288.

- 24. Quon CY, Mai K, Patil G, Stampfli HF. Species differences in the stereoselective hydrolysis of esmolol by blood esterases. Drug Metab Dispos 1988; 16:425–428.
- Minagawa T, Kohno Y, Suwa T, Tsuji A. Species differences in hydrolysis of isocarbacyclin methyl ester (TEI-9090) by blood esterases. Biochem Pharmacol 1995; 49:1361–1365.
- 26. Buchwald P, Bodor N. Quantitative structure-metabolism relationships: steric and nonsteric effects in the enzymatic hydrolysis of noncongener carboxylic esters. J Med Chem 1999; 42:5160-5168.
- 27. Buchwald P, Bodor N. Structure-based estimation of enzymatic hydrolysis rates and its application in computer-aided retrometabolic drug design. Pharmazie 2000; 55: 210–217.
- 28. Korolkovas A. Essentials of Medicinal Chemistry. 2nd ed. New York: Wiley, 1988.
- 29. Bodor N. Soft drugs. In: Dulbecco R, ed. Encyclopedia of Human Biology. Vol. 7. San Diego: Academic Press, 1991:101–117.
- 30. Bodor N, Buchwald P. Drug targeting via retrometabolic approaches. Pharmacol Ther 1997; 76:1–27.
- 31. Laurent H, Gerhards E, Wiechert R. New biologically active pregnan-21-oic acid esters. J Steroid Biochem 1975; 6:185–192.
- Kapp JF, Koch H, Töpert M, Kessler H-J, Gerhards E. Unterschungen zur Pharmakologie von 6α-Fluor-11β-hydroxy-16α-methyl-3,20-dioxo-1,4-pregnadiene-21säure-butylester (Fluocortin-butylester). Arzneim Forsch 1977; 27:2191–2202.
- Lee HJ, Soliman MRI. Anti-inflammatory steroids without pituitary-adrenal suppresion. Science 1982; 215:989–991.
- Heiman AS, Ko D-H, Chen M, Lee HJ. New steroidal anti-inflammatory antedrugs: methyl 3,20-dioxo-9α-fluoro-11β,17α,21-trihydroxy-1,4-pregnadiene-16α-carboxylate and methyl 21-acetyloxy-3,20-dioxo-11β,17α-dihydroxy-9α-fluoro-1,4-pregnadiene-16α-carboxylate. Steroids 1997; 62:491–499.
- Ueno H, Maruyama A, Miyake M, Nakao E, Nakao K, Umezu K, Nitta I. Synthesis and evaluation of antiinflammatory activities of a series of corticosteroids 17α-esters containing a functional group. J Med Chem 1991; 34:2468–2473.
- Suzuki T, Sato E, Tada H, Tojima Y. Examination of local anti-inflammatory activties of new steroids, hemisuccinyl methyl glycolates. Biol Pharm Bull 1999; 22: 816–821.
- 37. Biggadike K, Angell RM, Burgess CM, Farrell RM, Hancock AP, Harker AJ, Irving WR, Loannou C, Procopiou PA, Shaw RE, Solanke YE, Singh OMP, Snowden MA, Stubbs RJ, Walton S, Weston HE. Selective plasma hydrolysis of glucocorticoid γ-lactones and cyclic carbonates by the enzyme paraoxonase: an ideal plasma inactivation mechanism. J Med Chem 2000; 43:19–21.
- Graffner-Nordberg M, Sjödin K, Tunek A, Hallberg A. Synthesis and enzymatic hydrolysis of esters, constituting simple models of soft drugs. Chem Pharm Bull 1998; 46:591–601.
- Ong JTH, Poulsen BJ, Akers WA, Scholtz JR, Genter FC, Kertesz DJ. Intrinsic potencies of novel thiol ester corticosteroids RS-85095 and RS-21314 as compared with clobetasol 17-propionate and fluocinonide. Arch Dermatol 1989; 125:1662– 1665.

- 40. Rohatagi S, Bye A, Falcoz C, Mackie AE, Meibohm B, Möllmann H, Derendorf H. Dynamic modeling of cortisol reduction after inhaled administration of fluticasone propionate. J Clin Pharmacol 1996; 36:938–941.
- Thorsson L, Dahlström K, Edsbäcker S, Källén A, Paulson J, Wirén J-E. Pharmacokinetics and systemic effects of inhaled fluticasone propionate in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1997; 43:155–161.
- 42. Bodor N. Soft steroids having antiinflammatory activity. Belgian Patent, BE889,563 (Cl. CO7J), 1981.
- Bodor N. The application of soft drug approaches to the design of safer corticosteroids. In: Christophers E, Kligman AM, Schöpf E, Stoughton RB, eds. Topical Corticosteroid Therapy: A Novel Approach to Safer Drugs. New York: Raven Press Ltd, 1988:13–25.
- 44. Bodor N, Varga M. Effect of a novel soft steroid on the wound healing of rabbit cornea. Exp Eye Res 1990; 50:183–187.
- 45. Druzgala P, Hochhaus G, Bodor N. Soft drugs. 10. Blanching activity and receptor binding affinity of a new type of glucocorticoid: loteprednol etabonate. J Steroid Biochem 1991; 38:149–154.
- 46. Druzgala P, Wu W-M, Bodor N. Ocular absorption and distribution of loteprednol etabonate, a soft steroid, in rabbit eyes. Curr Eye Res 1991; 10:933–937.
- Alberth M, Wu W-M, Winwood D, Bodor N. Lipophilicity, solubility and permeability of loteprednol etabonate: a novel, soft anti-inflammatory corticosteroid. J Biopharm Sci 1991; 2:115–125.
- 48. Bodor NS, Kiss-Buris ST, Buris L. Novel soft steroids: effects on cell growth in vitro and on wound healing in the mouse. Steroids 1991; 56:434–439.
- Bodor N, Bodor N, Wu W-M. A comparison of intraocular pressure elevating activity of loteprednol etabonate and dexamethasone in rabbits. Curr Eye Res 1992; 11: 525–530.
- 50. Bodor N, Loftsson T, Wu W-M. Metabolism, distribution, and transdermal permeability of a soft corticosteroid, loteprednol etabonate. Pharm Res 1992; 9:1275–1278.
- 51. Hochhaus G, Chen L-S, Ratka A, Druzgala P, Howes J, Bodor N, Derendorf H. Pharmacokinetic characterization and tissue distribution of the new glucocorticoid soft drug loteprednol etabonate in rats and dogs. J Pharm Sci 1992; 81:1210–1215.
- 52. Loftsson T, Bodor N. The pharmacokinetics and transdermal delivery of loteprednol etabonate and related soft steroids. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 1994; 14:293–299.
- 53. Bodor N, Murakami T, Wu W-M. Soft drugs. 18. Oral and rectal delivery of loteprednol etabonate, a novel soft corticosteroid, in rats-for safer treatment of gastrointestinal inflammation. Pharm Res 1995; 12:869–874.
- Bodor N, Wu W-M, Murakami T, Engel S. Soft drugs. 19. Pharmacokinetics, metabolism and excretion of a novel soft corticosteroid, loteprednol etabonate, in rats. Pharm Res 1995; 12:875–879.
- 55. Reddy IK, Khan MA, Wu WM, Bodor NS. Permeability of a soft steroid, loteprednol etabonate, through an excised rabbit cornea. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 1996; 12: 159–167.
- 56. Buris LF, Bodor N, Buris L. Loteprednol etabonate, a new soft steroid is effective in a rabbit acute experimental model for arthritis. Pharmazie 1999; 54:58–61.

- 57. Little RJ, Bodor N, Loftsson T. Soft drugs based on hydrocortisone: the inactive metabolite approach and its application to steroidal antiinflammatory agents. Pharm Res 1999; 16:961–967.
- 58. Raizman M. Corticosteroid therapy of eye disease: fifty years later. Arch Ophthalmol 1996; 114:1000–1001.
- 59. Dickerson JE, Jr., Dotzel E, Clark AF. Steroid-induced cataract: New perspectives from *in vitro* and lens culture studies. Exp Eye Res 1997; 65:507–516.
- 60. Heyns K, Koch W. Über die Bildung eines Aminozuckers aus *d*-Fruktose und Ammoniak. Z Naturforsch B 1952; 7B:486–488.
- Bucala R, Fishman J, Cerami A. Formation of covalent adducts between cortisol and 16α-hydroxyestrone and protein: possible role in the pathogenesis of cortisol toxicity and systemic lupus erythematosus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1982; 79:3320–3324.
- 62. Manabe S, Bucala R, Cerami A. Nonenzymatic addition of glucocorticoids to lens proteins in steroid-induced cataracts. J Clin Invest 1984; 74:1803–1810.
- Bucala R, Gallati M, Manabe S, Cotlier E, Cerami A. Glucocorticoid-lens protein adducts in experimentally induced steroid cataracts. Exp Eye Res 1985; 40:853–863.
- 64. Urban RC, Jr., Cotlier E. Corticosteroid-induced cataracts. Surv Ophthalmol 1986; 31:102–110.
- 65. Bodor N. Design of novel soft corticosteroids. In: Korting HC, Maibach HI, eds. Topical Glucocorticoids with Increased Benefit/Risk Ratio. Basel: Karger, 1993:11–19.
- 66. Bodor N. Designing safer drugs based on the soft drug approach. Trends Pharmacol Sci 1982; 3:53–56.
- 67. Druzgala P, Bodor N. Regioselective O-alkylation of cortienic acid and synthesis of a new class of glucocorticoids containing a 17α -alkoxy, a 17α -(1'-alkoxyethyloxy), a 17α -alkoxymethyloxy, or a 17α -methylthiomethyloxy function. Steroids 1991; 56: 490-494.
- 68. Bodor N. Soft drugs: principles and methods for the design of safe drugs. Med Res Rev 1984; 3:449–469.
- 69. Bodor N. Prodrugs versus soft drugs. In: Bundgaard H, ed. Design of Prodrugs. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1985:333–354.
- Bodor N. Designing safer ophthalmic drugs. In: van der Goot H, Domany G, Pallos L, Timmerman H, eds. Trends in Medicinal Chemistry '88. Proceeding of the Xth International Symposium on Medicinal Chemistry. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1989: 145–164.
- Bartlett JD, Horwitz B, Laibovitz R, Howes JF. Intraocular pressure response to loteprednol etabonate in known steroid responders. J Ocul Pharmacol 1993; 9:157–165.
- 72. Novack GD, Howes J, Crockett RS, Sherwood MB. Change in intraocular pressure during long-term use of loteprednol etabonate. J Glaucoma 1998; 7:266–269.
- 73. Howes J, Novack GD. Failure to detect systemic levels and effects of loteprednol etabonate and its metabolite, PJ-91, following chronic ocular administration. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 1998; 14:153–158.
- 74. Bartlett JD, Howes JF, Ghormley NR, Amos JF, Laibovitz R, Horwitz B. Safety and efficacy of loteprednol etabonate for treatment of papillae in contact lens-associated giant papillary conjunctivitis. Curr Eye Res 1993; 12:313–321.
- 75. Asbell P, Howes J. A double-masked, placebo-controlled evaluation of the efficacy

and safety of loteprednol etabonate in the treatment of giant papillary conjunctivitis. CLAO J 1997; 23:31–36.

- 76. Friedlaender MH, Howes J. A double-masked, placebo-controlled evaluation of the efficacy and safety of loteprednol etabonate in the treatment of giant papillary conjunctivitis. Am J Ophthalmol 1997; 123:455–464.
- 77. Dell SJ, Shulman DG, Lowry GM, Howes J. A controlled evaluation of the efficacy and safety of loteprednol etabonate in the prophylactic treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Am J Ophthalmol 1997; 123:791–797.
- Dell SJ, Lowry GM, Northcutt JA, Howes J, Novack GD, Hart K. A randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled parallel study of 0.2% loteprednol etabonate in patients with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102: 251–255.
- 79. Shulman DG, Lothringer HL, Rubin JM. A randomized, double-masked, placebocontrolled parallel study of loteprednol etabonate 0.2% in patients with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Ophthalmology 1999; 106:362–369.
- Beehler C, Bodner B, Bowman B, Cooke D, Crabb JL, DeBarge LR, Donnenfeld E, Estopinal M, Fox K, Kastl P, Olander K, Sharpe E, Shofner R, Stahl J, Stevenson D, Stewart W, Walters T, Gill S, Howes J, Lawson C, Smerick M, Zaccardelli D, Fazio R, Novack GD, Crockett RS, Hart K. A double-masked, placebo-controlled evaluation of 0.5% loteprednol etabonate in the treatment of postoperative inflammation. Ophthalmology 1998; 105:1780–1786.
- Stewart R, Horwitz B, Howes J. A double-masked, placebo controlled evaluation of 0.5% loteprednol etabonate in the treatment of post-operative inflammation. J Cataract Refr Surg 1998; 24:1480–1489.
- 82. Caldwell D, Cohen GR, Davis J, DeBarge LR, Foley J, Foster CS, Fox K, Friedlaender M, John G, Kaufman A, Nozik R, Olander K, Ostrov C, Raizman M, Rosenbaum J, Sall K, Sheppard J, Stewart D, Stewart W, Tauber J, Trocme S, Zimmerman P, Howes J, Coultas S, Crockett RS, Novack GD, Strahlman ER, Neumann R. Controlled evaluation of loteprednol etabonate and prednisolone acetate in the treatment of acute anterior uveitis. Am J Ophthalmol 1999; 127:537–544.
- Noble S, Goa KL. Loteprednol etabonate. Clinical potential in the management of ocular inflammation. BioDrugs 1998; 10:329–339.
- Howes JF. Loteprednol etabonate: a review of ophthalmic clinical studies. Pharmazie 2000; 55:178–183.
- 85. Poppe H, Szelenyi I. Effects of topically administered loteprednol etabonate on allergic rhinitis in Brown-Norway rats and on late phase allergic eosinophilia in guinea pigs. N-S Arch Pharmacol 1998; 358 (suppl 1):R327.
- 86. Poppe H, Marx D, Heer S, Szelenyi I. Effects of loteprednol etabonate on TNFα and GM-CSF release *in vitro* and on late phase allergic eosinophilia in guinea pigs administered intratracheally as a dry powder. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157(suppl. 3): A522.
- Poppe H, Küsters S, Szelenyi I. Effect of AWD 12–281, a new selective PDE4inhibitor, loteprednol, and beclomethasone in models of allergic rhinitis and airway inflammation in Brown-Norway rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159(suppl 3): A95.

- 88. Poppe H, Marx D, Szelenyi I. Comparison of the therapeutic effects of loteprednol, beclomethasone and fluticasone in preclinical models of allergic rhinitis and airway inflammation and on thymus weight in rats. Eur Respir J 1999; 14(suppl 30):158s.
- 89. Szelenyi I, Hochhaus G, Heer S, Küsters S, Marx D, Poppe H, Engel J. Loteprednol etabonate: a soft steroid for the treatment of allergic diseases of the airways. Drugs Today 2000; 36:313–320.

Development of Inhaled Steroids Based Upon Prodrugs with Prolonged Intraluminal Retention Time

BENGT AXELSSON, PER BÄCKMAN, PER STRANDBERG, and RALPH BRATTSAND

AstraZeneca Research and Development Lund, Sweden

I. Introduction

A weakness of current inhaled steroids is that the bulk of the inhaled substance is rapidly absorbed from airways/lung. Thus, the C_{max} of budesonide, for example, is reached approximately 0.5 hour after inhalation, indicating a rapid absorption (1,2). In the central airways, however, esterification of budesonide into lipids generates a reservoir that is only slowly hydrolyzed back to the active compound. This can to some extent compensate for the rapid absorption (3,4). A substantial systemic uptake of inhaled steroids occurs very rapidly from the peripheral part of the respiratory tract, where it contributes mainly to the adverse effects of steroids. One approach to improve the topical efficacy and reduce the undesirable systemic effects of inhaled steroids would be to prolong the intraluminal deposition time. The water solubility of fluticasone propionate (FP) is 100-fold lower than budesonide (0.1 and 16 μ g/mL, respectively) (5) which may explain why inhaled FP also has a longer mean absorption time (6-8 hours compared to 40 min for budesonide). However, because of its higher systemic activity, FP obviously would require an even longer intraluminal deposition time in order to decrease the plasma concentration even further to reduce its unwanted systemic activity. In the central airways a very long dissolution time may be a problem as it can reduce the topical efficacy because insoluble particles will be removed by mucociliary clearance. By contrast, in the more distal airways and in the lung, where mucociliary clearance is less pronounced, a prolonged deposition time might result in better topical efficacy and reduced systemic activity and therefore improved selectivity of inhaled steroids. In this case, glucocorticoid-sensitive airway diseases like COPD and interstitial lung diseases like alveolitis/granulomatosis may be better treated by slow release steroid formulations.

II. Aim of Astra Project

One approach to improve the topical efficacy/selectivity of inhaled GCS was to decrease their water solubility in the aqueous epithelial lining fluid and thereby prolong the local deposition time and prevent rapid absorption from distal airways and lung. The substitution of a lipophilic acyl chain in the 21-position of the active GCS, D5119, enhanced the compound's lipophilicity (Fig. 1). D5519 possesses a higher receptor affinity and faster hepatic metabolism (6) than budesonide and a receptor affinity and low oral bioavailability similar to FP and mometasone furoate. Although the water solubility of D5519 is similar to budesonide, the palmitic acid ester, D5522, is more than 1000 times lower. As such, D5522 has a negligible apparent receptor affinity due to its fatty acid acylation and can thus be considered a prodrug (7). Hydrolysis of the prodrug by lipases in vivo, however, yields the very potent glucocorticoid D5519. Based on in vitro studies the extracellular lipase activity of the epithelial lining fluid does not allow substantial hydrolysis and uptake of D5522.



Figure 1 Structure of the D-ring of the lipophilic prodrug D5522, and the active gluco-corticosteroid D5519.

III. Lipid Formulation for Attaining Bioavailability of D5522

The very low water solubility of D5522 (<1 ng/mL) implies that the prodrug requires special formulation to achieve bioavailability from the airways/lung. If absorption is incomplete or inefficient, compound accumulation in lower parts of the lung may be a problem due to a lack of mucociliary clearance in that region. By using phospholipids as a co-solvent for D5522, a bioavailable, lipase-sensitive formulation has been developed. The critical importance of this formulation is shown in Figure 2, where the lipase activity toward D5522 in crystalline form or in the phospholipid formulation was compared. While there was almost complete release of D5519 from the lipid formulation, crystalline D5522 was not subject to lipase metabolism. The lipid formulation comprises the phospholipids, dipalmitoylphosphatidyl choline, and dimyristoylphophatidyl choline and is similar to one used previously in a liposomal formulation of the palmitic acid ester of budesonide (8). However, the latter comprised preformed liposomes, while the dry D5522 formulation is a molecular mixture of D5522 and lipids that spontaneously form liposome-like structures when hydrated. In the subsequent presentation the



Figure 2 Generation of D5519 from D5522 after exposure to pancreatic lipase. D5522L (solid line) and crystalline D5522 (dotted line) were incubated with pancreatic lipase in vitro. At different time periods an aliquot of the incubation mixture was analyzed and the amount of D5519 determined. The amount of D5519 is expressed as a percentage of added D5522.

lipid formulation is given the suffix L (D5522L) while D5522 refers to the compound in general.

IV. Pharmacological Testing

The functional importance of prolonged intraluminal deposition time has been tested in a model of Sephadex-induced lung inflammation in rats. In this model, bronchiolitis and alveolitis are induced following intratracheal instillation of Sephadex beads (see Refs. 9-11). The model is characterized by:

- A bronchiolitis with infiltration of white blood cells, which include a high proportion of eosinophils
- An alveolitis, which develops as an interstitial edema, followed by granuloma formation
- Impaired respiration
- Bronchial hyperresponsiveness

Using edema formation as an easily quantifiable marker of inflammation, D5522L administered by inhalation demonstrated a 10-fold better anti-inflammatory potency than budesonide (Fig. 3). Furthermore, D5522L achieved a superior



Figure 3 Local and systemic effects of inhaled budesonide and D5522L in a Sephadexinduced lung alveolitis/bronchiolitis model in rats. Sephadex was instilled on day 1, and the rats were administered steroids by inhalation daily up to day 4 and then sacrificed on day 5. The data represent mean values, n = 6. *p < 0.05; ***p < 0.005.



Figure 4 Effect of hydrated D5522L and D5519 on LPS-induced TNF α release from BAL cells ex vivo after in vivo dosing. Lavages were performed 1, 6, 25, and 49 hours after i.t. instillation of the GCS. The data represent mean values, n = 8. *p < 0.05 compared with saline-treated animals.

therapeutic ratio when the antiedema and systemic effects were compared. Thus, D5522L inhibited lung edema formation by 90% with just a 20% reduction of thymus weight. By contrast, an equieffective anti-inflammatory dose of budesonide was accompanied by an 80% reduction in thymus weight. These in vivo studies therefore confirm the topical selectivity of D5522L compared with budesonide.

The alveolar macrophage is an important inflammatory cell in the lung, and consequently a likely target for steroid action. To determine whether alveolar macrophages contribute to the hydrolysis and efficacy of D5522, BAL cells (consisting predominantly of macrophages) from rats instilled with D5522L were investigated ex vivo with regard to distribution, duration, and function of the compound. When steroid uptake and distribution into alveolar macrophages were compared some hours after intratracheal instillation of either radioactively labeled and hydrated D5522L or D5519, there was significantly higher incorporation of D5522L than of D5519 (data not shown). To study the functional relevance of this enhanced and prolonged cellular disposition, BAL macrophages were stimulated ex vivo with LPS and the release of TNF α was measured. Both D5522L and its active component D5519 completely inhibited TNF α release by cells collected 60 minutes after steroid instillation. D5522L was 10-fold more potent in this respect (Fig. 4). In BAL cells taken 6 hours after steroid administration, complete inhibition of TNF α release by D5522L was still apparent, but only weak inhibi-



Figure 5 Effect of *Ascaris suum* challenge on lung resistance (RL) following administration of GCS (triangles) or placebo (squares) 24 and 36 hours before antigen challenge. The data represent mean values, n = 4. *p < 0.05 compared with control animals.

tion was observed in cells from animals administered with D5519. When the cells were assayed for TNF α release 25 hours after steroid administration, only the inhibitory effect of D5522L was significant. Both compounds were inactive when BAL cells were tested 2 days following steroid administration.

The prolonged, topical antiallergic efficacy of D5522L compared to budesonide has also been documented in the allergic sheep model (W. Abraham, unpublished). Development of the early and late phase reactions after allergic provocation of *Ascaris suum*-sensitive sheep were studied in this well-characterized model (12,13). Pretreatment with budesonide (300 μ g by inhalation 0.5 and 12 hours before challenge) resulted in 50% inhibition of the early phase reaction and total inhibition of the late phase reaction. A similar level of inhibition effect was obtained with D5522L but at lower doses (2 × 100 ug) (data not shown). However, when compounds were administered 36 and 24 hours prior to allergen challenge, the effect of budesonide was lost, whereas D5522L still retained its inhibitory activity in both early and late phase reactions (Fig. 5). This clearly demonstrates that D5522 in lipids possesses a prolonged duration of action compared with conventional GCS.

V. Deposition, Luminal Spreading, and Uptake Mechanisms of D5522L

Inclusion of the naturally occurring phospholipid components of D5522L permits a rapid hydration of the steroid in the phospholipid bilayer. Figure 6 shows the hydration of a D5522/lipid powder after administration to rat trachea. Five minutes



(a)

Figure 6 (a) Image showing hydration of fluorescent D5522L powder after administration to rat trachea. The fluorescent probe was located in the phospholipid moiety. The black arrow indicates the presence of circular liposome-like structures and the bright white area is D5522L powder. The dot-like appearance in the subepithelial region is caused by autofluorescence. (b) Electron micrograph showing formed liposomes in the trachea.

after exposure, a substantial amount of fluorescent lipid material was observed in the upper and lower trachea (Fig. 6a). The material adhered to the epithelial surface, most probably embedded in the mucus layer (invisible in these images). The presence of large liposome-like structures formed from partly hydrated powder is clearly observed in Figure 6b.

The time course for the airways/lung distribution of radioactively labeled and hydrated D5522L (labeled in steroid moiety) following instillation into rat trachea is shown in Figure 7. Samples from different areas of airway/lung were excised at 5 minutes (the earliest possible time point) and 60 minutes, and the total radioactivity was measured. Sixty minutes after administration, the total amount of radioactivity was similar to the total amount measured at 5 minutes. This demonstrates the slow uptake of D5522 and is in accordance with previous studies with liposomal preparations of budesonide palmitate (8). Analysis of individual lung sections, however, revealed significant differences in the distribution of D5522 at 5 minutes and 1 hour. D5522 was found to redistribute over this time period from its initial deposition in the upper and lower trachea to more peripheral lung regions. The mechanism of redistribution is unknown, but the surface properties of the lipid formulation, and the small volume applied (1.5 μ L), suggest that it may occur via the lung surfactant layer.

D5522 requires hydrolysis to the active compound D5519 in order to exert its anti-inflammatory activity. Therefore, a kinetic comparison between the con-



Figure 7 Distribution of radioactively labeled and hydrated D5522L (labeled at the steroid moiety) after intratracheal administration to rats. Samples from different areas of the lung were excised 5 and 60 minutes after steroid administration, and associated radioactivity was measured.

centration of *active* GCS in the trachea and lung following inhalation of D5522L and those obtained following inhalation of budesonide was carried out in rats (Fig. 8). Following administration of equimolar doses of compound, the animals were sacrificed and the trachea and lung excised. D5519 and budesonide were extracted from the tissues and the concentrations of steroids were assayed by a combination of LC-MS/MS. During the first 4 hours following inhalation, the tracheal budesonide concentration was markedly higher than that of active D5519, but at later time points the concentrations equalized. However, there was a marked difference in the lung tissue levels. With the exception of the first hour following administration, a much higher peripheral lung concentration of active D5519 was found compared with budesonide. This observation agrees with the data reported above (Figs. 3 and 4) of a significantly higher topical anti-inflammatory efficacy and selectivity of the prodrug D5522L in the peripheral lung compared to a conventional inhaled steroid.

The disposition of the D5522 and the phospholipid moieties of hydrated D5522L have been analyzed at various time points in the rat. In two separate experiments, the disposition of radiolabeled D5522 (labeled in the steroid moiety)



Figure 8 Tissue concentration of D5519 and budesonide in lung and trachea after inhalation of D5522L and budesonide, respectively. D5519 and budesonide were extracted from the tissues and the amount of steroid was quantified using LC-MS/MS.

and dipalmitoyl-phospatidylcholine (labeled in the choline moiety) were determined at different times in tracheal and lung samples (Fig. 9). The similar distribution of the two compounds suggested that the clearance of D5522 from the airways was mechanistically coupled to that of the carrier lipid and could therefore explain the prolonged deposition and slow tissue uptake/release of D5522/ D5519. It might also imply that the two compounds behave similarly due to the similar physiochemical properties of the phospholipid and lipophilic prodrug.

The similar uptake and disappearance of D5522 and phospholipid in the absence of lipase activity (in the BAL fluid) suggested that a significant proportion of D5522 is taken up and activated in the form of a "lipid complex." The low transport of hydrated D5522L across epithelial cells in vitro (data on file at Astra-Zeneca) suggests that the release and uptake of D5522 from the lipid complex requires the participation of target cells with phagocytic or endocytic capacity. In view of the likely fusion of inhaled endogenous lipid with natural surfactant (14), the target cells are those involved in the turnover of natural surfactant, i.e., alveo-lar macrophages, Clara cells, and type II cells (14, 15). The current hypothesis for the distribution and uptake mechanisms of D5519 from the D5522L formulation are summarized in Figure 10.



Figure 9 Tissue levels over time following intratracheal instillation of hydrated D5522L to rats. Tritiated phosphatidyl choline (squares) and D5522 (circles) were administered at separate occasions as D5522L. The amount of radioactivity in lung and tracheal tissues is expressed as percentage of administered radioactive dose.



Figure 10 Schematic presentation of proposed cells involved in the activation of D5522 to D5519 in the lung from hydrated D5522L.

VI. Conclusion and Prospects

The potent and prolonged anti-inflammatory efficacy of the D5522L formulation results from the slow activation of the prodrug and localized release of the very potent steroid, D5519. Administration of the D5522L powder to the respiratory tract causes a rapid hydration of this formulation and leads to the formation of a dispersed, mobile, slow-release reservoir of D5522 in the airway lumen. Pharmacokinetic studies in dog and humans suggest that the majority of D5522 deposited in the airways/lung is absorbed as D5519 over several hours (mean absorption time in humans is 14 hours). The resulting plasma steroid levels are quite low and comprise very little intact D5522, indicating the efficiency of the hydrolytic process (data in files of AstraZeneca). A minor fraction of the airway-deposited steroid may be transported, by mucociliary clearance, to the oropharynx and swallowed, ultimately being inactivated in the liver and/or gut. BAL fluid does not release D5519 from D5522L to a significant extent (in vitro data), which suggests that the uptake/hydrolysis of D5522 is tissue-associated. Consequently, low levels of active steroid are slowly released in the peripheral part of lung. The kinetics of this process differs from steroid disposition following administration of a conventional inhaled steroid. However, even at central airway level the D5522L formulation exerts anti-inflammatory activity in human airways as it in trials in asthma mediates an anti-asthmatic efficacy similar to budesonide. The kinetic and dynamic results with D5522L in rat lung models suggest, however, that optimal exploitation of this new formulation principle would be in conditions characterized by peripheral airways inflammation, for example, COPD and lung parenchymal disorders, where there is an urgent unmet need for improved and safer therapy. Here, the D5522L formulation serves as a novel lead for the future development of lipophilic prodrugs, where this formulation principle can markedly enhance both topical efficacy and selectivity of local steroid action.

References

- Kaiser H, Edsbäcker S. Dose-proportional pharmacokinetics (PK) of inhaled budesonide (Pulmicort Turbuhaler) in patients with mild asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149: A467.
- Ryrfeldt Å, Andersson P, Edsbäcker S, Tönnesson M, Davies D, Pauwels R. Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of budesonide, a selective glucocorticosteroid. Eur J Respir Dis 1982; 63(suppl 122):86–95.
- Miller-Larsson A, Mattsson H, Hjertberg E, Dahlbäck M, Tunek A, Brattsand R. Reversible fatty acid conjugation of budesonide. Novel mechanism for prolonged retention of topically applied steroid in airway tissue. Drug Metabol Dispos 1998; 26:623–630.

- Thorsson L, Thunissen FBJM, Korn S, Carlshaf A, Edsbäcker S, Wouters EFM. Formation of fatty acid conjugates of budesonide in human lung tissue in vivo. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157: A404.
- 5. Brattsand R. What factors determine anti-inflammatory activity and selectivity of inhaled steroids? Eur Respir Rev 1997; 7 (50):356–361.
- Thalen A, Axelsson B, Andersson P, Brattsand R, Nylander B, Wickström L-I. 6α-Fluoro-and 6α,9α-difluoro-11β,21-dihydroxy-16-α, 17α-propylene-dioxypregn-4-ene-3,20-dione: Synthesis and evaluation of activity and kinetics of their C-22 epimers. Steroids 1998; 63:37–43.
- Brattsand R, Axelsson B. Basis for airway selectivity of inhaled glucocorticiods. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1997:351–379.
- 8. Brattsand R, Axelsson B. New inhaled glucocorticosteroids. In: Barnes PJ, ed. New Drugs for Asthma. London: IBC Techn Serv, 1992:192–2078.
- Brattsand R, Johansson U, Källström L. Sephadex- induced inflammation in the rat. Model description and protective action by drugs (abstr). Int J Microcirc Clin Exp 1986; 5:263.
- Willén H, Carlén B, Brattsand R. Sephadex-induced inflammation in the rat lung: II Light and electron microscopic studies (abstr.) Int J Microcirc Clin Exp 1986; 5:263.
- Bjermer L, Sandström T, Särnstrand B, Brattsand R. Sephadex-induced granulomatous alveolitis in rat- effect on antigen manipulation. Am J Industr Med 1994; 25:73–78.
- Abraham WM. Sheep models of allergic bronchoconstriction. Allergy Allergic Dis 1997; 1–2:1045–1055
- Abraham WM, Lanes S, Stevenson JS, Yerger LD. Effect of an inhaled glucocorticosteroid (budesonide) on post-antigen induced increases in airway responsiveness. Bull Eur Physiopathol Respir 1986; 22(4):387–392.
- Schreier H, Gonzales-Rothi RJ, Stecenco AA. Pulmonary delivery of liposomes. J Controlled Release 1993; 24:209–223.
- Wright JR, Clements JA. Metabolism and turnover of lung surfactant. Am Rev Respir Dis 1987; 135:426-444.

See page 538 for a joint discussion of Chapters 21 and 23.

MEDICAL DOCUMENTATION

24

Transcription Factors AP-1 and NF-κB as Targets for Development of Anti-inflammatory Drugs

MICHAEL KARIN

University of California, San Diego La Jolla, California

I. Introduction

During the past decade there has been a major paradigm shift in the approach to drug development. The commonly used approach has been based to a large extent on the generation of applicable animal models for human disease and the use of such animal models for screening of drug candidates. In rare situations, the cellular or molecular basis for the disease has been understood at a level that allowed the development of drugs based on defined cellular or molecular targets. The new approach that is slowly taking over the drug development field is based on identification of well-defined molecular targets whose inhibition or activation are expected to result in a therapeutic effect. Once such molecular targets are defined, they are used for establishment of high throughput assays that are used for screening of chemical libraries to identify potential drug candidates. The inflammation field provides excellent examples for this paradigm shift. While early efforts were mostly focused on the development of useful animal models for human inflammatory diseases, most of the current effort has been invested in the identification of relevant molecular targets, which can be used to develop high throughput screens for potential anti-inflammatory drugs.

Because most of the long-term effects of inflammation are due to changes in gene expression, much effort has been placed on the identification of transcription factors involved in the activation of inflammation-induced genes and genes encoding inflammatory mediators. Although several transcription factors involved in the induction of such genes have been identified, this review is focused on only two: AP-1 and NF- κ B.

II. Mechanisms of AP-1 and NF-KB Activation

AP-1 is a dimeric, sequence-specific transcriptional regulator composed of members of the Jun and Fos families of basic region-leucine zipper (bZIP) DNAbinding proteins (1). AP-1 is not a single protein but a collection of Jun:Jun and Jun:Fos dimers that can bind to the AP-1 recognition site. Owing to the large number of jun, fos, and related genes, the regulation of AP-1 activity is complex and occurs at several distinct levels (2). Most relevant to inflammation is the regulation of AP-1 activity by members of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) family. These protein kinases, which include the ERKs, the JNKs, and the p38s, migrate to the nucleus upon their activation in response to proinflammatory stimuli and phosphorylate transcription factors, including the Jun proteins, that are involved in the induction of AP-1 activity (3-5). All MAPKs appear to be capable of phosphorylating members of the TCF transcription factor family at their C-terminal activation domain and thereby enhance their ability to induce fos gene transcription (6,7). Members of the JNK group, but not other MAPKs, phosphorylate the activation domains of Jun and ATF2 proteins and enhance their ability to activate target genes, including the *c-jun* gene, which codes for a major component of AP-1 (8-11). The p38s, on the other hand, phosphorylate and activate members of the MEF2 group of transcription factors, some of which are also involved in induction of *c-jun* transcription (12,13). Thus MAPKs contribute to induction of AP-1 activity both by enhancing the transcription of jun and fos genes, leading to higher levels of Jun and Fos proteins, which bind AP-1 sites as dimers, and by increasing the transcriptional activity of both newly synthesized and preexisting Jun proteins (2).

Like AP-1, NF- κ B is also a dimeric, sequence-specific transcriptional regulator. NF- κ B dimers are composed of members of the Rel family of DNA-binding proteins and, like AP-1, represent a heterogeneous collection of dimers with different activities that bind to a common DNA sequence—the κ B site (14,15). NF- κ B activity is regulated at several different levels, through a number of distinct mechanisms, but one form of regulation based on cytoplasmic-nuclear distribution predominates: In nonstimulated cells, NF- κ B dimers are kept in the cytoplasm through interaction with specific inhibitors—the I κ B proteins. All I κ Bs contain a common core domain composed of seven ankyrin repeats, which directly contact the core domain of all NF- κ B proteins—the Rel homology domain (16–18). Through steric hindrance, the first two ankyrin repeats of I κ B prevent the recognition of the nuclear localization sequence (NLS) present in the C-terminal portion of the Rel homology domain (16,17). The major I κ B proteins (I κ B α , I κ B β , and I κ B ϵ) also contain an N-terminal regulatory domain with two conserved serine residues (S32 and S36 in I κ B α) that are rapidly phosphorylated in response to different pro-inflammatory stimuli (18). Once N-terminally phosphorylated, the I κ Bs, still bound to NF- κ B dimers, are recognized by an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex, E3^{I κ B α} (19). The binding of the E3^{I κ B α} complex results in recruitment of an E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme, which catalyzes the transfer of ubiquitin to a conserved arginine found just N-terminally to the I κ B phosphorylation sites (18). Polyubiquitinated I κ B is then recognized by the 26S proteasome, resulting in its rapid degradation. The released NF- κ B dimers are then transported to the nucleus, where they bind κ B sites on target genes to induce their transcription.

Although this elaborate pathway relies on the concerted action of a large number of different proteins, it is the activation of a single enzyme, the IkB kinase (IKK), that sets the entire process in motion. IKK is a complex composed of three subunits, IKK α , IKK β , and IKK γ (20–23). Whereas IKK α and IKK β are the catalytic subunits of the complex, IKK γ is the regulatory subunit. IKK α and IKK β form homo- and heterodimers via a leucine zipper motif, and this dimerization is essential for their activity and/or activation (24,25). The IKK α /IKK β dimers associate through an interaction with an as-yet undetermined number of IKK γ molecules to form a large IKK complex, which is a dimer of IKK α /IKK β dimers (25). In addition to formation of this large complex, the IKK γ subunit is required for responsiveness to yet-to-be-identified IKK activators (23,26). These activators are most likely IKK kinases (IKK-Ks), which activate IKK via phosphorylation of two conserved serines at the activation loops of IKK α and IKK β (27).

Although purified recombinant forms of IKK α and IKK β display the same substrate specificity, phosphorylating the two serines that are needed for I κ B ubiquitination, IKK β is a more efficient I κ B kinase than IKK α (Y. Chen and M Karin, unpublished results). These results are consistent with those of genetic analysis that point out clear functional differences between IKK α and IKK β (28–30). Although IKK α -deficient mice exhibit severe developmental abnormalities, which indicate a role for IKK α in the differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes and possibly other cell types, the activation of IKK and NF- κ B in response to proinflammatory stimuli seem to be perfectly normal in *Ikk\alpha^{-/-}* mice and cells (28). By contrast, IKK β -deficient mice die at mid-gestation due to massive liver apoptosis, a phenotype that is essentially identical to that of mice with targeted disruption of the *RelA* gene, which codes for the major NF- κ B p65 subunit (29,30). The liver apoptosis in both of these mutants is due to the absence of NF- κ B activity which is normally required for counteracting the pro-apoptotic effect of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α , which is produced in large amounts by fetal liver (31). Consistent with these results, cells derived from $Ikk\beta^{-/-}$ mice exhibit severe defects in activation of IKK and NF- κ B in response to proinflammatory stimuli (29).

III. Involvement of AP-1 and NF-κB in Inflammatory Responses

Several lines of evidence indicate that AP-1 and NF-KB are instrumental in gene induction responses triggered by proinflammatory stimuli. First, the protein kinases involved in the activation of AP-1 and NF-KB, the MAPKs and IKK, respectively, are rapidly activated in cells exposed to proinflammatory stimuli, including interleukin (IL)-1, TNFa, components of bacterial cell walls, and double-stranded (ds) RNA, a product of viral infections (32,33). Second, transgenic or knockout mice and cells that are defective in activation of AP-1 or NF-KB exhibit deficiencies in induction of cytokines, chemokines, and other molecules involved in inflammatory responses (33–36). For instance, T cells derived from $Jnk1^{-/-}$ or $Jnk2^{-/-}$ mice exhibit defects in expression of several cytokines, including IL-2, IL-4, and γ -interferon (IFN), that are normally induced in response to antigenic stimulation (34,35). $Jnk2^{-/-}$ fibroblasts exhibit defective induction of type I IFN in response to dsRNA and IL-6 and IL-12 in response to dsRNA, IL-1, or LPS. Defects in induction of type I IFN and other cytokines are also exhibited by $Ikk\beta^{-/-}$ fibroblasts (33,37), and lethally irradiated mice whose hematopoietic system was reconstituted with $Ikk\beta^{-/-}$ stem cells exhibit major defects in the development and activation of B and T cells in response to antigenic stimulation (U. Senftleben, Z.-W. Li, and M. Karin, unpublished results).

Although the proinflammatory stimuli that lead to activation of AP-1 and NF-KB are diverse, at least some of them act through common mechanisms. The binding of IL-1 to its heterodimeric receptor results in the recruitment of several signaling proteins, including a protein called TRAF6, to the cytoplasmic domain of the signaling subunit of the IL-1 receptor (38,39). The latter protein is a member of the Toll family, which includes several other proteins, called Toll-like receptors (TLR), that function as the signaling subunits of receptors for components of bacterial cell walls, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and lipoteichoic acid (40). The signals delivered both by IL-1R and the TLRs depend on the recruitment of TRAF6 (41). Two other members of the TRAF family, TRAF2 and TRAF5, are recruited to TNF receptors and are required for activation of various effector functions, including JNK and IKK activation. The mechanism of TRAF2- and TRAF6-mediated signaling was examined in detail and found to be based on the activation of various downstream effector proteins via a N-terminal effector domain (32). One of the proteins that interact with the N-terminal effector domain of TRAF2 is the MAPKKK MEKK1, whose catalytic activity is stimulated through this interaction (32). Through the generation of $Mekk1^{-/-}$ cells, MEKK1 was shown to be required for JNK activation by TNF α , IL-1, LPS, and dsRNA (Y. Xia et al., unpublished).

Other evidence for the importance of AP-1, JNK, NF- κ B, and IKK comes from the genetic analysis of innate immune responses in *Drosophila*, which are functionally similar to innate immune and inflammatory responses in mammals (5,40). Genetic and functional analysis has provided ample evidence for the conservation of the signaling pathways leading to activation of members of the AP-1 and NF- κ B families in response to challenge of *Drosophila* larvae with various proinflammatory stimuli, including LPS.

IV. Physiological Inhibitors of Inflammation, AP-1 and NFκB

Further evidence for the importance of AP-1 and NF- κ B in activation of inflammatory responses comes from the effect of physiological inhibitors of inflammation on AP-1 and NF- κ B or on the pathways involved in their activation. First and foremost among these inhibitors are glucocorticoid (GC) hormones. GC are released by the adrenal gland and for a long time have been known as potent negative regulators of inflammation and immune responses (42). Both naturally occurring and synthetic GC have been used since the late 1940s as anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs (43,44). Despite severe side effects, GC are still the drug of choice for treatment of certain chronic inflammatory diseases, such as asthma (45). GC are known to inhibit the induction of most cytokines and chemokines, including IL-1, IL-2, IL-3, IL-6, γ -IFN, TNF α , and GM-CSF (46). They also block the induction of metalloproteinases, such as collagenase and stromelysin, in response to proinflammatory stimuli (47,48).

Analysis of the mechanism responsible for inhibition of collagenase gene induction revealed that GC inhibit the activity of AP-1, the transcription factor responsible for collagenase induction in response to proinflammatory stimuli (47,48). The inhibition of AP-1 activity is most likely due to direct interaction between Jun proteins and the activated GC receptor (46–48). A dimerization defective mutant of the GC receptor (GR^{Dim⁻}) fails to bind DNA and induce expression of GC-regulated genes but can still inhibit the activity of AP-1 and block the induction of collagenase and other genes that are induced in response to proinflammatory stimuli (49). Mice that carry the GR^{Dim⁻} mutation in their genome are viable, although they fail to induce classical GC target genes, such as tyrosine aminotransferase, in response to hormonal treatment (50). Most importantly, however, in these mice GC can still inhibit AP-1 activity and prevent the induction of AP-1 target genes (50). These results suggest that the most important function of the GR is negative regulation of inflammation-induced genes rather than induction of GC response genes (46). However, while these results confirm the in vivo importance of the inhibition of AP-1 activity, they shed little new light on the mechanism by which GR exerts this function. Although initially it was believed that the interaction with GCR inhibits the binding of AP-1 to DNA (48), further work suggested that AP-1 remained bound to DNA in GC-treated cells in which the induction of AP-1 target genes is inhibited (48). It is possible that docking of GR onto AP-1 prevents a productive interaction between AP-1 and components of the basal transcriptional machinery. Alternatively, GR can compete with AP-1 for binding of an important co-activator.

Another gene induced by various proinflammatory and antigenic stimuli is the IL-2 gene, which codes for a major T-cell mitogen. Induction of IL-2 transcription is also inhibited by GC and part of this effect is due to inhibition of AP-1 activity (51). However, detailed analysis of targets for GC-mediated inhibition within the IL-2 promoter revealed that some of the inhibitory activity is also targeted towards an NF-KB binding site (51). Indeed, GC were found to inhibit the activation of NF-kB by a variety of proinflammatory stimuli (51,52). Two mechanisms were proposed to account for the observed inhibition. First, GC were found to induce the expression of $I\kappa B\alpha$ (51,52). Once $I\kappa B\alpha$ accumulates it translocates to the nucleus to induce the export of NF- κ B to the cytoplasm. In support of this mechanism, the inhibition of NF-kB by GC was shown to require new protein synthesis (51). A second mechanism was proposed to be based on direct interaction between GR and NF-κB, similar to the interaction between GR and AP-1 (53). However, in those cell lines where the subcellular distribution of NF- κ B was examined, it was noted that whereas the activated GC receptor resides in the nucleus, the inhibited NF-KB dimers are located in the cytoplasm as long as the cells are exposed to GC (51). Regardless of the details of the mechanism by which GC inhibit AP-1 and NF-KB, this inhibition is likely to account for most of their antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity (46).*

Another class of compounds recently identified as physiological inhibitors of inflammation are cyclopentenone prostaglandins (PGs), most notably 15-deoxy PGJ₂ (54,55). Cyclopentenone PGs have been known for quite some time to be capable of inhibiting NF- κ B activation or activity (56). Neither the mechanism nor the physiological significance of this inhibition was clear until recently. Paradoxically, like other PGs, the synthesis of PGJ₂ depends on the activity of cyclo-oxygenase (COX), especially COX2, which serves as a major target for non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). It was recently observed, using a rat model for lung inflammation (pleurisy), that administration of a COX2 inhibitor

^{*}Despite this important realization, so far it has been rather difficult to separate the transactivating function of GC from their transrepressing function through structural alteration of the GC molecule itself.

prior to the induction of inflammation prevented the onset of inflammation, exactly as expected (54). However, when the COX2 inhibitor was given 24 hours after induction of inflammation, it prolonged, rather than terminated, the inflammatory episode (54). This effect was attributed to inhibition of 15-deoxy PGJ₂ synthesis, which unlike the synthesis of PGE, an established inflammatory mediator, peaks at later stages of inflammatory episodes (54). The analysis of the mechanism by which 15-deoxy PGJ₂ inhibits NF- κ B activation revealed that 15-deoxy PGJ₂ is a potent inhibitor of IKK activity (55). Strong but indirect evidence suggests that 15-deoxy PGJ₂ directly reacts with a cysteine residue within the activation loops of IKK α and IKK β and thereby prevents their activation. A mutant of IKK β in which this cysteine has been replaced with an alanine is no longer sensi-

IKKβ in which this cysteine has been replaced with an alanine is no longer sensitive to inhibition, and its transient expression prevents the inhibition of NF-κB activation by 15-deoxy PGJ₂ (55). These findings suggest the existence of a negative regulatory loop that promotes resolution of inflammation. Activation of NF-κB results in induction of various target genes, including the one coding for COX2 (57). Elevated expression of COX2 results in increased production of PGs. Early in inflammation, COX2 catalyzes mostly the production of inflammatory PGs, such as PGE, but later in inflammation, due to an unknown switch in specificity or subcellular localization, it catalyzes mostly the production of anti-inflammatory cyclopentenone PGs, such as 15-deoxy PGJ₂ (54). As 15-deoxy-PGJ₂ forms covalent adducts with IKK catalytic subunits, its increased production results in slow but sustained inhibition of IKK, thereby promoting the resolution of inflammation (55).

Another negative regulator of inflammation is the cytokine IL-10, which can suppress the synthesis of IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, TNF α , IFN γ , and other cytokines by activated leukocytes (58). This inhibition occurs mostly at the transcriptional level (59). Examination of the effect of IL-10 on various transcription factors involved in inflammation revealed that it inhibits the activation of NF- κ B but has no effect on AP-1 or another bZIP transcription factor, NF-IL6 (60). So far, the mechanism by which IL-10 inhibits NF- κ B activation is not understood. Nevertheless, IL-10 is a promising anti-inflammatory drug for treatment of chronic disorders, such as inflammatory bowel disease (61).

V. Development of AP-1 and NF-KB Inhibitors

The findings discussed above suggest that inhibitors of AP-1 and NF- κ B or of the signaling pathways that lead to their activation can be developed into clinically useful anti-inflammatory drugs. The development of such drugs, however, depends on the identification of potent and specific AP-1 and NF- κ B inhibitors. Several approaches can be taken to the development of such inhibitors. At first glance, the simplest approach would be to target the DNA-binding domains of these tran-

scription factors and screen for or develop small molecules that will inhibit their binding to DNA. It has been possible to develop DNA-based decoys that titrate sequence specific transcriptional regulators and thereby prevent their binding to target genes. However, such decoy molecules are relatively large and, being some type of an oligonucleotide and therefore highly polar, they do not enter cells very well. Furthermore, due to the high affinity with which AP-1 and NF- κ B bind to their specific DNA sites, it is rather unlikely that small, cell-penetrating molecules will be able to interact with their DNA-binding domains with the same or higher affinity and specificity as the natural DNA target. As DNA binding by both AP-1 and NF- κ B factors requires the formation of protein dimers, it seems plausible that another approach to inhibit their binding to DNA could be based on targeting of their dimerization domains. However, structural analysis indicates that both AP-1 and NF- κ B proteins use rather large and hydrophobic interaction surfaces to mediate dimerization, and it is therefore rather unlikely that small molecules will be able to disrupt such highly efficient interactions.

In light of these considerations it appears that the protein kinases involved in the activation of AP-1 and NF-KB may be the preferred and most susceptible targets for drug-mediated inhibition. Indeed, protein kinases are enzymes and therefore act catalytically rather than stoichiometrically. Also, as enzymes, protein kinases possess a well-defined catalytic pocket that is engaged in binding of a relatively small molecule—ATP (62.63). Although all protein kinases bind ATP, the residues that line up the ATP-binding site differ from one kinase to the other, thus providing an opportunity for the development of specific inhibitors, all of which compete with the binding of ATP. Initially, protein kinase inhibitors were identified through screening of natural product libraries as well as defined chemical libraries. Such screens have resulted in the identification of quite a number of different and relatively specific protein kinase inhibitors. Biochemical analysis of the mechanism by which such inhibitors affect their protein kinase targets revealed that most of them are competitive inhibitors of ATP binding and therefore are likely to target the ATP-binding site (64). Indeed, in a few cases structural studies have confirmed the binding of protein kinase inhibitors at the ATP-binding site (64). Such results have led to the development of a more specific and systematic approach to the identification of protein kinase inhibitors. This approach is based on the preparation of highly diverse combinatorial libraries based on an adenine nucleus (65). Such libraries contain millions of different ATP analogs and therefore should be a very rich source for competitive inhibitors of ATP binding. Preliminary analysis of such libraries have already resulted in the identification of relatively potent and specific protein kinase inhibitors (65). Using such libraries as sources of inhibitors and purified recombinant forms of MAPKs and IKK, it is only a matter of time until specific MAPK and IKK inhibitors will be identified and tested for their ability to inhibit the activation of AP-1 and NF-KB and thereby prevent the induction of inflammatory responses.

References

- 1. Angel P, Karin M. The role of Jun, Fos and the AP-1 complex in cell-proliferation and transformation. Biochem Biophys Acta 1991; 1072:129–157.
- 2. Karin M. The regulation of AP-1 activity by mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:16483–16486.
- 3. Karin M, Hunter T. Transcriptional control by protein phosphorylation: signal transmission from cell surface to the nucleus. Curr Biol 1995; 5:747–757.
- 4. Hill CS, Triesman R. Transcriptional regulation by extracellular signals: mechanisms and specificity. Cell 1995; 80:199–211.
- 5. Ip YT, Davis RJ. Signal transduction by the c-Jun NH-₂- terminal kinase (JNK)-from inflammation to development. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1998; 10:205–219.
- Hill CS, Wynne J, Treisman R. Serum-regulated transcription by serum response factor (Srf)—a novel role for the DNA binding domain. EMBO J 1994; 13:5421–5432.
- Cavigelli M, Dolfi F, Claret FX, Karin M. Induction of *c-fos* expression through JNK-mediated TCF/Elk-1 phosphorylation. EMBO J 1995; 14:5957–5964.
- Smeal T, Binétruy B, Mercola D, Birrer M, Karin M. Phosphorylation of cJun on Serines 63 and 73 is required for oncogenic and transcriptional cooperation with Ha-Ras. Nature 1991; 354:494–496.
- 9. Hibi M, Lin A, Smeal T, Minden A, Karin M. Identification of an oncoproteinresponsive and UV-responsive protein kinase that binds and potentiates the c-Jun activation domain. Genes Dev 1993; 7:2135–2148.
- 10. Dérijard B, Hibi M, Wu I-H, Barrett T, Su B, Deng T, Karin M, Davis RJ. JNK1: a protein kinase stimulated by UV light and Ha-Ras that binds and phosphorylates the c-Jun activation domain. Cell 1994; 76:1025–1037.
- 11. Gupta S, Campbell D, Dérijard B, Davis RJ. Transcription factor ATF2: regulation by the JNK signal transduction pathway. Science 1995; 267:389–393.
- 12. Han J, Jiang Y, Li Z, Kravchenko VV, Ulevitch RJ. Activation of the transcription factor MEF2C by the MAP kinase p38 in inflammation. Nature 1997; 386:296–299.
- Zhao M, New L, Kravchenko VV, Kato Y, Gram H, di Padova F, Olson EN, Ulevitch RJ, Han J. Regulation of the MEF2 family of transcription factors by p38. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 19:21–30.
- 14. Baeuerle PA, Henkel T. Function and activation of NF-κB in the immune system. Annu Rev Immunol 1994; 12:141–179.
- Verma IM, Stevenson JK, Schwarz EM, Van Antwerp D, Miyamoto S. Rel/NF-κB/ IκB family: intimate tales of association and dissociation. Genes Dev 1995; 9:2723– 2735.
- Jacobs MD, Harrison SC. Structure of an IκBα/NF-κB complex. Cell 1998; 95: 749–758.
- 17. Huxford T, Huang DB, Malek S, Ghosh G. The crystal structure of the I κ Bα/NF- κ B complex reveals mechanisms of NF- κ B inactivation. Cell 1998; 95:759–770.
- 18. Karin M. The Beginning of the End: IκB Kinase (IKK) and NF-κB Activation. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:27339–27342.
- Yaron A, Hatzubai A, Davis M, Lavon I, Amit S, Manning AM, Andersen JS, Mann M, Mercurio F, Ben-Neriah Y. Identification of the receptor component of the IκBαubiquitin ligase. Nature 1998; 396:590–594.

- 20. DiDonato JA, Hayakawa M, Rothwarf DM, Zandi E, Karin M. A cytokine-responsive IκB kinase that activates the transcription factor NF-κB. Nature 1997; 388:548–554.
- Mercurio F, Zhu H, Murray BW, Shevchenko A, Bennett BL, Li J, Young DB, Barbosa M, Mann M, Manning A, Rao A. IKK-1 and IKK-2: cytokine-activated IκB kinases essential for NF-κB activation. Science 1997; 278:860–866.
- Zandi E, Rothwarf DM, Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Karin M. The IκB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKKα and IKKβ, necessary for IκB phosphorylation and NF-κB activation. Cell 1997; 91:243–252.
- 23. Rothwarf DM, Zandi E, Natoli G, Karin M. IKK γ is an essential regulatory subunit of the I κ B kinase complex. Nature 1998; 395:297–300.
- 24. Zandi E, Karin M. Bridging the gap: composition, regulation, and physiological function of the I kappa B kinase complex. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 19:4547–4551.
- Rothwarf DM, Karin M. The NF-κB activation pathway: a paradigm in information transfer from membrane to nucleus. Science's STKE 1999; www.stke.org/cgi/ content/fullOC_sigtrans;1999/5/re1.
- 26. Yamaoka S, Courtois G, Bessia C, Whiteside ST, Weil R, Agou F, Kirk HE, Kay RJ, Israël A. Complementation cloning of NEMO, a component of the IκB kinase complex essential for NF-κB activation. Cell 1998; 93:1231–1240.
- Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Chen Y, Karin M. Positive and negative regulation of IκB kinase activity through IKKβ subunit phosphorylation. Science 1999; 284:309–313.
- 28. Hu Y, Baud V, Delhase M, Zhang P, Deerinck T, Ellisman M, Johnson R, Karin M. Abnormal morphogenesis but intact IKK activation in mice lacking the IKK α subunit of the I κ B kinase. Science 1999; 284:316–320.
- Li Z-W, Chu W, Hu Y, Delhase M, Deerinck T, Ellisman M, Johnson R, Karin M. The IKKβ subunit of IκB kinase (IKK) is essential for nuclear factor-κB activation and prevention of apoptosis. J Exp Med 1999; 189:1839–1845.
- Li Q, Van Antwerp D, Mercurio F, Lee K-F, Verma IM. Severe liver degeneration in mice lacking the IκB kinase 2 gene. Science 1999; 284:321–325.
- Doi TS, Marino MW, Takahashi T, Yoshida T, Sakakura T, Old LJ, Obata Y. Absence of tumor necrosis factor rescues RelA-deficient mice from embryonic lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:2994–2999.
- Baud V, Liu Z-G, Bennett B, Suzuki N, Xia Y, Karin M. Signaling by proinflammatory cytokines:oligomerization of TRAF2 and TRAF6 is sufficient for JNK and IKK activation and target gene induction via an N-terminal effector domain. Genes Dev 1999; 13:1297–1308.
- 33. Chu W-M, Ostertag D, Li Z-W, Chang L, Chen Y, Hu Y, Perrault J, Karin M. JNK2 and IKK β are required for activating the innate response to viral infection. Immunity 1999; 11:1–20.
- Sabapathy K, Hu Y, Kallunki T, Schreiber M, David J-P, Jochum W, Wagner EF, Karin M. JNK2 is required for efficient T-cell activation and apoptosis but not for normal lymphocyte development. Curr Biol 1999; 9:116–125.
- 35. Dong C, Yang DD, Wysk M, Whitmarsh AJ, Davis RJ, Flavell RA. Defective T cell differentiation in the absence of Jnk1. Science 1998; 282:2092–2095.
- Hettmann T, DiDonato J, Karin M, Leiden JM. An essential role for nuclear factorκB in promoting double positive thymocyte apoptosis. J Exp Med 1999; 189: 145–157.

- Li Q, Lu Q, Hwang JY, Büscher D, Lee K-F, Izpsua-Belmonte JC, Verma IM. IKK1deficient mice exhibit abnormal development of skin and skeleton. Genes Dev 1999; 13:1322–1328.
- Cao Z, Xiong J, Takeuchi M, Kurama T, Goeddel DV. TRAF6 is a signal transducer for interleukin-1. Nature 1996; 383:443–446.
- Cao Z, Henzel WJ, Gao X. IRAK: a kinase associated with the interleukin-1 receptor. Science 1996; 271:1128–1131.
- 40. Hoffmann JA, Kafatos FC, Janeway CAJ, Ezekowiz RAB. Phylogenetic perspectives in innate immunity. Science 1999; 284:1313–1318.
- 41. Lomaga MA, Yeh WC, Sarosi I, Duncan GS, Furlonger C, Ho A, Morony S, Capparelli C, Van G, Kaufman S, van der Heiden A, Itie A, Wakeham A, Khoo W, Sasaki T, Cao Z, Penninger JM, Paige CJ, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Boyle WJ, Goeddel DV, Mak TW. TRAF6 deficiency results in osteopetrosis and defective interleukin-1, CD40, and LPS signaling. Genes Dev 1999; 13:1015–1024.
- 42. Felig P, Baxter JD, Broadus AE, Frohman LA. Endocrinology and Metabolism. New York: McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1987.
- 43. Hench PS, Kendall EC, Slocumb CH, Palley HF. The effect of a hormone of the adrenal cortex and of pituitary adrenocorticotrophic hormone in rheumatoid arthritis; preliminary report. Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin 1949; 24:181–187.
- 44. Elkinton JR, Hunt JD, Gadfrey L, McCrory WW, Rogerson AG, Stokes J. Effects of pituitary adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) therapy. J Am Med Assoc 1949; 141:1273–1279.
- 45. Barnes PJ. Inhaled glucocorticoids in asthma: current understanding and future directions. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne, PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1997:651–685.
- 46. Karin M, Saatcioglu F. Negative transcriptional regulation by the glucocorticoid receptor is responsible for the anti-inflammatory activity of glucocorticoids. In: Schleimer RP, Busse WW, O'Byrne, PM, eds. Inhaled Glucocorticoids in Asthma. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1997:29–52.
- 47. Jonat C, Rahmsdorf HJ, Park K-K, Cato ACB, Gebel S, Ponta H, Herrlich P. Antitumor promotion and anti-inflammation: down-modulation of AP-1 (Fos/Jun) activity by glucocorticoid hormone. Cell 1990; 62:1189–1204.
- Yang-Yen HF, Chambard J-C, Sun Y-L, Smeal T, Schmidt TJ, Drouin J, Karin M. Transcriptional interference between cJun and the glucocorticoid receptor: mutual inhibition of DNA-binding due to direct protein-protein interaction. Cell 1990; 62: 1205–1215.
- 49. Heck S, Kullman M, Gast A, Ponta H, Rahmsdorf HJ, Herrlich P, Cato AC. A distinct modulating domain in glucocorticoid receptor monomers in the repression of activity of the transcription factor AP-1. EMBO J 1994; 13:4087–4095.
- Reichardt HM, Kaestner KH, Tuckermann J, Kretz O, Wessely O, Bock R, Gass P, Schmid W, Herrlich P, Angel P, Schutz G. DNA binding of the glucocorticoid receptor is not essential for survival. Cell 1998; 93:531–541.
- Auphan N, DiDonato JA, Rosette C, Helmberg A, Karin M. Immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: Inhibition of NF-κB activity through induction of IκB synthesis. Science 1995; 270:286–290.
- 52. Scheinman RI, Cogswell PC, Lofquist AK, Baldwin AS. Role of transcriptional acti-
vation of IkB alpha in mediation of immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. Science 1995; 270:283–286.

- Ray A, Prefontaine KE. Physical association and functional antagonism between the p65 subunit of transcription factor NF-κB and the glucocorticoid receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994; 91:752–756.
- Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR, Willis D, Chivers J, Paul-Clark MJ, Willoughby DA. Inducible cyclooxygenase may have anti-inflammatory properties. Nat Med 1999; 5:698–701.
- Rossi A, Kapahi P, Natoli G, Takahashi T, Chen Y, Karin M, Santoro M. Antiinflammatory cyclopentenone prostaglandins are direct inhibitors of IκB kinase. Nature 2000; 403:103–108.
- 56. Rossi A, Elia G, Santoro MG. Inhibition of nuclear factor kappa B by prostaglandin A(1): an effect associated with heat shock transcription factor activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94:746–750.
- 57. Herschman HR, Reddy ST, Xie W. Function and regulation of prostaglandin synthase-2. Adv Exp Med Biol 1997; 407:61–66.
- 58. Moore KW, Ogarra A, Malefyt RD, Vieira P, Mosmann TR. Interleukin-10. Annu Rev Immunol 1993; 11:165–190.
- Wang P, Wu P, Siegel MI, Egan RW, Billah MM. II-10 inhibits transcription of cytokine genes in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Immunol 1994; 153: 811–816.
- Wang P, Wu P, Siegel MI, Egan RW, Billah MM. Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor kappa-B (NFκB) activation in human monocytes. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 9558–9563.
- Schreiber S, Heinig T, Thiele HG, Raedler A. Immunoregulatory role of Interleukin 10 in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 1995; 108:1434– 1444.
- 62. Taylor SS, Knighton DR, Zheng J, Ten Eyck LF, Sowadski JM. Structural framework for the protein kinase family. Annu Rev Cell Biol 1992; 8:429–462.
- 63. Bossemeyer D. Protein kinases—structure and function. FEBS Lett 1995; 369: 57-61.
- 64. Mohammadi M, McMahon G, Sun L, Tang C, Hirth P, Yeh BK, Hubbard SR, Schlessinger J. Structures of the tyrosine kinase domain of fibroblast growth factor receptor in complex with inhibitors. Science 1997; 276:955–960.
- Gray NS, Wodicka L, Thunnissen AM, Norman TC, Kwon S, Espinoza FH, Morgan DO, Barnes G, LeClerc S, Meijer L, Kim SH, Lockhart DJ, Schultz PG. Exploiting chemical libraries, structure, and genomics in the search for kinase inhibitors. Science 1998; 281:533–538.

Discussion

- **Dr. Brattsand:** Do you see JNK inhibitors mainly as a substitute for or as a complement to glucocorticoids? Do you think that JNK activation contributes to glucocorticoid resistance?
- **Dr. Karin:** JNK inhibitors can be used alone as well as as a complement to glucocorticoids.
- **Dr. Schleimer:** I was interested to see that the JNK inhibitor blocked TNF and IL-1 production but not IL-8. Does this imply that TNF and IL-1 are not important inducers of IL-8 production? Is the lack of effect on IL-8 production true for other chemokines? Have you used your unique compound libraries to look for inhibitors of JAK enzymes involved in STAT6 activation? Since STAT6 seems to be so important in Th2-cell development, this seems worthwhile. Do you suspect the JNK inhibitors will prove to be equally effective against Th1 and Th2?
- **Dr. Karin:** These data are preliminary and certainly don't mean that TNF and IL-1 do not regulate IL-8. No work on JNK inhibitors has been done. In my mind, JNK inhibitors should inhibit both Th1 and Th2 functions.
- **Dr. Busse:** The observation that JNK activation could occur in $PKR^{-/-}$ mice is intriguing because this may be a pathway not affected by steroids. The questions I have are, what cell line was this process evaluated in, and what secretory events were evaluated in response to dsRNA?
- **Dr. Karin:** The dsRNA work was done in fibroblasts. We found that JNK activation contributes to IL-6, IL-8, and IL-12 induction.
- **Dr. Stellato:** It has been shown recently that the ability of JNK inhibitor to downregulate LPS-induced TNFa production from monocytes was lost in mice in which the AURE of the 3'UTR of TNFa mRNA was mutated, implying that JNK targets AURE-dependent posttranscriptional and translational regulatory elements. Do you have any information about the potential targets of JNK in these pathways?
- **Dr. Karin:** We are working on the role of JNK in mRNA stabilization, but this work has not progressed to the point where I can answer your question.
- **Dr. Georas:** What exactly is the role of calcineurin in mediating activation of JNK, and how do you think JNK inhibitors will compare with some of the selective calcineurin antagonists being developed?
- **Dr. Karin:** Calcineurin-mediated Ca affects JNK activity in T cells. JNK inhibitors may generate similar effects to the calcineurin inhibitors in T cells.

- **Dr. Denburg:** TNFα has some positive effects on hemopoiesis and also protects against nephritis in lupus-prone MRL mice. Have you examined the effects of JNK inhibitors on hemopoiesis or in MRL mice?
- **Dr. Karin:** Not yet, but we know that the related MAPK, p38b is required for erythropoiesis.
- **Dr. Brattsand:** When you think forward about potential JNK inhibitors for respiratory diseases, do you think they will be applied by systemic or local administration? From the drug development point of view, it would be easier to reach efficacy and topical selectivity by local therapy.
- **Dr. Karin:** Depending on the actual inhibitor eventually developed, it should be useful to use them both systemically and topically. Of course, when possible, topical application may be desired.

MEDICAL DOCUMENTATION

Remodeling and the Effects of Steroids in Asthma

PETER K. JEFFERY

National Heart and Lung Institute Imperial College London, England

I. Introduction

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory condition of both "large" and "small" conducting airways: activated T-helper lymphocytes, eosinophils, and mast cells are increased in number, and this is linked to structural changes occurring in the airway wall, the last referred to as airway wall remodeling (1,2). There is an associated increase in airway responsiveness to a variety of stimuli not normally causing such reaction in normal healthy individuals. In addition to the chronic inflammation of asthma, there may be acute bouts of inflammation with episodic symptoms, including wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness, and cough, usually associated with variable airflow obstruction that is at least partially reversible either spontaneously or following treatment. The reliance on reversibility for the clinical definition of asthma as distinct from the airflow obstruction associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is not without difficulty (Fig. 1). While the clinical and tissue differences between the nonsmoking asthmatic with reversible airflow obstruction and the smoker with COPD are reasonably clear (3), a significant proportion of asthmatics (particularly in the older age group) demonstrate relatively poor reversibility. Likewise, many patients with COPD may show sig-



Figure 1 Interrelationship between asthma and chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD).

nificant airway reversibility, associated with some of the inflammatory and airway structural features of asthma (4).

Inhaled corticosteroids are highly effective agents in the treatment of mild to moderate asthma: they reduce airway inflammation, decrease symptoms, and improve lung function (5-7). However, about 10-15% of asthmatics respond poorly to inhaled or oral corticosteroids, and (as in COPD) this is often associated with accelerated decline in lung function even in the absence of a history of smoking (8,9): symptoms persist and inflammation continues in spite of steroid treatment (Fig. 2). The current premise is that the accelerated decline in forced expiratory flow over time is the result of a shift from episodic acute to chronic inflammation and consequent airway wall remodeling. The remodeling results in a thickening of the airway wall, reduction of the airway lumen, and a marked increase in resistance to airflow (Fig. 3) (10,11).

Acute inflammation is the response of a vascularized tissue to injury: it protects the host and restores tissue to normal by a process of healing in which there is a process of transient remodeling. The concept of "remodeling" implies that a process of "modeling" must have preceded it. For example, the lung in utero undergoes extensive modeling and remodeling: these processes are entirely appropriate to the normal process of lung development. Accordingly, the working definition of remodeling proposed herein is "an alteration in size, mass or number of tissue structural components that occurs during growth or in response to injury and/or inflammation. It may be appropriate, as in lung development or the acute



Figure 2 Decline of lung function (FEV_1) in a subgroup of male nonsmokers with severe asthma. (Adapted from Ref. 9.)

reaction to injury, or 'inappropriate' when it is chronic as, for example, in: asthma, COPD or fibrosing alveolitis." For example, in wound healing (in the skin) there is swelling/edema, rapid restitution of the denuded areas by epithelial dedifferentiation, proliferation, and migration from the margins of the wound. This is associated with an inflammatory reaction: i.e., early infiltration of the injured tissue by neutrophils and later by lymphocytes and macrophages. Reticulin is deposited within days, and this may mature to form interstitial collagen, a scar, by 2-3 weeks. In addition, healing may involve contraction of the surrounding tissue by myofibroblasts that may proliferate transiently in relatively large numbers (12,13). Thus, normal tissue architecture is restored consequent to an inflammatory and appropriate remodeling process in which a number of inflammatory cytokines and growth factors are involved. All of the components of wound healing and many of the cytokines involved appear also in asthma, but in asthma both the inflammation and remodeling persist and the consequences are inappropriate to the maintenance of normal (airway) function. The reasons for the persistence are unknown but may be the result of repeated inhalation of allergen or exposure to high concentrations of allergen or a genetically influenced abnormal host inflammatory response or defect in the repair process. It is currently presumed that there is a continuum between the chronic inflammation, remodeling and loss of function in asthma (Fig. 4), but as yet there is no evidence for this. It could be that the



Figure 3 Diagrammatic representation of the thickened airway wall in asthma (on right) as compared with the normal.



Figure 4 Interrelationship between acute and chronic inflammation and airway wall remodeling.

mechanisms responsible for the maintenance of chronic inflammation and those that perpetuate remodeling are distinct. Thus it should not be assumed that corticosteroids, acknowledged as powerful anti-inflammatory agents, should also attenuate or reverse the remodeling process. Second, theoretically it would not be helpful to reduce that component of (acute) inflammation that is protective to the host. Thus, the targets for steroid treatment in asthma should ideally be (1) the *chronic* inflammatory elements, e.g., lymphocytes, monocytes/macrophages, and the chronic tissue eosinophilia, and (2) any aspect of the remodeling process that is inappropriate to normal airway and lung function, e.g., goblet cell hyperplasia, reticular basement membrane thickening, and an increase in the mass of bronchial smooth muscle.

The following considers the distinct components of the airway wall that are considered to be "injured" and inappropriately remodeled in asthma and the current evidence and controversies regarding the effects of corticosteroids in influencing such remodeling.

II. Surface Epithelium

Histologically, damage and shedding of the airway surface epithelium are reported in asthma postmortem (Fig. 5), but this change is highly variable, with some airways having intact surface epithelium even in the presence of marked inflammation and other structural changes. Loss of the epithelium induces a healing process that either results in complete restoration of the columnar/cuboidal epithelium with normal proportions of goblet and ciliated cells or, if the injury is repeated, squamous cell metaplasia and/or goblet cell hyperplasia. Histologically, damage and shedding of airway surface epithelium appears to be an early feature of asthma as it is prominent in biopsy specimens of patients with stable mild disease: it is not a usual feature of smokers with bronchitis or COPD (Fig. 6) (14-16). Loss of superficial epithelium is normally accompanied by mitotic activity in the remaining cells (see Ref. 17), albeit there are unpublished data indicating that the mitotic response in asthma may be abnormally suppressed. Aggregations of platelets together with fibrillary material thought to be fibrin have been observed in association with the damaged surface. The greater the loss of surface epithelium in biopsy specimens, the greater is the degree of airway responsiveness (14). It is recognized that there is inevitably artefactual loss of surface epithelium during the taking and preparation of such small biopsy pieces, even normally, which makes interpretation of the epithelial loss seen in bronchial biopsies difficult (18). In the author's opinion, the observed loss in biopsies reflects the fragility (but not loss) of the epithelium in vivo and the consequent loss of an already loosened epithelium that occurs during the bronchoscopy procedure. The fragility of the epithelium in vivo in asthma is supported by the frequent appearance of clusters of sloughed epi-



Figure 5 Histological sections stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E). (a) Part of the airway wall of an accidental nonasthmatic death showing intact airway epithelium, a thin reticular basement membrane (RBM) (arrow) and small blocks of airway smooth muscle (ASM) (small arrow). (b) A case of fatal asthma showing sloughing of the surface epithelium, a homogeneously thickened and hyaline RBM (arrow), a marked infiltration of the mucosa by inflammatory cells and enlarged ASM (small arrow). Scale = 80 μ m.

thelial cells in sputa (19) and the increased presence of bronchial epithelial cells in bronchoalveolar lavage of asthmatics with mild disease (15).

There are few studies of the effects of steroids on epithelial integrity and epithelial cell composition. The biopsy study by Lundgren and colleagues (20) demonstrated that periods of up to 10 years of treatment of asthmatic patients with inhaled beclomethasone (400 μ g daily) were associated with repair of damaged ciliated epithelium as assessed by scanning electron microscopic examination. In another study in which tissues had been prepared for transmission electron microscopy (TEM), bronchial biopsies obtained before randomization were compared with those obtained from patients after 3 months of treatment with 750–1200 μ g daily of budesonide (21). Compared to the biopsies taken from subjects given the placebo, TEM of biopsies taken from the steroid-treated group demonstrated a restored ciliated to goblet cell ratio, greater numbers of intraepithelial nerves, and fewer inflammatory cells (21,22).

Epithelial goblet cell hyperplasia and submucosal gland enlargement is a feature of fatal asthma (23). Many asthmatics suffer from excessive production of mucus, which, together with the inflammatory exudate, forms highly tenacious plugs that block the airways (24). Goblet cell hyperplasia is a feature of asthma



(b)

Figure 6 H&E-stained sections of bronchial biopsies. (a) Section from a case of mild atopic asthma showing the sloughing of the epithelium (small arrow) and the early thickening of the RBM (arrow). (b) In contrast, a case of a smoker with COPD has an intact epithelium that shows squamous metaplasia (small arrow) and a RBM (arrow) of normal thickness. Scale = $60 \mu m$.

(25,26) and also of bronchitis (27): this aspect of remodeling can also be reproduced in animal (rodent) "models" of these two human conditions following repeated exposure to inhaled allergen or to cigarette smoke, respectively (28-30). For example, 2 weeks of passive daily exposure of laboratory rats to cigarette smoke induces airway goblet cell hyperplasia. The effect of cigarette smoke can be attenuated by concurrent (intraperitoneal) administration of dexamethasone, prednisolone, or hydrocortisone (in order of descending effectiveness) (31). In the sensitized atopic mouse model, repeated intratracheal allergen challenge induces a dose-related goblet cell hyperplasia in the large airways and a mucous metaplasia in the smaller airways that normally lack this cell type: there is also an IL5-dependent eosinophilia (32). When a "subclinical" infection with a strain of human respiratory syncytial virus is superimposed on the model of atopic asthma, there is recruitment of monocytes and lymphocytes to the airways associated with discharge of mucin from goblet cells. Daily systemic treatment with dexamethasone during the period of allergen challenge results in a reduction of the numbers of inflammatory cells and a dose-related suppression of the developing increase in goblet cells (Fig. 7): moreover, similar treatment with the steroid during the resolution phase shortens the time taken to recover to normal (33).

In respect to the epithelium's role in inflammation, there is also experimental evidence in vitro that steroids can attenuate the production of epithelial-derived pro-inflammatory molecules such as eotaxin and monocyte chemoattractant pro-



Figure 7 Bar chart showing reduction by dexamethasone (dex) of ovalbumin (OA)– induced goblet cell hyperplasia (GCH) in the mouse. Groups: A, saline challenge + saline treatment; B, OA + saline; C, OA + dex (0.1 mg/kg/day); and D, OA + dex (1 mg/kg/day). (Adapted from Ref. 33.)

Median score

tein (34,35). Moreover, dexamethasone dose-dependently inhibits adenovirusinduced ICAM-1 expression by epithelial cells responsible for inflammatory cell/ epithelial cell interaction and adhesion (36). Thus, the effects of inhaled steroids would be expected, in vivo, to reduce the attraction, retention, and accumulation of inflammatory cells in the epithelium and protect against consequent epithelial injury and remodeling.

III. Reticular Basement Membrane

Recurrent epithelial injury or failure of the epithelium to repair normally would result in the continued release of epithelial-derived factors (such as transforming growth factor beta), which would affect not only the epithelium per se but also structures lying deeper in the airway mucosa. Thickening of the subepithelial reticular basement membrane (RBM) (i.e., the lamina reticularis) has long been recognized as a consistent change in extrinsic, intrinsic, and occupational forms of asthma (14,37-40) (see Figs. 5b and 6a). This example of remodeling, when homogeneously thickened and hyaline in appearance, is very characteristic of asthma and is not found in COPD (see Fig. 6b). The reticular basement membrane is not present in the fetus (at least up to 18 weeks of gestation) but develops in normal, healthy individuals, presumably during childhood: its thickening in asthma occurs very early on (41), even before asthma is diagnosed (42). The thickening remains even when asthma is mild and well controlled by antiasthma treatment (43), and it is present postmortem in patients with a long history of asthma but who have not died of their asthma (39) (Fig. 8). The extent of thickening is maximal early on in the development of asthma, and it does not appear to increase significantly in thickness with time or severity of disease, albeit the last is debated. The reticular basement membrane is immunopositive for collagen types III and V, for fibronectin, but not laminin: consequently its thickening in asthma has been referred to as "subepithelial fibrosis" (38). In the author's opinion this is an unfortunate application of the term "fibrosis" as the thickened layer of reticulin is ultrastructurally distinct from the "banded" (65 nm periodicity) collagen, which lies deeper in the interstitium of the airway wall, or that which comprises a scar. In contrast to interstitial collagen the reticular basement membrane is composed of thinner fibers of reticulin linked to a tenascin-rich matrix in which there are sugars together with entrapped molecules such as heparin sulfate and serum-derived components such as fibronectin. These entrapped molecules may modulate the state of differentiation, integrity, and function of the overlying surface epithelium and may, in the author's opinion, provide an osmotic gradient that encourages its thickening by swelling. Interestingly the thickened layer does not behave as a barrier to the transmigration of inflammatory cells, which presumably by the release of enzymes (e.g., metalloproteases) pass through it. The thickening shows a positive association with airways hyperresponsiveness and the frequency of asthma



Figure 8 Scanning electron micrographs (SEM) of the epithelium and its RBM. (a) Ciliated epithelium with an RBM (arrow) of normal thickness. Scale = $40 \,\mu$ m. (b) A thickened RBM (arrow) in a case of a man with 25-year history of asthma but who did not die of his asthma. Scale = $10 \,\mu$ m.

attacks and with the numbers of fibroblasts and "myofibroblasts" that lie external and adjacent to it (44,45).

Can the RBM thickening of asthma be reversed? Evidence to support the capacity for the RBM to reduce in thickness comes initially from studies of subjects with occupational, toluene diisocyanate-induced asthma (46). In this study bronchial biopsies were taken at diagnosis and 6 months later, after cessation of the occupational exposure when the thickness of the RBM was found to be significantly reduced in spite of evidence of continued inflammation. In another study, the results of a placebo-controlled bronchial biopsy study of inhaled fluticasone (250 µg) given for 6 weeks showed a significant withingroup reduction in RBM thickness in the FP-treated group (47). However, in the author's opinion, comparison of the FP-treated group with the placebo renders the reductive effect of FP questionable. The randomization starting levels in the active group were unfortunately much higher than the placebo, and the final value after reduction with FP was similar to that of the placebo (see Fig. 9). Tenascin and fibronectin are extracellular matrix components expressed normally during morphogenesis and in repair after injury. Interestingly, there is increased immunoreactivity for tenascin in the RBM of patients with chronic and seasonal asthma, and in the latter group, inhaled budesonide (800 µg daily) prevented the birch pollen-induced increase in tenascin (48). Further support for the efficacy of inhaled steroids in reversing RBM thickening comes from a prospective, randomized, single-blind, parallel



Figure 9 Graph showing the effects of 6 weeks of treatment with an inhaled steroid on the thickness of the RBM. (Adapted from Ref. 47.)

trial with a 2-year follow-up of the effects of inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide or beclomethasone) given at a range of doses to mild to moderate asthmatics (49). A treatment strategy aimed at reducing airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) (i.e., the AHR strategy) in addition to the recommendations of the then current guidelines was more effective in controlling asthma and reducing inflammation than that of the then current guidelines alone (i.e., the reference strategy). Quantification of bronchial biopsies demonstrated that the thickness of the RBM was significantly reduced after 2 years of treatment, but only in the AHR strategy group, and the difference was significant when compared with the reference strategy group (Fig. 10). In another placebo-controlled study of 1000 µg BDP daily given over 4 months, there were significant reductions reported in the thickness of the subepithelial components that immunostained for type III collagen (50). However, the interpretation of these results is equivocal, as the measurements of RBM thickness were more than three times higher than the average of values obtained by all other investigators in the field. It is likely that the authors were measuring the RBM as well as the deeper interstitial collagen, which also stains for type III collagen.

In contrast, an earlier TEM study of mild asthmatics biopsied before and after treatment with either steroid or beta-agonist, demonstrated no significant reductive effect on the RBM thickness following inhaled budesonide (400 μ g daily) or terbutaline given over 4 weeks (51). The same study also reported the results of a cross-sectional analysis of a group of more severe asthmatics and found no



Figure 10 The effects of two distinct treatment regimens given over 2 years to asthmatics, using the current guideline recommendations (reference-strategy) and using the additional endpoint of reduction in airways hyperresponsiveness (AHR strategy). The latter is associated with a significant reduction of the RBM thickness. (Adapted from Ref. 49.)

significant effect of inhaled steroids given for up to 10 years (average 3.5 years) in spite of marked reductions in the numbers of inflammatory cells. The same group of workers recently demonstrated that the RBM of asthmatics who required regular inhaled steroids for adequate long-term control had a RBM that was significantly thicker than a group of subjects with COPD free of steroid treatment but matched for age and disease severity (43) (see Table 1).

Thus, the effects of steroids on RBM thickness in asthma are still debated. On balance, the evidence appears to favor a reductive effect, but more confirma-

Airway level	Normal	CB alone	CB + COPD	Asthma
Lobar	3.7 ± 0.3	4.9 ± 0.2	4.1 ± 0.4	$8.3 \pm 0.5*$
Subsegmental	4.3 ± 0.4	4.6 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 0.3	$8.3 \pm 0.6*$

Table 1 Thickness (μ m) of Reticular Basement Membrane ± SEM

*p < 0.05 compared with normal, CB, or CB + COPD. *Source*: Ref. 43.

tory studies are required and the mechanism by which this could be brought about needs to be elucidated.

IV. Interstitial Collagen and Elastic Tissue

In contrast to the fibrotic changes recognized to occur in COPD, the evidence for fibrosis in asthma is, at best, controversial. There are reports of increased airway wall collagen in mild asthma (52). The amount of subepithelial interstitial collagen, referred to by the authors as "subepithelial fibrosis," is reported to increase with the severity of asthma and to correlate with loss of lung function (53). However, others researchers demonstrate little or no change in collagen content in asthma and no relationship of collagen mass to the severity of disease (45).

Most researchers agree that transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) is a potent pro-fibrotic cytokine: associations between TGF- β and the number of fibroblasts in asthma have been demonstrated (53,54). Yet the data as to whether or not tissue TGF- β is increased in asthma are contradictory (45,53–55). The immunohistochemical results of examination of biopsies in mild asthma by Trigg and colleagues (50) for the identification of collagen type III likely included measurements of interstitial collagen as well as components of the RBM. The steroid-related reductive effects these authors reported indicate that steroids may reduce overall collagen mass (at least in the mucosa) in asthma. In contrast, there was no effect of corticosteroid on either the amount of collagen or elastic tissue of the airway wall when electron microscopy and stains for elastic are applied to the airways and lungs of both mild and fatal cases of asthma. As a positive control for the procedure, there were, however, reductions found in the cases of cystic fibrosis (56).

Fibroblasts are the main cells responsible for the production of connective tissue matrices, and they are key cells involved in normal repair. Their number, activity, and contractility are regulated by a variety of pro-inflammatory mediators and growth factors. One much implicated factor is, again, TGF- β , whose source may be, initially, the damaged epithelium (referred to above) and later the fibroblast per se. The concentrations of TGF- β are reported to be increased in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) of asthmatics, and the increases are reduced in asthmatic subjects following 3–12 months of treatment with FP (750 µg bd). During this time there are significant improvements in airways responsiveness and lung function (i.e., FEV₁) (57). It appears also that the auto-induction of TGF- β 1 by fibroblasts in culture can be inhibited by steroid (budesonide) and that the effect of a single dose can be sustained for 24 hours (58). Interestingly, steroids augment fibroblast contraction by inhibition of the release of prostaglandin E, a prostanoid that normally inhibits fibroblast contraction (59). The biological relevance of the last observation is presently unclear: it may be of greater relevance in the treatment of small airways of subjects with COPD where scarring and irreversible contraction of airways is known to occur. Fibroblast function in asthma does appear to be altered: those harvested from biopsies of asthmatics are reported to proliferate less well and have a shorter life span than those obtained from normal individuals. In addition, those from asthmatics respond by proliferation (i.e., incorporate tritiated thymidine into their DNA) to either platelet-derived growth factor-BB or dexamethasone, while fibroblasts from the biopsies of nonasthmatic individuals do not (60). These data require confirmation, and their biological significance needs to be understood.

V. Airway Vessels

Dilatation of bronchial mucosal blood vessels, congestion, and wall edema are also consistently reported features of fatal asthma, and these can account for considerable swelling of the airway wall (see Figs. 11 and 12) (61-63). Vasodilatation, congestion, and mucosal edema are cardinal signs of inflammation (64). The



Figure 11 Transverse section of a bronchus in a case of fatal asthma stained with H&E to show lumenal plugging, many dilated and congested bronchial vessels (V), inflammation and areas of ASM (arrow) in the airway wall. Scale = $180 \,\mu\text{m}$. (Courtesy of Professor Heard.)



Figure 12 SEM of part of the airway wall in fatal asthma showing the thickening of the wall due to dilatation of bronchial vessels (V) and enlargement of airway smooth muscle (ASM) (arrow). Scale = $50 \,\mu m$.

formation of granulation tissue in which new vessels appear is a normal part of the healing response. There are indications that there may be new growth of bronchial vessels that contribute to the increased vascularity of the airway wall in mild asthma (65) and particularly when asthma is severe (66). In the former mild group, 7 asthmatics who did not receive inhaled corticosteroids had a significantly greater number of and greater area of the mucosa occupied by bronchial vessels than 11 nonasthmatic controls: these changes correlated with the degree of airway responsiveness and percentage change in FEV₁ after bronchodilator. Those receiving inhaled corticosteroid (beclomethasone, 200–1500 μ g daily) had a statistically significantly reduced vessel area and a trend to fewer vessels than those not treated (67).

VI. Bronchial Smooth Muscle

The percentage of bronchial wall occupied by bronchial smooth muscle is increased in fatal asthma (23) (Fig. 12). The absolute increase in muscle mass is reported to be particularly striking in large intrapulmonary bronchi of lungs ob-



Figure 13 Bar chart demonstrating the area of the airway wall occupied by airway smooth muscle (ASM) in three groups of subjects: nonasthmatics, asthmatics who did not die of asthma, and those who died in status asthmaticus. The enlargement of ASM is prominent in the large airways of fatal asthma. Pbm = millimeter perimeter basement membrane. (Adapted from Ref. 11.)

tained following a fatal attack as compared with that in asthmatic subjects dying of other causes (11). The increase in muscle mass is an important contributor to the thickening of the airway wall and hence to the marked increase in resistance to airflow, which may become life-threatening (10,68-70). Using a morphometric technique applied to tissue sections of airways, Dunnill and coworkers (23) showed that approximately 12% of the airway wall in segmental bronchi obtained from cases of fatal asthma was comprised of muscle compared to about 5% in normals. Hogg and colleagues (71) confirmed this trend in airways larger than 2 mm in diameter and demonstrated a three- to fourfold increase over normal in the area of the wall occupied by bronchial smooth muscle. In asthma the increase in muscle mass, in absolute terms, is not as striking in airways of less than 2 mm in diameter (72), albeit the relative contribution of airway wall muscle to overall airway wall thickness in small airways is greater than that in large airways (Fig. 13). The relative contribution of muscle fiber hyperplasia (73), hypertrophy (74,75), or other mechanisms to the increase in muscle mass in asthma is unclear. Two patterns of distribution of increased muscle mass have been described in asthma: one in which the increase occurs throughout the airways and another in which the increase is restricted to the largest airways (74,75). It is suggested that in the former there is muscle fiber hyperplasia as well as hypertrophy, in the latter hypertrophy alone. Thus, smooth muscle cell proliferation (an increase in fiber number) is likely to be a major contributor to the increase in smooth muscle mass.

The mechanisms that control airway smooth muscle proliferation may be studied in vitro using the uptake of tritiated thymidine as a marker of DNA synthesis, and the number of cells can be counted to assess the degree of muscle cell proliferation. A number of agents including cytokines and growth factors influence the growth of airway smooth muscle (ASM). These include epidermal growth factor (EGF), insulin-like growth factor (IGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), tumor necrosis factor (TNF), fetal calf serum (FCS), thrombin, and leukotriene D₄ (LTD4). In vitro pretreatment of human ASM with dexamethasone (100 nM for 60 min) inhibits the mitogenic response (both ³H-thymidine and cell number) of ASM to thrombin, bFGF, FCS, and EGF, with the greatest and least inhibitory effects of the steroid seen with thrombin and EGF, respectively. Following thrombin, addition of dexamethasone up to 19 hours (but not after 21 hours) following thrombin treatment produces a similar degree of inhibition as that seen with pretreatment of ASM by steroid (76). There is also a dose-dependent steroid (methyl-prednisolone) inhibition of LTD4-induced ASM proliferation reported (77). TNF at low doses (0.3-30 pM) appears to have a mild mitogenic effect on ASM, which can be inhibited by dexamethasone: however, at higher doses (300 pM, i.e., in the range of concentration detected in BALF) TNF blocks the stimulatory effects of thrombin (78). Interestingly, the TNF blockade of thrombin-induced ASM proliferation can also be inhibited by dexamethasone (78). Steroids have been shown to block ASM proliferation by reduction of intracellular cyclin D1, both mRNA and protein, via their action at an intracellular site downstream of or parallel to the ERK (extracellular regulated kinase) pathway (79).

In respect to other mechanisms contributing to the increase in airway smooth muscle mass, we have observed that solitary contractile cells (referred to as "myofibroblasts") appear in substantial numbers during the late phase response to allergen challenge (Fig. 14). We have suggested that, with repeated exposure to allergen, these "myofibroblasts" or "fibromyocytes" contribute not only to the increased production of reticulin (i.e., reticular basement membrane) but may also be precursors of the increased mass of bronchial smooth muscle seen in the airway wall in severe asthma (80). We propose that dedifferentiation of existing smooth muscle and its migration, in the form of a myofibroblast phenotype, to a subepithelial site occurs in asthma (80): this process may parallel the changes of vascular smooth muscle described in atherosclerosis (81). This late phase "remodeling" response to allergen challenge may also be responsive to pharmacological intervention. Such clinical experiments to determine the effects of treatment are ongoing: there are no data, as yet, in humans concerning the effectiveness of steroids, β-agonists, or leukotriene antagonists in inhibiting the initiation of the myofibroblast response to allergen challenge in asthma.



(b)

Figure 14 Transmission electron micrograph of the mucosa in bronchial biopsies from cases of atopic stable asthma. (a) A subepithelial fibroblast lying close to a lymphomononuclear cell (L). Scale = $2.5 \ \mu m$. (b) A myofibroblast taken from an allergic asthmatic 24 hours after allergen challenge. The myofibroblast is significantly larger than the fibroblast and the cytoplasm has filaments organized as bundles running along the length of the cell membrane. There are bundles of electron-dense condensations (arrows) as in the contractile apparatus of bronchial smooth muscle cell. Scale = $5.0 \ \mu m$. (From Ref. 80.)

VII. Airway Wall Nerves

The topic of airway wall innervation and its relevance to asthma is a large one (82,83). There are unconfirmed data showing that in *fatal* asthma there is an absence of (relaxant) vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP)–containing nerve fibers and an increase in the numbers of substance P–containing fibers (stimulatory to bronchial smooth muscle). The alteration contrasts markedly with the innervation of "disease" control lungs taken at resection from chronic smokers (84,85). The reduction reported in fatal asthma has not been confirmed by examination of bronchial biopsies in milder groups of asthmatics (86). The biopsy study of Laitinen and colleagues (21) reported an increase in the number of intraepithelial nerves in asthmatics treated for 3 months with inhaled budesonide, but the significance of these findings is not yet clear.

VIII. Remodeling and Airflow Limitation

Thickening of the airway wall due to chronic inflammation and inappropriate remodeling of the airway wall (87) results in an increased resistance to airflow due to encroachment of the airway lumen by the airway wall, particularly when bronchial smooth muscle contracts (see Fig. 13). James and colleagues have shown that airway wall thickening need only be relatively minor to have dramatic consequences on airflow limitation (68). The relevance of the airway wall thickening to reduced airflow and AHR in asthma has been discussed (88,89). It has been suggested that for a given degree of smooth muscle shortening, the effect on reduction of airway radius and increased resistance to airflow (to the power 4) would be considerably greater if the airway wall were thickened. The concept and link of airway geometry to AHR has been confirmed by computer modeling. The model predicts that when the airway wall is thickened in the absence of muscle contraction, there will be a relatively moderate increase in baseline airflow resistance, but, in contrast, there will be profound increase in resistance when bronchial smooth muscle shortens even normally (10,69,70). Indeed, James and colleagues have shown that smooth muscle need only shorten by about 40% to completely occlude the airway lumen. A further consideration is that airway smooth muscle is not truly circular, but rather it encircles the airway arranged as two opposing spirals (a so-called geodesic pattern). Normally muscle contraction thus has the effect of both shortening and constricting the airway. Stiffening of the airway wall and prevention of airway shortening by thickening of the reticular basement membrane or wall edema may result in a greater proportion of the force, generated by bronchial smooth muscle shortening, being redirected to airway constriction. Thus, chronic inflammation and remodeling of the airway wall may be responsible for the airway hyperresponsiveness of asthma. If small as well as large airways become involved, such airway wall remodeling may also contribute to the accelerated decline in lung function (FEV₁) observed in more severe subsets (10–15%) of asthmatics (8). While inhaled corticosteroids improve markedly peak flow and FEV₁ in mild asthmatics, there are presently no data on the long-term capacity of steroids to improve lung function of those asthmatics who decline more rapidly than normal.

IX. Summary and Conclusion

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory condition of conducting airways, and this is associated with remodeling of the airway wall in both large and small airways. Remodeling is considered to relate in some way to airway hyperresponsiveness and accelerated decline in lung function in asthmatics, but a causal relationship is unproven. The remodeling process is driven most probably by persistent epithelial injury or a failure to repair the epithelium normally. The reparative response includes (1) squamous and goblet cell metaplasia/hyperplasia following epithelial loss, (2) hypertrophy of mucus-secreting glands (which originally develop from the epithelium), (3) thickening of the epithelial reticular basement membrane (i.e., the laying down of reticulin), (4) increases in the numbers of bronchial vessels, and (5) an increase in the numbers of myofibroblasts and in the mass of bronchial smooth muscle. Steroids are clearly effective in reducing much of the chronic (particularly eosinophilic) inflammation of asthma and the relevant pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. There is evidence that steroids may also attenuate aspects of the remodeling response, but as the current data are conflicting, further work on this topic is required. It seems clear that if irreversible alterations are to be prevented from developing, then early introduction of antiasthma treatment, including steroids, would be a logical approach, providing that any of the recognized side effects of treatment are minimized.

Acknowledgments

I thank Andy Rogers and Dr. Mariusz Gizycki for their expert assistance with the illustrations and with help in referencing the manuscript. I am also grateful to the National Asthma Research Campaign for their support. I thank the numerous clinical and research colleagues with whom I have had the pleasure to work.

References

- 1. Kips JC, Pauwels RA. Airway wall remodelling: does it occur and what does it mean? Clin Exp Allergy 1999; 29:1457–1466.
- 2. Bousquet J, Jeffery PK, Busse WW, Johnson M, Vignola AM. Asthma. From bron-

choconstriction to airways inflammation and remodeling. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:1720-1745.

- 3. Jeffery PK. Comparison of the structural and inflammatory features of COPD and asthma (Giles F. Filley Lecture). Chest 2000; 117:251s-260s.
- 4. Chanez P, Vignola AM, O'Shaughnessy T, Enander I, Li D, Jeffery PK, et al. Corticosteroid reversibility in COPD is related to features of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:1529–1534.
- Haahtela T, Jarvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K, et al. Effects of reducing or discounting inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:700–705.
- 6. Selroos O, Pietinalho A, Lofroos AB, Riska H. Effect of early vs late intervention with inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Chest 1995; 108:1228–1234.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long-term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroids on growth and pulmonary function in asthmatic children. Respir Med 1994; 88:373–381.
- Ulrik CS, Lange P. Decline of lung function in adults with bronchial asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150:629–634.
- 9. Lange P, Parner J, Vestbo J, Schnohr P, Jensen G. A 15-year follow-up study of ventilatory function in adults with asthma. N Engl J Med 1998; 339:1194–1200.
- Wiggs BR, Bosken C, Pare PD, James A, Hogg JC. A model of airway narrowing in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145:1215–1218.
- 11. Carroll N, Elliot A, Morton A, James A. The structure of large and small airways in nonfatal and fatal asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 147:405–410.
- 12. Schurch W, Seemayer TA, Gabbiani G. The myofibroblast. A quarter century after its discovery. Am J Surg Pathol 1998; 22:141–147.
- 13. Serini G, Gabbiani G. Mechanisms of myofibroblast activity and phenotypic modulation. Exp Cell Res 1999; 250:273–283.
- Jeffery PK, Wardlaw A, Nelson FC, Collins JV, Kay AB. Bronchial biopsies in asthma: an ultrastructural quantification study and correlation with hyperreactivity. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 140:1745–1753.
- 15. Beasley R, Roche W, Roberts JA, Holgate ST. Cellular events in the bronchi in mild asthma and after bronchial provocation. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 139:806–817.
- Laitinen LA, Heino M, Laitinen A, Kava T, Haahtela T. Damage of the airway epithelium and bronchial reactivity in patients with asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1985; 131:599-606.
- 17. Ayers M, Jeffery PK. Proliferation and differentiation in adult mammalian airway epithelium: a review. Eur Respir J 1988; 1:58–80.
- Soderberg M, Hellstrom S, Sandstrom T, Lungren R, Bergh A. Structural characterization of bronchial mucosal biopsies from healthy volunteers: a light and electron microscopical study. Eur Respir J 1990; 3:261–266.
- 19. Naylor B. The shedding of the mucosa of the bronchial tree in asthma. Thorax 1962; 17:69–72.
- Lundgren R. Scanning electron microscopic studies of bronchial mucosa before and during treatment with beclomethasone dipropionate inhalations. Scand J Respir Dis 1977; (suppl 101): 179–187.

- Laitinen LA, Laitinen A, Haahtela T. A comparative study of the effects of an inhaled corticosteroid, budesonide, and a beta2-agonist, terbutaline, on airway inflammation in newly diagnosed asthma: A randomized, double-blind, parallel-group controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:32–42.
- 22. Laitinen LA, Laitinen A. Remodelling of asthmatic airways by glucocorticosteroids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97(1 Pt 2):153–158.
- 23. Dunnill MS, Massarella GR, Anderson JA. A comparison of the quantitative anatomy of the bronchi in normal subjects, in status asthmaticus, in chronic bronchitis, and in emphysema. Thorax 1969; 24:176–179.
- 24. Wanner A. Airway mucus and the mucociliary system. In: Middleton E, Reed CE, Ellis EF, Adkinson NF, Uunginer JW, eds. Allergy: Principles and Practice. St. Louis: C.V. Mosby, 1988:541–548.
- 25. Aikawa T, Shimura S, Sasaki H, Ebina M, Takishima T. Marked goblet cell hyperplasia with mucus accumulation in the airways of patients who died of severe acute asthma attack. Chest 1992; 101:916–921.
- Shimura S, Andoh Y, Haraguchi M, Shirato K. Continuity of airway goblet cells and intraluminal mucus in the airways of patients with bronchial asthma. Eur Respir J 1996; 9:1395–1401.
- 27. Reid L. Pathology of chronic bronchitis. Lancet 1954; i:275-279.
- Blyth DI, Pedrick MS, Savage TJ, Hassel EM, Fattah D. Lung inflammation and epithelial changes in a murine model of atopic asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996; 14:425–438.
- 29. Underwood S, Foster M, Raeburn D, Bottoms S, Karlsson J-A. Time-course of antigen-induced airway inflammation in the guinea-pig and its relationship to airway hyperresponsiveness. Eur Respir J 1995; 8:2104–2113.
- 30. Rogers DF, Jeffery PK. Inhibition by oral N-acetylcysteine of cigarette smokeinduced "bronchitis" in the rat. Exp Lung Res 1986; 10:267–283.
- 31. Rogers DF, Jeffery PK. Inhibition of cigarette smoke-induced airway secretory cell hyperplasia by indomethacin, dexamethasone, prednisoline or hydrocortisone in the rat. Exp Lung Res 1986; 10:285–298.
- 32. Foster PS, Hogan SP, Ramsay AJ, Matthaei KI, Young IG. Interleukin 5 deficiency abolishes eosinophilia, airways hyperreactivity, and lung damage in a mouse asthma model [see comments]. J Exp Med 1996; 183:195–201.
- 33. Blyth DI, Pedrick MS, Savage TJ, Bright H, Beesley JE, Sanjar S. Induction, duration, and resolution of airway goblet cell hyperplasia in a murine model of atopic asthma: effect of concurrent infection with respiratory syncytial virus and response to dexamethasone. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 19:38–54.
- Lilly CM, Nakamura H, Kesselman H, Nagler-Anderson C, Asano K, Garcia-Zepeda EA, et al. Expression of eotaxin by human lung epithelial cells: induction by cytokines and inhibition by glucocorticoids. J Clin Invest 1997; 99:1767–1773.
- Jahnsen FI, Farstad IN, Aenesen JP, Brandtzaeg P. Phenotypic distribution of T cells in human nasal mucosa differs from that in the gut. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1998; 18:392–401.
- Zhu J, Dave JR, Taylor P, Jeffery PK. Dexamethasone dose dependently inhibits adenovirus 2-induced ICAM-1 expression on human airway epithelial and umbilical vein endothelial cells: a study by HR-SEM. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:A516.

- 37. Dunnill MS. The pathology of asthma, with special reference to changes in the bronchial mucosa. J Clin Pathol 1960; 13:27–33.
- 38. Roche WR, Beasley R, Williams JH, Holgate ST. Subepithelial fibrosis in the bronchi of asthmatics. Lancet 1989; i:520–523.
- 39. Sobonya RE. Quantitative structural alterations in long-standing allergic asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984; 130:289–292.
- Crepea SB, Harman JW. The pathology of bronchial asthma. I. The significance of membrane changes in asthmatic and non-allergic pulmonary disease. J Allergy 1955; 26:453-460.
- 41. Payne D, Rogers AV, Jaffy A, Misra D, McKenzie S, Jeffery PK, et al. Reticular basement membrane thickness in children with severe asthma (abstr). Arch Dis Child 2000; 82: A42.
- 42. Pohunek P, Roche WR, Turzikova J, Kurdman J, Warner JO. Esoinophilic inflammation in the bronchial mucosa of children with bronchial asthma (abstr). Eur Respir J 1997; 11:160s.
- 43. O'Shaughnessy TC, Ansari TW, Barnes NC, Jeffery PK. Reticular basement membrane thickness in moderately severe asthma and smokers' chronic bronchitis with and without airflow obstruction (abstr). Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: A879.
- 44. Brewster CEP, Howarth PH, Djukanovic R, Wilson J, Holgate ST, Roche WR. Myofibroblasts and subepithelial fibrosis in bronchial asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1990; 3:507–511.
- 45. Hoshino M, Nakamura Y, Sim JJ. Expression of growth factors and remodelling of the airway wall in bronchial asthma. Thorax 1998; 53:21–27.
- 46. Saetta M, Maestrelli P, Di Stefano A, De Marzo N, Milani GF, Mapp CE, et al. Effect of cessation of exposure to toluene diisocyanate (TDI) on bronchial mucosa of subjects with TDI-induced asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145:169–174.
- 47. Olivieri D, Chetta A, Del Donno M, Bertorelli G, Casalini A, Pesci A, et al. Effect of short term treatment with low dose inhaled fluticasone propionate on airway inflammation and remodelling in mild asthma: a placebo controlled study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:1864–1871.
- Laitinen A, Altraja A, Kampe M, Linden M, Virtanen I, Laitinen L. Tenascin is increased in airway basement membrane of asthmatics and decreased by an inhaled steroid. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156(3 Pt 1):951–958.
- 49. Sont JK, Willems LN, Bel EH, van Krieken JH, Vandenbroucke JP, Sterk PJ. Clinical control and histopathologic outcome of asthma when using airway hyperresponsiveness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. The AMPUL Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1043–1051.
- Trigg CJ, Manolitsas ND, Wang J, Calderon MA, McAulay A, Jordan SE, et al. Placebo-controlled immunopathologic study of four months of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150:17–22.
- 51. Jeffery PK, Godfrey RWA, Adelroth E, Nelson F, Rogers A, Johansson S-A. Effects of treatment on airway inflammation and thickening of reticular collagen in asthma: a quantitative light and electron microscopic study. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145: 890–899.
- 52. Wilson JW, Li X. The measurement of reticular basement membrane and submucosal collagen in the asthmatic airway. Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27:363–371.

- 53. Minshall EM, Leung DY, Martin RJ, Song YL, Cameron L, Ernst P, et al. Eosinophilassociated TGF-beta1 mRNA expression and airways fibrosis in bronchial asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; 17:326–333.
- 54. Hoshino M, Nakamura Y, Sim JJ. Expression of growth factors and remodelling of the airway wall in bronchial asthma. Thorax 1998; 53:21–27.
- 55. Vignola AM, Chanez P, Chiappara G, Merendino A, Pace E, Rizzo A, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta expression in mucosal biopsies in asthma and chronic bronchitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:591–599.
- 56. Godfrey RWA, Lorimer S, Majumdar S, Adelroth E, Johnston PW, Rogers AV, et al. Airway and lung elastic fibre is not reduced in asthma nor in asthmatics following corticosteriod treatment. Eur Respir J 1995; 8:922–927.
- 57. Ward C, Wang N, Li X, Reid D, Bish R, Zheng L. BAL TGF beta 1 and PD20 fall following 12 months treatment with fluticasone propionate in mild asthma (abstr). Eur Respir J 1999; 14:201s.
- 58. Duvernelle C, Kassel O, Frossard N. Glucocorticoids inhibit transforming growth factor-beta 1 auto-induction in human lung fibroblast (abstr). Eur Respir J 1999; 14:156S.
- Skold CM, Liu XD, Zhu YK, Umino T, Takigawa K, Ohkuni Y, et al. Glucocorticoids augment fibroblast-mediated contraction of collagen gels by inhibition of endogenous PGE production. Proc Assoc Am Phys 1999; 111:249–258.
- 60. Dube J, Chakir J, Laviolette M, Saint MS, Boutet M, Desrochers C, et al. In vitro procollagen synthesis and proliferative phenotype of bronchial fibroblasts from normal and asthmatic subjects. Lab Invest 1998; 78:297–307.
- 61. Lambert RK, Wiggs BR, Kuwano K, Hogg JC, Pare PD. Functional significance of increased airway smooth muscle in asthma and COPD. J Appl Physiol 1991; 74: 2771–2781.
- Kuwano K, Bosken CH, Pare PD, Bai TR, Wiggs BR, Hogg JC. Small airways dimensions in asthma and in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1993; 148:1220–1223.
- 63. Carroll NG, Cooke C, James AL. Bronchial blood vessel dimensions in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:689–695.
- 64. Widdicombe J. New perspectives on basic mechanisms in lung disease: 4. Why are the airways so vascular? Thorax 1993; 48:290–295.
- 65. Charan NB, Baile EM, Pare PD. Bronchial vascular congestion and angiogenesis. Eur Respir J 1997; 10:
- Vrugt B, Wilson S, Bron A, Holgate ST, Djukanovic R, Aalbers R. Bronchial angiogenesis in severe glucocorticoid-dependent asthma. Eur Respir J 2000; 15:1014– 1021.
- 67. Orsida BE, Li X, Jickey B, Thien F, Wilson JW, Walters EH. Vascularity in the asthmatic airways: relation to inhaled steroids. Thorax 1999; 54:289–295.
- 68. James AL, Pare PD, Hogg JC. The mechanics of airway narrowing in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 139:242–246.
- 69. Moreno RH, Hogg JC, Pare PD. Mechanisms of airway narrowing. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986; 133:1171–1180.
- 70. Wiggs BR, Moreno R, Hogg JC, Hilliam C, Pare PD. A model of the mechanics of airway narrowing. J Appl Physiol 1990; 69:849–860.

- Pare PD, Wiggs BR, James A, Hogg JC, Bosken C. The comparative mechanics and morphology of airways in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1991; 143:1189–1193.
- 72. Huber HL, Koessler K. The pathology of bronchial asthma. Arch Intern Med 1922; 30:689–760.
- 73. Heard BE, Hossain S. Hyperplasia of bronchial muscle in asthma. J Pathol 1973; 110:319–331.
- Ebina M, Takahashi T, Chiba T, Motomiya M. Cellular hypertrophy and hyperplasia of airway smooth muscles underlying bronchial asthma—a 3-D morphometric study. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:720–726.
- 75. Ebina M, Yeagashi H, Takahashi T, Motomiya M, Tanemura M. Distribution of smooth muscles along the bronchial tree. A morphometric study of ordinary autopsy lungs. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 141:1322–1326.
- Stewart AG, Fernandes D, Tomlinson PR. The effect of glucocorticoids on proliferation of human cultured airway smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 1995; 116:3219–3226.
- Schramm CM, Omlor GJ, Quinn LM, Noveral JP. Methylprednisolone and isoproterenol inhibit airway smooth muscle proliferation by separate and additive mechanisms. Life Sci 1996; 59:L9–14.
- Stewart AG, Tomlinson PR, Fernandes DJ, Wilson JW, Harris T. Tumor necrosis factor alpha modulates mitogenic responses of human cultured airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1995; 12:110–119.
- 79. Fernandes D, Guida E, Koutsoubos V, Harris T, Vadiveloo P, Wilson JW, et al. Glucocorticoids inhibit proliferation, cyclin D1 expression, and retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation, but not activity of the extracellular-regulated kinases in human cultured airway smooth muscle. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1999; 21:77–88.
- Gizycki MJ, Adelroth E, Rogers AV, O'Byrne PM, Jeffery PK. Myofibroblast involvement in the allergen-induced late response in mild atopic asthma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1997; 16:664–673.
- Jeffery PK. Structural changes in asthma. In: Page C, Black J, eds. Airways and Vascular Remodelling in Asthma and Cardiovascular Disease. London: Academic Press, 1994:3–19.
- 82. Barnes PJ. State of art: neural control of human airways in health and disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1986; 134:1289–1314.
- 83. Jeffery PK. Innervation of the airway mucosa: structure, function and changes in airway disease. In: Goldie R, ed. Immunopharmacology of Epithelial Barriers. London: Academic Press, 1994:85–118.
- 84. Ollerenshaw SL, Woolcock AJ. Quantification and location of vasoactive intestinal peptide immunoreactive nerves in bronchial biopsies from subjects with mild asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 147:A285.
- Ollerenshaw SL, Jarvis D, Sullivan CE, Woolcock AJ. Substance P immunoreactive nerves in airways from asthmatics and non-asthmatics. Eur Respir J 1991; 4:673– 682.
- Haworth PH, Djukanovic R, Wilson JW, Holgate ST, Springall DR, Polak JM. Neuropeptide-containing nerves in endobronchial biopsies from asthmatic and nonasthmatic subjects. Am J Cell Mol Biol 1995; 13:288–296.

- 87. James AL, Pare PD, Hogg JC. The mechanics of airway narrowing in asthma. Am Rev Respir Dis 1989; 139:242–246.
- 88. Freedman BJ. The functional geometry of the bronchi. Bull Physiopathol Respir 1972; 8:545–551.
- 89. Benson MK. Bronchial hyperreactivity. Br J Dis Chest 1975; 69:227-239.

Discussion

- **Dr. Schleimer:** The term *remodeling* implies an ongoing process. What is the evidence that the changes you have described are progressive? When do they occur during the natural history of the disease?
- Dr. Jeffery: Remodeling involves alterations to epithelium, its reticular basement membrane (RBM), and to deeper components including interstitial collagen, mucus-secreting glands, bronchial blood vessels, and smooth muscle. The thickening and hyaline appearance of the RBM appears to be a very early change that occurs in children at least as early as 8 years. Drs. Bush, Payne, and I have demonstrated a statistically significant thickening in children with symptoms of asthma, and the results of Pohnek and coworkers indicate that the thickening begins even before the diagnosis of asthma is made (Pohnek et al., 1997; Eur Respir J 11:160S). What has impressed me is that the thickening appears to be maximal at an early time point and is not progressive. Adults with a long history of asthma and even those who die of their asthma do not appear to have a thicker RBM than those with mild or newly diagnosed asthma. Similarly with interstitial collagen deposition, there seems to be no clear association with severity (Chu et al., AJRCCM 1998; 158:1936-1944). However, the increase in airway smooth muscle (ASM) mass is likely progressive but only in the significant minority of asthmatics whose lung function goes into a more rapid decline than is normal and in those who have a fatal attack. Those who die of their asthma have a significantly greater proportion of their airway wall occupied by ASM than longstanding asthmatics that die of non-respiratory cause (Carroll et al., ARRD 1993; 147:405-410).
- **Dr. Boulet:** We previously reported that nonasthmatic patients with allergic rhinitis or with mild asymptomatic already had evidence of abnormal sub-epithelial collagen deposition, suggesting that airway remodeling starts before asthma happens. In that last group, as published recently (Eur Respir J 1999), when these patients develop symptomatic asthma they show a marked increase in subepithelial collagen deposition in addition to increased airway inflammation. However, when we studied recently diagnosed vs. longstanding asthmatic patients, there was no difference between these two groups in apparent reticular basement membrane thickness both on baseline and following a high-dose inhaled corticosteroid treatment. Do you think airway remodeling plays a different role at different stages of the natural history of asthma and responds differently to inhaled corticosteroids?
- **Dr. Jeffery:** There is some in vitro evidence that corticosteroids are less effective in inhibiting ASM proliferation, induced by growth factors such as EGF and IGF, than leukotriene receptor antagonists. I believe there is evidence from

your own laboratory that dexamethasone actually increases myofibroblast proliferation. This may be of relevance to one mechanism by which muscle mass increases in asthma.

- **Dr. Inman:** When you said that you would not want inhaled steroids to interfere with acute inflammatory processes, did you mean these processes in asthma or in nonasthmatic tissue injury?
- **Dr. Jeffery:** Our airways, whether normal or asthmatic, are repeatedly bombarded with particulates, gases, and infection. They respond by mounting an acute inflammatory response that is designed to protect the host. If steroids inhibit this, then I would interpret this as bad. However, in asthma the host response to injury or allergen appears to be inappropriate, either in type or duration. It is this latter aspect we need to treat selectively, as it is currently understood to induce the process of airway wall "remodeling."
- **Dr. Rand:** What if we don't treat mild asthmatics and the remodeling continues, what would be the long-term effect?
- **Dr. Jeffery:** I speculate that the long-term effect is irreversible (or difficult-to-reverse) thickening of the airway wall and reduced lung function associated with more rapid decline in FEV_1 than is normal.
- **Dr. Persson:** Airway permeability should not be listed as evidence for epithelial damage in asthma in that increased absorption permeability has not been demonstrated and the epithelial permeability involved in plasma exudation involving luminal entry of even the largest proteins (such as α_2 -macroglobulin) is not (necessarily) associated with nor does it cause any epithelial derangement. Indeed, the laying down of plasma proteins in the lamina propria, the epithelium, and on the mucosal surface would perhaps be considered part of airway remodeling in asthma. My question concerns the thickening of basement membrane that is examined so frequently. Is it a good surrogate marker of airway remodeling? Does it predict or correlate with other airway effects especially other remodeling changes?
- **Dr. Jeffery:** As I have stated, RBM thickening occurs early and appears to be maximal at this early time point. Other changes such as increases in vessel number, mucus-secreting gland, and ASM mass appear to take much longer. No statistical correlation has been undertaken, but I would predict that there would be no associations.
- **Dr. Stellato:** What is the cause of epithelial fragility? Alteration of tight functions or other adhesive molecules? What is the role of epithelial fragility in relation to smooth muscle hypertrophy?

Dr. Jeffery: Epithelial fragility is unlikely the result of alterations to tight junctions (zonula occludens) whose major role is to selectively regulate the transepithelial movement of water, ions, and macromolecules. Instead, it is the disruption of adhesive intercellular, desmosomal junctions and E-cadherin, particularly along a plane of cleavage between superficial ciliated and goblet cells and basal cells attached to the basal lamina. Epithelial disruption caused by irritant or allergen induces the release of growth factors such as GM-CSF, TGF-B, IGF, and PDGF. These likely diffuse through the subepithelial tissue to induce phenotypic changes to muscle blocks and fibroblast. Our continuing investigations at the electron microscopic level of biopsies obtained during the late phase reaction to allergen challenge show signs of smooth muscle dedifferentiation, the appearance of a "synthetic" smooth muscle phenotype that appears to be in the process of migration to the subepithelial zone. At this site adjacent to the epithelium, myofibroblasts become associated with areas of the RBM that have dissolved or thinned. Several aspects of this airway response mimic the atheromatous change described in the vasculature in cardiovascular disease, and there may be similarity in the mechanisms, which should be explored.

26

Inhaled Corticosteroids and the Natural History of Asthma

FERNANDO D. MARTINEZ

University of Arizona Tucson, Arizona

Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) are the most potent form of controller medication available for the treatment of childhood asthma (1). When administered regularly and in adequate doses, ICS significantly improve symptoms, bronchial hyperresponsiveness to methacholine and other stimuli, and quality of life in school-aged children and adults with persistent forms of the disease (2,3). ICS have also been shown to be effective in controlling symptoms in preschool children, but effects are usually not as dramatic and consistent in this age group as they are in older children (4–6). What may cause these differences in the efficacy of ICS in infants and young children with respect to that in older children will be discussed later in this chapter.

I. Asthma and Airway Inflammation

The effectiveness of ICS in controlling asthma symptoms and bronchial hyperresponsiveness appears to confirm some of the basic tenets of the inflammatory theory of asthma. During the last quarter of twentieth century, our concept of asthma evolved from that of a disease characterized by intermittent attacks of bronchial obstruction and airway smooth muscle contraction to one in which the
defining characteristic of asthma was now considered to be the presence of a chronic inflammatory process of the bronchi (7). According to this theory, asthma is characterized by a particular type of inflammatory response, usually mediated by Th-2–type cytokines (8). These Th-2–like responses are associated with IgE-mediated immunity and with the presence of eosinophil-mediated responses, as suggested by the presence of eosinophils in the airways of most asthmatics (9). It was also believed, however, that by itself, this inflammatory response could not be responsible for the asthma phenotype. Individuals with allergic rhinitis but no asthma also develop a similar immune response in the airways when challenged with antigens that they are sensitized against (10). It thus appeared that, together with a local inflammation, some other factor that was specific to the lung needed to be present that made subjects susceptible to the type of airway inflammation that is characteristic of asthma. Nevertheless, since both components seem to be necessary, many authors strongly believed that by controlling inflammation, the natural course of the disease could also be reversed.

The basic premise behind this assertion is that chronic airway inflammation, on the one hand, predisposes to acute and chronic asthma symptoms and, on the other hand, determines the development of chronic changes in airway structure and function, a process that has been called "airway remodeling" (11). This process was believed to be a progressive and ongoing one, in the sense that it was active in subjects with asthma as long as their airway inflammation was not controlled. It was thus quite natural to conclude that chronic administration of a potent anti-inflammatory agent such as ICS should hamper the progressive nature of the disease. Given the fact that the chronic structural changes believed to be associated with airway remodeling were also thought to contribute significantly to the chronicity of symptoms in asthma, it was legitimate to believe that children treated with ICS in a systematic manner would show fewer deficits in lung function growth. Similarly, it was plausible to surmise that adults could show reversibility of lung function alterations after prolonged treatment with ICS.

The evidence supporting this hypothesis is very scanty (12). Very few studies have assessed long-term effects of inhaled corticosteroid in asthma, and even fewer have determined if these effects persist beyond the active treatment period. Studies by Juniper and coworkers in the early 1990s (13) convincingly showed that subjects with asthma who were put on regular inhaled budesonide showed substantial improvements in airway responsiveness, in levels of lung function, and in clinical asthma severity. These same authors evaluated whether these improvements were maintained when the dose of budesonide was reduced (14). Although subjects with the reduced dose did not show worsening of bronchial hyperresponsiveness, they did show worsening in lung function. Symptoms also started redeveloping in the group placed on a reduced dose as compared with that kept on full dose treatment. Haahtela and coworkers treated with inhaled budesonide for 2 years 37 patients with newly diagnosed asthma at a dose of $1200 \,\mu g$ per day (15). After this treatment, half were assigned to treatment with 400 μ g of budesonide per day and half with treatment with placebo. Much like in the studies by Juniper et al. (13,14), treatment with reduced dose of budesonide was effective in maintaining bronchial hyperresponsiveness at a level similar to that achieved with a higher dose. However, improvement was maintained in only 33% of the patients receiving placebo, and in this latter group lung function significantly deteriorated as did bronchial hyperresponsiveness and morning peak flow (15).

These studies were performed in adults, most of who had mild persistent or moderate persistent asthma. More recently, the results of the Childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP) have been reported (16). This study was designed to evaluate whether continuous, long-term treatment (over a period of up to 6 years) with either budesonide or an inhaled noncorticosteroid drug (nedocromil) could improve lung function as compared with treatment for symptoms only (16). The main hypothesis of this study was that school children with asthma treated for long periods of time with inhaled corticosteroids would not show the deficits in lung function thought to be characteristic of active asthma. The authors randomly assigned over 1000 children aged 5-12 years of age with mild to moderate persistent asthma to receive either 200 µg of budesonide, 8 mg of nedocromil, or placebo twice daily. The study showed no significant difference between either treatment and placebo in the primary outcome, which was the degree of change in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) after administration of a bronchodilator. The children given budesonide showed significant improvement in airway responsiveness to methacholine and in clinical outcomes and symptoms. Of particular interest was the fact that, during the study period, growth in lung function was very similar and not statistically different between subjects treated with ICS, nedocromil, or placebo.

II. Challenging the Inflammatory Theory of Asthma

The results of the studies quoted earlier clearly challenge the hypothesis that uncontrolled, persistent bronchial inflammation *occurring at any age* by itself can determine structural changes in the airways in adults and deficits in lung function growth in children with asthma. Long-term administration of inhaled corticosteroids clearly improves bronchial hyperresponsiveness (17) and is able to control airway inflammation as assessed by bronchoalveolar lavage and by airway biopsies (18,19). These effects are associated with significant clinical improvements in both children and adults with asthma. However, in spite of these remarkable effects, the data do not support the contention that such a potent anti-inflammatory drug is able to change the natural course of asthma in children aged 5 or more or in adults. In these two age groups, suspension of treatment very rapidly reverses improvements in bronchial hyperresponsiveness (3,15), and levels of lung function seem to return to those observed at the beginning of even prolonged periods of treatment (3,15).

These results suggest to us that, although the inflammatory theory of asthma has been extremely useful in providing a strategy for the treatment of asthma that allows one to effectively control symptoms with minimal side effects by use of inhaled medication, it cannot explain the chronic nature of the disease. In other words, control of inflammation in schoolchildren and adults with asthma markedly improves their clinical status and airway responsiveness but is unable to reverse functional and structural changes in the airways that have probably already occurred in the airways at the time treatment is started.

III. Natural History of Asthma Symptoms During Childhood and Early Adult Life

The results of these studies thus suggest the need for a new paradigm to approach asthma treatment. We propose that this approach will need to be solidly based on a better knowledge of the natural history of the disease. Fortunately, results have recently been reported from several long-term prospective studies of asthma in which follow-up was initiated either at birth or shortly thereafter. The picture that emerges is clearly complex but offers new very important insights into the factors that determine the initiation and the chronicity of symptoms in asthma.

We will briefly summarize the main results of these longitudinal studies in the next few sections.

A. Most Cases of Asthma Begin During the Preschool Years

Perhaps one of the most intriguing results of longitudinal studies of asthma has been the observation that, in most cases of asthma, the first asthma-like symptoms occur during the first years of life (20). This observation does not seem to surprise most pediatricians, but it is not easily accepted by experts in adult asthma. There are many adult subjects with asthma who, when questioned thoroughly, do not recall having ever had symptoms before their adult years. However, when studies are based on objective data and not on retrospective questionnaires, results clearly show that most adult subjects with asthma do have reports of asthma symptoms during the first years of life. Most of these subjects have either forgotten that they ever had such symptoms or were never told by parents or caregivers about them. Since remission is a very frequent occurrence during the natural history of asthma (21), it is not surprising that many adults report to their physicians that their symptoms started only a few years earlier. This certainly does not exclude the possibility that true incident cases of asthma may occur during the adult years. However, most frequently the first symptoms can be tracked back to early childhood.

The awareness that most cases of asthma begin in early life has focused the attention of many investigators on this particular age group. Once again, the picture that emerges is one of great complexity. Although most future chronic asthmatics start having symptoms during the first years of life, a large proportion of children who have symptoms of bronchial obstruction during these years are not destined to be the future asthmatics (22). The majority of these children have transient conditions that may also be quite severe, but that are destined to subside with time. These conditions are usually manifested with symptoms that occur almost exclusively during viral infections, with little symptomatology between acute attacks (23). These transient conditions seem to be associated with either alterations in immune responses to viral infections (24), in airway and lung size (25,26), or in airway responsiveness not associated with chronic inflammation of the bronchi, as observed in persistent asthma (27). Therefore, the future chronic asthmatics coexist in early life with a much larger population of young children who are having very similar symptoms but who do not have atopic asthma. It is thus not surprising that studies that do not attempt to distinguish between different groups of wheezing infants and young children have been unable to show very strong associations between symptoms in this age groups and asthma later in life. Moreover, children with transient forms of wheezing may be less likely to respond to ICS than persistent wheezers (28). This may explain the apparent less effectiveness of ICS in this age group.

B. Symptoms in Childhood Asthma Are Usually Very Variable

A second factor that needs to be taken into account is that controlled clinical trials are almost invariably based on populations recruited in tertiary care institutions, in which by definition cases of asthma are more severe than those in the community as a whole. Studies based on general population samples invariably show that most cases of asthma are mild (29), with symptoms that tend to remit and relapse frequently (30). It is thus very important for the purpose of determining a strategy for the treatment of asthma to appropriately identify the subjects in whom certain forms of treatment may be useful because if subjects with mild forms of the disease are grouped with subjects with more severe forms, important changes occurring in the latter group may be masked by the more benign course occurring in the former.

C. Severity of Asthma Symptoms Tracks with Age

In spite of this considerable variability within subjects, group analysis shows that asthma symptoms track markedly with age (21,31). As a consequence, school-age children with severe asthma are most likely to show continued symptoms up to their late thirties, with over 80% of these children having moderate or severe asthma in adult life. Conversely, a large proportion of school-age children with mild asthma symptoms will have remitted or will show mild symptoms by early adult life, with only a small minority progressing towards more severe forms of the disease.

Interestingly, the same degree of tracking is not apparent between symptoms occurring during the first 3 years of life and those of school-age children (32). In this case, although many children with frequent asthma symptoms during the school years do have symptoms in early life, these may be quite mild. Similarly, although infants and young children with severe asthma-like symptoms are more likely to have severe symptoms during the school years, the association is not as strong as that between symptoms during the school years and in adult life (32). These results suggest that progression towards chronic asthma is more likely to occur early in life and, particularly, during the preschool years.

D. Deficits in Lung Function Growth Occur Mainly During the Preschool Years

The recently published results from the CAMP study discussed earlier clearly show that school-age children treated with placebo for prolonged periods of time do not show significantly larger deficits in lung function growth than those observed among children treated with effective anti-inflammatory therapy (16). These results strongly support recent observational studies of lung function development in asthma. Perhaps one of the longest and most informative of such studies is the Melbourne Longitudinal Study of Asthma (33). This study was started more than 30 years ago by Williams and McNicol (34), with the enrollment of groups of children with different degrees of asthma severity at the age of approximately 7 years. A group of subjects with more severe asthma and significant deficits in lung function was enrolled a few years later, at the age of 10. This study has provided a significant wealth of information, but perhaps its most important result is the observation that between the ages of 7 and 35, levels of lung function ran in parallel in the different groups of asthmatics (31). In other words, in spite of continued, even severe symptoms of asthma, no deficits in lung function growth was observed after enrollment and up to mid-adulthood. Even the group with severe asthma enrolled at the age 10 and who started follow-up with marked deficit in lung function showed no further deterioration in lung function level, and this was independent of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids during follow-up (31). It is important to stress here that decline in lung function has been reported to be more steep in subjects with self-reported asthma after the age of 40 (35).

Two scenarios may explain the rather stable lung function observed in subjects with asthma up to mid-adult life. A first possibility is that the basic factor determining asthma chronicity is present at the time of birth, with little influence of environmental factors acting after birth. This scenario is plausible but unlikely. There are very wide variations in the prevalence of asthma among populations with relatively similar genetic backgrounds (36,37). These variations are particularly true for the more severe forms of asthma. Although it has been suggested that events occurring in utero may have a strong influence in the subsequent risk for asthma (38), it is improbable that only factors acting in utero are important determinants of asthma inception.

In support of this contention are the results of the Tucson Children's Respiratory Study (39). This longitudinal survey of the risk factors and natural history for asthma was started in the early 1980s when over 1000 newborns without neonatal lung disease were enrolled. These children have now been followed for two decades. In a fraction of these children, lung function was measured with the so-called chest compression technique (40) during the first months of life, before any manifestation of airway obstruction had occurred. By use of this technique, maximal flows using partial expiratory maneuvers were obtained and subsequently compared with similar flows obtained through voluntary maneuvers at ages 6, 11, and 16 (41). This study had the characteristic that, for the first time, a distinction was made between subjects who were having respiratory illnesses with wheezing during the first 3 years of life but whose symptoms had remitted by the age of 6 from those who were also wheezing in early life but whose symptoms had not remitted by the early school years (persistent wheezers). The results showed that persistent wheezers had levels of lung function shortly after birth that were not significantly different from those of children who never wheezed during the first 6 years of life. However, by the age of 6 years, persistent wheezers showed significant deficits in lung function development when compared with their peers who either had no asthma-like symptoms during the first 6 years of life or who started having such symptoms after the age of 3 years (42). Interestingly, these deficits in lung function did not progress any further between the ages of 6 and 11 years or up to the age of 16 years (41). This occurred in spite of a much higher risk of continued asthma symptoms at ages 11 and 16 in persistent wheezers than in children who started wheezing after the age of 3 years.

It is important to stress here that only a small minority of children enrolled in the Tucson Children's Respiratory Study and who had asthma during the first 11 years of life were treated with inhaled corticosteroids. Moreover, those in whom inhaled corticosteroids were prescribed received such treatment for only short periods of time. This is mainly attributable to the prevailing patterns of asthma treatment in the United States until the early 1990s, when inhaled corticosteroids began to be used much more widely in general practice. The results of the Tucson Children's Respiratory Study, therefore, are in agreement with those of the CAMP study cited earlier, and suggest that the deficits in lung function present in asthmatic subjects at the beginning of the school years show no marked progression even in the absence of treatment with anti-inflammatory drugs.

IV. A Developmental Approach to Asthma Treatment

The results of longitudinal studies of the natural history of asthma and those of well-designed, long-term studies of continuous treatment with ICS suggest the

need for new conceptual framework of asthma based on our understanding of the natural history of the disease. As explained earlier, there is little doubt that active airway inflammation is crucial in determining persistence of asthma symptoms in all age groups. However, a form of treatment that has been shown to be extremely effective in controlling airway inflammation and asthma symptoms seems to have no effect on the natural history of the disease when started during the school years or later. It is our contention that the still scanty data available on the natural history of asthma are compatible with this conclusion. It appears that most of the deficits in lung function present in subjects with asthma up to mid-adult life are established very early in life, as are the patterns of disease expression. Moreover, most subjects with severe asthma in childhood and early adult life start having symptoms during infancy and early childhood and disease progression seems to occur mainly during the preschool years.

This latter period of life is characterized by a very fast growth of both airway and lung size (43). Moreover, marked changes also occur in the regulation of airway tone: while most newborns show marked responsiveness to histamine and other bronchoconstrictors, airway responsiveness decreases markedly with age in normal subjects (44). It is thus plausible to surmise that a chronic inflammatory process, persistently activated by continuous exposure to local aeroallergens to which subjects with asthma become sensitized very early in life (45), may disrupt the normal process of lung development during this crucial phase.

It is important to stress here that very little is known about the potential growth effects of the cytokines released during the IgE-mediated immune responses that are elicited by aeroallergens in young asthmatics. Very recent data suggest that, at least in animal models of asthma, both IL-13 (46) and IL-10 (47,48) may have direct effects on airway smooth muscle. It is also possible that these and other cytokines may have important effects on the deposition of collagen and elastin in the growing lung (49). This suggestion is supported by recent data derived from a rat model of childhood asthma (50). In this model, rat strains that are genetically predisposed to respond to IgE-mediated mechanisms and in which these mechanisms are activated very early in life show marked disruption of lung growth and early development of airway hyperresponsiveness (51).

V. Recognizing Early Asthma

The above scenario suggests that chronic, persistent asthma is a developmental disease that begins in early life and is progressive mainly during the period of fast lung structural and functional growth that is characteristic of the preschool years. We postulate that controlling airway inflammation during crucial periods of lung development may be an effective strategy of secondary prevention of the disease. Recognizing early asthma and distinguishing it from other forms of airway ob-

struction occurring during the preschool years becomes therefore a very important challenge both for epidemiologists and clinicians. We have recently proposed a simple asthma predictive index (32) in which young children at high risk of having chronic asthma were identified during the first 3 years of life by use of clinical data easily available to any general practitioner. Although such indices may become useful tools for the clinician, their predictive capacity may still be insufficient: approximately one third of all children who did develop frequent asthma symptoms during the school years had a negative predictive index during the first 3 years of life (32). We are convinced, however, that advances in studies of the genetics of asthma will allow for the development of more accurate predictive indices in the near future.

Studies are underway in which children at high risk for the development of asthma and adults with mild asthma (52) are being treated with anti-inflammatory drugs for prolonged periods of time in order to determine if such treatment can change the natural history of the disease. These studies may provide crucial information not only about the potential role of inhaled corticosteroids in the secondary prevention of asthma but also about the factors that determine the natural history of the disease.

References

- National Asthma Education Prevention Program Coordinating Committee. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma. National Institutes of Health, Vol. 97-4051, 1997.
- Estelle F, Simons FE. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. Canadian Beclomethasone Dipropionate-Salmeterol Xinafoate Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1659–1665.
- Verberne AA, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H, Kerrebijn KF, The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:688–695.
- Baker JW, Mellon M, Wald J, Welch M, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K. A multiple-dosing, placebo-controlled study of budesonide inhalation suspension given once or twice daily for treatment of persistent asthma in young children and infants. Pediatr 1999; 102:414–421.
- Shapiro G, Mendelson L, Kraemer MJ, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K, Smith JA. Efficacy and safety of budesonide inhalation suspension (Pulmicort Respules) in young children with inhaled steroid-dependent, persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:789–796.
- Bisgaard H, Gillies J, Groenewald M, Maden C. The effect of inhaled fluticasone propionate in the treatment of young asthmatic children: a dose comparison study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:126–131.
- O'Byrne PM. Airway inflammation and asthma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 1996; 10:18–24.

- Kay AB. Advances immunology: allergy and allergic diseases. N Engl J Med 2001; 344:30–37.
- Bousquet J, Chanez P, Lacoste JY, Barneon G, Ghavanian N, Enander I, Venge P, Ahlstedt S, Simony-Lafontaine J, Godard P. Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:1033–1039.
- Sedgwick JB, Calhoun WJ, Gleich GJ, Kita H, Abrams JS, Schwartz LB, Volovitz B, Ben-Yaakov M, Busse WW. Immediate and late airway response of allergic rhinitis patients to segmental antigen challenge. Characterization of eosinophil and mast cell mediators. Am Rev Respir Dis 1991; 144:1274–1281.
- 11. Redington AE. Fibrosis and airway remodelling. Clin Exp Allergy 2000; 30 (suppl 1): 42–45.
- 12. Haahtela T. Early treatment of asthma. Allergy 1999; 54:74-81.
- 13. Juniper EF, Kline PA, Vanzieleghem MA, Ramsdale EH, O'Byrne PM, Hargreave FE. Long-term effects of budesonide on airway responsiveness and clinical asthma severity in inhaled steroid-dependent asthmatics. Eur Respir J 1990; 3:1122–1127.
- Juniper EF, Kline PA, Vanzieleghem MA, Hargreave FE. Reduction of budesonide after a year of increased use: a randomized controlled trial to evaluate whether improvements in airway responsiveness and clinical asthma are maintained. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 87:483–489.
- Haahtela T, Jarvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K, Nikander K, Persson T, Selroos O, Sovijarvi A. Effects of reducing or discontinuing inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:700–705.
- anonymous. Recruitment of participants in the childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP). I. Description of methods: Childhood Asthma Management Program Research Group. J Asthma 1999; 36:217–237.
- Waalkens HJ, Van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Gerritsen J, Duiverman EJ, Knol K, Kerrebijn KF. Cessation of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide) in children with asthma results in deterioration. The Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:1252–1257.
- Olivieri D, Chetta A, Del Donno M, Bertorelli G, Casalini A, Pesci A, Testi R, Foresi A. Effect of short-term treatment with low-dose inhaled fluticasone propionate on airway inflammation and remodeling in mild asthma: a placebo-controlled study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:1864–1871.
- Becky Kelly EA, Busse WW, Jarjour NN. Inhaled budesonide decreases airway inflammatory response to allergen. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:883–890.
- Yunginger J, Reed CE, O'Connell EJ, Melton LJ, O'Fallon WM, Silverstein MD. A community-based study of the epidemiology of asthma. Incidence rates, 1964–1983. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:888–894.
- 21. Strachan DP, Butland BK, Anderson HR. Incidence and prognosis of asthma and wheezing illness from early childhood to age 33 in a national British cohort. Br Med J 1996; 312:1195–1199.
- 22. Barbee RA, Murphy S. The natural history of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:S65–S72.
- 23. Dodge R, Martinez FD, Cline MG, Lebowitz MD, Burrows B. Early childhood respiratory symptoms and the subsequent diagnosis of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 98:48–54.

- Bont L, Heijnen CJ, Kavelaars A, van Aalderen WM, Brus F, Draaisma JT, Geelen SM, Kimpen J. Monocyte IL-10 production during respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis is associated with recurrent wheezing in a one-year follow-up study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:1518–1523.
- 25. Martinez FD, Morgan WJ, Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Taussig LM. Diminished lung function as a predisposing factor for wheezing respiratory illness in infants. N Engl J Med 1988; 319:1112–1117.
- 26. Dezateux C, Stocks J, Dundas I, Fletcher ME. Impaired airway function and wheezing in infancy: the influence of maternal smoking and a genetic predisposition to asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:403–410.
- Stein RT, Sherrill D, Morgan WJ, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Taussig LM, Wright AL, Martinez FD. Respiratory syncytial virus in early life and risk of wheeze and allergy by age 13 years. Lancet 1999; 353:541–545.
- Wong JY, Moon S, Beardsmore C, O'Callaghan C, Simpson H. No objective benefit from steroids inhaled via a spacer in infants recovering from bronchiolitis. Eur Respir J 2000; 15:388–394
- 29. Phelan PD, Olinsky A, Oswald H. Asthma: classification, clinical patterns and natural history. In: Phelan PD, ed. Clinical Paediatrics. Vol. 3. London: Bailliere Tindall, 1995:307–318.
- Strachan DP. Epidemiology. In: Silverman M, ed. Childhood Asthma and Other Wheezing Disorders. London: Chapman & Hall, 1995:7–31.
- Oswald H, Phelan PD, Lanigan A, Hibbert M, Carlin JB, Bowes G, Olinsky A. Childhood asthma and lung function in mid-adult life. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997; 23:14–20.
- 32. Castro-Rodriguez JA, Holberg CJ, Wright AL, Martinez FD. A clinical index to define risk of asthma in young children with recurrent wheezing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:1403–1406.
- Phelan PD. Asthma in children and adolescents. An overview. In: Phelan PD, ed. Asthma. Vol. 3. London: Bailliere Tindall, 1995:247–252.
- 34. Williams H, McNicol KN. Prevalence, natural history, and relationship of wheezy bronchitis and asthma in children. An epidemiological study. Br Med J 1969; 4: 321–325.
- 35. Lange P, Parner J, Vestbo J, Schnohr P, Jensen G. A 15-year follow-up study of ventilatory function in adults with asthma. N Engl J Med 1998; 339:1194–1200.
- 36. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee. Worldwide variation in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and atopic eczema: ISAAC. Lancet 1998; 351:1225–1232.
- von Mutius E, Martinez FD, Fritzsch C, Nicolai T, Roell G, Thiemann HH. Prevalence of asthma and atopy in two areas of West and East Germany. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 149:358–364.
- Brown MA, Halonen MJ, Martinez FD. Cutting the cord: Is birth already too late for primary prevention of allergy? Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27:4–6.
- Wright AL, Taussig LM, Ray CG, Harrison HR, Holberg CJ. The Tucson Children's Respiratory Study. II. Lower respiratory tract illness in the first year of life. Am J Epidemiol 1989; 129:1232–1246.
- 40. Godfrey S, Bar-Yishay E, Arad I, Landau LI, Taussig LM. Flow-volume curves in infants with lung disease. Pediatrics 1983; 72:517–522.

- 41. Stern DA, Morgan WJ, Taussig LM, Wright AL, Halonen M, Martinez FD. Lung function at age 11 in relation to early wheezing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:A148.
- 42. Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ, The Group Health Medical Associates. Asthma and wheezing in the first six years of life. N Engl J Med 1995; 332:133–138.
- 43. Jones M, Castile R, Davis S, Kisling J, Filbrun D, Flucke R, Goldstein A, Emsley C, Ambrosius W, Tepper RS. Forced expiratory flows and volumes in infants. Normative data and lung growth. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:353–359.
- 44. Montgomery GL, Tepper RS. Changes in airway reactivity with age in normal infants and young children. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990; 142:1372–1376.
- 45. Peat JK, Salome CM, Woolcock AJ. Longitudinal changes in atopy during a 4-year period: relation to bronchial hyperresponsiveness and respiratory symptoms in a population sample of Australian schoolchildren. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 85: 65–74.
- 46. Wills-Karp M, Luyimbazi J, Xu X, Schofield B, Neben TY, Karp CL, Donaldson DD. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. Science 1998; 282:2258–2261.
- 47. van Scott MR, Justice JP, Bradfield JF, Enright E, Sigounas A, Sur S. IL-10 reduces Th2 cytokine production and eosinophilia but augments airway reactivity in allergic mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2000; 278:L667–674.
- 48. Makela MJ, Kanehiro A, Borish L, Dakhama A, Loader J, Joetham A, Xing Z, Jordana M, Larsen GL, Gelfand EW. IL-10 is necessary for the expression of airway hyperresponsiveness but not pulmonary inflammation after allergic sensitization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:6007–6012.
- Zhu Z, Homer RJ, Wang Z, Chen Q, Geba GP, Wang J, Zhang Y, Elias JA. Pulmonary expression of interleukin-13 causes inflammation, mucus hypersecretion, subepithelial fibrosis, physiologic abnormalities, and eotaxin production. J Clin Invest 1999; 103:779–788.
- Uhl EW, Castleman WL, Sorkness RL, Busse WW, Lemanske RF, Jr., McAllister PK. Parainfluenza virus-induced persistence of airway inflammation, fibrosis, and dysfunction associated with TGF-beta 1 expression in brown Norway rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 154:1834–1842.
- Sorkness RL, Castleman WL, Kumar A, Kaplan MR, Lemanske RF, Jr. Prevention of chronic postbronchiolitis airway sequelae with IFN-gamma treatment in rats. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:705–710.
- 52. O'Byrne PM. Inhaled corticosteroid therapy in newly detected mild asthma. Drugs 1999; 58 (suppl 4):17–24.

27

Combination Therapies Using Inhaled Corticosteroids

ROMAIN A. PAUWELS

OLOF SELROOS

University of Ghent and University Hospital Ghent, Belgium AstraZeneca Research and Development Lund, Sweden

I. Introduction

The reappraisal of bronchial asthma as being a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways (1) resulted in the late 1980s and early 1990s in a number of asthma treatment guidelines. Before the introduction of long-acting inhaled bronchodilators and leukotriene receptor antagonists, the treatment guidelines recommended a stepwise increase (from step 2 to step 4) in the daily doses of inhaled corticosteroids. With increasing knowledge about the efficacy and safety profiles of inhaled corticosteroids, it became apparent that their benefit/risk ratio peaked somewhere around daily doses of 1000 µg. Up to this dose level a dose-dependent increase in efficacy can be demonstrated, but increasing the daily dose to 2000 µg per day and higher increases the risk of systemic side effects and does not result in additional benefits for the majority of patients with asthma (2). The first guidelines to mention a treatment alternative for step 3 — a moderate dose of an inhaled corticosteroid plus a long-acting inhaled β_2 -agonist—was the Swedish guidelines published in 1992 (3). This treatment alternative is also recommended in the most widely distributed document, the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) guidelines (4).

A number of clinical studies in adults and children with asthma have indicated that early introduction of an inhaled corticosteroid results in better asthma control, better airway function, and greater effect on bronchial hyperresponsiveness than a delayed initiation of therapy (5-8). In a recent study 335 patients with asthma were followed for 3-5 years after the introduction of budesonide, usually at a daily dose of 400 μ g twice daily (n = 272), although a starting dose range from 100 to 800 μ g twice daily could be applied (9). When starting the treatment with budesonide 206 patients (mean age 34 years) had asthma symptoms for less than 2 years (median duration 14 months) and 129 patients (mean age 39 years) for longer periods of time (median duration 5 years). Their mean FEV_1 was 80.3% and 75.6% of predicted normal values and mean morning peak expiratory flow (PEF) was 83.1% and 74.0% of predicted normal values in the two groups, respectively. At the end of the follow-up period, 83% of the patients in the early introduction group were using inhaled steroids in a mean daily dose of 411 µg. In the delayed introduction group, 99% of the patients required inhaled steroids in a mean daily dose of $836 \,\mu g$. In an attempt to achieve stated treatment goals (4) 6%of the patients in the early introduction group had received the addition of an inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonist. In the late introduction group 61% of the patients had to be treated with an inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonist, 26% received theophylline, and 21% some other additional treatment, mainly a leukotriene receptor antagonist. Table 1 shows how the treatment goals were achieved, clearly indicating the benefit of early introduction with inhaled corticosteroids. These figures also indicate that roughly speaking some 25% of the patients who receive early antiinflammatory treatment may need additional treatment in later years in order to be as well controlled as possible in their asthma, whereas this percentage increases to approximately 75% if inhaled steroids are introduced later than 2 years after the first symptoms and signs of the disease.

This review covers results of controlled clinical studies investigating the efficacy and safety of combination therapies when inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonists, theophylline and leukotriene receptor antagonists have been added to doses of inhaled corticosteroids in comparison with higher doses of inhaled steroids.

	Early treatment $(n = 206)$	Delayed treatment (n = 129)
$\text{FEV}_1 > 90\%$ predicted normal	78%	41%
Exercise tolerance normal	77%	24%
Normal sleep	83%	78%
Use of rescue medication <4 times per week	66%	34%
Exacerbations per patient per year requiring prednisolone	0.03	0.4

Table 1 Achievement of Treatment Goals

II. Inhaled Corticosteroids Plus Long-Acting Inhaled β₂-Agonists

A. Beclomethasone Dipropionate Studies

Greening et al. investigated the efficacy of 200 μ g beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP) plus 50 μ g salmeterol twice daily in comparison with a twofold higher dose of BDP, 500 μ g twice daily, in a 6-month parallel-group study in 429 asthma patients with remaining symptoms on 400 μ g daily BDP (10). The combination treatment resulted in significantly greater improvements in airway function (morning and evening PEF; Fig. 1), and in reductions in diurnal variation of PEF, asthma symptoms, and use of rescue salbutamol. No differences in asthma exacerbations or adverse events were found between the two treatment groups.

Woolcock et al. performed a similar type study over 6 months in 738 patients with more severe asthma, comparing BDP 500 μ g twice daily plus either 50 μ g or 100 μ g salmeterol twice daily with BDP 1000 μ g twice daily (11). The results were very similar to those reported by Greening et al. (10): addition of salmeterol provided greater improvements in lung function and symptom control without alterating the degree of bronchial hyperresponsiveness or exacerbation rates than did doubling the dose of BDP. No differences were found between the two salmeterol dose groups.

Wilding et al. (12) determined the effect of adding salmeterol 50 μ g twice daily for 6 months to current treatment in 101 patients with asthma, who were using at least 200 μ g daily of BDP (or budesonide), on the possibility of reducing their inhaled corticosteroid dose according to a management plan. The study was double-blind and placebo-controlled. Compared with placebo, salmeterol treat-



Figure 1 Changes from baseline $(\pm SE)$ in mean morning and evening PEF during 6 months of study treatment. (From Ref. 10.)

ment resulted in a 17% reduction in inhaled steroid doses and improved lung function and symptom control. No differences in number of exacerbations or in use of oral prednisolone courses were found between the two groups.

A fourth BDP study was reported by Bouros et al. (13). In an open-label randomized, parallel-group 12-week study in 132 patients symptomatic on 500 μ g daily BDP, addition of formoterol 12 μ g twice daily delivered via a pressurized metered dose inhaler was significantly more effective in improving lung function and reducing asthma symptoms and need of rescue bronchodilators than doubling the dose of BDP to 1000 μ g daily.

B. Budesonide Studies

Pauwels et al. (14) evaluated the effects of adding formoterol 12 μ g twice daily to either a low dose of budesonide (100 μ g twice daily) or a four times higher dose of budesonide (400 μ g twice daily) delivered via Turbuhaler in a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel-group 12-month study in 852 patients— the FACET study. The fourfold difference in inhaled corticosteroid dose in this study is important because dose-response studies with inhaled steroids have failed to demonstrate statistically significant differences in any outcome variables between doubling doses (2). Therefore, in the FACET study the higher dose of the inhaled steroid was given a fair chance in comparison with the combination treatments.

Because the primary variable of efficacy in the FACET study was the frequency of severe and mild asthma exacerbations, the study started with a 4-week run-in period during which the patients received a high dose of budesonide, $800 \,\mu g$ twice daily, in order to be maximally improved and stabilized before randomization. In fact, 1114 patients entered the run-in phase, but 262 patients were excluded as being ineligible.

At entry, patients were using mean daily maintenance doses of inhaled corticosteroids between 818 and 856 μ g in the four treatment groups. Before the run-in period their mean FEV₁ values were between 75.4 and 76.3% of predicted normal values, and after the run-in period they were between 81.8 and 84.0%.

As in the previously reported studies with BDP and salmeterol, the addition of formoterol to budesonide resulted in significant improvements in airway function (FEV₁ and PEF) and reductions in asthma symptoms, episode-free days, awakenings, and need for rescue bronchodilators. The important finding, however, was the statistically significant reductions in severe and mild asthma exacerbations seen when formoterol was added to both low- and high-dose budesonide compared to budesonide treatment alone (Fig. 2). Also important was the finding that the fourfold higher dose of budesonide without formoterol was significantly more effective in reducing the rate of severe asthma exacerbations compared with low-dose budesonide plus formoterol. Adding formoterol to budesonide did not affect the pattern of onset or recovery of the 425 severe exacerbations noticed dur-



Figure 2 Rate of severe asthma exacerbations per patient per year in patients treated with budesonide Turbuhaler $100 \ \mu g$ or $400 \ \mu g$ twice daily with or without formoterol Turbuhaler, $12 \ \mu g$ twice daily. (Adapted from Ref. 14.)

ing the FACET study as measured as changes in PEF values and the use of rescue bronchodilators before and after an exacerbation (15).

The FACET study thus demonstrated an additive effect of increasing the dose of budesonide and adding an inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonist to the budesonide treatment. The beneficial effects of the two treatment options were independent and additive. But most importantly, the study demonstrated that adding formoterol to budesonide treatment did not result in deterioration of asthma control (14).

In a separate 12-month study with the same design as the FACET study, the influence on inflammatory markers was evaluated by studying 100 μ g budesonide plus 12 μ g formoterol twice daily versus 400 μ g budesonide twice daily (16). No difference in eosinophil numbers in induced sputum could be found. The clinical variables behaved very similarly compared to those in the main study.

C. Fluticasone Propionate Plus Salmeterol

The studies by van Noord et al. (17), Baraniuk et al. (18), Pearlman et al. (19), and Condemi et al. (20) all evaluated the efficacy of a low dose of fluticasone propionate (FP) plus salmeterol 50 μ g twice daily in comparison with a twofold higher dose of FP. The results were consistent and very similar to those reported for BDP plus salmeterol versus a twofold higher dose of BDP (10).

The study by Pearlman et al. (19) had six treatment arms and included monotherapy with salmeterol, 50 µg twice daily, in addition to placebo, the FP

monotherapies (100 μ g and 250 μ g twice daily) and the combination treatments (adding salmeterol 50 μ g twice daily to both doses of FP). Salmeterol alone improved airway function more than the monotherapies with FP.

D. Fixed Combinations Products

Because of the favorable results seen in the studies with the combination of an inhaled corticosteroid and an inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonist cited above, fixed combination products have been developed consisting of FP plus salmeterol (Seretide[®] Advair[®]) and budesonide plus formoterol (Symbicort[®]).

III. Inhaled Corticosteroids Plus Theophylline

Evans et al. (21) performed a 3-month double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, parallel-group study in patients still symptomatic when using 67–1000 μ g of inhaled corticosteroids daily (mean doses around 700 μ g per day). They received budesonide 400 μ g daily plus 250 or 375 mg of theophylline depending on body weight (n = 31), or 800 μ g of budesonide (n = 31). The patients' mean morning PEF values (SE) were 383 L/min (16) and 397 L/min (19) and mean FEV₁ values were 78 and 72% (4) of predicted normal values in the combination group and the higher budesonide dose group, respectively. All treatments resulted in improvements in lung function, but the lower dose of budesonide together with theophylline improved lung function (FEV₁ and FVC) more than the double dose of budesonide, which, on the other hand, reduced asthma symptoms significantly, which was not seen in the combination treatment group. No statistically significant differences in PEF values were observed. The mean theophylline plasma concentration was 8.7 μ g/mL in patients receiving theophylline.

In another randomized, double-blind, parallel-group study conducted in several European countries, 69 patients were treated for 6 weeks with theophylline plus BDP 400 μ g per day, compared to 64 patients treated with BDP 800 μ g per day (22). The mean serum theophylline concentration was 10.1 μ g/mL. The study demonstrated clinical equivalence of theophylline plus BDP 400 μ g per day and BDP 800 μ g per day in patients whose asthma is not controlled on BDP 400 μ g per day.

IV. Inhaled Corticosteroids Plus Leukotriene Receptor Antagonists

The effects of adding a leukotriene receptor antagonist to treatment with inhaled corticosteroids have been reported in a number of studies. However, many studies have so far been published only as abstracts. Hui and Barnes (23) demonstrated in

10 patients, of whom 9 were receiving inhaled steroids (median dose 800 μ g/day), that adding a single dose of zafirlukast 40 mg (old formulation corresponding to 16 mg of the marketed product) improved FEV₁ by 7% compared with placebo. The study had a double-blind, randomized, crossover design. After 4 hours a high dose of salbutamol was given. This resulted in a total 26% improvement in FEV₁ in the zafirlukast plus salbutamol group compared with 18% in the placebo plus salbutamol group. These results indicate that the bronchodilating effect of zafirlukast was additive to that of a β_2 -agonist.

In a placebo-controlled study, patients treated with pranlukast were able to tolerate a 50% reduction in their inhaled corticosteroid dose from an average of 1900 μ g per day of BDP without loss of asthma control measured as unchanged morning PEF values (24). Furthermore, the placebo-treated patients, but not the pranlukast patients had a significant rise in serum ECP concentrations and in exhaled nitric oxide. In a 12-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study in 226 patients, the addition of montelukast 10 mg once daily resulted in a 47% reduction in the inhaled steroid dose compared to a 30% reduction in the placebo group. Fewer patients on montelukast (16%) versus placebo (30%) required discontinuation because of treatment failure (25).

In another study 27 patients not well controlled on 3 months of treatment with $800-1200 \ \mu g$ of BDP received pranlukast 225 mg twice daily or placebo for 4 weeks (26). Morning PEF improved significantly by 21 L/min in the pranlukast group compared with 3 L/min in the placebo group. No differences were found for daytime or nighttime asthma symptoms, use of rescue β_2 -agonists, FEV₁, or quality of life measurements.

Virchow et al. added zafirlukast, 80 mg twice daily, or placebo to the treatment of 368 asthmatics still symptomatic despite high-dose inhaled corticosteroid therapy (mean dose 1600 µg per day of BDP) in a 6-week, double-blind, randomized study (27). Their mean age was 48.3 years and mean FEV₁ was 64% of predicted. A gradual improvement in morning and evening PEF was seen, reaching a statistically significant difference versus placebo at week 6, when morning PEF had improved 18.7 L/min in the zafirlukast-treated group compared to 1.5 L/min in the placebo group. Statistically significant differences were also found for evening PEF, FEV₁, and asthma symptomatology (daytime asthma score, β_2 -agonist use). An effect on asthma exacerbations was also demonstrated: a 37% decrease for mild exacerbations compared with placebo (49 in the placebo and 31 in the zafirlukast group) and a 59% reduction for moderate to severe exacerbations (33 in the placebo and 13 in the zafirlukast group).

Nayak et al. performed a 13-week, double-blind, parallel-group study in 394 patients (12 years of age) symptomatic on standard doses of BDP (28). They were randomized to treatment with 400 μ g per day of BDP plus 40 or 80 mg twice daily of zafirlukast or 800 μ g per day of BDP. After 13 weeks of treatment, morning PEF, FEV₁, daytime asthma symptom scores, β_2 -agonist use, and night-

time awakenings improved in all groups compared with baseline. However, no differences between the three treatments were found. Equivalence analysis demonstrated that zafirlukast was at least as effective as a double dose of BDP. Similar results in another 12-week double-blind, randomized, parallel-group study was reported by Ringdal et al. evaluating 440 patients (12 years of age) remaining symptomatic on $400-500 \mu g$ per day of BDP treatment (29). They were randomized to treatment with the previous dose of BDP plus zafirlukast 40 mg or 160 mg per day or to a double dose of BDP. Thirty-six to 38% of the patients in all three groups improved more than 10% in morning PEF values without a difference between the groups. Twenty to 26% of the patients experienced an asthma exacerbation without differences between the groups.

Miyamoto reported the results of a 6-week, four-arm, placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomized, parallel-group study evaluating the efficacy of zafir-lukast 10, 20, and 40 mg twice daily in 340 patients (16 years old) (30). Of these patients, 243 were eligible for analysis and 161 (66%) were on treatment with inhaled or oral corticosteroids. Morning PEF increased significantly in all zafirlukast groups by approximately 20 L/min above placebo. The global assessment of efficacy (based on composite scores) indicated moderate-to-marked improvements in 43, 56, 62, and 20% of patients not using corticosteroids and in 43, 57, 67, and 23% of patients on treatment with steroids in the 10, 20, and 40 mg twice-daily zafirlukast groups and placebo groups, respectively. Thus, the degree of improvement appeared to be independent of treatment with corticosteroids.

V. Trials Comparing Combination Treatments

In a small 2-week double-blind, double-dummy, crossover study in 15 patients with nocturnal asthma, Selby et al. (31) evaluated the efficacy of salmeterol, 50 μ g twice daily, and theophylline in individually adjusted doses on sleep quality and cognitive performance. Twelve of the patients were on treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. Overnight PEF falls were similar during the two treatments, but salmeterol treatment resulted in more nights without awakenings, in fewer nocturnal arousals, and in improved quality of life. Visual vigilance improved on salmeterol, but otherwise daytime cognition was unaffected. Otherwise no differences between salmeterol and theophylline were found.

A meta-analysis of nine randomized, controlled clinical studies, containing a total of 1330 patients, compared the effect of salmeterol or theophylline in patients with asthma, the majority being already treated with inhaled corticosteroids (32). The main outcome measurements were morning and evening peak expiratory flows rate (PEFR), morning and evening symptom scores, use of salbutamol as rescue medication, and withdrawal from treatment for any cause. During the second week of treatment, salmeterol patients had a 10 L/min greater increase in mean morning PEFR from baseline than theophylline patients (p < 0.001). Similarly, in the second week the increase in mean evening PEFR from baseline observed with salmeterol was significantly greater (p < 0.01) than that observed with theophylline. Salmeterol also produced a significantly greater increase in mean morning and evening PEFR than theophylline at weeks 3 and 4. Patients receiving salmeterol were free from daytime symptoms for a mean of 51% of days in the second week compared to 39% for theophylline patients (p < 0.001). Salmeterol patients experienced a mean of 63% symptom-free nights compared to 52% for theophylline patients (p < 0.001). Rescue medication with salbutamol was not required on 49% of days for salmeterol patients and 34% of days for theophylline patients. All results were maintained in the third and fourth weeks of treatment. Withdrawal and incidence of adverse events leading to withdrawal were significantly less frequent in patients receiving salmeterol (p < 0.001).

Two studies have compared the effects of salmeterol or montelukast added to treatment with inhaled corticosteroids on adenosine monophosphate (AMP) bronchial challenges in patients not adequately controlled on inhaled steroids alone (33,34). One 2-week study in 20 patients investigated salmeterol 50 μ g twice daily and montelukast 10 mg once daily with AMP challenges after the first and the last dose. Compared with placebo, both treatments resulted in significant protection after the first dose, but only montelukast maintained its protective effect up to the last dose. Montelukast treatment also gave a significant reduction in blood eosinophil counts indicating an additive anti-inflammatory effect (33). In the other single-dose, crossover study 12, mild-moderate asthmatics received montelukast 10 mg, salmeterol 50 μ g alone, montelukast 10 mg plus salmeterol 50 μ g or 100 μ g, and placebo. AMP challenge was performed 12 hours after salmeterol and 24 hours after montelukast administration. For AMP-PC₂₀ there were significant protection after all treatments. There was a numerical trend to suggest an additive effect when montelukast and salmeterol were combined (34).

Busse et al. administered salmeterol 50 µg (n = 214) or zafirlukast 20 mg (n = 215) twice daily for 4 weeks to patients using fixed doses of inhaled corticosteroids (35). Salmeterol increased mean morning PEF by 30 L/min as compared to an increase of 13 and 13.2 L/min with zafirlukast. The differences between the two treatments were statistically significant. Salmeterol also significantly increased the percent of symptom-free days, the percent of days with no rescue medication, as well as the daily use of rescue medication. No difference between the treatments was found for asthma exacerbations. Similar safety profiles were reported. This study indicates that salmeterol is more effective than zafirlukast when added to inhaled corticosteroids in patients with persistent asthma.

VI. Conclusions

Asthma treatment guidelines recommend the addition of long-acting inhaled or other controller medication as an alternative to increasing doses of inhaled corticosteroids in patients in whom treatment goals are not achieved with inhaled corticosteroids in daily doses up to approximately 1000 µg. This chapter reviewed the results of published controlled studies with inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonists (formoterol, salmeterol), theophylline, and leukotriene receptor antagonists when added to treatment with inhaled corticosteroids.

Addition of all three mentioned treatment alternatives to doses of inhaled corticosteroids was more or equally effective than increasing doses of inhaled corticosteroids in terms of mean improvements in airway function, symptom control, and the use of rescue bronchodilator medication. The most effective addition was the long-acting inhaled β_2 -agonist. The inhaled corticosteroid-theophylline combination is less effective and has a greater risk of side effects. The combination with an antileukotriene has not been widely compared with other possible combinations.

Addition of formoterol to a low dose of budesonide was as effective as a four times higher dose of budesonide in reducing the frequency of mild asthma exacerbations. However, a four times higher budesonide dose resulted in a significantly greater reduction in severe asthma exacerbations compared with the low-dose budesonide plus formoterol. Nevertheless, addition of formoterol to the high dose of budesonide further significantly reduced the rate of severe exacerbations.

From available data it appears that patients already treated with inhaled corticosteroids and with an airway function clearly below predicted normal values, with nighttime awakenings or with a high use of short-acting β_2 -agonists for treatment of breakthrough symptoms, the addition of an inhaled long-acting β_2 -agonist would be the first choice. Patients on inhaled corticosteroids having repeated severe asthma exacerbations need increased anti-inflammatory medication: an increase in the inhaled steroid dose or the addition of an leukotriene receptor antagonist. The value of adding theophylline needs further investigation.

References

- 1. Barnes PJ. The changing face of asthma. Q J Med 1987; 63:359-365.
- Barnes PJ, Pedersen S, Busse WW. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:S1–S53.
- 3. Farmakoterapi vid astma—rekommendationer (in Swedish). Inform Läkemedelsverket 1992; 3:169–187.
- 4. Global Initiative for Asthma. National Institutes of Health, Publication No. 95-3659, 1995.
- Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long-term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid on growth and pulmonary function in ashmatic children. Respir Med 1994; 88: 373-381.
- 6. Haahtela T, Järvinen M, Kava T, et al. Effects of reducing or discontinuing inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. N Engl J Med 1994; 331:700–705.

- 7. Selroos O, Pietinalho A, Löfroos A-B, Riska H. Effect of early vs late intervention with inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. Chest 1995; 108:1228–1234.
- Overbeek SE, Kerstjens HAM, Bogaard JM, Mulder PGH, Postma DS. Is delayed introduction of inhaled corticosteroids harmful in patients with obstructive airways disease (asthma and COPD)? Chest 1996; 110:35–41.
- Selroos O, Löfroos A-B, Niemistö M, Pietinalho A, Backman R, Riska H. Early introduction with inhaled steroids in asthma results in achievement of treatment goals. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159: A627.
- Greening AP, Ind PW, Northfield M, Shaw G. Added salmeterol versus higher-dose corticosteroid in asthma patients with symptoms on existing inhaled corticosteoid. Lancet 1994; 344:219–224.
- Woolcock A, Lundbäck B, Ringdal N, Jacques LA. Comparison of addition of salmeterol to inhaled steroids with doubling of the dose of inhaled steroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153:1481–1488.
- Wilding P, Clark M, Thompson Coon J, et al. Effect of long term treatment with salmeterol on asthma control: a double blind, randomised crossover study. Br Med J 1997; 314:1441–1446.
- Bouros D, Bachlitzanakis N, Kottakis J, et al. Formoterol and beclomethasone versus higher dose beclomethasone as maintenance therapy in adult asthma. Eur Respir Dis 1999; 14:627–632.
- 14. Pauwels RA, Löfdahl C-G, Postma DS, et al. Effect of inhaled formoterol and budesonide on exacerbations of asthma. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1405–1411.
- Tattersfield AE, Postma DS, Barnes PJ, et al. Exacerbations of asthma. A descriptive stsudy of 425 severe exacerbations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 160:594–599.
- Kips JC, Inman M, O'Connor BJ, et al. A long term study on the anti-inflammatory effect of low dose budesonide plus formoterol versus high dose budesonide in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:996–1001.
- 17. van Noord JA, Schreurs AJM, Mol SJM, Mulder PGH. Addition of salmeterol versus doubling the dose of fluticasone propionate in patients with mild to moderate asthma. Thorax 1999; 54:207–212.
- 18. Baraniuk J, Murray JJ, Nathan RA, et al. Fluticasone alone or in combination with salmeterol vs triamcinolone in asthma. Chest 1999; 116:625–632.
- Pearlman DS, Stricker W, Weinstein S, et al. Inhaled salmeterol and fluticasone: a study comparing monotherapy and combination therapy in asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999: 82:257–265.
- 20. Condemi JJ, Goldstein S, Kalberg C, et al. The addition of salmeterol to fluticasone propionate versus increasing the dose of fluticasone propionate in patients with persistent asthma. Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 82:383–389.
- 21. Evans DJ, Taylor DA, Zetterström O, Chung KF, O'Connor BJ, Barnes PJ. A comparison of low-dose inhaled budesonide plus theophylline and high-dose budesonide for moderate asthma. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1412–1418.
- 22. Ukena D, Harnest U, Salaskauskas R, et al. Comparison of addition of theophylline to inhaled steroid with doubling of the dose of inhaled steroid in asthma. Eur Resp J 1997; 10:2754–2760.
- 23. Hui KP, Barnes NC. Lung function improvement in asthma with cysteinyl-leukotriene receptor antagonist. Lancet 1991; 337:1062–1063.

- 24. Tamaoki J, Kondo M, Sakai N, et al. Leukotriene antagonist prevents exacerbation of asthma during reduction of high-dose inhaled corticosteroid. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:1235–1240.
- 25. Löfdahl C-G, Reiss TF, Leff JA, et al. Randomised, placebo controlled trial of effect of a leukotriene antagonist, montelukast, on tapering inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic patients. BMJ 1999; 319:87–90.
- 26. Nishimura K, Hajiro T, Ishihara K, et al. Additive effect of pranlukast in combination with inhaled corticosteroids in the treatment of patients with chronic asthma. Eur Respir J 1999; 14 (suppl 30):121s.
- 27. Virchow JC, Hassall SM, Summerton L, Harris A. Improved asthma control over 6 weeks with zafirlukast in patients on high dose inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:578–585.
- 28. Nayak AS, Anderson PJ, Charous BL, et al. Addition of zafirlukast compared with a doubled dosage of inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic patients with symptoms on inhaled corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1998; 12 (suppl 28):361s.
- Ringdal N, White M, Harris A. Addition of zafirlukast (AccolateTM) compared with a double-dose on inhaled corticosteroids in patients with reversible airways obstruction symptomatic on inhaled corticosteroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159: A639.
- 30. Miyamoto T. Effect of zafirlukast on symptoms and pulmonary function of asthmatic patients with and without corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1999; 14 (suppl 30): 120s-121s.
- 31. Selby C, Engleman HM, Fitzpatrick MF, Sime PM, Mackay TW, Douglas NJ. Inhaled salmeterol or oral theophylline in nocturnal asthma? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 155:104–108.
- 32. Davies B, Brooks G, Devoy M. The efficacy and safety of salmeterol compared to theophylline: a meta-analysis of nine controlled studies. Respir Med 1998; 92:256–263.
- Wilson AM, Dempsey OJ, Sims EJ, Lipworth BJ. A comparison of salmeterol and montelukast as second-line therapy in asthmatic patients receiving inhaled corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1999; 14 (suppl 30):531s.
- 34. Paterson MC, Wilson AM, Dempsey OJ, Sims EJ, Lipworth BJ. The effect of combination theapy with salmeterol and montelukast in asthmatic patients receiving inhaled corticosteroids. Eur Respir J 1999; 14 (suppl 30):531s.
- 35. Busse W, Nelson H, Wolfe J, et al. Comparison of inhaled salmeterol and oral zafirlukast in patients with asthma.J Allerg Clin Immunol 1999; 103:1075–1080.

Discussion

- **Dr. Jeffery:** In a collaboration with my Danish and Swedish colleagues, and supported by GlaxoWellcome, we have completed two crossover studies comparing the effects of placebo, salmeterol, and fluticasone. Firstly, in stable, mild asthma, salmeterol (given at 50 μ g b.d. for 6 weeks) reduces the numbers of neutrophils in biopsies and also of neutrophil markers in blood. Secondly, in response to allergen challenge, fluticasone (250 μ g b.d.) increases neutrophil numbers in biopsies whilst salmeterol reduces neutrophils. These actions might be considered complementary.
- **Dr. Selroos:** I have seen the results of your biopsy studies. The next obvious step would be to perform a biopsy study evaluating the combined effects of an inhaled steroid plus a long-acting β_2 -agonist.
- **Dr. O'Byrne:** The study design used in many of the "add-on" studies is inappropriate as doubling doses of inhaled glucocorticoids have not been shown to significantly improve the outcomes measured in the studies.
- **Dr. Selroos:** I agree. A fourfold difference in inhaled steroid dose, as in the FACET study, is required in order to give the inhaled steroid limb a fair chance to compete in endpoint measurements.
- **Prof. Dolovich:** It is possible that delivery of steroids to the distal lung may be enhanced if the lung is pretreated with bronchodilator, as I showed in severe asthmatic subject on ICS with PET imaging. My observations support your findings using formoterol/budesonide combination therapy, but perhaps the effect only occurs in the moderate-severe asthmatic.
- **Dr. Selroos:** Your point is well taken. However, the studies in asthmatics that I am aware of have not been able to demonstrate a significantly improved deposition when a bronchodilator has been given prior to inhalation of an inhaled steroid. The main reason why we previously recommended the β_2 -agonist to be inhaled some 10 minutes before the inhaled steroid dose was the fact that inhalation of the steroid pMDI (lubricants and propellants) often resulted in cough, and sometimes even in bronchospasm—which could be avoided by giving the β_2 -agonist in advance. With dry powder inhalers, we do not have this problem.

AUTHOR INDEX

Italic numbers give the page on which the complete reference is listed.

A

Aalbers R, 607, 616 Aarnisalo P, 75, 87 Aaronson D, 255, 268, 406, 417 Abboud RT, 185, 206 Abe K, 151, 161 Aberg A, 16, 30 Aberle DR, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Abi-Younes S, 117, 119, 127 Abraham WM, 26, 32, 570, 576 Abramowitz W, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287, 302 Abrams JS, 624, 632 Abts HF, 140, 162 Ackerson L, 495, 499, 511 Adams GK, 170, 201 Adams JE, 473, 485 Adams S, 500, 513 Adcock IM, 80, 82, 89, 90, 123, 130, 143, 153, 230, 231, 243 Addlestone MB, 234, 243, 504, 513 Adelroth E, 15, 29, 424, 425, 427, 429, 430, 435, 436, 603, 605, 609, 610, 615, 616, 617 Adinoff AD, 274, 279 Adlis SA, 495, 511 Aenesen JP, 601, 614

Affirme M, 227, 242, 521, 534 Affleck E, 497, 512 Agertoft L, 15, 16, 29, 30, 55, 60, 171, 175, 185, 202, 206, 214, 215, 234, 237, 243, 250, 252, 268, 359, 360, 361, 362, 363, 365, 367, 368, 369, 370, 372, 373, 375, 376, 380, 381, 382, 384, 386, 391, 402, 415, 444, 452, 458, 473, 474, 476, 486, 487, 594, 613, 636, 644 Agnew JE, 217, 238 Agosti J, 171, 201 Agou F, 579, 586 Agre P, 148, 149, 158 Aguirre J, 366, 384 Aguzzi A, 70, 83 Ahlstedt S, 624, 632 Ahmed ML, 374, 387 Ahrens RC, 169, 174, 200, 204, 397, 400, 416 Aikas C, 52, 58, 174, 203 Aikawa T, 600, 614 Aikra S, 75, 87 Aitchison TC, 496, 512 Aitchison WR, 16, 30 Aizawa H, 454, 461 Akatsu T, 150, 160

Akers WA, 545, 560 Akira S, 124, 131, 138, 162 Akiyama H, 150, 159 Aksoy MO, 231, 243 Al-Essa M, 193, 194, 208 Albar JP, 117, 128 Alberth M, 545, 548, 549, 561 Alberts B, 139, 152 Albisu Andrade Y, 360, 381 Albrektsen T, 78, 79, 89 Alexander F, 362, 382 Alexander M, 185, 206 Ali M, 102, 110 Ali NJ, 473, 485 Allakhvberdi Z, 117, 119, 127 Allam C, 344, 349, 469, 484 Allavena P, 140, 162 Allegretto EA, 142, 163 Allen D, 368, 386 Allen DB, 475, 476, 482, 486, 487, 488 Allen HR, 102, 110 Alling D, 148, 158 Allis CD, 140, 153 Almendro N, 147, 157 Almlof T, 69, 71, 78, 83, 85, 89, 141, 142, 153 Almon RR, 104, 106, 109, 111, 229, 242 Altmann M, 142, 163 Altraja A, 602, 615 Alvarado JA, 147, 157 Alvarez W, 366, 384 Alving K, 26, 32, 444, 445, 458, 459 Ambler G, 470, 482, 484 Ambrosius W, 630, 634 Amir J, 368, 386 Amit S, 579, 585 Amos JF, 551, 562 Andersen B, 53, 59, 344, 349 Andersen JS, 579, 585 Andersen K, 55, 59, 346, 350, 365, 383 Anderson GH, 468, 483 Anderson GP, 145, 155 Anderson HR, 626, 632 Anderson JA, 598, 607, 608, 614 Anderson JJ, 474, 486 Anderson KE, 479, 487

Anderson M, 179, 205, 274, 280 Anderson PJ, 641, 646 Anderson SD, 193, 208 Andersson E, 277, 281 Andersson KE, 12, 13, 14, 28, 53, 59, 337, 345, 347, 350 Andersson M, 213, 214, 237, 277, 281, 335, 341, 342, 345, 347 Andersson N, 531, 536 Andersson P, 13, 14, 21, 28, 29, 227, 228, 241, 250, 252, 253, 255, 266, 269, 287, 292, 302, 522, 530, 532, 535, 565, 566, 575, 576 Andersson PH, 21, 25, 26, 31, 32 Andoh Y, 600, 614 Andreasson A, 531, 536 Andrews SM, 218, 239 Angel P, 74, 75, 77, 82, 87, 578, 581, 585, 587 Angell RM, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Anrather J, 121, 129 Ansari TW, 601, 604, 615 Ansarin K, 453, 462 Ansell BM, 368, 385 Antakly T, 73, 84, 150, 159 Anthonioz P, 217, 238 Anttila S, 227, 241 Anzawa H, 115, 127 Anzick Sl, 142, 163 Aoki Y, 229, 242 Appella E, 124, 132 Apter AJ, 497, 500, 512, 513 Arad I, 629, 633 Archer A, 171, 202 Archer TK, 73, 78, 86 Arends JW, 229, 242 Areppe J, 177, 209 Argenti D, 250, 251, 254, 267, 268 Ariizumi K, 145, 155 Armenio L, 362, 382 Arnold R, 142, 164 Artlich A, 455, 461 Arvidsson P, 214, 237 Asano K, 117, 123, 128, 601, 614 Asbell P, 551, 562

650

Ashkenazi A, 140, 162 Ashwell JD, 146, 156 Asking L, 191, 207 Aslam F, 150, 159 Assoufi B, 465, 483 Astrom A, 21, 31 Atsuta J, 118, 128 Aubin JE, 150, 160 Augustinsson KB, 544, 559 Aumann J, 18, 30, 226, 241 Auphan N, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 582.587 Auty M, 339, 342, 348 Avioli LV, 124, 132 Aviram M, 368, 386 Avital A, 16, 30 Axelsson B, 25, 26, 31, 32, 566, 567, 571, 576 Axelsson BI, 286, 290, 300, 302 Ayars GH, 344, 349 Ayer DE, 143, 153 Ayers M, 597, 598, 613 Ayroldi E, 140, 163 Azgad Y, 504, 513 Azorsa D, 142, 163 Azzolin NM, 444, 452, 458

В

Babin EA, 229, 243 Bach F, 121, 129 Bacher M, 151, 160 Bachlitzanakis N, 638, 645 Backman R, 52, 58, 174, 203, 636, 645 Bacon KB, 114, 126 Badcock CA, 335, 342, 347, 397, 400, 416, 469, 484 Baeuerle PA, 80, 81, 90, 578, 585 Baggiolini M, 113, 115, 116, 117, 124, 126, 127, 132 Baglioni C, 122, 130 Bahl T, 174, 204 Bai T, 186, 207 Bai TR, 214, 237, 238, 606, 616 Bailey DL, 193, 208 Bailey EM, 607, 616

Bailey JM, 144, 154 Bailey WC, 503, 508, 513, 514 Bain DL, 72, 86 Baker AB, 335, 342, 347, 397, 400, 416 Baker B, 469, 484 Baker J, 407, 417 Baker JW, 623, 631 Baker K, 360, 381 Baker KP, 140, 162 Baksh L, 383, 412, 413, 416 Balakrishnan M, 174, 203 Baldini G, 362, 382 Baldwin AS, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 138, 161, 582, 587 Baldwin DT, 140, 162 Balfour-Lynn L, 362, 368, 374, 382, 385 Balke J, 124, 125, 132 Balkrishnan R, 507, 514 Ballard Baxter JD, 68, 83 Ballard PL, 149, 150, 159 Ballard RA, 150, 159 Balley BJR, 364, 367, 383 Balow JE, 144, 154 Balter MS. 185, 206 Baluk P, 145, 155 Bamberger CM, 70, 84 Banchereau J, 145, 154 Bandi N, 221, 240 Bandy L, 222, 240 Banks SM, 453, 462 Bar-Yishay E, 629, 633 Baraldi E, 444, 447, 450, 452, 458, 460 Baran DT, 473, 485 Baraniuk J, 639, 645 Barbee RA, 627, 632 Barbera JA, 446, 452, 459 Barbosa M, 579, 586 Bardare M, 362, 382 Barinov-Colligon I, 256, 269 Barley NA, 73, 86 Barnacle H, 343, 348, 451, 460 Barneon G, 624, 632 Barnes G, 584, 588 Barnes KM, 221, 240 Barnes NC, 336, 347, 470, 484, 601, 604, 615, 640, 645

Barnes P, 18, 19, *31*, 123, *130*, 230, *243* Barnes PJ, 51, *58*, 80, 82, *89*, *90*, 123, 124, 125, *130*, *132*, 137, 143, 147, *152*, *153*, *156*, 231, 234, *243*, 356, 357, 361, *379*, *382*, 391, 402, 405, 407, *415*, *417*, *418*, 433, *437*, 443, 444, 446, 449, 450, 452, 453, 454, 455, 456, 457, *457*, *458*, *459*, *461*, *462*, 465, 466, 469, 471, 479, 482, *482*, *483*, *487*, 541, 546, *558*, 581, *587*, 611, *617*, 635, 639, 640, *644*, *645*

- Baroody F, 117, 127
- Barrett T, 578, 585
- Barrows E, 497, 512
- Barry KA, 278, 281
- Barry P, 174, 204
- Barry PW, 175, 204
- Barsony J, 144, 154
- Bartels J, 123, 124, 131
- Barth J, 221, 239, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 266, 267, 268, 286, 287, 292, 299, 302, 303, 304
- Bartlett JD, 550, 551, 562
- Bartoli A, 140, 146, 156, 163
- Bartsch J, 72, 73, 78, 85, 86
- Barwise G, 368, 385
- Bashian GG, 145, 155
- Baskerville J, 15, 29, 51, 53, 56, 58, 60, 336, 347, 383, 412, 413, 416, 471,
- 473, 479, 480, 481, 484, 488, 495, 512
- Baskerville JC, 15, 29, 213, 236, 275, 280, 346, 350, 473, 480, 481, 485,
- 488, 523, 535
- Bateman JR, 217, 238
- Bates S, 221, 240
- Batycky R, 179, 205
- Baud V, 579, 580, 581, 586
- Baulieu EE, 101, 110
- Baumal R, 56, 60
- Bautovich G, 193, 208
- Baxter JD, 70, 75, 84, 581, 587
- Bazan JF, 114, *126*
- Bazan NG, 140, *162*
- Beall LD, 117, 127
- Beardon PM, 494, 511
- Beardsmore C, 627, 633

Beasley R, 597, 598, 601, 613, 615 Beato M, 68, 70, 71, 72, 73, 75, 78, 83, 84, 85, 86, 142, 164, 286, 302 Beaune P, 227, 241 Beck L, 278, 281 Beck LA, 113, 115, 117, 118, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 479, 487 Becker AB, 274, 279 Becky Kelly EA, 625, 632 Bedoya A, 147, 157 Beehler C, 551, 563 Beelman CS, 122, 129 Beer DG, 221, 239 Beesley JE, 600, 614 Befus AD, 274, 280 Beier K, 151, 160 Beilby J, 503, 513 Beilin LJ, 507, 514 Bel EH, 40, 47, 400, 417, 428, 429, 430, 436, 449, 451, 456, 460, 462, 603, 604, 615 Belda J, 432, 437 Bell RA, 138, 162 Bellido T, 150, 159 Bellon T, 147, 157 Ben-Jebria A, 300, 304 Ben-Neriah Y, 579, 585 Ben-Yaakov M, 624, 632 Bend JR, 227, 241 Bende M, 213, 214, 237 Bender B, 495, 499, 511 Bender K, 82, 90 Bennett BL, 579, 580, 581, 586 Bensch GW, 235, 244 Benson M, 140, 163 Benson MK, 339, 342, 348, 611, 618 Bentley AM, 465, 483 Berar-Yanay N, 356, 357, 379 Berger M, 495, 502, 503, 504, 511 Berger SL, 73, 86 Berger WE, 344, 349 Bergh A, 597, 613 Bergofsky EH, 193, 194, 208 Bergstresser PR, 145, 155 Bergstrom M, 195, 209 Berkman N, 123, 125, 130, 132

Bernabeu C, 147, 157 Bernasconi S, 145, 155 Bernaud C, 504, 513 Bernhagen J, 151, 160 Bernstein D, 310, 328 Bernstein P, 103, 111, 121, 122, 129 Berridge MS, 194, 195, 208 Bertorelli G, 425, 427, 429, 430, 435, 436, 602, 603, 615, 625, 632 Besra GS, 145, 154 Besser GM, 468, 483 Bessia C, 579, 586 Bessman SP, 533, 536 Betts PR, 364, 367, 383 Beumann R, 551, 563 Beutler B, 122, 129 Bhargava U, 150, 160 Bhowmik M, 368, 386 Bianchi ME, 142, 163 Bianchi Porro G, 310, 328 Bickel C, 115, 117, 123, 124, 126, 127, 131 Bickel CA, 115, 127, 479, 487 Biddiscome MF, 339, 342, 348 Biello DR, 183, 206 Bienstock J, 274, 280 Bigby TD, 428, 435 Biggadike K, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Billah MM, 124, 132, 583, 588 Binetruy B, 578, 585 Birch S, 16, 30, 344, 349 Birkebaek NH, 55, 59, 346, 350, 365, 383 Birkinshaw G, 366, 384 Birrer M, 578, 585 Bischoff SC, 115, 126 Bisgaard H, 53, 59, 171, 172, 201, 215, 237, 344, 349, 367, 384, 452, 461, 473, 486, 623, 631 Bish R, 605, 616 Bjerke T, 117, 128 Bjerknes R, 217, 238 Bjermer L, 528, 536, 568, 576 Black P, 53, 59, 344, 349 Blais L, 42, 47, 492, 511

Blanchard J, 171, 201 Blanco JC, 142, 163 Blanquaert F, 150, 159 Bleecker ER, 186, 192, 206, 207, 496, 512 Blendy JA, 70, 83 Blodgett FM, 368, 385 Blomquist P, 144, 154 Bloom JW, 121, 129, 139, 152, 229, 243 Blotta MH, 145, 154 Bluestone JA, 147, 156 Blum AM, 151, 160 Blumberg B, 68, 83 Blundell G, 53, 59, 344, 349, 469, 484 Blyth DI, 600, 614 Bochner B, 115, 117, 123, 126 Bochner BS, 115, 127, 144, 154, 479, 487, 543, 547, 559 Bock R, 75, 77, 82, 87, 581, 587 Bockner B, 278, 281 Bodner B, 551, 563 Bodor N, 286, 287, 302, 522, 525, 535, 536, 543, 544, 545, 546, 547, 548, 549, 550, 552, 559, 560, 561, 562 Bodor NS, 545, 561 Bodwell JE, 71, 85 Bogaard JM, 392, 402, 415, 636, 645 Boissiont E, 217, 238 Boivin JF, 42, 47, 56, 60, 399, 416, 478, 487, 492, 511 Bokma JA, 53, 59 Bolado J, 121, 129 Bollen M, 144, 154 Boman G, 41, 42, 43, 47 Bonavida B, 140, 163 Bondesson E, 182, 206, 214, 215, 237 Boner A, 357, 362, 365, 380, 382 Bonn T, 70, 84 Bonner TI, 151, 161 Bonsmann U, 219, 239 Bont L, 627, 632 Boobis AR, 227, 241 Boone E, 82, 90 Boonyaratanakornkit V, 142, 163 Boorsman M, 53, 59, 335, 341, 342, 345, 347

Borenstein M, 231, 243 Borga O, 15, 29, 213, 236, 255, 269, 275, 280, 523, 535 Borgeois S, 221, 240 Borgstrom L, 169, 175, 177, 182, 191, 200, 204, 206, 215, 237, 238, 255, 269 Borham P, 193, 208 Borish L, 630, 634 Borish LC, 450, 462 Borsatti A, 145, 155, 255, 269 Borst P, 296, 304 Bortell R, 150, 159 Boschetto P, 147, 156 Bosco MC, 124, 131 Bosken C, 594, 606, 608, 611, 613, 616, 617 Bossemeyer D, 584, 588 Bota GW, 43, 47 Bottoms S, 600, 614 Boudinot FD, 104, 109, 111 Boudreau RJ, 174, 203, 289, 303 Boulet IL, 53, 58 Boulet LP, 336, 346, 347, 350, 465, 469, 471, 473, 477, 479, 480, 482, 484, 485, 501, 502, 504, 513, 515, 517, 531, 536 Boumpas DT, 144, 154 Bourge JF, 146, 156 Bourgeois S, 122, 130 Bourk M, 75, 87 Bouros D, 638, 645 Boushey HA, 44, 45, 47, 391, 402, 403, 404, 415, 417, 432, 437, 467, 483 Bousquet J, 456, 462, 593, 612, 624, 632 Boutet M, 465, 482, 606, 616 Bowen B, 191, 193, 194, 207, 208 Bowen L, 250, 251, 266, 292, 303 Bowes G, 627, 628, 633 Bowman B, 551, 563 Bowry P, 495, 499, 511 Boyle WJ, 580, 587 Braat MC, 257, 269 Bradbury EM, 140, 152 Bradfield JF, 630, 634 Bradlow HL, 523, 535, 542, 546, 547, 559

Brand PL, 367, 384, 473, 476, 480, 485, 487 Brandstrom H, 150, 159 Brandtzaeg P, 601, 614 Brange C, 25, 26, 32 Brann DW, 229, 242 Brannan M, 227, 242, 521, 534 Braquet P, 144, 154 Brard G, 143, 153 Bratton DL, 452, 461 Brattsand R, 6, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 25, 26, 28, 29, 31, 32, 53, 59, 138, 152, 219, 222, 223, 225, 232, 239, 240, 241, 243, 286, 290, 300, 301, 302, 305, 345, 350, 479, 487, 521, 522, 528, 533, 534, 535, 536, 537, 565, 566, 567, 568, 571, 575, 576 Braude AC, 221, 239 Braun CM, 145, 155 Brazinsky S, 174, 189, 203 Breen E, 150, 159 Breier G, 148, 157 Breimer DD, 221, 240, 296, 304 Brewer G, 121, 122, 129 Brewster CEP, 602, 615 Briere F, 145, 154, 155 Bright H, 600, 614 Brightling CE, 430, 436 Brinkman JG, 175, 204 Britten KM, 424, 429, 435, 436, 465, 482 Britten N, 506, 514 Broadus AE, 581, 587 Broder I, 56, 60 Brogan RS, 150, 151, 160 Brokaw JJ, 145, 155 Brolly C, 227, 228, 241 Bromleigh V, 143, 153 Bron A, 607, 616 Bron AO, 407, 418 Bronnegard M, 70, 84, 229, 242 Bronsky EA, 235, 244, 368, 386, 476, 487 Brook CG, 366, 383 Brooks CM, 503, 513 Brooks G, 642, 646 Brooks M, 508, 514

Brostjan C, 121, 129 Brostoff J, 6, 10, 12, 21, 28 Brouwer AI, 495, 511 Brown A, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 268, 356, 377, 379 Brown CY, 122, 130 Brown DCP, 368, 371, 386 Brown G, 214, 237 Brown HB, 368, 386 Brown HM, 5, 6, 27, 28 Brown J, 171, 201, 250, 252, 267, 289, 303, 336, 346, 347, 350, 469, 473, 477, 484, 485 Brown K, 228, 242, 339, 342, 348, 368, 385 Brown KF, 342, 348 Brown M, 374, 387 Brown MA, 628, 633 Brown PH, 53, 59, 344, 349, 469, 470, 484 Brown R, 217, 239, 340, 342, 344, 348 Brown RA, 298, 304 Brown-Shimer S, 122, 129 Brownell JE, 140, 153 Bruhl B, 151, 160 Brummet ME, 115, 127 Brundin RM, 53, 59, 259, 260, 270, 335, 339, 347, 469, 484 Brunetti G, 310, 328 Brunner T, 115, 126 Brus F, 627, 632 Brus R, 260, 270, 399, 416 Brusasco V, 429, 430, 436 Bruscoli S, 140, 163 Brush AD, 140, 162 Brutsche IC, 340, 342, 344, 348 Brutsche MH, 217, 239, 340, 342, 344, 348 Brzozowski AM, 70, 84 Bubendorf L, 142, 163 Bucala R, 151, 160, 546, 562 Buchdahl R, 175, 205 Buchmeier AD, 274, 279 Buchwald P, 522, 535, 543, 544, 546, 547, 559, 560 Buck F, 140, 146, 155

Bui A, 149, 159 Buist AS, 492, 493, 499, 511 Bukrantz SC, 368, 385 Burakov D, 143, 153 Burek A, 495, 496, 512 Burge PS, 289, 290, 303, 524, 535 Burgess CM, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Burgess GL, 186, 207 Burgin L, 368, 385 Burgio R, 362, 382 Buris L, 545, 561 Buris LF, 545, 561 Burke C, 57, 60, 145, 155 Burke V, 507, 514 Burrows B, 627, 632 Burton JA, 248, 266, 298, 304, 310, 327 Burton R, 179, 183, 205 Busch T, 446, 452, 455, 459, 461 Buscher D, 580, 587 Bush A, 451, 460 Busse WW, 15, 18, 19, 29, 31, 51, 58, 174, 189, 203, 214, 237, 343, 349, 356, 357, 361, 369, 379, 382, 391, 402, 415, 465, 482, 541, 546, 558, 593, 612, 624, 625, 630, 632, 634, 635, 643, 644, 646 Butland BK, 626, 632 Butler GE, 364, 367, 383 Butterfield JH, 125, 132 Buttner P, 53, 59, 345, 350 Butz A, 505, 514 Buzzigoli G, 215, 238 Bye A, 52, 58, 177, 195, 209, 218, 239, 250, 251, 255, 257, 259, 266, 267, 268, 269, 287, 292, 302, 303, 342, 348, 356, 377, 379, 545, 561 Byron MA, 368, 385 Byron PR, 176, 182, 205, 284, 301

С

Cadepond F, 101, Caelles C, 148, Cairns AY, 363, 369, Cairns C, 76, 80, 88 Cairns K, 227, 228, 241 Cairns W, 76, 80, 88 Calandra T, 151, 160 Caldenhoven E, 80, 89 Calderon MA, 425, 435, 603, 615 Caldwell D, 551, 563 Calhoun WJ, 624, 632 Callejas S, 218, 239 Callen Bleucua M, 360, 381 Camara DS, 97, 109 Cambpell LM, 174, 203 Cameron L, 605, 616 Camner P, 179, 205 Campanini MC, 310, 328 Campbell D, 444, 458, 503, 513, 578, 585 Campbell LM, 16, 30 Campbell MJ, 373, 376, 387 Campieri M, 310, 328 Canalis E, 150, 159 Candau R, 73, 86 Candore G, 274, 279 Cannarile L, 140, 163 Cao Z. 580, 587 Capewell S, 336, 347, 473, 477, 485, 487 Capizzi T, 482, 488 Caponetti G, 300, 304 Capparelli C, 580, 587 Caput D, 115, 122, 126, 129 Caputo A, 140, 162 Caramori M, 450, 453, 462 Cardarelli PM, 124, 131 Cardona GR, 142, 163 Cargill RI, 53, 59, 344, 349, 400, 417 Carlen B, 568, 576 Carlen Brutsche I, 217, 239 Carlin JB, 627, 628, 633 Carlquist M, 70, 84 Carlsen KH, 495, 511 Carlshaf A, 18, 20, 30, 226, 241, 565, 576 Carlson S, 173, 203 Carlsson L, 456, 462 Carlstedt-Duke J, 70, 75, 76, 84, 87, 138, 161, 229, 242 Carre A, 504, 513

Carrier S, 169, 200 Carroll M, 117, 128 Carroll N, 451, 460, 594, 608, 613 Carroll NG, 606, 616 Carryer HM, 49, 58 Carson D, 476, 487 Carson RT, 124, 131 Carter P, 363, 368, 382 Cartier A, 336, 347, 469, 473, 477, 484, 495, 496, 512 Caruso C, 274, 279 Casale T. 310. 328 Casale TB, 455, 461 Casalini A, 425, 427, 435, 602, 603, 615, 625.632 Casinghino S, 150, 159 Casolaro V, 124, 131 Cass LM, 195, 209 Castagnaro A, 455, 461 Castile R, 630, 634 Castillo R, 171, 201 Castleman WL, 630, 634 Castro-Rodriguez JA, 628, 631, 633 Catena E, 15, 29 Cato AC, 73, 75, 77, 81, 82, 84, 88, 90 Cato ACB, 78, 79, 89, 121, 129, 581, 587 Caulfield J, 145, 155 Caux C, 145, 154 Cavagni G, 362, 382 Cavailles V, 79, 89 Cavigelli M, 578, 585 Cawte S, 400, 417 Cayton RM, 40, 47 Celano M, 496, 512 Celestin J, 117, 124, 128 Centrealla M, 150, 159 Cermai A, 122, 129, 151, 160, 546, 562 Cervantes C, 473, 485 Chagoya L, 503, 513 Chai H, 368, 385 Chaikin P, 289, 302 Chakir J, 465, 482, 606, 616 Chakraborty A, 97, 109, 257, 269 Chakravarti D, 143, 153 Chalmers GW, 447, 450, 460

656

Chambard JC, 77, 88, 138, 161, 581, 587 Chamberlain MJ, 183, 206 Chamberland M, 75, 76, 78, 87, 88 Chambers CV, 495, 502, 503, 504, 511 Chambers F, 171, 201 Chambon P, 68, 83, 144, 154 Chan HK, 191, 207 Chandler LA, 122, 130 Chanez P, 456, 462, 594, 605, 613, 616, 624, 632 Chang CJ, 78, 88 Chang CP, 143, 153 Chang DJ, 150, 159 Chang HK, 182, 183, 206 Chang KC, 368, 385 Chang L, 580, 581, 586 Chang S, 524, 535 Chang TJ, 138, 161 Chanoine F, 250, 251, 253, 267, 287, 290, 302, 524, 535 Chao J, 151, 161 Chao L, 151, 161 Chaplin MD, 218, 239, 250, 251, 252, 266, 267, 287, 292, 302, 303 Chapman KR, 185, 206, 450, 453, 462, 473, 485 Charan NB, 607, 616 Charo IF, 116, 127 Charous BL, 641, 646 Charousos GP, 256, 269 Charpentier JC, 504, 513 Chatkin J, 453, 462 Chaudary LR, 124, 132 Chavez S, 72, 85 Chay OM, 473, 486 Che CYA, 122, 129 Cheang M, 56, 60, 346, 350, 478, 487 Chemlik F, 39, 46 Chen CYA, 122, 125, 129, 132 Chen D, 179, 205 Chen H, 142, 163 Chen J, 147, 157 Chen JD, 142, 163 Chen LS, 287, 302, 525, 536, 545, 561 Chen M, 545, 560 Chen Q, 630, 634

Chen R, 71, 85 Chen Y, 579, 580, 581, 582, 583, 586, 588 Chen YL, 78, 88 Cheng H, 97, 109 Cheong HJ, 142, 163 Chervinsky P, 15, 29, 174, 204, 213, 214, 236, 275, 281, 343, 344, 349 Chetta A, 425, 427, 429, 430, 435, 436, 455, 461, 602, 603, 615, 625, 632 Chew NY, 191, 207 Chiappara G, 605, 616 Chiarelli F, 368, 386 Chiba H, 144, 154 Chiba T, 608, 617 Chigo E, 357, 366, 380 Chihara K, 150, 159 Chikumi H, 449, 451, 460 Chin WW, 142, 163 Chinchilli VM, 403, 417, 467, 483 Ching D, 149, 158 Chiocca E, 357, 365, 380 Chistophers E, 123, 124, 131 Chivers J, 582, 583, 588 Choi JE, 142, 163 Choquart A, 286, 302 Chou KJ, 172, 202 Choudhury S, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267 Choudry N, 531, 536 Christensen BM, 148, 149, 158 Christensen MD, 148, 157 Christodoulopoulos P, 117, 127 Christophers E, 115, 126 Chrousos GP, 70, 84, 137, 141, 151, 152, 153, 160 Chrystyn H, 175, 192, 193, 205, 208 Chu C, 124, 131 Chu N, 250, 251, 266, 292, 303 Chu NI, 250, 251, 252, 267, 287, 302 Chu WM, 580, 581, 586 Chuang E, 147, 156 Chuang L, 51, 52, 58, 383, 412, 413, 416 Chuna GR, 221, 239 Chung K, 123, 130 Chung KF, 123, 125, 130, 132, 230, 243, 407, 418, 425, 427, 435, 443, 444,

[Chung KF] 451, 454, 455, 457, 458, 460, 461, 640.645 Church MK, 465, 483 Ciabattoni G, 457, 462 Cidlowski JA, 71, 75, 82, 85, 87, 90, 103, 104, 105, 110, 137, 138, 139, 143, 152, 161, 229, 242 Cipolla D, 171, 201 Claesson KG, 9, 11, 28 Claret FX, 578, 585 Clark AR, 172, 173, 175, 202, 205, 344, 349, 363, 369, 383, 546, 562 Clark D, 53, 59, 344, 349 Clark DJ, 175, 192, 204, 208, 335, 338, 339, 347, 348, 356, 357, 379, 400, 417, 469, 470, 473, 482, 484, 485 Clark M, 637, 645 Clark TJH, 4, 6, 27, 28, 214, 237 Clarke SW, 169, 172, 175, 179, 200, 202, 204, 205, 206, 217, 238, 368, 386 Clay MM, 172, 202, 217, 238, 368, 386 Clayberger C, 124, 132 Clayton KL, 374, 387 Clayton PE, 366, 384 Clelland L, 430, 436 Clements JA, 573, 576 Clemm DL, 71, 73, 85 Clepper I, 494, 511 Cline AC, 186, 192, 206 Cline MG, 627, 632 Clive J, 500, 513 Coates G, 171, 174, 183, 189, 191, 193, 194, 198, 201, 203, 206, 207, 208 Cobb MH, 122, 130 Cobb RR, 124, 131 Cochrane GM, 6, 28, 497, 512 Cockcroft DW, 53, 58, 172, 202, 471, 473, 479, 480, 484, 492, 493, 499, 511, 531, 536 Coe J, 73, 74, 84 Cogswell PC, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 582, 587 Cohen GR, 551, 563 Cohen I, 507, 514 Cole PV, 468, 483 Cole TJ, 70, 83, 151, 160

Colford JM, 504, 513 Colice GL, 179, 183, 186, 192, 206, 207, 214, 215, 237, 254, 268 Colland VT, 495, 511 Collins JV, 215, 238, 597, 601, 613 Collins P, 115, 117, 123, 126 Collins PD, 278, 281 Collins T, 82, 90 Collins-Williams C, 368, 386 Colombo A, 274, 279 Colotta F, 140, 162 Colville-Nash PR, 582, 583, 588 Combadiere C, 115, 123, 124, 125, 126 Cominelli F, 122, 130 Condemi J, 15, 29, 343, 349 Condemi JJ, 344, 349, 639, 645 Condez A, 145, 155 Connett G, 57, 60 Conradson TB, 16, 30, 169, 200, 250, 251, 252, 254, 255, 267, 340, 342, 348, 397, 400, 416 Consigli GF, 429, 430, 436 Conway JH, 174, 193, 194, 203, 208 Cooke C, 606, 616 Cooke D, 551, 563 Cooney AJ, 101, 110 Cooper JW, 507, 514 Cooper WC, 218, 239, 250, 251, 252, 267, 287, 302 Copeland NG, 114, 126 Corbi A, 147, 157 Corey PN, 56, 60 Corradi M, 457, 462 Corren J, 259, 260, 270, 274, 279 Coscas E, 310, 328 Cota M, 145, 155 Cote G, 177, 209 Cote JP, 73, 84 Cotlier E, 546, 562 Coultas S, 551, 563 Couraud PO, 147, 157 Courtois G, 579, 586 Cousin JM, 145, 155 Coutie WJ, 169, 184, 200, 481, 488 Coutts JAP, 495, 497, 504, 511, 512 Coy E, 227, 228, 241 Coyle AJ, 117, 128

Crabb JL, 551, 563 Crabtree GR, 138, 161 Crain EF, 172, 202 Creitcos P, 310, 328 Crepea SB, 601, 615 Crimi E, 429, 430, 436 Crockett RS, 550, 551, 562, 563 Crombie IK, 363, 369, 383 Crompton CK, 53, 59, 344, 349 Crompton GK, 174, 203, 214, 237, 469, 470, 484 Cross CD, 193, 194, 208, 451, 460 Crowley S, 366, 383 Cruz-Rivera M, 16, 30, 372, 386, 623, 631 Csizmadia V, 121, 129 Cu W, 579, 580, 586 Cuddy L, 16, 30, 344, 349 Culley BS, 503, 513 Cumming RG, 56, 60, 346, 350, 399, 416, 478, 487 Cunningham SJ, 172, 202 Curry SH, 339, 342, 348 Curtis JL, 428, 435 Custovic A, 340, 342, 344, 348 Cutler GB, 221, 240 Cutroneo KR, 151, 161 Cyr TD, 173, 203 Czar MJ, 101, 110 Czarny D, 6, 10, 12, 21, 28

D

D'Adamio F, 140, *163* Dahinden CA, 115, *126* Dahl R, 15, 29, 343, *348* Dahlback M, 6, 18, 19, 20, 25, 26, *28*, *32*, 170, 172, *200*, 219, 222, 223, *239*, *274*, *280*, 300, *305*, 528, 533, *536*, *537*, 565, *575* Dahlberg E, 13, 18, *29*, 286, *301*, 522, *535* Dahlem NW, 500, *512* Dahlman-Wright K, 138, *161* Dahlstroem K, 250, 251, 253, 254, *267*, *268*, 337, 342, *348*, 521, 530, *534*, *545*, *561* Dakhama A, 630, 634 Dalakos TG, 468, 483 Daley-Yates PT, 217, 218, 239, 340, 342, 344, 348, 359, 380 D'Ambrosio R, 104, 109, 111 Damert A, 148, 157 Damia R, 278, 281 Damkjaer Nielsen M, 53, 59, 344, 349, 473, 486 Daniele RP, 122, 129 Dankert-Roelse JE, 53, 59 D'Arcangelo A, 368, 386 Dargemont C, 82, 90 Dario C, 444, 447, 450, 452, 458, 460 Darpino P, 73, 86 Daugherty BL, 117, 127 Dauter Z, 70, 84 Dauvois S, 79, 89 Dave JR, 601, 614 David JP, 580, 586 David TJ, 374, 387 David V, 57, 60 Davidovich A, 217, 218, 239, 356, 357, 379 Davidson PJ, 289, 303 Davie JR, 143, 153 Davies B, 320, 328, 642, 646 Davies D, 250, 252, 253, 266, 287, 292, 302, 522, 530, 532, 535, 565, 575 Davies DE, 117, 128 Davies GM, 56, 60 Davies RJ, 117, 128 Davis D, 13, 21, 28 Davis J, 551, 563 Davis M, 579, 585 Davis MM, 124, 132 Davis RJ, 578, 580, 585, 586 Davis S, 630, 634 Davisdson PJ, 174, 203 Davoust J, 145, 154 Dawson C, 391, 402, 415 Day RN, 71, 85 Day RO, 335, 342, 347, 397, 400, 416, 469, 484 Dayneka NL, 96, 109 de-Arruda CE, 449, 451, 460 de Benedictis FM, 372, 387
de Blay F, 151, 160 de Boer AG, 221, 240, 296, 304 De Boisblanc BP, 360, 381 De Bosscher K, 82, 90, 121, 129 de Jong BM, 400, 417 de Jong EC, 145, 155 de Jong VM, 175, 205 de Jongste JC, 175, 204, 205 de Kloet ER, 221, 240, 296, 304 De Kroon PM, 368, 385 de Lange EC, 221, 240, 296, 304 De Lean A, 75, 76, 87 De Marzo N, 602, 615 de Matteo R, 148, 158 de Waal Malefyt R, 145, 155 De Winter ML, 543, 545, 548, 559 De Young LR, 171, 201 Dean A, 171, 201 Deaver D, 300, 304 DeBarge LR, 551, 563 Deerinck T, 579, 580, 586 Deibel JR, 101, 110 Deimling F, 151, 160 Dekhuijzen PN, 473, 485 Dekker FW, 498, 512 DeKruyff RH, 145, 154 Del Donno M, 425, 427, 429, 430, 435, 436, 602, 603, 615, 625, 632 del Pozo V, 449, 451, 460 del Rio L, 473, 474, 485 Delander EL, 20, 31, 222, 223, 225, 232, 240, 241, 300, 305 Delaunay F, 71, 80, 81, 85, 89 Delemarre-van de Waal HA, 53, 59 Delespesse G, 145, 155 Delhase M, 579, 580, 586 Dell SJ, 551, 563 Delorme EO, 71, 73, 85 DeMasi J, 96, 109, 257, 269 Demiryurek AT, 452, 461 Dempsey OJ, 169, 184, 200, 481, 488, 643,646 Dempster DW, 150, 159, 472, 485 Denburg JA, 26, 32, 274, 275, 276, 277, 278, 280, 281, 428, 435, 479, 482, 487 Deng T, 578, 585 Denyer J, 171, 201

Dequin PF, 217, 238 Derendorf H, 216, 232, 238, 247, 249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 257, 258, 259, 260, 266, 267, 268, 269, 270, 284, 286, 287, 292, 297, 298, 299, 300, 301, 302, 303, 304, 309, 312, 327, 525, 536, 545, 561 Derijard B, 578, 585 Derom E, 214, 237, 335, 339, 347, 451, 460 Desager KN, 364, 382 Deschesnes F, 531, 536 Desrochers C, 606, 616 Dessanges JF, 452, 461 Devadson SG, 172, 174, 175, 202, 203, 204Devalia JL, 117, 128 Devichand P, 360, 381 Devoy M, 642, 646 Dewald B, 124, 132 Dewar M, 214, 237 Dewar MH, 174, 203 Dezateux C, 627, 633 Dhand R, 174, 203 Di Carlo V, 140, 162 Di Lorenzo G, 274, 279 Di Mauro M, 215, 238 Di Padova F, 578, 585 Di Salvo A, 274, 279 Di Stefano A, 602, 615 Diamond JJ, 495, 502, 503, 504, 511 Diamond MI, 74, 75, 77, 87 Dickens GR, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287, 302 Dickerson JE, 546, 562 Dickstein B, 221, 240 DiDonato JA, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 579, 580, 582, 586, 587 Dieleman FE, 498, 512 Dijkman JH, 40, 47 Dimatteo MR, 498, 507, 512, 514 Dimattia GE, 71, 85 Dimitrov S, 72, 86 Dinh-Xuan AT, 452, 461 Diot E, 217, 238 Diot P, 217, 238 DipEtte DJ, 148, 157

Dirks JF, 500, 512 Dirksen A, 234, 243 DiStefano PM, 96, 109, 257, 269 Dittmar KD, 101, 110 Djukanovic R, 407, 418, 424, 429, 430, 435, 436, 465, 482, 602, 607, 611, 615, 616, 617 D'Ippolito R, 455, 461 Dobberling U, 78, 88 Dockhorn RJ, 186, 207, 254, 255, 268 Dodge R, 627, 632 Doherty PC, 124, 131 Doi S, 374, 387 Doi TS, 580, 586 Dolfi F, 578, 585 Dolovich J, 274, 275, 280, 429, 430, 436 Dolovich M, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175, 176, 179, 182, 183, 184, 185, 187, 188, 189, 190, 191, 192, 193, 194, 198, 200, 201, 202, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207, 208, 274, 280 Dolovich MB, 183, 192, 206, 208 Dompeling E, 175, 204 Donahue JG, 493, 494, 511 Donaldson DD, 630, 634 Dong C, 580, 586 Dong Y, 101, 110 Donnell D, 174, 204, 214, 237, 254, 268 Donnelly JE, 498, 507, 512 Donnelly R, 335, 342, 347, 348, 397, 400, 416, 469, 484 Donnelly T, 151, 160 Donnelly WJ, 498, 507, 512 Donnenfeld E, 551, 563 Donoghue ER, 507, 514 Dore ND, 172, 202 Dorf M, 117, 128 Dorin RI, 75, 77, 87 Dorman S, 277, 281 Dorschner A, 115, 126 Dotzel E, 546, 562 Douce G, 57, 60 Douglas JG, 473, 485 Douglas NJ, 642, 646 Doull I, 344, 349 Doull IJ, 373, 376, 387, 399, 416 Doull IJM, 475, 486

Doull IM, 358, 369, 380 Dowd AD, 140, 162 Draaisma JT, 627, 632 Dransfield I, 145, 155 Drazen JM, 117, 123, 128, 403, 417, 445, 446, 459, 467, 483 Drever EB, 478, 487 Drier J, 140, 146, 155 Drost D, 473, 481, 485 Droste A, 140, 146, 155 Drouin J, 71, 75, 76, 77, 78, 85, 87, 88, 138. 161. 581. 587 Druan Z, 366, 384 Drueke TB, 150, 160 Druzgala P, 286, 287, 302, 525, 536, 545, 547, 548, 549, 561, 562 Du Caju MV, 364, 382 Dube J, 465, 482, 606, 616 Dubinett SM, 147, 157 DuBois DC, 104, 106, 109, 111, 229, 242 Dubus JC, 174, 185, 187, 204, 206 Duddridge M, 452, 461 Duff GW, 75, 87 Dufty AP, 175, 204 Duiverman EJ, 344, 349, 360, 368, 381, 386, 399, 416, 625, 632 Dumont A, 82, 90 Dunbar CA, 170, 191, 200 Duncan GS, 580, 587 Dundas I, 627, 633 Dunger DB, 374, 387 Dunlop K, 476, 487 Dunn TE, 97, 109 Dunne S, 171, 201 Dunnette S, 215, 238 Dunnill MS, 117, 127, 424, 435, 598, 601, 607, 608, 614, 615 Dunstan CR, 150, 159, 580, 587 Duper B, 360, 381 Dupont S, 286, 302 Durant RH, 505, 514 Durham SR, 117, 127, 274, 279, 444, 458, 465, 483 Duvernelle C, 151, 160, 605, 616 Dworski R, 456, 462 Dyer BJ, 124, 132

Dyhe A, 171, 201 Dyson C, 56, 60, 346, 350

Ε

Eastell R, 473, 485 Eberhardt W, 123, 130 Ebert SN, 138, 162 Ebina M, 600, 608, 614, 617 Eckernas SA, 53, 59, 259, 260, 270, 335, 339, 347, 469, 484 Edelman J, 496, 512 Edmunds AT, 51, 58, 360, 381 Edsbäcker S, 5, 13, 14, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 169, 170, 200, 216, 218, 226, 227, 228, 235, 238, 241, 244, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 255, 266, 267, 268, 287, 292, 302, 303, 310, 328, 337, 340, 342, 347, 348, 397, 400, 403, 416, 417, 521, 522, 530, 532, 533, 534, 535, 536, 545, 561, 565, 575, 576 Edwards AM, 360, 382 Edwards BA, 148, 158 Edwards C, 336, 347, 477, 487 Edwards DA, 179, 205, 300, 304 Edwards DP, 142, 163 Edwards L, 344, 349, 407, 417, 469, 484 Edwards O, 227, 241 Edwards PA, 362, 382 Edwards R, 227, 241 Edwards RJ, 227, 241 Edwards TB, 455, 461 Efthimiadis A, 429, 430, 436 Efthimiou J, 290, 303, 469, 471, 483, 524, 535 Egan JJ, 473, 474, 485 Egan RW, 124, 132, 583, 588 Eggert M, 142, 164 Eggleston P, 505, 514 Ehretsmann CP, 122, 130 Eicher J, 171, 201 Eidsath A, 453, 462 Eigen H, 360, 381 Eisenman RN, 143, 153 Eiserich JP, 451, 460

Ek A, 231, 243 Ekholm BP, 186, 192, 206, 207 Ekman I, 255, 269 Ekstrom G, 148, 157 El-Saadi O, 494, 499, 511 Elia G, 582, 583, 588 Elias JA, 630, 634 Eliasson O, 497, 500, 512, 513 Elkinton JR, 581, 587 Elliot A, 594, 608, 613 Elliott BM, 367, 384, 476, 480, 487 Elliott DE, 151, 160 Ellis E, 360, 381 Ellis R, 26, 32, 274, 280, 429, 430, 436 Ellisman M, 579, 580, 586 Ellston J, 142, 163 Ellul-Micallef R, 15, 29, 234, 243, 343, 348 Emsley C, 630, 634 Enander I, 594, 613, 624, 632 Engel GEJ, 229, 242 Engel J, 552, 555, 557, 558, 564 Engel S, 545, 549, 550, 552, 561 Engel T, 182, 206, 234, 243 Engleman HM, 642, 646 Engstrom I, 361, 365, 368, 382, 384 Engstrom O, 70, 84 Enright E, 630, 634 Epstein DL, 147, 157 Erdjument-Bromage H, 143, 153 Erdmann M, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 266, 267, 287, 299, 302 Eriksson KS, 147, 157 Erjefalt I, 25, 26, 32 Ernst P, 42, 47, 49, 58, 443, 455, 457, 492, 493, 499, 511, 605, 616 Errington N, 383, 412, 413, 416 Esberg G, 55, 59, 346, 350, 365, 383 Esinoza FH, 584, 588 Eskew ML, 300, 304 Esmailpour N, 219, 226, 239, 294, 303, 533, 536 Espina L, 366, 384 Espinoza-Delgado I, 124, 131 Esposito Pellitteri M, 274, 279 Essayan DM, 145, 155

Estelle F, 623, Estopinal M, 551, Esumi Y, 227, Ettinghausen SE, 147, Eusebio R, 468, Evans A, 357, 366, *380*, Evans DJ, 443, 455, *457*, 640, Evans RM, 73, *84*, 121, *129*, 142, 143, *153*, *163* Evans SJ, 68, *83*, 429, 430, Evans TJ, 445, Everard M, 174, 185, Exmailpour N, 229, Ezekowiz RAB, 580,

F

Fabbri LM, 147, 156 Fabris L. 43, 47 Fahy JV, 44, 45, 47, 432, 437, 443, 455, 456, 458, 462, 526, 527, 536 Fairfax AJ, 57, 60 Fajac I, 452, 461 Fal A, 118, 123, 124, 125, 128 Falcoz A, 292, 299, 303, 304 Falcoz C, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 251, 253, 255, 257, 259, 266, 267, 268, 269, 287, 302, 545, 561 Falke KJ, 455, 461 Falliers CJ, 368, 385 Fang C, 227, 241 Fanta C, 446, 459 Fantuzzi G, 70, 83 Fargeas C, 145, 155 Farmer IS, 191, 207 Farr SJ, 171, 201 Farrell RM, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Farstad IN, 601, 614 Fattah D, 600, 614 Fauci AS, 124, 131, 146, 156 Faul JL, 57, 60 Faulkner KG, 473, 485 Fazio R, 551, 563 Feely M, 504, 513 Feige U, 146, 156

Feigelson P, 286, 302 Felig P, 581, 587 Felts KA, 124, 131 Felts SJ, 70, 84 Ferber E, 144, 154 Ferguson AE, 496, 512 Ferguson JE, 374, 387 Fergusson AC, 362, 382 Fernandes D, 609, 617 Fernandes DJ, 609, 617 Fernandez M, 145, 155 Fernandez-Mejia C, 75, 87 Ferrara P, 115, 126 Ferrige AG, 445, 459 Ferron GM, 100, 110 Ferroni MA, 228, 242 Fetissof F, 217, 238 Fey MF, 124, 132 Field E, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 268, 356, 377, 379 Fiers W, 82, 90, 121, 129 Fife SK, 150, 151, 160 Filbrun D, 630, 634 Fincke BG, 507, 514 Findlay DM, 150, 160 Finlay AY, 336, 347, 477, 487 Finn AF, 482, 488 Finotto S, 151, 160 Fireman P, 310, 328 Firestone GL, 73, 78, 84, 123, 130, 149, 158 Fish JE, 403, 417 Fishebein WN, 533, 536 Fisher D, 170, 201 Fisher LE, 97, 109 Fisher PE, 193, 194, 208 Fishman J, 546, 562 Fisk RA, 25, 31 Fitzgerald D, 470, 482, 484 Fitzgerald J, 300, 304 Fitzgerald JM, 49, 58 Fitzpatrick MF, 642, 646 Flacoz C, 356, 377, 379 Flavell RA, 580, 586 Fleming J, 179, 183, 205 Fleming JS, 174, 193, 194, 203, 208

Fletcher ME, 627, 633 Flores-Morales A, 140, 163 Floros J, 149, 158 Flower RJ, 138, 152 Flucke R, 630, 634 Foe K, 228, 242 Fojo T, 221, 240 Fok TF, 171, 176, 193, 194, 201, 205, 208 Foley J, 551, 563 Foley R, 274, 276, 278, 280, 281, 479, 482.487 Follows RM, 16, 30, 360, 381 Fondell JD, 143, 153 Ford J, 72, 78, 86, 89, 138, 161 Ford LB, 344, 349 Foresi A, 15, 29, 429, 430, 436, 455, 461, 625, 632 Fornhem C, 25, 26, 32 Forsberg K, 25, 31 Forsen KO, 52, 58, 174, 203 Forssmann U, 115, 126 Forster R, 146, 156 Forstermann U, 148, 158 Fortin D, 221, 240 Foster CS, 551, 563 Foster M, 600, 614 Foster PS, 600, 614 Foster T, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287, 302 Foster WM, 193, 194, 208 Foulds RA, 339, 342, 348 Fowler C, 338, 348 Fowler SJ, 186, 192, 206 Fox K, 551, 563 Fox RA, 175, 204 Fragoso G, 144, 154 Fraher LJ, 473, 480, 481, 485, 488 Frampton MW, 227, 228, 241 France JT, 365, 383 Francesconi E, 82, 90 Francis PL, 444, 458 Francis RS, 368, 386 Frankish CW, 15, 29, 275, 280, 523, 535 Franse-Carman L, 147, 157 Fransih CW, 213, 236 Fraser WD, 366, 384

Frati L, 122, 130 Fredericks WJ, 78, 89 Freedman BJ, 611, 618 Freedman LP, 71, 85, 143, 153 Freeman BC, 70, 84 Freezer N, 344, 349, 399, 416 Freezer NJ, 358, 369, 380, 475, 486 Freund B, 171, 201 Friberg K, 185, 206 Friberg M, 360, 382 Friedlaender MH, 551, 563 Friedman JR, 78, 89 Frietag A, 194, 198, 208 Fritzsch C, 628, 633 Frohman LA, 581, 587 Frosolono M, 169, 200 Frossard N, 151, 160, 605, 616 Frost C, 358, 360, 362, 369, 372, 377, 380, 399, 416, 475, 487, 623, 626, 631 Fryer JG, 361, 365, 382 Fuentes M, 229, 242 Fuentes NL, 73, 74, 85, 138, 161 Fuglsang G, 344, 349, 444, 452, 458, 469.484 Fujisawa T, 118, 128 Fukushima D, 257, 269 Fukuyama N, 452, 461 Fuller GM, 73, 74, 85, 138, 161 Fuller RW, 250, 252, 267, 342, 348 Furlong A, 404, 417 Furlonger C, 580, 587

G

Gabbay E, 445, 459 Gabbiani G, 595, 613 Gaddie J, 40, 47 Gadfrey L, 581, 587 Gaestel M, 125, 132 Gaggero L, 357, 366, 380 Gagnon L, 346, 350, 473, 485 Galia E, 250, 251, 266, 292, 303 Gallagher TF, 257, 269 Gallati M, 546, 562 Gamble M, 143, 153 Ganderton D, 176, 205 Gao X, 580, 587

Garabedian MJ, 142, 143, 153 Garbe E, 56, 60, 399, 416, 417, 478, 487 Garcia-Arraras JE, 151, 160 Garcia L, 191, 207 Garcia T, 286, 302 Garcia-Zepeda EA, 115, 117, 119, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 131, 601, 614 Garg V, 96, 109 Garland N, 169, 179, 200, 206 Garmendia Iglesias A, 360, 381 Garnier JM, 144, 154 Garnier P, 452, 461 Gass P, 75, 77, 82, 87, 581, 587 Gasser J, 146, 156 Gast A, 81, 90, 581, 587 Gaston B, 446, 459 Gauthier Y, 75, 76, 87 Gauvreau GM, 276, 281, 479, 482, 487 Gavita SM, 445, 459 Gayo A, 151, 161 Ge H, 143, 153 Geba GP, 630, 634 Gebbart J, 179, 206 Gebel S, 77, 88, 581, 587 Geelen SM, 627, 633 Gehring U, 78, 79, 89, 142, 164 Geiser T, 115, 126 Gelder CM, 123, 130, 230, 243 Gelehrter TD, 151, 160 Gelfand EW, 630, 634 Gelfand ML, 49, 58 Geller RJ, 496, 512 Genant HK, 473, 485 Genter FC, 545, 560 Georas S, 124, 131 George TN, 149, 158 George WHS, 6, 28 Georgopoulos A, 170, 201 Geppert TD, 122, 130 Gerdtham UG, 41, 42, 43, 47 Gergen PJ, 541, 546, 558 Gerhards E, 524, 535, 545, 560 Gerhardsson de Verdier M, 374, 387 Gerrard L, 174, 189, 203 Gerritsen J, 625, 632 Gerritsen ME, 82, 90 Gerrity T, 179, 183, 186, 206

Gershman NH, 456, 462 Ghaffar O, 117, 119, 127 Ghavanian N, 624, 632 Ghezzo H, 336, 347, 469, 473, 477, 484, 495, 496, 512 Ghormley NR, 551, 562 Ghosh G, 579, 585 Ghosh M, 227, 241 Giaid A, 443, 445, 455, 457, 459 Gianiorio P, 429, 430, 436 Gibson AT, 373, 376, 387 Gibson NA, 495, 496, 497, 504, 511, 512 Gibson PG, 274, 275, 276, 280, 428, 430, 435, 436 Giguere MC, 473, 485 Gilbey T, 123, 130, 230, 243, 425, 427, 435, 447, 450, 460 Gilchrist C, 474, 486 Giles RH, 79, 89 Gilespie CA, 478, 487 Gill MS, 366, 384 Gill S, 551, 563 Gillespie CA, 56, 60, 346, 350 Gillespie E, 123, 131 Gillette JR, 544, 559 Gilliam GL, 368, 386 Gillies J, 623, 631 Gilman SC, 115, 127 Gilroy DW, 582, 583, 588 Gionchetti P, 310, 328 Girard MT, 138, 152 Girgis-Gabardo A, 274, 276, 280, 428, 435 Girndt M, 145, 155 Giuliani L, 228, 242 Giunchi L, 146, 156 Giuntini C, 215, 238 Giustina A, 150, 151, 160 Gizycki MJ, 609, 610, 617 Gladue RP, 115, 127 Glass CK, 73, 74, 75, 78, 79, 82, 85, 87, 89, 90, 141, 142, 143, 153, 163 Gleich GJ, 144, 154, 215, 238, 429, 430, 436, 624, 632 Glennow C, 15, 29 Gloss B, 75, 78, 87, 141, 142, 153 Go LT, 191, 207, 214, 237

Goa KL, 552, 563 Gobburu J, 97, 98, 109 Godard P, 456, 462, 482, 488, 624, 632 Goddard AD, 140, 162 Godfrey C, 177, 209 Godfrey RW, 424, 435 Godfrey RWA, 603, 605, 615, 616 Godfrey S, 16, 30, 360, 368, 382, 385, 629, 633 Godowski PJ, 140, 162 Goeddel DV, 580, 587 Goh A, 473, 486 Golander A, 357, 380 Goldberg RS, 360, 381 Goldin E, 310, 328 Goldin JG, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Goldstein A, 630, 634 Goldstein MF, 344, 349, 469, 484 Goldstein S, 639, 645 Gomes PJ, 142, 163 Gomez FP, 446, 452, 459 Gon Y, 125, 132 Gonda I, 193, 208, 284, 301 Gonzales J. 149. 159 Gonzales LW, 149, 159 Gonzalez E, 274, 279 Gonzalez MV, 148, 158 Gonzalez-Perez-Yarza E, 360, 381 Gonzalez-Rothi R, 296, 297, 304, 309, 312, 327 Gonzalez-Rothi RJ, 216, 232, 238, 247, 249, 250, 266, 284, 286, 297, 298, 300, 301, 573, 576 Gonzalez-Sancho JM, 148, 158 Gonzalo JA, 117, 128 Goodall GJ, 122, 130 Gooding TN, 16, 30 Goodman PA, 75, 87 Gordon F, 150, 159 Gorgone GA, 117, 123, 124, 128 Gori F, 150, 159 Gortmaker S, 507, 514 Goss KL, 149, 158 Gottlicher M, 79, 82, 89, 90 Gouilleux F, 73, 74, 85 Gould NV, 494, 511

Graff-Lonnevig V, 368, 385 Graffner-Nordberg M, 545, 560 Graham SR, 173, 203 Grahnen A, 53, 59, 259, 260, 270, 335, 339, 347, 469, 484 Gram H, 578, 585 Grandgeorge S, 397, 400, 416 Grandinetti G, 310, 328 Grange T, 74, 86 Granner DK, 74, 86, 138, 162 Grant AC, 170, 175, 179, 180, 182, 184, 201 Grant DB, 377, 387 Grant PA, 69, 79, 83, 89 Gray AM, 140, 162 Gray NS, 584, 588 Gray PW, 115, 127 Gray S, 171, 176, 195, 201, 205, 209 Greaser LE, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Greaves DR, 114, 126 Grechuchna D, 286, 302 Green DJ, 400, 417 Greenberger PA, 507, 514 Greene AP, 344, 349 Greene Gl, 70, 84 Greene MJ, 70, 84 Greene SA, 363, 369, 383 Greening AP, 53, 59, 174, 203, 214, 237, 469, 470, 484, 637, 639, 645 Greenway RW, 51, 52, 58 Greiff L, 20, 31, 226, 241, 277, 281, 533, 536 Greineder DK, 493, 494, 511 Grenot C, 250, 251, 253, 267, 287, 290, 302, 524, 535 Gribbe O, 449, 451, 460 Gribetz D, 368, 385 Griffin M, 147, 156 Griffin W, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162 Griffiths-Johnson DA, 278, 281 Groenewald M, 623, 631 Groggins RC, 368, 386 Gronemeyer H, 70, 79, 80, 84, 286, 302 Groner B, 73, 74, 85 Gross G, 174, 204 Gross GM, 469, 484

Grossman J, 406, 417 Grosveld G, 124, 131 Grotner L, 455, 461 Grouhel A, 524, 535 Grourard G, 145, 155 Grove A, 344, 349, 469, 484 Grunstein M, 140, 152 Gruol DJ, 221, 240 Gruvstad E, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 28, 53, 59, 345, 350, 479, 487 Gualberto A, 138, 161 Guan XY, 142, 163 Guan Y, 149, 158 Gucci A, 228, 242 Guida E, 609, 617 Guido EC, 71, 73, 85 Gulino A, 122, 130 Gupta S, 578, 585 Guptak AK, 150, 160 Gurney AL, 140, 162 Gussella G, 123, 131 Gussella GL, 124, 131 Gustafsson JA, 13, 18, 29, 69, 70, 71, 72, 75, 76, 78, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 101, 110, 138, 141, 142, 153, 161, 163, 229, 242, 286, 301, 522, 535 Gustafsson LE, 444, 458 Gutierrez C, 151, 161, 450, 453, 462 Gutierrez-Ramos JC, 117, 128 Gutierrez V, 274, 279 Gutmann MC, 510, 514 Guyatt G, 274, 276, 280, 428, 435 Guydon L, 492, 511 Guyre PM, 138, 152, 526, 527, 536

Η

Haahtela T, 15, 16, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, 56, 60, 392, 402, 415, 424, 435, 594, 597, 598, 611, 613, 614, 624, 632, 636, 644 Habbick B, 492, 493, 499, 511 Hache RJ, 73, 75, 78, 86, 87, 138, 162 Haddad RG, 473, 481, 485 Hadley Wk, 428, 435 Haegeman G, 82, 90 Haestner KH, 75, 77, 82, 87 Hafner KB, 186, 207 Hageman G, 121, 129 Hager GL, 73, 78, 86, 144, 154 Hagood JS, 73, 74, 85, 138, 161 Hahesh VB, 229, 242 Haines DSM, 383, 412, 413, 416 Hajiro T, 641, 646 Hakkola J, 227, 241 Hall J, 499, 512 Hall JA, 507, 508, 514 Hall RK, 74, 86 Hallberg A, 545, 560 Hallett C, 336, 340, 347, 348, 470, 484 Hallman DM, 148, 157 Hallstrom G, 20, 31, 222, 223, 240, 300, 304 Halonen M, 627, 629, 633, 634 Halonen MJ, 628, 633 Halpern Z, 310, 328 Halson P, 193, 194, 208 Hama N. 144. 154 Hameister WM, 300, 304 Hamid QA, 115, 117, 119, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 186, 207, 214, 237, 238, 274, 276, 278, 279, 280, 281, 444, 452, 458, 465, 483 Hamilos DL, 278, 281 Hammersley J, 227, 228, 241 Han J, 578, 585 Han SH, 169, 174, 200, 204 Hanai N, 115, 127 Hanania NA, 473, 485 Hancock AP, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Handanos CM, 75, 77, 87 Hanes J, 300, 304 Hannon S, 214, 237 Hansen M, 55, 59, 346, 350, 359, 365, 366, 380, 383, 384 Hansen OR, 284, 301, 343, 349, 360, 381, 407, 418 Hansson HC, 170, 172, 200 Hara S, 151, 161

Harada A, 146, 156 Haraguchi M, 600, 614 Harbeck R, 444, 458 Harding S, 525, 536 Harding SM, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 255, 268, 356, 377, 379 Hardlman G, 114, 126 Hardy JG, 172, 202 Hargreave FE, 53, 58, 172, 202, 274, 275, 280, 428, 429, 430, 432, 435, 436, 437, 443, 455, 457, 458, 471, 473, 479, 480, 484, 531, 536, 624, 625,632 Harhaj EW, 82, 91 Harker AJ, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Harley TF, 524, 535 Harman JW, 601, 615 Harmon JM, 78, 88 Harnest U, 640, 645 Harnish D, 277, 281 Harris A, 641, 642, 646 Harris AG, 256, 269 Harris DM, 6, 28 Harris T, 609, 617 Harris TAG, 470, 484 Harris TAJ, 336, 347 Harrison C, 250, 252, 253, 266 Harrison HR, 629, 633 Harrison L, 234, 243, 250, 252, 268, 359, 380 Harrison LI, 217, 234, 238, 243, 254, 268, 336, 347, 397, 400, 416 Harrison SC, 579, 585 Harrison TW, 218, 219, 239, 340, 348 Hart K, 551, 563 Hart PA, 121, 122, 129 Harter JG, 23, 31 Hartog K, 122, 129 Hasani A, 217, 238 Hashimoto S, 125, 132 Hashish AH, 193, 194, 208 Haslett C, 145, 155 Hassager C, 55, 59, 346, 350, 365, 383 Hassall SM, 641, 646

Hassel EM, 600, 614 Hassig OA, 143, 153 Hatae T, 151, 161 Hatter JG, 467, 483 Hatzubai A, 579, 585 Haughey DB, 104, 109, 111 Hauspie R, 362, 382 Haworth PH, 611, 617 Hawrlowicz CM, 145, 155 Hay RT, 82, 90 Hayakawa M, 579, 586 Hayashi S, 125, 132 Hayden MJ, 175, 204 Haydn WE, 445, 459 Haynes BF, 146, 156 Haynes RB, 504, 509, 513 Hays RD, 507, 514 Haywood UM, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Heaf D, 360, 371, 381 Heald DL, 194, 195, 208, 250, 251, 254, 267, 268 Heard BE, 608, 617 Hebert CA, 116, 127 Hecht K, 70, 84, 229, 242 Heck S, 78, 79, 81, 82, 89, 90, 581, 587 Hedlin G, 366, 384 Hedner P, 53, 59, 345, 350, 479, 487 Heer S, 552, 553, 555, 557, 558, 563, 564 Heery DM, 79, 89, 143, 153 Hegele RG, 186, 207, 214, 237, 238 Hehner Sp, 82, 90 Heidinger KG, 192, 207 Heidmann P, 250, 251, 253, 267, 287, 290, 302, 524, 535 Heijnen CJ, 627, 632 Heijnen EMEW, 175, 205 Heiman AS, 545, 560 Heimlich EM, 6, 27 Hein H, 123, 124, 131 Heinig JH, 182, 206, 234, 243 Heinig T, 583, 588 Heino M, 424, 435, 597, 598, 613 Heinzel T, 75, 78, 87, 141, 142, 143, 153

Heiss JD, 148, 158 Heitjan D, 500, 512 Heitmann U, 219, 226, 239, 294, 303, 533, 536 Heldens AD, 140, 162 Hellman L, 257, 269 Hellstrom S, 597, 598, 613 Helmberg A, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 582, 587 Helms S, 70, 75, 84 Helyes Z, 151, 160 Hemann E, 544, 559 Hemmelgarn B, 492, 493, 499, 511 Hemstreet MP, 360, 381 Hench PS, 581, 587 Hender P, 12, 13, 14, 28 Henderson BR, 122, 130 Hendrick DJ, 452, 461 Hendry LB, 229, 242 Henkel T, 578, 585 Henriksson A, 78, 89 Henzel WJ, 580, 587 Hepperle MJ, 274, 276, 280, 428, 435 Her E, 144, 154 Her S, 138, 162 Herbert MK, 148, 157 Herdman MJ, 191, 207 Herlin T, 373, 376, 387 Herrlich P, 68, 75, 77, 79, 81, 82, 83, 87, 88, 89, 90, 121, 129, 581, 587 Herron J, 227, 242, 521, 534 Herschman HR, 583, 588 Hertzman P, 41, 42, 43, 47 Hess DR, 170, 172, 200, 201 Heszen-Kelmens I, 507, 514 Hettmann T, 580, 586 Heuck C, 359, 365, 366, 373, 376, 380, 384, 387 Heyder J, 179, 206 Heyman RA, 75, 78, 87, 141, 142, 153 Heyns K, 546, 562 Hibbert M, 627, 628, 633 Hibi M, 578, 585 Hickey AJ, 170, 191, 200 Higgins B, 54, 59, 345, 350

Higgins SJ, 68, 83 Hill CS, 578, 585 Hill M, 177, 191, 207, 209, 217, 238, 289, 300, 303 Hiller EJ, 368, 386 Hilliam C, 608, 611, 616 Hillman AG, 78, 88 Hillman L, 473, 485 Hindi-Alexander MC, 499, 512 Hindle M, 175, 176, 182, 192, 193, 205, 208 Hindmarsh P, 360, 371, 381 Hindmarsh PC, 366, 383 Hinds WC, 179, 205 Hinkle PM, 296, 303 Hirai K, 118, 128 Hirano M, 150, 159 Hirata F, 138, 148, 149, 152, 158 Hirth P. 584, 588 Hisatsune A, 150, 159 Hjertberg E, 6, 18, 19, 20, 28, 31, 219, 220, 222, 223, 232, 239, 240, 241, 300, 305, 533, 537, 565, 575 Ho A, 580, 587 Hoare S, 79, 89, 142, 143, 153, 163 Hochberg RB, 222, 240 Hochhaus G, 216, 217, 232, 238, 247, 249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 258, 266, 267, 268, 270, 284, 286, 287, 292, 296, 297, 298, 299, 300, 301, 302, 303, 304, 309, 312, 327, 525, 536, 545, 547, 548, 552, 555, 557, 558, 561, 564 Hodges I, 235, 244 Hodgson TA, 541, 546, 558 Hodsman AB, 473, 481, 485, 488 Hodson ME, 40, 47 Hofbauer LC, 150, 159 Hoffman JA, 580, 587 Hoffman-Streb A, 53, 59, 345, 350 Hogan SP, 600, 614 Hogg JC, 117, 119, 127, 186, 207, 214, 237, 238, 594, 606, 608, 611, 613, 616, 617, 618 Hogger P, 140, 146, 155, 216, 219, 226,

[Hogger P] 229, 239, 239, 242, 243, 294, 303, 310, 327, 533, 536 Holberg CJ, 627, 628, 629, 631, 633 Holbrook NJ, 103, 111, 229, 242 Holgate S, 117, 128, 358, 369, 380, 399, 416 Holgate ST, 174, 193, 203, 208, 214, 215, 237, 338, 344, 348, 349, 373, 376, 387, 465, 475, 482, 483, 486, 541, 546, 558, 597, 598, 601, 602, 607, 611, 613, 615, 616, 617 Holland WPJ, 175, 205 Hollingworth A, 176, 177, 205, 209 Holsboer F, 73, 84 Holt V, 150, 160 Holtmann H, 125, 132 Holtzman MJ, 124, 132 Holz O, 443, 455, 457, 458, 462 Holzner P, 170, 191, 200 Homer RJ, 630, 634 Hong DK, 147, 156 Hong H, 142, 143, 153 Hong L, 140, 152 Hong W, 73, 74, 84 Honner M, 470, 482, 484 Honour JW, 218, 219, 239, 257, 269, 340, 348, 406, 417, 468, 469, 483 Hooper G, 289, 303 Hoover RR, 149, 158 Hop W, 175, 204 Hop WCJ, 175, 205 Hope TJ, 82, 91 Horbert WR, 150, 159 Horie T, 125, 132 Hornof WJ, 193, 194, 208 Horowitz E, 492, 511, 550, 562 Horton J, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 255, 268, 356, 377, 379 Horuk R, 116, 127 Horwitz B, 551, 562, 563 Horwitz KB, 72, 86 Hoshino M, 602, 605, 615, 616 Hosking DJ, 471, 473, 484 Hosokawa M, 524, 536, 544, 559 Hossain S, 608, 617

Hotton JM, 504, 513 Hough FS, 150, 159 Housley PR, 70, 84 Howarth PH, 465, 483, 602, 615 Howes J, 287, 302, 545, 550, 551, 561, 562, 563 Howes JF, 550, 552, 562, 563 Howie K, 276, 278, 281 Hrkach J, 300, 304 Htun H, 144, 154 Hu JL, 70, 84 Hu LM, 71, 85, 101, 110 Hu SC, 171, 201 Hu Y, 579, 580, 581, 586 Huang AJ, 73, 78, 84 Huang DB, 579, 585 Huang RM, 140, 162 Huang SK, 145, 155 Huang SM, 78, 89 Huang T, 174, 203 Huang XP, 78, 89 Hubbard RE, 70, 84, 400, 417 Hubbard SR, 584, 588 Huber HL, 608, 617 Hughes CCW, 124, 131 Hughes DTD, 339, 342, 348 Hughes G, 496, 512 Hughes J, 145, 155 Hughes JMB, 193, 195, 208 Hughes MD, 344, 349, 360, 381, 625, 632 Hugo P, 78, 88 Hui KP, 640, 645 Hukkanen J, 227, 241 Hulley PA, 150, 159 Humbert M, 117, 128 Hummler E, 70, 83 Hunger F, 145, 155 Hunt JD, 581, 587 Hunt LW, 144, 154 Hunter T, 71, 85, 578, 585 Huss K, 505, 514 Hussack P, 430, 433, 436, 437 Hutchinson KA, 101, 110 Hutnik CM, 56, 60, 346, 350 Hutt-Taylor SR, 277, 281

Huxford T, 579, 585 Hwang D, 179, 183, 205 Hwang JY, 580, 587 Hyland ME, 234, 243, 504, 513, 521, 534 Hyland RH, 185, 206

I

Ichinose H. 144. 154 Iehtonen K, 15, 16, 29 Iezzoni D, 368, 385 Iguchi K, 118, 128 Ihara H, 148, 157 Ihle JN, 124, 131 Ikeda K, 148, 158 Ikonen E, 222, 240 Imabeppu S, 115, 127 Imai E, 138, 162 Imhof MO, 142, 164 Inada M, 122, 130 Inagaki N, 147, 156 Ind PW, 443, 455, 458, 637, 639, 645 Ingemansson M, 366, 384 Inman M, 639, 645 Inman MD, 26, 32, 274, 280, 428, 436 Inman PM, 428, 436 Inostroza J, 142, 163 Inoue H, 151, 161, 454, 461 Inoue T, 374, 387 Ioannou C, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536 Ip M, 473, 485 Ip YT, 578, 585 Irvin CG, 274, 279 Irving S, 124, 125, 132 Irving WR, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Ischiropoulos H, 451, 460 Ishihara K, 641, 646 Ishikawa Y, 123, 124, 131 Ishizaka T, 277, 281 Isogai M, 227, 242 Isohama Y, 150, 159 Israel A, 579, 586 Israel E, 403, 417, 482, 488 Isshiki H, 75, 87, 138, 162

Itho N, 138, Itie A, 580, Ito K, 143, Ito S, 151, Ivarsson R, 21, *31*, 223, Iwasaki Y, 229, Iwata M, 144, Izpusa-Belmonte JC, 580,

J

Jack D, 6, 28 Jackson CM, 469, 484 Jackson FA, 368, 386 Jackson J, 368, 385 Jackson LD, 468, 469, 483 Jackson TA, 72, 86 Jackson TC, 510, 514 Jacobs MD, 579, 585 Jacobson K, 174, 189, 203 Jacobson MR, 274, 279 Jacobson W, 310, 328 Jacono J, 43, 47 Jacques A, 146, 156 Jacques LA, 481, 488, 637, 645 Jaffy A, 601, 615 Jahsen FI, 601, 614 James A, 451, 460, 594, 606, 608, 611, 613, 616, 617, 618 James R, 175, 204 Jamieson AH, 174, 203 Janeway CAJ, 580, 587 Janne OA, 75, 87 Jannson B, 469, 484 Jannssens HM, 175, 204, 205 Janssen Y, 451, 460 Jansson B, 260, 270, 335, 339, 347 Jarjour NN, 625, 632 Jarkelid L, 20, 31, 222, 232, 240, 300, 305 Jarkelid M, 44, 45, 47 Jarvinen M, 15, 16, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 392, 402, 415, 594, 613, 624, 625, 632, 636, 644 Jarvis D, 611, 617 Jarzebska-Deussen B, 140, 162

Jatakanon A, 425, 427, 433, 435, 437, 443, 447, 450, 451, 455, 456, 457, 460, 462 Jay S, 505, 514 Jeffery PK, 424, 435, 451, 460, 593, 594, 597, 598, 600, 601, 603, 604, 609, 610, 611, 612, 613, 614, 615, 617 Jendbro M, 235, 244, 310, 328 Jenkins MK, 122, 130 Jenkins NA, 114, 126 Jenner WN, 250, 252, 254, 268 Jenney ME, 374, 387 Jennings B, 15, 29, 51, 52, 58, 336, 347, 383, 412, 413, 416, 473, 480, 481, 485, 488, 495, 512, 531, 536 Jennings BE, 275, 280 Jennings BH, 15, 29, 185, 206, 213, 236, 523, 535 Jensen DE, 78, 89 Jensen G, 594, 613, 628, 631, 633 Jensen MW, 454, 461 Jerre A, 20, 31, 225, 241 Jewell CM, 71, 85, 138, 161 Jherie N, 360, 381 Jhun BH, 142, 163 Ji C, 150, 159 Jiang Y, 578, 585 Jibard N, 101, 110 Jilka RL, 150, 159 Jimene B, 148, 158 Jochum W, 580, 586 Joetham A, 630, 634 Johansen B, 71, 85 Johansen T, 71, 85 Johansson L, 78, 79, 89 Johansson LO, 235, 244 Johansson M, 335, 339, 347 Johansson SA, 12, 13, 14, 15, 28, 29, 52, 53, 58, 59, 213, 234, 236, 243, 275, 280, 343, 345, 348, 350, 424, 425, 427, 429, 435, 479, 487, 495, 512, 523, 535, 603, 615 Johansson U, 13, 18, 25, 26, 29, 32, 286, 301, 522, 528, 535, 536, 568, 576 John G, 551, 563 John M, 425, 427, 435, 447, 450, 460 John W, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287,

302 Johnson AW, 362, 382 Johnson C, 82, 91 Johnson M, 17, 30, 451, 460, 522, 525, 533, 535, 593, 612 Johnson R, 579, 580, 586 Johnston PW, 605, 616 Jonas S, 455, 461 Jonasson G, 495, 511 Jonat C, 77, 88, 581, 587 Jones A, 500, 513 Jones AH, 16, 30, 234, 243 Jones I, 506, 514 Jones JI, 289, 303 Jones M, 630, 634 Jones RE, 218, 239, 250, 251, 267 Jones S, 73, 74, 85, 138, 161 Jongstra J, 124, 132 Jonsson B, 41, 42, 43, 47 Jonsson G, 21, 31 Jonsson KB, 150, 159 Joo F, 147, 157 Jordan SE, 425, 435, 603, 615 Jordana M, 429, 430, 436, 630, 634 Jorgensen J, 124, 132 Jorgensen JR, 368, 385 Jorres RA, 443, 455, 457, 462 Jose P, 123, 130 Jose PJ, 123, 124, 125, 130, 132, 278, 281 Joyner D, 492, 511 Juan M, 229, 242 Jue SG, 504, 513 Juliusson S, 274, 279 June D, 173, 203 Jung YK, 142, 163 Junien JL, 250, 251, 253, 267, 287, 290, 302, 524, 535 Juniper E, 172, 202 Juniper EF, 624, 625, 632 Juntunen-Backman K, 365, 383, 479, 487 Jusko WJ, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 104, 106, 109, 109, 110, 111, 220, 229, 239, 242, 250, 255, 257, 268, 269 Justice JP, 630, 634 Juul A, 55, 59, 346, 350, 365, 383

Κ

Kacmarek RM, 170, 201 Kadowaki N, 145, 155 Kaellen A, 250, 251, 253, 254, 267, 268 Kaestner KH, 581, 587 Kafatos FC, 580, 587 Kagey-Sobotka A, 145, 155 Kaiser H, 255, 268, 565, 575 Kaji H, 150, 159 Kalberg C, 639, 645 Kaliner M, 148, 158 Kalinski P, 145, 155 Kalkhoven E, 79, 80, 81, 89, 90, 143, 153 Kalla KA, 71, 85 Kallen A, 255, 268, 337, 342, 348, 545, 561 Kallen B, 16, 30 Kallioniemi OP, 142, 163 Kallstrom L, 9, 11, 28, 528, 536, 568, 576 Kallunki T, 580, 586 Kam JC, 407, 418 Kamada AK, 403, 407, 417, 418, 467, 483 Kamanaka M, 124, 131 Kameda M, 374, 387 Kamei Y, 75, 78, 87, 142, 163 Kamen R, 122, 129 Kameyoshi Y, 115, 126 Kamie YL, 141, 142, 153 Kaminski JJ, 543, 545, 548, 559 Kaminsky DA, 451, 460 Kamiya H, 118, 128 Kampe M, 602, 615 Kanabar V, 454, 461 Kanagy J, 250, 251, 266, 292, 303 Kanatani M, 150, 159 Kane J, 468, 483 Kanehiro A, 630, 634 Kanekiyo M, 138, 161 Kanzik I, 452, 461 Kao HY, 143, 153 Kapahi P, 582, 583, 588 Kaplan MR, 630, 634 Kapp JF, 524, 535, 545, 560

Kapsenberg ML, 145, 155 Kaptein AA, 498, 512 Karakiulakis G, 148, 157 Karalis K, 151, 160 Karin M, 70, 71, 73, 75, 77, 80, 82, 84, 85, 88, 90, 121, 129, 138, 139, 152, 161, 578, 579, 580, 581, 582, 583, 585, 586, 587, 588 Karla S, 473, 485 Karlberg J, 361, 364, 365, 367, 368, 376, 382, 383, 384 Karlberg P, 361, 365, 382 Karlin M, 25, 26, 32 Karlsson JA, 600, 614 Karlstedt K, 147, 157 Karn M, 99, 110 Karonen SL, 365, 383 Karp CL, 630, 634 Kasem G, 310, 328 Kasem NM, 176, 205 Kashara T, 123, 124, 131 Kashiwamura SI, 124, 131 Kassel O, 151, 160, 605, 616 Kastl P, 551, 563 Kastner P, 68, 83 Kasutani K, 138, 161 Katahira M, 229, 242 Katano H, 150, 159 Kato H, 144, 154 Kato M, 5, 27 Kato T, 151, 161 Kato Y, 115, 118, 127, 128, 578, 585 Katz N, 499, 512 Katz RM, 497, 512 Katz Y, 360, 381 Katzenellenbogen JA, 73, 74, 86 Kaufman A, 551, 563 Kaufman S, 580, 587 Kaul H, 145, 155 Kauschansky A, 368, 386 Kava T, 15, 16, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, 392, 402, 415, 424, 435, 594, 597, 598, 613, 625, 626, 632, 636, 644 Kavelaars A, 627, 632 Kawai T, 123, 131 Kay AB, 117, 127, 128, 215, 238, 274, 279, 465, 483, 597, 601, 613, 624, 631

Kay RJ, 579, 586 Kearney P, 543, 545, 548, 559 Kefford RF, 122, 130 Kellendonk C, 151, 160 Kellerman D, 213, 214, 236, 275, 281, 360, 381 Kelley DM, 147, 157 Kelley VC, 6, 27 Kelloway JS, 495, 511 Kelly HW, 172, 202, 248, 250, 266, 397, 400, 416, 467, 483 Kelly S, 124, 125, 132 Kelm M, 451, 460 Kelner GS, 114, 126 Kelsen SG, 231, 243 Kemeny L, 140, 162 Kemp JP, 16, 30, 406, 417 Kendall EC, 581, 587 Kennedy D, 503, 513 Kennedy J, 114, 126 Kennedy R, 117, 127 Kenyon C, 175, 177, 204, 215, 237, 255, 269 Kenyon CJ, 175, 204 Kern JA, 122, 129, 392, 402, 415 Kerrebijn KF, 344, 349, 358, 360, 362, 368, 369, 372, 377, 380, 381, 385, 386, 399, 416, 475, 487, 623, 625, 626, 631, 632 Kerstjens HA, 473, 485, 636, 645 Kesselman H, 117, 123, 128, 601, 614 Kessler HG, 524, 535 Kessler HJ, 545, 560 Kesten S, 473, 485 Keter D, 310, 328 Ketesz DJ, 545, 560 Khalafallah N, 220, 239 Khan MA, 545, 561 Kharitonov SA, 234, 243, 407, 418, 443, 444, 445, 446, 449, 450, 452, 453, 454, 455, 457, 457, 458, 459, 461, 462 Khattri R, 147, 156 Khochbin S, 72, 86 Khoo W, 580, 587 Khosla S, 150, 159 Kidney JC, 429, 436, 531, 536

Kido T, 150, 159 Killip M, 217, 238 Kim CH, 146, 156 Kim CS, 171, 173, 191, 201, 203, 207 Kim KK, 150, 159 Kim KW, 432, 437 Kim SH, 584, 588 Kim YK, 278, 281 Kimpen J, 627, 633 King LS, 148, 149, 158 Kino T, 141, 153 Kinsman RA, 497, 500, 512 Kips JC, 443, 455, 458, 593, 612, 639, 645 Kirby JG, 429, 430, 436 Kirby S, 250, 251, 253, 267 Kirk HE, 579, 586 Kirkham DJ, 250, 252, 254, 268 Kirpalani H, 176, 193, 194, 205, 208 Kishimoto T, 75, 87, 124, 131, 138, 162 Kisling J, 630, 634 Kiss-Buris ST, 545, 561 Kita D, 446, 459 Kita H, 624, 632 Kitajima T, 145, 155 Kiviranta K, 15, 16, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, 594, 613, 625, 626, 632 Kizima K, 122, 130 Kladders H, 171, 201, 250, 252, 267, 289, 303 Kleerup EC, 179, 183, 186, 192, 206, 215, 237 Kleinert H, 148, 158 Klett CP, 151, 161 Kleyensteuber S, 114, 126 Kliewer S, 121, 129 Kline PA, 274, 276, 280, 428, 435, 624, 625, 632 Klinger NM, 186, 192, 206, 207 Knightly JJ, 148, 158 Knighton DR, 583, 584, 588 Knobil K, 404, 417 Knoch M, 172, 202 Knol K, 625, 632 Knoller J, 250, 253, 268 Knox AJ, 234, 243, 455, 461

Ko DH, 545, 560 Ko Y, 123, 131 Kobayashi Y, 124, 132 Koblik PH, 193, 194, 208 Kobzik L, 445, 459 Koch H, 524, 535, 545, 560 Koch W, 546, 562 Koda A, 147, 156 Koelshe GA, 49, 58 Koenderman L, 80, 89 Koerts-de lange E, 229, 242 Koessler K, 608, 617 Koeter GH, 473, 485 Koga T, 124, 132 Kohler H, 145, 155 Kohli K, 142, 143, 153 Kohno Y, 544, 560 Koibuchi N, 142, 163 Koike M, 115, 127 Koike S, 71, 85 Kolars, 227, 241 Kolendowicz R, 428, 435 Kollerup G, 359, 365, 366, 380, 384 Kollias G, 122, 130 Kollmus H, 122, 130 Kompella UB, 221, 240 Kondo M, 641, 646 Kong AN, 96, 109, 257, 269 Konig H, 77, 79, 88 Konig P, 368, 385, 386, 473, 476, 485, 487 Kononen J, 142, 163 Kontoviannis D, 122, 130 Koopmans RP, 257, 269 Korenblat P, 255, 268 Korn S, 18, 20, 30, 226, 241, 250, 253, 268, 533, 536, 565, 576 Korn SH, 229, 242 Korolkovas A, 544, 560 Koschyk S, 455, 462 Koskinen S, 15, 16, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, 594, 613, 625, 626, 632 Kotsimbos TC, 186, 207, 214, 237, 238 Kottakis J, 638, 645 Koutsoubos V, 609, 617 Kracht M, 125, 132

Kradjan WA, 172, 202 Kraepelein S, 368, 385 Kraft M, 214, 215, 237 Kralli A, 68, 83 Krangel MS, 125, 132 Kraus J, 150, 160 Krausz LT, 146, 156 Kravchenko VV, 578, 585 Kravitz RL, 507, 514 Krensky AM, 124, 132 Kretz O, 75, 77, 82, 87, 581, 587 Kreutner W, 230, 243 Krieg M, 148, 157, 250, 251, 253, 254, 267, 268, 286, 299, 302, 304 Krieger M, 115, 126 Krieglstein K, 70, 83, 151, 160 Krisch K, 544, 559 Krishnan V, 123, 130 Krishnaswami S, 250, 253, 258, 268, 270 Kriz RJ, 39, 46 Kroch C, 494, 511 Krzyzanski W, 97, 109, 257, 269 Kuga T, 115, 127 Kujime K, 125, 132 Kulke R, 123, 124, 131 Kullberg A, 20, 31, 226, 241, 533, 536 Kullmann M, 78, 79, 81, 82, 89, 90, 581, 587 Kullmer J, 148, 157 Kumar AR, 149, 158, 630, 634 Kumei Y, 150, 159 Kumlin M, 25, 26, 32 Kundu S, 482, 488 Kung A, 473, 485 Kung HF, 124, 132 Kunka RL, 217, 218, 239 Kunz D, 123, 130 Kurakawa R, 141, 142, 153 Kurama T, 580, 587 Kurdman J, 601, 615 Kurokawa R, 75, 78, 87 Kusek JW, 496, 512 Kusters S, 552, 555, 563 Kutoh E, 78, 88, 138, 162 Kuwano K, 606, 616 Kuylenstierna R, 445, 459

Kvam D, 524, Kwon H, 144, Kwon OJ, 123, 124, *130, 132* Kwon S, 584,

L

La Rosa GJ, 145, 155 La Rosa M, 362, 382 LaCasse E, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162 LaCasse Y, 53, 58, 471, 473, 479, 480, 484 Lacey DL, 150, 159, 580, 587 Lacoste JY, 624, 632 Lafaurei C, 146, 156 LaForce C, 368, 386 LaForce CF, 476, 487 Lagnado CA, 122, 130 Laherty CD, 143, 153 Laibovitz R, 550, 551, 562 Laippala P, 373, 376, 387 Laitinen L, 602, 615 Laitinen LA, 15, 16, 29, 30, 44, 45, 47, 55, 56, 60, 117, 127, 346, 350, 424, 435, 474, 477, 479, 486, 597, 598, 602, 611, 613, 614, 615 Lakshminarayan S, 172, 202 Lal S, 339, 342, 348 L'Allemand D, 53, 59, 345, 350 Lam K, 473, 485 Lam KS, 140, 162 Lamb B, 172, 202 Lamb HM, 218, 239 Lamb RJ, 122, 129 Lambert RK, 606, 616 Lamkhioued B, 117, 119, 127 Lammers JW, 214, 237 Lammers JWJ, 191, 207 Lan AJ, 504, 513 Landau L, 362, 382 Landau LI, 629, 633 Lane CG, 26, 32 Lane SJ, 117, 128 Lanes R, 366, 384 Lanes S, 570, 576 Langa C, 147, 157

Langdon CG, 16, 30, 234, 243 Lange P, 391, 402, 415, 594, 613, 628, 631, 633 Langen H, 115, 126 Langenback EG, 193, 194, 208 Langer R, 179, 205, 300, 304 Langley S, 217, 239, 340, 342, 344, 348 Langstrom B, 195, 209 Lanier B, 507, 514 Lanier RQ, 407, 417 Lanigan A, 627, 628, 633 Lankinen T, 177, 209 Lannebo A, 260, 270 Lantero S, 429, 430, 436 Lanz MJ, 444, 450, 452, 458, 461, 462 Lanz RB, 72, 86 Lanzavecchia A, 146, 156 Lapinska E, 507, 514 Laprise C, 465, 482 Largaspada DA, 114, 126 Larner JM, 222, 240 Larsen GL, 630, 634 Larsson K, 231, 243 Larsson L. 375, 387 Larsson P, 53, 59, 335, 341, 342, 345, 347 Larsson S, 145, 155 Lasch L, 495, 502, 503, 504, 511 Lastres P, 147, 157 Lau LCK, 407, 418 Laube BL, 170, 201 Laues S, 26, 32 Laurent H, 524, 535, 545, 560 Laursen LC, 40, 47 Lavender JP, 183, 206 Lavigne F, 115, 123, 124, 125, 126 Lavinsky RM, 143, 153 Laviolette M, 336, 347, 465, 469, 473, 477, 482, 484, 606, 616 Lavon I, 579, 585 Lavu S, 124, 132 Lawrence M, 213, 214, 236, 275, 281, 523, 535 Lawson C, 551, 563 Lay RH, 68, 83 Lazarus SC, 403, 417

Le-Bilhan S, 221, 240 Le Souef PN, 174, 175, 203, 204 Le Van TD, 229, 243 Leach CL, 174, 203, 215, 237, 250, 251, 267, 289, 300, 303, 304 Leach KL, 101, 110 Leach O, 173, 203 Lebas FX, 360, 381 Lebecque S, 145, 154 Lebowitz MD, 627, 632 LeClerc S, 584, 588 LeCog EM, 495, 511 Leder P, 115, 117, 124, 126, 128 Lee HJ, 545, 560 Lee-Hong E, 368, 386 Lee JW, 142, 163 Lee KF, 579, 580, 586, 587 Lee KM, 147, 156 Lee PS, 16, 30, 234, 243 Lee SC, 78, 88, 115, 127 Lee SK, 142, 163 Lee TH, 117, 128 Lee YC, 142, 163 Leech M. 82. 91 Leeder SR, 56, 60, 346, 350, 399, 416, 478, 487 Leers J, 78, 79, 88, 89 Lefcoe NM, 6, 15, 28, 29, 52, 58, 213, 236, 275, 280, 336, 347, 383, 412, 413, 416, 495, 512, 523, 535 Lefebvre P, 73, 78, 86 Leff JA, 482, 488, 641, 646 Legros-Maida S, 146, 156 Lehr HA, 148, 158 Lehtonen K, 15, 16, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, 594, 613, 625, 626, 632 Leiberman E, 368, 386 Leiden JM, 580, 586 Leiferman KM, 115, 127 Leigh R, 432, 437, 443, 457 Leinweber FJ, 544, 559 LeLorier J, 56, 60, 399, 416, 417, 478, 487 Lemaire E, 217, 238 Lemanske RF, 403, 417, 630, 634 Lemieux ME, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162

Lemmer B, 148, 158 Lemon BD, 143, 153 Lenig D, 146, 156 Lenko HL, 373, 376, 387 Lennard-Jones T, 172, 175, 202, 204, 368, 386 Lenney W, 57, 60, 368, 386 Leonard EJ, 124, 132 Leone AM, 444, 458 Leone BE, 140, 162 Leong KH, 473, 486 Leopold D, 117, 127 Lepori M, 446, 452, 459 Lequeuche B, 504, 513 Lerman MI, 124, 132 Lesage S, 78, 88 LeSouef PN, 172, 202 Letizia CM, 368, 371, 386 Letourneau K, 186, 207 Leung DYM, 407, 418, 444, 458, 605, 616 Levenson T, 507, 514 Levy G, 4, 27 Lew W, 124, 132 Lewandowski K, 455, 461 Lewin B, 101, 110 Lewis SA, 400, 417 Leznoff A, 56, 60 L'Horset F, 79, 89 Li B, 342, 348 Li D, 594, 613 Li H, 115, 117, 123, 126, 142, 163 Li J, 151, 160 Li JT, 374, 387, 469, 484, 579, 586 Li JTC, 475, 486 Li KYR, 173, 203 Li Q, 579, 580, 586, 587 Li WQ, 150, 160 Li X, 231, 243, 605, 607, 615, 616 Li Z, 578, 585 Li ZW, 579, 580, 581, 586 Lian JB, 150, 159 Lichtenstein LM, 117, 123, 124, 128, 131, 145, 146, 147, 155, 156, 157 Liddle R, 404, 417 Lidén J, 71, 80, 81, 82, 85, 89, 90

Lieberman PL, 524, 535 Lietham G, 310, 328 Liew FY, 444, 445, 458 Lifschultz BD, 507, 514 Liipo K, 346, 350 Lijssens N, 364, 382 Lilly CM, 117, 123, 128, 445, 459, 601, 614 Lim J, 177, 209 Lim S, 425, 427, 433, 435, 437, 443, 447, 450, 451, 455, 456, 457, 460, 462 Lim WH, 473, 486 Lim Y, 147, 157 Lin A, 578, 585 Lin RJ, 143, 153 Lin SC, 71, 75, 78, 85, 87, 141, 142, 153 Lincourt WR, 407, 417 Lindberg C, 13, 14, 29 Linden M, 25, 26, 32, 145, 155, 232, 243, 277, 281, 425, 427, 429, 435, 602, 615 Lindkvist S, 25, 26, 32 Lindmark B, 374, 387 Lindner K, 151, 160 Lindner WR, 6, 27 Lindqvist N, 213, 214, 237 Ling-Andersson A, 53, 59, 259, 260, 270, 335, 339, 347, 469, 484 Lingham SA, 16, 30 Lintunen M, 147, 157 Lipp M, 146, 156 Lippman M, 169, 200 Lippo K, 54, 59 Lipsky PE, 146, 156 Lipworth BJ, 53, 54, 58, 59, 169, 172, 175, 184, 186, 192, 200, 202, 204, 206, 208, 250, 251, 258, 267, 270, 335, 336, 338, 339, 342, 344, 345, 347, 348, 349, 350, 356, 357, 379, 466, 467, 469, 470, 472, 473, 477, 478, 481, 482, 483, 484, 485, 488, 643, 646 Liss C, 496, 512 Litt IF, 505, 514 Little RJ, 545, 562 Little SA, 447, 450, 460

Littlewood AE, 362, 382 Littlewood JM, 362, 382 Liu H, 456, 462 Liu J, 432, 437 Liu JT, 456, 462 Liu M, 115, 117, 123, 126 Liu W, 78, 88 Liu XD, 605, 616 Liu Y, 145, 155 Liu YJ, 145, 154, 155 Liu ZG, 580, 581, 586 Livingston JM, 493, 494, 511 Lloyd CM, 117, 128 Lloyd J, 171, 201 Lloyd LJ, 171, 201 Lloyd P, 171, 201 Loader J, 630, 634 Loannou C, 545, 560 Lockhart A, 452, 461 Lockhart DJ, 584, 588 Loetscher P, 115, 126 Lofdahl CG, 16, 30, 53, 55, 56, 59, 60, 214, 237, 340, 348, 469, 471, 474, 477, 479, 482, 483, 486, 488, 638, 641, 645, 646 Lofquist AK, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 582.587 Lofroos AB, 16, 30, 38, 46, 52, 58, 174, 203, 392, 402, 415, 594, 613, 636, 645 Loftsson T, 525, 536, 545, 548, 550, 561, 562 Loiselle PM, 115, 126 Loland L, 452, 461 Lomaga MA, 580, 587 Longo DL, 124, 131 Lonnebo A, 53, 59, 260, 270, 335, 339, 347, 469, 484 Look DC, 124, 132 Lopez-Vidriero MT, 217, 238 Loppow D, 443, 455, 458 Lorch U, 524, 535 Lorimer S, 605, 616 Losson R, 144, 154 Lotan N, 300, 304 Loth S, 213, 214, 237 Lothringer HL, 551, 563

Lotti M, 533, 536 Lou J, 473, 486 Louis R, 407, 418 Lovering EG, 173, 203 Low L, 364, 367, 376, 383 Lowhagen O, 274, 279 Lown KS, 227, 241 Lowry GM, 551, 563 Lu FWM, 146, 156 Lu J, 142, 163 Lu Q, 580, 587 Lucas PC, 74, 86 Ludwig EA, 95, 96, 97, 109, 257, 269 Luengo M, 473, 474, 485 Luini W, 145, 155 Lukacsko P, 256, 269 Lukic ML, 140, 163 Lukiw WJ, 140, 162 Lumry WR, 15, 29, 343, 349 Lundback B, 343, 348, 481, 488, 637, 645 Lundberg EL, 195, 209, 444, 445, 458 Lundberg JM, 26, 32 Lundberg JO, 445, 459 Lundeberg T, 449, 451, 460 Lundgren JD, 148, 149, 158 Lundgren R, 597, 598, 613 Lundqvist G, 15, 29 Lunghetti G, 177, 191, 207, 209 Lunn JE, 494, 511 Luster AD, 113, 115, 117, 119, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 131 Lutsky Bn, 235, 244 Lux C, 169, 174, 200, 204 Luyimbazi J, 630, 634

Μ

Ma JX, 151, Macfarlane A, 117, MacGlashan DW, 115, 123, *127, 131* Machein MR, 148, Machein U, 148, Mackay CR, 117, *127*, 146, Mackay TW, 642, MacKenzie CA, 360, Mackie A, 250, 251, 255, 257, 259, 267, 268, 269, 287, 302 Mackie AE, 52, 58, 177, 209, 218, 239, 250, 251, 252, 266, 267, 292, 303, 342, 348, 356, 377, 379, 545, 561 Mackness MI, 524, 536, 544, 559 MacLeod KJ, 447, 450, 460 Maden C, 473, 485, 623, 631 Maenpaa J, 227, 241 Maestrelli P, 602, 615 Magadle R, 217, 218, 239, 356, 357, 379 Magnussen H, 443, 455, 457, 462 Mahammadi M, 584, 588 Mai K, 544, 560 Maibach HI, 4, 27 Maira M, 78, 88 Maiyar AC, 73, 78, 84 Majumdar S, 605, 616 Mak TW, 580, 587 Mak VHF, 56, 60, 339, 342, 348, 476, 477, 487 Makela MJ, 630, 634 Makker H, 468, 483 Malefyt RD, 583, 588 Malek S, 579, 585 Malik H, 368, 385, 386 Malik SK, 174, 203 Malkinson AM, 221, 239 Malkoski SP, 75, 77, 87 Mallet AI, 115, 126 Mallov JS, 468, 483 Malo J, 343, 348 Malo JL, 336, 347, 469, 473, 477, 484, 495, 496, 512 Malorgio R, 455, 461 Malveaux F, 491, 492, 510, 511 Manabe S, 546, 562 Mandelberg A, 16, 30 Manganiello PD, 138, 152 Mangelsdorf DJ, 68, 83 Mangiarotti R, 310, 328 Mann M, 497, 512, 579, 585, 586 Mann MC, 500, 513 Mannering GJ, 544, 559 Manning AM, 579, 585, 586 Manning PJ, 274, 280

Manolagas SC, 150, 159 Manolitsas ND, 425, 435, 603, 615 Mansueto P, 274, 279 Mantovani A, 140, 145, 155, 162 Manzella AB, 503, 513 Manzella B, 508, 514 Maor Y, 310, 328 Mapp CE, 602, 615 Marchandeau C, 286, 302 Marchant JL, 366, 384 Marcucci F, 362, 382 Marcus C, 366, 384 Margolskee D, 428, 435 Marino MW, 580, 586 Mark DT, 140, 162 Mark M, 68, 83 Mark S, 336, 347, 469, 473, 477, 484 Markov AE, 56, 60, 346, 350, 473, 481, 485, 488 Markson L, 495, 502, 503, 504, 511 Marleau S, 278, 281 Maroder M, 122, 130 Marom Z, 148, 158 Marouka S, 125, 132 Marsaud V, 221, 240 Marshall BG, 217, 238 Marshall HE, 444, 445, 458 Marshall W, 364, 367, 383 Marsters SA, 140, 162 Martin AJ, 362, 382, 503, 513 Martin LE, 6, 28, 250, 252, 253, 266 Martin RJ, 214, 215, 237, 403, 417, 467, 483, 605, 616 Martin T, 124, 131 Martin TJ, 150, 160 Martinati LC, 357, 365, 380 Martinez AC, 117, 128 Martinez FD, 627, 628, 629, 631, 632, 633, 634 Martinez J, 140, 162 Martinotti S, 122, 130 Martonen T, 179, 183, 205 Martonen TB, 193, 208 Maruyama A, 545, 560 Maruyama K, 122, 130 Marx D, 552, 553, 555, 557, 558, 563, 564

Mason BL, 504, 513 Mason NA, 445, 459 Massarella GR, 598, 607, 608, 614 Massaro AF, 445, 446, 459 Masterson C, 217, 239 Masterson CM, 340, 342, 344, 348 Mastorakos G, 151, 160 Masuyama K, 274, 279 Matheny CJ, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287, 302 Matsubara H, 122, 130 Matsui W. 80. 89 Matsukura S, 118, 123, 124, 125, 128, 131 Matsumi S, 146, 156 Matsumoto K, 125, 132 Matsumoto M, 124, 131 Matsushima K, 116, 123, 124, 127, 131, 132, 146, 156 Matsushita S, 146, 156 Matsuyama JR, 504, 513 Matthaei KI, 600, 614 Matthews HR, 140, 152 Mattila PS. 138. 161 Mattsson H, 6, 18, 19, 20, 21, 28, 31, 219, 222, 223, 239, 240, 300, 305, 533, 537, 565, 575 Matusiewicz SP, 174, 203, 214, 237, 470, 484 Maurer RA, 71, 85 Mawhinney H, 497, 500, 512 May CN, 148, 158 Mayerovitch J, 503, 513 Maziak W, 451, 460 Mazzla JA, 343, 348 McAllister PK, 630, 634 McAulay A, 425, 435, 603, 615 McCarthy JEG, 122, 130 McCarthy TL, 150, 159 McCaul K, 503, 513 McClean PA, 445, 450, 453, 459, 462 McCormick DR, 444, 458 McCowan C, 363, 369, 383 McCrory WW, 581, 587 McCubbin MM, 397, 400, 416 McDermott CD, 445, 459 McDermott D, 524, 535

McDonald AF, 473, 485 McDonald DM, 145, 155 McDonald TM, 494, 511 McDonnell DP, 142, 164 McDowall JE, 177, 209, 218, 239, 250, 251, 255, 266, 267, 287, 302 McDowell P, 468, 483 McDrevitt DG, 494, 511 McEwan IJ, 72, 78, 86, 89, 138, 161 McFadden ER, 455, 461 McFarlane LC, 53, 59, 344, 345, 349, 350, 469, 470, 482, 484 McGilchrist MM, 494, 511 McGlynn EA, 507, 514 McIvor RA, 468, 469, 483 McKay LI, 82, 90, 104, 106, 111, 137, 139, 143, 152, 229, 242 McKendrick AD, 494, 511 McKenna NJ, 72, 86 McKenzie CA, 368, 384 McKenzie S, 601, 615 McKie M, 364, 367, 383 McKnight A, 474, 486 McLean A, 174, 203, 214, 237 McLennan GBI, 494, 499, 511 McLusky NJ, 222, 240 McMahon G, 584, 588 McNaboe J, 476, 487 McNicol KN, 368, 386, 628, 631, 633 McPhate G, 344, 349, 469, 484 McPhate J, 142, 163 McQuinn R, 524, 535 McRae J, 250, 251, 266, 287, 302 McSharry C, 447, 450, 460 Medh RD, 68, 83 Medina-Martinez O, 75, 87 Medley HV, 360, 372, 381, 387 Mehta S, 445, 459 Meibohm B, 250, 251, 253, 254, 257, 258, 259, 260, 267, 268, 269, 270, 292, 299, 303, 304, 545, 561 Meier R, 124, 132 Meijer L, 584, 588 Meijer OC, 221, 240, 296, 304 Meilstrand T, 53, 59 Meisler N, 151, 161 Melchor R, 56, 60, 339, 342, 348, 476,

477, 487 Melhop PD, 115, 126 Mellins RB, 491, 492, 510 Mellis C, 470, 482, 484 Mellon M, 623, 631 Mellstrand T, 469, 471, 483 Melluso M, 274, 279 Melton LJ, 626, 632 Meltzer EO, 524, 535 Meltzer PS, 142, 163 Melvin V, 142, 163 Meng Q, 117, 127, 128 Meng QIU, 465, 483 Menon AS, 182, 183, 206 Meollmann H, 284, 286, 292, 297, 298, 300, 301, 303 Mercier-Bodard C, 221, 240 Mercille S, 73, 84 Mercola D, 578, 585 Mercurio F, 579, 585, 586 Merendino A, 605, 616 Merion RM, 227, 241 Merkus P, 368, 386 Merkus PJ, 399, 416 Merland N, 495, 496, 512 Merrill MJ, 148, 158 Messina MS, 217, 238 Mesters I, 495, 511 Metcalfe SM, 100, 110 Metlzer EO, 360, 381 Metwali A, 151, 160 Metz CN, 151, 160 Metz J, 151, 160 Meyer T, 75, 76, 87 Miakotina OL, 149, 158 Michael PF, 428, 435 Michel G, 140, 162 Michel J, 142, 164 Middle M, 191, 207 Middleton E, 96, 97, 109, 257, 269 Miesfeld RL, 121, 129, 139, 152 Migliorati G, 140, 146, 156, 163 Miklich DR, 368, 385 Milani GF, 602, 615 Milanowski J, 191, 207 Milavetz G, 169, 200, 397, 400, 416 Miles-Lawrence R, 368, 385

Milgrom H, 495, 499, 511 Millar AB, 175, 204 Miller DR, 507, 514 Miller-Larsson A, 6, 18, 19, 20, 21, 25, 26, 28, 31, 219, 220, 222, 223, 239, 240, 241, 300, 305, 533, 537, 565, 575 Miller MH, 116, 127 Mills GGD, 339, 342, 348 Mills K, 474, 486 Milner AD, 368, 386 Milner RA, 43, 47 Milot J, 346, 350, 473, 485 Minagawa T, 544, 560 Minami M, 124, 131 Minden A, 578, 585 Miner JN, 71, 73, 74, 75, 77, 80, 85, 87, 89, 138, 162 Minshall E, 186, 207, 214, 237, 238 Minshall EM, 117, 119, 127, 605, 616 Mintegui Aramburu J, 360, 381 Minto C, 342, 348 Minty A, 115, 126 Mintz S, 56, 60 Mintzes JD, 179, 205, 300, 304 Minucci S, 142, 163 Miotto D, 117, 119, 127 Miraglia del Giudice M, 362, 382 Mirmohammadsadegh A, 140, 162 Mishina EV, 97, 98, 99, 109 Misra D, 601, 615 Misticoni G, 368, 386 Mitchell JA, 74, 86, 138, 162, 451, 460 Mitchell JP, 171, 202 Mitchell P, 56, 60, 346, 350, 399, 416, 478, 487 Mitsufuji H, 452, 461 Miura K, 124, 131 Miuri T, 147, 156 Miyake M, 545, 560 Miyamasu M, 118, 128 Miyamoto S, 578, 585 Miyamoto T, 642, 646 Miyata T, 150, 159 Moellmann C, 286, 302 Moellmann H, 284, 286, 287, 299, 301, 302, 304 Moens U, 71, 85

Mol CA, 296, 304 Mol SJM, 639, 645 Molet S, 278, 281 Moll J, 78, 79, 89 Mollert FG, 214, 237 Mollmann H, 216, 221, 232, 238, 239, 247, 249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 257, 258, 259, 266, 267, 268, 269, 270, 309, 312, 327, 545, 561 Monaghan AP, 70, 83 Monaghan P, 151, 160 Moncada S, 444, 445, 458, 459 Monder C, 523, 535, 542, 546, 547, 559 Mondino A, 122, 130 Monkman S, 171, 176, 193, 194, 201, 205, 208 Montgomery GL, 630, 634 Monti P, 140, 162 Montuschi P, 457, 462 Moodley I, 524, 535 Moody DB, 145, 154 Moon S, 627, 633 Moonga BS, 150, 159 Moore E, 194, 208 Moore FL, 68, 83, 229, 242 Moore KW, 114, 126, 583, 588 Moore SK, 124, 132 Moqtaderi Z, 72, 79, 86 Moraca R, 140, 146, 156, 163 Morales C, 274, 279 Morali G, 310, 328 Morand EF, 82, 91 Morelli C, 215, 238 Morelli MC, 15, 29, 228, 242 Moren F, 172, 182, 202, 206, 214, 215, 237 Moreno RH, 608, 611, 616 Moretto A, 533, 536 Morgan DO, 584, 588 Morgan WJ, 627, 629, 633, 634 Morganelli PM, 138, 152 Morgese G, 368, 386 Mori S, 140, 163 Mori Y, 122, 130 Morici G, 274, 279 Morishita K, 124, 132 Morita M, 123, 124, 131

Moriuchi H, 124, 131 Moriuchi M, 124, 131 Morony S, 580, 587 Morris DA, 339, 342, 348 Morris HG, 368, 385 Morris J, 16, 30, 344, 349, 495, 496, 512 Morris MM, 274, 280, 429, 430, 436, 531, 536 Morris T, 320, 328 Morrow Brown H, 50, 51, 58, 368, 386 Morton A, 594, 608, 613 Morton CC, 123, 124, 131 Mosmann TR, 583, 588 Moss J, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 251, 255, 267, 268, 287, 302, 356, 377, 379 Motomiya M, 608, 617 Mounier-Vehier C, 504, 513 Mowinckel P, 495, 511 Mows C, 72, 85 Mows CC, 142, 164 Mozo L, 151, 161 Muchardt C, 78, 88, 144, 154 Mucke M, 443, 455, 457, 458 Mukai C, 150, 159 Mukai D, 214, 237 Mukai M, 144, 154 Mukaida N, 123, 124, 131 Mulder HH, 400, 417 Mulder JD, 498, 512 Mulder PGH, 636, 639, 645 Mullen B, 368, 386, 475, 486 Mullen M, 368, 386, 475, 486 Mullen TM, 143, 153 Muller J, 365, 383 Muller M, 125, 132 Mullick A, 78, 88 Mullol L, 229, 242 Munavvar M, 217, 239, 340, 342, 344, 348 Munck A, 71, 85, 101, 103, 110, 111, 229, 242, 526, 527, 536 Munoz A, 148, 158 Murakami-Mori K, 140, 163 Murakami T, 545, 549, 550, 552, 561 Muramatsu M, 71, 85, 144, 154 Murasawa S, 122, 130 Muray BW, 579, 586

Murayama N, 374, Murphy CG, 147, Murphy PM, 115, 116, 123, 124, 125, *126, 127* Murphy S, 172, *202,* 627, Murray AB, 362, Murray JJ, 639, Murray TFJ, 68, *83,* 229, Musante CJ, 179, 183, Muschen A, 140, Muto N, 138, Mutzel W, 524, Mygind N, 4, Myrdal PB, 300,

Ν

Naar AM, 143, 153 Nadzienko CE, 147, 157 Naftali T, 310, 328 Nagai H, 147, 156 Nagai Y, 146, 156 Nagaoka S, 150, 159 Nagata M, 151, 161 Nagata N, 150, 160 Nagel MW, 171, 202 Nagelkerke AF, 495, 511 Nagler-Anderson C, 117, 123, 128, 601, 614 Nagy L, 143, 153 Nahmias C, 193, 194, 198, 208 Nakagawa S, 115, 127 Nakai Y, 144, 154 Nakajima T, 118, 128, 145, 155 Nakamura H, 117, 123, 128, 601, 614 Nakamura Y, 602, 605, 615, 616 Nakanishi A, 172, 202 Nakanishi K, 124, 131 Nakanishi S, 148, 157 Nakano H, 454, 461 Nakao E, 545, 560 Nakao K, 545, 560 Nakashima M, 219, 226, 239, 294, 303, 533, 536 Nakatani Y, 142, 163 Nakazawa H, 452, 461 Nakhosteen JA, 117, 128

Nankani JP, 16, 30 Nanki T, 146, 156 Narayan S, 171, 201 Nassif E, 368, 385 Nassim MA, 193, 194, 208 Nasuhara Y, 82, 90 Nathan RA, 368, 386, 476, 487, 639, 645 Natoli G, 579, 582, 583, 586, 588 Nauck M, 148, 157 Nayak AS, 641, 646 Naylor B, 598, 613 Neale MG, 339, 342, 348 Neben TY, 630, 634 Needham M, 142, 163 Neely KE, 69, 83 Neilsen S, 148, 158 Neilson EG, 78, 89 Neimisto M, 174, 203 Nelmes PT, 290, 303 Nelmes PTJ, 524, 535 Nelson EJ, 296, 303 Nelson F, 424, 435 Nelson FC, 597, 601, 603, 613, 615 Nelson HS, 344, 349, 358, 360, 368, 369, 380, 399, 416, 450, 462, 475, 486, 643,646 Nemer M, 75, 76, 87 Nemeth J, 151, 160 Nerbrink O, 170, 172, 200 Nerenberg C, 218, 239, 250, 251, 252, 267, 287, 302 Netherway T, 235, 244 Neville RG, 363, 369, 383 New L, 578, 585 Newhouse MT, 169, 172, 174, 176, 179, 186, 191, 192, 200, 202, 203, 205, 206, 207, 208 Newman PJ, 147, 157, 177, 209 Newman S, 177, 191, 207, 209, 289, 303, 368, 386 Newman SP, 169, 171, 172, 175, 177, 179, 182, 200, 201, 202, 204, 205, 206, 215, 237, 250, 252, 255, 267, 269 Newman W, 115, 117, 123, 126 Newnham DM, 172, 202 Ng C, 218, 239

Ng M, 473, 485 Ngo SD, 143, 153 Nice J, 179, 205 Nicholl JJ, 54, 59, 345, 350 Nichols AI, 104, 109, 111 Nichols BD, 346, 350 Nickel J, 142, 164 Nickel R, 113, 117, 126 Nicolai T, 628, 633 Nicolaizik WH, 366, 384 Nicols BD, 56, 60 Nides M, 496, 512 Niehorster M, 55, 59 Nielsen H, 55, 59, 346, 350 Nielsen NH, 234, 243 Nieman L, 148, 158 Nieminen MM, 343, 348 Niemisto M, 16, 30, 52, 58, 636, 645 Niggermann B, 53, 59, 345, 350 Nightingale JA, 443, 457, 457, 462 Nikander K, 15, 16, 29, 171, 172, 175, 201, 202, 625, 626, 632 Nilsson E, 20, 31, 222, 240, 310, 327 Ninan T, 363, 368, 382 Ninan TK, 475, 486 Ning AC, 174, 203 Nishi T, 115, 127 Nishimura K, 641, 646 Nishio Y, 75, 87, 138, 162 Nishiyama K, 150, 159 Nitta I, 545, 560 Noble S, 552, 563 Nocentini G, 146, 156 Nogeire C, 257, 269 Nohr D, 148, 157 Nomoto A, 144, 154 Noonan M, 235, 244 Noonan MJ, 469, 482, 484, 488 Nordeen SK, 141, 142, 153, 163 Nordvall SL, 445, 459 Norjavaara E, 374, 375, 387 Norman TC, 584, 588 Norris A, 145, 155 Norrito F, 274, 279 Norstedt G, 140, 163 North J, 278, 281

Northcutt JA, 551, 563 Northfield M, 637, 639, 645 Northrop JP, 138, 161 Nosaka T, 124, 131 Noso N, 117, 128 Novack GD, 550, 551, 562, 563 Noveral JP, 609, 617 Nowell PC, 122, 129 Noyes JN, 524, 535 Nozik R, 551, 563 Nuki G, 54, 59, 345, 350 Nunn AJ, 40, 47 Nyberg F, 148, 157 Nylander B, 566, 576

0

Oakley RH, 229, 242 Oakley RM, 103, 104, 105, 110 Obata Y, 580, 586 Oberger E, 368, 384 Obminski G, 172, 202 O'Brien RF, 147, 156 O'Byrne PM, 16, 26, 30, 32, 50, 51, 58, 274, 276, 278, 280, 281, 310, 328, 344, 349, 357, 359, 360, 361, 369, 372, 380, 382, 428, 429, 430, 432, 436, 437, 473, 479, 482, 486, 487, 531, 533, 536, 537, 609, 610, 617, 624, 625, 631, 631, 632, 634 O'Callaghan C, 174, 175, 204, 627, 633 O'Connell EJ, 626, 632 O'Connor BJ, 234, 243, 425, 427, 435, 443, 447, 450, 455, 457, 460, 639, 640, 645 O'Connor BJO, 524, 535 O'Connor SA, 497, 512 Odink RJ, 367, 384, 476, 480, 487 Odink RJH, 53, 59 O'Driscoll BR, 468, 483 Oettgen HC, 115, 126 O'Fallon WM, 626, 632 Offord KP, 344, 349, 358, 360, 368, 369, 380, 399, 416, 475, 486 Ogarra A, 583, 588

Ohkuni Y, 605, 616 Ohlssen S, 55, 56, 60 Ohlsson C, 150, 159 Ohlsson SV, 16, 30, 346, 350, 474, 477, 479, 486 Ohman L, 70, 84 Ohoka Y, 144, 154 Oiso Y, 229, 242 Okada T, 227, 242 Okamoto SI, 123, 124, 131 Okert S, 76, 80, 88, 89 Okikawa JK, 171, 201 Okret S, 71, 78, 80, 81, 82, 85, 89, 90, 142, 163 Olander K, 551, 563 Olasz E, 140, 162 Old LJ, 580, 586 Oldenburg FA, 192, 208 Oldfield Eh, 148, 158 Olinsky A, 627, 628, 633 Olivieri D, 425, 435, 455, 461, 602, 603, 615, 625, 632 Ollerenshaw SL, 611, 617 Olson D, 227, 228, 241 Olson EN, 578, 585 Olsson B, 191, 207, 336, 347 Olsson P, 250, 251, 253, 267 O'Malley BW, 72, 73, 74, 78, 86, 88, 119, 128 Omlor GJ, 609, 617 Onate SA, 78, 88 Ong JTH, 545, 560 Ongaro R, 447, 450, 460 Ono SJ, 117, 123, 124, 128 Ono Y, 147, 156 Onrust SV, 218, 239 Oosterhuis B, 257, 269 Oppe H, 552, 557, 564 Oppenheim JJ, 116, 124, 127, 132 Orchinik M, 68, 83, 229, 242 Ordway L, 507, 514 Oren J, 218, 239, 250, 251, 267 Orgel HA, 360, 381 O'Riodan TG, 217, 238 Orisda B, 445, 459 Oroszi G, 151, 160

Orr L, 524, 535 Orsida BE, 607, 616 Orti E, 71, 85, 101, 110 Oseid S, 360, 382 O'Shaughnessy T, 594, 601, 604, 613, 615 Osterballe O, 473, 486 Ostertag D, 580, 581, 586 Ostlund Farrants AK, 144, 154 Ostrov C, 551, 563 Oswald H, 627, 633 Otsuka H, 274, 280 Oudesluys-Murphy AM, 175, 204 Overbeek SE, 392, 402, 415, 636, 645 Owens-Grillo JK, 101, 110 Ownbey R, 115, 126 Ownbey RT, 117, 124, 128 Ozato K, 142, 163

Ρ

Pace E, 605, 616 Pachter LM, 506, 507, 514 Pacifici GM, 228, 242 Packe GE, 473, 485 Padhi D, 227, 242, 521, 534 Paes B, 171, 176, 201, 205 Pahuja SL, 222, 240 Paige CJ, 580, 587 Palacio S, 148, 157 Palframan RT, 278, 281 Paliogianni F, 144, 154 Palley HF, 581, 587 Palmberg L, 231, 243 Palmer-Crocker RL, 124, 131 Palmer KN, 40, 47 Palmer RM, 445, 459 Palucka K, 145, 154 Palvimo JJ, 75, 87 Panula P, 147, 157 Papakonstantinou E, 148, 157 Papavassilou E, 148, 158 Parameswaran K, 169, 200, 430, 432, 436, 437 Pare PD, 594, 606, 607, 608, 611, 613, 616, 617, 618

Parelli JM, 151, 161 Parfitt AM, 150, 159 Park KK, 77, 88, 581, 587 Parker MG, 79, 89, 142, 143, 153, 163 Parker R, 122, 129 Parner J, 391, 402, 415, 594, 613, 628, 631, 633 Parrish S, 524, 535 Parry DT, 497, 512 Parry GC, 124, 131 Pasanen M, 227, 228, 241 Pasparakis M, 122, 130 Patel K, 497, 500, 512, 513 Patel L, 374, 387 Patel P, 214, 237 Patel YC, 150, 151, 160 Patil G, 544, 560 Paton JY, 495, 496, 497, 504, 511, 512 Patterson WC, 643, 646 Paul-Clark MJ, 582, 583, 588 Paul P, 146, 156 Paul WE, 124, 131 Paulson J, 337, 342, 348, 545, 561 Paulsson I, 25, 26, 32, 250, 253, 254, 268 Pauwels R, 13, 16, 21, 28, 30, 250, 252, 253, 266, 268, 287, 292, 302, 335, 339, 346, 347, 350, 451, 460 Pauwels RA, 55, 56, 60, 474, 477, 479, 486, 522, 530, 532, 535, 565, 575, 593, 612, 638, 645 Pavia D, 169, 172, 179, 200, 202, 206, 217, 238, 368, 386 Pavord ID, 430, 436, 456, 462 Payne D, 601, 615 Payvar F, 123, 130 Pearce D, 80, 89 Pearlman DS, 404, 417, 524, 535, 639, 640, 645 Pearse RG, 373, 376, 387 Peat JK, 391, 402, 415, 630, 634 Pedersen H, 20, 31, 234, 243 Pedersen S, 15, 16, 18, 19, 29, 30, 31, 50, 51, 55, 58, 59, 60, 171, 175, 185, 202, 205, 206, 214, 215, 237, 250, 252, 255, 268, 269, 284, 301, 343, 344, 346, 349, 350, 356, 357, 359, 360,

[Pedersen S] 361, 362, 363, 365, 367, 368, 369, 370, 372, 373, 375, 376, 379, 380, 381, 382, 383, 384, 386, 391, 402, 407, 415, 418, 444, 452, 458, 466, 469, 473, 474, 476, 479, 482, 483, 484, 486, 487, 541, 546, 558, 594, 613, 635, 636, 644 Pedersen SE, 474, 486 Pedrick MS, 600, 614 Pei L, 75, 88 Peimonti L, 140, 162 Pelaez RP, 140, 162 Pelkonen O, 227, 241 Pelletier M, 124, 132 Pellin MC, 533, 536 Peltz SW, 103, 111, 121, 122, 129 Penninger JM, 580, 587 Penton-Rol G, 145, 155 Peppel K, 122, 130 Pepsin PJ, 344, 349 Pereira A, 359, 380 Pereira RC, 150, 159 Perkins G, 174, 203 Perlmann T, 72, 85 Perrault J, 580, 581, 586 Perrin EC, 503, 513 Perrin VL, 191, 207 Perruchoud AP, 148, 157 Persaud MP, 56, 60, 346, 350, 478, 487 Persson CGA, 25, 26, 32, 277, 281 Persson G, 20, 31, 222, 240, 310, 327 Persson MG, 444, 458 Persson S, 148, 157 Persson T, 15, 16, 29, 30, 625, 626, 632 Pesci A, 425, 427, 429, 430, 435, 436, 602, 603, 615, 625, 632 Peters S, 185, 206 Petersen H, 226, 241, 533, 536 Petit F, 286, 302 Petrangeli E, 122, 130 Petrie GR, 40, 47 Petrillo M, 310, 328 Petterson T, 374, 387, 475, 486 Petty TL, 15, 29, 343, 349 Pfeilschilfter J, 123, 130

Pfohl B, 257, 269 Phelan MC, 57, 60 Phelan PD, 362, 382, 627, 628, 631, 633 Phelps KM, 82, 90 Philips A, 78, 88 Philipson K, 179, 205 Phillip M, 368, 386 Phillips EM, 284, 301 Phillips KM, 496, 512 Philpot RM, 227, 241 Phipps PR, 193, 208 Phu PT, 73, 78, 84 Picado C, 229, 242, 473, 474, 485 Pictairn G, 191, 207 Pictet R, 74, 86 Pierart F, 175, 204 Pietinalho A, 16, 30, 38, 46, 52, 58, 169, 170, 191, 200, 392, 402, 415, 594, 613, 636, 645 Pike AC, 70, 84 Pill R, 500, 513 Pin I, 428, 435 Pines I, 500, 512 Pinkerton HL, 368, 385 Pinter E, 151, 160 Pipkorn U, 213, 214, 237 Pitcairn G, 177, 209 Pitti RM, 140, 162 Pizarro TT, 122, 130 Pizzichini E, 429, 430, 436 Pizzichini MM, 429, 430, 436 Plaisance S, 82, 90, 121, 129 Plate KH, 148, 157 Platt R, 493, 494, 511 Plaut M, 146, 156 Plebani M, 357, 365, 380 Plitt J, 124, 131 Plotkin LI, 150, 159 Plumpeon FS, 468, 483 Pober JS, 124, 131 Pocock SJ, 344, 349, 360, 381 Poellinger L, 78, 88, 101, 110, 138, 162 Pohunek P, 601, 615 Polak JM, 445, 459, 611, 617 Polentarutti N, 145, 155 Poli G, 145, 155

Polito A, 117, 127 Polygenis D, 468, 469, 483 Pomerance A, 445, 459 Ponath PD, 115, 117, 123, 126 Pons F, 473, 474, 485 Ponta H, 77, 79, 81, 88, 90, 121, 129, 581, 587 Pooler S, 170, 201 Pope L, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162 Poppe H, 552, 555, 556, 557, 558, 563, 564 Porcelli SA, 145, 154 Post C, 148, 157 Postma DS, 16, 30, 55, 56, 60, 346, 350, 400, 417, 473, 474, 477, 479, 485, 486, 636, 638, 639, 645 Poston RN, 117, 128 Poubelle PE, 346, 350, 473, 485 Poulsen BJ, 545, 560 Poulter LW, 145, 155 Powell JA, 16, 30 Power CA, 114, 116, 126, 127, 145, 155 Prantera C, 310, 328 Pratt WB, 101, 110 Pray-Grant MG, 79, 89 Preece MA, 366, 384 Prefontaine GG, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162 Prefontaine KE, 121, 129, 582, 588 Prellwitz W, 148, 158 Premack BA, 113, 116, 126 Prendergast P, 142, 163 Price AC, 359, 380 Price DA, 366, 384 Price J, 360, 368, 371, 381, 385 Price JF, 470, 471, 484 Prickman LE, 49, 58 Pride NB, 16, 30, 55, 56, 60, 346, 350, 474, 477, 479, 486 Prieto L, 274, 279 Prime D, 170, 175, 179, 180, 182, 184, 201 Pringle M, 400, 417 Procopiou PA, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Proud D, 117, 118, 123, 124, 125, 127, 128

Proudfoot AEI, 114, 117, *126, 128*Pruss D, 140, 143, *153*Pujols L, 229, *242*Pulejo MR, 362, *382*Pulendran B, 145, *154*Puolijoki H, 54, *59*, 344, 346, *349, 350*, 473, 474, *485*Pushpangadan M, 504, *513*Pyszczynski NA, 97, 98, 99, 100, 104, 109, *109, 110, 111,* 174, *203*

Q

Qualtrough J, 191, 207 Quanjer P, 368, 386 Quelle FW, 124, 131 Quinn LM, 609, 617 Quon CY, 544, 560

R

Raaijmakers J, 80, 89 Rabe KF, 219, 226, 239, 294, 303, 533, 536 Rabenau O, 70, 75, 84 Rachelefsky GS, 259, 260, 270, 497, 512 Rachez C, 143, 153 Radermecker M, 407, 418 Radford M, 357, 366, 380, 384 Raeburn D, 600, 614 Raedler A, 583, 588 Rafter I, 71, 81, 85 Rahmsdorf HJ, 77, 79, 81, 88, 90, 581, 587 Raines S, 142, 163 Raizman M, 546, 551, 562, 563 Rajkowski K, 101, 110 Rak S, 274, 279 Ramsay AJ, 600, 614 Ramsdale EH, 275, 280, 624, 625, 632 Ramsdell JW, 186, 192, 206, 207, 235, 244, 406, 417 Rand CS, 491, 494, 495, 496, 499, 505, 510, 511, 512, 514 Rangarajan PN, 73, 84, 121, 129

Rankin SM, 278, 281 Ransome LJ, 121, 129 Ranzi T, 310, 328 Rao A, 579, 586 Raper C, 543, 545, 548, 559 Raphael GD, 407, 417 Raport CJ, 115, 127 Rashid A, 494, 511 Rashid F, 176, 191, 205, 207 Ratcliffe SG, 364, 367, 383 Ratka A, 287, 302, 525, 536, 545, 561 Raunio H, 227, 228, 241 Rauscher FJ, 78, 89 Ray A, 121, 129, 582, 588 Ray CG, 629, 633 Reader SJ, 171, 201, 250, 252, 267, 289, 303 Rebuck AS, 221, 239 Rechler MM, 74, 86 Reddy IK, 545, 561 Reddy ST, 583, 588 Reddy WJ, 23, 31, 467, 483 Redington AE, 624, 632 Reed CE, 39, 46, 344, 349, 358, 360, 368, 369, 374, 380, 387, 399, 416, 475, 486, 626, 632 Reed JC, 122, 129 Reed KD, 469, 484 Rees L, 374, 387 Rees PJ, 214, 237 Reese JC, 79, 89 Rehder J, 221, 239, 249, 250, 253, 266, 268 Rehder S, 17, 30 Reichardt HM, 581, 587 Reid DM, 54, 59, 345, 350, 472, 473, 485, 605, 616 Reid I, 365, 383 Reid IW, 40, 47 Reid L, 600, 614 Reik A, 77, 79, 88 Reilly JJ, 445, 459 Reinikainen K, 15, 16, 29 Reisine ST, 497, 512 Reiss TF, 482, 488, 641, 646 Reiss WG, 97, 109

Remick DG, 147, 157 Renkawitz R, 75, 87, 142, 164 Rennard S, 15, 29, 343, 349 Renoir JM, 221, 240 Renwick AG, 338, 348 Renzi PM, 117, 119, 127 Rerecich T, 278, 281 Resch K, 125, 132 Resche-Rigon M, 82, 90, 286, 302 Resis N, 144, 154 Reul JM, 80, 89 Reynolds S, 336, 347, 477, 487 Rhem R, 174, 185, 187, 188, 189, 190, 193, 194, 203, 206, 207, 208 Rhodes CG, 193, 195, 208 Rhodes GR, 289, 302 Rhodes SJ, 71, 85 Rhodewald P, 221, 239 Ribeiro LB, 368, 385, 386 Riccardi C, 140, 146, 156, 163 Rice N, 123, 124, 131 Richards DF, 145, 155 Richards DH, 359, 380 Richards FM, 100, 110 Richards J, 171, 201 Richards JM, 503, 508, 513, 514 Richards R, 338, 348 Richards W, 6, 27 Richardson PD, 16, 30 Richarson M, 277, 281 Richter JK, 72, 86 Richter K, 257, 269, 443, 455, 457, 458 Rickard K, 407, 417 Ricketts IW, 363, 369, 383 Rigaud G, 74, 86 Rigden SP, 374, 387 Riggs BL, 150, 159 Rigon MR, 70, 79, 80, 84 Ringdal N, 481, 488, 637, 642, 645, 646 Ringler DJ, 117, 127 Risau W, 148, 157 Riska H, 16, 30, 38, 46, 52, 58, 169, 170, 174, 191, 200, 203, 594, 613, 636, 645 Rissoan MC, 145, 155 Risteli J, 54, 59, 346, 350 Risteli L, 366, 383

Ritter B, 125, 132 Rius C, 147, 157 Rivas D, 151, 161 Riverso-Moreno V, 444, 445, 458 Rizzo A, 605, 616 Robbins RA, 123, 124, 130, 132 Roberson PK, 150, 159 Roberts JA, 597, 598, 613 Roberts R, 174, 191, 203 Robertson DB, 4, 27 Robichaud A, 123, 130 Robins SP, 473, 485 Robinson DS, 117, 127, 128, 278, 281, 444, 458, 465, 483 Robyr D, 72, 86 Roca J, 446, 452, 459 Roche WR, 424, 429, 435, 436, 465, 482, 597, 598, 601, 602, 613, 615 Rodiska R, 115, 127 Rodriguez MS, 82, 90 Roeder RG, 143, 153 Roell G, 628, 633 Roempke K, 9, 11, 13, 18, 28, 29, 147, 157, 286, 301, 522, 535 Roesems G, 123, 130 Rofani L, 142, 163 Roffwarg H, 257, 269 Rogenes PR, 344, 349, 469, 484 Rogers A, 424, 435 Rogers AV, 601, 603, 605, 609, 610, 615, 616, 617 Rogers DF, 147, 156, 443, 457, 600, 614 Rogers P, 507, 514 Rogerson AG, 581, 587 Rohatagi S, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 257, 266, 267, 269, 287, 289, 292, 299, 302, 303, 545, 561 Rohdelwald P, 17, 30, 216, 219, 226, 229, 239, 239, 242, 243, 249, 250, 253, 266, 268, 286, 294, 302, 303, 310, 327, 533, 536 Roig-Lopez JL, 151, 160 Roldaan AC, 407, 418 Romagnoli M, 456, 462 Romeo H, 148, 157 Ronchetti S, 146, 156

Ronicke V, 148, 157 Rooks WD, 250, 251, 252, 267, 287, 292, 302 Rooney SA, 149, 159 Roorda RJ, 358, 360, 362, 369, 372, 377, 380, 399, 416, 475, 487, 623, 626, 631 Rose DW, 73, 74, 75, 78, 85, 87, 141, 142, 143, 153, 163 Rosen J, 71, 73, 85 Rosen JM, 138, 161 Rosenbaum J, 551, 563 Rosenberg M, 227, 242 Rosenberg SA, 147, 156 Rosenburg M, 521, 534 Rosenfeld MG, 71, 73, 74, 75, 78, 79, 82, 85, 87, 89, 90, 141, 142, 143, 153, 163 Rosenhall L, 15, 29, 425, 427, 429, 435 Rosenstein M, 147, 156 Rosette C, 82, 90, 99, 110, 121, 129, 582, 587 Rosler A, 16, 30 Ross D, 173, 203 Ross J, 103, 111, 121, 122, 129 Rossi A, 582, 583, 588 Rossi AG, 145, 155 Rossi D, 114, 126 Rossi GA, 429, 430, 436 Rossman C, 179, 206 Rot A, 115, 126 Roter D, 499, 512 Roter DL, 507, 508, 514 Roth M, 148, 157 Rothenberg MD, 117, 127 Rothenberg ME, 115, 117, 123, 124, 125, 126, 128, 131 Rothwarf DM, 579, 586 Rottman FM, 70, 75, 84 Rottman J, 117, 127 Rousseau GG, 68, 83, 286, 302 Roux J, 74, 86 Rowe BH, 43, 47 Roxmeyer HE, 146, 156 Rubin BK, 172, 202 Rubin JM, 551, 563 Rubio Calvo E, 360, 381 Rubsalmen RN, 171, 201

Rudlof G, 179, 206 Ruffin R, 503, 513 Ruffin RE, 174, 191, 192, 203, 208 Ruiz RG, 368, 385 Runkel R, 250, 251, 266, 292, 303 Runstrom A, 20, 25, 26, 31, 225, 241 Rusconi S, 69, 78, 83, 88 Russell G, 360, 363, 368, 371, 381, 382, 475, 486 Ruzicka T, 140, 162 Ryan G, 169, 172, 186, 200, 202 Ryan MF, 476, 487 Rydhostroem H, 16, 30 Ryrfeldt A, 13, 14, 20, 21, 25, 28, 29, 31, 222, 227, 228, 240, 241, 250, 252, 253, 255, 266, 268, 269, 287, 292, 302, 310, 327, 337, 347, 522, 530, 532, 535, 565, 575

S

Saarelainen P, 343, 348 Saartok T, 13, 18, 29, 286, 301, 522, 535 Saatciouglu F, 121, 129, 138, 139, 152, 581, 582, 587 Sabapathy K, 580, 586 Sackett DL, 504, 509, 513 Sackner MA, 173, 203 Saetta M, 602, 615 Safadi R, 310, 328 Saha MT, 373, 376, 387 Sahin-Erdemil I, 452, 461 Sahlin L, 140, 163 Sahmokawa H, 150, 159 Saint Georges F, 217, 238 Saint MS, 606, 616 Saito A, 115, 127 Saito H, 229, 242 Sakai DD, 70, 75, 84 Sakai M, 71, 85, 452, 461 Sakai N, 641, 646 Sakakura T, 580, 586 Sakamaki T, 446, 459 Salaskauskas R, 640, 645 Salathe M, 217, 238 Salazar DE, 97, 109

Saleh D, 443, 445, 455, 457, 459 Sall K, 551, 563 Sallmen T, 147, 157 Sallusto F, 146, 156 Salmi J, 54, 59, 346, 350 Salome CM, 630, 634 Salzman GA, 174, 203 Samelson LE, 147, 156 Sams CF, 150, 160 Samuelson UE, 449, 451, 460 Sanchez ER, 70, 84 Sanchis J, 179, 206 Sanders P, 172, 202 Sanders SP, 407, 418 Sanderson R, 174, 203 Sandstrom T, 528, 536, 568, 576, 597, 613 Sangster MY, 124, 131 Sanjar S, 600, 614 Sano H, 151, 160 Santolicandro A, 215, 238 Santoro M, 582, 583, 588 Sapienza MA, 454, 461 Sapir N, 357, 380 Sapsford RJ, 117, 128 Sar M, 71, 85, 229, 242 Sarafi MN, 115, 123, 124, 125, 126, 131 Sarawar SR, 124, 131 Sardina E, 124, 132 Sargent C, 397, 400, 416 Sarnstrand B, 528, 536, 568, 576 Sarosi I, 580, 587 Sartori C, 446, 452, 459 Sasaki H, 148, 158, 600, 614 Sasaki T, 148, 158, 580, 587 Sasportes M, 146, 156 Sato E, 545, 560 Sato K, 147, 156, 446, 459 Sato M, 452, 461 Satoh T, 524, 536, 544, 559 Saunders CE, 494, 511 Savacool AM, 368, 371, 386 Savage TJ, 600, 614 Savic J, 191, 207 Savill J, 145, 155 Savory JG, 75, 87

Sawyer MG, 503, 513 Sayre JW, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Schaberg A, 360, 381 Schafer MK, 148, 157 Schafer SC, 148, 158 Schall TJ, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 130, 132 Schanker LS, 248, 266, 298, 304, 310, 327 Scharling B, 182, 206 Schaumberg JP, 213, 214, 236, 275, 281 Scheinman RI, 82, 90, 99, 110, 138, 161, 582, 587 Schelbert A, 73, 78, 86 Scher BM, 138, 161 Scher W, 138, 161 Schieltz D, 79, 89 Schild-Poulter C, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162 Schinkel AH, 296, 304 Schleimer RP, 5, 6, 19, 27, 113, 115, 117, 118, 119, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 131, 137, 138, 144, 146, 149, 152, 154, 156, 158, 229, 242, 278, 281, 361, 369, 382, 479, 487 Schlessinger J, 584, 588 Schluter C, 123, 124, 131 Schmekel B, 145, 155 Schmid W, 70, 75, 77, 82, 83, 87, 151, 160, 581, 587 Schmidlin F, 151, 160 Schmidt EW, 221, 239 Schmidt RF, 148, 157 Schmidt S, 142, 164 Schmidt TJ, 68, 75, 76, 77, 83, 87, 88, 138, 161, 581, 587 Schmiedlin-Ren P, 227, 241 Schmitt D, 148, 157 Schmitt K, 174, 189, 203 Schmitz ML, 80, 81, 82, 90, 121, 129 Schna M, 71, 85 Schneikert J, 78, 79, 89 Schnohr P, 594, 613, 628, 631, 633 Schober A, 151, 160 Schofield B, 630, 634 Scholtz JR, 545, 560 Schotman E, 465, 483

Schouten JP, 16, 30, 55, 56, 60, 346, 350, 474, 477, 479, 486 Schow AD, 140, 162 Schragge W, 276, 281 Schramm CM, 609, 617 Schreiber M, 580, 586 Schreiber S, 583, 588 Schreiber S1, 143, 153 Schreier H, 297, 304, 573, 576 Schreurs AJM, 639, 645 Schroder JM, 115, 117, 123, 124, 126, 128.131 Schroeter JD, 179, 183, 205 Schroth GP, 140, 152 Schuckett EP, 478, 487 Schuhl JF, 218, 239 Schule R, 121, 129 Schulte HM, 70, 84 Schultz G, 151, 160, 581, 587 Schultz PG, 584, 588 Schultz RK, 173, 203 Schurch W, 595, 613 Schuster J, 171, 201 Schuster JA, 171, 201 Schutz G, 68, 70, 75, 77, 79, 82, 83, 87, 88 Schwartz H, 310, 328 Schwartz LB, 624, 632 Schwarz EM, 578, 585 Schwarz PM, 148, 158 Schweizer-Groyer G, 101, 110 Schwiebert LM, 117, 119, 127, 128, 139, 149, 152, 158, 479, 487 Scott DK, 138, 162 Scott MB, 372, 386 Scranton S, 217, 238 Screpanti I, 122, 130 Scully KM, 71, 85 Seal PJ, 469, 484 Seale JP, 228, 234, 242, 243, 335, 336, 342, 347, 348, 397, 400, 416 Sears MR, 429, 430, 432, 436, 437 Seckl JR, 145, 155, 336, 347 Sedgwick JB, 624, 632 Seeley D, 468, 483 Seemayer TA, 595, 613

Segal RA, 179, 183, 205 Segard-Maurel I, 101, 110 Segre EJ, 218, 239, 250, 251, 267 Sehgal SN, 100, 110 Sehmi R, 274, 276, 278, 280, 281, 479, 482, 487 Seidenberg BC, 482, 488 Seitz M, 124, 132 Selby C, 642, 646 Selroos O, 15, 16, 18, 29, 30, 38, 46, 52, 58, 138, 152, 169, 170, 174, 191, 200, 203, 226, 241, 392, 402, 415, 594, 613, 625, 626, 632, 636, 645 Selvan RS, 125, 132 Sennhauser FH, 175, 205 Seppala OP, 177, 209 Serabijt-Singh CJ, 227, 241 Serini G, 595, 613 Sester U, 145, 155 Seto E, 143, 153 Sette L, 357, 365, 380 Settipane G, 310, 328 Shah B, 250, 251, 254, 267, 268 Shah T, 213, 214, 236, 404, 417 Shalhoub V, 150, 159 Shapiro GG, 359, 381 Sharpe E, 551, 563 Shaw G, 122, 129, 637, 639, 645 Shaw NJ, 51, 58 Shaw RE, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Shaw RJ, 217, 238 Shearing C, 470, 484 Shelhamer J, 148, 158 Sheller JR, 456, 462 Shen P, 70, 84 Shen YY, 218, 239 Shennib H, 445, 459 Sheppard D, 428, 435 Sheppard J, 551, 563 Sheppard KA, 82, 90 Sher ER, 407, 418 Sherbourne CD, 507, 514 Sherman B, 257, 269, 368, 385 Sherrill D, 627, 633 Sherwood MB, 550, 551, 562

Shevchenko A, 579, 586 Shi W, 124, 131 Shields MD, 476, 487 Shigenaga MK, 451, 460 Shimbara A, 117, 119, 127 Shimizu H, 227, 242 Shimizu K, 125, 132 Shimoda K, 124, 131 Shimura S, 148, 158, 600, 614 Shin HS, 146, 156 Shinkai A, 115, 127 Shioda T, 146, 156 Shirato K, 600, 614 Shirin C, 310, 328 Shofner R, 551, 563 Shoji E, 115, 127 Short MD, 339, 342, 348 Shuckett EP, 56, 60, 346, 350 Shulman DG, 551, 563 Shuman H, 149, 159 Shuttleworth D, 336, 347, 477, 487 Shyu AB, 122, 125, 129, 132 Sica A, 145, 155 Siddall BJ. 138. 162 Siebenlist U, 124, 125, 132 Siegel MI, 124, 132, 583, 588 Siegel SC, 6, 27, 497, 512 Sigal JJ, 503, 513 Sigaux F, 146, 156 Sigounas A, 630, 634 Siljerud S, 231, 243 Silkoff PE, 445, 450, 452, 453, 459, 461, 462 Silvasti M, 177, 209 Silverman N, 73, 86 Silverstein MD, 374, 387, 475, 486, 626, 632 Sim JJ, 602, 605, 615, 616 Sime PM, 642, 646 Simmons MD, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Simmons MS, 496, 512 Simon RA, 475, 486 Simons FE, 56, 60, 274, 279, 346, 350, 358, 360, 369, 373, 376, 380, 399, 416, 623, 631

Simons FER, 475, 478, 486, 487 Simony-Lafontaine J, 624, 632 Simpson H, 627, 633 Simpson S, 338, 348 Sims EJ, 169, 184, 200, 643, 646 Sinclair DJ, 40, 47 Singh OMP, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Singh P, 73, 74, 84 Singh R, 300, 304 Sista SM, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287, 302 Sjodin K, 20, 31, 220, 222, 223, 225, 240, 241, 300, 304, 545, 560 Sjukanovic R, 214, 215, 237 Skinner C, 40, 47 Skold CM, 605, 616 Skoner DP, 16, 30, 372, 386 Skovsted B, 182, 206 Sladek FM, 74, 86 Slater Al, 170, 175, 179, 180, 182, 184, 201, 289, 303 Slater EP, 70, 75, 84 Slaughter RL, 96, 97, 109, 257, 269 Slocumb CH, 581, 587 Slutsky AS, 445, 450, 453, 459, 462 Sly PD, 175, 205 Smaldone GC, 171, 193, 194, 201, 208, 217, 238 Smeal T, 77, 88, 138, 161, 578, 581, 585, 587 Smerick M, 551, 563 Smith B, 495, 499, 511 Smith CJP, 399, 417 Smith CL, 144, 154, 230, 243 Smith E, 172, 202 Smith J, 250, 251, 253, 267 Smith JA, 16, 30, 372, 386, 623, 631 Smith L, 470, 482, 484 Smith MA, 54, 59, 345, 350 Smith MJ, 40, 47 Smith N, 16, 30 Smithers AJ, 234, 243, 504, 513 Snashawl PD, 339, 342, 348 Snowden MA, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560

Snyder JM, 149, 158 Soares M, 121, 129 Sobol A, 507, 514 Sobonya RE, 601, 615 Sodal A, 495, 511 Soderberg M, 597, 598, 613 Soderstrom M, 143, 153 Soferman R, 357, 380 Solanke YE, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Soler D, 115, 117, 123, 126 Soliman MRI, 545, 560 Song CZ, 151, 160 Song Y, 186, 207, 214, 237, 238 Song YL, 605, 616 Sonmark B, 25, 32 Sont JK, 400, 417, 429, 430, 436, 456, 462, 603, 604, 615 Soo K, 114, 126 Soong S, 503, 508, 513, 514 Sorenby L, 25, 31 Sorg C, 140, 146, 155 Soria I, 254, 268 Sorkness CA, 400, 403, 406, 415, 468, 469, 483 Sorkness RL, 630, 634 Sorva R, 344, 349, 365, 383, 473, 474, 479, 485, 487 Soultanakis R, 451, 460 Soumelis V, 145, 155 Sourgens H, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 256, 266, 267, 287, 292, 299, 302, 303 Sousa AR, 117, 128 Southern DL, 406, 417 Sovijarvi A, 15, 16, 29, 30, 625, 626, 632 Sowadski JM, 583, 584, 588 Sozzani S, 145, 155 Speckin P, 443, 455, 457, 458, 462 Spector Sl, 497, 500, 512 Speicher DW, 78, 89 Spelsberg TC, 150, 159 Spencer RM, 179, 183, 205 Spiegel LA, 151, 160 Spier S, 49, 58 Spirer Z, 357, 380 Spiro A, 507, 514

Spiro SG, 56, 60, 339, 342, 348, 476, 477, 487 Springall DR, 444, 445, 458, 459, 611, 617 Springer MS, 117, 127 Sprock A, 362, 382 Spurrier NJ, 503, 513 Squillace D, 429, 430, 436 Srivastava G, 140, 162 Stacey C, 142, 163 Stahl E, 214, 237 Stahl J. 551. 563 Stahlhofen W, 179, 206 Stahre G, 25, 26, 32 Stallcup MR, 78, 89, 142, 143, 153 Stalmans W, 144, 154 Stamler JS, 444, 445, 446, 458, 459 Stampfli HF, 544, 560 Stanhope R, 377, 387 Staugas R, 503, 513 Stavreus-Evers A, 140, 163 Stecenco AA, 573, 576 Steed KP, 171, 201, 250, 252, 267, 289, 303 Steele DJ, 510, 514 Steele K, 474, 486 Stefely JS, 300, 304 Steffensen G, 255, 269 Steger DJ, 79, 89 Stein GS, 150, 159 Stein JL, 150, 159 Stein LS, 150, 159 Stein RB, 71, 73, 85 Stein RT, 627, 633 Steinsvag SK, 217, 238 Stellato C, 113, 115, 117, 118, 119, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 131, 139, 149, 152, 158, 479, 487 Stelzner TJ, 147, 156 Stenius-Aarniala B, 15, 16, 29, 30 Sterk PJ, 40, 47, 400, 417, 449, 451, 456, 460, 462, 603, 604, 615 Stern DA, 629, 634 Stevens DA, 82, 90 Stevens WHM, 26, 32 Stevenson D, 551, 563

Stevenson JK, 578, 585 Stevenson JS, 26, 32, 570, 576 Stewart AF, 77, 79, 88 Stewart AG, 609, 617 Stewart BA, 169, 200 Stewart D, 551, 563 Stewart RB, 507, 514, 551, 563 Stewart W, 551, 563 Stierna P, 70, 84, 229, 242, 366, 384 Stirling RG, 444, 458 Stjernvall T, 227, 241 Stocklin E, 73, 74, 85 Stockmann R, 250, 251, 253, 254, 267, 268, 299, 304 Stocks J, 627, 633 Stokes J, 581, 587 Stokes M, 368, 386 Storey G, 6, 28, 368, 386 Storti S, 215, 238 Stosic-Grujicic S, 140, 163 Straathof KC, 428, 436, 449, 451, 460 Strachan DP, 626, 627, 632, 633 Strahlman ER, 551, 563 Strannegard IL, 140, 163 Strannegard O, 140, 163 Straubinger RM, 97, 98, 99, 109 Straus D, 147, 156 Streeten DHP, 468, 483 Streiner DL, 503, 513 Stricker W, 174, 189, 203, 639, 640, 645 Stroka D, 121, 129 Stromstedt PE, 74, 78, 86, 88, 138, 162 Struhl K, 72, 79, 85, 86 Stubbs RJ, 291, 303, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Sturgess J, 56, 60 Su B, 578, 585 Suarez S, 296, 304 Suarez Z, 151, 161 Subramaniam N, 71, 76, 78, 80, 85, 88, 89, 142, 163 Sudderick RM, 274, 279 Suen CS, 142, 163 Sugawara A, 151, 161 Sugeno K, 227, 242 Sugimoto T, 150, 159
Sugio K, 138, 152 Sugiyama T, 138, 162 Suh DS, 74, 86 Suissa S, 42, 47, 56, 60, 399, 416, 417, 478, 487, 492, 493, 499, 511 Sukhai RN, 175, 204 Suldan Z, 143, 153 Sullivan CE, 611, 617 Sumino H, 446, 459 Summerfield A, 175, 205 Summers QA, 175, 204 Summerton L, 641, 646 Sun L, 584, 588 Sun SC, 82, 91 Sun YL, 75, 76, 77, 87, 88, 138, 161, 581, 587 Sun YN, 104, 106, 109, 111, 229, 242 Supowit SC, 148, 157 Surs W, 407, 418 Sus S, 630, 634 Susanne C, 362, 382 Sutherland DR, 276, 281 Sutton PP, 217, 238 Suttrop M, 179, 183, 186, 206, 215, 237 Suwa T, 544, 560 Suzuki N, 580, 581, 586 Suzuki T, 545, 560 Svahn T, 15, 16, 29, 30 Svartengren M, 179, 205 Svedmyr N, 53, 59, 469, 471, 483 Svensjo E, 147, 157 Svensson C, 277, 281 Sviridov D, 222, 240 Swantek J, 122, 130 Swenson EW, 250, 251, 252, 267, 287, 302 Swystun VA, 531, 536 Syrotuik J, 16, 30, 344, 349 Szefler SJ, 5, 16, 19, 27, 30, 292, 303, 372, 386, 403, 417, 444, 458, 467, 483 Szelenyi I, 552, 553, 555, 556, 557, 563, 564 Szentivanyi J, 368, 385

Szolcsanyi J, 151, *160* Szymeczek J, 360, *381*

Т

Tabachnik E, 360, 381 Tada H, 545, 560 Tafler R, 148, 157 Taggart H, 474, 486 Taha RA, 117, 119, 127 Takahama K, 150, 159 Takahashi T, 580, 582, 583, 586, 588, 608, 617 Takahashi Y, 452, 461 Takamatsu I, 374, 387 Takashi EI, 151, 161 Takashima A, 145, 155 Takeda K, 124, 131 Takeda T, 115, 127 Takemasa F, 138, 152 Takeshita A, 142, 163 Takeshita I, 125, 132 Takeuchi K, 151, 161 Takeuchi M, 580, 587 Takigawa K, 605, 616 Takimoto GS, 72, 86 Takishima T, 148, 158, 600, 614 Tala E, 54, 59, 346, 350 Talaee N, 175, 205 Talbot NB, 368, 385 Talton J, 300, 304 Talton JD, 296, 304 Tam SP, 140, 162 Tamaoiki J, 641, 646 Tammivaara R, 15, 16, 29, 30 Tan LS, 368, 385 Tanabe T, 151, 161 Tanaka K, 138, 161 Tanaka T, 124, 131 Tang C, 584, 588 Tang W, 147, 157 Taniyama Y, 151, 161 Tanner RJN, 6, 28, 250, 252, 253, 266 Taraseviciene L, 142, 163 Tarlo SM, 56, 60

696

Tashkin DP, 179, 183, 186, 192, 206, 215, 237 Tatterfield AE, 218, 219, 234, 239, 243, 340, 348, 400, 417, 455, 461, 639, 645 Tattum B, 342, 348 Tauber J, 551, 563 Tauber U, 257, 269 Taudorf E, 40, 47 Taussig LM, 627, 629, 633, 634 Taylor AN, 147, 157 Taylor DA, 454, 461, 640, 645 Taylor DW, 16, 30, 344, 349 Taylor G, 177, 209 Taylor ML, 115, 127, 360, 381 Taylor P, 601, 614 Taylor SS, 583, 584, 588 Teisner B, 359, 365, 380 Telizyn S, 274, 280 Temellini A, 228, 242 Tempst P, 143, 153 Ten Eyck LF, 583, 584, 588 Tepper RS, 630, 634 Terada A, 118, 128 Teran LM, 117, 128 Terasawa T, 227, 242 Tereuter E, 142, 163 Ternowitz T, 373, 376, 387 Testi R, 625, 632 Teurich S, 74, 87 Thalange NK, 366, 384 Thalen A, 9, 11, 13, 14, 18, 23, 25, 28, 29, 31, 286, 301, 522, 535, 566, 576 Thanos D, 82, 90 Thantrey N, 368, 386 Thayer R, 122, 129 Thein F, 607, 616 Thelen M, 115, 126 Therrien SA, 43, 47 Thiele HG, 583, 588 Thiemann HH, 628, 633 Thilly WG, 227, 228, 241 Thomas D, 339, 342, 348 Thomas GC, 377, 387 Thomas GE, 363, 369, 383 Thomas P, 56, 60

Thomas PS, 446, 449, 450, 453, 459 Thompson CB, 147, 156 Thompson Coon J, 637, 645 Thompson J, 82, 90 Thompson M, 194, 198, 208 Thompson S, 15, 29 Thomson NC, 447, 450, 460 Thomson PJ, 174, 204 Thong YH, 498, 507, 512 Thoonor CM, 227, 242, 521, 534 Thorn GW, 23, 31, 467, 483 Thorsson L, 16, 18, 20, 30, 169, 171, 175, 177, 200, 201, 204, 215, 216, 218, 226, 237, 238, 241, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 255, 267, 268, 269, 337, 340, 342, 348, 397, 400, 416, 521, 522, 533, 534, 536, 545, 561, 565, 576 Thromm J, 499, 512 Thummel C, 68, 83 Thunnisen FBJM, 18, 20, 30, 226, 229, 241, 242, 250, 253, 268 Thunnissen AM, 584, 588 Thunnissen FBJM, 533, 536, 565, 576 Tian X, 151, 160 Tibi L, 470, 484 Tiddens HAWM, 175, 205 Tidwell Rm, 124, 132 Tillman V, 366, 384 Timmers MC, 40, 47 Tingley DW, 102, 110 Tinkelman DG, 186, 192, 206, 207, 344, 349, 358, 360, 368, 369, 380, 386, 399, 416, 475, 476, 486, 487, 524, 535 Tobler A, 124, 132 Todd G, 476, 487 Toft DO, 70, 84 Togias A, 404, 417, 492, 511 Tojima Y, 545, 560 Tokuyasu H, 449, 451, 460 Tollemar U, 16, 30 Tollet-Egnell P, 140, 163 Tomesson M, 18, 30 Tomita K, 449, 451, 460 Tomkins GM, 68, 83

Tomlinson PR, 609, 617 Tomlinson RV, 250, 251, 266, 292, 303 Tone Y, 151, 161 Tonnesson M, 13, 21, 28, 226, 241, 250, 252, 253, 255, 266, 269, 287, 292, 302, 522, 530, 532, 535, 565, 575 Toogood JH, 6, 15, 28, 29, 51, 52, 53, 54, 56, 58, 59, 60, 213, 236, 275, 280, 298, 304, 336, 344, 346, 347, 349, 350, 383, 400, 412, 413, 416, 417, 466, 468, 469, 471, 473, 474, 479, 480, 481, 483, 484, 485, 488, 495, 512, 523, 535 Tooley M, 368, 385 Topert M, 524, 535, 545, 560 Torchia J, 75, 78, 87, 141, 142, 143, 153, 163 Tormey V, 57, 60 Torres V, 274, 279 Toshizawa S, 138, 152 Tothilll P, 54, 59, 345, 350 Tournant J, 217, 239 Townley RG, 15, 29, 343, 349 Toyoshima K, 374, 387 Traavik T, 71, 85 Tralau-Stewart C, 534, 537 Trapp T, 73, 84 Trent JM, 142, 163 Trescoli C, 175, 205, 359, 380 Treuter E, 78, 88, 89 Triesman R, 578, 585 Trigg CJ, 425, 435, 603, 615 Trinchieri G, 145, 154 Tripier D, 142, 164 Tripp RA, 124, 131 Trivedi P, 366, 383 Trocme S, 551, 563 Troedson R, 174, 203 Trofast E, 182, 206, 215, 237 Tronche F, 151, 160 Trotter J, 221, 240 Trujillo D, 173, 203 Truss M, 72, 73, 78, 85, 86 Tsai MJ, 78, 88, 119, 128 Tsai SY, 78, 88, 101, 110 Tsuji A, 544, 560

Tsurufuji S, 138, 152 Tuckermann J, 75, 77, 82, 87, 581, 587 Tukiainen H, 177, 209 Tunek A, 6, 18, 19, 20, 21, 28, 31, 219, 222, 223, 225, 232, 239, 240, 241, 300, 304, 305, 533, 537, 545, 560, 565, 575 Tung L, 72, 86 Tunn S, 286, 302 Turksen K, 150, 160 Turner MO, 430, 436 Turner SW, 174, 203 Turner-Warwick M, 290, 303, 524, 535 Turpeinen M, 171, 202, 365, 383, 479, 487 Turpin J, 496, 512 Turzikova J, 601, 615 Tze WJ, 362, 382

U

Uasuf CG, 451, 460 Ueno H, 545, 560 Ugadawa N, 150, 160 Uguccioni M, 115, 126 Uhl EW, 630, 634 Ukena D, 640, 645 Ulevitch Rj, 578, 585 Ulich TR, 147, 157 Ullman A, 53, 59, 335, 341, 342, 345, 347 Ulmezu K, 545, 560 Ulrik CS, 594, 613 Umemoto EY, 145, 155 Umesono K, 68, 73, 83, 84 Umetsu DT, 145, 154 Umino T, 605, 616 Underwood JL, 147, 157 Underwood S, 600, 614 Uno M, 278, 281 Unsicker K, 70, 83, 151, 160 Upchurch FC, 289, 303 Urban RC, 546, 562 Utell MJ, 227, 228, 241 Utiger RD, 40, 41, 47 Uwyyed K, 16, 30

V

Vacca A, 122, 130 Vacchio MS, 146, 156 Vadiveloo P, 609, 617 Vainio P, 177, 209 Valat C, 217, 238 Valente F, 357, 366, 380 Valentine MA, 144, 154 Valetto MR, 357, 366, 380 Valind S, 195, 209 Vamvakopoulos NO, 102, 110 van Aalderen WM, 367, 384, 476, 480, 487, 627, 632 Van Antwerp D, 82, 91, 578, 579, 585, 586 Van Asperen P, 470, 482, 484 Van Bever HP, 364, 382 van Boxtel CJ, 257, 269 Van Damme J, 145, 155 van de Rijn M, 115, 126 Van de Stolpe A, 80, 89 van Deemter L, 296, 304 Van den Berghe W, 82, 90 Van den Bosch JMM, 18, 30, 226, 241, 522, 530, 533, 535 Van der Burg B, 80, 81, 82, 89, 90 van der Heiden A, 580, 587 van der Laag H, 358, 360, 362, 369, 372, 377, 380, 475, 487, 623, 626, 631 van der Molen T, 400, 417 Van der Saag PT, 80, 81, 82, 89, 90 van Deursen J, 124, 131 van Doormaal JJ, 473, 485 Van Es SM, 495, 511 Van Essen-Zandvliet EE, 344, 349, 360, 368, 381, 386, 399, 416, 625, 632 Van G, 580, 587 van Heerde EC, 80, 81, 90 van Houwelingen H, 368, 386, 399, 416 van Krieken JH, 603, 604, 615 van Krieken JHJM, 400, 417, 429, 430, 436, 456, 462 Van Metre TE, 368, 385 van Noord JA, 639, 645 van Rensen EL, 428, 436

van Scott MR, 630, 634 Van Shoor J, 335, 339, 347 Van SJ, 451, 460 van Wijnen A, 150, 159 van Zanten AK, 473, 485 Vanbever R, 179, 205 Vanden Berghe W, 121, 129 Vanden Burght JA, 174, 179, 183, 186, 189, 203, 204, 206, 215, 237 Vandenbroucke JP, 400, 417, 429, 430, 436, 456, 462, 603, 604, 615 Vandewalker ML, 368, 386, 476, 487 Vandivier RW, 453, 462 Vanzieleghem M, 192, 207 Vanzieleghem MA, 624, 625, 632 Varesio L, 124, 131 Varga M, 545, 561 Varni JW, 505, 514 Varsano I, 368, 385, 386 Vathenen AS, 234, 243, 455, 461 Vaughan LM, 217, 238, 397, 400, 416 Vayssiere BM, 286, 302 Veale AG, 365, 383 Vedeckis WV, 102, 110 Venables TL, 234, 243, 504, 513 Venge P, 425, 427, 429, 435, 624, 632 Ventresca GP, 52, 58, 177, 209, 218, 239, 250, 251, 252, 253, 255, 266, 267, 268, 287, 302, 342, 348, 356, 377, 379 Ventura P, 177, 191, 207, 209 Verbene AAPH, 475, 487 Verberne AA, 358, 360, 362, 369, 372, 377, 380, 399, 416, 623, 626, 631 Verhaeghe W, 335, 339, 347, 451, 460 Verini M, 368, 386 Verma IM, 121, 129, 578, 579, 580, 585, 586, 587 Verma SR, 174, 203 Verotti A, 368, 386 Veselic-Charvat MA, 428, 436, 449, 451, 460 Vestbo J, 391, 402, 415, 594, 613, 628, 631, 633 Viac J, 148, 157 Vidal NO, 150, 159

Vidgren M, 177, 209 Vidgren P, 177, 209 Vieira P, 583, 588 Viera PL, 145, 155 Vignali DAA, 124, 131 Vignola AM, 593, 594, 605, 612, 613, 616 Vikre JJ, 444, 452, 458 Vilanova E, 533, 536 Villaroel O, 366, 384 Villeneuve C, 503, 513 Vinci JM, 122, 130 Vincken W, 335, 339, 347, 451, 460 Virchow JC, 641, 646 Virtanen I, 602, 615 Visca A, 357, 366, 380 Visser MJ, 367, 384, 476, 480, 487 Volovitz B, 368, 385, 386, 624, 632 von Kogerer B, 25, 32 von Mutius E, 628, 631, 633 von Tscharner V, 115, 126 Vonventre JV, 115, 126 Voss LD, 364, 367, 383 Vottero A, 70, 84 Vrancken I, 175, 204 Vrugt B, 607, 616

W

Waalkens HJ, 344, 349, 360, 381, 625, 632 Wada S, 150, 160 Wade E, 73, 75, 84 Wagenaar E, 296, 304 Wagle S, 149, 159 Wagner C, 217, 238 Wagner EF, 580, 586 Wagner M, 250, 251, 253, 254, 267, 268, 299, 304 Wagner RA, 25, 31, 186, 207 Wahli W, 72, 86 Wahn U, 53, 59, 345, 350 Wakefield M, 503, 513 Wakeman A, 580, 587 Wakita S, 453, 462 Wakui H, 78, 89, 142, 163

Walbridge S, 148, 158 Wald JA, 97, 109, 623, 631 Wales D, 468, 483 Wales JK, 368, 373, 376, 384, 387 Walker CH, 544, 559 Walker D, 144, 154 Walker G, 123, 130 Walker HC, 524, 536 Walker KK, 142, 163 Walker P, 73, 78, 86, 138, 162, 174, 203 Walker SL, 174, 203 Wallander JL, 505, 514 Wallberg AE, 69, 83, 141, 142, 153 Wallerath T, 148, 158 Wallner L, 494, 511 Walls AF, 424, 429, 435, 436, 465, 482 Walsh LJ, 399, 417 Walters C, 465, 482 Walters EH, 452, 461, 607, 616 Walters T, 551, 563 Walton-Brown K, 16, 30, 372, 386, 623, 631 Walton S, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Wamboldt FS, 507, 514 Wamboldt MZ, 507, 514 Wanderer AA, 406, 417 Wang J, 146, 147, 156, 157, 179, 205, 425, 435, 603, 615, 630, 634 Wang JC, 74, 86, 138, 162 Wang JH, 117, 128 Wang L, 73, 86 Wang N, 605, 616 Wang P, 124, 132, 583, 588 Wang W, 114, 126 Wang Z, 630, 634 Wangoo A, 217, 238 Wanner A, 217, 238, 598, 607, 608, 614 Ward C, 452, 461, 605, 616 Ward G, 374, 387 Ward J, 143, 153 Ward MJ, 175, 205, 473, 485 Ward R, 456, 462 Ward S, 175, 205 Wardi Y, 310, 328 Wardlaw AJ, 215, 238, 430, 436, 456, 462, 597, 601, 613

Wargnier A, 146, 156 Warner FC, 363, 369, 383 Warner J, 366, 384 Warner JO, 601, 615 Warren SJ, 177, 209 Warren SW, 177, 209 Wassi P, 277, 281 Waters WHR, 494, 511 Watkins PB, 227, 241 Watson R, 274, 276, 280 Watson RM, 276, 278, 281, 479, 482, 487 Watson WT, 274, 279 Watterberg KL, 172, 202 Wattie J, 26, 32, 274, 280 Watts RA, 494, 499, 511 Waxman S, 138, 161 Webb DR, 213, 214, 236, 275, 281, 523, 535 Webster JC, 71, 75, 85, 87 Weeke B, 40, 47, 234, 243 Weeks K, 496, 512 Wehrenberg WB, 150, 151, 160 Weihe E, 148, 157 Weil JV, 147, 156 Weil R, 579, 586 Weinberg EC, 360, 381 Weinberger M, 368, 385, 397, 400, 416 Weiner M, 504, 513 Weiner P, 217, 218, 239, 356, 357, 379, 504, 513 Weinstein RS, 150, 159 Weinstein S, 639, 640, 645 Weinstock JV, 151, 160 Weis KH, 148, 157 Weisberg S, 469, 484 Weiss KB, 541, 546, 558 Weiss ST, 391, 402, 406, 415, 417, 493, 494, 511 Weisser H, 250, 251, 253, 254, 267, 268, 299, 304 Weisz AW, 175, 205 Weitzberg E, 444, 445, 458, 459 Weitzman ED, 257, 269 Weitzman M, 507, 514 Welch M, 372, 386, 623, 631

Welker L, 455, 462 Weller P, 360, 371, 381 Weller SC, 506, 507, 514 Wells TNC, 114, 117, 126, 128 Wen D, 117, 128 Weng B, 443, 455, 458 Wennergren G, 140, 163 Weremowicz S, 123, 124, 131 Wermeling DP, 175, 204, 250, 251, 267, 287, 302 Wessley O, 75, 77, 82, 87, 581, 587 West JB, 217, 238 West PD, 503, 513 Westerberg G, 195, 209 Westermann CJ, 226, 241, 522, 530, 533, 535 Westin S, 142, 163 Westlund KN, 148, 157 Westmann CJJ, 18, 30 Weston HE, 532, 533, 536, 545, 560 Weyler JJ, 364, *382* White CW, 145, 155, 444, 452, 458, 461 White E, 363, 369, 383 White FA, 480, 488 White J, 115, 117, 118, 123, 124, 125, 126, 128 White M, 642, 646 Whiteside ST, 579, 586 Whitmarsh AJ, 580, 586 Whitson PA, 150, 160 Wickstrom LI, 566, 576 Widdicombe J, 606, 616 Wiechert R, 524, 535, 545, 560 Wiegers GJ, 80, 89 Wieland S, 78, 88 Wiener MV, 173, 203 Wierenga EA, 145, 155 Wieslander E, 20, 25, 26, 31, 32, 223, 225, 240, 241, 300, 305 Wieslander EK, 222, 232, 240 Wiggs BR, 594, 606, 608, 611, 613, 616, 617 Wiik P, 140, 162 Wiklund NP, 444, 449, 451, 458, 460 Wikstrom AC, 70, 84, 229, 242 Wilcox CS, 151, 161

Wilder Rl, 151, 160 Wildhaber JH, 172, 175, 202, 204 Wilding P, 637, 645 Wilhelm A, 125, 132 Wiliams TJ, 125, 132 Wilkes B, 171, 201 Wilkin TJ, 364, 367, 383 Willems LN, 603, 604, 615 Willems LNA, 400, 417, 429, 430, 436, 456, 462 Willen H, 568, 576 Willey JC, 227, 228, 241 Williams AJ, 82, 90 Williams FW, 544, 559 Williams HE, 368, 386, 628, 631, 633 Williams J, 360, 371, 381 Williams JH, 601, 615 Williams KM, 335, 342, 347, 397, 400, 416, 469, 484 Williams L, 372, 387 Williams P, 170, 201, 481, 488 Williams T, 115, 117, 123, 126 Williams TJ, 117, 123, 124, 127, 130, 132, 278, 281 Willis D, 582, 583, 588 Willoughby DA, 582, 583, 588 Wilson AF, 214, 237 Wilson AM, 53, 59, 169, 184, 200, 250, 251, 267, 345, 350, 469, 470, 472, 481, 483, 488, 643, 646 Wilson IA, 145, 154 Wilson JW, 172, 202, 424, 429, 435, 436, 465, 482, 602, 605, 607, 609, 611, 615, 616, 617 Wilson NM, 451, 460 Wilson S, 214, 215, 237 Wilson SJ, 424, 429, 435, 436, 465, 482, 607,616 Windsor RA, 503, 508, 513, 514 Winelstein M, 505, 514 Winkler H, 121, 129 Winwood D, 545, 561 Winzen R, 125, 132 Wire P, 52, 58, 177, 209, 250, 268, 356, 377, 379 Wiren J, 250, 253, 254, 268

Wiren JE, 337, 342, 348, 545, 561 Wise RA, 491, 494, 510, 511 Wisniewski A, 218, 219, 234, 239, 243, 340, 348, 400, 417, 455, 461 Wissink S, 80, 81, 82, 89, 90 Wissler M, 73, 74, 85 Witte K, 148, 158 Wodicka L, 584, 588 Wohlfart P, 148, 158 Wolfe J, 213, 214, 236, 275, 281, 523, 535, 643, 646 Wolff RK, 192, 208 Wolffe AP, 72, 86, 140, 143, 153 Wolford R, 144, 154 Wolford RG, 73, 78, 86 Wolley MJ, 26, 32 Wollmer P, 171, 202 Wolthers O, 55, 59, 346, 350, 359, 365, 367, 373, 380, 381, 383, 384 Wolthers OD, 359, 365, 366, 373, 376, 380, 384, 387, 406, 417, 468, 469, 475, 476, 483, 486, 487 Woltje M, 150, 160 Woltmann G, 430, 436, 456, 462 Wong AG, 429, 436 Wong BJ, 274, 276, 280, 428, 435 Wong CA, 399, 417 Wong DL, 138, 162 Wong E, 360, 381 Wong HH, 456, 462 Wong J, 53, 59, 143, 153, 344, 349 Wong JY, 627, 633 Woo PL, 149, 158 Wood I, 147, 157 Wood LJ, 274, 276, 280, 281, 479, 482, 487 Wood P, 357, 366, 380, 384 Wood WI, 140, 162 Woodcock A, 217, 239, 340, 342, 344, 348, 473, 474, 485, 486 Woodhouse RN, 170, 175, 179, 180, 182, 184, 201 Woods R, 543, 545, 548, 559 Woodworth TG, 115, 127 Woolcock AJ, 481, 488, 611, 617, 630, 634, 637, 645

Woolley KL, 26, 32, 429, 430, 436 Woolley MF, 274, 280 Woolley MJ, 26, 32 Workel JO, 221, 240, 296, 304 Workman JL, 69, 83 Worthington I, 468, 469, 483 Wouters EFM, 226, 229, 241, 242, 533, 536, 565, 576 Wrange O, 144, 154 Wright AL, 627, 628, 629, 631, 633, 634 Wright AP, 69, 71, 72, 78, 83, 85, 86, 89, 138, 141, 142, 153, 161, 163 Wright JR, 573, 576 Wrighton SA, 227, 241 Wrokman JL, 79, 89 Wu C, 171, 201 Wu CY, 145, 155 Wu IH, 578, 585 Wu P, 124, 132, 583, 588 Wu WM, 525, 536, 545, 548, 549, 550, 552, 561 Wurthwein G, 17, 30, 249, 266 Wyatt RA, 495, 511 Wynne J, 578, 585 Wysham C, 257, 269 Wysk M, 580, 586 Wyszomierski Sl, 138, 161

Х

Xaubet A, 229, 242 Xia C, 117, 128 Xia M, 146, 156 Xia Y, 580, 581, 586 Xie W, 583, 588 Xing Z, 630, 634 Xiong J, 580, 587 Xu L, 75, 78, 87, 141, 142, 153 Xu N, 122, 129 Xu X, 630, 634 Xu ZX, 104, 109, 111, 149, 159

Y

Yabuki T, 151, *161* Yacoub MH, 445, *459* Yaghoobian J, 150, 160 Yam L, 473, 485 Yamada H, 118, 128 Yamada T, 278, 281 Yamamoto KR, 68, 69, 70, 71, 74, 75, 77, 80, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 89, 119, 123, 128, 130, 138, 162 Yamamura HI, 229, 243 Yamaoka S, 579, 586 Yamauchi K, 148, 158 Yang DD, 580, 586 Yang N, 121, 129 Yang WM, 143, 153 Yang XJ, 142, 163 Yang Y, 193, 208 Yang-Yen HF, 77, 88, 138, 161, 581, 587 Yaniv M, 78, 88, 144, 154 Yaron A, 579, 585 Yates DH, 407, 418, 444, 446, 449, 450, 452, 453, 458, 459, 462 Yates JR, 79, 89 Yau P, 140, 152 Yeagashi H, 608, 617 Yeh BK, 584, 588 Yeh J, 138, 161 Yeh WC, 580, 587 Yerger LD, 26, 32, 570, 576 Yeung CY, 364, 367, 376, 383 Yeung M, 497, 512 Yi ES, 147, 157 Yi Y, 231, 243 Yildiz G, 452, 461 Ying S, 117, 127, 128, 147, 157, 274, 279 Yogendran L, 250, 251, 266, 287, 302 Yokoyama C, 151, 161 Yoshida N, 124, 131 Yoshida T, 580, 586 Yoshie O, 113, 115, 126 Yoshimura T, 117, 124, 128, 132 Yoshinaga SK, 74, 75, 77, 87 Yoshisue H, 115, 127 Yoshitake K, 150, 159 Young DB, 579, 586 Young IG, 600, 614 Young JM, 25, 31

Yu VC, 71, 85 Yuhki N, 124, 132 Yuki S, 194, 198, 208 Yunginger JW, 374, 387, 475, 486, 626, 632

Ζ

Zaborny BA, 256, 269 Zaccardelli D, 551, 563 Zacchello F, 444, 452, 458 Zacharek AM, 101, 110 Zachariae C, 123, 131 Zafarullah M, 150, 160 Zamel N, 453, 462 Zamorano J, 151, 161 Zanconato S, 444, 452, 458 Zandi E, 579, 586 Zanen P, 191, 207, 214, 237 Zaninotto M, 357, 365, 380 Zdanowicz M, 366, 384 Zee MC, 221, 240 Zeibecoglou K, 117, 128, 278, 281 Zeiger RS, 391, 402, 415 Zeiner M, 78, 79, 89, 142, 164 Zeitlin S, 357, 366, 380, 384 Zetterstrom O, 640, 645 Zhang G, 75, 87 Zhang L, 75, 87

Zhang P, 579, 586 Zhang S, 70, 84 Zhang W, 147, 156 Zhang Y, 146, 156 Zhang Z, 73, 74, 85, 138, 161 Zhao M, 578, 585 Zheng J, 583, 584, 588 Zheng L, 605, 616 Zhu H, 579, 586 Zhu J, 601, 614 Zhu YK, 605, 616 Zhu Z, 630, 634 Zieg G, 407, 418 Zielinksi JE, 222, 240 Ziemniak JA, 256, 269 Zierenberg B, 171, 201, 289, 303 Zilberman S, 310, 328 Zilliacus J, 78, 89, 142, 163 Ziman R, 496, 512 Zimmerman D, 374, 387, 475, 486 Zimmerman P, 551, 563 Zipfel PF, 124, 125, 132 Zlotnick A, 113, 114, 115, 126 Zollo O, 140, 163 Zor U, 144, 154 ZuWallack RL, 497, 500, 512, 513 Zwaan CM, 53, 59 Zwinderman AH, 40, 47, 428, 436, 449, 451,460

704

SUBJECT INDEX

Α

Accuhaler, 186, 216, 218, 338 Acyltransferases and deacetylases, 72 glucocorticoid interaction, 139-143 Adrenal suppression (see HPA-axis suppression) Adverse actions, 15, 16, 50, 52, 57, 64, 265, 466, 543, 557 bone effects, 54-55, 61-62, 150, 343-344, 363-364 candidiasis, 51, 52, 481 cataracts, 56, 63, 344, 477, 546 dose-response, 51, 466, 470-471, 473, 475, 480-482 dysphonia, 51 effect on growth, 55, 61, 148, 150-151, 357, 360-361, 365, 366-372, 374, 386 glaucoma, 56, 478, 546 HPA-axis suppression, 53-54, 64, 97, 218-219, 256-265, 271, 334, 343, 337-340, 350, 407-408, 417 impact of absorption rate, 22–23, 467, 545, 565 patients versus volunteers, 52 skin thinning and bruising, 56, 62, 476

Aerochamber, 186, 187 Aerosol delivery system, 170 Airway hyperresponsiveness, effect of glucocorticoids on, 48, 274, 398-399, 427-428, 462, 597, 603, 611 Airway inflammation effect of glucocorticoids on, 62-64, 449 - 450role of chemokines, 117-119 sampling methods, 422-427, 436-439, 444, 454 Airway remodeling, 46, 61, 63-64, 398, 596-610, 619-620, 624 Airway selectivity of inhaled glucocorticoids, 23-26, 231, 234, 263, 295, 298-301, 309-310, 312-316, 467, 572 dose-response, 51, 275, 277, 279, 296-297, 306-307 impact of esterification, 235, 310-319, 326-330 PK/PD modeling, 231, 316-318 Airway smooth muscles, 607-611 Albuterol (see Salbutamol) Allergic provocation, 274, 278, 282, 437-438, 554-556

Alveolar macrophages, 568-569 Animal models efficacy/selectivity of inhaled glucocorticoids, 8, 11, 22-26, 220, 225, 275-277, 279, 316-318, 528-529, 533, 553-557, 568-570 remodeling and glucocorticoids, 600-601 Antigen-presenting cells, effect of glucocorticoids, 145, 165 AP-1, 578-579, 581 glucocorticoid interaction, 74, 77-78, 80, 121, 143, 581-582 Apoptosis, induced by glucocorticoids, 146 Aquaporin, 148 Asthma as a systemic disease, 273-274 chemokine profile, 117, 123 chronic persistent, 436, 449, 454, 470 control markers, 401, 402, 432-433, 436-437, 452, 454 effect on growth, 61, 475, 360–361, 368, 372, 386 eosinophil/basophil progenitors, 277 epithelial fragility, 597-601, 619-620 etiology and natural history, 628, 492, 626, 629 hospitalization rate, 492, 493 noneosinophilic, 430 pathophysiology, 427, 449, 624-626 population study, 492 remodeling, 593-611, 619-620 small airway inflammation, 211 symptoms in children, 627 Asthma Clinical Research Network (ACRN), 406-408 Asthma exacerbations, 48, 428, 431–432, 436-437, 452, 492, 638-639 Asthma guidelines, 392–393 Astra, 12, 525, 566

В

 $\begin{array}{l} \beta_2\text{-agonist consumption, 493, 500} \\ BabyHaler, 186, 187 \\ BDP, 6-7, 12-14, 21, 39-40, 50, 248, \end{array}$

250, 253-255, 288, 408, 425, 479, 553-555, 557, 637 airway hyperresponsiveness, 422-423 airway selectivity, 234 antiasthmatic dose-response, 342, 391, 395 anti-inflammatory effect, 43-44, 422 bioavailability, 356 biotransformation, 228, 233-234 bone effects, 54-55, 344, 473-475 clearance, 334 deposition, 174, 215 effect on growth, 357, 365, 366-368, 371-372, 374, 475, 476 effect on remodeling, 598, 603 HPA-axis suppression, 53, 407-408, 469 - 471kinetic overview, 250 patient compliance, 497, 500 plus leukotriene receptor antagonist, skin thinning and bruising, 477 uptake/retention in airways/lung, 219 - 221Beclomethasone, 7 Beclomethasone 17a-21-dipropionate (see BDP) Beclomethasone-17β-monopropionate, 250, 253-254, 549 biotransformation, 228, 233-234 Betamethasone valerate, 6-7, 12, 39-40 Bofors Nobel-Pharma, 8, 12 Bone effects of glucocorticoids, 54-55, 61-62, 150, 343-344 correlation to HPA-axis suppression, 479, 490 Bone metabolism, 471-472 Bone mineral density, 472-474, 489 Bronchial biopsies, 422 Bronchoalveolar lavage, 424-425 Budesonide, 11-26, 44-45, 50, 247-248, 250, 252-255, 259-265, 288, 299, 425, 449, 454, 462, 479, 530, 557, 565-566, 570-571 absorption (see Uptake/retention) airway hyperresponsiveness, 422, 424, 428, 624-625

airway selectivity, 23-26, 318-327, 568-570 airway wall nerves, 610 antiasthmatic dose-response, 15, 340, 342-343, 357-358, 391, 442, 447 anti-inflammatory effect, 45, 64, 422, 424, 426, 428 bioavailability, 356 biotransformation, 13, 21, 33, 227 bone effects, 54-55, 344, 473-475 clearance, 334 deposition, 192, 215 developmental history, 3-4 diastereoisomers, 13 dose-response in children, 358 early intervention, 15, 43, 46, 636 effect on chemokines, 123-125 effect on growth, 55, 364-366, 368-371, 373-374, 476, 605 effect on remodeling, 598, 602-603 effect on eosinophil/basophil progenitors, 276, 277 equipotency versus prednisolone, 391 exercise challenge, 405 HPA-axis suppression, 53, 219, 337, 338-340, 469-471 kinetic overview, 250 lung function, 422, 424, 428, 447, 624-625, 640 nebulization, 16, 447 once-daily inhalation, 16, 20, 246 patient compliance, 495-496 PK/PD modeling, 318-327, 329-330 plasma half-life, 250 plus formoterol, 638-639 plus theophyllin, 640 pulse exposure, 225 safety records, 16, 55, 490 severe asthma, 43 skin thinning and bruising, 477 uptake/retention in airways/lung, 216, 219-221, 310, 326-327, 572-573 uptake/retention in nose, 350 versus β_2 -agonists, 44–45, 422 Budesonide esterification, 19-22, 222-223, 225-227, 234, 236, 246,

272, 299, 310, 321–327, 329– 330, 533, 565 modeling of the ester formation rate, 312–314 modeling of the ester hydrolysis rate, 314–315 levels in target versus nontarget tissues, 322–325 Butixocort propionate, 524, 538

С

cAMP, 73 Candidiasis, 51-52, 481 Cataracts, 56, 63, 344, 477, 546 Chemokines, 113-119, 134-135, 436 effect of glucocorticoids, 119–125, 145-146, 149, 166 in epithelial cells, 117, 118, 123, 125 Childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP), 625, 628 Children, 462, 469, 473-474, 478, 480, 625 - 628dosage guidelines, 393 Chromatin, 139, 141, 143, 144 Ciclesonide, 452 Clickhaler, 177 Collagen, 605 Collagenase, effect of glucocorticoids, 581 Compliance (see Patient compliance) Cortisol diurnal variation, 259, 334-335, 349 suppression (see HPA-axis suppression) Cortisone, 5 Cosyntropin stimulation test, 335 COX/COX-inhibitors, 582 Cromoglycate (see Sodium cromoglycate) Cytochrome P450 enzymes, 521–522, 525 Cytokines, 118, 124, 436, 462, 552, 580-581, 589 effect of glucocorticoids, 145-146, 149-151, 166, 581-582 IL-2, 582 IL-4, 438, 489

IL-5, 274, 278, 282, 438, 479 IL- 10, 583 IL-12, 145 TNFα, 569, 589–590

D

Deposition, 289, 310 asthmatics versus volunteers, 211, 218, 255-256, 350 β_2 -agonists, 185–187 dry powder inhaler versus pMDI, 192 impact of flow rate, 191-192 impact of particle size, 178-185, 191-192, 195, 198, 214 lung dose and distribution, 192-200, 211.212 nebulizers, 171 pMDIs, 178 spacers, 174-176 uptake/retention in airways/lung, 192-200, 210-211 Devices, 50, 214 Dexamethasone, 6, 102, 444-445, 553, 555,609 D5519, 566, 572, 574 D5522 (D5519 palmitate), 566 airway selectivity, 568-570, 572 antiasthmatic efficacy, 568, 575 hydrolysis, 566, 571 lipid formulation, 567 in target versus nontarget tissue, 575 uptake/retention in airways/lung, 571-575 DICE study, 406-408 Diskhaler, 180, 255, 259, 334, 337, 339-340, 342, 350, 358, 365 Diskus, 177, 180, 184, 255 Dose of Inhaled Corticosteroids with Equi-systemic Effect (see DICE study) Drug developments, 3, 4, 166, 526-534, 545-551, 566-567, 577, 582-584

Dry powder inhalers, 169, 176–177, 180–185, 214–216, 218, 251,

255, 259–260, 312, 334, 337– 340, 342, 357–358, 365, 368 Dysphonia, 51

E

Easyhaler, 177 Endothelial cells, effect of glucocorticoids, 147, 165 Eosinophil/basophil progenitors effect of allergic provocation, 274, 278.282 effect of inhaled glucocorticoids, 275-278, 282, 479 Eosinophil recruitment, 118-119, 134, 398 Eosinophilia, effect of eotaxin, 119 Eosinophilic cationic protein, 454 Eosinophils, 422-428, 431-432, 436-439, 449, 452-455, 462-463, 479, 543, 555, 557 dose-response of glucocorticoid inhibition, 454 in sputum, 405, 418 Eotaxin, 116-119, 123-124, 133-134, 278, 282, 438 Epithelial cells, 443-444, 462 as source of chemokines, 117, 123, 125 Epithelial permeability, 621 EUROSCOP study, 344, 474 Exercise challenge, 405, 409-410 Exhaled condensates, 454-455 Exhaled nitric oxide, 234, 405, 409, 444 - 450dose and time responses of glucocorticoid inhibition, 447-450, 452-454, 462 guidelines for measurement, 442-444 relation to lung function, 453-462

F

FACET study, 638–639 Fibrinogen, 437 Flunisolide, 248, 259–265, 288, 497

antiasthmatic dose-response, 395 kinetic overview, 250 once-daily inhalation, 246 Fluocortin butylester, 524, 530, 538 Fluticasone propionate, 50, 216, 247-248, 254-255, 259-265, 271, 288, 299, 408-409, 425, 438, 449, 452, 462, 555-557, 565-566 absorption (see Uptake/retention) airway hyperresponsiveness, 423, 426 antiasthmatic dose-response, 340, 342 - 343anti-inflammatory effect, 423, 426 bioavailability, 356 biotransformation, 227, 525 bone effects, 473-475 clearance, 334, 521 dose-response in children, 358 effect on growth, 365, 368-371, 475-476 effect on remodeling, 602 HPA-axis suppression, 53, 219, 337-340, 350, 469-471, 545 kinetic overview, 250 once-daily inhalation, 246 patient compliance, 496 plasma concentration, 335 plasma half-life, 250, 545 plus salmeterol, 639-640 skin thinning and bruising, 477 steady state in plasma, 545 uptake/retention in airways/lung, 219-221, 350 uptake/retention in nose, 227 Formoterol, 638-639

G

GINA, 427, 635 Glaucoma, 56, 478, 546 GlaxoWellcome soft steroids, 532–534 Global Initiative for Asthma (*see* GINA) Glucocorticoid receptor, 18, 68–72, 101–109, 229, 581–582 agonist affinity, 230, 232, 249, 286– 287, 449, 549, 566

distribution, 229, 230 DNA binding, 70-72 downregulation/recycling, 101-109 β-form, 70, 92–93, 229 gene knockouts, 75, 581 occupancy, 97-98, 104-109, 284, 295, 306, 311, 330 Glucocorticoid-regulated genes, 119-123, 133, 581 activated genes, 72-74, 138 posttranslational effects, 122-125 repressed genes, 75-80 repression via m-RNA destabilization, 121-123, 134 Glucocorticoid resistance, 33, 454, 594 Glucocorticoids anti-inflammatory mechanisms, 80-83, 101, 119–125, 137, 143 antipermeability effects, 147-149 bone effects, 150, 343 with differentiated genomic action, 81, 92,139, 582 dosage guidelines, 392-393 effect on chemokines, 119-125, 133, 145-146, 149, 166 effect on m-RNA stability, 121-125, 134 effects on growth factors, 148, 150-151 effects on kinases/phosphatases, 144, 148 oral, 37, 37-41, 471, 477, 489, 546 pharmacological dose-responses, 106-109 PK/PD modeling, 96, 101-109, 256-265, 284-304 time responses, 104-109 Goblet cell hyperplasia, 598 Growth factors effect of glucocorticoids, 148, 150-151 TGFβ, 605

Н

Hemopoiesis, 275, 278 Histones, 139 HPA-axis, 218 suppression by glucocorticoids, 53– 54, 64, 97, 218–219, 256–265, 271, 334, 337–340, 343, 350, 395–396, 404, 406–410, 417– 418, 468, 490 Hydrocortisone, 5, 542–543 11β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, 5– 6, 228 Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (*see* HPA-axis)

I

IkB/IkB-kinases, 578-584 IgE, effect of glucocorticoids on, 166 Inhaled glucocorticoids (see also specific drugs) absorption (see Uptake/retention) antiasthmatic dose-response, 284, 431 anti-inflammatory effect, 41, 46, 48, 422, 427, 447, 455 benefit/risk, 51, 342, 469, 482, 635 bioavailability, 356, 467, 468, 481 asthmatics versus volunteers, 336, 338, 350 oral, 19, 250-251, 287-288 pulmonary, 248, 250-251, 272 biotransformation, 17, 212, 227, 245-246, 521, 523, 527-530, 533, 538, 565 bone effects, 54-55, 61, 343, 363-364, 471-474 clearance, 247, 250, 252, 272, 290-294, 330, 521 deposition, 188-191, 214, 236, 247 developmental history, 3-4, 6, 33, 38-41, 50, 283 dissolution rate/water solubility, 216, 266, 298-301, 527, 565 early intervention, 493 effect on remodeling, 601-604 extrapulmonary therapeutic effects, 273, 522-523, 534, 539

glucocorticoid receptor affinity, 249 hospitalization rate, 41-42, 61, 492-493 HPA-axis suppression, 53, 64, 407-408, 334, 469-471, 530-531 impact of inhalation time, 256, 259, 261-265 PK/PD modeling, 257-265, 271 impact by formulation/device, 251, 255 kinetic overview, 250 kinetics in asthmatics, 255-256 levels in target versus nontarget tissue, 522, 575 nebulization, 215 nonadherence frequency, 495 nonresponders, 549 PK/PD modeling, 284, 286-301, 306 plasma half-life, 250, 253, 329, 521, 533 plus long-acting β_2 -agonists, 481, 482, 637 protein binding, 112, 250-251, 272, 294-295, 330 remaining pharmacological questions, 23-24, 235 safety, 52-57 sales, 17, 41-42 severe asthma, 62-63 soft steroids, 279, 282, 301, 522, 525-534 steady state in plasma 254-255, 263, 271 uptake/retention in airways/lung, 19, 219-221, 236, 245, 250, 253-254, 265-266, 271, 294-295, 299-301, 306-307, 565 versus oral glucorticoids, 39-41 volume of distribution, 250, 252, 271, 291-294, 521 Intermediary metabolism, 478-479 effect of glucocorticoids, 67 Itrocinonide, 526-534 antiasthmatic efficacy, 530-532 biotransformation, 527-530 HPA-axis suppression, 530-531

J

JNK/JNK-inhibitors, 578, 580, 589

Κ

Kinases/phosphatases effect of glucocorticoids, 125, 144, 148, 578, 584 Knemometry, 364–365, 371, 475–476, 480

L

Lamina reticularis, 398, 601-604, 619 Leptin, 364 Leukotriene receptor antagonists, 481-482.640-643 Leukotrienes, 455 Lipocortin, effect of glucocorticoids, 165 Lipophilicity of glucocorticoids, 17, 19, 222, 232, 235, 295, 299, 521, 566 effect on absorption, 350 Liposomes, 98, 299-301, 538, 567, 571 Loteprednol etabonate, 288, 525, 533, 545 - 552biotransformation/kinetics, 548-551 dynamics in airway models, 552-558 HPA-axis suppression, 557 ophthalmic use, 550-552 Lymphocytes, 422, 438, 589 effect of glucocorticoids, 146

Μ

MAP-kinases, 578, 580, 584, 589
Mast cells, 151, 422–424
Measuring Inhaled Corticosteroid Efficacy (*see* MICE study)
Melbourne Longitudinal Study of Asthma, 628
Methacholine, 398–399
Methylprednisolone, 96–109, 445

HPA-axis suppression, 97 PK/PD modeling, 106–109 smooth muscle, 609 MICE study, 408–410 Mometasone furoate, 50, 288, 521, 566 Montelukast, 450–451, 461, 496, 641, 643 Mucociliary clearance, 217–218, 233, 245, 300–301, 538, 566 Mucosal blood vessels, 606–607 Mucus, 149, 150, 598 Multidrug resistance protein, 221, 296 Muscarinic receptors, effect of glucocorticoids, 151, 165

Ν

NebuChamber, 175, 186, 187 Nebuhaler, 185, 186, 192, 214, 365-366 Nebulizers, 171-172, 196-197, 199, 495,500 Nedocromil sodium bioavailability, 337 effect on growth, 369 lung function, 625 Neuropeptides, effect of glucocorticoids, 147 Neutrophils, 430, 445 NFkB, 447, 578-583 glucocorticoid interaction, 80-83, 121, 124, 143, 582 NHLBI Asthma Clinical Research Network, 284, 396, 403 Nitric oxide/nitric oxide synthase, 421, 443, 447, 462 effect of glucocorticoids, 148 Nitric oxide synthase inhibitors (excluding glucocorticoids), 444, 450-451 Nitrotyrosine, 443, 449-450

0

Opti-Chamber, 407 Osteocalcin, 363–364, 472–474

Ρ

Pari LC Star, 196-197, 199 Patient adherence (see Patient compliance) Patient compliance, 170, 494-510, 515-516 dosing frequency, 496-497, 504 Phagocytosis, 538, 573 PK/PD modeling, 96, 101-109, 231, 256-265, 284-304, 306, 310-312, 318-327, 329-330 pMDIs, 169, 172, 177, 180-195, 214-215, 217, 251, 255, 358 HFA products, 173-174, 181-183, 187, 190, 251 Pranlukast, 450-451, 641 Prednisolone/prednisone, 5, 391, 444, 445, 461-462 effect on growth, 364, 365, 371 Prostaglandins, 455, 582 with anti-inflammatory activity, 583 Pulmonary targeting factors, 286, 289, 467.545 Pulvinal, 177

Q

Quality of life, 48 sleep quality, 642

R

RANTES, 114, 116–119, 123–124, 133–134, 438 Reticular basement membrane (*see* Lamina reticularis) Reticulin, 595, 601 Rhinitis, 273, 274, 450, 531, 539 Rotahaler, 342

S

Salbutamol, 410, 450 bioavailability, 336–337

plasma concentration, impact of device, 186 Salmeterol, 367-368, 450, 475, 637, 639-640, 642-643 Sodium cromoglycate bioavailability, 337 effect on growth, 364, 369 Soft drugs, 543-545, 550 Soft steroids, 525-534, 538-539, 545-551 Somatostatin, effect of glucocorticoids, 150 - 151Spacers, 174-176, 184-185, 187, 192, 214, 334, 358, 365-366, 408, 481 Spinhaler, 337 Spiros, 176-177, 217 Sputum, 426-433, 436-439, 452-455 eosinophilia, 405, 418 Submucosal glands, 598 Surfactant, 571, 573 effect of glucocorticoids, 149

Т

Taifun, 177 Tenascin, 601–602 Th1/Th2 balance, effect of glucocorticoids on, 145 Theophyllin, 475, 640, 642-643 effect on growth, 367 Thromboxane antagonist, 452 Tight junctions, 621 effect of glucocorticoids, 147, 149 Tipredane, 538, 545 Transcription factors, glucocorticoid interaction, 124, 138 Triamcinolone acetonide, 8, 39, 246, 248, 251, 255, 254, 256, 259-265, 288, 299-300, 307 antiasthmatic dose-response, 342, 395 HPA-axis suppression, 54, 470 kinetic overview, 250 Turbuhaler, 16, 20, 176-177, 180, 183, 185, 214-215, 218, 251, 255,

259–260, 312, 334, 337–340, 342, 357–358, 365, 368, 509, 638 Tyrosine aminotransferase, 104–105, 581

U

Ultrahaler, 177 Ultravent, 196–197

V

VIP, 610 Volumatic, 180, 184, 186

Ζ

Zafirlukast, 641-643